

Command Line Interface Reference

AX Series Advanced Traffic Manager

Document No.: D-030-01-00-0003 Ver. 2.6.6-GR1 5/8/2013

Headquarters

A10 Networks, Inc. 3 West Plumeria Dr. San Jose, CA 95134 Tel: 408 325 8668 (main) Tel: 408 325 8676 (support) Fax: 408 325 8666

www.a10networks.com

[©] 2013 A10 Networks, Inc. - All Rights Reserved

Information in this document is subject to change without notice.

Trademarks

A10 Networks, A10 Thunder, vThunder, the A10 logo, aACI, aCloud, ACOS, aDCS, aDNS, aELB, aFleX, aFlow, aGalaxy, aPlatform, aUSG, aVCS, aWAF, aXAPI, IDAccess, IDSENTRIE, IP to ID, SmartFlow, SoftAX, Thunder, Unified Service Gateway, Virtual Chassis, VirtualADC, and VirtualN are trademarks or registered trademarks of A10 Networks, Inc. All other trademarks are property of their respective owners.

Patents Protection

A10 Networks products including all AX Series products are protected by one or more of the following US patents and patents pending: 20120216266, 20120204236, 20120179770, 20120144015, 20120084419, 20110239289, 20110093522, 20100235880, 20100217819, 20090049537, 20080229418, 20080148357, 20080109887, 20080040789, 20070283429, 20070282855, 20070271598, 20070195792, 20070180101, 8387128, 8332925, 8312507, 8291487, 8266235, 8151322, 8079077, 7979585, 7716378, 7675854, 7647635, 7552126

Confidentiality

This document contains confidential materials proprietary to A10 Networks, Inc. This document and information and ideas herein may not be disclosed, copied, reproduced or distributed to anyone outside A10 Networks, Inc. without prior written consent of A10 Networks, Inc.

A10 Networks Inc. Software License and End User Agreement

Software for all A10 Networks products contains trade secrets of A10 Networks and its subsidiaries and Customer agrees to treat Software as confidential information.

Anyone who uses the Software does so only in compliance with the terms of the End User License Agreement (EULA), provided later in this document or available separately. Customer shall not:

1) reverse engineer, reverse compile, reverse de-assemble or otherwise translate the Software by any means

2) sublicense, rent or lease the Software.

Disclaimer

This document does not create any express or implied warranty about A10 Networks or about its products or services, including but not limited to fitness for a particular use and non-infringement. A10 Networks has made reasonable efforts to verify that the information contained herein is accurate, but A10 Networks assumes no responsibility for its use. All information is provided "as-is." The product specifications and features described in this publication are based on the latest information available; however, specifications are subject to change without notice, and certain features may not be available upon initial product release. Contact A10 Networks for current information regarding its products or services. A10 Networks' products and services are subject to A10 Networks' standard terms and conditions.

Environmental Considerations

Some electronic components may possibly contain dangerous substances. For information on specific component types, please contact the manufacturer of that component. Always consult local authorities for regulations regarding proper disposal of electronic components in your area.

Further Information

For additional information about A10 products, terms and conditions of delivery, and pricing, contact your nearest A10 Networks location, which can be found by visiting <u>www.a10networks.com</u>.



End User License Agreement

End User License Agreement

IMPORTANT: PLEASE READ THIS END USER LICENSE AGREEMENT CARE-FULLY. DOWNLOADING, INSTALLING OR USING A10 NETWORKS OR A10 NETWORKS PRODUCTS, OR SUPPLIED SOFTWARE CONSTITUTES ACCEP-TANCE OF THIS AGREEMENT.

A10 NETWORKS IS WILLING TO LICENSE THE PRODUCT TO YOU ONLY UPON THE CONDITION THAT YOU ACCEPT ALL OF THE TERMS CONTAINED IN THIS LICENSE AGREEMENT. BY DOWNLOADING OR INSTALLING THE SOFTWARE, OR USING THE EQUIPMENT THAT CONTAINS THIS SOFTWARE, YOU ARE BINDING YOURSELF AND THE BUSINESS ENTITY THAT YOU REPRESENT (COLLECTIVELY, "CUSTOMER") TO THIS AGREEMENT. IF YOU DO NOT AGREE TO ALL OF THE TERMS OF THIS AGREEMENT, THEN A10 NETWORKS IS UNWILLING TO LICENSE THE SOFTWARE TO YOU AND DO NOT DOWN-LOAD, INSTALL OR USE THE PRODUCT.

The following terms of this End User License Agreement ("Agreement") govern Customer's access and use of the Software, except to the extent there is a separate signed agreement between Customer and A10 Networks governing Customer's use of the Software

License. Conditioned upon compliance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, A10 Networks Inc. or its subsidiary licensing the Software instead of A10 Networks Inc. ("A10 Networks"), grants to Customer a nonexclusive and nontransferable license to use for Customer's business purposes the Software and the Documentation for which Customer has paid all required fees. "Documentation" means written information (whether contained in user or technical manuals, training materials, specifications or otherwise) specifically pertaining to the product or products and made available by A10 Networks in any manner (including on CD-Rom, or on-line).

Unless otherwise expressly provided in the Documentation, Customer shall use the Software solely as embedded in or for execution on A10 Networks equipment owned or leased by Customer and used for Customer's business purposes.

General Limitations. This is a license, not a transfer of title, to the Software and Documentation, and A10 Networks retains ownership of all copies of the Software and Documentation. Customer acknowledges that the Software and Documentation contain trade secrets of A10 Networks, its suppliers or licensors, including but not limited to the specific internal design and structure of individual programs and associated interface information. Accordingly, except as otherwise expressly provided under this Agreement, Customer shall have no right, and Customer specifically agrees not to:

- transfer, assign or sublicense its license rights to any other person or entity, or use the Software on unauthorized or secondhand A10 Networks equipment
- b. make error corrections to or otherwise modify or adapt the Software or create derivative works based upon the Software, or permit third parties to do the same



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference End User License Agreement

- c. reverse engineer or decompile, decrypt, disassemble or otherwise reduce the Software to human readable form, except to the extent otherwise expressly permitted under applicable law notwithstanding this restriction
- d. disclose, provide, or otherwise make available trade secrets contained within the Software and Documentation in any form to any third party without the prior written consent of A10 Networks. Customer shall implement reasonable security measures to protect such trade secrets.

Software, Upgrades and Additional Products or Copies. For purposes of this Agreement, "Software" and "Products" shall include (and the terms and conditions of this Agreement shall apply to) computer programs, including firmware and hardware, as provided to Customer by A10 Networks or an authorized A10 Networks reseller, and any upgrades, updates, bug fixes or modified versions thereto (collectively, "Upgrades") or backup copies of the Software licensed or provided to Customer by A10 Networks reseller.

OTHER PROVISIONS OF THIS AGREEMENT:

- a. CUSTOMER HAS NO LICENSE OR RIGHT TO USE ANY ADDITIONAL COPIES OR UPGRADES UNLESS CUSTOMER, AT THE TIME OF ACQUIRING SUCH COPY OR UPGRADE, ALREADY HOLDS A VALID LICENSE TO THE ORIGINAL SOFTWARE AND HAS PAID THE APPLI-CABLE FEE FOR THE UPGRADE OR ADDITIONAL COPIES
- b. USE OF UPGRADES IS LIMITED TO A10 NETWORKS EQUIPMENT FOR WHICH CUSTOMER IS THE ORIGINAL END USER PURCHASER OR LEASEE OR WHO OTHERWISE HOLDS A VALID LICENSE TO USE THE SOFTWARE WHICH IS BEING UPGRADED
- c. THE MAKING AND USE OF ADDITIONAL COPIES IS LIMITED TO NEC-ESSARY BACKUP PURPOSES ONLY.

Term and Termination. This Agreement and the license granted herein shall remain effective until terminated. All confidentiality obligations of Customer and all limitations of liability and disclaimers and restrictions of warranty shall survive termination of this Agreement.

Export. Software and Documentation, including technical data, may be subject to U.S. export control laws, including the U.S. Export Administration Act and its associated regulations, and may be subject to export or import regulations in other countries. Customer agrees to comply strictly with all such regulations and acknowledges that it has the responsibility to obtain licenses to export, re-export, or import Software and Documentation.

Trademarks

A10 Networks, A10 Thunder, vThunder, the A10 logo, aACI, aCloud, ACOS, aDCS, aDNS, aELB, aFleX, aFlow, aGalaxy, aPlatform, aUSG, aVCS, aWAF, aXAPI, IDAccess, IDSENTRIE, IP to ID, SmartFlow, SoftAX, Unified Service Gateway, Virtual Chassis, VirtualADC, and VirtualN are trademarks or registered trademarks of A10 Networks, Inc. All other trademarks are property of their respective owners.

Patents Protection

A10 Networks products are protected by one or more of the following US patents and patents pending: 20120216266, 20120204236, 20120179770, 20120144015, 20120084419, 20110239289, 20110093522, 20100235880, 20100217819, 20090049537, 20080229418, 20080148357, 20080109887, 20080040789, 20070283429, 20070282855, 20070271598,



End User License Agreement

20070195792, 20070180101, 8387128, 8332925, 8312507, 8291487, 8266235, 8151322, 8079077, 7979585, 7716378, 7675854, 7647635, 7552126

Limited Warranty

Disclaimer of Liabilities. REGARDLESS OF ANY REMEDY SET FORTH FAILS OF ITS ESSENTIAL PURPOSE OR OTHERWISE, IN NO EVENT WILL A10 NET-WORKS OR ITS SUPPLIERS BE LIABLE FOR ANY LOST REVENUE, PROFIT, OR LOST OR DAMAGED DATA, BUSINESS INTERRUPTION, LOSS OF CAPITAL, OR FOR SPECIAL, INDIRECT, CONSEQUENTIAL, INCIDENTAL, OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES HOWEVER CAUSED AND REGARDLESS OF THE THEORY OF LIA-BILITY OR WHETHER ARISING OUT OF THE USE OF OR INABILITY TO USE PRODUCT OR OTHERWISE AND EVEN IF A10 NETWORKS OR ITS SUPPLIERS OR LICENSORS HAVE BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAM-AGES.

In no event shall A10 Networks' or its suppliers' or licensors' liability to Customer, whether in contract, (including negligence), breach of warranty, or otherwise, exceed the price paid by Customer for the Software that gave rise to the claim or if the Software is part of another Product, the price paid for such other Product.

Customer agrees that the limitations of liability and disclaimers set forth herein will apply regardless of whetherCustomer has accepted the Software or any other product or service delivered by A10 Networks. Customer acknowledges and agrees that A10 Networks has set its prices and entered into this Agreement in reliance upon the disclaimers of warranty and the limitations of liability set forth herein, that the same reflect an allocation of risk between the parties (including the risk that a contract remedy may fail of its essential purpose and cause consequential loss), and that the same form an essential basis of the bargain between the parties.

The Warranty and the End User License shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of California, without reference to or application of choice of law rules or principles. If any portion hereof is found to be void or unenforceable, the remaining provisions of the Agreement shall remain in full force and effect. This Agreement constitutes the entire and sole agreement between the parties with respect to the license of the use of A10 Networks Products unless otherwise supersedes by a written signed agreement.







Obtaining Technical Assistance

For all customers, partners, resellers, and distributors who hold valid A10 Networks Regular and Technical Support service contracts, the A10 Networks Technical Assistance Center provides support services online and over the phone.

Corporate Headquarters

A10 Networks, Inc. 3 West Plumeria Dr San Jose, CA 95134 USA

Tel: +1-408-325-8668 (main) Tel: +1-888-822-7210 (support – toll-free in USA) Tel: +1-408-325-8676 (support – direct dial) Fax: +1-408-325-8666

www.a10networks.com

Collecting System Information

The AX device provides a simple method to collect configuration and status information for Technical Support to use when diagnosing system issues.

To collect system information, use either of the following methods.

USING THE GUI (RECOMMENDED)

- 1. Log into the GUI.
- 2. On the main page (Monitor Mode > Overview > Summary), click
 This option downloads a text log file.
- 3. Email the file as an attachment to support@A10Networks.com.

USING THE CLI

- 1. Log into the CLI.
- 2. Enable logging in your terminal emulation application, to capture output generated by the CLI.
- 3. Enter the **enable** command to access the Privileged EXEC mode of the CLI. Enter your enable password at the Password prompt.





AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference Obtaining Technical Assistance

- 4. Enter the **show techsupport** command.
- 5. After the command output finishes, save the output in a text file.
- 6. Email the file as an attachment to support@A10Networks.com.
- Note: As an alternative to saving the output in a log file captured by your terminal emulation application, you can export the output from the CLI using the following command:

show techsupport export [use-mgmt-port] url

(For syntax information, see the AX Series CLI Reference.)



About This Document

This document describes features of the A10 Networks AX Series.

FIGURE 1 AX 5630 (front panel view)



Information is available for AX Series products in the following documents. These documents are included on the documentation CD shipped with your AX Series product, and also are available on the A10 Networks support site:

- AX Series Installation Guides
- AX Series LOM Reference
- AX Series System Configuration and Administration Guide
- AX Series IPv4-to-IPv6 Transition Solutions Guide
- AX Series Traffic Logging Guide for IPv6 Migration
- AX Series GUI Reference
- AX Series CLI Reference
- AX Series MIB Reference

Make sure to use the basic deployment instructions in the *AX Series Installation Guide* for your AX model, and in the *AX Series System Configuration and Administration Guide*. Also make sure to set up your device's Lights Out Management (LOM) interface, if applicable.

Note: Some guides include GUI configuration examples. In these examples, some GUI pages may have new options that are not shown in the example screen images. In these cases, the new options are not applicable to the



examples. For information about any option in the GUI, see the *AX Series GUI Reference* or the GUI online help.

Audience

This document is intended for use by network architects for determining applicability and planning implementation, and for system administrators for provision and maintenance of A10 Networks AX Series products.

Documentation Updates

Updates to these documents are published periodically to the A10 Networks support site, on an updated documentation CD (posted as a zip archive). To access the latest version, please log onto your A10 support account and navigate to the following page: Support > AX Series > Technical Library.

http://www.a10networks.com

A10 Virtual Application Delivery Community

You can use your A10 support login to access the A10 Virtual Application Delivery Community (VirtualADC). The VirtualADC is an interactive forum where you can find detailed information from product specialists. You also can ask questions and leave comments. To access the VirtualADC, navigate here:

http://www.a10networks.com/adc/



	_		4		4
2	n	n	Te	n	TC
2	0		LC.		10

End User License Agreement	3
Obtaining Technical Assistance	7
Collecting System Information	7
About This Document	9
Audience	
Documentation Updates	
A10 Virtual Application Delivery Community	
Using the CLI	33
System Access	
Session Access Levels	
High Availability Status in Command Prompt	34
IP Version Support	35
CLI Quick Reference	25
Context-Sensitive Help	
Command History	
Editing Features and Shortcuts	
Searching and Filtering CLI Output	
Regular Expressions	42
Special Character Support in Strings	
EXEC Commands	47
backup log	
backup system	50
enable	51
exit	
health-test	
neip	
nina	
show	
ssh	
telnet	56
traceroute	57



Contents

79

Privileged EXEC mode Commands

I EXEC mode Commands	59
axdebug	59
backup log	59
backup system	59
clear	59
clock	63
configure	64
debug	64
diff	65
disable	66
exit	67
export	67
health-test	68
help	68
import	69
locale	70
no	71
ping	71
reboot	71
reload	73
repeat	74
show	75
shutdown	75
ssh	75
telnet	76
terminal	76
traceroute	77
write	77
write terminal	78

Config Commands: Global

6rd access-list (standard)	
access-list (extended)	
accounting	
admin	
admin lockout	
arp	
arp timeout	
audit	
authentication	
authorization	
axdebug	
backup periodically	
banner	
bfd echo	
bfd enable	103

All

С	0	n	t	0	n	te
J	U		U	e		LS

bfd interval	103
bgp extended-asn-cap	104
bgp nexthop-trigger	104
boot-block-fix	105
bootimage	105
bpdu-fwd-group	106
bridge-vlan-group	107
class-list (for many pools, standard NAT)	109
class-list (for IPv6 migration features)	110
clock timezone	110
convert-passwd	111
сору	112
debug	114
delete startup-config	114
disable	114
disable-management	115
do	117
ds-lite	118
enable	118
enable-core	119
enable-def-vlan-I2-forwarding	119
enable-iumbo	120
enable-management	121
enable-password	122
end	123
erase	123
exit	124
extended-stats	124
fixed-nat	124
floating-ip	125
alid	125
ha	125
health external	126
health global	127
health monitor	128
health postfile	129
hostname	130
icmp-rate-limit	131
interface	
in	132
in-list	132
ipv6	133
key chain	133
I3-vlan-fwd-disable	134
Jacp system-priority	135
Jacp-trunk	135
link	137
	107



Contents

locale	. 138
logging auditlog host	. 139
logging target severity-level	. 139
logging buffered	. 141
logging email buffer	. 141
logging email filter	. 142
logging email-address	. 144
logging export	. 145
logging facility	. 146
logging host	. 146
Isn-lid	. 147
Isn-rule-list	. 147
lw-406	. 147
mac-address	. 147
mac-age-time	. 148
maximum-paths	. 149
mirror-port	. 149
monitor	. 150
multi-confia	. 151
nat46-stateless	. 152
nat64	. 152
netflow	. 152
no	. 155
ntp	. 156
pina	. 157
radius-server	. 157
raid	. 159
restore	. 159
route-map	. 160
router protocol	. 163
router log file	. 164
router log log-buffer	165
router log record-priority	. 165
router log stdout	. 165
router log trap	. 166
run-hw-diag	. 166
session strict-aging-on-clear	. 168
session-filter	. 168
sflow	. 170
slb	. 173
smtp	. 173
snmp-server community	. 174
snmp-server contact	. 175
snmp-server enable	. 175
snmp-server group	180
snmp-server host	. 181
snmp-server location	. 181



snmp-server user	
snmp-server view	
stats-data-disable	
stats-data-enable	
system {all-vlan-limit per-vlan-limit}	
system module-ctrl-cpu	186
system resource-usage	186
system template	
system ve-mac-scheme	
system-reset	190
tacacs-server	191
techreport	192
terminal	
tftp blksize	194
trunk	
tx-congestion-ctrl	197
update	
upgrade	
vlan	
web-service	
write	
write terminal	

Config Commands: Interface

ົ	n	1
/	U	-1
_	v	v

	203
access-list	
bfd	
bcast-rate-limit (management interface only)	
cpu-process	
disable	
duplexity	
enable	
flow-control	
icmp-rate-limit	
interface	
ip address	
ip control-apps-use-mgmt-port (management interface only)	
ip default-gateway (management interface only)	
ip helper-address	
ip nat	
ip ospf	
ip rip	
{ip ipv6} router isis	
{ip ipv6} stateful-firewall	
ipv6 (on management interface)	
ipv6 access-list	
ipv6 address	
ipv6 enable	
•	

15 of 804



Contents

235

239

ipv6 nat inside	219
ipv6 nat outside	220
ipv6 ndisc router-advertisement	220
ipv6 ospf	225
ipv6 rip split-horizon	225
ipv6 router isis	225
ipv6 router ospf	225
ipv6 router rip	225
isis	226
I3-vlan-fwd-disable	226
lacp port-priority	227
lacp timeout	227
lacp trunk	228
lacp udld-timeout	229
load-interval	229
lw-406	
monitor	
mtu	
name	232
ospf	232
speed	233

Config Commands: VLAN

name	. 236
outer-interface	. 236
agged	. 237
untagged	. 238
33.4	

Config Commands: IP

ip anomaly-drop239ip as-path241ip community-list242ip dns243ip extcommunity-list243ip frag max-reassembly-sessions244ip frag timeout244ip icmp disable245ip nat alg pptp245ip nat allow-static-host245ip nat icmp respond-to-ping246ip nat lsn248ip nat pcp248ip nat pool248ip nat pool248ip nat pool248ip nat pool-group250		
ip as-path241ip community-list242ip dns243ip extcommunity-list243ip frag max-reassembly-sessions244ip frag timeout244ip cmp disable245ip nat alg pptp245ip nat allow-static-host245ip nat icmp always-source-nat-errors246ip nat iside247ip nat lsn248ip nat pool248ip nat pool248ip nat pool248ip nat pool248ip nat pool-group250	ip anomaly-drop	
ip community-list242ip dns243ip extcommunity-list243ip frag max-reassembly-sessions244ip frag timeout244ip cmp disable245ip nat alg pptp245ip nat allow-static-host245ip nat icmp always-source-nat-errors246ip nat inside247ip nat lsn248ip nat pool248ip nat pool250	ip as-path	
ip dns243ip extcommunity-list243ip frag max-reassembly-sessions244ip frag timeout244ip icmp disable245ip nat alg pptp245ip nat allow-static-host245ip nat icmp always-source-nat-errors246ip nat inside247ip nat lsn248ip nat pcol248ip nat pcol248ip nat pool248ip nat pool250	ip community-list	
ip extcommunity-list243ip frag max-reassembly-sessions244ip frag timeout244ip icmp disable245ip nat alg pptp245ip nat allow-static-host245ip nat icmp always-source-nat-errors246ip nat icmp respond-to-ping246ip nat lsn248ip nat pcp248ip nat pool248ip nat pool248ip nat pool250	ip dns	
ip frag max-reassembly-sessions244ip frag timeout244ip icmp disable245ip nat alg pptp245ip nat allow-static-host245ip nat icmp always-source-nat-errors246ip nat inside247ip nat lsn248ip nat pcp248ip nat pool248ip nat pool248ip nat pool248ip nat pool250	ip extcommunity-list	
ip frag timeout244ip icmp disable245ip nat alg pptp245ip nat allow-static-host245ip nat icmp always-source-nat-errors246ip nat icmp respond-to-ping246ip nat inside247ip nat lsn248ip nat pcp248ip nat pool248ip nat pool248ip nat pool250	ip frag max-reassembly-sessions	
ip icmp disable245ip nat alg pptp245ip nat allow-static-host245ip nat icmp always-source-nat-errors246ip nat icmp respond-to-ping246ip nat inside247ip nat lsn248ip nat pcp248ip nat pool248ip nat pool248ip nat pool250	ip frag timeout	
ip nat alg pptp245ip nat allow-static-host245ip nat icmp always-source-nat-errors246ip nat icmp respond-to-ping246ip nat inside247ip nat lsn248ip nat pcp248ip nat pool248ip nat pool248ip nat pool250	ip icmp disable	
ip nat allow-static-host245ip nat icmp always-source-nat-errors246ip nat icmp respond-to-ping246ip nat inside247ip nat lsn248ip nat pcp248ip nat pool248ip nat pool250	ip nat alg pptp	
ip nat icmp always-source-nat-errors	ip nat allow-static-host	
ip nat icmp respond-to-ping	ip nat icmp always-source-nat-errors	
ip nat inside	ip nat icmp respond-to-ping	
ip nat Isn	ip nat inside	
ip nat pcp	ip nat Isn	
ip nat pool	ip nat pcp	
ip nat pool-group	ip nat pool	
	ip nat pool-group	



Contents

ip nat range-list	
ip nat reset-idle-tcp-conn	
ip nat template http-alg	
ip nat template logging	
ip nat template pcp	
ip nat translation	
ip prefix-list	
ip prefix-list list-id description	
ip prefix-list sequence-number	
ip route	
ip stateful-firewall	
Config Commands: IPv6	265
ipv6 access-list	
ipv6 frag timeout	
ipv6 icmpv6 disable	
ipv6 nat icmpv6	
ipv6 nat inside	
ipv6 nat pool	
ipv6 neighbor	
ipv6 ospf display	
ipv6 pmtu {disable enable}	
ipv6 pmtu timeout	
ipv6 prefix-list	
ipv6 prefix-list list-id description	
ipv6 prefix-list sequence-number	
ipv6 route	
ipv6 stateful firewall	
Config Commands: Router – RIP	279
Enabling RIP	
IPv4 RIP Configuration Commands	
Global IPv4 RIP Commands	
cisco-metric-behavior	
default-information originate	
default-metric	
distance	
distribute-list	
maximum-prefix	
neighbor	
network	
offset-list	
passive-interface	
recv-buffer-size	
redistribute	



All

AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference

Contents

route	
timers	
version	
Interface-Level IPv4 RIP Commands	
ip rip authentication	
Ip rip receive version	
Ip rip receive-packet	
ip rip send version	
ip rip solit-horizon	
IPv6 RIP Configuration Commands	
Global IPv6 RIP Commands	296
aggregate-address	
cisco-metric-behavior	
default-information originate	
default-metric	
distribute-list	
neighbor	
offset-list	
passive-interface	
recv-butter-size	
realstribute	
route man	
timers	305
Interface-Level IPv6 RIP Command	307
ipv6 rip split-horizon	
RIP Show Commands	
show in rin database	308
show ip 10 database	
RIP Clear Commands	308
	200
clear inv6 rin route	308 200
Config Commands: Router – OSPF	311
Enabling OSPF	
Global Configuration Commands Applicable to OSPFv2 or OSPFv3	312
area area-id default-cost	
area area-id range	313
area area-id stub	
area area-id virtual-link	
auto-cost reference bandwidth	



0	_		4	 4
	\mathbf{n}	n	10	16
$\mathbf{\mathbf{U}}$	U		LC	1.0
_				

bfd	
default-metric	
distribute-internal	
ha-standby-extra-cost	
log-adjacency-changes	
max-concurrent-dd	
maximum-area	
passive-interface	
redistribute	
router-id	
umers spi exp	
Global Configuration Commands Applicable to OSPFv2 Only	327
area area-id authentication	
area area-id filter-list	
area area-id multi-area-adjacency	
area area-id nssa	
area area-id shortcut	
capability opaque	
compatible rfc1583	
default-information originate	
distribute-list	
nosi ipador area	
netyndol	
network	
overflow database	
summary-address	
Clobal Configuration Commands Applicable to OSDEv2 Only	
Interface-level Configuration Commands	338
ip ospf	
ipv6 ospf cost	
ipv6 ospf dead-interval	
ipv6 ospf hello-interval	
ipv6 ospf mtu-ignore	
ipv6 ospt neighbor	
ipv6 ospt network	
ipv6 ospt priority	
Ipv6 ospi retransmit-interval	
ipvo uspi iralistilii-uelay ospf	
USPF Show Commands	348
show {ip ipv6} ospf	
show ip ospf border-routers	



Contents

show ip ospf database	
show ipv6 ospf database	
show {ip ipv6} ospf interface	
show ip ospf multi-area-adjacencies	
show {ip ipv6} ospf neighbor	
show ip ospf redistributed	
show {ip ipv6} ospf route	
show ipv6 ospf topology	
show {ip ipv6} ospf virtual-links	
Config Commands: Router – IS-IS	359
Enabling IS-IS	
Global IS-IS Configuration Commands	
address-family	
adjacency-check	
area-password	
authentication	
bfd	
default-information originate	
distance	
domain-password	
ha-standby-extra-cost	
hostname dynamic	
ignore-lsp-errors	
is-type	
log-adjacency-changes	
Isp-gen-interval	
ISp-retresn-interval	
max-isp-illetime	
net	509 120 גרבי
nassivo intorfaco	۱/ ن ۲۲ د
passive-interface	
redistribute	
restart-timer	377
set-overload-bit	377
spf-interval-exp	378
summary-address	
Interface-level IS-IS Configuration Commands	
isis authentication	
isis bfd	
isis circuit-type	
isis csnp-interval	
isis hello padding	
isis hello-interval	

Customer Driven Innovation Document No.: D-030-01-00-0003 - Ver. 2.6.6-GR1 5/8/2013



С	o	n	t	e	n	ts
\mathbf{U}	U		U.			10

isis isp-interval	isis hello-multiplier	
isis mesh-group	isis Isp-interval	
isis metric	isis mesh-group	
isis network 386 isis password 386 isis piontly 387 isis retransmit-interval 387 isis retransmit-interval 388 isis wide-metric 388 Show Commands for IS-IS 389 show ip isis [tag] route 389 show isis counter 390 show isis is counter 390 show isis [tag] database 390 show isis [tag] topology 393 show isis [tag] topology 393 show isis [tag] topology 394 Config Commands: Router – BGP 395 BGP Configuration Commands 396 Commands at the Global Configuration Level 396 bgp extended-asn-cap 396 bgp extended-asn-cap 396 bgp extended-asn-cap 396 bgp extended-asn-cap 397 address-family 397 address-family 397 address-family 397 address-family 397 adgress-family 397 adgress-family 397 adgress-family<	isis metric	
isis password 386 isis priority 387 isis restart-helio-interval 387 isis restart-helio-interval 388 isis wide-metric 388 Show Commands for IS-IS 389 show ip isis [lag] route 390 show isis [lag] toute 390 show isis [lag] database 390 show isis [lag] topology 393 show isis [lag] topology 393 show ipv6 isis [lag] topology 393 show ipv6 isis [lag] topology 394 Config Commands: Router – BGP 395 BGP Configuration Commands 396 Commands at the Global Configuration Level 396 bgp extinop-trigger 397 commands at the BGP Router Configuration Level 397 address-family 397 address-family 397 address-family 307 address-family 307 address 303 bgp log-neithop-trigger 307 address-family 307 address-family 307 address-family 307	isis network	
isis prority	isis password	
isis restart-helio-interval	isis priority	
isis retransmit-interval	isis restart-hello-interval	
Isis wide-metric 388 Show Commands for IS-IS 389 show ip isis [tag] route 389 show isis counter 390 show isis [lag] topology 393 show isis [lag] topology 393 show ipos isis [lag] topology 393 show ipos isis [lag] topology 393 show ipos isis [lag] topology 394 Config Commands: Router – BGP 395 Enabling BGP. 395 BGP Configuration Commands 396 Commands at the Global Configuration Level 396 bgp nexthop-trigger 397 address-family 397 adgregate-address 400 auto-summary 400 bgb bestpath always-compare-med 400 bgb deterministic-med 403 bgp deterministic-med 403 bgp deterministic-med 403 bgp schaft-lailover 404 bgp nexthop-trigger-count 404 bgp nexthop-trigger.count 404 bgp deterministic-med 403 bgp deterministic-med 403 bgp fast-external-f	isis retransmit-interval	
Show Commands for IS-IS.389show ip isis [tag] route389show isis counter390show isis counter390show isis [tag] database390show isis [tag] topology393show ipo's is [tag] topology393show ipo's is [tag] topology393show ipo's is [tag] topology393show ipo's is [tag] topology394Config Commands: Router - BGP395BGP Configuration Commands396Commands at the Global Configuration Level396bgp nexthop-trigger397address-family397address-family397address-family397adgress-family307bgp deterministic-med400bgp deterministic-med401bgp deterministic-med403bgp nexthop-trigger-count404bgp nexthop-trigger-count404bgp op toter-id404bgp deterministic-med403bgp nexthop-trigger-count404bgp nexthop-trigger-count404bgp nexthop-trigger-count404bgp nexthop-trigger-count404bgp nexthop-trigger-count404bgp nexthop-trigger-count404bgp nexthop-trigger-count404bgp nexthop-trigger-count405bgp scan-time405bgp scan-time405bgp scan-time405bgp scan-time405bgp nextrigger-count405bgp nextrigger-count405bgp s	ISIS WIDE-METRIC	
show ip isis [tag] route389show isis counter390show isis [tag] database390show isis [tag] topology391show isis [tag] topology393show ipx6 isis [tag] route393show ipv6 isis [tag] topology394Config Commands: Router – BGP395Enabling BGP396Comfiguration Commands396Commands at the Global Configuration Level396bge configuration Commands396bge nexthop-trigger397Commands at the Global Configuration Level397Commands at the BGP Router Configuration Level397Commands at the BGP Router Configuration Level397address-familyadgregate-address400audress-familyadgregate-address400bgp default400bgp default400bgp default401bgp default402bgp default402bgp default403bgp relightor-changes404bgp log-neigh	Show Commands for IS-IS	
show isis counter	show ip isis [tag] route	
show isis [tag] database	show isis counter	
show isis interface	show isis [tag] database	
show isis [tag] topology	show isis interface	
show ipv6 isis [tag] route	show isis [tag] topology	
show ipv6 isis [tag] topology 394 Config Commands: Router – BGP 395 Enabling BGP 395 BGP Configuration Commands 396 Commands at the Global Configuration Level 396 bgp extended-asn-cap 396 bgp nexthop-trigger 397 Commands at the BGP Router Configuration Level 397 address-family 397 adgress-family 397 adgress-family 397 adgress-family 400 bgp bestpath always-compare-med 400 bgp default 401 bgp default 403 bgp enforce-first-as 403 bgp enforce-first-as 403 bgp router-id 404 bgp router-id 405 bgp scan-time 405 distance 405 neighbor advertisement-interval 407 neighbor advertisement-interval 407 neighbor allowas-in 408	show ipv6 isis [tag] route	
Config Commands: Router – BGP395Enabling BGP.395BGP Configuration Commands.396Commands at the Global Configuration Level396bgp extended-asn-cap396bgn exthop-trigger397Commands at the BGP Router Configuration Level397address-family397address-family397aggregate-address400bgb bestpath always-compare-med400bgb default401bgb default402bgb default403bgp nexthop-trigger.count404bgp one-first-as403bgb router-id405bgb scan-time405bgb scan-time405bdp scan-time407neighbor activate407neighbor advertisement-interval407neighbor advertisement-interval407neighbor allowas-in408	show ipv6 isis [tag] topology	
Enabling BGP395BGP Configuration Commands396Commands at the Global Configuration Level396bgp extended-asn-cap397Commands at the BGP Router Configuration Level397Commands at the BGP Router Configuration Level397address-family397adgress-family397aggregate-address400bgp bestpath always-compare-med400bgp default401bgp default402bgp default403bgp norce-first-as403bgp norce-first-as404bgp northop-trigger-count404bgp router-id405bgp scan-time405distance405neighbor activate407neighbor allowas-in408	Config Commands: Router – BGP	395
BGP Configuration Commands396Commands at the Global Configuration Level396bgp extended-asn-cap396bgn nexthop-trigger397Commands at the BGP Router Configuration Level397address-family397adgregate-address400auto-summary400bgp bestpath401bgp dampening401bgp deterministic-med402bgp deterministic-med403bgp log-neighbor-changes404bgp router-id404bgp router-id405bgp scan-time405heighbor activate407neighbor allowas-in408	Enabling BGP	
Commands at the Global Configuration Level396bgp extended-asn-cap396bgp nexthop-trigger397Commands at the BGP Router Configuration Level397address-family397adgregate-address400auto-summary400bgp bestpath always-compare-med400bgp default401bgp default402bgp default403bgp op rotree-first-as403bgp nexthop-trigger-count404bgp router-id405bgp scan-time405bgp scan-time405bgp scan-time407neighbor activate407neighbor allowas-in408	BGP Configuration Commands	
bgp extended-asn-cap396bgp nexthop-trigger397Commands at the BGP Router Configuration Level397address-family397aggregate-address400auto-summary400bgp bestpath always-compare-med400bgp destpath401bgp default402bgp default403bgp nexthop-trigger-count403bgp nexthop-trigger-count404bgp nexthop-trigger-count404bgp nexthop-trigger-count405bgp scan-time405distance405neighbor advertisement-interval407neighbor allowas-in408	Commands at the Global Configuration Level	
bgp nexthop-trigger397Commands at the BGP Router Configuration Level397address-family397aggregate-address400auto-summary400bgp bestpath always-compare-med400bgp dampening401bgp default402bgp default403bgp norce-first-as403bgp log-neighbor-changes404bgp norce-rid404bgp norce-rid404bgp norce-rid405bgp conter-id405bgp conter-id405bgp conter-id405bgp conter-id407neighbor activate407neighbor allowas-in408	bgp extended-asn-cap	
Commands at the BGP Router Configuration Level397address-family397aggregate-address400auto-summary400bgp bestpath always-compare-med400bgp dampening401bgp default402bgp deterministic-med403bgp enforce-first-as403bgp log-neighbor-changes404bgp router-id404bgp router-id405bgp scan-time405neighbor activate407neighbor allowas-in408	bgp nexthop-trigger	
address-family397aggregate-address400auto-summary400bgp bestpath always-compare-med400bgp bestpath401bgp dampening401bgp default402bgp default403bgp enforce-first-as403bgp log-neighbor-changes404bgp router-id405bgp scan-time405neighbor activate407neighbor allowas-in407neighbor allowas-in408	Commands at the BGP Router Configuration Level	
aggregate-address400auto-summary400bgp bestpath always-compare-med400bgp bestpath401bgp dampening401bgp default402bgp deterministic-med403bgp enforce-first-as403bgp fast-external-failover404bgp nexthop-trigger-count404bgp router-id405bgp scan-time405distance405neighbor activate407neighbor allowas-in408	address-family	
auto-summary400bgp bestpath always-compare-med400bgp bestpath401bgp dampening401bgp default402bgp deterministic-med403bgp enforce-first-as403bgp fast-external-failover404bgp log-neighbor-changes404bgp router-id405bgp scan-time405distance405neighbor activate407neighbor allowas-in408	aggregate-address	
bgp bestpath always-compare-med400bgp bestpath401bgp dampening401bgp default402bgp deterministic-med403bgp enforce-first-as403bgp fast-external-failover404bgp log-neighbor-changes404bgp router-id405bgp scan-time405distance405neighbor activate407neighbor allowas-in408	auto-summary	
bgp bestpath401bgp dampening401bgp default402bgp deterministic-med403bgp enforce-first-as403bgp fast-external-failover404bgp log-neighbor-changes404bgp router-id405bgp scan-time405distance405neighbor advertisement-interval407neighbor allowas-in408	bgp bestpath always-compare-med	
bgp dampening401bgp default402bgp deterministic-med403bgp enforce-first-as403bgp fast-external-failover404bgp log-neighbor-changes404bgp nexthop-trigger-count404bgp router-id405bgp scan-time405distance405neighbor activate407neighbor allowas-in408	bgp bestpath	
bgp default402bgp deterministic-med403bgp enforce-first-as403bgp fast-external-failover404bgp log-neighbor-changes404bgp nexthop-trigger-count404bgp router-id405bgp scan-time405distance405neighbor activate407neighbor allowas-in408	bgp dampening	
bgp deterministic-med403bgp enforce-first-as403bgp fast-external-failover404bgp log-neighbor-changes404bgp nexthop-trigger-count404bgp router-id405bgp scan-time405distance405neighbor activate407neighbor allowas-in408	bgp default	
bgp enforce-first-as 403 bgp fast-external-failover 404 bgp log-neighbor-changes 404 bgp nexthop-trigger-count 404 bgp router-id 405 bgp scan-time 405 distance 405 neighbor activate 407 neighbor advertisement-interval 407 neighbor allowas-in 408	bgp deterministic-med	
bgp log-neighbor-changes	bgp enlorce-IIIst-as	
by router-id 404 bgp router-id 405 bgp scan-time 405 distance 405 neighbor activate 407 neighbor advertisement-interval 407	byp last-external-fallover	
bgp nextribp-ingger-count 404 bgp router-id 405 bgp scan-time 405 distance 405 neighbor activate 407 neighbor advertisement-interval 407 neighbor allowas-in 408	byp log-fielgfibol-crialiges	
by route-tu 403 by scan-time 405 distance 405 neighbor activate 407 neighbor advertisement-interval 407 neighbor allowas-in 408	byp fiextrop-trigger-count	
distance	byp router-tu han scan-time	
neighbor advertisement-interval	distance	
neighbor advertisement-interval	neighbor activate	405 407
neighbor allowas-in	neighbor advertisement-interval	407
-	neighbor allowas-in	





neighbor as-origination-interval	408
neighbor capability	409
neighbor collide-established	
neighbor connection-retry-time	411
neighbor default-originate	412
neighbor description	
neighbor disallow-infinite-holdtime	413
neighbor distribute-list	413
neighbor dont-capability-negotiate	
neighbor ebgp-multihop	414
neighbor enforce-multihop	415
neighbor fall-over	415
neighbor filter-list	
neighbor maximum-prefix	417
neighbor next-hop-self	417
neighbor override-capability	418
neighbor passive	418
neighbor password	
neighbor peer-group	
neighbor prefix-list	
neighbor remote-as	421
neighbor remove-private-AS	421
neighbor route-map	
neighbor send-community	
neighbor shutdown	
neighbor soft-reconfiguration	
neighbor strict-capability-match	
neighbor timers	
neighbor unsuppress-map	
neighbor update-source	
neighbor version	
neighbor weight	
network	
redistribute	
synchronization	
timers	
BGP Show Commands	432
show [ip] bgp ipv4addr	
show [ip] bgp ipv6addr	
show bgp ipv4 {multicast unicast}	
show bgp ipv4 neighbors	
show bgp ipv4 prefix-list	
show bgp ipv4 quote-regexp	
show bgp ipv4 summary	
show bgp ipv6	
show bgp nexthop-tracking	



show bgp nexthop-tree-details	
show ip bgp attribute-info	
show ip bgp cidr-only	
show [ip] bgp community	
show ip bgp community-info	
show [ip] bgp community-list	
show [ip] bgp dampening	
show [ip] bgp filter-list	
show [ip] bgp inconsistent-as	
show ip bgp ipv4	
show [ip] bgp neighbors	
show [ip] bgp paths	
show [ip] bgp prefix-list	
show [ip] bgp quote-regexp	
show [ip] bgp regexp	
show [ip] bgp route-map	
show ip bgp scan	
show [ip] bgp summary	
show ip bgp view	
BGP Clear Commands	449
clear [in] hop $\{* \mid \Delta S_{\text{-num}}\}$	110
clear [in] han inv/addr	
clear [in] han inv6addr	
clear in han damnening	
clear [in] han external	
clear in hon flan-statistics	452
clear [in] han inv4	452
clear [in] han inv6	453
clear [in] ban peer-group	453
clear [in] bon view	454

Config Commands: Large Scale NAT

455

LSN Configuration Commands	455
class-list (for LSN)	
ip nat inside (for LSN)	
ip nat lsn alg	
ip nat Isn alg sip rtp-stun-timeout	
ip nat Isn attempt-port-preservation	
ip nat Isn endpoint-independent-filtering	
ip nat Isn endpoint-independent-mapping	
ip nat Isn full-cone	
ip nat Isn hairpinning	
ip nat Isn icmp	
ip nat Isn ip-selection	
ip nat Isn logging default-template	





-					4
-	\sim	n	10	n	te
-	U				1.00
~	~		~~	_	~~

ip nat Isn logging pool	
ip nat Isn port-batching	
ip nat Isn port-overloading allow-different-user	
ip nat lsn port-overloading enable	
ip nat Isn port-overloading unique	
ip nat Isn port-reservation	
ip nat isn radius server	
ip nat isn stun-timeout	
ip nat isn syn-timeout	4/2
ip hat isn top miss-clamp	4/۷
ip nat neet for LSN)	
ip nat nool group	
ip nat template http://www.ala	лттана
ip nat template logging	, , بـ 479
ip nat template logging Isn-lid	479
Isn-rule-list	482
	40F
LSN Show Commands	483
show ip nat Isn alg	
show ip nat Isn full-cone-sessions	
show ip nat Isn inside-user	
show ip nat Isn pool-statistics	
show ip hat isn port-overloading config	
snow ip nat isn port-reservations	
SNOW IP Nat Isn radius server	
SHUW IN HILL ISH I duius laure	470 /107
STUW IN THAT IST STATISTICS	
show in nat lsn user-nunta-sessions	507
show Isn-Iid	504
show Isn-rule-list	
Config Commande: Dort Control Drotocol	505
Conny Commanus. For Control Frotocol	000
PCP Configuration Commands	
ip nat pcp default-template	
ip nat template pcp	
PCP Show Commands	
show ip nat pcp statistics	
Config Commands: NAT64 / DNS64	513
DNS64 Configuration Commands	513
	F10
ip nat pool (for DNS64)	
IP nat pool-group (for DNS64)	
ipvo nai pool (101 DNS04)	



$\mathbf{\sim}$	-		1 -	 1-
	n	n	T/A	TG
$\mathbf{\nabla}$	0		LC	10

nat64 prefix	
slb server	
sib service-group	
slb virtual-server	
NAT64 Configuration Commands	526
class-list (for NAT64)	
ip nat outside	
ipv6 nat inside	
IP Hat pool (IOF NATO4) in nat nool group (for NATO4)	528 520
alid (for NAT64 override)	
Isn-lid	
nat64 alg	
nat64 fragmentation df-bit-transparency	532
nat64 fragmentation inbound	
nat64 fragmentation outbound	
nalo4 icmp	
nat64 nrefix	
nat64 tcp mss-clamp	
nat64 tcp reset-on-error	
nat64 user-quota-prefix-length	536
slb template policy	537
DNS64 / NAT64 Show Commands	539
show dns64 statistics	
show nat64 alg	
SNOW NAT64 CONVERSION	
show nat64 inside-user	
show hato4 prefixes	
show nat64 statistics	
show nat64 user-quota-sessions	
Config Commands: DS-Lite	551
DS-Lite Configuration Commands	551
class-list (for DS-Lite)	
ds-lite alg	
ds-lite fragmentation inbound	
ds-lite fragmentation outbound	
as-lite icmp	
us-IIIe IIIsiue source in-checksum-error	000
I4-checksum-error	

25 of 804



-		
- 0	nre	nre

ds-lite port-reservation ds-lite tcp mss-clamp ds-lite tcp reset-on-error DS-Lite Show Commands	557 558 559
ds-lite tcp mss-clamp ds-lite tcp reset-on-error DS-Lite Show Commands	558 559
ds-lite tcp reset-on-error	559
DS-Lite Show Commands	
	559
show ds-lite alg	559
show ds-lite full-cone-sessions	560 541
show ds-lite port-reservations	
show ds-lite statistics	564
show ds-lite user-quota-sessions	567
Config Commands: Lightweight 4over6	569
Lightweight 4over6 Configuration Commands	570
lw-4o6 binding-table	570
lw-406 ha-group-id	571
IW-406 hairpinning	5/1 572
lw-400 temp-indodnu	572
lw-406 no-reverse-match	573
lw-4o6 use-binding-table	574
Lightweight 4over6 Show Commands	574
show lw-4o6 binding-table	574
show Iw-406 statistics	575
Config Commands: Stateless NAT46	577
Stateless NAT46 Configuration Commands	578
nat46-stateless fragmentation inbound	578
nat46-stateless fragmentation outbound	578
nat46-stateless tragmentation outbound df-set	
nat46-stateless static-dest-mapping	
Stateless NAT46 Show Commands	581
show nat46-stateless statistics	581
Config Commands: 6rd	585
6rd Configuration Commands	585
6rd domain	585
6rd fragmentation inbound	587
5	
6rd fragmentation outbound	588



Networks	Contents
6rd Show Commands	
show 6rd statistics	
Config Commands: Logging Template	593
ip nat template logging	
slb server	
slb service-group	
Show Commands	
show in nat logging keywords	605
show ip nat logging statistics	606
show ip nat logging tcp-syr-status	
show ip nat template logging	
show slb server	
show slb service-group	
Config Commands: Fixed-NAT	609
Fixed-NAT Configuration Command	
fixed-nat	
Fixed-NAT Show Commands	
show fixed-nat alg	
show fixed-nat full-cone-sessions	
show fixed-nat inside-user	
show fixed-nat nat-address	
show fixed-nat statistics	
Config Commands: Server Resource Commands	617
slb huff-thresh	617
slb fast-path-disable	
slb gateway-health-check	
slb l2l3-trunk-lb-disable	
slb msl-time	
slb server	
slb service-group	
slb ssl-module	
slb template dns	
slb template policy	
sib template port	
sib template server	
sib template virtual conver	
sin terripiate virtual-server sih virtual-server	





Contents

645

Config Commands: Virtual Servers

	• • •
arp-disable	
disable	
enable	
extended-stats	
ha-dynamic	
ha-group	
port	
redistribution-flagged	
stats-data-disable	
stats-data-enable	
template logging	
template policy	
template virtual-server	

Config Commands: Virtual Server Ports

651

663

access-list	651
conn-limit	653
def-selection-if-pref-failed	654
disable	655
enable	655
extended-stats	656
name	656
no-dest-nat	656
service-group	657
snat-on-vip	658
source-nat	658
stats-data-disable	659
stats-data-enable	659
template	660
template virtual-port	661
use-default-if-no-server	661
use-rcv-hop-for-resp	662

Config Commands: Health Monitors

disable-after-down	. 663
nethod	. 664
override-ipv4	. 667
bverride-ipv6	. 667
override-port	. 667
strictly-retry-on-server-error-response	. 668



Contents

669

Config Commands: High Availability

5	
ha arp-retry	
ha check gateway	
ha check route	671
ha check vlan	
ha conn-mirror	
ha force-self-standby	
ha forward-I4-packet-on-standby	
ha group	
ha id	
ha interface	
ha I3-inline-mode	
ha link-event-delay	
ha ospf-inline vlan	
ha preemption-enable	
ha restart-port-list	
ha restart-time	
ha start-redundant-msg-count	
ha stop-redundant-msg-count	
ha sync	
ha time-interval	
ha timeout-retry-count	

Show Commands

689)
-----	---

show 6rd	. 689
show access-list	. 689
show admin	. 690
show arp	. 693
show audit	. 694
show axdebuq file	. 694
show axdebug filter	.695
show axdebug status	.695
show backup	.695
show bfd	.695
show bap	. 698
show bootimage	. 699
show bpdu-fwd-aroup	.699
show bridge-vlan-group	.700
show class-list	.700
show clns	.701
show clock	.701
show core	.702
show cpu	.702
show debug	703
show disk	704
show disk	705
show dns cache	706
	.,



Contents

show dns64	707
show ds-lite	708
show dumpthread	708
show environment	708
show errors	709
show fixed-nat	714
show glid	714
show ha	715
show ha mac	718
show hardware	718
show health	719
show history	723
show icmp	724
show interfaces	725
show interfaces statistics	726
show ip	727
show ip bgp	727
show ip dns	727
show {ip ipv6} fib	727
show {ip ipv6} fragmentation statistics	728
show ip helper-address	731
show {ip ipv6} interfaces	735
show {ip ipv6} isis	736
show ip nat	736
show ipv6 nat interfaces	740
show ipv6 ndisc	740
show ipv6 neighbor	742
show {ip ipv6} ospf	742
show {ip ipv6} protocols	742
show {ip ipv6} rip	743
show ip route	743
show ip-list	744
show ipmi	744
show ipv6 route	744
show ipv6 traffic	745
show isis	745
show key-chain	745
show lacp	746
show locale	747
show log	747
show Isn-lid	748
show Isn-rule-list	748
show lw-406	749
show mac-address-table	751
show management	752
show memory	752
	IJZ



show monitor	753
show nat46-stateless	754
show nat64	754
show netflow	754
show ntp	755
show process	756
show radius-server	756
show reboot	757
show router log file	757
show running-config	758
show session	760
show sflow	765
show shutdown	766
show slb l4	766
show slb performance	770
show slb server	771
show slb service-group	772
show slb switch	772
show slb template	777
show slb virtual-server	777
show smtp	778
show startup-config	778
show statistics	780
show system platform	781
show system resource-usage	782
show tacacs-server	783
show techsupport	783
show terminal	784
show tftp	784
show trunk	785
show version	786
show vlans	787
show web-service	787

AX Debug Commands

7	8	9
	U	

capture	
count	
delete	
filter	
incomina outaoina	
length	
maxfile	
outaoina	
timeout	



Cont

	Contents
show health stat Up / Down Causes	799
Up Causes	
Down Causes	



This chapter describes how to use the Command Line Interface (CLI) for the AX SeriesTM Advanced Traffic Manager from A10 Networks. The commands and their options are described in the other chapters.

System Access

You can access the CLI through a console connection, an SSH session, or a Telnet session. Regardless of which connection method is used, access to the AX CLI is generally referred to as an EXEC session or simply a CLI session.

Note: By default, Telnet access is disabled on all interfaces, including the management interface. SSH, HTTP, HTTPS, and SNMP access are enabled by default on the management interface only, and disabled by default on all data interfaces.

Session Access Levels

As a security feature, the AX Series operating system separates EXEC sessions into two different access levels – "User EXEC" level and "Privileged EXEC" level. User EXEC level allows you to access only a limited set of basic monitoring commands. The privileged EXEC level allows you to access all AX Series commands (configuration mode, configuration submodes and management mode) and can be password protected to allow only authorized users the ability to configure or maintain the system.

User EXEC Level: AX>

This is the first level entered when a CLI session begins. At this level, users can view basic system information but cannot configure system or port parameters.

For example, when an EXEC session is started, the AX Series will display the AX> prompt. The right arrow (>) in the prompt indicates that the system is at the "User EXEC" level. The User EXEC level does not contain any commands that might control (for example, reload or configure) the operation of the AX device. To list the commands available at the User EXEC level, type a question mark (?) then press Enter at the prompt; for example, AX>?.





Privileged EXEC Level: AX#

This level is also called the "enable" level because the **enable** command is used to gain access. Privileged EXEX level can be password secured. The "privileged" user can perform tasks such as manage files in the flash module, save the system configuration to flash, and clear caches at this level.

Critical commands (configuration and management) require that the user be at the "Privileged EXEC" level. To change to the Privileged EXEC level, type **enable** then press Enter at the AX> prompt. If an enable password is configured, the AX Series will then prompt for that password. When the correct enable password is entered, the AX Series prompt will change from AX> to AX# indicating that the user is now at the "Privileged EXEC" level. To switch back to the "User EXEC" level, type **disable** at the AX# prompt. Typing a question mark (?) at the Privileged EXEC level will now reveal many more command options than those available at the User EXEC level.

Privileged EXEC Level - Config Mode: AX(config)#

The Privileged EXEC level's configuration mode is used to configure the system IP address and to configure switching and routing features. To access the configuration mode, you must first be logged into the Privileged EXEC level.

From the opening CLI prompt, enter the following command to change to the Privileged level of the EXEC mode:

AX>enable

To access the CONFIG level of the CLI, enter the **config** command:

AX#config

The prompt changes to include "(config)":

AX(config)#

High Availability Status in Command Prompt

If High Availability (HA) is configured on the AX device, the command prompt shows the HA status, which can be one of the following:

- AX-Active#
- AX-Standby#
- AX-Forced_Standby#



Note: If HA is not configured, the prompt is simply the hostname ("AX" by default).

Display of the HA status is configurable. (See "terminal" on page 193.)

IP Version Support

Unless otherwise noted, where "*ipaddr*" is shown as a command option, an IPv4 or IPv6 address can be specified.

CLI Quick Reference

Entering the **help** command (available at any command level) returns the CLI Quick Reference, as follows:

AX>**help** CLI Quick Reference =======

1. Online Help

Enter "?" at a command prompt to list the commands available at that CLI level. Enter "?" at any point within a command to list the available options.

Two types of help are provided: 1) When you are ready to enter a command option, type "?" to display each possible option and its description. For example: show ? 2) If you enter part of an option followed by "?", each command or option that matches the input is listed. For example: show us?

2. Word Completion

The CLI supports command completion, so you do not need to enter the entire name of a command or option. As long as you enter enough characters of the command or option name to avoid ambiguity with other commands or options, the CLI can complete the command or option. After entering enough characters to avoid ambiguity, press "tab" to auto-complete the command or option.

AX>



Context-Sensitive Help

Enter a question mark (?) at the system prompt to display a list of available commands for each command mode. The context-sensitive help feature provides a list of the arguments and keywords available for any command.

To view help specific to a command name, a command mode, a keyword, or an argument, enter any of the following commands:

Prompt	Command	Purpose
	Help	Displays the CLI Quick Reference
AX>	abbreviated- command-help?	Lists all commands beginning with abbreviation before the (?). If the abbreviation is not found, the AX Series returns: % Ambiguous command
AX#	abbreviated- command-com- plete <tab></tab>	Completes a partial command name if unambiguous.
or	?	Lists all valid commands available at the current level
(config)#	command ?	Lists the available syntax options (arguments and key- words) for the entered command.
	command key- word ?	Lists the next available syntax option for the command.

A space (or lack of a space) before the question mark (?) is significant when using context-sensitive help. To determine which commands begin with a specific character sequence, type in those characters followed directly by the question mark; e.g. AX#te?. Do not include a space. This help form is called "word help", because it completes the word for you.

To list arguments or keywords, enter a question mark (?) in place of the argument or the keyword. Include a space before the (?); e.g. AX# terminal ?. This form of help is called "command syntax help", because it shows you which keywords or arguments are available based on the command, keywords, and arguments that you already entered.

Users can abbreviate commands and keywords to the minimum number of characters that constitute a unique abbreviation. For example, you can abbreviate the **config terminal** command to **conf t**. If the abbreviated form of the command is unique, then the AX Series accepts the abbreviated form and executes the command.


Context Sensitive Help Examples

The following example illustrates how the context-sensitive help feature enables you to create an access list from configuration mode.

Enter the letters **co** at the system prompt followed by a question mark (?). Do not leave a space between the last letter and the question mark. The system provides the commands that begin with co.

AX#co?			
config	Entering	config	mode

Enter the **config** command followed by a space and a question mark to list the keywords for the command and a brief explanation:

```
AX#config ?
terminal Config from the terminal
<cr>
```

The **<cr>** symbol (cr stands for carriage return) appears in the list to indicate that one of your options is to press the Return or Enter key to execute the command, without adding any additional keywords.

In this example, the output indicates that your only option for the **config** command is **config terminal** (configure manually from the terminal connection).

The "no" Form of Commands

Most configuration commands have a **no** form. Typically, you use the no form to disable a feature or function. The command *without* the **no** keyword is used to re-enable a disabled feature or to enable a feature that is disabled by default; for example, if the terminal auto-size has been enabled previously. To disable terminal auto-size, use the **no** terminal autosize form of the terminal auto-size command. To re-enable it, use the terminal auto-size form. This document describes the function of the no form of the command whenever a **no** form is available.

Command History

The CLI provides a history or record of commands that you have entered. This feature is particularly useful for recalling long or complex commands or entries, including access lists. To use the command history feature, perform any of the tasks described in the following sections:

- Setting the command history buffer size
- Recalling commands
- Disabling the command history feature





Setting the Command History Buffer Size

The AX Series records ten command lines in its history buffer, by default. To change the number of command lines that the system will record during the current terminal session, use the following command in EXEC mode:

Convention	Description
AX# terminal history [size number-of-lines]	Enables the command history feature for the cur- rent terminal session.
AX# no terminal history size	Resets the number of commands saved in the history buffer to the default of 256 commands.
AX(config)# terminal history [size number-of-lines]	Enables the command history feature for the all the configuration sessions.

Recalling Commands

To recall commands from the history buffer, use one of the following commands or key combinations:

Command or Key Combination	Description
Ctrl+P or Up Arrow key. ¹	Recalls commands in the history buffer, beginning with the most recent command. Repeat the key sequence to recall successively older commands.
Ctrl+N or Down Arrow key. 1.	Returns to more recent commands in the history buffer after recalling commands with Ctrl+P or the Up Arrow key. Repeat the key sequence to recall successively more recent commands.
AX> show history	While in EXEC mode, lists the most recent commands entered.

1. The arrow keys function only on ANSI-compatible terminals.

Editing Features and Shortcuts

A variety of shortcuts and editing features are enabled for the AX Series CLI. The following subsections describe these features:

- Moving the cursor on the command line
- Completing a partial command name
- Recalling deleted entries
- Editing command lines that wrap
- Deleting entries



- Continuing output at the --MORE-- prompt
- Re-displaying the current command line

Positioning the Cursor on the Command Line

The table below lists key combinations used to position the cursor on the command line for making corrections or changes. The Control key (ctrl) must be pressed simultaneously with the associated letter key. The Escape key (esc) must be pressed first, followed by its associated letter key. The letters are not case sensitive. Many letters used for CLI navigation and editing were chosen to simplify remembering their functions. In the following table, characters bolded in the Function Summary column indicate the relation between the letter used and the function.

Keystrokes	Function Summary	Function Details
Left Arrow or ctrl+B	Back character	Moves the cursor left one character. When entering a command that extends beyond a single line, press the Left Arrow or Ctrl+B keys repeatedly to move back toward the system prompt to verify the beginning of the command entry, or you can also press Ctrl+A.
Right Arrow or ctrl+F	Forward character	Moves the cursor right one character.
ctrl+A	Beginning of line	Moves the cursor to the very beginning of the command line.
ctrl+E	End of line	Moves the cursor to the very end of the line.

Completing a Partial Command Name

If you do not remember a full command name, or just to reduce the amount of typing you have to do, enter the first few letters of a command, then press tab. The CLI parser then completes the command if the string entered is unique to the command mode. If the keyboard has no tab key, you can also press ctrl+I.

The CLI will recognize a command once you enter enough text to make the command unique. For example, if you enter **conf** while in the privileged EXEC mode, the CLI will associate your entry with the config command, because only the config command begins with conf.





In the next example, the CLI recognizes the unique string **conf** for privileged EXEC mode of config after pressing the tab key:

```
AX# conf<tab>
AX# config
```

When using the command completion feature, the CLI displays the full command name. Commands are not executed until the Enter key is pressed. This way you can modify the command if the derived command is not what you expected from the abbreviation. Entering a string of characters that indicate more than one possible command (for example, **te**) results in the following response from the CLI:

AX#**te** % Ambiguous command

AX#

If the CLI can not complete the command, enter a question mark (?) to obtain a list of commands that begin with the character set entered. Do not leave a space between the last letter you enter and the question mark (?).

In the example above, **te** is ambiguous. It is the beginning of both the telnet and terminal commands, as shown in the following example:

AX#te? telnet Open a tunnel connection terminal Set terminal line parameters AX#te

The letters entered before the question mark (te) are reprinted to the screen to allow continuation of command entry from where you left off.

Deleting Command Entries

If you make a mistake or change your mind, you can use the following keys or key combinations to delete command entries:

Keystrokes	Purpose
backspace	The character immediately left of the cursor is deleted.
delete or ctrl+D	The character that the cursor is currently on is deleted.
ctrl+K	All characters from the cursor to the end of the com- mand line are deleted.
ctrl+U or ctrl+X	All characters from the cursor to the beginning of the command line are deleted.
ctrl+W	The word to the left of the cursor is deleted.



Editing Command Lines that Wrap

The CLI provides a wrap-around feature for commands extending beyond a single line on the display.

When the cursor reaches the right margin, the command line shifts ten spaces to the left. You cannot see the first ten characters of the line, but you can scroll back and check the syntax at the beginning of the command. To scroll back, press **ctrl+B** or the left arrow key repeatedly until you scroll back to the command entry, or press **ctrl+A** to return directly to the beginning of the line.

The AX Series software assumes you have a terminal screen that is 80 columns wide. If you have a different screen-width, use the **terminal** width EXEC command to set the width of the terminal.

Use line wrapping in conjunction with the command history feature to recall and modify previous complex command entries. See the <u>Recalling</u> <u>Commands</u> section in this chapter for information about recalling previous command entries.

Continuing Output at the --MORE-- Prompt

When working with the CLI, output often extends beyond the visible screen length. For cases where output continues beyond the bottom of the screen, such as with the output of many **?**, **show**, or **more** commands, the output is paused and a **--MORE--** prompt is displayed at the bottom of the screen.

To proceed, press the Enter key to scroll down one line, or press the spacebar to display the next full screen of output.

Redisplay the Current Command Line

If you are entering a command and the system suddenly sends a message to your screen, you can easily recall your current command line entry. To redisplay the current command line (refresh the screen), use either of the following key combinations:

Keystrokes	Purpose
ctrl+L or ctrl+R	Re-displays the current command line





Searching and Filtering CLI Output

	The CLI permits so filtering the output command supports	earching through to exclude inform the following out	large amounts of command output by nation that you do not need. The show put filtering options:
	• begin string fied string	– Begins the out	put with the line containing the speci-
	 include stri specified string 	ng – Displays or	nly the output lines that contain the
	• exclude <i>stri</i> the specified stri	ng – Displays or ng	aly the output lines that <i>do not</i> contain
	• section <i>stri</i> (for example, "sl server-related con	ng – Displays or b server", "virtual nfiguration lines, j	nly the lines for the specified section -server", or "logging"). To display all you can enter "server".
	Use " / " as a delin	niter between the	show command and the display filter.
	You can use regula ple:	r expressions in t	he filter string, as shown in this exam-
AX(config)# show a	arp include 192.168	.1.3*	
192.168.1.3	001d.4608.1e40	Dynamic	ethernet4
192.168.1.33	0019.d165.c2ab	Dynamic	ethernet4
	The output filter in	this example disr	plays only the ARP entries that contain

The output filter in this example displays only the ARP entries that contain IP addresses that match "192.168.1.3" and any value following "3". The asterisk (*) matches on any pattern following the "3". (See <u>"Regular Expressions" on page 42.</u>)

The following example displays the startup-config lines for "logging":

```
AX(config) #show startup-config | section logging
```

logging console error logging buffered debugging logging monitor debugging logging buffered 30000 logging facility local0

Regular Expressions

Regular expressions are patterns (e.g. a phrase, number, or more complex pattern) used by the CLI string search feature to match against **show** or **more** command output. Regular expressions are case sensitive and allow for complex matching requirements. A simple regular expression can be an entry like Serial, misses, or 138. Complex regular expressions can be an entry like 00210..., (is), or [Oo]utput.



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference CLI Quick Reference

A regular expression can be a single-character pattern or a multiple-character pattern. This means that a regular expression can be a single character that matches the same single character in the command output or multiple characters that match the same multiple characters in the command output. The pattern in the command output is referred to as a *string*. This section describes creating single-character patterns.

Single-Character Patterns

The simplest regular expression is a single character that matches the same single character in the command output. You can use any letter (A–Z, a–z) or digit (0–9) as a single-character pattern. You can also use other keyboard characters (such as ! or ~) as single-character patterns, but certain keyboard characters have special meaning when used in regular expressions. The following table lists the keyboard characters that have special meaning.

Character	Meaning
	Matches any single character, including white space
*	Matchers 0 or more sequences of the pattern
+	Matches 1 or more sequences of the pattern
?	Matches 0 or 1 occurrences of the pattern
^	Matches the beginning of the string
\$	Matches the end of the string
_ (under- score)	Matches a comma (,), left brace ({), right brace (}), left parenthesis ((), right parenthesis ()), the beginning of the string, the end of the string, or a space.

Special Character Support in Strings

Special characters are supported in password strings and various other strings. To use special characters in a string, enclose the entire string in double quotation marks.

Special Character Support in Password Strings

The following subsections list the special characters supported for each type of password you can enter in the CLI.

For information about the supported password length, see the CLI help or the command entry in this document.



Admin and Enable Passwords

Admin and enable passwords can contain any ASCII characters in the following ranges: 0x20-0x7e and 0x80-0xFF.

RADIUS Shared Secrets

Same as admin and enable passwords.

SNMPv3 user authentication passwords

Same as admin and enable passwords.

Passwords used for file import / export

All of the characters in the following range are supported: 0x20-0x7E.

Passwords used for server access in health monitors

Most of the characters in the following range are supported: 0x20-0x7E. However, the following characters are not supported in the current release:

' " < > & \ / ?

SSL certificate passwords

Most of the characters in the following ranges are supported: 0x20-0x7E and 0x80-0xFF. However, the following characters are not supported in the current release:

' " < > & \ / ?

SMTP passwords

Same as SSL certificate passwords.

How To Enter Special Characters in the Password String

You can use an opening single-or double-quotation mark without an ending one. In this case, **'"** becomes **"**, and **"'** becomes **'**.

Escape sequences are required for a few of the special characters:

- " To use a double-quotation mark in a string, enter the following: "
- ? To use a question mark in a string, enter the following sequence: \077
- \ To use a back slash in a string, enter another back slash in front of it:
 \ \



For example, to use the string a"b?c\d, enter the following: $a\b077c\d$

The $\$ character will be interpreted as the start of an escape sequence only if it is enclosed in double quotation marks. (The ending double quotation mark can be omitted.) If the following characters do not qualify as an escape sequence, they are take verbatim; for example, $\$ is taken as $\$, "x41" is taken as A (hexadecimal escape), "101" is taken as A (octal escape), and "10" is taken as 10.

- Note: To use a double-quotation mark as the entire string, "\"". If you enter \", the result is \. (Using a single character as a password is not recommended.)
- **Note:** It is recommended not to use i18n characters. The character encoding used on the terminal during password change might differ from the character encoding on the terminal used during login.







The EXEC commands (sometimes referred to as the User EXEC commands) are available at the CLI level that is presented when you log into the CLI.

The EXEC level command prompt ends with >, as in the following example:

AX>





backup log		
Description	Configure log backup options and save a backup of the system log.	
Syntax	[no] backup log period {all day month week}	
	[no] backup log	expedite
	backup log [use	-mgmt-port] url
	backup log stat	s-data [use-mgmt-port] url
	Parameter	Description
	expedite	Allocates additional CPU to the backup process. This option allows up to 80% CPU utilization to be devoted to the log backup process.
	period {all day month week}	Specifies the period to back up:
		all – Backs up all log messages contained in the log buffer.
		day – Backs up the log messages generated during the most recent 24 hours.
		month – Backs up the log messages generated during the most recent 30 days.
		week – Backs up the log messages generated during the most recent 7 days.
	[use-mgmt-port]	Saves a backup of the log to a remote server
		The use-mgmt-port option uses the management interface as the source interface for the connec- tion to the remote device. The management route table is used to reach the device. Without this option, the AX device attempts to use the data route table to reach the remote device through a data interface.
		The <i>url</i> specifies the file transfer protocol, user- name (if required), and directory path.
		You can enter the entire URL on the command line or press Enter to display a prompt for each part of the URL. If you enter the entire URL and a password is required, you will still be prompted

Aleworks	AX Serie	es - Command Line Interface Reference
		for the password. The password can be up to 255 characters long.
		To enter the entire URL:
		<pre>tftp://host/file</pre>
		<pre>ftp://[user@]host[:port]/file</pre>
		<pre>scp://[user@]host/file</pre>
		<pre>rcp://[user@]host/file</pre>
	<pre>stats-data [use-mgmt-port] url</pre>	Backs up statistical data from the GUI. The use-mgmt-port and <i>url</i> options are the same as described above.
Default	The configurable backup	options have the following default values:
	• expedite – The AX d backup.	evice allows up to 50% CPU utilization for log
	• period – month	
Mode	Privileged EXEC or glob	al configuration
Usage	The expedite option con exclusively to the log back backup may be higher, i the same time.	ntrols the percentage of CPU utilization allowed ekup process. The actual CPU utilization during log f other management processes also are running at
Example	The following commands CPU utilization for the ba	s change the backup period to all , allow up to 80% ackup process, and back up the log:
AX>backup log period a	11	
AX>backup log expedite		
AX>backup log scp://19	2.168.20.161:/log.t	gz
Example	The following command	backs up statistical data from the GUI:
AX>backup log stats-da	ta scp://192.168.20	.161:/log.tgz
Note:	The log period and exp tistical data.	edite settings also apply to backups of the GUI sta-



backup system

Back up the system.

Syntax Description	backup system [u	se-mgmt-port] url
	Parameter	Description
	system	Backs up the startup-config file and SSL certificates and keys into a tar file.
	use-mgmt-port	Uses the management interface as the source interface for the connection to the remote device. The management route table is used to reach the device. Without this option, the AX device attempts to use the data route table to reach the remote device through a data interface.
	url	File transfer protocol, username (if required), and directory path.
		You can enter the entire URL on the command line or press Enter to display a prompt for each part of the URL. If you enter the entire URL and a password is required, you will still be prompted for the password. The password can be up to 255 characters long.
		To enter the entire URL:
		tftp://host/file
		<pre>ftp://[user@]host[:port]/file</pre>
		<pre>scp://[user@]host/file</pre>
		<pre>rcp://[user@]host/file</pre>
Default	N/A	
Mode	Privileged EXEC or globa	al configuration
Example	The following command	backs up the system:
AX>backup system tftp:	//1.1.1.1/back file	



Description Enter privileged EXEC mode, or any other security level set by a system administrator. **Syntax** enable Mode EXEC Usage Entering privileged EXEC mode enables the use of privileged commands. Because many of the privileged commands set operating parameters, privileged access should be password-protected to prevent unauthorized use. If the system administrator has set a password with the enable password global configuration command, you are prompted to enter it before being allowed access to privileged EXEC mode. The password is case sensitive. The user will enter the default mode of privileged EXEC. Example In the following example, the user enters privileged EXEC mode using the enable command. The system prompts the user for a password before allowing access to the privileged EXEC mode. The password is not printed to the screen. The user then exits back to user EXEC mode using the disable command. Note that the prompt for user EXEC mode is >, and the prompt for privileged EXEC mode is #. AX>enable Password: <letmein> AX# disable AX>

exit

Description	Close an active terminal session by logging off the system.	
Syntax	exit	
Mode	EXEC and Privileged EXEC	
Usage	Use the exit command in EXEC mode to exit the active session (log off the device).	
Example	In the following example, the exit (global) command is used to move from global configuration mode to privileged EXEC mode, the disable command is used to move from privileged EXEC mode to user EXEC	





mode, and the **exit** (EXEC) command is used to log off (exit the active session):

AX(config)#**exit** AX#**disable** AX>**exit**

health-test

Description	Test the status of a device using a configured health monitor.	
Syntax	<pre>health-test {ipaddr ipv6 ipv6addr} [count num] [monitorname monitor-name] [port portnum]</pre>	
	Parameter	Description
	ipaddr ipv6 ipv6addr	Specifies the IPv4 or IPv6 address of the device to test.
	count num	Specifies the number of health checks to send to the device. You can specify 1-65535.
	monitorname	
	monitor-name	Specifies the health monitor to use. The health monitor must already be configured.
	port portnum	Specifies the protocol port to test, 1-65535.
Default	Only the IP address is redefaults:	equired. The other parameters have the following
	• count – 1	
	• monitorname – ICM	P ping, the default Layer 3 health check
	• port – Override port r one is set. Otherwise,	number set in the health monitor configuration, if this option is not set by default.
Mode	EXEC, Privileged EXEC,	, and global config
Usage	If an override IP address a figuration, the AX device specify an address and po	and protocol port are set in the health monitor con- will use the override address and port, even if you rt with the health-test command.
Example	The following command tured health monitor hm80	tests port 80 on server 192.168.1.66, using config-
AX#health-test 192.168 node status UP.	168.1.66 monitorname hm80	



help

Description	Display a description of	the interactive help system of the AX Series.	
Syntax	help		
Example	(See <u>"CLI Quick Refere</u>	ence" on page 35.)	
no			
Description	See <u>"no" on page 71</u> . Th	See <u>"no" on page 71</u> . This command is not used at this level.	
ping			
Description	Send an ICMP echo pac	ket to test network connectivity.	
Syntax	<pre>ping [ipv6] {ho [data HEX-word] [flood] [interface {eth management}] [repeat count] [size num] [timeout secs] [ttl num] [source {ipaddr</pre>	<pre>ping [ipv6] {hostname ipaddr} [data HEX-word] [flood] [interface {ethernet port-num ve ve-num management}] [repeat count] [size num] [timeout secs] [ttl num] [source {ipaddr ethernet port-num ve ve-num}]</pre>	
	Parameter	Description	
	[ipv6] hostname ipaddr	Target of the ping.	
	data HEX-word	Hexadecimal data pattern to send in the ping. The pattern can be 1-8 hexadecimal characters long.	
	flood	Sends a continuous stream of ping packets, by sending a new packet as soon as a reply to the previous packet is received.	



	<pre>interface {ethernet port- num ve ve-num management}</pre>	Uses the specified interface as the source address of the ping.
	repeat count	Number of times to send the ping, 1-10000000 (ten million).
	size num	Size of the datagram, 1-10000.
	timeout secs	Number of seconds the AX device waits for a reply to a sent ping packet, 1-2100 seconds.
	ttl num	Maximum number of hops the ping is allowed to traverse, 1-255.
	<pre>source ipaddr ethernet port- num ve ve-num</pre>	Forces the AX device to give the specified IP address, or the IP address configured on the spec- ified interface, as the source address of the ping.
Default	This command has the fol	lowing defaults:
	• data – not set	
	• flood – disabled	
	• interface – not set. The in the main route table (The management interment IP address as the	the AX device looks up the route to the ping target e and uses the interface associated with the route. The erface is not used unless you specify the manage- e source interface.)
	• repeat – 5	
	• size – datagram size is 84 bytes	
	• timeout – 10 seconds	
	• ttl – 1	
	• source – not set. The A uses the interface asso	AX device looks up the route to the ping target and ciated with the route.
Mode	EXEC and Privileged EX	EC
Usage f	The ping command sends then awaits a reply. Unleasending of each ping pack	s an echo request packet to a remote address, and ss you use the flood option, the interval between tet is 1 second.
,	To terminate a ping sessio	on, type ctrl+c.



Example

The following command sends a ping to IP address 192.168.3.116:

```
AX>ping 192.168.3.116

PING 192.168.3.116 (192.168.3.116) 56(84) bytes of data

64 bytes from 192.168.3.116: icmp_seq=1 ttl=128 time=0.206 ms

64 bytes from 192.168.3.116: icmp_seq=2 ttl=128 time=0.263 ms

64 bytes from 192.168.3.116: icmp_seq=3 ttl=128 time=0.264 ms

64 bytes from 192.168.3.116: icmp_seq=5 ttl=128 time=0.216 ms

--- 192.168.3.116 ping statistics ---

5 packets transmitted, 5 received, 0% packet loss, time 3996ms

rtt min/avg/max/mdev = 0.206/0.241/0.264/0.032 ms
```

```
Example The following command sends a ping to IP address 10.10.1.20, from AX Ethernet port 1. The ping has data pattern "fffff", is 1024 bytes long, and is sent 100 times.
```

AX#ping data ffff repeat 100 size 1024 source ethernet 1 10.10.1.20

show

Description	Show system or configu	ration information.	
Syntax	show options		
Default	N/A	N/A	
Mode	EXEC and Privileged E	EXEC and Privileged EXEC	
Usage	For information about page 689.	For information about the show commands, see <u>"Show Commands" on</u> page 689.	
ssh			
Description	Establish a Secure Shell device.	(SSH) connection from the AX Series to another	
Syntax	ssh [use-mgmt-p login-name [pro	ort] {host-name ipaddr} tocol-port]	
	Parameter	Description	
	use-mgmt-port	Uses the management interface as the source interface for the connection to the remote device.	

Uses the management interface as the source interface for the connection to the remote device. The management route table is used to reach the device. By default, the AX device attempts to use



the data route table to reach the remote device

		through a data interface.
	host-name	Host name of a remote system.
	ipaddr	The IP address of a remote system.
	login-name	User name to log into the remote system.
	protocol-port	TCP port number on which the remote system listens for SSH client traffic.
Default	By default, the AX device The management interface port option. The default <i>p</i>	e will use a data interface as the source interface. ce is not used unless you specify the use-mgmt - protocol-port is 22.
Mode	EXEC and Privileged EX	EC
Usage	SSH version 2 is supporte	ed. SSH version 1 is not supported.
telnet		
Description	Open a Telnet tunnel conr	nection from the AX Series to another device.
Syntax	telnet [use-mgmt [protocol-port]	-port] {host-name ipaddr)
Syntax	telnet [use-mgmt [protocol-port] Parameter	<pre>-port] {host-name ipaddr) Description</pre>
Syntax	<pre>telnet [use-mgmt [protocol-port] Parameter use-mgmt-port</pre>	 -port] {host-name ipaddr) Description Uses the management interface as the source interface for the connection to the remote device. The management route table is used to reach the device. By default, the AX device attempts to use the data route table to reach the remote device through a data interface.
Syntax	<pre>telnet [use-mgmt [protocol-port] Parameter use-mgmt-port host-name</pre>	 -port] {host-name ipaddr) Description Uses the management interface as the source interface for the connection to the remote device. The management route table is used to reach the device. By default, the AX device attempts to use the data route table to reach the remote device through a data interface. Host name of a remote system.
Syntax	<pre>telnet [use-mgmt [protocol-port] Parameter use-mgmt-port host-name ipaddr</pre>	 -port] {host-name ipaddr) Description Uses the management interface as the source interface for the connection to the remote device. The management route table is used to reach the device. By default, the AX device attempts to use the data route table to reach the remote device through a data interface. Host name of a remote system. The IP address of a remote system.
Syntax	<pre>telnet [use-mgmt [protocol-port] Parameter use-mgmt-port host-name ipaddr protocol-port</pre>	 -port] {host-name ipaddr) Description Uses the management interface as the source interface for the connection to the remote device. The management route table is used to reach the device. By default, the AX device attempts to use the data route table to reach the remote device through a data interface. Host name of a remote system. The IP address of a remote system. TCP port number on which the remote system listens for Telnet traffic.
Syntax Default	<pre>telnet [use-mgmt [protocol-port] Parameter use-mgmt-port host-name ipaddr protocol-port By default, the AX device The management interface port option. The default p</pre>	 -port] {host-name ipaddr) Description Uses the management interface as the source interface for the connection to the remote device. The management route table is used to reach the device. By default, the AX device attempts to use the data route table to reach the remote device through a data interface. Host name of a remote system. The IP address of a remote system. TCP port number on which the remote system listens for Telnet traffic. e will use a data interface as the source interface. the source interface as the source interface.



Example

The following command opens a Telnet session from the AX to another AX at IP address 10.10.4.55:

AX>**telnet 10.10.4.55** Trying 10.10.4.55... Connected to 10.10.4.55. Escape character is '^]'. Welcome to AX3200 AX login:

traceroute

Description	Display the router hops th device can reach a remote	rough which a packet sent from the AX Series device.
Syntax	traceroute [ipv6 {host-name ipac] [use-mgmt-port] ddr)
	Parameter	Description
	ipv6	Indicates that the target address is an IPv6 address.
	use-mgmt-port	Uses the management interface as the source interface. The management route table is used to reach the device. By default, the AX device attempts to use the data route table to reach the remote device through a data interface.
	{hostname ipaddr)	Device at the remote end of the route to be traced.
Default	N/A	
Mode	EXEC and Privileged EX	EC
Usage	If a hop does not respond row for that hop.	within 5 seconds, asterisks ($*$) are shown in the
Example	The following command t	races a route to 192.168.10.99:
AX#traceroute 192.168. traceroute to 192.164 ets 1 10.10.20.1 (10.1 2 10.10.13.1 (10.1 	10.99 8.10.99 (192.168.1 0.20.1) 1.215 ms 0.13.1) 0.499 ms	0.99), 30 hops max, 40 byte pack- 1.151 ms 1.243 ms 0.392 ms 0.493 ms







Privileged EXEC mode Commands

The Privileged EXEC mode commands are available at the CLI level that is
presented when you enter the enable command and a valid enable password
from the EXEC level of the CLI.

The Privileged EXEC mode level command prompt ends with #, as in the following example:

AX#

axdebug

Description	Enters the AX debug subsystem. (See "AX Debug Commands" on
	<u>page 789</u> .)

backup log

Description Configure log backup options and save a backup of the system log. (See <u>"backup log" on page 48</u>.)

backup system

Back up the system. (See <u>"backup system" on page 50</u>.)

clear

Description	Clear statistics or reset	Clear statistics or reset functions. Sub-command parameters are required for specific sub-commands.	
Syntax	clear sub-command parameter		
	Sub-Command	Description	
	6rd	Clears IPv6 Rapid Deployment (6rd) statistics.	
	access-list {acl-num all]	Clears ACL statistics.	



admin session	
all }	Clears admin sessions.
arp {options}	Clears ARP entries.
bfd statistics	Clears Bidirectional Forwarding Detection (BFD) statistics.
bgp {options}	Clears information and statistics for Border Gate way Protocol (BGP). See <u>"BGP Clear Com-</u> mands" on page 655.
clns neighbors	Clears Connectionless-mode Network Service (CLNS) neighbor routes.
console	Kills the current login process and starts a new one.
core	Clears system core dump files.
dns {options}	Clears DNS cache entries or statistics.
dns64 statistics	Clears DNS64 statistics.
ds-lite statistics	Clears Dual-stack Lite (DS-Lite) statistics.
dumpthread	Clears dumpthread files.
fixed-nat options	Clears Fixed-NAT sessions or statistics.
ha	Clears High-Availability (HA) statistics.
health [gateway]	Clears health monitoring statistics.
icmp	Clears ICMP statistics.
<pre>ip bgp {options}</pre>	Clears information and statistics for Border Gate way Protocol (BGP). See <u>"BGP Clear Com- mands" on page 449</u> .
ip fragmentation statistics	Clears IP fragmentation statistics.
ip helper- address statistics	Clears IPv4 DHCP helper statistics.
<pre>ip nat {options}</pre>	Clears IPv4 NAT information or statistics.



ip ospf	
process	Terminates OSPFv2 processing. The <i>process-id</i> option specifies the OSPFv2 process. If you omit this option, processing is terminated for all running OSPFv2 processes.
<pre>ip rip route {options}</pre>	Clears IPv4 Routing Information Protocol (RIP) routes.
ip route kernel	Clears stale IPv4 kernel routes.
ip stateful- firewall options	Clears IP stateful-firewall information or statis-
	tics.
ipv6 access-	
$\{all \mid acl-id\}$	Clears IPv6 ACL statistics.
ipv6 fragmentation statistics	Clears IPv6 fragmentation statistics.
ipv6 nat pool statistics	
[pool-name]	Clears IPv6 NAT statistics.
ipv6 neighbor	Clears the IPv6 neighbor cache.
ipv6 ospf [tag] process	Terminates OSPFv3 processing. The <i>tag</i> option specifies the OSPFv3 instance (tag). If you omit this option, processing is terminated for all running OSPFv3 instances.
ipv6 rip route	
{options}	Clears IPv6 Routing Information Protocol (RIP) routes.
ipv6 route kernel	Clears stale IPv6 kernel routes.
ipv6 stateful- firewall	
options	Clears IPv6 stateful-firewall information or sta- tistics.
ipv6 traffic	Clears IPv6 traffic statistics.
isis database	Clears the database for Intermediate System to Intermediate System (IS-IS).



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference

<pre>lacp {options}</pre>	Clears LACP information or statistics.
logging	Clears the system log buffer.
lsn-rule-list {options}	Clears statistics for LSN rule lists.
lw-406 options	Clears information or statistics for Lightweight 40ver6.
mac-address {options}	Clears the MAC address table.
nat46-stateless statistics	Clears statistics for stateless NAT46.
nat64 statistics	Clears statistics for NAT64.
<pre>netflow statistics [monitor monitor-name]</pre>	Clears NetFlow statistics.
<pre>router log file [type]</pre>	Clears router log files. The <i>type</i> can be one of the following:
	bgpd [<i>file-num</i>] – Clears the specified BGP log file, or all BGP log files.
	isisd [<i>file-num</i>] – Clears the speci- fied IS-IS log file, or all IS-IS log files.
	nsm [<i>file-num</i>] – Clears the specified Network Services Module (NSM) log file, or all NSM log files.
	ospf6d [<i>file-num</i>] – Clears the speci- fied IPv6 OSPFv3 log file, or all OSPFv3 log files.
	ospfd [<i>file-num</i>] – Clears the speci- fied IPv4 OSPFv2 log file, or all OSPFv2 log files.
	ripd [<i>file-num</i>] – Clears the specified IPv4 RIP log file, or all IPv4 RIP log files.
	ripng [<i>file-num</i>] – Clears the speci- fied IPv6 RIP log file, or all IPv6 RIP log files.
	If you do not specify a type, router logs of all types above are cleared.



	sessions [options]	Clears sessions.	
	sflow statistics	Clears sFlow statistics.	
	<pre>slb {options}</pre>	Clears SLB statistics.	
	<pre>statistics [interface ethernet portnum]</pre>	Clears physical Ethernet interface statistics.	
Default	N/A		
Mode	Privileged EXEC mode	Privileged EXEC mode or global configuration mode	
Usage	To list the options available for a clear command, enter ? after the comand name. For example, to display the clear arp options, enter the following command: clear arp ?		
	On some AX models, a command clears all a show slb 14 . This appl AX 3200, AX 5100, and	entering either the clear slb switch or clear slb l4 nomaly counters for both show slb switch <i>and</i> ies to the following models: AX 2200, AX 3100, d AX 5200.	
	Note on Clearing Se	ssions	
	After entering the clea session-clear mode for tions are sent to the dele	r session command, the AX device may remain in up to 10 seconds. During this time, any new connecte queue for clearing.	
Example	The following comman	d clears the counters on Ethernet interface 3:	
AX#clear statistics	interface ethernet 3		
clock			

Description	Set the system time and date.	
Syntax	clock set time day month year	
	Parameter	Description
	time	Format hh:mm:ss (24 hr.)
	day	Format 1-31 – day of month
	month	Format January, February, and so on.
	year	Format 2007, 2008, and so on.



	Note:	The default time zone is GMT.	
Mode		Privileged EXEC mode	
Usage		Use this command to manually set the system time and date.	
		If you use the GUI or CLI to change the AX timezone or system time, the statistical database is cleared. This database contains general system statistics (performance, and CPU, memory, and disk utilization) and SLB statistics. For example, in the GUI, the graphs displayed on the Monitor > Overview page are cleared.	
		If the system clock is adjusted while OSPF or IS-IS is enabled, the routing protocols may stop working properly. To work around this issue, disable OSPF and IS-IS before adjusting the system clock.	
Example		Set the system clock to 5:51 p.m. and the date to February 22nd, 2007.	
AX#clock set 3	L7:51:00	22 February 2007	

configure

Description	Enter the configuration mode from the Privileged EXEC mode.	
Syntax	configure [terminal]	
Mode	Privileged EXEC mode	
Example	Enter configuration mode.	
AX# configure AX(config)#		

debug

Note: It is recommended to use the AXdebug subsystem instead of these **debug** commands. See <u>"AX Debug Commands" on page 789</u>.



Description	Display a side-by-side comparison of the commands in a pair of locally stored configurations.		
Syntax	<pre>diff {startup-config profile-name} {running-config profile-name}</pre>		
Default	N/A		
Mode	Privileged EXEC mode		
Usage	The diff startup-config running-config command compares the configura- tion profile that is currently linked to "startup-config" with the running-con- fig. Similarly, the diff startup-config <i>profile-name</i> command compares the configuration profile that is currently linked to "startup-config" with the specified configuration profile.		
	To compare a configuration profile other than the startup-config to the run- ning-config, enter the configuration profile name instead of startup-config . To compare any two configuration profiles, enter their profile names instead of startup-config or running-config .		
	In the CLI output, the commands in the first profile name you specify are listed on the left side of the terminal screen. The commands in the other pro- file that differ from the commands in the first profile are listed on the right side of the screen, across from the commands they differ from. The follow- ing flags indicate how the two profiles differ:		
	• – This command has different settings in the two profiles.		
	• > – This command is in the second profile but not in the first one.		
	• < – This command is in the first profile but not in the second one.		
Example	The following command compares the configuration profile currently linked to "startup-config" with configuration profile "testcfg1". This exam- ple is abbreviated for clarity. The differences between the profiles are shown in this example in bold type.		





```
AX#diff startup-config testcfg1
!Current configuration: 13378 bytes
!Configuration last updated at 19:18:57 PST Wed Jan 23 2008
!Configuration last saved at 19:19:37 PST Wed Jan 23 2008
!version 1.2.1
I.
hostname AX
!
clock timezone America/Tijuana
!
ntp server 10.1.11.100
!
. . .
!
interface ve 30
 ip address 30.30.31.1 255.255.255.0
                                                                   ip address
10.10.20.1 255.255.255.0
 ipv6 address 2001:144:121:3::5/64
                                                                   ipv6 address
fc00:300::5/64
I.
                                                                (
!
                                                                (
                                                                > ip nat range-
list v6-1 fc00:300::300/64 2001:144:121:1::900/6
                                                                (
ipv6 nat pool p1 2001:144:121:3::996 2001:144:121:3::999 netm <
1
                                                                1
--MORE--
```

disable

Description		Exit the Privileged EXEC mode and enter the EXEC mode.	
Syntax		disable	
Mode		Privileged EXEC mode	
Example		The following command exits Privileged EXEC mode.	
AX# disable AX>			
	Note:	The prompt changes from $\#$ to >, indicating change to EXEC mode.	



exit

Description		Exit the Privileged EXEC mode and enter the EXEC Mode.	
Syntax		exit	
Mode		Privileged EXEC mode	
Example		In the following example, the exit command is used to exit the Privileged EXEC mode level and return to the User EXEC level of the CLI:	
AX# exit AX>			
	Note:	The prompt changes from $\#$ to >, indicating change to EXEC mode.	

export

Description Put a file to a remote site using the specified transport method.

Syntax export {class-list | ssl-cert | ssl-key | ssl-crl | axdebug | debug_monitor} file-name [use-mgmt-port] url

Parameter	Description		
class-list	Exports an IP class list.		
ssl-cert	Exports a certificate.		
ssl-key	Exports a certificate key.		
ssl-crl	Exports a Certificate Revocation List (CRL).		
axdebug	Exports an AX debug capture file.		
debug_monitor	Exports a debug monitor file.		
file-name	Name of the file to export.		
use-mgmt-port	Uses the management interface as the source interface for the connection to the remote device. The management route table is used to reach the device. By default, the AX device attempts to use		

through a data interface.

the data route table to reach the remote device





import

Description

Get a file from a remote site.

Syntax

```
import
{class-list | ssl-cert | ssl-key | ssl-crl }
file-name url
[period seconds]
```

Parameter	Description	
class-list	Imports an IP class list.	
feature-license	Imports a feature license.	
license	Imports a license.	
ssl-cert	Imports a certificate.	
ssl-key	Imports a certificate key.	
ssl-crl	Imports a Certificate Revocation List (CRL).	
file-name	Specifies the filename to use on the target server.	
url	Specifies the file transfer protocol, username (if required), and directory path.	
	You can enter the entire URL on the command line or press Enter to display a prompt for each part of the URL. If you enter the entire URL and a password is required, you will still be prompted for the password. The password can be up to 255 characters long.	
	To enter the entire URL:	
	<pre>tftp://host/file</pre>	
	<pre>ftp://[user@]host[:port]/file</pre>	
	<pre>scp://[user@]host/file</pre>	
	<pre>rcp://[user@]host/file</pre>	
period seconds	Enables automated updates of the file. You can specify 60-31536000 seconds. (See "Usage" below.)	
Privileged EXEC mode o	r global configuration mode	

Usage

Mode

For SSL certificates and keys, this command is equivalent to the **slb sslload** command. You can use either one to import SSL certificates and keys.



Note: The AX device only supports certificates that are in Privacy-Enhanced Mail (PEM) format. The maximum supported certificate size is 16KB. To convert a certificate from Windows format to PEM format, see the "Importing SSL Certificates" chapter in the AX Series System Configuration and Administration Guide.

Periodic Updates

The **period** option simplifies update of imported files, especially files that are used by multiple AX devices. You can edit a single instance of the file, on the remote server, then configure each of AX device to automatically update the file to import the latest changes.

When you use this option, the AX device periodically replaces the specified file with the version that is currently on the remote server. If the file is in use in the running-config, the updated version of the file is placed into memory.

The updated file affects only new sessions that begin after the update but does not affect existing sessions.

locale

Description	Set the locale for the cu	Set the locale for the current terminal session.		
Syntax	locale paramete	locale parameter		
	Parameter	Description		
	test	To test current terminal encodings for specific locale		
	en_US.UTF-8	English locale for the USA, encoding with UTF- 8 (default)		
	zh_CN.UTF-8	Chinese locale for PRC, encoding with UTF-8		
	zh_CN.GB18030	Chinese locale for PRC, encoding with GB18030		
	zh_CN.GBK	Chinese locale for PRC, encoding with GBK		
	zh_CN.GB2312	Chinese locale for PRC, encoding with GB2312		
	zh_TW.UTF-8	Chinese locale for Taiwan, encoding with UTF-8		
	zh_TW.BIG5	Chinese locale for Taiwan, encoding with BIG5		
	zh_TW.EUCTW	Chinese locale for Taiwan, encoding with EUC- TW		

AleNetworks	AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference		
	ja_JP.UTF-8	Japanese locale for Japan, encoding with UTF-8	
	ja_JP.EUC-JP	Japanese locale for Japan, encoding with EUC-JP	
Default	en_US.UTF-8		
Mode	Privileged EXEC mode or	r global configuration mode	
no			
Description	Negate a command or set it to its default setting.		
Syntax	no command		
Mode	All		
Example	The following command disables the terminal command history feature:		
AX# no terminal history AX#			
ping			
	Test network connectivity	. For syntax information, see <u>"ping" on page 53</u> .	
reboot			
	Reboot the AX Series dev	ice.	
Syntax	<pre>reboot [text in [hh:]mm [text] at hh:mm [month day day month] [text] cancel]</pre>		
	Parameter	Description	
	text	Reason for the reboot, 1-255 characters long.	
	in [<i>hh:</i>] <i>mm</i>	Schedule a reboot to take effect in the specified minutes or hours and minutes. The reboot must take place within approximately 24 hours.	
	at hh:mm	Schedule a reboot to take place at the specified time (using a 24-hour clock). If you specify the month and day, the reboot is scheduled to take	



		place at the specified time and date. If you do not specify the month and day, the reboot takes place at the specified time on the current day (if the specified time is later than the current time), or on the next day (if the specified time is earlier than the current time). Specifying 00:00 sched- ules the reboot for midnight.	
	month	Name of the month, any number of characters in a unique string.	
	day	Number of the day, 1-31.	
	cancel	Cancel a scheduled reboot.	
Mode	Privileged EXEC mode		
Usage	The reboot command halts the system. If the system is set to restart on error, it reboots itself. Use the reboot command after configuration information is entered into a file and saved to the startup configuration.		
	You cannot reboot from a virtual terminal if the system is not set up for auto- matic booting. This prevents the system from dropping to the ROM monitor and thereby taking the system out of the remote user's control.		
	If you modify your config configuration.	uration file, the system will prompt you to save the	
	The at keyword can be u AX Series (either through time is relative to the cor reboots across several AX AX Series must be synch scheduled reboot, use the	used only if the system clock has been set on the h NTP, the hardware calendar, or manually). The nfigured time zone on the AX Series. To schedule X Series to occur simultaneously, the time on each ronized with NTP. To display information about a show reboot command.	
Example	The following example immediately reboots the AX Series device:		
AX(config)# reboot System configuration h Rebooting System Now ! Proceed with reboot? [as been modified. Sa !! yes/no] :yes	ave? [yes/no]: yes	
	The following example re	eboots the AX Series device in 10 minutes:	
AX(config)# reboot in AX(config)# Reboot sch Proceed with reboot? [AX(config)#	10 neduled for 11:57:08 yes/no] yes	PDT Fri Apr 21 1996 (in 10 minutes)	


The following example reboots the AX Series device at 1:00 p.m. today:

```
AX(config)# reboot at 13:00
AX(config)# Reboot scheduled for 13:00:00 PDT Fri Apr 21 1996 (in 1 hour and 2
minutes)
Proceed with reboot? [yes/no]yes
AX(config)#
```

The following example reboots the AX Series device on Apr 20 at 4:20 p.m.:

```
AX(config)# reboot at 16:20 apr 20
AX(config)# Reboot scheduled for 16:20:00 PDT Sun Apr 20 2008 (in 38 hours and
9 minutes)
Proceed with reboot? [yes/no]yes
AX(config)#
```

The following example cancels a pending reboot:

```
AX(config)# reboot cancel
%Reboot cancelled.
```

```
***
*** --- REBOOT ABORTED ---
***
```

reload

Description	Restart AX system processes and reload the startup-config, without reboot- ing.
Syntax	reload
Mode	Privileged EXEC mode
Usage	The reload command restarts AX system processes and reloads the startup- config, without reloading the system image. To also reload the system image, use the reboot command instead. (See <u>"reboot" on page 71</u> .) The AX device closes all sessions as part of the reload.
Example	The following command reloads an AX device:
AX(config)# reload Reload AXDone. AX(config)#	





repeat

Description	Periodically re-enter a sh	ow command.	
Syntax	repeat seconds show command-options		
	Parameter	Description	
	seconds	Interval at which to re-enter the command. You can specify 1-300 seconds.	
	command-options	Options of the show command. See <u>"Show Com-</u> mands" on page 689.	
Mode	Privileged EXEC mode		
Usage	The repeat command is a ing the system.	especially useful when monitoring or troubleshoot-	
	The elapsed time indicate repeat command. To stop	es how much time has passed since you entered the o the command, press Ctrl+C.	
Example	The following command onds:	displays SLB TCP-stack statistics every 30 sec-	
AX# repeat 30 show slb * Total	tcp stack		
Currently EST conns Active open conns Passive open conns Connect attempt failure Total in TCP packets Total out TCP packets Retransmitted packets Resets rcvd on EST com Reset Sent Refreshing command eve: Total	29 6968 7938 es 0 678804 712974 359 n 5369 4303 ry 30 seconds. (pres	ss ^C to quit) Elapsed Time: 00:00:00	
Currently EST conns Active open conns Passive open conns Connect attempt failure Total in TCP packets Total out TCP packets Retransmitted packets Resets rcvd on EST conn Reset Sent Refreshing command eve:	30 6992 7939 es 0 679433 712986 367 n 5781 4305 ry 30 seconds. (pres	ss ^C to quit) Elapsed Time: 00:00:30	



Description	Display system or config page 689.	guration information. See <u>"Show Commands" on</u>
shutdown		
	Schedule a system shutd or cancel a scheduled sys	own at a specified time or after a specified interval, stem shutdown.
Syntax	<pre>shutdown {at hh</pre>	:mm in hh:mm cancel [text]}
	Parameter	Description
	at	Shutdown at a specific time/date (hh:mm)
	in	Shutdown after time interval (mm or hh:mm)
	cancel	Cancel pending shutdown
	text	Reason for shutdown
Mode	Privileged EXEC mode	
Example	The following command p.m.:	d schedules a system shutdown to occur at 11:59
AX# shutdown at 23:59		
System configuration h Building configuration [OK]	as been modified. S 	ave? [yes/no]: yes
Shutdown scheduled for by admin on 192.168.1. Proceed with shutdown? AX#	23:59:00 UTC Fri Se 102 [confirm]	ep 30 2005 (in 5 hours and 39 minutes)

Example The following command cancels a scheduled system shutdown:

```
AX#shutdown cancel
* * *
*** --- SHUTDOWN ABORTED ---
* * *
```

ssh

Description

Establish a Secure Shell (SSH) connection from the AX device to another device. (See <u>"ssh" on page 55</u>.)





telnet

Description

Establish a Telnet connection from the AX device to another device. (See <u>"telnet" on page 56</u>.)

terminal

Description	Set terminal display parameters.	
Syntax	terminal option value	
	Parameter	Description
	auto-size	Enables the terminal length and width to auto- matically change to match the terminal window size.
	editing	Enables command-line editing.
	history [<i>size</i>]	Enables and controls the command history func- tion. The <i>size</i> option specifies the number of command lines that will be held in the history buffer. You can specify 0-1000.
	length num	Sets the number of lines on a screen. You can specify 0-512. Specifying 0 disables pausing.
	monitor	Copies debug output to the current terminal.
	width num	Sets the width of the display terminal. You can specify 0-512. The setting 0 means "infinite".
Default	The terminal settings have the following defaults:	
	• auto-size – enabled	
	 editing – enabled history – enabled; default size is 256 length – 24 	
	• monitor – disabled	
	• width – 80	
Mode	Privileged EXEC mode or global configuration mode	
Example AX#terminal length 40	The following command changes the terminal length to 40:	



traceroute		
Description	Trace a route. See <u>"trace</u>	route" on page 57.
write		
Description	Write the running-config	to a configuration profile.
Syntax	write {memory [primary secon	<pre>force} ndary profile-name] [cf]</pre>
	Parameter	Description
	memory	Writes (saves) the running-config to a configura- tion profile.
	force	Forces the AX device to save the configuration regardless of whether the system is ready.
	primary	Replaces the configuration profile stored in the primary image area with the running-config.
	secondary	Replaces the configuration profile stored in the secondary image area with the running-config.
	cf	Replaces the configuration profile in the speci- fied image area (primary or secondary) on the compact flash rather than the hard disk. If you omit this option, the configuration profile in the specified area on the hard disk is replaced.
Default	If you enter write memory without additional options, the command replaces the configuration profile that is currently linked to by "startup-con- fig" with the commands in the running-config. If startup-config is set to its default (linked to the configuration profile stored in the image area that was used for the last reboot), then write memory replaces the configuration pro- file in the image area with the running-config.	
Mode	Configuration mode	
Usage	CAUTION! Using the we empty configuration! A mand only with the advice	write force command can result in an incomplete or 10 Networks recommends that you use this com- ce of A10 Networks Technical Support.
	Unless you use the force and saves the configuration	e option, the command checks for system readiness on only if the system is ready.





AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference

	For more information about configuration profiles, see the AX Series System Configuration and Administration Guide.
Example	The following command saves the running-config to the configuration pro- file stored in the primary image area of the hard disk:
AX#write memory primar	У
Example	The following command saves the running-config to a configuration profile named "slbconfig2":
AX#write memory slbcon	Eig2
Example	The following command attempts to save the running-config but the system is not ready:
AX# write memory AX system is not ready	. Cannot save the configuration.
Example	The following commands attempt to save the running-config on a system that is not ready, then force the save operation to take place anyway:
AX# write memory AX system is not ready AX# write force	. Cannot save the configuration.

write terminal

Description	Display the running-config on the terminal.	
Syntax	write terminal	
Mode	Privileged EXEC mode or global configuration mode	



Config Commands: Global

This chapter describes the commands for configuring global AX parameters.

To access this configuration level, enter the **configure** [**terminal**] command at the Privileged EXEC level.

To display global settings, use **show** commands. (See <u>"Show Commands"</u> <u>on page 689</u>.)

This CLI level also has the following commands, which are available at all configuration levels:

- **backup** See <u>"backup system" on page 50</u> and <u>"backup log" on page 48</u>.
- clear See <u>"clear" on page 59</u>.
- debug See <u>"debug" on page 64</u>.
- diff See <u>"diff" on page 65</u>.
- export See <u>"export" on page 67</u>.
- health-test See <u>"health-test" on page 52</u>.
- help See <u>"CLI Quick Reference" on page 35</u>.
- import See <u>"import" on page 69</u>.
- repeat See <u>"repeat" on page 74</u>.
- show See <u>"Show Commands" on page 689</u>.
- write See <u>"write" on page 77</u>.

6rd

Description

Configure IPv6 Rapid Deployment (6rd). See <u>"Config Commands: 6rd" on page 585</u>.





access-list (standard)

Description		Configure a standard Ac IP addresses.	ccess Control List (ACL) to permit or deny source
Syntax		<pre>[no] access-lis {permit deny remark string source-ipaddr { [log [transparen]</pre>	t acl-num [seq-num] 13-vlan-fwd-disable } filter-mask /mask-length} t-session-only]]
		Parameter	Description
		acl-num	Standard ACL number. You can specify 1-99.
		seq-num	Sequence number of this rule in the ACL. You can use this option to resequence the rules in the ACL.
		deny permit	Action to take for traffic that matches the ACL.
			deny – For ACLs applied to interfaces or used for management access, drops the traffic.
			permit – For ACLs applied to interfaces or used for management access, allows the traffic. For ACLS used for IP source NAT, specifies the inside host addresses to be translated into exter- nal addresses.
	Note:	If you are configuring ACLs used with sourc ply does not use the de	an ACL for source NAT, use the permit action. For e NAT, the deny action does not drop traffic, it sim- enied addresses for NAT translations.
		13-vlan-fwd- disable	Disables Layer 3 forwarding between VLANs for IP addresses that match the ACL rule.
		remark string	Adds a remark to the ACL. The remark appears at the top of the ACL when you display it in the CLI.
			To use blank spaces in the remark, enclose the entire remark string in double quotes. The ACL must already exist before you can configure a remark for it.



source-ipaddr {filter-mask /mask-length}	Denies or permits traffic received from the speci- fied host or subnet. The <i>filter-mask</i> specifies the portion of the address to filter:
	– Use 0 to match.
	– Use 255 to ignore.
	For example, the following <i>filter-mask</i> filters on a 24-bit subnet: 0.0.0.255
	Alternatively, you can use <i>mask-length</i> to specify the portion of the address to filter. For example, you can specify "/24" instead "0.0.0.255" to filter on a 24-bit subnet.
log	
[transparent- session-only]	Configures the AX device to generate log mes- sages when traffic matches the ACL.
	The transparent-session-only option limits log- ging for an ACL rule to creation and deletion of transparent sessions for traffic that matches the ACL rule.
No ACLs are configure option is disabled by def	ed by default. When you configure one, the log fault.
Configuration mode	
An ACL can contain mu one rule. Rules are adde first rule you add appear	ultiple rules. Each access-list command configures ad to the ACL in the order you configure them. The rs at the top of the ACL.
Rules are applied to the traffic in the order they appear in the ACL (from the top, which is the first rule, downward). The first rule that matches traffic i used to permit or deny that traffic. After the first rule match, no additional rules are compared against the traffic.	
To move a rule within the new sequence number.	the sequence, delete the rule, then re-add it with a
Access lists do not take	effect until you apply them.
• To use an ACL to fil page 203.	ter traffic on an interface, see <u>"access-list" on</u>
• To use an ACL to co ment" on page 115 a	ntrol management access, see <u>"disable-manage-</u> nd <u>"enable-management" on page 121</u> .
	<pre>source-ipaddr {filter-mask /mask-length} log [transparent- session-only] No ACLs are configur option is disabled by def Configuration mode An ACL can contain m one rule. Rules are adde first rule you add appear Rules are applied to the top, which is the first ru used to permit or deny t rules are compared again To move a rule within t new sequence number. Access lists do not take • To use an ACL to fil page 203. • To use an ACL to co ment" on page 115 a </pre>





• To use an ACL with source NAT, see <u>"ip nat inside" on page 247</u>.

The syntax shown in this section configures a standard ACL, which filters based on source IP address. To filter on additional values such as destination address, IP protocol, or TCP/UDP ports, configure an extended ACL. (See <u>"access-list (extended)" on page 82</u>.)

Example

The following commands configure a standard ACL and use it to deny traffic sent from subnet 10.10.10.x, and apply the ACL to inbound traffic received on Ethernet interface 4:

```
AX(config)#access-list 1 deny 10.10.10.0 0.0.0.255
AX(config)#interface ethernet 4
AX(config-if:ethernet4)#access-list 1 in
```

access-list (extended)

Description

Configure an extended Access Control List (ACL) to permit or deny traffic based on source and destination IP addresses, IP protocol, and TCP/UDP ports.

Syntax

```
[no] access-list acl-num [seq-num]
{permit | deny | 13-vlan-fwd-disable |
   remark string} ip
{any | host host-src-ipaddr |
   net-src-ipaddr {filter-mask | /mask-length}}
{any | host host-dst-ipaddr |
   net-dst-ipaddr {filter-mask | /mask-length}}
[fragments] [vlan vlan-id] [dscp num]
[log [transparent-session-only]]
```

```
or
Syntax
                      [no] access-list acl-num [seq-num]
                      {permit | deny | 13-vlan-fwd-disable |
                        remark string} icmp
                      [type icmp-type [code icmp-code]]
                      {any | host host-src-ipaddr |
                        net-src-ipaddr {filter-mask | /mask-length}}
                      {any | host host-dst-ipaddr |
                        net-dst-ipaddr {filter-mask | /mask-length}}
                      [fragments] [vlan vlan-id] [dscp num]
                      [log [transparent-session-only]]
                     or
Syntax
                      [no] access-list acl-num [seq-num]
                      {permit | deny | 13-vlan-fwd-disable |
                        remark string { tcp | udp }
                      {any | host host-src-ipaddr |
                        net-src-ipaddr {filter-mask | /mask-length}}
                        [eq src-port | gt src-port | lt src-port |
                        range start-src-port end-src-port]
                      {any | host host-dst-ipaddr |
                        net-dst-ipaddr {filter-mask | /mask-length}}
                        [eq dst-port | gt dst-port | lt dst-port |
                        range start-dst-port end-dst-port]
                      [fragments] [vlan vlan-id] [dscp num]
                        [established]
                      [log [transparent-session-only]]
```

Networks



Parameter	Description
acl-num	Extended ACL number. You can specify 100-199.
seq-num	Sequence number of this rule in the ACL. You can use this option to resequence the rules in the ACL.
deny permit	Action to take for traffic that matches the ACL.
	deny – Drops the traffic.
	permit – Allows the traffic.
l3-vlan-fwd- disable	Disables Layer 3 forwarding between VLANs for IP addresses that match the ACL rule.
remark string	Adds a remark to the ACL. The remark appears at the top of the ACL when you display it in the CLI.
	To use blank spaces in the remark, enclose the entire remark string in double quotes. The ACL must already exist before you can configure a remark for it.
ip	Filters on IP packets.
icmp	Filters on ICMP packets.
tcp udp	Filters on TCP or UDP packets. The tcp and udp options enable you to filter on protocol port numbers.
type type- option	This option is applicable if the protocol type is icmp . Matches based on the specified ICMP type. You can specify one of the following. Enter the type name or the type number (for example, dest-unreachable or 3).
	any-type – Matches on any ICMP type.
	dest-unreachable 3 – Type 3, destination unreachable
	echo-reply $\mid 0 - \text{Type } 0$, echo reply
	echo-request 8 – Type 8, echo request
	info-reply 16 – Type 16, information reply
	info-request 15 – Type 15, information request
	mask-reply 18 – Type 18, address mask reply



	mask-request 17 – Type 17, address mask request
	parameter-problem 12 – Type 12, parameter problem
	redirect 5 – Type 5, redirect message
	source-quench 4 – Type 4, source quench
	time-exceeded 11 – Type 11, time exceeded
	timestamp 13 – Type 13, timestamp
	timestamp-reply 14 – Type 14, timestamp reply
	<i>type-num</i> – ICMP type number, 0-254
code code-num	This option is applicable if the protocol type is icmp . Matches based on the specified ICMP code.
	any-code – Matches on any ICMP code.
	<i>code-num</i> – ICMP code number, 0-254
<pre>any host host-src- ipaddr net-src-ipaddr {filter-mask /mask-length}</pre>	Source IP address(es) to filter. any – The ACL matches on all source IP addresses.
	host host-src-ipaddr – The ACL matches only on the specified host IP address.
	<pre>net-src-ipaddr {filter-mask /mask-length} - The ACL matches on any host in the specified subnet. The filter-mask specifies the portion of the address to filter:</pre>
	– Use 0 to match.
	– Use 255 to ignore.
	For example, the following <i>filter-mask</i> filters on a 24-bit subnet: 0.0.0.255
	Alternatively, you can use <i>mask-length</i> to specify the portion of the address to filter. For example, you can specify "/24" instead "0.0.0.255" to filter on a 24-bit subnet.



<pre>eq src-port gt src-port lt src-port range start- src-port</pre>	
end-src-port	For tcp or udp , the source protocol ports to filter.
	eq <i>src-port</i> – The ACL matches on traffic from the specified source port.
	gt <i>src-port</i> – The ACL matches on traffic from any source port with a higher number than the specified port.
	It <i>src-port</i> – The ACL matches on traffic from any source port with a lower number than the specified port.
	range start-src-port end-src-port – The ACL matches on traffic from any source port within the specified range.
<pre>any host host-dst- ipaddr net-dst-ipaddr {filter-mask /mask-length}</pre>	Destination IP address(es) to filter.
<pre>eq dst-port gt dst-port lt dst-port range start- dst-port</pre>	
end-dst-port	For tcp or udp , the destination protocol ports to filter.
fragments	Matches on packets in which the More bit in the header is set (1) or has a non-zero offset.
vlan vlan-id	Matches on the specified VLAN. VLAN match- ing occurs for incoming traffic only.
dscp num	Matches on the 6-bit Diffserv value in the IP header, 1-63.
established	Matches on TCP packets in which the ACK or RST bit is not set. This option is useful for pro- tecting against attacks from outside. Since a TCP connection from the outside does not have the ACK bit set (SYN only), the connection is dropped. Similarly, a connection established from the inside always has the ACK bit set. (The



first packet to the network from outside is a

		SYN/ACK.)	
	log [transparent- session-only]	Configures the AX device to generate log mes- sages when traffic matches the ACL.	
		ging for an ACL rule to creation and deletion of transparent sessions for traffic that matches the ACL rule.	
Default	No ACLs are configue option is disabled by d	ared by default. When you configure one, the log efault.	
Mode	Configuration mode		
Usage	An ACL can contain 1 one rule. Rules are add first rule you add appe	nultiple rules. Each access-list command configures led to the ACL in the order you configure them. The ars at the top of the ACL.	
	Rules are applied to the traffic in the order they appear in the ACL (from the top, which is the first, rule downward). The first rule that matches traffic is used to permit or deny that traffic. After the first rule match, no additional rules are compared against the traffic.		
	To move a rule within the sequence, delete the rule, then re-add it with a new sequence number.		
	Access lists do not take effect until you apply them:		
	• To use an ACL to filter traffic on an interface, see <u>"access-list" on page 203</u> .		
	• To use an ACL to c ment" on page 115	control management access, see <u>"disable-manage-</u> and <u>"enable-management" on page 121</u> .	
	• To use an ACL wit	h source NAT, see <u>"ip nat inside" on page 247</u> .	
accounting			
Description	Configure TACACS+ about user activities. T accounting:	as the accounting method for recording information he AX Series device supports the following types of	
	• EXEC accounting sions (user shells)	– provides information about EXEC terminal ses- on the AX device.	



	Command accounting commands executed to also allows you to spe	g – provides information about the EXEC shell under a specified privilege level. This command ecify the debug level.
Syntax	[no] accounting {radius tacplu	<pre>exec {start-stop stop-only} us}</pre>
	[no] accounting tacplus	commands <i>cmd-level</i> stop-only
	[no] accounting	debug debug-level
	Parameter	Description
	start-stop	Sends an Accounting START packet to TACACS+ servers when a user establishes a CLI session, and an Accounting STOP packet when the user logs out or the session times out.
	stop-only	Only sends an Accounting STOP packet when the user logs out or the session times out.
	radius tacplus	Specifies the type of accounting server to use.
	cmd-level	Specifies which level of commands will be accounted. The commands are divided into the following levels:
		15(admin) – Commands available for admin (all commands)
		14(config) – Commands available in config mode (not include the command of "admin" and those under the admin mode)
		1(priv EXEC) – Commands available in privileged EXEC mode
		0 (user EXEC) – Commands available in user EXEC mode
		Command levels 2-13 are the same as command level 1.
	debug-level	Specifies the debug level for accounting. The debug level is set as flag bits for different types of debug messages. The AX device has the following types of debug messages:
		0x1 – Common information such as "trying to connect with TACACS+ servers", "getting



AX(config) #accounting debug 15





Syntax

Configure an admin account for management access to the AX Series device.

[**no**] **admin** admin-username

ParameterDescriptionadmin-usernameAdmin username, 1-31 characters.

This command changes the CLI to the configuration level for the specified admin account, where the following admin-related commands are available:

Command Description

	access {cli web axapi}	Specifies the management interfaces through which the admin is allowed to access the AX device.
Note:	The axapi option is not	applicable to IPv6 migration.
	admin	Enters the configuration level for another admin account. If you are configuring multiple admin accounts, this command simplifies navigation of the CLI because you do not need to return to the Configuration mode level to begin configuration of the next account.
	disable	Disables the admin account.
	enable	Enables the admin account.
	password string	Sets the password, 1-63 characters. Passwords are case sensitive and can contain special characters. (For more information, see <u>"Special Character Support in Strings" on page 43</u> .)
	privilege priv-level	Sets the privilege level for the account.
		read – The admin can access the User EXEC and Privileged EXEC levels of the CLI only.

write – The admin can access all levels of the CLI.



ssh-pubkey options

Manage public key authentication for the admin.

ssh-pubkey import *url* – Imports the public key onto the AX device.

The *url* specifies the file transfer protocol, username (if required), and directory path.

You can enter the entire URL on the command line or press Enter to display a prompt for each part of the URL. If you enter the entire URL and a password is required, you will still be prompted for the password. The password can be up to 255 characters long.

To enter the entire URL:

tftp://host/file
ftp://[user@]host[:port]/file
scp://[user@]host/file
rcp://[user@]host/file

ssh-pubkey delete *num* – Deletes a public key. The *num* option specifies the key number on the AX device. The key numbers are displayed along with the keys themselves by the **ssh-pubkey list** command. (See below.)

ssh-pubkey list – Verifies installation of the public key.

(For information about creating the public key, see the "Management Security Features" chapter of the AX Series System Configuration and Administration Guide.)

trusted-host *ipaddr*

{subnet-mask | /mask-length}

unlock

Specifies the host or subnet address from which the admin is allowed to log onto the AX device.

Unlocks the account. Use this option if the admin has been locked out due to too many login attempts with an incorrect password. (To configure lockout parameters, see <u>"admin lockout" on</u> <u>page 93</u>.)



Default	The system has a default admin account, with username "admin" and pass- word "a10". The default admin account has write privilege and can log on from any host or subnet address.		
	Other admin accounts have the following defaults:		
	• access – Access is allowed through the CLI, GUI, and aXAPI interfaces.		
	• enable / disable – Admin accounts are enabled by default as soon as you add them.		
	• password – "a10". This is the default for the "admin" account and for any admin account you configure if you do not configure the password for the account.		
	• privilege – read		
	• trusted-host – 0.0.0.0 /0, which allows access from any host or subnet.		
	• unlock – N/A. Admin accounts are unlocked by default. They can become locked based on admin lockout settings.		
Mode	Configuration mode		
Usage	An additional session is reserved for the "admin" account to ensure access. If the maximum number of concurrent open sessions is reached, the "admin" admin can still log in using the reserved session. This reserved session is available only to the "admin" account.		
Example	The following commands add admin "adminuser1" with password "1234":		
AX(config)# admin admin AX(config-admin:adminu;	user1 ser1)#password 1234		
Example	The following commands add admin "adminuser2" with password "12345678" and write privilege:		
AX(config)# admin admin AX(config-admin:adminu; AX(config-admin:adminu;	user2 ser2)#password 12345678 ser2)#write		
Example	The following commands add admin "adminuser3" with password "abc- defgh" and write privilege, and restrict login access to the 10.10.10.x subnet only:		
AX(config)# admin admin AX(config-admin:adminu; AX(config-admin:adminu;	user3 ser3)#password abcdefgh ser3)#write		

AX(config-admin:adminuser3)#trusted-host 10.10.10.0 /24



Example

The following commands deny management access by admin "admin2" using the CLI:

AX(config)#admin admin2 AX(config-admin:admin2)#no access cli

admin lockout

Description	Set lockout parameters for admin sessions.	
Syntax	<pre>[no] admin lockout {duration minutes enable reset-time minutes threshold number}</pre>	
	Parameter	Description
	duration minutes	Number of minutes a lockout remains in effect. After the lockout times out, the admin can try again to log in. You can specify 0-1440 minutes. To keep accounts locked until you or another authorized administrator unlocks them, specify 0.
	enable	Enables the lockout feature.
	reset-time minutes	Number of minutes the AX device remembers failed login attempts. You can specify 1-1440 minutes.
	threshold number	Number of consecutive failed login attempts allowed before an administrator is locked out. You can specify 1-10.
Default The lockout feature is disabled by default. This command has defaults:		abled by default. This command has the following
	• duration – 10 minutes	
	• reset-time – 10 minutes	
	• threshold – 5	
Example AX(config)#admin locko	The following command enables admin lockout: out enable	





arp

Description	Create a static ARP ent	Create a static ARP entry or change the timeout for dynamic entries.	
Syntax	<pre>[no] arp ipaddr mac-address [interface ethernet number [vlan vlan-id]]</pre>		
	Parameter	Description	
	ipaddr	IP address of the static entry.	
	mac-address	MAC address of the static entry.	
	number	Specifies the Ethernet data interface.	
	vlan vlan-id	If the AX device is deployed in transparent mode, and the interface is a tagged member of multiple VLANs, use this option to specify the VLAN for which to add the ARP entry.	
Default	The default timeout for time out.	The default timeout for learned entries is 300 seconds. Static entries do not time out.	
Mode	Configuration mode		
arp timeout			
Description	Change the aging timer for dynamic ARP entries.		
Syntax	tax [no] arp timeout seconds		
	Parameter	Description	
	seconds	Number of seconds a dynamic entry can remain unused before being removed from the ARP table. You can specify 60-86400 seconds.	
Default	300 seconds (5 minutes	3)	
Mode	Configuration mode		



Description		Configure command audi	ting.
Syntax		[no] audit enable [privilege]	
		[no] audit size	num-entries
		Parameter	Description
		enable	
		[privilege]	Enables command auditing.
			The privilege option enables logging of Privileged EXEC commands also. Without this option, only configuration commands are logged.
		size num-	
		entries	Specifies the number of entries the audit log file can hold. You can specify 1000-30000 entries. When the log is full, the oldest entries are removed to make room for new entries.
Default		Command auditing is disa audit log can hold 20,000	abled by default. When the feature is enabled, the entries by default.
Mode		Configuration mode	
Usage		Command auditing logs th	he following types of system management events:
		• Admin logins and logo	outs for CLI, GUI, and aXAPI sessions
		• Unsuccessful admin lo	ogin attempts
		• Configuration changes logged, even if they an	s. All attempts to change the configuration are re unsuccessful.
		• CLI commands at the for this level)	Privileged EXEC level (if audit logging is enabled
		• HA configuration synd	chronization
		The audit log is maintaine	ed in a separate file, apart from the system log.
	Note:	Backups of the system l	og include the audit log.



authentication

Description	Set the authentication method used to authenticate administrative access to the AX.		
Syntax	<pre>[no] authentication [console] type method1 [method2]</pre>		
Syntax	[no] authentica	[no] authentication disable-local	
	Parameter	Description	
	console	Applies the authentication settings only to access through the console (serial) port. Without this option, the settings apply to all types of admin access.	
	type method1 [method2]	Specifies the authentication method to use. Optionally, you can specify a backup method (<i>method2</i>). Each method can be one of the fol-	
		lowing:	
		local – Uses the AX configuration for authen- tication. If the administrative username and pass- word match an entry in the configuration, the administrator is granted access.	
		radius – Uses an external RADIUS server for authentication.	
		tacplus – Uses an external TACACS+ server for authentication.	
	disable-local	Disables automatic local authentication of the "admin" account. Without this option, the "admin" account is always authenticated locally, regardless of the authentication configuration used for the other admin accounts.	
Default	By default, only local a	By default, only local authentication is used.	
Mode	Configuration mode		
Usage	The local database (loc : tion sources, regardless cation using only a rem	al option) must be included as one of the authentica- of the order is which the sources are used. Authenti- ote server is not supported.	
	The authentication service on page 157 or <u>"tacacs-</u>	ver(s) also must be configured. See <u>"radius-server"</u> <u>server" on page 191</u> .	
96 of 804		Customer Driven Innovation	

Document No.: D-030-01-00-0003 - Ver. 2.6.6-GR1 5/8/2013



	If the RADIUS or TACACS+ server responds, the local database is not checked.
	• If the admin name and password are found on the RADIUS or TACACS+ server, the admin is granted access.
	• If the admin name and password are not found on the RADIUS or TACACS+ server, the admin is denied access.
	<i>Only if there is no response</i> from any RADIUS or TACACS+ server, does the AX device check its local database for the admin name and password.
Note:	An exception is made for the "admin" account. By default, the AX device always uses local authentication for "admin". You can use the disable- local option to disable automatic local authentication for "admin", in which case the authentication process is the same as for other admin accounts.
Example	The following commands configure a pair of RADIUS servers and config- ure the AX device to try them first, before using the local database. Since 10.10.10.12 is added first, this server will be used as the primary server. Server 10.10.10.13 will be used only if the primary server is unavailable. The local database will be used only if both RADIUS servers are unavail- able.
AX(config)# radius-ser	ver host 10.10.10.12 secret radpl
AX(config) #radius-ser	ver host 10.10.10.13 secret radp2

```
AX(config)#authentication type radius local
```

authorization

DescriptionConfigure authorization for controlling access to functions in the CLI. The
AX device can use TACACS+ for authorizing commands executed under a
specified privilege level. This command also allows the user to specify the
level for authorization debugging.Syntax[no] authorization commands cmd-level method
{[tacplus [none] | none}]
[no] authorization debug debug-level





Parameter	Description
cmd-level	Specifies the level of commands that will be authorized. The commands are divided into the following levels:
	15(admin) – This is the most extensive level of authorization. Commands at all CLI lev- els, including those used to configure admin accounts, are sent to TACACS+ for authori- zation.
	14(config) – Commands at all CLI levels <i>except</i> those used to configure admin accounts are sent to TACACS+ for authorization. Commands for configuring admin accounts are automatically allowed.
	1(priv EXEC) – Commands at the Privileged EXEC and User EXEC levels are sent to TACACS+ for authorization. Commands at other levels are automatically allowed.
	0 (user EXEC) – Commands at the User EXEC level are sent to TACACS+ for authorization. Commands at other levels are automatically allowed.
	Command levels 2-13 are equivalent to command level 1.
tacplus	Specifies TACACS+ as the authorization method. (If you omit this option, you must specify none as the method, in which case no authorization will be performed.)
tacplus none	If all the TACACS+ servers fail to respond, then no further authorization will be performed and the command is allowed to execute.
none	No authorization will be performed.
debug-level	Specifies the debug level for authorization. The debug level is set as flag bits for different types of debug messages. The AX Series has the following types of debug messages:
	0x1 – Common system events such as "try- ing to connect with TACACS+ servers" and "getting response from TACACS+ servers". These events are recorded in the syslog.
	0x2 – Packet fields sent out and received by the AX Series device, not including the



AX(config)#authorization debug 15

axdebug

DescriptionAccess the AX debug subsystem. See <u>"AX Debug Commands" on page 789</u>.

backup periodically

Description		Schedule periodic backups.	
	Caution:	After configuring this feature, make sure to save the configuration. If the device resets before the configuration is saved, the backups will not occur.	
Syntax		<pre>[no] backup periodically {system log} {hour num day num week num} [use-mgmt-port] url</pre>	



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference

Parameter	Description	
system	Backs up the following system files:	
	– Startup-config files	
	- Admin accounts and login and enable pass-words	
	– Class lists	
	- Scripts for external health monitors	
	– SSL certificates, keys, and certificate revoca- tion lists	
	If custom configuration profiles are mapped to the startup-config, they also are backed up.	
log	Backs up the system log.	
hour num day num		
week num	Specifies how often to perform the back ups. You can specify one of the following:	
	hour <i>num</i> – Performs the backup each time the specified number of hours passes. For example, specifying hour 3 causes the backup to occur every 3 hours. You can specify 1-65534 hours. There is no default.	
	day <i>num</i> – Performs the backup each time the specified number of days passes. For example, specifying day 5 causes the backup to occur every 5 days. You can specify 1-199 days. There is no default.	
	week <i>num</i> – Performs the backup each time the specified number of weeks passes. For example, specifying week 4 causes the backup to occur every 4 weeks. You can specify 1-199 weeks. There is no default.	
use-mgmt-port	Uses the management interface as the source interface for the connection to the remote device. The management route table is used to reach the device. Without this option, the AX device attempts to use the data route table to reach the remote device through a data interface.	
url	Specifies the file transfer protocol, username (if required), and directory path to which to save the backups.	



You can enter the entire URL on the command line or press Enter to display a prompt for each part of the URL. If you enter the entire URL and a password is required, you will still be prompted for the password. The password can be up to 255 characters long.

To enter the entire URL:

```
tftp://host/file
ftp://[user@]host[:port]/file
scp://[user@]host/file
rcp://[user@]host/file
```

Default	Not set

Mode Configuration mode

Example

The following commands schedule weekly backups of the entire system, verify the configuration, and save the backup schedule to the startup-config:

Set the hornors to be displayed when an admin loss onto the CLL or

AX(config) #backup periodically system week 1 ftp:

```
Address or name of remote host []?10.10.10.4
User name []?admin2
Password []?******
File name [/]?weekly-sys-backup
AX(config)#show backup
backup periodically system hour 168 ftp://admin2@10.10.10.4//weekly-sys-backup
Next backup will occur at 14:37:00 PDT Thu Aug 19 2010
AX(config)#write memory
Building configuration...
[OK]
```

banner

	accesses the Privile	eged EXEC mode.
Syntax Description	[no] banner <i>line</i>	{exec login} [multi-line end-marker]
	Parameter	Description
	exec	Configures the EXEC mode banner.
	login	Configures the login banner.



bfd echo

Description	Enables echo support for Bidirectional Forwarding Detection (BFD).		
Syntax	[no] bfd echo		
Default	Disabled		
Mode	Configuration mode		
Usage	BFD echo enables a device to test data path to the neighbor and back. When a device generates a BFD echo packet, the packet uses the routing link to the neighbor device to reach the device. The neighbor device is expected to send the packet back over the same link.		



Description	Enable Bidirectional Forwarding Detection (BFD) on a global basis.	
Syntax	[no] bfd {echo enable interval}	
	Parameter	Description
	echo	Globally enables the echo function. When the echo option is enabled, the detection interval, (or the time that the AX device waits for a BFD control packet from a BFD neighbor), is set automatically to 3200 ms.
	enable	Globally enable BFD packet processing.
	<pre>interval [ms] min-rx [ms] multiplier</pre>	Transmit interval between BFD packets. The <i>ms</i> option allows you to specify a value from 48-1000 milliseconds. The multiplier option is a value used to multiply the interval and can range from 3-50.
Default	Disabled	
Mode	Configuration mode	
bfd interval		
Description	Configure BFD timers.	
Syntax	[no] bfd interval ms min-rx ms multiplier num	
	Parameter	Description
	interval ms	Rate at which the AX device sends BFD control packets to its BFD neighbors. You can specify 48-1000 milliseconds (ms).
	min-rx ms	Minimum amount of time in milliseconds that the AX device waits to receive a BFD control packet from a BFD neighbor. If a control packet is not received within the specified time, the mul- tiplier (below) is incremented by 1. You can specify 48-1000 ms. The default is 800 ms.
	multiplier num	Maximum number of consecutive times the AX device will wait for a BFD control packet from a



neighbor. If the multiplier value is reached, the AX device concludes that the routing process on the neighbor is down. You can specify 3-50.

	The BFD timers have the following defaults:	
	• interval – 800 ms	
	• min-rx – 800 ms	
	• multiplier – 4	
	Configuration mode	
	If you configure the interval timers on an individual interface, then the inter- face settings are used instead of the global settings. Similarly, if the BFD timers have not been configured on an interface, then the interface will use the global settings.	
Note:	BFD always uses the globally configured interval timer if it's for a BGP loopback neighbor.	
	Note:	

bgp extended-asn-cap

Description	Enable the AX device to send 4-octet BGP Autonomous System Number (ASN) capabilities.
Syntax	[no] bgp extended-asn-cap
Default	Disabled; 2-octet ASN capabilities are enabled instead.
Mode	Configuration mode
Usage	To configure other BGP parameters, see <u>"Config Commands: Router –</u> BGP" on page 395.

bgp nexthop-trigger

Description	Configure BGP nexthop tracking.		
Syntax	[no] bgp nexthop-trigger delay seconds		
	[no] bgp nexthop-trigger enable		



	Parameter	Description
	delay seconds	Specifies the how long BGP waits before walk- ing the full BGP table to determine which pre- fixes are affected by the nexthop changes, after receiving a trigger about nexthop changes. You can specify 1-100 seconds.
	enable	Enables nexthop tracking.
Default	BGP nexthop tracking is disabled by default. When you enable it, the default delay is 5 seconds.	
Mode	Configuration mode	
Usage	To configure other BGP parameters, see <u>"Config Commands: Router –</u> <u>BGP" on page 395</u> .	

boot-block-fix

Repair the master boot record (MBR) on the hard drive or compact flash.		
<pre>boot-block-fix {cf hd}</pre>		
Parameter	Description	
$cf \mid hd$	Medium to be repaired:	
	cf − compact flash	
	hd – hard disk	
N/A		
Configuration mode		
The MBR is the boot sector located at the very beginning of a boot drive. Under advisement from A10 Networks, you can use the command if your compact flash or hard drive cannot boot. If this occurs, boot from the other drive, then use this command.		
Specify the boot image lo next time the AX Series	ocation from which to load the system image the is rebooted.	
bootimage $\{both$	$\mid \texttt{cf} \mid \texttt{hd} \} \{\texttt{pri} \mid \texttt{sec}\}$	
	Repair the master boot re boot-block-fix { Parameter cf hd N/A Configuration mode The MBR is the boot set Under advisement from compact flash or hard dr drive, then use this comm Specify the boot image lo next time the AX Series is bootimage {both	





AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference

	Parameter	Description
	cf hd	Boot medium. The AX Series device always tries to boot using the hard disk (hd) first. The com- pact flash (cf) is used only if the hard disk is una- vailable.
	pri sec	Boot image location, primary or secondary.
Default	The default location is primary , for both the hard disk and the compact flash.	
Mode	Configuration mode	
Example	The following command configures the AX Series to boot from the second- ary image area on the hard disk the next time the device is rebooted:	
AX(config)# bootimage	hd sec	

bpdu-fwd-group

Description	Configure a group of t tocol Data Units (BPD AX device in a networ	Configure a group of tagged Ethernet interfaces for forwarding Bridge Pro- tocol Data Units (BPDUs). BPDU forwarding groups enable you to use the AX device in a network that runs Spanning Tree Protocol (STP).		
	A BPDU forwarding accept and broadcast s a BPDU forwarding g MAC address 01-80-0 the other interfaces in	A BPDU forwarding group is a set of tagged Ethernet interfaces that will accept and broadcast STP BPDUs among themselves. When an interface in a BPDU forwarding group receives an STP BPDU (a packet addressed to MAC address 01-80-C2-00-00), the interface broadcasts the BPDU to all the other interfaces in the group.		
Syntax	[no] bpdu-fwd-	[no] bpdu-fwd-group group-num		
	Parameter	Description		
	group-num	BPDU forwarding group number, 1-8.		
	This command chang forwarding group, whe	This command changes the CLI to the configuration level for the BPDU forwarding group, where the following command is available.		
	Command	Description		
	<pre>[no] ethernet portnum [to portnum] [ethernet</pre>			
	portnum]	Ethernet interfaces to add to the BPDU forward- ing group.		

Aleworks	AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference		
Default	None		
Mode	Configuration mode		
Usage	This command is specifically for configuring VLAN-tagged interfaces to accept and forward BPDUs.		
	Rules for trunk interfaces:		
	• BPDUs are broadcast only to the lead interface in the trunk.		
	• If a BPDU is received on an Ethernet interface that belongs to a trunk, the BPDU is not broadcast to any other members of the same trunk.		
Example	The following commands create BPDU forwarding group 1 containing Ethernet ports 1-3, and verify the configuration:		
AX(config)# bpdu-fwd-g AX(config-bpdu-fwd-gr AX(config-bpdu-fwd-gr	roup 1 oup:1)#ethernet 1 to 3 oup:1)#show bpdu-fwd-group		

BPDU forward Group 1 members: ethernet 1 to 3

bridge-vlan-group

Description	Configure a bridge VLAN group for VLAN-to-VLAN bridging.		
Syntax	[no] bridge-vlan-group group-num		
	Parameter	Description	
	group-num	Bridge VLAN group number.	
	This command changes the CLI to the configuration level for the specified bridge VLAN group, where the following configuration commands are available:		
	Command	Description	
	forward-all- traffic forward-ip-		
	traffic	Specifies the types of traffic the bridge VLAN group is allowed to forward:	
		forward-all-traffic – This option forwards all types of traffic.	
		forward-ip-traffic – This option includes typical traffic between end hosts, such as ARP requests and responses.	



	[no] name string	Specifies a name for the group. The string can be 1-63 characters long. If the string contains blank spaces, use double quotation marks around the entire string.		
	[no] router-			
	interface ve			
	num	Adds a Virtual Ethernet (VE) interface to the group. This command is applicable only on AX devices deployed in gateway mode. The VE number must be the same as the lowest numbered VLAN in the group.		
	[no] vlan vlan-id [vlan vlan-id to vlan			
	vlan-id]	Adds VLANs to the group.		
Default	By default, the configu When you create a bric tings:	By default, the configuration does not contain any bridge VLAN group. When you create a bridge VLAN group, it has the following default s tings:		
	• forward-all-traffic	forward-ip-traffic – forward-ip-traffic		
	• name – Not set			
	• router-interface – N	• router-interface – Not set		
	• vlan – Not set	• vlan – Not set		
Mode	Configuration mode	Configuration mode		
Usage	VLAN-to-VLAN bridgi on the network either ir not desired or is impract	VLAN-to-VLAN bridging is useful in cases where reconfiguring the ho on the network either into the same VLAN, or into different IP subnets not desired or is impractical.		
	In bridge VLAN group the lowest numbered VI	In bridge VLAN group configurations, the VE number must be the same as the lowest numbered VLAN in the group.		
Example	For more information, in "VLAN-to-VLAN Bridg and Administration Gui	For more information, including configuration notes and examples, see the "VLAN-to-VLAN Bridging" chapter in the AX Series System Configuration and Administration Guide.		


class-list (for many pools, standard NAT)

Description		Configure IP class lists for deployment that use a large number of NAT pools.	
	Note:	This section describes Address Translation (1 configure IPv6 migration <u>tures)" on page 110</u> .	how to configure a class list for standard Network NAT). For information about using class lists to on features, see <u>"class-list (for IPv6 migration fea-</u>
Syntax		[no] class-list	{list-name filename file }
		Parameter	Description
		list-name	Adds the list to the running-config.
		filename file	Saves the list to a file.
		This command changes the CLI to the configuration level for the specified class list, where the following commands are available.	
		(The other commands a <u>"Config Commands: Glo</u>	re common to all CLI configuration levels. See <u>bal" on page 79</u> .)
		Command	Description
		[no] ipaddr /network-mask glid num	Specifies the inside subnet that requires NAT. The <i>network-mask</i> specifies the network mask.
			To configure a wildcard IP address, specify 0.0.0.0 /0. The wildcard address matches on all addresses that do not match any entry in the class list.
			The glid <i>num</i> option specifies the global LID that refers to the pool.
Default		None	
Mode		Configuration mode	
Usage		First configure the IP poor LID, use the use-nat-poo Then configure the class	ols. Then configure the global LIDs. In each global of <i>pool-name</i> command to map clients to the pool. list entries.
		As an alternative to control configure the class list us	figuring class entries on the AX device, you can ing a text editor on another device, then import the



class list onto the AX device. To import a class list, see <u>"import" on</u> page 69.

Example

See the "Configuring Dynamic IP NAT with Many Pools" section in the "Network Address Translation" chapter of the *AX Series System Configuration and Administration Guide*.

class-list (for IPv6 migration features)

Description

For information about the class-list syntax applicable to IPv6 migration features, see the following sections:

- <u>"class-list (for LSN)" on page 455</u>
- <u>"class-list (for NAT64)</u>" on page 526
- <u>"class-list (for DS-Lite)" on page 551</u>

clock timezone

Set the clock timezone.

Syntax Description	clock timezone timezone [nodst]	
	Parameter	Description
	timezone	Timezone to use. To view the available time- zones, enter the following command: clock timezone ?
	nodst	Disables Daylight Savings Time.
Default	Europe/Dublin (GMT)	
Mode	Configuration mode	
Usage	If you use the GUI or CLI to change the AX timezone or system time, the statistical database is cleared. This database contains general system statistics (performance, and CPU, memory, and disk utilization) and SLB statistics. For example, in the GUI, the graphs displayed on the Monitor > Overview page are cleared.	



Example	The following commands list the available timezones, then set the timezone to America/Los_Angeles:		
AX(config)#clock timezo	one ?		
Pacific/Midway	(GMT-11:00)Midway Island, Samoa		
Pacific/Honolulu	(GMT-10:00)Hawaii		
America/Anchorage	(GMT-09:00)Alaska		
AX(config)#clock timezo	one America/Los_Angeles		

convert-passwd

Description	Convert admin accounts and enable passwords into pre-1.2.7 format before downgrade to AX Release 1.2.6 or earlier.		
Syntax	$convert-passwd {pri sec}$		
	Parameter	Description	
	pri sec	Specifies the image area to which you want to save the admin accounts and passwords. Specify the image area from which you to plan to boot using the 1.2.6 or earlier image.	
Default	N/A		
Mode	Configuration mode		
Usage	Use this command <i>only</i> if you are planning to downgrade to AX Release 1.2.6 or earlier. Use the command <i>before</i> you downgrade.In AX Release 1.2.7 and later, the AX device maintains all admin accounts and enable passwords in a single file, which applies to both the primary and secondary image areas. In software releases prior to 1.2.7, the AX device maintained separate files for the primary and secondary image areas. During runtime, the AX device used the admin accounts and enable passwords that were in the file corresponding to the image area from which the device was booted.		
	To keep the new admin accounts and enable passwords, perform the follow- ing steps <i>before you downgrade</i> :		
	1. Log onto the CLI, with Write (Super User) pr	th an admin account that has Root or global Read- ivileges.	
	2. Save the configuration (write memory), to save any new or changed admin accounts or passwords. (If you perform step 2 without first saving		

Aleworks	AX Seri	AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference	
	the configuration, an be lost.)	the configuration, any unsaved admin account or password changes will be lost.)	
	3. Use the following co	mmand at the Configuration mode level of the CLI:	
	convert-passwd	convert-passwd {pri sec}	
	The pri sec option s the admin accounts a you to plan to boot u	The pri sec option specifies the image area to which you want to save the admin accounts and passwords. Specify the image area from which you to plan to boot using the 1.x image.	
сору			
	Copy a running-config o	or startup-config.	
Syntax Description	copy { running-c from-profile-nam [use-mgmt-port] {url to-profi	onfig startup-config me} le-name [cf]}	
	Parameter	Description	
	running-config	Copies the commands in the running-config to the specified URL or local profile name.	
	startup-config	Copies the configuration profile that is currently linked to "startup-config" and saves the copy under the specified URL or local profile name.	
	use-mgmt-port	Uses the management interface as the source interface for the connection to the remote device. The management route table is used to reach the device. By default, the AX device attempts to use the data route table to reach the remote device through a data interface.	
	url	Copies the running-config or configuration pro- file to a remote device. The URL specifies the file transfer protocol, username, and directory path.	
		You can enter the entire URL on the command line or press Enter to display a prompt for each part of the URL. If you enter the entire URL and a password is required, you will still be prompted for the password. The password can be up to 255 characters long.	



			To enter the entire URL:
			tftp://host/file
			<pre>ftp://[user@]host[:port]/file</pre>
			<pre>scp://[user@]host/file</pre>
			<pre>rcp://[user@]host/file</pre>
		from-profile- name	Configuration profile you are copying from.
		to-profile-name [cf]	Configuration profile you are copying to. The cf option copies the profile to the compact flash instead of the hard disk.
	Note:	Copying a profile from ported.	n the compact flash to the hard disk is not sup-
	Note:	You cannot use the pr always refers to the co from which the AX dev	ofile name "default". This name is reserved and nfiguration profile that is stored in the image area vice most recently rebooted.
Default		None	
Mode		Configuration mode	
Usage		If you are planning to configure a new AX device by loading the configura- tion from another AX device:	
		1. On the configured A2 mand to save the star	X device, use the copy startup-config <i>url</i> com- tup-config to a remote server.
		2. On the new AX devic copy the configured A onto the new AX dev	te, use the copy <i>url</i> startup-config command to AX device's startup-config from the remote server ice.
		3. Use the reboot comm new AX device.	nand (at the Privileged EXEC level) to reboot the
		4. Modify parameters as	s needed (such as IP addresses).
		If you attempt to copy the CLI session on the confination of the confination of the confination of the states will not be as interface states will not be as i	ne configuration by copying-and-pasting it from a gured AX device, some essential parameters such t be copied.
Example		The following command "startup-config" to a prof locally on the AX device	copies the configuration profile currently linked to file named "slbconfig3" and stores the profile :

AX(config)#copy startup-config slbconfig3

Note: A10 Networks Technical Support recommends using the AXdebug commands instead of the **debug** command. (See <u>"AX Debug Commands" on page 789</u>.)

delete startup-config

Description	Delete a locally stored configuration profile.		
Syntax	delete startup-config profile-name [cf]		
	Parameter	Description	
	profile-name	Configuration profile name.	
	cf	Deletes the specified profile from compact flash instead of the hard disk. If you omit this option, the profile is deleted from the hard disk.	
Default	N/A		
Mode	Configuration mode		
Usage	Although the command uses the startup-config option, the command only deletes the configuration profile linked to "startup-config" if you enter that profile's name. The command deletes only the profile you specify.		
	If the configuration profile you specify is linked to "startup-config", "startup-config" is automatically relinked to the default. (The default is the configuration profile stored in the image area from which the AX device most recently rebooted).		
Example	The following command deletes configuration profile "slbconfig2":		
AX(config)#delete startup-config slbconfig2			

disable

Description	Disable real or virtual servers.
Syntax	disable slb server [server-name] [port port-num]
	disable slb virtual-server [server-name] [port port-num]



	Parameter	Description
	server-name	Disables the specified real or virtual server.
	port port-num	Disables only the specified service port. If you omit the <i>server-name</i> option, the port is disabled on all real or virtual servers. Otherwise, the port is disabled only on the server you specify.
Default	Enabled	
Mode	Configuration mode	
Example	The following command disables all virtual servers:	
AX(config)# disable s	lb virtual-server	
Example	The following command disables port 80 on all real servers:	
AX(config)# disable s	lb server port 80	
Example	The following command	disables port 8080 on real server "rs1":
AX(config)# disable s	slb server rs1 port 8080	

disable-management

Description	Disable management access to the AX Series device.	
Syntax	<pre>[no] disable-management service {all ssh telnet http https snmp ping} {management ethernet port-num [to port-num] ve ve-num [to ve-num]}</pre>	
	or	
Syntax	<pre>[no] disable-management service acl acl-num {management ethernet port-num [to port-num] ve ve-num [to ve-num]}</pre>	
	Parameter Description	
	all	Disables access to all the management services listed in <u>Table 1</u> .
	ssh	Disables SSH access to the CLI.
	telnet	Disables Telnet access to the CLI.
	http	Disables HTTP access to the management GUI.



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference

	https	Disables HTTPS access to the management GUI.
	snmp	Disables SNMP access to the AX device's SNMP agent.
	ping	Disables ping replies from AX interfaces. This option does not affect the AX device's ability to ping other devices.
	acl acl-num	Permits or denies management access based on permit or deny rules in the ACL.
	<pre>management ethernet port-num [to port-num] ve ve-num</pre>	
	[to ve-num]	Specifies the interfaces for which you are config- uring access control.
Note:	Disabling ping replies device's ability to ping	from being sent by the device does not affect the other devices.

DefaultTable 1lists the default settings for each management service.

Configuration mode

Management Service	Ethernet Management Interface	Ethernet and VE Data Interfaces
SSH	Enabled	Disabled
Telnet	Disabled	Disabled
НТТР	Enabled	Disabled
HTTPS	Enabled	Disabled
SNMP	Enabled	Disabled
Ping	Enabled	Enabled

TABLE 1Default Management Access

Mode

Usage

If you disable the type of access you are using on the interface you are using at the time you enter this command, your management session will end. If you accidentally lock yourself out of the device altogether (for example, if you use the **all** option for all interfaces), you can still access the CLI by connecting a PC to the AX device's serial port.

To enable management access, see <u>"enable-management" on page 121</u>.



You can enable or disable management access, for individual access types and interfaces. You also can use an Access Control List (ACL) to permit or deny management access through the interface by specific hosts or subnets.

Notes Regarding Use of ACLs

If you use an ACL to secure management access, the action in the ACL rule that matches the management traffic's source address is used to permit or deny access, regardless of other management access settings.

For example, if you disable Telnet access to a data interface, but you also enable access to the interface using an ACL with permit rules, the ACL permits Telnet (and all other) access to the interface, for traffic that matches the permit rules in the ACL.

If you want certain types of management access to be disabled on an interface, do not use a permit ACL to control management access to the interface.

Each ACL has an implicit **deny any any** rule at the end. If the management traffic's source address does not match a permit rule in the ACL, the implicit **deny any any** rule is used to deny access.

On data interfaces, you can disable or enable access to specific services and also use an ACL to control access. However, on the management interface, you can disable or enable access to specific services *or* control access using an ACL, but you can not do both.

Example The following command disables HTTP access to the out-of-band management interface:

AX(config)#disable-management service http management You may lose connection by disabling the http service. Continue? [yes/no]:yes

do

Description	Run a Privileged EXEC level command from a configuration level prompt, without leaving the configuration level.
Syntax	do command
Default	N/A
Mode	Configuration mode



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference

Usage	For information about th EXEC mode Commands"	ne Privileged EXEC commands, see <u>"Privileged</u> " on page 59.	
Example	The following command runs the traceroute command from the Configura- tion mode level:		
AX(config) #do tracerou	te 10.10.10.9		
ds-lite			
Description	Configure Dual-Stack Lite (DS-Lite). See <u>"Config Commands: DS-Lite" on</u> page 551.		
enable			
Description	Enable real or virtual serv	vers.	
Syntax	enable slb serve	r [server-name] [port port-num]	
	<pre>enable slb virtual-server [server-name] [port port-num]</pre>		
	Parameter	Description	
	server-name	Enables the specified real or virtual server.	
	port port-num	Enables only the specified service port. If you omit the <i>server-name</i> option, the port is enabled on all real or virtual servers. Otherwise, the port is enabled only on the server you specify.	
Default	Enabled		
Mode	Configuration mode		
Example	The following command	enables all virtual servers:	
AX(config)# enable slb	virtual-server		
Example	The following command enables port 80 on all real servers:		
AX(config)# enable slb	server port 80	server port 80	
Example	The following command enables port 8080 on real server "rs1":		
AX(config)#enable slb	server rs1 port 8080		



Aleworks

enable-core

Description	Change the file size	e of core dumps.	
Syntax	[no] enable-	[no] enable-core [a10]	
	Parameter	Description	
	a10	Enables A10 core dump files. Without this option, system core dump files are used instead. System core dump files are larger than A10 core dump files.	

- DefaultIf HA is configured, system core dump files are enabled by default. If HA is
not configured, A10 core dump files are enabled by default.
- Mode Configuration mode

enable-def-vlan-l2-forwarding

Description		Enable Layer 2 forwarding on the default VLAN (VLAN 1).	
Syntax		[no] enable-def-vlan-12-forwarding	
Default		Layer 2 forwarding is disabled on VLAN 1, on AX devices deployed in route mode.	
Mode		Configuration mode	
Usage		This command applies only to routed mode deployments.	
		On a new or unconfigured AX device, as soon as you configure an IP inter- face on any individual Ethernet data port or trunk interface, Layer 2 for- warding on VLAN 1 is disabled.	
		When Layer 2 forwarding on VLAN 1 is disabled, broadcast, multicast, and unknown unicast packets are dropped instead of being forwarded. Learning is also disabled on the VLAN. However, packets for the AX device itself (ex: LACP, HA, OSPF) are not dropped.	
	Note:	Configuring an IP interface on an individual Ethernet interface indicates you are deploying in route mode (also called "gateway mode"). If you deploy in transparent mode instead, in which the AX device has a single IP address for all data interfaces, Layer 2 forwarding is left enabled by default on VLAN 1.	



enable-jumbo

Description	Globally enable jumbo frame support. In this release, a jumbo frame is an Ethernet frame that is more than 1522 bytes long.	
Syntax	[no] enable-jumbo	
Note:	This is the only command required to enable jumbo support on FPGA models. See the Usage section below for details on enabling jumbo support on non-FPGA models.	
Default	Disabled	
Mode	Configuration mode	
Introduced in Release	2.6.6-P4	
Usage	Notes:	
	• If your configuration uses VEs, you must enable jumbo on the individ- ual Ethernet ports first, then enable it on the VEs that use the ports. If the VE uses more than port, the MTU on the VE should be the same or smaller than the MTU on each port.	
	• Enabling jumbo support does not automatically change the MTU on any interfaces. You must explicitly increase the MTU on those interfaces you plan to use for jumbo packets.	
	• Jumbo support is not recommended on 10/100 Mbps ports.	
	• On FPGA models only, for any incoming jumbo frame, if the outgoing MTU is less than the incoming frame size, the AX device fragments the frame into 1500-byte fragments, regardless of the MTU set on the outbound interface. If it is less than 1500 bytes, it will be fragmented into the configured MTU.	
	• Setting the MTU on an interface indirectly sets the frame size of incom- ing packets to the same value. (This is the maximum receive unit [MRU]).	
	• In previous releases, the default MTU is 1500 and can not be set to a higher value.	
	• Jumbo frames are not supported on model AX 1030, AX 2500, or AX2600.	
	If you are enabling jumbo support on a non-FPGA model, you must follow the enable-jumbo command with the write-memory command to save the	



configuration, and then use the **reboot** command at the Privileged EXEC level to reboot.

On non-FPGA models, after you enable (or disable) jumbo frame support, you must save the configuration and reboot to place the change into effect.

If jumbo support is enabled on a non-FPGA model and you erase the startup-config, the device is rebooted after the configuration is erased.

enable-management

Description	Enable management acce	ess to the AX Series device.
Syntax	[no] enable-mana {all ssh te] {management et ve ve-num [to v	agement service Inet http https snmp ping} thernet port-num [to port-num] ve-num]}
	or	
Syntax	<pre>[no] enable-management service acl acl-num {management ethernet port-num [to port-num] ve ve-num [to ve-num]}</pre>	
	Parameter	Description
	all	Enables access to all the management services listed in <u>Table 1</u> .
	ssh	Enables SSH access to the CLI.
	telnet	Enables Telnet access to the CLI.
	http	Enables HTTP access to the management GUI.
	https	Enables HTTPS access to the management GUI.
	snmp	Enables SNMP access to the AX device's SNMP agent.
	ping	Enables ping replies from AX interfaces. This option does not affect the AX device's ability to ping other devices.
	acl acl-num	Permits or denies management access based on permit or deny rules in the ACL.



management /
ethernet port-
num [to port-
num] /
ve ve-num
[to ve-num]

Specifies the interfaces for which you are configuring access control.

Default

Mode

Usage

<u>Table 2</u> lists the default settings for each management service.

Management Service	Management Interface	Data Interfaces
SSH	Enabled	Disabled
Telnet	Disabled	Disabled
HTTP	Enabled	Disabled
HTTPS	Enabled	Disabled
SNMP	Enabled	Disabled
Ping	Enabled	Enabled

 TABLE 2
 Default Management Access

Example The following command enables Telnet access to Ethernet data interface 6:

AX(config)#enable-management service telnet ethernet 6

enable-password

Description	Set the enable password, of the CLI.	which secures access to the Privileged EXEC level	
Syntax	[no] enable-pass	[no] enable-password password-string	
	Parameter	Description	
	password-string	Password string, 1-63 characters. Passwords are case sensitive and can contain special characters. (For more information, see <u>"Special Character Support in Strings" on page 43</u> .)	
Default	By default, the password	is blank. (Just press Enter.)	
Mode	Configuration mode		
122 of 804		Customer Driven Innovation	



Example

The following command sets the Privileged EXEC password to "execadmin":

AX(config)#enable-password execadmin

end

Description	Return to the Privileged EXEC level of the CLI.
Syntax	end
Default	N/A
Mode	Config
Usage	The end command is valid at all configuration levels of the CLI. From any configuration level, the command returns directly to the Privileged EXEC level.
Example	The following command returns from the Configuration mode level to the Privileged EXEC level:
AX(config)# end AX#	

erase

Description	Erase the startup-config file.
Syntax	erase
Default	N/A
Mode	Configuration mode
Usage	The " no " form of this command is not valid.
	To recover the configuration, you can save the running-config or reload the configuration from another copy of the startup-config file.
Example	The following command erases the startup-config file.
AX(config)# erase	





exit

Description	Return to the Privileged EXEC level of the CLI.
Syntax	exit
Default	N/A
Mode	Configuration mode
Usage	The exit command is valid at all CLI levels. At each level, the command returns to the previous CLI level. For example, from the server port level, the command returns to the server level. From the Configuration mode level, the command returns to the Privileged EXEC level. From the user EXEC level, the command terminates the CLI session. From the Configuration mode level, you also can use the end command to return to the Privileged EXEC level.
Example	The following command returns from the Configuration mode level to the Privileged EXEC level:
AX(config)# exit AX#	

extended-stats

Description	Globally enable collection of SLB peak connection statistics.
Syntax	[no] extended-stats
Default	Disabled
Mode	Configuration mode
fixed-nat	
Description	Configure Fixed-NAT. (See <u>"Config Commands: Fixed-NAT" on</u> page 609.)



Description	Set a virtual IP address in a High-Availability configuration.	
Syntax	[no] floating-ip	ipaddr ha-group group-id
	Parameter	Description
	ipaddr	Virtual IP address of the HA group.
	group-id	HA group ID.
Default	None	
Mode	Configuration mode	
Usage	Use this command to specify the IP address of a next-hop upstream or downstream router used by real servers. (Also see <u>"Config Commands:</u> <u>High Availability" on page 669</u> .)	
	A floating IP address can to a device. For example, floating IP address.	not be the same as an address that already belongs , the IP address of an AX interface can not be a
Example	The following commands group 1. Each floating IPv data interface.	configure 2 floating IPv6 addresses for HA 6 address is assigned to a specific IPv6 link-local
AX(config)# floating-ip	fe80::def ha-group	1 ethernet 1
AX(config)#floating-ip	fe80::de2 ha-group	1 ve 200
glid		

Description		Configure a Global Limit ID (GLID) to specify a NAT64 override action. See <u>"glid (for NAT64 override)" on page 529</u> .
	Note:	For information about using a GLID for standard NAT, see <u>"class-list (for</u> many pools, standard NAT)" on page 109.
ha		



health external

Use an external program for health monitoring.

Syntax	health external {delete program-name	
	import [use-mgmt	-port] [description] url
	export [use-mgmt-port] program-name url}	
	Parameter	Description
	program-name	Program file name, 1-31 characters.
	use-mgmt-port	Uses the management interface as the source interface for the connection to the remote device. The management route table is used to reach the device. By default, the AX device attempts to use the data route table to reach the remote device through a data interface.
	description	Description of the program file, 1-63 characters.
	url	File transfer protocol, username (if required), and directory path.
		You can enter the entire URL on the command line or press Enter to display a prompt for each part of the URL. If you enter the entire URL and a password is required, you will still be prompted for the password. The password can be up to 255 characters long.
		To enter the entire URL:
		tftp: //host/program-name
		<pre>ftp://[user@]host[:port]/program -name</pre>
		scp:// [user@]host/program-name
		<pre>rcp://[user@]host/program-name</pre>
Default	N/A	
Mode	Configuration mode	
Usage	There is no " no " form of health monitoring, you al method to the server port external option for <u>"method</u>	f this command. To use an imported program for so must configure a health method and apply the s you want to monitor. See the description of the <u>nod</u> " on page 664.



Example

The following example imports external program "mail.tcl" from FTP server 192.168.0.1:

```
AX(config)#health external import "checking mail server" ftp://192.168.0.1/mail.tcl
```

health global

Description		Globally change health m	ionitor parameters.
Syntax		<pre>health global { interval se retry numbe timeout sec up-retry nu }</pre>	conds r onds mber
		Parameter	Description
		interval seconds	Number of seconds between health check attempt, 1-180 seconds. A health check attempt consists of the AX device sending a packet to the server. The packet type and payload depend on the health monitor type. For example, an HTTP health monitor might send an HTTP GET request packet. Default is 5 seconds.
		retry number	Maximum number of times the AX Series will send the same health check to an unresponsive server before determining that the server is down. You can specify 1-5. Default is 3.
		timeout seconds	Number of seconds the AX Series waits for a reply to a health check, 1-12 seconds. Default is 5 seconds.
		up-retry number	Number of consecutive times the device must pass the same periodic health check, in order to be marked Up. You can specify 1-10. The default is 1.
	Note:	The timeout parameter	is not applicable to external health monitors.
		You can change one or me	ore parameters on the same command line.
Default		See above.	





	Note:	To change a global parameter back to its factory default, use the health global form of the command and specify the parameter value to use.
Mode		Configuration mode
Usage		Globally changing a health monitor parameter changes the default for that parameter. For example, if you globally change the interval from 5 seconds to 10 seconds, the default interval becomes 10 seconds.
		If a parameter is explicitly set on a health monitor, globally changing the parameter does not affect the health monitor. For example, if the interval on health monitor hm1 is explicitly set to 20 seconds, the interval remains 20 seconds on hm1 regardless of the global setting.
	Note:	Global health monitor parameter changes automatically apply to all new health monitors configured after the change. To apply a global health monitor parameter change to health monitors that were configured before the change, you must reboot the AX device.
Example		The following command globally changes the default number of retries to 5:
AX(config)# heal	th globa	al retry 5
Example		The following command globally changes the timeout to 10 seconds and default number of retries to 4:
	-h -1.1	

AX(config)#health global timeout 10 retry 4

health monitor

Description	Configure a health more	nitor.
Syntax	[no] health mo [interval seco [retry number] [timeout secon [up-retry numb	nitor monitor-name nds] ds] er]
	Parameter	Description
	monitor-name	Name of the health monitor, 1-31 characters.
	interval seconds	Number of seconds between health check attempt, 1-180 seconds. A health check attempt consists of the AX device sending a packet to the server. The packet type and payload depend on the health monitor type. For example, an HTTP



		health monitor might send an HTTP GET request packet. Default is 5 seconds.
	retry number	Maximum number of times the AX Series will send the same health check to an unresponsive server before determining that the server is down. You can specify 1-5. Default is 3.
	timeout seconds	Number of seconds the AX Series waits for a reply to a health check, 1-12 seconds. Default is 5 seconds.
	up-retry number	Number of consecutive times the device must pass the same periodic health check, in order to be marked Up. You can specify 1-10. The default is 1.
Note:	The timeout parameter	is not applicable to external health monitors.
Default	See above.	
Mode	Configuration mode	
Usage	For information about the uration level, see <u>"Config</u>	commands available at the health-monitor config- <u>Commands: Health Monitors" on page 663</u> .
Example	The following command accesses the configuration	creates a health monitor named "hm1" and a level for it:
AX(config)#health mon	itor hml	

AX(config-health:monitor)#

health postfile

Description	Import or delete a POST of	lata file for an HTTP or HTTPS health check.
Syntax	health postfile	{import delete} filename
	Parameter	Description
	import delete	Specifies whether you are importing a POST data file or deleting one.
	filename	Specifies the filename.
Default	N/A	
Mode	Configuration mode	

Aleworks	AX Serie	es - Command Line Interface Reference
Usage	The maximum length of 255 bytes. For longer dat file and refer to the file in	POST data you can specify in the CLI or GUI is a (up to 2 Kbytes), you must import the data in a the HTTP or HTTPS health check.
	To use a POST data paylo postfile <i>filename</i> option i the configuration level for	ad file in an HTTP/HTTPS health monitor, use the n the method http or method https command, at r the health monitor.
Example	The following commands payload (up to 2 Kbytes),	import a file containing a large HTTP POST data and add the payload to an HTTP health monitor:
AX(config)#health post	file import long-pos	t
AX(config)#health moni	tor http1	
AX2000(config-health:m def	.:monitor)#method http url post / postfile long-post expect	
	In this example, health ch request containing the da response.	ecks that use this health monitor will send a POST ata in "postfile", and expect the string "def" in
hostname		
	Set the AX Series device'	s hostname.
Syntax Description	[no] hostname st	ring
	Parameter	Description
	string	String of 1-31 characters.

ModeConfiguration modeUsageThe CLI command prompt also is changed to show the new hostname.

AX

Example The following example sets the hostname to "SLBswitch2":

AX(config)#hostname SLBswitch2

Default



icmp-rate-limit

Description	Configure ICMP rate lim attacks.	iting, to protect against denial-of-service (DoS)
Syntax	[no] icmp-rate-limit normal-rate lockup max-rate lockup-time	
	Parameter	Description
	normal-rate	Maximum number of ICMP packets allowed per second. If the AX device receives more than the normal rate of ICMP packets, the excess packets are dropped until the next one-second interval begins. The normal rate can be 1-65535 packets per second.
	lockup max-rate	Maximum number of ICMP packets allowed per second before the AX device locks up ICMP traf- fic. When ICMP traffic is locked up, all ICMP packets are dropped until the lockup expires. The maximum rate can be 1-65535 packets per sec- ond. The maximum rate must be larger than the normal rate.
	lockup-time	Number of seconds for which the AX device drops all ICMP traffic, after the maximum rate is exceeded. The lockup time can be 1-16383 sec- onds.
Default	None	
Mode	Configuration mode	
Usage	This command configure through the AX device. Ethernet interfaces, see <u>'</u> virtual server template, se configure ICMP rate limit ters are applicable.	es ICMP rate limiting globally for all traffic to or To configure ICMP rate limiting on individual <u>"icmp-rate-limit" on page 209</u> . To configure it in a ee <u>"slb template virtual-server" on page 640</u> . If you iting filters at more than one of these levels, all fil-
	Specifying a maximum ra do not specify them, lock	ate (lockup rate) and lockup time is optional. If you sup does not occur.
	Log messages are generated occurs. Otherwise, the IC log messages are not gen	ated only if the lockup option is used and lockup CMP rate-limiting counters are still incremented but erated.





Example

The following command globally configures ICMP rate limiting to allow up to 2048 ICMP packets per second, and to lock up all ICMP traffic for 10 seconds if the rate exceeds 3000 ICMP packets per second:

AX(config)#icmp-rate-limit 2048 lockup 3000 10

interface

Description	Access the CLI configuration level for an interface.
Syntax	<pre>interface {ethernet port-num ve ve-num loopback num management trunk num}</pre>
Default	N/A
Mode	Configuration mode
Usage	For information about the commands available at the interface configura- tion level, see <u>"Config Commands: Interface" on page 203</u> .
Example	The following command changes the CLI to the configuration level for Ethernet interface 3:
AX(config)#interface	ethernet 3

```
AX(config-if:ethernet3)#
```

ip

Description	Configure global IP settings. For information, see <u>"Config Commands: IP"</u> on page 239.
ip-list	
Description	Configure a list of client addresses. IP lists can be used with features such as Fixed-NAT and client mobile number logging.
Syntax	[no] ip-list list-name
	This command changes the CLI to the configuration level for the specified IP list, where the following command is available.



	Command	Description
	[no] start- ipv4-addr to end-ipv4-addr	Range of IPv4 addresses. Enter the lowest address number in the range first.
	[no] start- ipv6-addr to end-ipv6-addr	Range of IPv6 addresses. Enter the lowest address number in the range first.
Default	None	
Mode	Configuration mode	
Usage	See the AX Series IPv4-to-IPv6 Transition Solutions Guide.	
Introduced in Release	2.6.6-P4	
ipv6		
Description	Configure global IPv6 settings. For information, see <u>"Config Commands:</u> <u>IPv6" on page 265</u> .	
key chain		
	Configure a key chain for use by RIP or IS-IS MD5 authentication.	
Syntax Description	[no] key chain name	
	Parameter	Description
	name	Name of the key chain, 1-31 characters.
	This command changes the CLI to the configuration level for the specified key chain, where the following key-chain related command is available:	
	Command	Description
	[no] key num	Adds a key and enters configuration mode for the key. The key number can be 1-255. This com-

key. The key number can be 1-255. This command changes the CLI to the configuration level for the specified key, where the following keyrelated command is available:



[**no**] **key-string** *string* – Configures the authentication string of the key, 1-16 characters.

Default	By default, no key chains are configured.		
Mode	Global Config		
Usage	Although you can configure multiple key chains, A10 Networks recommends using one key chain per interface, per routing protocol.		
Example	The following commands configure a key chain named "example_chain".		
AX(config) #key chain e AX(config-keychain)# ke AX(config-keychain-key AX(config-keychain-key AX(config-keychain)# ke	<pre>kample_chain y 1)#key-string thisiskey1)#exit y 2</pre>		
AX(config-keychain-key AX(config-keychain-key)#key-string thisiskey2)#exit		

```
AX(config-keychain)#key 3
```

```
AX(config-keychain-key)#key-string thisiskey3
```

I3-vlan-fwd-disable

Description	Globally disable Layer 3 forwarding between VLANs.		
Syntax	[no] 13-vlan-fwd-disable		
Default	By default, the AX device can forward Layer 3 traffic between VLANs.		
Mode	Configuration mode		
Usage	This option is applicable only on AX devices deployed in gateway (route) mode. If the option to disable Layer 3 forwarding between VLANs is configured at any level, the AX device can not be changed from gateway mode to transparent mode, until the option is removed.		
	Depending on the granularity of control required for your deployment, you can disable Layer 3 forwarding between VLANs at any of the following configuration levels:		
	• Global – Layer 3 forwarding between VLANs is disabled globally, for all VLANs. (Use this command at the Configuration mode level.)		
	• Individual interfaces – Layer 3 forwarding between VLANs is disabled for incoming traffic on specific interfaces. (See <u>"13-vlan-fwd-disable" on page 226</u> .)		



• Access Control Lists (ACLs) – Layer 3 forwarding between VLANs is disabled for all traffic that matches ACL rules that use the **13-vlan-fwd-disable** action. (See <u>"access-list (standard)" on page 80</u> or <u>"access-list (extended)" on page 82</u>.)

To display statistics for this option, see "show slb switch" on page 772.

lacp system-priority

Description	Set the Link Aggregation Control Protocol (LACP) priority.		
Syntax	[no] lacp system-priority num		
	Parameter	Description	
	num	Specifies the LACP system priority, 1-65535. A low priority number indicates a high priority value. The highest priority is 1 and the lowest priority is 65535.	
Default	32768		
Mode	Configuration mode		
Usage	In cases where LACP settings on the local device (the AX device) and the remote device at the other end of the link differ, the settings on the device with the higher priority are used.		
lacp-trunk			
Description	Configure settings for an LACP trunk.		
Syntax	[no] lacp-trunk Trunknum		
	Parameter	Description	
	Trunknum	Specifies the LACP trunk ID.	
	This command changes the CLI to the configuration level for the specified trunk, where the following trunk-related commands are available:		
	Command	Description	
	disable-lacp [ethernet portnum		





	[to portnum] [ethernet	
	portnum]]	Disables the trunk or specific interfaces in the trunk.
	<pre>enable-lacp [ethernet portnum [to portnum] [ethernet portnum]] [no] ports-</pre>	Enables the trunk or specific interfaces in the trunk.
	threshold num [do-manual-	
	recovery]	Specifies the minimum number of ports that must be up in order for the trunk to remain up. If the number of up ports falls below the configured threshold, the AX automatically disables the trunk's member ports. The ports are disabled in the running-config. You can specify 2-8.
		The do-manual-recovery option disables auto- matic recovery of the trunk when the required number of ports come back up. If you use this option, the trunk remains disabled until you re- enable it.
	[no] ports- threshold-timer	
	seconds	Specifies how many seconds to wait after a port goes down before marking the trunk down, if the configured threshold is exceeded. You can set the ports-threshold timer to 1-300 seconds.
Default	 The global LACP trunk parameters have the following default settings: disable-lacp / enable-lacp – Enabled ports-threshold – Not set. By default, a trunk's status remains Up so long as at least one of its member ports is up 	
	• ports-threshold-time	$\mathbf{r} - 10$ seconds
Mode	Configuration mode	
Usage	Notes Regarding the Po	rts Threshold
	If the number of up ports falls below the configured threshold, the AX auto- matically disables the trunk's member ports. The ports are disabled in the	



	running-config. The AX device also generates a log message and an SNM trap, if these services are enabled.		
	In some situations, a timer is used to delay the ports-threshold action. The configured port threshold is not enforced until the timer expires. The ports-threshold timer for a trunk is used in the following situations:		
	• When a member of the trunk links up.		
	• A port is added to or	removed from the trunk.	
	• The port threshold for the trunk is configured during runtime. (If the threshold is set in the startup-config, the timer is not used.)		
link			
Description	Link the "startup-config" token to the specified configuration profile. By default, "startup-config" is linked to "default", which means the configura- tion profile stored in the image area from which the AX device most recently rebooted.		
Syntax	<pre>link startup-config {default profile-name} [primary secondary] [cf]</pre>		
	Parameter	Description	
	default	Links "startup-config" to the configuration pro- file stored in the image area from which the AX device was most recently rebooted.	
	profile-name	Links "startup-config" to the specified configura- tion profile.	
	primary / secondary	Specifies the image area. If you omit this option, the image area last used to boot is selected.	
	cf	Links the profile to the specified image area in compact flash instead of the hard disk.	
Default	The "startup-config" token is linked to the configuration profile stored in the image area from which the AX device was most recently rebooted.		
Mode	Configuration mode		
Usage	This command enables you to easily test new configurations without replac- ing the configuration stored in the image area.		





	The profile you link to must be stored on the boot device you select. For example, if you use the default boot device (hard disk) selection, the profile you link to must be stored on the hard disk. If you specify cf , the profile must be stored on the compact flash. (To display the profiles stored on the boot devices, use the show startup-config all and show startup-config all cf commands. See <u>"show startup-config" on page 778</u> .)	
	After you link "startup-config" to a different configuration profile, configu- ration management commands that affect "startup-config" affect the linked profile instead of affecting the configuration stored in the image area. For example, if you enter the write memory command without specifying a profile name, the command saves the running-config to the linked profile instead of saving it to the configuration stored in the image area.	
	Likewise, the next time the AX device is rebooted, the linked configuration profile is loaded instead of the configuration that is in the image area.	
	To relink "startup-config" to the configuration profile stored in the image area, use the default option (link startup-config default).	
Example	The following command links configuration profile "slbconfig3" with "startup-config":	
AX(config)#link startu	p-config slbconfig3	
Example	The following command relinks "startup-config" to the configuration pro- file stored in the image area from which the AX device was most recently rebooted":	
X(config)#link startup-config default		

locale

Set the CLI locale.

Syntax Description	[no] locale {test locale}	
Default	en_US.UTF-8	
Mode	Configuration mode	
Usage	Use this command to configure the locale or to test the supported locales.	
Example	The following commands test the Chinese locales and set the locale to zh_CN.GB2312:	
AX(config)#locale test	zh_CN N CR2312	

AX(config)#locale zh_CN.GB2312



logging auditlog host

Description	Configure audit logging to an external server.		
Syntax	<pre>[no] logging auditlog host {ipaddr hostname} [facility facility-name]</pre>		
	Parameter	Description	
	ipaddr hostname	IP address or hostname of the server.	
	facility-name	Name of a log facility:	
		local0	
		local1	
		local2	
		local3	
		local4	
		local5	
		local6	
		local7	
		There is no default.	
Default	Not set		
Mode	Configuration mode		
Usage	The audit log is automatically included in system log backups. You do not need this command in order to back up audit logs that are within the system log. To back up the system log, see <u>"backup log" on page 59</u> or <u>"backup periodically" on page 99</u> .		
	In the current release, onl logging.	y a single log server is supported for remote audit	

logging target severity-level

Description	Specify the severity levels of event messages to send to message targets other than the AX log buffer.		
Syntax	[no] logging target severity-level		



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference

	Parameter	Description
	target	Specifies where event messages are sent:
		console – serial console
		email – email
		monitor – Telnet and SSH sessions
		syslog – external Syslog host
		trap – external SNMP trap host
Note:	For information about page 141. and <u>"logging</u>	the email option, see <u>"logging email buffer" on</u> email filter" on page 142.
	severity-level	Specifies the severity levels to log. You can enter the name or the number of the severity level.
		{0 emergency}
		{1 alert}
		{2 critical}
		{3 error}
		{4 warning}
		$\{5 \mid \texttt{notification}\}$
		{6 information}
		$\{7 \mid \texttt{debugging}\}$
Default	The default severity level	depends on the target:
	• console – 3 (error)	
	• email – not set (no log	gging)
	• monitor – not set (no	logging)
	• syslog – not set (no lo	gging)
	• trap – not set (no logg	ging)
Mode	Configuration mode	
Usage	To send log messages to host using the logging ho	an external host, you must configure the external st command.
Example	The following command s the console to 2 (critical):	sets the severity level for event messages sent to

AX(config)#logging console 2



logging buffered

Description	Configure the event log on the AX Series device.		
Syntax	[no] logging buffered {maximum-messages severity-level}		
	Parameter	Description	
	maximum-		
	messages	Specifies the maximum number of messages the event log buffer will hold.	
	severity-level	Specifies the severity levels to log. You can enter the name or the number of the severity level.	
		{0 emergency}	
		{1 alert}	
		{2 critical}	
		{3 error}	
		{4 warning}	
		$\{5 \mid \texttt{notification}\}$	
		{6 information}	
		{7 debugging}	
Default	The default buffer size (maximum messages) is 30000. The default severity level is 7 (debugging).		
Mode	Configuration mode		
Example	The following command sets the severity level for log messages to 7 (debugging):		
AX(config)#logging]	ouffered 7		

logging email buffer

Description	Configure log email settings.		
Syntax	<pre>[no] logging email buffer [number num] [time minutes]</pre>		



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference

	Parameter	Description
	number num	Specifies the maximum number of messages to buffer. You can specify 16-256.
	time minutes	Specifies how long to wait before sending all buffered messages, if the buffer contains fewer than the maximum allowed number of messages. You can specify 10-1440 minutes.
Default	By default, emailing of log messages is disabled. When you enable the fea- ture, the buffer options have the following default values:	
	• number – 50	
	• time – 10	
Mode	Configuration mode	
Usage	To configure the AX dev configure an email filter a log messages. See <u>"loggi</u> <u>address" on page 144</u> .	rice to send log messages by email, you also must and specify the email address to which to email the ing email filter" on page 142 and <u>"logging email-</u>
Example	The following command to be emailed. Messages messages, or 30 minutes whichever happens first.	configures the AX device to buffer log messages will be emailed only when the buffer reaches 32 passes since the previous log message email,
AX(config)#logging ema	il buffer number 32	time 30

logging email filter

Description	Configure a filter for	Configure a filter for emailing log messages.	
Syntax	[no] logging email filter <i>filter-num conditions operators</i> [trigger]		
	Parameter	Description	
	filter-num	Specifies the filter number, 1-8.	
	conditions	Message attributes on which to match. The con- ditions list can contain one or more of the follow- ing:	
		level <i>severity-levels</i> – Specifies the severity levels of messages to send in email. You can specify the severity levels by number (0-7) or by name:	



emergency, alert, critical, error, warning, notification, information, or debugging.

mod *software-module-name* – Specifies the software modules for which to email messages. Messages are emailed only if they come from one of the specified software modules. For a list of module names, enter **?** instead of a module name, and press Enter.

pattern *regex* – Specifies the string requirements. Standard regular expression syntax is supported. Only messages that meet the criteria of the regular expression will be emailed. The regular expression can be a simple text string or a more complex expression using standard regular expression logic.

operators Set of Boolean operators (AND, OR, NOT) that specify how the conditions should be compared.

The CLI Boolean expression syntax is based on Reverse Polish Notation (also called Postfix Notation), a notation method that places an operator (AND, OR, NOT) after all of its operands (in this case, the conditions list).

After listing all the conditions, specify the Boolean operator(s). The following operators are supported:

AND – All conditions must match in order for a log message to be emailed.

OR – Any one or more of the conditions must match in order for a log message to be emailed.

NOT – A log message is emailed only if it does not match the conditions

(For more information about Reverse Polish Notation, see the following link: <u>http://en.wikipe-</u>

dia.org/wiki/Reverse Polish notation.)

Immediately sends the matching messages in an email instead of buffering them. If you omit this option, the messages are buffered based on the **logging email buffer** settings.

Default

Not set. Emailing of log messages is disabled by default.

trigger



logging email-address

Description	Specify the email addresses to which to send event messages.
Syntax	[no] logging email-address address []


	Parameter	Description
	address	Specifies an email address. You can enter more than one address on the command line. Use a space between each address.
Default	None	
Mode	Configuration mode	
Usage	To configure the AX device to send log messages by email, you also must configure an email filter. See <u>"logging email filter" on page 142</u> .	
Example	The following command sages:	sets two email addresses to which to send log mes-
AX(config)#logging e	email-address admin	1@example.com admin2@example.com

logging export

Description	Send the messages	Send the messages that are in the event buffer to an external file server.	
Syntax	[no] logging	[no] logging export [all] url	
	Parameter	Description	
	all	Include system support messages.	
	url	File transfer protocol, username (if required), and directory path.	
		You can enter the entire URL on the command line or press Enter to display a prompt for each part of the URL. If you enter the entire URL and a password is required, you will still be prompted for the password. The password can be up to 255 characters long.	
		To enter the entire URL:	
		tftp://host/file	
		<pre>ftp://[user@]host[:port]/file</pre>	
		<pre>scp://[user@]host/file</pre>	
		<pre>rcp://[user@]host/file</pre>	
Default	N/A		
Mode	Configuration mod	e	





logging facility

Description	Enable logging facilities.	
Syntax	[no] logging fa	cility facility-name
	Parameter	Description
	facility-name	Name of a log facility:
		local0
		local1
		local2
		local3
		local4
		local5
		local6
		local7
Default	The default facility is lo	ocal0.
Mode	Configuration mode	
logging host		
Description	Specify a Syslog server	to which to send event messages.
Syntax	[no] logging host <i>ipaddr</i> [<i>ipaddr</i>] [port <i>protocol-port</i>]	
	Parameter	Description
	ipaddr	IP address of the Syslog server. You can enter multiple IP addresses. Up to 10 remote logging servers are supported.
	port protocol- port	Protocol port number to which to send messages. You can specify only one protocol port with the command. All servers must use the same proto- col port to listen for syslog messages.
Default	The default protocol por	rt is 514.

AleNetworks	AX Serie	s - Command Line Interface Reference
Mode	Configuration mode	
Usage	If you use the command to server later, you must en Each time you enter the le ers and syslog port config	b add some log servers, then need to add a new log ter all server IP addresses in the new command. ogging host command, it replaces any set of serv- tured by the previous logging host command.
Example	The following command of the servers use the default sages.	configures 4 external log servers. In this example, t syslog protocol port, 514, to listen for log mes-
AX(config)#logging hos	st 1.1.1.1 2.2.2.2 3.	3.3.3 4.4.4.4
Example	The following command a different protocol port. Al	reconfigures the set of external log servers, with a l the log servers must use this port.
AX(config)#logging hos	st 1.1.1.1 2.2.2.2 3.	3.3.3 4.4.4.4 port 8899
Isn-Iid		
Description	Configure a limit ID (LID	9) for LSN. See <u>"Isn-lid" on page 479</u> .
Isn-rule-list		
Description	Configure a rule list for L	SN. See <u>"lsn-rule-list" on page 482</u> .
lw-406		
Description	Configure Lightweight 4over6. See <u>"Config Commands: Lightweight</u> <u>4over6" on page 569</u> .	
mac-address		
Description	Configure a static MAC address.	
Syntax	<pre>[no] mac-address mac-address port port-num vlan vlan-id [trap {source dest both}]</pre>	
	Parameter	Description
	mac-address	Hardware address, in the following format: <i>aabb.ccdd.eeff</i>
•		



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference

	port port-num	AX Ethernet port to which to assign the MAC address.
	vlan vlan-id	Layer 2 broadcast domain in which to place the device.
	trap	Send packets to the CPU for processing, instead of switching them in hardware.
		source – Send packets that have this MAC as a source address to the CPU.
		dest – Send packets that have this MAC as a destination address to the CPU.
		both – Send packets that have this MAC as either a source or destination address to the CPU.
Note:	The trap option is s AX 3200, AX 5100, an only trap dest is suppo	supported only on models AX 2200, AX 3100, nd AX 5200. On models AX 5100 and AX 5200, rted.
Default	No static MAC addresses	are configured by default.
Mode	Configuration mode	
Example	The following command port 5 in VLAN 3:	configures static MAC address abab.cdcd.efef on
AX(config)#mac-address	abab.cdcd.efef port	5 vlan 3

mac-age-time

Description	Set the aging time tremains unused for table.	Set the aging time for dynamic (learned) MAC entries. An entry that remains unused for the duration of the aging time is removed from the MAC table.	
Syntax	[no] mac-age	[no] mac-age-time seconds	
	Parameter	Description	
	seconds	Number of seconds a learned MAC entry can remain unused before it is removed from the MAC table. You can specify 10-600 seconds.	
Default	300 seconds		

AleNetworks	AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference	
Mode	Configuration mode	
Usage	On models AX 1000, AX 2000, AX 2100, and AX 3000, the actual MAC aging time can be $+/-10$ seconds from the configured value.	
	On models AX 2200, AX 3100, AX 3200, AX 5100, and AX 5200, the actual MAC aging time can be up to 2 times the configured value. For example, if the aging time is set to 50 seconds, the actual aging time will be between 50 and 100 seconds.	
Example	The following command changes the MAC aging time to 600 seconds:	
AX(config)#mac-age-ti	me 600	

maximum-paths

Description	Change the maximum number of paths a route can have in the forwarding Information Base (FIB).	
Syntax	[no] maximum-paths num	
	Parameter	Description
	בית	Maximum number of paths a route can have. You can specify 1-10.
Default	4	
Mode	Configuration mode	
mirror-port		
Description	Specify a port to which to copy monitored traffic to or from another port.	
Syntax	[no] mirror-port ethernet port-num	
	Parameter	Description
	port-num	Ethernet port number out which the monitored traffic will be sent.
Default	No ports are mirrored.	
Mode	Configuration mode	



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference

Usage	To specify the port to monitor, use the monitor command at the interface configuration level. (See <u>"monitor" on page 230</u> .)
Example	The following commands enable monitoring of input traffic on Ethernet port 5, and enable the monitored traffic to be copied ("mirrored") to Ethernet port 3:
AX(config)#mirror-port AX(config)#interface et AX(config-if:ethernet5	ethernet 3 :hernet 5 #monitor input

monitor

150 of 804

Description	Specify event thresholds for utilization of resources.	
Syntax	monitor {buffer-drop buffer-usage ctrl-cpu data-cpu disk memory warn-temp} threshold-value	
	Parameter	Description
	buffer-drop	Packet drops (dropped IO buffers)
	buffer-usage	Control buffer utilization
	ctrl-cpu	Control CPU utilization
	data-cpu	Data CPUs utilization
	disk	Hard disk utilization
	memory	Memory utilization
	warn-temp	CPU temperature
	threshold-value	The values you can specify depend on the event type and on the AX model. For information, see the CLI help.
Default	The default threshold values depend on the event type and on the AX model. For information, see the CLI help.	
Usage	If utilization of a system resource crosses the configured threshold, a log message is generated. If applicable, an SNMP trap is also generated.	
	To display the configu page 753 .	red event thresholds, see "show monitor" on
Example	The following command sets the event threshold for data CPU utilization to 80%:	
AX(config)#monitor dat	config)#monitor data-cpu 80	



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference

Description	Configure multiple simultaneous administrative sessions.	
Syntax	[no] multi-config enable	
Default	Disabled	
Mode	Configuration mode	
Usage	Previous releases allowed only a single admin to access the AX device in configuration mode. However, the AX device now supports multiple, simultaneous configuration sessions. When the multi-config feature is enabled, configuration commands across all admins sessions will apply immediately to the AX device, without terminating another admin's session.	
	Enabling Multi-User Access	
	 When an additional user attempts to access the device in configuration mode, the original admin is prompted to permit access. If permission is granted, multiple admins may freely access the device without the display of subsequent prompts. Disabling Multi-User Access Disabling multiple admin access does not terminate currently active admin sessions. For example, if 4 admin accounts are simultaneously accessing the device in configuration mode, disabling multi-user access will deny access when a 5th user attempts to log onto the device. However, the previous 4 admin sessions will continue to run unaffected. 	
	Simultaneous Parameter Configuration	
	Multiple admins may configure the same parameter in real-time. When two admins modify the same configuration option, the most recent changes are applied.	
	If a parameter is undergoing configuration and a second admin attempts to disable or delete the parameter, the AX device will warn the second admin that the item is currently in use.	
	If an admin disables an option and a second admin attempts to configure the same option, the AX device will return a message that the option does not	

exist.



Reloading the AX Device

You can reload the AX device only when there is a single admin session in configuration mode. If you attempt to reload the AX device while multiple configuration sessions are running, an warning notification appears.

To reload the AX device when there are multiple configuration sessions, use the command **clear admin sessions** from the global configuration level of the CLI. After clearing all admin sessions, reload the AX device, and additional admins can immediately re-log onto the device.

nat46-stateless

Description	Configure stateless NAT46. See <u>"Config Commands: Stateless NAT46" on page 577</u> .	
nat64		
Description	Configure global settin DNS64" on page 513.	gs for NAT64. See <u>"Config Commands: NAT64 /</u>
netflow		
Description	Enable the AX device to act as a NetFlow exporter, for monitoring traffic and exporting the data to one or more NetFlow collectors for analysis.	
Syntax	[no] netflow mo	onitor monitor-name
	Parameter	Description
	monitor-name	Name of the NetFlow monitor.
	This command changes the CLI to the configuration level for the specified NetFlow monitor, where the following commands are available.	
	Command	Description
	destination { service-group <i>sg-name</i> / <i>ip-addr</i> }	Configure the destination where NetFlow records will be sent by entering a service group (if using



	multiple NetFlow collectors), or an IP address for a specific host.
disable	Disable this NetFlow monitor.
enable	Enable this NetFlow monitor.
flow-timeout	Timeout value interval at which flow records will be periodically exported for long-lived sessions. Flow records for short-lived sessions (if any) are sent upon termination of the session.
	After the specified amount of time has elapsed, the AX device will send any flow records to the NetFlow collector, even if the flow is still active. The flow timeout can be set to 0-1440 minutes.The flow timeout default value is 10 minutes.
	Setting the timeout value to 0 disables the flow timeout feature. Regardless of how long-lived a flow might be, the AX device waits until the flow has ended and the session is deleted before it sends any flow records for it.
monitor {ethernet global	
hat-pool}	Configure filters for monitoring traffic. Identify the specific type and subset of resources to moni- tor. You can specify monitoring of one or the other of the following resources:
	ethernet – Specify the list of ports to monitor. Flow information for the monitored interfaces is sent to the NetFlow collector(s).
	global – (Default) No filters are in effect. Traffic on all interfaces and for all NAT pools is moni- tored.
	nat-pools – Specify the pool of NAT addresses to monitor. Flow information for the monitored IP addresses is sent to the NetFlow collector(s). Currently, only CGN pools can be entered; stand- ard (non-CGN pools) are not supported.
protocol	Configure which version of the NetFlow protocol to use, version 9 or version 10. The default is NetFlow version 9.
[no] record netflow- template-type	



[both creation	
deletion]	Configure the NetFlow record types to be exported. (See the "NetFlow v9 and v10 (IPFIX)" chapter in the AX Series IPv4-to-IPv6 Transition Solutions Guide.)
	The <i>netflow-template-type</i> refers to the NetFlow template that defines the NetFlow records to export, and it includes the following template types:
	nat44
	nat64
	dslite
	sesn-event-nat44
	sesn-event-nat64
	sesn-event-dslite
	port-mapping-nat44
	port-mapping-nat64
	port-mapping-dslite
	The options for specifying both , creation , and deletion allow you to determine which types of events will be exported:
	both – Export both creation and deletion events (default)
	creation – Export only creation events
	deletion – Export only deletion events

The **both**, **creation**, and **deletion** options are only available for session event and port mapping event templates. They are not available for flow record templates.

resend-template

{records num |





	<pre>timeout seconds}</pre>	Configure when to resend the NetFlow template. The trigger can be either the number of records, or the amount of time that has passed.
		records – Specify a range from 0-1000000, with a default of 1000 records. Note that specifying 0 means never resend the template.
		timeout – Specify a range from 0-86400, with a default of 1800 records. Note that specifying 0 means never resend the template.
	source-ip-use- mgmt	Use the management interface's IP address as the source IP for exported NetFlow packets. Note that this command does not change the AX port from which NetFlow traffic is exported.
Default	Described above, where applicable.	
Introduced in Release	2.6.6-P4	
Mode	Configuration mode	
Usage	A NetFlow monitor consists of the following protocol parameters, which can be used to configure the AX device to export data in the format of Net- Flow v9 or NetFlow v10 (IPFIX). The current release supports NetFlow version 9 (RFC 3954), and NetFlow version 10 (IPFIX) (RFC 5101).	
	You can configure up to	64 NetFlow monitors.
	Predefined NetFlow 1	emplates
	The AX device includes some pre-defined NetFlow templates. For informa- tion, see the "NetFlow v9 and v10 (IPFIX)" chapter in the AX Series IPv4- to-IPv6 Transition Solutions Guide.	
no		
Description	Remove a configuration	command from the running configuration.
Syntax	no command-strin	ng
Default	N/A	
Mode	Config	

AleNetworks	AX Serie	s - Command Line Interface Reference	
Usage	Use the " no " form of a command to disable a setting or remove a config ured item. Configuration commands at all Config levels of the CLI have " no " form, unless otherwise noted.		
	The command is removed the command from the co- save the configuration of page 201.)	from the running-config. To permanently remove onfiguration, use the write memory command to changes to the startup-config. (See <u>"write" on</u>	
Example	The following command a	removes server "http99" from the running-config:	
AX(config)#no slb serv	er http99		
ntp			
Description	Configure Network Time Protocol (NTP) parameters.		
Syntax	[no] ntp server	{hostname ipaddr}	
	[no] ntp {disable enable}		
	Parameter	Description	
	hostname ipaddr	Hostname or IP address of the NTP server.	
	disable	Disables synchronization with the NTP server.	
	enable	Enables synchronization with the NTP server.	
Default	NTP synchronization is disabled by default. If you enable it, DST is enabled by default, if applicable to the specified timezone.		
Mode	Configuration mode		
Usage	You can configure a maximum of 4 NTP servers.		
	If the system clock is adjusted while OSPF or IS-IS is enabled, the routing protocols may stop working properly. To work around this issue, disable OSPF and IS-IS before adjusting the system clock.		
Example	The following commands configure an NTP server and enable NTP:		
AX(config)#ntp server	10.1.4.20		

AX(config)#ntp server enable



Ping is used to diagnose basic network connectivity. For syntax information, see <u>"ping" on page 53</u>.

radius-server

Description	Set RADIUS parameters AX Series device.	s, for authenticating administrative access to the	
Syntax	[no] radius-ser secret s [acct-po [auth-po [retrans [timeout [default	<pre>[no] radius-server host {hostname ipaddr} secret secret-string [acct-port protocol-port] [auth-port protocol-port] [retransmit num] [timeout seconds] [default-privilege-read-write]</pre>	
	Parameter	Description	
	hostname ipaddr	Hostname or IP address of the RADIUS server.	
	secret secret-string	Password, 1-128 characters, required by the RADIUS server for authentication requests.	
	acct-port protocol-port	Protocol port to which the AX Series device sends RADIUS accounting information.	
	auth-port		
	protocol-port	Protocol port to which the AX Series device sends authentication requests.	
	retransmit num	Maximum number of times the AX device can resend an unanswered authentication request to the server. If the AX device does not receive a reply to the final request, the AX device tries the secondary server, if one is configured.	
		If no secondary server is available, or if the sec- ondary server also fails to reply after the maxi- mum number of retries, authentication fails and the admin is denied access.	

You can specify 0-5 retries.



	timeout seconds	Maximum number of seconds the AX device will wait for a reply to an authentication request before resending the request. You can specify 1-15 seconds.
	default- privilege-read- write	Change the default privilege authorized by RADIUS from read-only to read-write. The default privilege is used if the Service-Type attri- bute is not used, or the A10 vendor attribute is not used.
Default	No RADIUS servers are configured by default. When you add a RADIUS server, it has the following default settings:	
	• acct-port – 1813	
	• auth-port – 1812	
	• retransmit – 3 retries	
	• timeout – 3 seconds	
	• default-privilege-read-write – Disabled. By default, if the Service- Type attribute is not used, or the A10 vendor attribute is not used, suc- cessfully authenticated admins are authorized for read-only access.	
	You can configure up to order in which you add th add is the primary server (backup) server. Enter a s ondary server is used only	2 RADIUS servers. The servers are used in the nem to the configuration. Thus, the first server you er. The second server you add is the secondary eparate command for each of the servers. The sec- y if the primary server does not respond.
Mode	Configuration mode	
Example	The following commands ure the AX device to use 10.10.10.12 is added first Server 10.10.10.13 will b	configure a pair of RADIUS servers and config- them first, before using the local database. Since , this server will be used as the primary server. e used only if the primary server is unavailable.
AX(config)#radius-serv	ver host 10.10.10.	12 secret radpl
AX(config)#radius-ser	ver host 10.10.10.	13 secret radp2
AX(config)#authentica	tion type radius l	ocal



laid			
Description	Enter the configuration	Enter the configuration level for RAID.	
Syntax	raid		
	CAUTION! RAID con the assistance of A10 experiment with these	nfiguration should be performed only by or with Networks. A10 strongly advises that you do not commands.	
restore			
Description	Restore the startup-contribution viously created by the been effect following a reboo	fig and SSL certificates and keys from a tar file pre- backup command. The restored configuration takes bt.	
Syntax	restore [use-mg	mt-port] url	
	Parameter	Description	
	use-mgmt-port	Uses the management interface as the source interface for the connection to the remote device. The management route table is used to reach the device. By default, the AX device attempts to use the data route table to reach the remote device through a data interface.	
	url	File transfer protocol, username (if required), and directory path.	
		You can enter the entire URL on the command line or press Enter to display a prompt for each part of the URL. If you enter the entire URL and a password is required, you will still be prompted for the password. The password can be up to 255 characters long.	
		To enter the entire URL:	
		tftp://host/file	
		<pre>ftp://[user@]host[:port]/file</pre>	
		<pre>scp://[user@]host/file</pre>	
		<pre>rcp://[user@]host/file</pre>	
Default	N/A		

Aleworks		AX Serie	es - Command Line Interface Reference
Mode		Configuration mode	
Usage		Do not save the configuration (write memory) after restoring the startup- config. If you do, the startup-config will be replaced by the running-config and you will need to restore the startup-config again.	
		To place the restored con	figuration into effect, reboot the AX device.
		The " no " form of this co	mmand is invalid.
route-map			
Description		Configure a rule in a route map. You can use route maps to provide input to the following OSPF commands:	
		• <u>"redistribute" on page</u>	<u>e 321</u>
		• <u>"default-information</u>	originate" on page 331
Syntax		<pre>[no] route-map map-name {deny permit} sequence-num</pre>	
		Parameter	Description
		map-name	Route map name.
		deny permit	Action to perform on data that matches the rule.
		sequence-num	Sequence number of the rule within the route map, 1-65535. Rules are used in ascending sequence order.
			The action in the first matching rule is used, and no further matching is performed.
			You do not need to configure route map rules in numerical order. The CLI automatically places them in the configuration (running-config) in ascending numerical order.
		This command changes the CLI to the configuration level for the route map rule, where the following match commands are available	
	Note:	Some match options apply only to BGP, which is not supported in the current release.	



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference

Command	Description
match as-path acl-id	Matches on the BGP AS paths listed in the speci- fied ACL.
<pre>match community acl-id [exact-match]</pre>	Matches on the BGP communities listed in the specified ACL.
<pre>match extcommunity acl-id [exact-match]</pre>	Matches on the BGP external communities listed in the specified ACL.
<pre>match interface {ethernet portnum loopback num management ve ve-num}</pre>	Matches on the interface used as the first hop for a route.
<pre>match ip address {acl-id prefix-list list-name}</pre>	Matches on the route IP addresses in the speci- fied ACL or prefix list.
<pre>match ip next-hop {acl-id prefix-list list-name}</pre>	Matches on the next-hop router IP addresses in the specified ACL or prefix list.
match ip peer acl-id	Matches on the peer router IP addresses in the specified ACL.
<pre>match ipv6 address {acl-id prefix-list list-name}</pre>	Matches on the route IP addresses in the speci- fied ACL or prefix list.



	<pre>match ipv6 next-hop {acl-id prefix-list list-name ipv6-addr}</pre>	Matches on the next-hop router IP addresses in the specified ACL or prefix list, or the specified IPv6 address.
	match ipv6 peer acl-id	Matches on the peer router IP addresses in the specified ACL.
	match metric num	Matches on the specified metric value, 0-4294967295.
	match origin {egp igp incomplete}	Matches on the specified BGP origin code.
	<pre>match route-type external {type-1 type-2}</pre>	Matches on the specified external route type.
	match tag	Matches on the specified TAG value, 0-4294967295.
Default	None	
Mode	Configuration mode	
Usage	For options that use an Au the route map action is de	CL, the ACL must use a permit action. Otherwise, ny.



router protocol

Description	Enter the configuration mode for a dynamic routing protocol.	
Syntax	[no] router protocol	
	Parameter	Description
	protocol	Specifies the routing protocol:
		bgp AS-num – Specifies an Autonomous System (AS) for which to run BGP on the AX device.
		ipv6 ospf [<i>tag</i>] – Specifies an IPv6 OSPFv3 process (1-65535) to run on the IPv6 link.
		ipv6 rip – Enables IPv6 RIP.
		isis [<i>tag</i>] – Enables Intermediate System to Intermediate System (IS-IS).
		log – See the following sections:
		<u>"router log file" on page 164</u>
		"router log record-priority" on page 165
		"router log stdout" on page 165
		<u>"router log trap" on page 166</u>
		ospf [<i>process-id</i>] – Specifies an IPv4 OSPFv2 process (1-65535) to run on the AX device.
		rip – Enables IPv4 RIP.
Note:	After you enter the con for the specified protoc	nmand, the CLI changes to the configuration level ol.
Default	Dynamic routing protocols are disabled by default.	
Mode	Configuration mode	
Usage	This command is valid only when the AX is configured for gateway mode (Layer 3).	
	For more information, see the following:	
	• <u>"Config Commands:</u>	Router – RIP" on page 279
	<u>"Config Commands:</u> "	Router – OSPF" on page 311



- <u>"Config Commands: Router IS-IS" on page 359</u>
- <u>"Config Commands: Router BGP" on page 395</u>

Example

The following command enters the configuration level for OSPFv2 process 1:

AX(config)**#router ospf 1** AX(config-router)#

router log file

Description	Configure router logging to a local file.	
Syntax	<pre>[no] router log { name string per-protocol rotate num size Mbytes }</pre>	file
	Parameter	Description
	name string	Name of the log file.
	per-protocol	Uses separate log files for each protocol. Without this option, log messages for all protocols are written to the same file.
	rotate num	Specifies the number of backups to allow for each log file. When a log file becomes full, the logs are saved to a backup file and the log file is cleared for new logs. You can specify 0-100 backups. Older backups are purged to make way for new ones if the maximum number is reached.
	size Mbytes	Specifies the size of each log file. You can spec- ify 0-1000000 Mbytes. If you specify 0, the file size is unlimited.
Default	This command has the following default values:per-protocol – disabled	
	• rotate -0	
	• $size - 0$ (unlimited)	
Mode	Configuration mode	
164 of 804	Document No.:	Customer Driven Innovation D-030-01-00-0003 - Ver. 2.6.6-GR1 5/8/2013



Usage

When you enable logging, the default minimum severity level that is logged is debugging. To change the minimum severity level that is logged, see <u>"router log trap" on page 166</u>.

The **per-protocol** option is recommended. Without this option, messages from all routing protocols will be written to the same file, which may make troubleshooting more difficult.

router log log-buffer

Description	Enable router logging to the local log buffer.	
Syntax	[no] router log log-buffer	
Default	Disabled	
Mode	Configuration mode	

router log record-priority

Description	Include the message priority within each router log message	
Syntax	[no] router log record-priority	
Default	Disabled	
Mode	Configuration mode	

router log stdout

Description	Enable router logging to the terminal.
Syntax	[no] router log stdout
Default	Disabled
Mode	Configuration mode
Usage	When you enable logging, the default minimum severity level that is logged is debugging. To change the minimum severity level that is logged, see "router log trap" on page 166



router log trap

Description	Specify the minimum sev	erity level to log for router logs.
Syntax	[no] router log	trap severity-level
	Parameter	Description
	severity-level	Minimum severity level to log. You can specify one of the following:
		emergencies
		alerts
		critical
		errors
		warnings
		notifications
		informational
		debugging
Default	debugging	
Mode	Configuration mode	
run-hw-diag		
Description	Access the hardware diag	nostics menu.
Caution	: The system will be un running.	available for normal operations while a test is

- **Note:** A reboot is required before the hardware diagnostics menu appears. If you reboot to a software release that does not support the hardware diagnostics menu, the menu is not available. Currently, the hardware diagnostics menu is supported in AX Release 2.4.3-P3 and later 2.4.x releases, and in AX Release 2.6.1.
- Syntax run-hw-diag
- Mode Configuration mode

166 of 804

UsageThe hardware diagnostic menu is available only on serial console sessions.
To run a test, you must use a serial console connection.



The **run-hw-diag** command requires a reboot. After the reboot is completed, a menu with the following options appears:

- 1 Memory Test
- 2 HDD/CF Scan Test (1-2 hours)
- 3 MBR (Master Boot Record) check
- 4 Complete Test (all above)
- x Reboot
- **Note:** As indicated in the description for option 2, the media scan test, the test takes *1-2 hours to complete*.

After a test is completed, you can use the \mathbf{x} option to reboot. If you do not enter an option to run another test or reboot, the system automatically reboots after 5 minutes. The same software image that was running when you entered the **run-hw-diag** command is reloaded during the reboot.

The following example shows how to access the hardware diagnostic menu:

```
AX(config) #run-hw-diag
```

Example

```
Please confirm: You want to run HW diagnostics (N/Y)?:y
Please reboot the system when you are ready.
HW diagnostic will run when the system comes back up.
AX(config)#end
AX#reboot
Proceed with reboot? [yes/no]:yes
Rebooting.....
INIT: version 2.86 booting
Booting.....mdadm: stopped /dev/md1
mdadm: stopped /dev/md0
00000000000
                 _____
     Hardware Diagnostic Menu
_____
1 - Memory Test
 2 - HDD/CF Scan Test (1-2 hours)
 3 - MBR (Master Boot Record) check
```

- 4 Complete Test (all above)
- x Reboot

Please select an option [1-4, x]:





session strict-aging-on-clear

Description	Please contact A10 Networks.	
Syntax	[no] session strict-aging-on-clear	
Default	Disabled	
Mode	Configuration mode	

session-filter

Description

Configure a session filter. session-filter filter-name { 6rd-nat64 sub-options | ds-lite sub-options | ipv4 sub-options | ipv6 sub-options | nat44 sub-options | nat64 sub-options | }

Parameter

Description

6rd-nat64 sub-options

Matches on IPv6-in-IPv4 6rd-NAT64 sessions. The following *sub-options* are supported:

source-v4-addr

ipv4addr[/mask-length] - Source IPv4
address of the session.

source-v6-addr

ipv6addr[/*prefix*] – Source IPv6 address of the session.

source-port *portnum* – Source protocol port of the session.



dest-v4-addr
ipv4addr[/mask-length] - Destination
IPv4 address of the session.

dest-v6-addr *ipv6addr*[/*prefix*] – Destination IPv6 address of the session.

dest-port *portnum* – Destination protocol port of the session.

Matches on IPv4-in-IPv6 DS-Lite sessions. The *sub-options* are the same as those for **6rd-nat64**.

ds-lite

sub-options

ipv4 sub-options

Matches on IPv4 LSN sessions, IPv4 Fixed-NAT sessions, and IPv4 static mapping sessions. The following *sub-options* are supported:

source-v4-addr

ipv4addr[/mask-length] - Source IPv4 address of the session.

source-port *portnum* – Source protocol port of the session.

dest-v4-addr
ipv4addr[/mask-length] - Destination
IPv4 address of the session.

dest-port *portnum* – Destination protocol port of the session.

ipv6

sub-options

Matches on NAT64 sessions and NAT64 Fixed-NAT sessions. The following *sub-options* are supported:

source-v6-addr

ipv6addr[/*prefix*] – Source IPv6 address of the session.

source-port *portnum* – Source protocol port of the session.

dest-v6-addr

ipv6addr[/prefix] – Destination IPv6 address of the session.

dest-port *portnum* – Destination protocol port of the session.



	nat44 sub-options	Matches on IPv4 LSN sessions and IPv4 Fixed- NAT sessions. The <i>sub-options</i> are the same as those for ipv4 .	
	nat64 sub-options	Matches on NAT64 sessions and NAT64 Fixed- NAT sessions. The <i>sub-options</i> are the same as those for ipv6 .	
Default	No session filters are o	configured by default.	
Mode	Configuration mode		
Usage	Session filters allows clear session and she allows you to specify the options each time	you to save session display options for use with the ow session commands. Configuring a session filter a given set of options one time rather than re-entering you use the clear session or show session command.	
sflow			
Description	Enables the AX device and send the data to an	e to collect information about Ethernet data interfaces n external sFlow collector (v5).	
Syntax	<pre>[no] sflow { agent address collector ipad counter-pollin packet-samplin polling sub-op sampling ether source-ip-use- }</pre>	<pre>[no] sflow { agent address ipaddr collector ipaddr [portnum] counter-polling-interval seconds packet-sampling-rate num polling sub-options sampling ethernet interface source-ip-use-mgmt }</pre>	
	Parameter	Description	
	agent address ipaddr	Configure an sFlow agent. The <i>ipaddr</i> value can be any valid IPv4 or IPv6 address. By default, sFlow datagrams use the management IP of the AX device as the source address, but you can specify a different IP address, if desired. The information will appear in the Layer 4 informa-	



tion section of the sFlow datagram, and it is not

	used to make routing decisions.
collector ipaddr	Configure up to four sFlow collectors. The IP address is that of the sFlow collector device. You can optionally specify the port number, with a range from 1-65535. The default port number is 6343.
counter- polling- interval	
seconds	Configure the sFlow counter polling interval. The interval <i>seconds</i> option specifies the fre- quency with which statistics for an interface are periodically sampled and sent to the sFlow col- lector. The default globally configured polling interval is 20 seconds, but the range can be con- figured to a value from 1-200 seconds.
packet- sampling-rate num	Configure sFlow default packet sampling rate. The <i>num</i> option specifies the value of N , where N is the value of the denominator in the ratio at which a single packet will be sampled from a denominator ranging from 10-1000000. The default is 1000, meaning one packet out of every 1000 will be sampled.
<pre>polling {cpu-usage ethernet interface </pre>	
lsn-pool-usage}	Configure sFlow counter polling on a specified interface.
	CPU usage is included in the sFlow datagram by default.
	You can specify an Ethernet interface from 1-12. There is no default.
	LSN NAT pool usage is included in the sFlow datagram by default.





	sampling ethernet <i>interface</i>	Configure sFlow sampling on a specified inter- face. You can specify interface 1-12. There is no default.
	source-ip-use- mgmt	Enable use of the management interface's IP as the source address for outbound sFlow packets.
Default	Described above, where	applicable.
Introduced in Release	2.6.6-P4	
Mode	Configuration mode	
Usage	Enable either or both of the following types of data collection, for individual Ethernet data ports:	
	 Packet flow sampling packets on the monit packet flow sample of from the MAC headed variable increases the the sampling frequent denominator. 	g – The AX device randomly selects incoming ored interfaces, and extracts their headers. Each contains the first 128 bytes of the packet, starting er. Note that setting a smaller value for the <i>num</i> e sampling frequency, and larger numbers decrease acy. This is due to the fact that the variable is in the
	• Counter sampling – The AX device periodically retrieves the send and receive statistics for the monitored interfaces. These are the statistics listed in the Received and Transmitted counter fields in show interface output.	
	Notes	
	• sFlow data collection ports. The feature is interfaces, or the man	n is supported only for individual Ethernet data not supported for VEs, trunk interfaces, loopback nagement interface.
	• Sampling of CGN packets is performed only on pre-translation packets. The samples do not carry post-translation header information.	
	• Sampling of a packet but not the outgoing	t includes information about the incoming interface interface.
	• None of the followin	g are supported:
	• Host resource sa	mpling
	 Application beha Duplication of tr	avior sampling affic to multiple sFlow collectors
172 of 804		Customer Driven Innovation



	 Configuration of sFlow Agent behavior using SNMP 	
Example	The following commands specify the sFlow collector, and enables use of the management interface's IP as the source IP for the data samples sent to the sFlow collector:	
AX(config)# sflow	collector 192.168.100.3	
AX(config)# sflow	source-ip-use-mgmt	

slb

Description	Configure server resources for external logging for IPv6 migration features.
	(See <u>"Config Commands: Server Resource Commands" on page 617</u> .)

smtp

Description	Configure a Simple Mail ing emails from the AX of	Transfer Protocol (SMTP) server to use for send- levice.	
Syntax	[no] smtp {hostr [mailfrom email- [needauthenticat [port protocol-p [username string	<pre>[no] smtp {hostname ipaddr} [mailfrom email-src-addr] [needauthentication] [port protocol-port] [username string password string]</pre>	
	Parameter	Description	
	hostname ipaddr	Specifies an SMTP server.	
	mailfrom email-src-addr	Specifies the email address to use as the sender (From) address.	
	needauthenticat ion	Specifies that authentication is required.	
	port protocol-port	Specifies the protocol port on which the server listens for SMTP traffic.	
	username string password string	Specifies the username and password required for access. The password can be 1-31 characters long.	
Default	No SMTP servers are cor	figured by default. When you configure one, it has	

No SMTP servers are configured by default. When you configure one, it has the following default settings:



174 of 804

	• port – 25	
	 needauthentication – disabled 	
	• mailfrom – not set	
Mode	Configuration mode	
Example	The following command configures the AX Series device to use SMTP server "ourmailsrvr":	
AX(config)#smtp ourmailsrvr		

snmp-server community

Description	Configure an SNMP con	Configure an SNMP community string.		
Syntax	[no] snmp-serve read ro-communi [oid oid-value] [remote {hostna ipv6-addr/prefi	<pre>[no] snmp-server community read ro-community-string [oid oid-value] [remote {hostname ipaddr mask-length ipv6-addr/prefix-length}]</pre>		
	Parameter	Description		
	ro-community- string	The read-only community string.		
	oid oid-value	Object ID. This option restricts the objects that the AX Series device returns in response to GET requests. Values are returned only for the objects within or under the specified OID.		
	remote {hostname ipaddr mask- length ipv6- addr/prefix-			
	length]}	Restricts SNMP access to a specific host or sub- net. When you use this option, only the specified host or subnet can receive SNMP data from the AX Series device by sending a GET request to this community.		
Default	The configuration does not have any default SNMP communities. When you configure one, all OIDs are allowed by default and all remote hosts are allowed by default.			

AleNetworks	AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference		
Mode	Configuration mode		
Usage	All SNMP communities are read-only. Read-write communities are not supported. The OID for A10 Networks AX Series objects is 1.3.6.1.4.1.22610.		
	The "no" form removes the read-only community string.		
Example	The following commands enable SNMP, define community string "A10_AX", and restrict access to hosts in subnet 10.10.20.x/24 and to AX MIB objects only:		
AX(config)# snmp-server AX(config)# snmp-server	enable community read A10_AX oid AxMgmt remote 10.10.20.0 24		
Example	The following commands enable SNMP, define community string "A10_AX2", and restrict access to hosts in IPv6 network a101::1111:		
AX(config)# snmp-server AX(config)# snmp-server	enable community read A10_AX2 remote a101::1111		

snmp-server contact

Description	Configure SNMP contact information.		
Syntax	[no] snmp-server	contact contact-name	
	Parameter	Description	
	contact-name	The contact person's name.	
Default	Empty string		
Mode	Configuration mode		
Usage	The " no " form removes the contact information.		
Example	The following command defines the contact person as "snmp-admin":		
AX(config)# snmp-server	contact snmp-admin		

snmp-server enable

DescriptionEnable the AX Series device to accept SNMP MIB data queries and to send
SNMP v1/v2c traps.To use SNMP on the device, you must enter this command. Enter this command first, then enter the other snmp-server commands to further configure
the feature.





Syntax

```
[no] snmp-server enable
        Γ
         traps [
                   routing {isis | ospf} [trap-name] |
                   snmp [trap-name]
                   ha [trap-name]
                   network [trap-name]
                   slb [trap-name] |
                   lsn [trap-name] |
                   system [trap-name]
                   ]
          1
Parameter
                        Description
                        Specifies the traps to enable. You can enable all
 traps
                        traps, all traps of a specific type, or individual
                        traps.
                        To enable all traps, specify traps, without any
                        additional options.
                        To enable all traps of a specific type, specify one
                        of the following:
                                 routing – Enables the following
                        traps
                        traps:
                            isis – Enables traps for Intermediate Sys-
                            tem To Intermediate System (IS-IS) routing.
                            To list the individual traps you enable or dis-
                            able, enter the following:
                            snmp-server enable traps routing isis ?
                            ospf – Enables traps for Open Shortest
                            Path First (OSPF) routing. To list the indi-
                            vidual traps you enable or disable, enter the
                            following:
                            snmp-server enable traps routing ospf?
                        traps snmp – Enables the following traps:
                            linkdown – Indicates that an Ethernet
                            interface has gone down.
                            linkup – Indicates that an Ethernet inter-
                            face has come up.
                        traps ha – Enables the following traps:
                            active – Indicates that the AX device is
                            going from HA Standby mode to Active
                            mode.
```



standby – Indicates that the AX device is going from HA Active mode to Standby mode.

active-active – Indicates that an Active-Active HA configuration has been enabled.

traps network – Enables the following trap:

trunk-port-threshold – Indicates that the trunk ports threshold feature has disabled trunk members because the number of up ports in the trunk has fallen below the configured threshold. (To configure the threshold, see <u>"trunk" on page 195</u>.)

traps slb – Enables the following traps:

application-buffer-limit – Indicates that the configured SLB application buffer threshold has been exceeded. (See <u>"monitor" on page 150</u>.)

server-conn-limit – Indicates that an SLB server has reached its configured connection limit.

server-conn-resume – Indicates that an SLB server has reached its configured connection-resume value.

server-down – Indicates that an SLB server has gone down.

server-up – Indicates that an SLB server has come up.

service-conn-limit – Indicates that an SLB service has reached its configured connection limit.

service-conn-resume – Indicates that an SLB service has reached its configured connection-resume value.

service-down – Indicates that an SLB service has gone down.

service-up – Indicates that an SLB service has come up.

vip-connlimit – Indicates that the connection limit configured on a virtual server has been exceeded.



vip-connratelimit – Indicates that the connection rate limit configured on a virtual server has been exceeded.

vip-port-connlimit – Indicates that the connection limit configured on a virtual port has been exceeded.

vip-port-connratelimit – Indicates that the connection rate limit configured on a virtual port has been exceeded.

vip-port-down – Indicates that an SLB virtual service port has gone down.

vip-port-up – Indicates that an SLB virtual service port has come up. An SLB virtual server's service port is up when at least one member (real server and real port) in the service group bound to the virtual port is up.

traps lsn – Enables the following traps:

per-ip-port-usage-threshold

num – Indicates that an Large Scale NAT (LSN) global IP address has reached its configured port usage threshold. The *num* option specifies the threshold. When port utilization on any LSN NAT IP address reaches this value, a notification is triggered. You can specify 10000-64512. There is no default.

total-port-usage-threshold *num* – Indicates that the AX device has reached its configured system-wide port usage threshold for LSN global IP addresses. The *num* option specifies the threshold. When port utilization on any LSN NAT IP address reaches this value, a notification is triggered. You can specify 10000-655350000. There is no default.

traffic-exceeded – Indicates that an LSN IP address pool has reached its threshold of available addresses.

traps system – Enables the following traps:

control-cpu-high – Indicates that the control CPU utilization is higher than the configured threshold. (See <u>"monitor" on page 150</u>.)



data-cpu-high – Indicates that data CPU utilization is higher than the configured threshold. (See <u>"monitor" on page 150</u>.)

fan – Indicates that a system fan has failed. Contact A10 Networks.

high-disk-use – Indicates that hard disk usage on the AX device is higher than the configured threshold. (See <u>"monitor" on</u> <u>page 150</u>.)

high-memory-use – Indicates that the memory usage on the AX device is higher than the configured threshold. (See <u>"moni-tor" on page 150</u>.)

high-temp – Indicates that the temperature inside the AX chassis is higher than the configured threshold. (See <u>"monitor" on page 150</u>.)

packet-drop – Indicates that the number of dropped packets during the previous 10-second interval exceeded the configured threshold. (See <u>"monitor" on page 150</u>.)

power – Indicates that a power supply has failed. Contact A10 Networks.

pri-disk – Indicates that the primary Hard Disk has failed or the RAID system has failed. In dual-disk models, the primary Hard Disk is the one on the left, as you are facing the front of the AX chassis.

restart – Indicates that the AX device is going to reboot or reload.

sec-disk – Indicates that the secondary Hard Disk has failed or the RAID system has failed. The secondary Hard Disk is the one on the right, as you are facing the front of the AX chassis.

Note: This trap does not apply to the following models: AX 2500, AX 2600, AX 3000, AX 5100, or AX 5200.

shutdown – Indicates that the AX device has shut down.

start – Indicates that the AX device has started.



Note:	If you enter the snmp-server enable command without a trap option, the SNMP service is enabled but no traps are enabled.	
Default	The SNMP service is disabled by default and all traps are disabled by default.	
Mode	Configuration mode	
Usage	The " no " form disables traps.	
Example	The following command enables all traps:	
AX(config)# snmp-server	enable traps	

snmp-server group

Description	Configure an SNMP group.	
Syntax	[no] snmp-server {auth noauth	<pre>group group-name {v1 v2c v3 priv}} read view-name</pre>
	Parameter	Description
	group-name	Specifies the name of the SNMP group.
	vl	Uses the least secure of the security models.
	v2c	Uses the second-least secure of the security models.
	v 3	Uses the most secure of the security models.
	auth	Uses packet authentication but does not encrypt the packets. (This is the authNoPriv security level.)
	noauth	Does not use any authentication of packets. (This is the noAuthNoPriv security level.)
	priv	Uses packet authentication and encryption. (This is the authPriv security level.)
	view-name	Specifies the name of a read-only view for accessing the MIB object values.
Default	The configuration does not have any default SNMP groups.	
Mode	Configuration mode	


Example The following commands add SNMP v3 group "group1" with authPriv security and read-only view "view1":

AX(config)#snmp-server group group1 v3 priv read view1

snmp-server host

Description	Configure an SNMP v1/v2c trap receiver.		
Syntax	<pre>[no] snmp-server host trap-receiver [version {v1 v2c}] community-string [udp-port port-num]</pre>		
	Parameter	Description	
	trap-receiver	Hostname or IP address of the remote device to which traps will be sent.	
	$\begin{array}{l} \texttt{version} \\ \{\texttt{v1} \ \ \texttt{v2c} \} \end{array}$	SNMP version. If you omit this option, the trap receiver can use SNMP v1 or v2c.	
	community- string	Community string for the traps.	
	port-num	UDP port to which the AX Series device will send the traps.	
Default	No SNMP hosts are defined. When you configure one, the default SNMP version is v2c and the default UDP port is 162.		
Mode	Configuration mode		
Usage	You can configure up to 2 trap receivers.		
	The " no " form removes the trap receiver.		
Example	The following command configures SNMP trap receiver 100.10.10.12 to use community string "public" and UDP port 166 for SNMP v2c traps.		
AX(config)#snmp-server	host 100.10.10.12 public udp-port 166		

snmp-server location

Description	Configure SNMP location information.			
Syntax	[no] snmp-server	location	location	



	Parameter	Description	
	location	The location of this AX device.	
Default	Empty string		
Mode	Configuration mode		
Usage	The " no " form removes the location information.		
Example	The following command of	configures the location as "A10-HQ":	
AX(config)# snmp-server	location A10-HQ		

snmp-server user

Description	Configure SNMP user-	Configure SNMP user-based groups.		
Syntax	[no] snmp-serv $\{v1 v2 v3$ $[encrypted]] \}$	<pre>[no] snmp-server user user-name group group-name {v1 v2 v3 [auth {md5 sha} password [encrypted]]}</pre>		
	Parameter	Description		
	user-name	Specifies the SNMP user name.		
	group-name	Specifies the group to which the SNMP user belongs.		
	vl v2c v3 [auth {md5 sha} password	Specifies SNMP version 1 or v2c.		
	[encrypted]]	Specifies SNMP version 3 and the authentication to use.		
		md5 sha - HMAC MD5 (md5) or HMAC SHA (sha).		
		<i>password</i> [encrypted] – Password, 8-31 characters, for SNMP messages. To encrypt the password, use the encrypted option.		
Default	No SNMP users are c remote hosts are allow default.	configured by default. When you configure one, all ved by default. For v3, there is no authentication by		
Mode	Configuration mode			
182 of 804		Customer Driven Innovation		



Example	The following command adds an SNMP user belonging to group "group1"				
	The SNMP version is 3 and the authentication method is HMAC MD5. The				
	password is "12345678". The password is not encrypted.				
AX(config)#snmp-server	user user1 group group1 v3 auth md5 12345678				

snmp-server view

Description	Configure an SNMP view.		
Syntax	<pre>[no] snmp-server view view-name oid [oid-mask] {included excluded}</pre>		
	Parameter	Description	
	view-name	SNMP views name.	
	oid	MIB view family name or OID.	
	oid-mask	OID mask. Use hex octets, separated by '.'.	
	included	MIB family is included in the view.	
	excluded	MIB family is excluded from the view.	
Default	N/A		
Mode	Configuration mode		
Usage	The OID for A10 Networks AX Series objects is 1.3.6.1.4.1.22610.		
Example	The following command adds SNMP view "view1" and includes all objects in the 1.3.6 tree:		
AX(config)# snmp-server	view view1 1.3.6 in	cluded	

stats-data-disable

Description	Globally disable collection of statistical data.		
Syntax	stats-data-disable		
Default	Statistical data collection is enabled by default.		
Mode	Configuration mode		
Usage	This command disables statistical data collection for system resources, including the following:		



- CPU
- Memory
- Disk
- Interfaces

This command also disables statistical data collection for any of the following types of load-balancing resources, if collection is enabled on those resources:

- SLB resources:
 - Real server
 - Real server port
 - Service group
 - Virtual server
 - Virtual server port

stats-data-enable

Description	Globally re-enable collection of statistical data.		
Syntax	stats-data-enable		
Default	Statistical data collection is enabled by default.		
Mode	Configuration mode		
Usage	This command re-enables statistical data collection for system resources, including the following:		
	• CPU		
	• Memory		
	• Disk		
	• Interfaces		

The command also re-enables statistical data collection for any individual load-balancing resources on which collection had been enabled before it was globally disabled.



system {all-vlan-limit | per-vlan-limit}

Description	Set traffic limits for VLANs. You can set a global limit for all VLANs or per VLAN.				
Syntax	[no] system {all-vlan-limit per-vlan-limit} {bcast ipmcast mcast unknown_ucast} num				
	Parameter Description				
	all-vlan-limit per-vlan- limit	Specifies whether the limit is system-wide for all			
		VLANs or for each individual VLAN.			
		all-vlan-limit – Limit applies system- wide to all VLANs. Collectively, all the AX Series device's VLANs together cannot exceed the specified limit.			
		per-vlan-limit – Limit applies to each VLAN. No individual can exceed the specified limit.			
	bcast / ipmcast / mcast /				
	unknown_ucast	Specifies the type of traffic to limit:			
		bcast – Broadcast traffic			
		ipmcast – IP multicast traffic			
		mcast – All multicast packets <i>except</i> IP multicast packets			
		unknown_ucast – Unknown unicast traf- fic			
	num	Specifies the maximum number of packets per second that are allowed of the specified traffic type.			
Default	The default per-VLAN lin ond. The default all-VLA second.	mit for each type of traffic is 1000 packets per sec- N limit for each type of traffic is 5000 packets per			
Mode	Configuration mode				



Example

The following command limits each VLAN to 1000 multicast packets per second:

AX(config)#system per-vlan-limit mcast 1000

system module-ctrl-cpu

Description	Specify the maximum amount of control CPU that can be used at any given time for processing of CLI or SNMP output.		
Syntax	[no] system module-ctrl-cpu {low medium high}		
Default	Not set		
Mode	Configuration mode		
Usage	The command takes effect only for new CLI sessions that are started after you enter the command. After entering the command, close currently open CLI sessions and start a new one.		

system resource-usage

Description	Change the capacity of	Change the capacity of a system resource.		
Syntax	[no] system resource-usage resource-type maximu			
	Parameter	Description		
	resource-type	Specifies the system resource you are resizing:		
		class-list-ipv6-addr-count – Maximum number of IPv6 addresses allowed within each IPv6 class list		
		client-ssl-template-count – Total configurable client SSL templates		
		conn-reuse-template-count – Total configurable connection reuse templates		
		fast-tcp-template-count – Total configurable Fast TCP templates		
		fast-udp-template-count – Total configurable Fast UDP templates		



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference

http-template-count – Total configurable HTTP templates

14-session-count – Total Layer 4 sessions

nat-pool-addr-count – Total IP source NAT pools

persist-cookie-template-count – Total configurable persistent cookie templates

persist-srcip-template-count – Total configurable source IP persistence templates

proxy-template-count – Total configurable proxy templates

real-port-count – Total real server ports

real-server-count – Total real servers

server-ssl-template-count – Total configurable server SSL templates

service-group-count – Total service groups

stream-template-count – Total configurable streaming-media templates

virtual-port-count – Total virtual server ports

virtual-server-count – Total virtual servers

maximum

The maximum number of the specified resource you want to allow on the AX Series.

The default maximum number for each type of system resource depends on the AX Series model. To display the defaults and current values for your AX Series, enter the following command: <u>"show system resource-usage" on</u> page 782.

Mode

Default

Configuration mode



-0						
Usage	The maximum number you can configure depends on the resource type and the AX Series model. To display the range of values that are valid for a resource, enter a question mark instead of a quantity.					
	• The maximum number of real servers allowed in a service group is half the total number of real servers allowed on the device.					
	• The maxi total num	• The maximum number of real ports allowed on a real server is half the total number of real ports allowed on the device.				
	 For all the following types of SLB templates, the total number allowed is 256 each, and is not configurable in the current release: RAM caching SIP SMTP Policy (PPSL P) 					
	• The total	number of hea	lth monitors all	lowed is 1024 a	and is not configu-	
	rable.					
	• For every type of system resource that has a default, the AX device reserves one instance of the resource.					
	For example, the device allows a total of 256 RAM caching templates. However, the device reserves one RAM caching template for the default template, which leaves a maximum of 255 additional RAM caching templates that can be configured.					
	Reload or Reboot Required					
	To place a change to 14-session-count into effect, a reboot is required. A reload will not place this change into effect. For changes to any of the other system resources, a reload is required but a reboot is not required.					
Example	The following commands display the current usage and settings for maxi- mum URI count, then display the range of values to which the default max- imum can be set, then reset the default maximum to 512.					
AX(config)# show syste Resource	m resource	e-usage Current	Default	Minimum	Maximum	
14-session-count		 8388608	 8388608	 524288		
···				221200	1001	
stream-uri-count		256	256	32	1024	

. . .

AX(config)system resource-usage stream-uri-count ?

<32-1024> Total configurable URI strings in the System
AX(config)system resource-usage stream-uri-count 512
Changes will take effect next time the software is reloaded.



system template

Description	Globally applies a policy template to the AX device.				
Syntax	[no] system template policy template-name				
Default	N/A				
Mode	Configuration mode				

system ve-mac-scheme

Description	Configure MAC addr	Configure MAC address assignment for Virtual Ethernet (VE) interfaces.				
Syntax	[no] system ve {round-robin	e-mac-scheme system-mac hash-based}				
	Parameter	Description				
	round-robin	Assigns MAC addresses in round-robin fashion, beginning with the address for port 1. Each new VE, regardless of the VE number, is assigned the MAC address of the next Ethernet data port.				
		For example:				
		– The MAC address of Ethernet data port 1 is assigned to the first VE you configure.				
		 The MAC address of Ethernet data port 2 is assigned to the second VE you configure. 				
		– The MAC address of Ethernet data port 3 is assigned to the third VE you configure.				
		This process continues until the MAC address of the highest-numbered Ethernet data port on the AX device is assigned to a VE. After the last Ethernet data port's MAC address is assigned to a VE, MAC assignment begins again with Ether- net data port 1. The number of physical Ethernet data ports on the AX device differs depending on the AX model.				
	system-mac	Assigns the system MAC address (the MAC address of Ethernet data port 1) to all VEs. This method provides the same MAC assignment used in AX releases earlier than 2.6.1.				



	hash-based	Uses a hash value based on the VE number to select an Ethernet data port, and assigns that data port's MAC address to the VE. This method always assigns the same Ethernet data port's MAC address to a given VE number, on any AX model, regardless of the order in which VEs are configured.				
Default	hash-based					
Mode	Configuration mode					
Usage	A reload or reboot is requ	ired to place the change into effect.				
system-reset						
Description	Restore the AX device to its factory default configuration.					
Syntax	system-reset					
Default	N/A					
Mode	Configuration mode					
Usage	This command is helpful v environment or at a new c uration at the same site.	when you need to redeploy an AX device in a new customer site, or you need to start over the config-				
	The command erases any files such as SSL certifica IP address and admin-corremoved.	v saved configuration profiles, as well as system ates and keys, and system logs. The management onfigured admin and enable passwords are also				
	However, the command of automatically reboot or p operate using the running until you reboot or power	does not remove the running-config and does not oower down the device. The device continues to g-config and any other system files in memory, down the device.				
	Reboot the AX device to reset into effect.	o erase the running-config and place the system				
Example	The following commands reset an AX device to its factory default configu- ration, then reboot the device to erase the running-config:					



AX(config)#**system-reset** AX(config)#**end** AX#**reboot**

tacacs-server

Description	Configure TACACS+ for authorization and accounting. If authorization or accounting is specified, the AX device will attempt to use the TACACS+ servers in the order they are configured. If one server fails to respond, the next server will be used.					
Syntax	<pre>[no] tacacs-server host {hostname ipaddr} secret secret-string [port protocol-portnum] [timeout seconds]</pre>					
	Parameter	Description				
	hostname ipaddr	Hostname or IP address of the TACACS+ server. If a hostname is to be used, make sure a DNS server has been configured.				
	secret-string	Password, 1-128 characters, required by the TACACS+ server for authentication requests.				
	protocol- portnum	The port used for setting up a connection with a TACACS+ server.				
	seconds The maximum number of second setting up a connection with a TA You can specify 1-12 seconds.					
Default	The default port number is 49. The default timeout is 12 seconds.					
Mode	Configuration mode					
	You can configure up to 2 TACACS+ servers. The servers are used in the order in which you add them to the configuration. Thus, the first server you add is the primary server. The second server you add is the secondary (backup) server. Enter a separate command for each of the servers. The secondary server is used only if the primary server does not respond.					
Example	The following command adds a TACACS+ server "192.168.3.45" and sets its shared secret as "SharedSecret":					
AX(config)#tacacs-serv	er host 192.168.3.45	5 secret SharedSecret				



The following command adds a TACACS+ server "192.168.3.72", sets the shared secret as "NewSecret", sets the port number as 1980, and sets the connection timeout value as 6 seconds:

AX(config)#tacacs-server host 192.168.3.72 secret NewSecret port 1980 timeout 6

The following command deletes TACACS+ server "192.168.3.45:

AX(config) #no tacacs-server host 192.168.3.45

The following command deletes all TACACS+ servers:

AX(config) #no tacacs-server

techreport

Description	Configure automated collection of system information. If you need to con- tact Technical Support, they may ask you to for the techreports to help diag- nose system issues.					
Syntax	[no] techreport	{interval minutes / disable}				
	Parameter	Description				
	interval					
	minutes	Specifies how often to collect new information You can specify 15-120 minutes.				
	disable	Disables automated collection of system infor- mation.				
Default	Automated collection of system information is enabled by default. The default interval is 15 minutes.					
Mode	Configuration mode					
Usage	The AX device saves all techreport information for a given day in a single file. Timestamps identify when each set of information is gathered. The AX device saves techreport files for the most recent 31 days. Each day's reports are saved in a separate file.					
	The techreports are a light version of the output generated by the show techsupport command. To export the information, use the show techsupport command. (See <u>"show techsupport" on page 783</u> .)					



Description	Set the terminal configuration.						
Syntax	[no] terminal {a [size number] length number	uto-size editing history idle-timeout minutes no-ha-prompt width lines}					
	Parameter Description						
	auto-size Automatically adjusts the length and width terminal display.						
	editing	Enables command editing.					
	history [size number]	Enables the command history and specifies the number of commands it can contain, 0-1000.					
	idle-timeout minutes	Specifies the number of minutes a CLI session can be idle before it times out and is terminated, 0-60 minutes. To disable timeout, enter 0.					
	length number	Specifies the number of lines to display per page, 0-512. To disable paging, enter 0.					
	no-ha-prompt	Disables display of the HA status in the CLI prompt. (For more information, see <u>"High Avail-ability Status in Command Prompt" on page 34</u> .)					
	width lines	Specifies the number of columns to display, 0-512. To use an unlimited number of columns, enter 0.					
Default	This command has the fo	llowing defaults:					
	• auto-size – enabled						
	 editing – enabled history – enabled, for up to 256 commands 						
	• idle-timeout – 10 min	nutes					
	• length – 24 lines						
	• no-ha-prompt – Disabled. (Display of the HA status is <i>enabled</i> .)						
	• width – 80 columns						
Mode	Configuration mode						



ExampleThe following example sets the idle-timeout to 30 minutes:AX(config)#terminal idle-timeout 30

tftp blksize

Description	Change the TFTP block size.							
Syntax	[no] tftp blksize bytes							
	Parameter	Description						
	bytes	Maximum packet length the AX TFTP client can use when sending or receiving files to or from a TFTP server. You can specify from 512-32768 bytes.						
Default	512 bytes	512 bytes						
Mode	Configuration	Configuration mode						
Usage	Increasing the	Increasing the TFTP block size can provide the following benefits:						
	• TFTP file transfers can occur more quickly, since fewer blocks are required to a send a file.							
	• File transfer errors due to the server reaching its maximum block size before a file is transferred can be eliminated.							
	To determine the maximum file size a block size will allow, use the follow- ing formula:							
	1K-blocksize = 64MB-filesize							
	Here are some	examples.						
	Block Size	Maximum File Size						
	1024	64 MB						
	8192	512 MB						
	32768	2048 MB						
	Increasing the mum block sizes support larger	TFTP block size of the AX device only increases the maxi- ze supported by the AX device. The TFTP server also must block sizes. If the block size is larger than the TFTP server						

mum block size supported by the AX device. The TFTP server also must support larger block sizes. If the block size is larger than the TFTP server supports, the file transfer will fail and a communication error will be displayed on the CLI terminal.



If the TFTP block size is larger than the IP Maximum Transmission Unit (MTU) on any device involved in the file transfer, the TFTP packets will be fragmented to fit within the MTU. The fragmentation will not increase the number of blocks; however, it can re-add some overhead to the overall file transmission speed.

Example

The following commands display the current TFTP block size, increase it, then verify the change:

AX(config)**#show tftp** TFTP client block size is set to 512 AX(config)**#tftp blksize 4096** AX(config)**#show tftp** TFTP client block size is set to 4096

trunk

Description	Configure a trunk group, which is a single logical link consisting of multiple Ethernet ports.							
Syntax	[no] trunk Trunknum							
	Parameter	Description						
	Trunknum	Specifies the trunk ID.						
	This command changes the CLI to the configuration level for trunk, where the following trunk-related commands are availa							
	Command	Description						
	disable ethernet portnum [to portnum] [ethernet portnum]	Disables ports in the trunk.						
	<pre>enable ethernet portnum [to portnum] [ethernet portnum]</pre>	Enables ports in the trunk.						
	<pre>[no] ethernet portnum [to portnum] [ethernet portnum]</pre>	Adds ports to the trunk.						



		[no]				
		ports-threshold num	Specifies the minimum number of ports that m be up in order for the trunk to remain up. You of specify 2-8.			
			If the number of up ports falls below the config- ured threshold, the AX automatically disables the trunk's member ports. The ports are disabled in the running-config. The AX device also gener- ates a log message and an SNMP trap, if these services are enabled.			
		[no] ports-				
		threshold-timer seconds	Specifies how many seconds to wait after a port goes down before marking the trunk down, if the threshold is exceeded. You can set the ports-threshold timer to 1-300 seconds. The default is 10 seconds.			
Default		N/A				
Mode		Configuration mode				
Usage		A maximum of 8 trunk groups are supported. Each group can have a maxi- mum of 8 ports. Trunk group port numbers do not need to be consecutive.				
		Configuration of port-level parameters can be performed at the configura- tion level for the trunk.				
		Ports-Threshold				
		By default, a trunk's statu ports is up. You can chang	s remains UP so long as at least one of its member ge the ports threshold of a trunk to 2-8 ports.			
		If the number of up ports matically disables the tru running-config. The AX of trap, if these services are of	falls below the configured threshold, the AX auto- ink's member ports. The ports are disabled in the device also generates a log message and an SNMP enabled.			
	Note:	After the feature has di are not automatically re after the issue that cause	isabled the members of the trunk group, the ports e-enabled. The ports must be re-enabled manually ed the ports to go down has been resolved.			
		In some situations, a time configured port threshold threshold timer for a trunk	er is used to delay the ports-threshold action. The is not enforced until the timer expires. The ports- k is used in the following situations:			



- When a member of the trunk links up.
- A port is added to or removed from the trunk.
- The port threshold for the trunk is configured during runtime. (If the threshold is set in the startup-config, the timer is not used.)

The following commands configure trunk 1 and add ports 6-8 and 14 to it:

AX(config)#trunk 1					
AX(config-trunk:1)#ethernet	6	to	8	ethernet	14

Example

Example

The following commands configure an 8-port trunk, set the port threshold to 6, and display the trunk's configuration:

AX(config)# trunk	1									
AX(config-trunk:1)#ethernet 1 to 8										
AX(config-trunk:1)#ports-threshold 6										
AX(config-trunk:1	.)‡	shov	v tru	ınk						
Trunk ID	:	1		Memb	per (Count	: 8			
Trunk Status	:	Up								
Members	:	1	2	3	4	5	б	7	8	
Cfg Status	:	Enb	Enb	Enb	Enb	Enb	Enb	Enb	Enb	
Oper Status	:	Up	Up	Up	Up	Up	Up	Up	Up	
Ports-Threshold	:	6		Time	er: 2	10 se	ec(s) Rur	nning:	No
Working Lead	:	1								

tx-congestion-ctrl

Description		Configure looping on the polling driver, on applicable AX models.			
	Note:	This command can impact system performance. It is recommended not to use this command unless advised by A10 Networks technical support.			
Syntax		tx-congestion-ctrl retries			
Default		1			
Mode		Configuration mode			





update

Description	Copy the currently running system image from the hard disk to the compact flash (cf).	
Syntax Description	update cf $\{ pri \mid$	sec}
	Parameter	Description
	pri sec	Image to replace:
		pri – primary image
		sec – secondary image
Default	N/A	
Mode	Configuration mode	
Usage	This command does not update, enter the show ve	save the configuration or reboot. To verify the ersion command.
Example	The following command copies the currently running system image from the hard disk to the secondary image area on the compact flash.	
AX(config)#update cf s	ec	

upgrade

Upgrade the system.

Syntax Description	upgrade {cf hd} {pri sec} [use-mgmt-port] url	
I	Parameter	Description
	cf hd	System location to which write the upgrade image:
		cf – compact flash
		hd – hard drive
	pri sec	Image to replace:
		pri – primary image
		sec – secondary image
	use-mgmt-port	Uses the management interface as the source interface for the connection to the remote device. The management route table is used to reach the



Configure a virtual LAN (VLAN). This command changes the CLI to the configuration level for the VLAN.		
[no] vlan vlan-id		
Parameter	Description	
vlan-id	VLAN ID, from 1 to 4094.	
	Configure a virtual LAN (configuration level for the [no] vlan vlan-id Parameter vlan-id	

/	7
AID	Networks

Default	VLAN 1 is configured by default. All Ethernet data ports are members of VLAN 1 by default.
Mode	Configuration mode
Usage	You can add or remove ports in VLAN 1 but you cannot delete VLAN 1 itself.
	For information about the commands available at the VLAN configuration level, see <u>"Config Commands: VLAN" on page 235</u> .
Example	The following command adds VLAN 69 and enters the configuration level for it:
AX(config)# vlan 69 AX(config-vlan:69)#	

web-service

Description	Configure access parameters for the Graphical User Interface (GUI).			
Syntax	[no] web-service { auto-redir			
	axapi-timeout-policy idle minutes			
	port protocol	port protocol-port		
	secure-port p	secure-port protocol-port		
	server			
	secure-server	secure-server		
	timeout-policy idle minutes			
	}			
	Parameter	Description		
	auto-redir	Enables requests for the unsecured port (HTTP) to be automatically redirected to the secure port (HTTPS).		
	axapi-timeout	-		
	policy idle			
	minutes	Specifies the number of minutes an aXAPI ses- sion can remain idle before being terminated. Once the aXAPI session is terminated, the ses- sion ID generated by the AX device for the ses- sion is no longer valid. You can specify 0-60 minutes. If you specify 0, sessions never time out.		



	Note:	The axapi-timeout-policy option is not applicable to IPv6 migration.	
		<pre>port protocol- port</pre>	Specifies the protocol port number for the unse- cured (HTTP) port.
		secure-port protocol-port	Specifies the protocol port number for the secure (HTTPS) port.
		server	Enables the HTTP server.
		secure-server	Enables the HTTPS server.
		timeout-policy idle minutes	Specifies the number of minutes a Web manage- ment session can remain idle before it times out and is terminated by the AX device. You can specify 0-60 minutes. To disable the timeout, enter 0.
Default	r	This command has the following defaults:	
		• auto-redir – enabled	
		• axapi-timeout-policy	idle – 5 minutes
		• port – 80	
		• secure-port – 443	
		• server – enabled	
		• secure-server – enabl	led
		• timeout-policy – 10 r	ninutes
Mode	(Configuration mode	
Usage] (f you disable HTTP or GUI are immediately tern	HTTPS access, any sessions on the management ninated.
Example	r.	The following command	disables management access on HTTP:
AX(config)# no W	veb-servi	ice server	

write

Description Write the running-config to a configuration profile. (See <u>"write" on page 77</u>.)



write terminal

Description

Display the running-config on the terminal. (See <u>"write terminal" on page 78</u>.)



Config Commands: Interface

This chapter describes the commands for configuring AX interface parameters.

To access this configuration level, enter the following command at the Global Config level:

interface {ethernet port-num | ve ve-num | loopback num | management | trunk num}

This CLI level also has the following commands, which are available at all configuration levels:

- clear See <u>"clear" on page 59</u>.
- **do** See <u>"do" on page 117</u>.
- end See <u>"end" on page 123</u>.
- exit See <u>"exit" on page 124</u>.
- **no** See <u>"no" on page 155</u>.
- show See <u>"Show Commands" on page 689</u>.
- write See <u>"write terminal" on page 78</u>.

access-list

Description	Apply an Access C	Apply an Access Control List (ACL) to an interface.	
Syntax	[no] access-list acl-num in		
	Parameter	Description	
	acl-num	Number of a configured ACL.	
	in	Applies the ACL to inbound traffic received on the interface.	
Default	N/A		
Mode	Interface		

/	7
AID	Networks

Usage	The ACL must be configured before you can apply it to an interface. To configure an ACL, see <u>"access-list (standard)" on page 80</u> and <u>"access-list (extended)" on page 82</u> .
	You can apply ACLs to Ethernet data interfaces, Virtual Ethernet (VE) interfaces, the management interface, trunks, and virtual server ports. Applying ACLs to the out-of-band management interface is not supported.
	You can apply ACLs only to the inbound traffic direction. This restriction ensures that ACLs are used most efficiently by filtering traffic as it attempts to enter the AX Series device, before being further processed by the device.
Example	The following commands configure a standard ACL to deny traffic from subnet 10.10.10.x, and apply the ACL to the inbound traffic direction on Ethernet interface 4:
AX(config) #access-list AX(config) #interface et AX(config-if:ethernet4	1 deny 10.10.10.0 0.0.0.255 thernet 4)#access-list 1 in

bfd

Description	Enable or disable BFD o	n an individual interface.
Syntax	[no] bfd {auther	ntication echo interval}
	Parameter	Description
	<pre>authentication key-id {md5 meticulous-md5 meticulous- sha1 sha1 simple}</pre>	The authentication option specifies the authentication type to be used for BFD. You can specify a <i>key-id</i> from 0-255. The authentication options include the following:
		md5 – Keyed MD5
		meticulous-md5 – Meticulous keyed MD5
		meticulous-shal -Meticulous keyedSHA1
		shal – Keyed SHA1
		simple – Simple password
	echo [demand]	Specify echo mode. You can enable the demand mode to work in conjunction with the echo func-



		tion. When demand mode is enabled (and a BFD session has been established), the system will be able to verify connectivity with another system at will instead of routinely.
	interval ms min-rx ms multiplier num	The interval value is the transmit timer, and it specifies the rate at which the AX device sends BFD control packets to its BFD neighbors. You can specify 48-1000 milliseconds (ms). The default is 800 ms. This timer is used in Asynchronous mode only.
		The min-rx option is the detection timer, and this allows you to specify the maximum number of <i>ms</i> the AX device will wait for a BFD control packet from a BFD neighbor. The min-rx value can be 48-1000 ms, and is 800 ms by default. This timer is used in Asynchronous mode only.
		The multiplier value is the wait multiplier, and this enables you to specify the maximum number of consecutive times the AX device will wait for a BFD control packet from a neighbor. If the multiplier value is reached, the AX device con- cludes that the routing process on the neighbor is down. The multiplier value can be 3-50 and is 4 by default.
Mode	Interface	
bcast-rate-limit	: (managemen	t interface only)

Description Limit the amount of broadcast traffic the AX device accepts on the management port. If the rate of broadcast traffic to the AX device' management

port exceeds the default or configured rate, the AX device drops the over-

Syntax[no] bcast-rate-limit rate pkts-per-sec





AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference

	Parameter	Description
	rate	Limits the amount of broadcast traffic accepted on the management interface.
	pkts-per-sec	Specifies the rate, which can be 50-5000. If you do not specify a rate, the rate is set to 500 broad-cast packets per second.
Default	500	
Introduced in Release	2.6.6-P6	
Mode	Interface	
Usage	A built-in rate limit for the management port is always enforced to prevent the port from becoming unresponsive due to excessive traffic. This com- mand allows you to change the broadcast-rate limit for the management port to configure additional, more restrictive rate limiting.	
Example	The following commands broadcast-rate limit of 654	access the management port and configure a 4 broadcast packets per second:
AX-Active(config) #interface management AX-Active(config-if:management) #bcast-rate-limit rate 655		

The broadcast rate limit is rounded down to 654

cpu-process

Description		Enable software-based switching or routing of Layer 2/Layer 3 traffic.
	Note:	This command is applicable only to models that have the flexible traffic ASIC.
Syntax		[no] cpu-process
Default		Disabled. Traffic is switched or routed in hardware.
Mode		Interface



disable

Disable an interface.
disable
The management interface is enabled by default. Data interfaces are dis- abled by default.
Interface
This command applies to all interface types: Ethernet data interfaces, out- of-band Ethernet management interface, Virtual Ethernet (VE) interfaces, and loopback interfaces.
The command also applies to trunks. When you disable a trunk at the inter- face configuration level for the trunk, Layer 3 forwarding is disabled on the trunk.
The following command disables Ethernet interface 3:
#disable
The following commands access the interface configuration level for trunk 7 and disable Layer 3 forwarding on the trunk:
trunk 7

AX(config-if:trunk7)#disable





Description	Set the duplex mode for a	n Ethernet interface.
Syntax	[no] duplexity {	Full $ $ Half $ $ auto $\}$
	Parameter	Description
	Full	Full-duplex mode.
	Half	Half-duplex mode.
	auto	The mode is negotiated based on the mode of the other end of the link.
Default	auto	
Mode	Interface	
Usage	This command applies only to physical interfaces (Ethernet ports or the management port).	
Example	The following command of duplex:	changes the mode on Ethernet interface 6 to half-
AX(config-if:ethernet6)#duplexity Half	

enable

Description	Enable an interface.
Syntax	enable
Default	The management interface is enabled by default. Data interfaces are disabled by default.
Mode	Interface
Usage	This command applies to all interface types: Ethernet data interfaces, out- of-band Ethernet management interface, Virtual Ethernet (VE) interfaces, trunks, and loopback interfaces.
Example	The following command enables Ethernet interface 3:
AX(config-if:ethernet3)#enable



flow-control

Description	Enable 802.3x flow control on a full-duplex Ethernet interface.
Syntax	[no] flow-control
Default	Disabled. The AX Ethernet interface auto-negotiates flow control settings with the other end of the link.
Mode	Interface

This command can cause the interface to briefly go down, then come back up again.

icmp-rate-limit

Usage

Description	Configure ICMP rate lim attacks.	iting, to protect against denial-of-service (DoS)
Syntax	[no] icmp-rate-l lockup-time	.imit normal-rate lockup max-rate
	Parameter	Description
	normal-rate	Maximum number of ICMP packets allowed per second on the interface. If the AX interface receives more than the normal rate of ICMP packets, the excess packets are dropped until the next one-second interval begins. The normal rate can be 1-65535 packets per second.
	lockup <i>max-rate</i>	Maximum number of ICMP packets allowed per second before the AX device locks up ICMP traf- fic on the interface. When ICMP traffic is locked up, all ICMP packets on the interface are dropped until the lockup expires. The maximum rate can be 1-65535 packets per second. The maximum rate must be larger than the normal rate.
	lockup-time	Number of seconds for which the AX device drops all ICMP traffic on the interface, after the



maximum rate is exceeded. The lockup time can be 1-16383 seconds.

Default	None
Mode	Global Config
Usage	This command configures ICMP rate limiting on a physical, virtual Ether- net, trunk, or loopback interface. To configure ICMP rate limiting globally, see <u>"icmp-rate-limit" on page 131</u> . To configure it in a virtual server tem- plate, see <u>"slb template virtual-server" on page 640</u> . If you configure ICMP rate limiting filters at more than one of these levels, all filters are applicable. Specifying a maximum rate (lockup rate) and lockup time is optional. If you do not specify them, lockup does not occur.
	Log messages are generated only if the lockup option is used and lockup occurs. Otherwise, the ICMP rate-limiting counters are still incremented but log messages are not generated.
Example	The following command configures ICMP rate limiting on Ethernet inter- face 3:
AX(config-if:ethernet3)#icmp-rate-limit 1024 lockup 1200 10

interface

Description	Access the interface configuration level for another interface.
Syntax	<pre>interface {ethernet port-num ve number loopback number trunk num management}</pre>
Default	N/A
Mode	Interface
Usage	This command allows you to go directly to the configuration level for another interface, without the need to return to the global Config level first.
Example	The following command changes the CLI from the configuration level for Ethernet interface 3 to the configuration level for Ethernet interface 4:
AX(config-if:ethernet	3)#interface ethernet 4



Description	Assign an IP address to an interface.
Syntax	[no] ip address <i>ipaddr</i> { <i>subnet-mask</i> <i>/mask-length</i> }
Default	There are no IP addresses configured by default.
Mode	Interface
Usage	This command applies only when the AX Series is used in gateway mode.
	You can configure multiple IP addresses on Ethernet and Virtual Ethernet (VE) data interfaces, trunks, and on loopback interfaces, on AX devices deployed in gateway (route) mode.
	Each IP address must be unique on the AX device. Addresses within a given subnet can be configured on only one interface on the device. (The AX device can have only one data interface in a given subnet.)
	IP addresses are added to an interface in the order you configure them. The addresses appear in show command output and in the configuration in the same order.
	The first IP address you add to an interface becomes the primary IP address for the interface. If you remove the primary address, the next address in the list (the second address to be added to the interface) becomes the primary address.
	It does not matter which address is the primary address. OSPF can run on all subnets configured on a data interface.
	The AX device automatically generates a directly connected route to each IP address. If you enable redistribution of directly connected routes, those protocols can advertise the routes to the IP addresses.
Example	The following command assigns IP address 10.2.4.69 to Ethernet interface 9:
AX(config-if:ethernet9	#ip address 10.2.4.69 /24
Example	The following commands configure multiple IP addresses on an Ethernet data interface, display the addresses, then delete the primary IP address and display the results.



AX(config)#interface ethernet 1 AX(config-if:ethernet1)#ip address 10.10.10.1 /24 AX(config-if:ethernet1)#ip address 10.10.20.2 /24 AX(config-if:ethernet1)#ip address 20.20.20.1 /24 AX(config-if:ethernet1)#show ip interfaces ethernet 1 Ethernet 1 ip addresses: 10.10.10.1 /24 (Primary) 10.10.20.2 /24 20.20.20.1 /24 AX(config-if:ethernet1)#no ip address 10.10.20.2 /24 AX(config-if:ethernet1)#show ip interfaces ethernet 1 Ethernet 1 ip addresses: 10.10.10.1 /24 (Primary) 20.20.20.1 /24

ip control-apps-use-mgmt-port (management interface only)

Description	Enable use of the management interface as the source interface for auto- mated management traffic.
Syntax	[no] ip control-apps-use-mgmt-port
Default	By default, use of the management interface as the source interface for auto- mated management traffic is disabled.
Mode	Interface
Usage	The AX device uses separate route tables for management traffic and data traffic.
	• Management route table – Contains all static routes whose next hops are connected to the management interface. The management route table also contains the route to the device configured as the management default gateway.
	• Main route table – Contains all routes whose next hop is connected to a data interface. Also contains copies of all static routes in the management route table, excluding the management default gateway route. Only the data routes are used for load-balanced traffic.
	By default, the AX device attempts to use a route from the main route table for management connections originated on the AX device. The ip control- apps-use-mgmt-port command enables the AX device to use the manage- ment route table for these connections instead.



The AX device will use the management route table for reply traffic on connections initiated by a remote host that reaches the AX device on the management port. For example, this occurs for SSH or HTTP connections from remote hosts to the AX device.

Example	The following command enables use of the management interface as the
	source interface for automated management traffic:

AX(config-if:management)#ip control-apps-use-mgmt-port

ip default-gateway (management interface only)

Description		Specify the default gateway for the out-of-band management interface.	
Syntax		[no] ip default-gateway ipaddr	
Default		None	
Mode		Interface	
		Configuring a default gateway for the management interface provides the following benefits:	
		• Ensures that reply management traffic sent by the AX Series travels through the correct gateway	
		• Keeps reply management traffic off the data interfaces	
		The default gateway configured on the management interface applies only to traffic sent from this interface. For traffic sent through data interfaces, either the globally configured default gateway is used instead (if the AX is deployed in transparent mode) or an IP route is used (if the AX is deployed in route mode).	
		To configure the default gateway for data interfaces on an AX Series device deployed in transparent mode, use the ip default-gateway command at the global Config level. (See <u>"ip address" on page 211</u> .)	
	Note:	Normally, if the AX device is deployed in transparent mode, outbound traffic through the management interface is limited to the same subnet. However, outbound traffic through data interfaces is not restricted to the same subnet. To perform operations that require exchanging files with a host (upgrade, import, export, and so on) that is in a different subnet from the management interface:	
		• For automated management traffic such as syslog messages and SNMP traps, see <u>"ip control-apps-use-mgmt-port (management interface only)</u> " on page 212.	



• For management traffic that you initiate using a command, use the **use-mgmt-port** option with the command.

```
Example The following commands configure an IP address and default gateway for the management interface:
```

```
AX(config)#interface management
```

```
AX(config-if:management)#ip address 10.10.20.1 /24
AX(config-if:management)#ip default-gateway 10.10.20.1
```

ip helper-address

Description	Configure a helpe (DHCP).	r address for Dynar	nic Host Configu	ration Protocol
Syntax	[no] ip helper-address ipaddr			
	Parameter	Descripti	ion	
	ipaddr	IP address	of the DHCP ser	ver.
Default	None			
Mode	Interface			
Usage	In the current release, the helper-address feature provides service for DHCP packets only.			
	The AX interface on which the helper address is configured must have an IP address.			
	The helper address face or an IP addr	ess can not be the sames used for SLB.	me as the IP add	ress on any AX inter-
	The current release	e supports DHCP r	elay service for I	Pv4 only.
Example	The following con address for DHCF face 1 and on Virt for DHCP server	nmands configure t 9 server 100.100.100 ual Ethernet (VE) i 20.20.20.102 is con	wo helper addres 0.1 is configured nterfaces 5 and 7 figured on VE 9.	ses. The helper on AX Ethernet inter- . The helper address
AX(config)#interface e	thernet 1			
AX(config-if:ethernet1)#ip helper-ad	dress 100.100.	100.1	
AX(config-if:ethernet1)#interface ve	5		
AX(config-if:ve5)#ip h	elper-address	100.100.100.1		
AX(config-if:ve5)#inte	rface ve 7			
AX(config-if:ve7)# ip h	elper-address	100.100.100.1		



AX(config-if:ve7)#interface ve 9
AX(config-if:ve9)#ip helper-address 20.20.20.102

ip nat

Description	Enable source Network A	ddress Translation (NAT) on an interface.
Syntax	[no] ip nat {ins	ide outside}
	Parameter	Description
	inside	Specifies that this AX interface is connected to the internal hosts on the private network that need to be translated into external addresses for routing.
	outside	Specifies that this AX interface is connected to the external network or Internet. Before sending traffic from an inside host out on this interface, the AX device translates the host's private address into a public, routable address.
Default	None	
Mode	Interface	
Usage	On an AX device deployed in transparent mode, this command is valid on on Ethernet data ports. On an AX device deployed in route mode, this co mand is valid on Ethernet data ports, Virtual Ethernet (VE) interfaces, a trunks.	
	To use source NAT, you the ip nat commands in <u>"</u>	also must configure global NAT parameters. See <u>Config Commands: IP'' on page 239</u> .
	In addition, on some AX must enable CPU procepage 206.) This applies to and AX 5200.	models, if Layer 2 IP NAT is required, you also essing on the interface. (See <u>"cpu-process" on</u> o models AX 2200, AX 3100, AX 3200, AX 5100,
Example	The following commands the $10.1.1.x/24$ subnet cor- lated into addresses in the internal hosts is sent onto fic is translated back from	configure IP source NAT for internal addresses in nected to interface 14. The addresses are trans- range 10.153.60.120-150 before traffic from the the Internet on interface 15. Likewise, return traf- public addresses into the private host addresses.
AX(config) #access-list AX(config) #ip nat pool AX(config) #ip nat insi	3 permit 10.1.1.0 0 1 10.153.60.120 10. de source list 3 poc	0.0.0.255 153.60.150 netmask /24 ol 1



AX(config)#interface ethernet 14 AX(config-if:ethernet14)#ip address 10.1.1.1 255.255.255.0 AX(config-if:ethernet14)#ip nat inside AX(config-if:ethernet14)#interface ethernet 15 AX(config-if:ethernet15)#ip address 10.153.60.100 255.255.255.0 AX(config-if:ethernet15)#ip nat outside

ip ospf

Description	Configure IPv4 Open Shortest Path First (OSPF) parameters on a data inter-
	face. See <u>"ip ospf" on page 338</u> .

ip rip

Description	Configure interface-level parameters for IPv4 Routing Information Protocol
	(RIP). See <u>"Interface-Level IPv4 RIP Commands" on page 293</u> .

{ip | ipv6} router isis

Description	Enable Intermediate System to Intermediate System (IS-IS) routing on a data interface.
Syntax	<pre>[no] {ip ipv6} router isis [tag]</pre>
Default	Not set
Mode	Interface


{ip | ipv6} stateful-firewall

Description	Enable stateful-firewall support on a data interface.		
Syntax	<pre>[no] {ip ipv6} stateful-firewall {inside outside [access-list num]}</pre>		
	Parameter	Description	
	ip ipv6	IP version.	
	inside outside	Traffic direction.	
	access-list id	ACL ID.	
Default	Not set		
Introduced in Release	2.6.6-P4		
Mode	Interface		

ipv6 (on management interface)

Description	Configure an IP version 6 address and default gateway on the management interface.
Syntax	[no] ipv6 address ipaddr/mask-length
Syntax	[no] ipv6 default-gateway gateway-ipaddr
Default	None.
Mode	Interface
Usage	The ipv6 default-gateway command applies only to the management inter- face. To configure IPv6 on a data interface, see <u>"ipv6 address" on page 218</u> .
Example	The following commands configure an IPv6 address and default gateway on the management port:
AX(config-if:management AX(config-if:management	t)#ipv6 address 2001:db8:11:2/32 t)#ipv6 default-gateway 2001:db8:11:1/32



218 of 804

ipv6 access-list

Description	Apply an IPv6 Access Control List (ACL) to an interface.		
Syntax	[no] ipv6 access-list name in		
	Parameter	Description	
	name	Name of a configured IPv6 ACL.	
	in	Applies the ACL to inbound IPv6 traffic received on the interface.	
Default	N/A		
Mode	Interface		
ipv6 address			
Description	Configure an IPv6 address on the interface.		
Syntax	<pre>[no] ipv6 address ipaddr/prefix-length [link-local] [any-cast]</pre>		
	Parameter	Description	
	ipv6-addr	Valid unicast IPv6 address.	
	prefix-length	Prefix length, up to 128.	
	link-local	Configures the address as the link-local IPv6 address for the interface, instead of a global address. Without this option, the address is a global address.	
	any-cast	Configures the address as an anycast address. An anycast address can be assigned to more than one interface. A packet sent to an anycast address is routed to the "nearest" interface with that address, based on the distance in the routing pro- tocol.	
Default	None.		
Mode	Interface		
Usage	Use this command to configure the link-local and global IP addresses for the interface.		



	• The ipv6 address command, used without the link-local option, config- ures a global address. If you use the link-local option, the address is instead configured as the link-local address.	
	• To enable automatic configuration of the link-local IPv6 address instead, use the ipv6 enable command.	
	To configure IPv6 on the management interface, see <u>"ipv6 (on management interface)</u> " on page 217.	
Example	The following command configures a global IPv6 address on Ethernet interface 8:	
AX(config-if:ethernet8)#ipv6 address e101::1112/64		
Example	The following command overrides any auto-generated link-local address on interface 6 and explicitly configures a new link-local address:	
AX(config-if:ethernet6))#ipv6 address fe80::1/64 link-local	

ipv6 enable

Description	Enable automatic configuration of a link-local IPv6 address on the interface.	
Syntax	[no] ipv6 enable	
Default	Disabled	
Mode	Interface	
Usage	Use this command to enable automatic configuration of the link-local IPv6 address.	
	To manually configure the address instead, see <u>"ipv6 address" on page 218</u> .	
Example	The following command enables an automatically generated link-local IPv6 address on Ethernet interface 6:	
AX(config-if:ethernet6)# ipv6 enable		

ipv6 nat inside

Description	Enable inside NAT on the interface.
Syntax	[no] ipv6 nat inside
Default	Disabled



Mode

Configuration mode

ipv6 nat outside

Description	Enable outside NAT on the interface	
Syntax	[no] ipv6 nat outside	
Default	Disabled	
Mode	Configuration mode	

ipv6 ndisc router-advertisement

Description	Configure IPv6 rout	er discovery (RFC 4861).	
Syntax	[no] ipv6 nd {	isc router-advertisement	
	default-life	time seconds	
	disable		
	enable		
	ha-group-id	group-id	
	[use-float	ing-ip <i>ip</i> v6-addr/prefix-length]	
	hop-limit nut	m	
	managed-conf	iguration-flag {disable enable}	
	max-interval	seconds	
	min-interval	seconds	
	mtu $\{ disable \}$	bytes}	
	other-config	uration-flag $\{ disable \mid enable \} \mid$	
	prefix <i>ipv6-</i>	prefix <i>ipv6-addr/prefix-length</i>	
	[not-auton	omous not-on-link	
	preferred	-lifetime seconds	
	valid-lif	etime seconds]	
	rate-limit n	um	
	reachable-ti	me ms	
	retransmit-t	imer seconds	
	}		
	Parameter	Description	
	default-		
	lifetime		
	seconds	Specifies the number of seconds for which router advertisements sent on this interface are valid. You can specify 0 or 4-9000 seconds. The value	
		· ·	



	can not be less than the maximum advertisement interval. If you specify 0, the host will not use this interface (IPv6 router) as a default route.	
disable	Disables IPv6 router discovery.	
enable	Enables IPv6 router discovery.	
<pre>ha-group-id group-id [use-floating- ip ipv6-addr/ prefix_length]</pre>	Specifies an HA group for which to send router	
prerix iengen	advertisements.	
	The use-floating-ip option specifies a floating IPv6 address to use as the source address for router advertisements for the HA group. The address must be a link-local address on this interface. The HA virtual MAC address will be used as the source address.	
hop-limit num	Specifies the default hop count value that should be used by hosts. For a given packet, the hop count is decremented at each router hop. If the hop count reaches 0, the packet becomes invalid. You can specify 0-255. If you specify 0, the value is unspecified by this IPv6 router.	
managed- configuration- flag {disable		
enable}	Enables or disables the M (managed) flag in IPv6 router advertisements. The M flag instructs cli- ents to use DHCPv6 or some other stateful method to acquire an IPv6 address.	
max-interval		
seconds	Specifies the maximum number of seconds between transmission of unsolicited router adver- tisement messages on this interface. You can specify 4-1800 seconds.	
min-interval		
seconds	Specifies the minimum number of seconds between transmission of unsolicited router adver- tisement messages on this interface. You can specify 3-1350 seconds.	



	mtu {disable bytes}	Specifies the MTU value to include in the MTU options field. You can specify 1200-1500 bytes (on 1-Gbps interfaces) or disabled .
Note:	If the option is disable	d, no MTU value is included.
	other- configuration- flag {disable enable}	Enables or disables the O (other) flag in IPv6 router advertisements. The O flag instructs cli- ents to use DHCPv6 or some other stateful method to acquire other information, such as DNS server IPv6 addresses.
Note:	Here, "other" information means information other than the clients' IPv address. To instruct clients to use DHCPv6 or some other stateful metho to acquire an IPv6 address, enable the M (managed) flag. (See the description above for the managed-configuration-flag option.)	
	prefix ipv6-addr/ prefix-length [options]	Specifies the IPv6 prefixes to advertise on this interface. A maximum of 32 prefixes can be advertised on an interface.
		The following options are supported:
		not-autonomous – Disables support for auto- configuration of IPv6 addresses by clients.
		not-on-link – Disables the On-Link flag. When enabled, the On-Link flag indicates that the pre- fix is assigned to this interface. If you enable this option, the valid-lifetime is 2592000 seconds (30 days).
		preferred-lifetime <i>seconds</i> – Specifies the number of seconds for which auto-generated addresses remain preferred. You can specify 0-4294967295 seconds. The default is 604800.
		valid-lifetime <i>seconds</i> – specifies the number of seconds for which advertisement of the prefix is valid. You can specify 1-4294967295 seconds. The default is 2592000.



	rate-limit num	Specifies the maximum number of router solici- tation requests per second that will be processed on the interface. You can specify 1-100000 mes- sages per second.
	reachable-time ms	Specifies the number of milliseconds (ms) for which the host should assume a neighbor is reachable, after receiving a reachability confir- mation from the neighbor. You can specify 0-3600000 ms. If you specify 0, the value is unspecified by this IPv6 router.
	retransmit-	
	timer seconds	Specifies the number of seconds a host should wait between sending neighbor solicitation messages. You can specify 0-4294967295 seconds. If you specify 0, the value is unspecified by this IPv6 router.
Default 1	Pv6 router discovery is d following default values:	lisabled by default. The command options have the
	• default-lifetime – 18	00 seconds
	• disable – Disabled	
	• enable – Disabled	
	• ha-group-id – Not set	t. Advertisements are sent regardless of HA group.
	• hop-limit – 255	
	• managed-configurat	ion-flag – Disabled
	• max-interval – 600 s	econds
	• min-interval – 200 se	econds
	• mtu – disabled	
	• other-configuration-	flag – Disabled
	• prefix – All prefixes for IPv6 addresses that are configured on this inter- face are advertised. The prefix options have the following defaults:	
	• not-autonomous by clients is enable	– disabled (Auto-configuration of IPv6 addresses led.)
	• not-on-link – enabled (On-Link is disabled.)	
	• preferred-lifetim	e – 604800 seconds
	• valid-lifetime – 2	2592000 seconds
	• rate-limit – 100000 n	nessages per second



	• reachable-time – 0 (The value is unspecified by this IPv6 router.)		
	• retransmit-timer -0 (The value is unspecified by this IPv6 router.)		
Mode	Interface		
Usage	When router discovery is enabled, the AX device:		
	• Sends IPv6 router advertisements out the IPv6 interfaces on which router discovery is enabled. IPv6 hosts that receive the router advertisements will use the AX device as their default gateway.		
	• Replies to IPv6 router solicitations received by IPv6 interfaces on which router discovery is enabled.		
	IPv6 router discovery is not supported in transparent mode. The AX device must be deployed in gateway mode.		
	When IPv6 router discovery is enabled on an interface, any new IPv6 addresses that you add to the interface are automatically added to the set of prefixes to advertise.		
	Router advertisements are sent to the all-nodes multicast address at an inter- val that is uniformly distributed between the minimum and maximum advertisement intervals. If a host sends a router solicitation message, the AX device sends a router advertisement as a unicast to that host instead.		
	The source address of router advertisements is always a link-local IPv6 address.		
	For the reachable-time , hop-limit , and retransmit-timer options, the AX device recommends the configured value to hosts but does not itself use the value.		
Example	The following commands configure an IPv6 address on Ethernet interface 1, enable IPv6 router discovery, change the minimum and maximum adver- tisement intervals, and add two prefixes to the prefix advertisement list.		
AX(config)#interface e	thernet 1		
AX(config-if:ethernet1)#ipv6 address 2001::1/64		
AX(config-if:ethernet1)#ipv6 ndisc router-advertisement enable		
AX(config-if:ethernet1)#ipv6 ndisc router-advertisement max-interval 300		
AX(config-if:ethernet1)#ipv6 ndisc router-advertisement min-interval 150		
AX(config-if:ethernet1 on-link)#ipv6 ndisc router-advertisement prefix 2001::/64		
AX(config-if:ethernet1 on-link)#ipv6 ndisc router-advertisement prefix 2001:a::/96		



Description Configure Open Shortest Path First (OSPF) parameters on an IPv6 data interface. See <u>"Interface-level Configuration Commands" on page 338</u>.

ipv6 rip split-horizon

DescriptionConfigure the split-horizon method IPv6 Routing Information Protocol
(RIP). See <u>"ipv6 rip split-horizon" on page 307</u>.

ipv6 router isis

Description	Configure options for Intermediate System to Intermediate System (IS-IS) on an IPv6 data interface.		
Syntax	[no] ipv6 router isis [options]		
Default	None		
Mode	Interface		

ipv6 router ospf

Description	Configure an OSPFv3 area on an IPv6 data interface.			
Syntax	<pre>[no] ipv6 router ospf { area {num ipaddr} [tag tag [instance-id num]] tag tag area {num ipaddr} [instance-id num] }</pre>			
Default	None			
Mode	Interface			

ipv6 router rip

Description	Enable Routing Information Protocol (RIP) on an IPv6 data interface.
Syntax	[no] ipv6 router rip

Aleworks		AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference
Default	None	
Mode	Interface	
isis		

DescriptionConfigure interface-level parameters for Intermediate System to Intermediate System (IS-IS). See <u>"Interface-level IS-IS Configuration Commands"</u>
on page 380.

l3-vlan-fwd-disable

Description	Disable Layer 3 forwarding between VLANs on tis interface.		
Syntax	[no] 13-vlan-fwd-disable		
Default	By default, the AX device can forward Layer 3 traffic between VLANs.		
Mode	Interface		
Usage	This command is applicable only on AX devices deployed in gateway (route) mode. If the option to disable Layer 3 forwarding between VLANs is configured at any level, the AX device can not be changed from gateway mode to transparent mode, until the option is removed. The command is applicable to <i>inbound</i> traffic on the interface.		
	The command is valid on physical Ethernet interfaces, Virtual Ethernet (VE) interfaces, trunks, and on the lead interface in trunks.		
	However, if the command is configured on a physical Ethernet interface, that interface can not be added to a trunk or VE.If the command is used on a trunk or VE and that trunk or VE is removed from the configuration, the command is also removed from all physical Ethernet interfaces that were members of the trunk or VE. Likewise, if a VLAN is removed, the command is removed from any physical Ethernet interfaces that were members of the VLAN.To display statistics for this option, see <u>"show slb switch" on page 772.</u>		



lacp port-priority

Description	Set the Link Aggregation Control Protocol (LACP) priority of the interface.		
Syntax	[no] lacp port-priority num		
	Parameter	Description	
	num	Specifies the priority, 1-65535. A low priority number indicates a high priority value. The highest priority is 1 and the lowest priority is 65535.	
Default	32768		
Mode	Interface		
Usage	If the LACP trunk has more candidate members than are allowed by the device at the other end of the link, LACP selects the interfaces with the highest port priority values as the active interfaces. The other interfaces are standbys, and are used only if an active interface goes down.		
lacp timeout			
Description	Set the aging timeout for LACP data units from the other end of the LACP link.		
Syntax	[no] lacp timeout {short long}		
	Parameter	Description	
	short long	Specifies the timeout:	
		short – 3 seconds	
		long – 90 seconds	

Default

Mode

long

Interface





lacp trunk			
Description	Add the interface to an LACP trunk.		
Syntax	<pre>[no] lacp trunk lacp-trunk-id [admin-key num] mode {active passive} [unidirectional-detection]</pre>		
	Parameter	Description	
	lacp-trunk-id	Specifies the trunk ID, 1-16.	
	admin-key num	Specifies the key value for the trunk, 10000- 65535. The admin key must match on all inter- faces in the trunk.	
	mode		
	{active passive}	Specifies whether LACP will run in active or passive mode on the interface.	
		active – Initiates link formation with the other end of the link.	
		passive – Waits for the other end of the link to initiate link formation.	
	unidirectional- detection	Enables Unidirectional Link Detection (UDLD). UDLD checks the links in LACP trunks to ensure that both the send and receive sides of each link are operational.	
Default	No LACP trunks are configured by default. When you add an interf LACP trunk, it has the following defaults:		
	• <i>lacp-trunk-id</i> – not set		
	• admin-key – 1000 plus the trunk ID. For example, for trunk 3, the default admin-key is "1003".		
	• mode – active		
	• unidirectional-detection – disabled		
Mode	Interface		
Usage	The AX Series UDLD uses LACP protocol packets as heartbeat messages. If an LACP link on the AX device does not receive an LACP protocol packet within a specified timeout, LACP blocks traffic on the port. This cor-		



rects the problem by forcing the devices connected by the non-operational link to use other, fully operational links.

A link that is blocked by LACP can still receive LACP protocol packets but blocks all other traffic.

lacp udld-timeout

Description	Set the timeout interval for receiving LACP protocol packets from other ports.	
Syntax	[no] lacp udld-timeout {fast slow} num	
	Parameter	Description
	fast slow	Specifies the time unit:
		fast – Allows the timeout to be set in increments of milliseconds (ms). In this case, the <i>num</i> value can be 100-1000.
		slow – Allows the timeout to be set in increments of seconds. In this case, the <i>num</i> value can be 1-60.
	num	Specifies the timeout. For supported values, see above.
Default	slow 1	
Mode	Interface	
Usage	The local port waits for the UDLD timeout to receive an LACP protocol packet from the remote port. If an LACP protocol packet does not arrive before the timeout expires, LACP disables the local port.	
load-interval		
Description	Change the interval for utilization statistics for the interface.	
Syntax	[no] load-inter	rval seconds
	Parameter	Description
	seconds	You can specify 5-300 seconds.
		You must specify the amount in 5-second intervals. For example, 290 and 295 are valid interval



values. However, 291, 292, 293, and 294 are not valid interval values.

Default	300 seconds		
Mode	Interface		
Usage	This command applies only to data interfaces.		
	To display interface utilization statistics, see and <u>"show interfaces" on page 725</u> and <u>"show statistics" on page 780</u> .		
Example	The following command changes the utilization statistics interval for Ether- net interface 1 to 200 seconds:		
AX(config-if:ethernet1)#load-interval 200			

lw-406

Description	Enable Lightweight	Enable Lightweight 40ver6 support on the interface.		
Syntax	[no] lw-406 {inside outside}			
	Parameter	Description		
	inside outside	Traffic direction.		
Default	Not set			
Mode	Interface			
monitor				
Description	Configure an Ethern net interface.	Configure an Ethernet interface to send a copy of its traffic to another Ethernet interface.		
Syntax	[no] monitor	[no] monitor [both input output]		
	Parameter	Description		
	both input output	Traffic direction to mirror. If you do not specify a direction, traffic in both directions is copied.		

AleNetworks	AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference		
Default	By default, no traffic is mirrored. When you enable a port to be monitored, both traffic directions are mirrored by default.		
Mode	Interface		
Usage	This command is valid only on Ethernet data interfaces. To specify the port to which to mirror the traffic, use the mirror-port command at the global Config level. (See <u>"mirror-port" on page 149</u> .)		
Note:	Only one mirror port is supported. All mirrored traffic for the directions you specify goes to that port.		
Example	The following commands enable monitoring of input traffic on Ethernet port 5, and enable the monitored traffic to be copied ("mirrored") to Ethernet port 3:		
AX(config)#mirror-port AX(config)#interface et AX(config-if:ethernet5	ethernet 3 thernet 5)#monitor input		

mtu

Description	Change the Maximum Transmission Unit (MTU) for an Ethernet interface.		
Syntax	[no] mtu bytes		
	Parameter	Description	
	bytes	Largest packet size that can be forwarded out the interface. You can specify 1200-1500 bytes.	
Default	1500 bytes		
Mode	Interface		
Usage	This command applies to the management interface and Ethernet data interfaces.If the AX device needs to forward a packet that is larger than the MTU of the AX egress interface to the next hop, but the Do Not Fragment bit is set in the packet, the AX device drops the packet and sends an ICMP Destination Unreachable code 4 (Fragmentation required, and DF set) message to the sender.If the Do Not Fragment bit is not set, the AX device silently drops the packet.		



To display a counter of how many outbound packets have been dropped because they were longer than the outbound interface's MTU, use the following command:

```
show slb switch
[detail | ethernet port-num [detail]]
```

The counter is labeled "MTU exceeded Drops". The counter includes packets that had the Do Not Fragment bit set and packets that did not have the bit set.

name

Description		Assign a name to	Assign a name to the interface.			
Syntax		[no] name s	[no] name string			
		Parameter	Descr	iption		
		string	Name f	for the interface, 1-63 characters.		
Defau	ult	None				
Mode		Interface	Interface			
Usage		This command an trunks. This comm	This command applies to physical and virtual Ethernet data interfaces, and trunks. This command does not apply to the management interface.			
Example		The following co face and show the	The following commands assign the name "WLAN-interface" to an inter- face and show the result:			
AX(co AX(co AX(co	onfig)# interface onfig-if:vel)# na onfig-if:vel)# sh	ve 1 me WLAN-interfac ow ip interfaces	ce S			
Port	IP	Netmask	PrimaryIP	Name		
mgm vel ve2	192.168.20.136 192.168.217.1 50.50.50.1	255.255.255.0 255.255.255.0 255.255.255.0	Yes Yes Yes	WLAN-interface		

ospf

Description

Configure OSPF on the interface. (See <u>"Interface-level Configuration Com-mands" on page 338</u>.)



speed

Description	Set the maximum speed on an Ethernet interface.	
Syntax	[no] speed {10 \mid	100 1000 10000 auto $\}$
	Parameter	Description
	10	10 Megabits per second (Mbs/sec)
	100	100 Megabits per second (Mbs/sec)
	1000	1 Gigabit per second (Gb/sec)
	10000	10 Gigabits per second (Gbs/sec)
	auto	The interface speed is negotiated based on the speed of the other end of the link.
Default	auto	
Mode	Interface	
Usage	This command applies to the management interface and Ethernet data inter- faces.	
Example	The following command changes the speed of Ethernet interface 6 to 10 Mbs/sec:	
AX(config-if:ethernet6)# speed 10		





Config Commands: VLAN

The commands in this chapter configure parameters on individual VLANs.

To access this CLI level, enter the **vlan** *vlan-id* command from the global Config level.

This CLI level also has the following commands, which are available at all configuration levels:

- clear See <u>"clear" on page 59</u>.
- **debug** See <u>"debug" on page 64</u>.
- **do** See <u>"do" on page 117</u>.
- end See <u>"end" on page 123</u>.
- exit See <u>"exit" on page 124</u>.
- **no** See <u>"no" on page 155</u>.
- show See <u>"Show Commands" on page 689</u>.
- write See <u>"write terminal" on page 78</u>.



name

Description	Assign a name to the VLAN.			
Syntax	[no] name string			
	Parameter		Description	
	string		Name for the VLAN, 1-63 characters.	
Default	The default name for VLAN 1 is "DEFAULT VLAN". For other VLANs, if a name is not configured, "None" appears in place of the name.			
Mode	VLAN			
Example	The following commands assign the name "Test100" to VLAN 100 and show the result:			
AX(config) #vlan 100 AX(config-vlan:100) #na AX(config-vlan:100) #sh Total VLANs: 3 VLAN 1, Name [DEFAULT ' Untagged Ports: 3 Tagged Ports: Nor	me Test100 ow vlan VLAN]: 4 5 ne	6 7	9 10	
VLAN 100, Name [Test100]: Untagged Ports: 1 Tagged Ports: None Router Interface: ve 1				
JLAN 200, Name [None]: Untagged Ports: 2 Tagged Ports: None Router Interface: ve 2				

router-interface

Description	Add a virtual Ether in order to configure	Add a virtual Ethernet (VE) router interface to the VLAN. A VE is required in order to configure an IP address on a VLAN.	
Syntax	[no] router-	[no] router-interface ve ve-num	
	Parameter	Description	
	ve-num	VE number, 1-4094. The VE number must be the same as the VLAN number.	

AleNetworks	AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference		
Default	By default, a VLAN does not have a VE.		
Mode	VLAN		
Usage	This command is valid only on AX devices deployed in route mode.		
	The VE interface on a VLAN must have the same number as the VLAN. For example, in VLAN 69, the VE number also must be 69.		
	MAC Address Assignment		
	The MAC addresses used by the AX device's physical Ethernet data ports also are used for VEs. (See <u>"system ve-mac-scheme" on page 189</u> .)		
Example	The following command configures VE 4 on VLAN 4:		
AX(config-vlan:4)# rout	er-interface ve 4		

tagged

Description	Add tagged ports to a VLAN. A tagged port can be a member of more than one VLAN. An untagged port can be a member of only a single VLAN.
Syntax	<pre>[no] tagged { ethernet port-num [ethernet port-num to port-num] tagged trunk num [trunk num to num] }</pre>
Default	A VLAN has no ports by default.
Mode	VLAN
Usage	A port can be a tagged member of a maximum of 128 VLANs.
Example	The following command adds ports 4 and 5 to VLAN 4 as tagged ports:
AX(config-vlan:4)#tag	gged ethernet 4 to 5



AleNetworks	AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference
untagged	
Description	Add untagged ports to a VLAN. An untagged port can be a member of only a single VLAN.
Syntax	<pre>[no] untagged { ethernet port-num [ethernet port-num to port-num] tagged trunk num [trunk num to num] }</pre>
Default	VLAN 1 contains all ports by default. New VLANs do not contain any ports by default.
Mode	VLAN
Example	The following command adds port 6 to VLAN 4 as an untagged port:
AX(config-vlan:4)#	untagged ethernet 6





The IP commands configure global IPv4 parameters.

This CLI level also has the following commands, which are available at all configuration levels:

- **backup** See <u>"backup system" on page 50</u> and <u>"backup log" on page 48</u>.
- clear See <u>"clear" on page 59</u>.
- **debug** See <u>"debug" on page 64</u>.
- **do** See <u>"do" on page 117</u>.
- end See <u>"end" on page 123</u>.
- exit See <u>"exit" on page 124</u>.
- **no** See <u>"no" on page 155</u>.
- show See <u>"Show Commands" on page 689</u>.
- write See <u>"write terminal" on page 78</u>.
- **Note:** To configure global IPv6 parameters, see <u>"Config Commands: IPv6" on</u> page 265.

ip anomaly-drop

Description	Enable protection against distributed denial-of-service (DDoS) attacks.	
Syntax	[no] ip anomaly-drop anomaly-type	
	Parameter	Description
	anomaly-type	Specifies the type of IP anomaly to protect against:
		bad-content [<i>threshold</i>] – Checks for invalid HTTP or SSL payloads in new HTTP or HTTPS connection requests from clients. (For more information, see "IP Anomaly Filters Used for System-Wide Policy-Based SLB" in the "Usage" section below.)



drop-all – Enables all the DDoS protection options listed below.

frag – Drops all IP fragments, which can be used to attack hosts running IP stacks that have known vulnerabilities in their fragment reassembly code.

ip-option – Drops all packets that contain any IP options.

land-attack – Drops spoofed SYN packets containing the same IP address as the source and destination, which can be used to launch an "IP land attack".

out-of-sequence [*threshold*] – Checks for out-of-sequence packets in new HTTP or HTTPS connection requests from clients. (For more information, see "IP Anomaly Filters Used for System-Wide Policy-Based SLB" in the "Usage" section below.)

ping-of-death – Drops all jumbo IP packets longer than the maximum valid IP packet size (65535 bytes), known as "ping of death" packets.

Note: On models AX 1000, AX 2000, AX 2100, AX 2500, AX 2600, and AX 3000, the **ping-of-death** option drops all IP packets longer than 32000 bytes. On models AX 2200, AX 3100, AX 3200, AX 5100, and AX 5200, the option drops IP packets longer than 65535 bytes.

tcp-no-flag – Drops all TCP packets that do not have any TCP flags set.

tcp-syn-fin – Drops all TCP packets in which both the SYN and FIN flags are set.

tcp-syn-frag – Drops incomplete (fragmented) TCP Syn packets, which can be used to launch TCP Syn flood attacks.

zero-window [*threshold*] – Checks for a zero-length TCP window in new HTTP or HTTPS connection requests from clients. (For more information, see "IP Anomaly Filters Used for System-Wide Policy-Based SLB" in the "Usage" section below.)

 Init is a system what it oney based bible in the "Usage" section below.)

 Default
 All IP anomaly drop options are disabled by default.

 Mode
 Configuration mode

 240 of 804
 Customer Driven Innovation

 Document No.: D-030-01-00-0003 - Ver. 2.6.6-GR1 5/8/2013

/	2
AID	Networks

Usage	All filters are supported for IPv4. All filters except ip-option are supported for IPv6.
	On models AX 2200, AX 3100, AX 3200, AX 5100, and AX 5200, DDoS protection is hardware-based. On other models, DDoS protection is software-based.
	DDoS protection applies only to Layer 3, Layer 4, and Layer 7 traffic. Layer 2 traffic is not affected by the feature.
	IP Anomaly Filters Used for System-Wide Policy-Based SLB
	The bad-content, out-of-sequence, and zero-window filters apply only to system-wide Policy-Based SLB (PBSLB).
	Filtering for these anomalies is disabled by default. However, if you config- ure a system-wide PBSLB policy, the filters are automatically enabled. You also can configure the filters on an individual basis.
	Each of these filters has a configurable threshold. The threshold specifies the number of times the anomaly is allowed to occur in a client's connection requests. If a client exceeds the threshold, the AX device applies the system-wide PBSLB policy's over-limit action to the client.
	For each of the new IP anomaly filters, the threshold can be set to 1-127 occurrences of the anomaly. The default is 10.
Note:	The thresholds are not tracked by PBSLB policies bound to individual virtual ports.
	The AX device tracks each of these types of anomaly for each client in each black/white list. For dynamic black/white-list clients, the statistics counters for these anomalies are reset to 0 when the client's dynamic entry ages out.
Example	The following command enables DDoS protection against ping-of-death attacks:
AX(config)#ip anomaly-	drop ping-of-death

ip as-path

Description	Configure an AS-path list for BGP.		
Syntax	[no] ip as-path access-list		
	regular-expression {deny permit}		



	Parameter	Description
	regular- expression deny permit	Access list name. Action to perform on matching entries.
Default	None	
Mode	Configuration mode	

ip community-list

Description	Specify BGP communit	ty attributes.
Syntax	<pre>[no] ip communi {deny permit} [community-numk [local-AS] [no-advertise] [no-export]</pre>	ty-list num per]
Syntax	<pre>[no] ip communi list-name {deny permit} [community-numk [local-AS] [no-advertise] [no-export]</pre>	ty-list {expanded standard}
	Farameter	Description
	num {expanded standard} list-name	List number. List type and name.
	deny permit	Action to perform for matching communities.
	community- number	Community number.
	local-AS	Advertises routes only within the local Autono mous System (AS), not to external BGP peers.
	no-advertise	Does not advertise routes.
	no-export	Does not advertise routes outside the AS bound ary.

Aleworks	AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference
Default	None
Mode	Configuration mode
ip dns	
Description	Configure DNS servers and the default domain name (DNS suffix) for host- names on the AX device.
Syntax	<pre>[no] ip dns {primary secondary} ipaddr [no] ip dns suffix string</pre>
Default	None
Mode	Configuration mode
Usage	This command applies to transparent mode and gateway mode.
Example	The following command sets primary DNS server 20.20.20.5:
AX(config)#ip dns pri	mary 20.20.20.5

ip extcommunity-list

Description	Configure an extended	community list for BGP.
Syntax	[no] ip commun. $\{deny \mid permit $ $\{rt \mid soo \{AS$	ity-list num } num:nn ipaddr:nn}}
Syntax	<pre>[no] ip community-list {expanded standard} list-name {deny permit} {rt soo {AS-num:nn ipaddr:nn}}</pre>	
	Parameter	Description
	num	List number.
	{expanded standard}	
	list-name	List type and name.
	deny permit	Action to perform for matching communities.



	rt soo {AS-num:nn ipaddr:nn}	Community type and ID:
		rt – Route-target extended community.
		soo – Site-of-origin extended community.
Default	None	
Mode	Configuration mode	
ip frag max-rea	ssembly-sess	sions
Description	Configure the IP fragme	nt queue size.
Syntax	[no] ip frag ma	x-reassembly-sessions num
	Parameter	Description
	נועד	specifies the maximum number of simultaneous fragmentation sessions the AX device will allow. You can specify 1-200000. The specified maximum applies to both IPv4 and IPv6.

Default	100000
Mode	Configuration mode

ip frag timeout

Description	Configure the timeor	ut for IP packet fragments.
Syntax	[no] ip frag timeout <i>ms</i>	
	Parameter	Description
	ms	Specifies the number of milliseconds (ms) the AX device buffers fragments for fragmented IP packets. If any fragments of an IP packet do not arrive within the specified time, the fragments are discarded and the packet is not re-assembled. You can specify 4-16000 ms (16 seconds), in 10-ms increments.
Default	1000 ms (1 second)	
244 of 804		Customer Driven Innovation



Mode

Configuration mode

ip icmp disable

Description	Disable ICMP messages.	
Syntax	[no] ip icmp dis	able {redirect unreachable}
	Parameter	Description
	redirect	Disables sending of ICMP Redirect messages.
	unreachable	Disables sending of ICMP Destination Unreachable messages.
Default	Both types of ICMP messages are enabled.	
Mode	Configuration mode	
Usage	The following command sages:	l disables sending of IPv4 ICMP Redirect mes-
AX(config)#ip icmp dis	able redirect	

ip nat alg pptp

Description	Disable or re-enable NAT Application-Layer Gateway (ALG) support for the Point-to-Point Tunneling Protocol (PPTP). This feature enables clients and servers to exchange Point-to-Point (PPP) traffic through the AX device over a Generic Routing Encapsulation (GRE) tunnel. PPTP is used to con- nect Microsoft Virtual Private Network (VPN) clients and VPN hosts.
Syntax	ip nat alg pptp {enable disable}
Default	Enabled
Mode	Configuration mode

ip nat allow-static-host

Description	Enable static Network Address Translation (NAT).
Syntax	[no] ip nat allow-static-host
Default	Disabled

Aleworks	AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference
Mode	Configuration mode
Usage	This command is required only if you configure individual static source mappings, using the ip nat inside source static command. If you configure a static range list instead, you do not need the ip nat allow-static-host command.
Example	The following command enables static NAT support:
AX(config)#ip nat al	llow-static-host

ip nat icmp always-source-nat-errors

Description	Enable NAT for ICMP messages from inside routers.	
Syntax	[no] ip nat icmp always-source-nat-errors	
Default	By default, the AX device does not translate the source IP addresses of ICMP error messages sent by inside routers into NAT addresses.	
Introduced in Release	2.6.6-P6	
Mode	Configuration mode	

ip nat icmp respond-to-ping

Description	Enable ping replies from NAT pool addresses.	
Syntax	[no] ip nat icmp respond-to-ping	
Default	By default, the AX device does not reply to ping requests that are sent to NAT addresses (LSN NAT pool addresses). Instead, by default, the AX device drops ping requests sent to LSN NAT pool addresses.	
Introduced in Release	2.6.6-P6	
Mode	Configuration mode	



ip nat inside

Description	Configure inside Network	Address Translation (NAT).
Syntax	<pre>[no] ip nat inside source { class-list name list acl-name pool pool-or-group-name static inside-ipaddr nat-ipaddr [ha-group-id group-id] [vrid {num default}] }</pre>	
	Parameter	Description
	class-list name	Specifies a class list. Entries in the class list map internal IP addresses to IP NAT pools.
	list acl-name	Specifies an Access Control List (ACL) that matches on the inside addresses to be translated. (To configure the ACL, see <u>"access-list (stan-dard)" on page 80 or "access-list (extended)" on page 82.</u>)
	pool pool-or- group-name	Dynamically assigns addresses from a range defined in a pool or pool group.
	static	
	nat-ipaddr	Statically maps the specified inside address to a specific NAT address.
	ha-group-id group-id	HA group ID, 1-31.
Default	None	
Mode	Configuration mode	
Usage	For static NAT mappings,	the following limitations apply:
	• Application Level Gateway (ALG) services other than FTP are not supported when the server is on the inside.	
	• HA session synchronization is not supported. However, sessions will not be interrupted by HA failovers.	
	• Syn-cookies are not su	apported.



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference

Example

The following command configures static inside NAT translation of 10.10.10.55 to 192.168.20.44:

AX(config)#ip nat inside source static 10.10.10.55 192.168.20.44

ip nat Isn

Description	Configure Large Scale NAT (LSN) parameters. See <u>"Config Commands:</u> Large Scale NAT" on page 455.	
ip nat pcp		
	Configure Port Control 1 trol Protocol" on page 5	Protocol (PCP). See <u>"Config Commands: Port Con-</u> 05.
ip nat pool		
Description	Configure a named set o	f IP addresses for use by NAT.
Syntax	[no] ip nat poo start-ipaddr en netmask {subnet [gateway ipaddr [ha-group-id gr	l pool-name d-ipaddr -mask /mask-length}] oup-id [ha-use-all-ports]]
	Parameter	Description
	pool-name	Name of the address pool.
	start-ipaddr	Beginning (lowest) IP address in the range.
	end-ipaddr	Ending (highest) IP address in the range.
	netmask {subnet-mask /mask-length}	Network mask for the IP addresses in the pool.
	gateway ipaddr	Default gateway to use for NATted traffic.
	ha-group-id group-id [ha-use-all-	
	ports	HA group ID, 1-31.
		The ha-use-all-ports option disables division of the pool's ports between AX devices. Without this option, the AX device automatically allo- cates half of each pool address's ports to one of



the AX devices and allocates the other half of the ports to the other AX device. (See "Usage" below.)

	Note:	It is recommended to use the ha-use-all-ports option only for DNS vir- tual ports. Using this option with other virtual port types is not valid.
Default		None.
Mode		Configuration mode
Usage		The pool can be used by other ip nat commands. The IP addresses must be IPv4 addresses. To configure a pool of IPv6 addresses, see <u>"ipv6 nat pool"</u> on page 270.
		To enable inside or outside NAT on interfaces, see <u>"ip nat" on page 214</u> .
		When you use the gateway option, the gateway you specify is used as follows:
		• For forward traffic (traffic from a client to a server), the NAT gateway is used if the source NAT address (the address from the pool) and the server address are not in the same IP subnet.
		• On reverse traffic (reply traffic from a server to a client), the NAT gate- way is used if all the following conditions are true:
		• The session is using translated addresses (is source NATted).
		 The source protocol port is in the source NAT subnet. The destination is not in the source NAT subnet.
		• The destination is not in the source tVAT subjet.
		For conditions under which the NAT gateway is needed, if no NAT gateway is configured, the AX device uses the default gateway configured for the AX device's other traffic instead.
		Port Allocation Between AX Devices in High Availability Deploy- ments (ha-use-all-ports option)
		By default, when you assign an IP NAT pool to an HA group, the AX device automatically allocates half of each pool address's ports to one of the AX devices and allocates the other half of the ports to the other AX device.
		This automatic allocation is used to prevent simultaneous use of the same port number by both AX devices. For example, without this protection, it would be possible for the same IP address and protocol port number to be in use on both AX devices in an Active-Active configuration.
		However, this protection also requires the pool to be configured with more addresses than will actually be needed.



		In some cases, there is no benefit to dividing the pool's ports between the AX devices. In particular, there is no benefit for DNS virtual ports. DNS sessions are very short-lived and are never synchronized between the AX devices. For this reason, there is no risk that the same NAT port will be in use on more than one session at the same time. You can use the ha-use-all-ports option to disable division of the ports between AX devices.
	Note:	It is recommended to use the ha-use-all-ports option only for DNS vir- tual ports. Using this option with other virtual port types is not valid.
Example		The following command configures an IP address pool named "pool1" that contains addresses from 30.30.30.1 to 30.30.254:

AX(config)#ip nat pool pool1 30.30.30.1 30.30.254 netmask /24

ip nat pool-group

Description	Configure a set of IP pools for use by NAT. Pool groups enable you to use non-contiguous IP address ranges, by combining multiple IP address pools.		
Syntax	<pre>[no] ip nat pool-group pool-group-name [ha-group-id group-id]</pre>		
	Parameter	Description	
	pool-group-name	Name of the pool group.	
	ha-group-id group-id	HA group ID, 1-31.	
	This command changes the CLI to the configuration level for the specified pool group, where the following command is available.		
	(The other commands a <u>"Config Commands: Glo</u>	(The other commands are common to all CLI configuration levels. S <u>"Config Commands: Global" on page 79</u> .)	
	Parameter	Description	
	member pool-name	Name of a configured IP address pool.	
Default	None.		
Mode	Configuration mode		
Usage	To use a non-contiguous range of addresses, configure a separate pool for each contiguous portion of the range, then configure a pool group that con- tains the pools.		
250 of 804		Customer Driven Innovation	



The addresses within an individual pool still must be contiguous, but you can have gaps between the ending address in one pool and the starting address in another pool. You also can use pools that are in different subnets.

For Large Scale NAT (LSN), a pool group can contain up to 25 pools. For other types of NAT, a pool group can contain up to 5 pools. Pool group members must belong to the same protocol family (IPv4 or IPv6) and must use the same HA ID. A pool can be a member of multiple pool groups.

If a pool group contains pools in different subnets, the AX device selects the pool that matches the outbound subnet. For example, of there are two routes to a given destination, in different subnets, and the pool group has a pool for one of those subnets, the AX selects the pool that is in the subnet for the outbound route.

The AX device selects the pool whose addresses are in the same subnet as the next-hop interface used by the data route table to reach the server.

Example

The following commands create a pool group containing 3 pools:

```
AX(config)#ip nat pool-group group1
AX(config-pool-group)member pool1
AX(config-pool-group)member pool2
AX(config-pool-group)member pool3
```

ip nat range-list

Description	Configure a range of II	P addresses to use with static NAT.
Syntax	<pre>ax [no] ip nat range-list list-name local-ipaddr /mask-length global-ipaddr /mask-length count number [vrid {num default}] [ha-group-id group-id]</pre>	
	Parameter	Description
	list-name	Name of the static NAT address range.
	local-ipaddr /mask-length	Beginning (lowest) IP address in the range of local addresses.
	global-ipaddr /mask-length	Beginning (lowest) IP address in the range of global addresses.



```
Usage You can configure up to 2000 ranges. You can specify IPv4 or IPv6 addresses within a range.
```

Example	The following command configures an IP address range named "nat-list-1"
	that maps up to 100 local addresses starting from 10.10.10.97 to Internet
	addresses starting from 192.168.22.50:

```
AX(config)#ip nat range-list nat-list-1 10.10.10.97 /16 192.168.22.50 /16 count 100
```

ip nat reset-idle-tcp-conn

Description	Enable client and server TCP Resets for NATted TCP sessions that become idle.
Syntax	[no] ip nat reset-idle-tcp-conn
Default	Disabled.
Mode	Configuration mode

ip nat template http-alg

DescriptionConfigure a template for HTTP Application Level Gateway (ALG) support.
See <u>"ip nat template http-alg" on page 477</u>.



ip nat template logging

DescriptionConfigure a logging template for IPv6 migration features. See <u>"ip nat template logging" on page 593</u>.

ip nat template pcp

DescriptionConfigure a template for Port Control Protocol (PCP). See <u>"ip nat template</u>
pcp" on page 506

ip nat translation

Description

Syntax

Configure NAT timers.
[no] ip nat translation
{
 icmp-timeout {seconds | fast} |
 service-timeout {tcp | udp} portnum [to portnum]
 {seconds | fast} |
 tcp-timeout seconds |
 udp-timeout seconds
 }

Parameter

Description

icmp-timeout
seconds | fast Sp
rate

Specifies how long NATted ICMP sessions can remain idle before being terminated. You can specify 60-15000 seconds, or **fast**. The **fast** option terminates the session as soon as a response is received.

service-timeout

{tcp | udp}
portnum
[to portnum]
{seconds |
fast}

Specifies how long NATted sessions on a specific protocol port can remain idle before being terminated. The timeout set for an individual protocol port overrides the global TCP or UDP timeout for NATted sessions. You can specify 60-15000 seconds, or **fast**. The **fast** option terminates the session as soon as a response is received.


	tcp-timeout seconds	Timeout for TCP sessions that are not ended nor- mally by a FIN or RST. You can specify 60-15000 seconds, in intervals of 60 seconds.	
	udp-timeout seconds	Timeout for UDP sessions. You can specify 60-300 seconds, in intervals of 60 seconds.	
Default	The NAT timers have the	The NAT timers have the following defaults:	
	• icmp-timeout – SLE by default. (See <u>"slb</u>	B maximum session life (MSL), which is 2 seconds msl-time" on page 620.)	
	 service-timeout – N timeout or udp-time time is used. 	ot set. For all service ports except UDP 53, the tcp- cout setting is used. For UDP port 53, the SLB MSL	
	• tcp-timeout – 300 se	econds	
	• udp-timeout – 300 s	seconds	
Mode	Configuration mode		
Example	The following command	changes the SYN timeout to 120 seconds:	
AX(config)#ip nat tr	anslation syn-timeout	120	

ip prefix-list

Description	Configure an IP prefix lis	st.
Syntax	<pre>[no] ip prefix-list {name sequence-num} [seq sequence-num] {deny permit} {any ipaddr/mask-length} [ge prefix-length] [le prefix-length]</pre>	
	Parameter	Description
	name sequence-num	Name or sequence number of the IP prefix-list rule. The name can not contain blanks. The sequence number can be 1-4294967295.
	seq sequence- num	Changes the sequence number of the IP prefix- list rule. The sequence number can be 1-4294967295.



	deny permit	Action to take for IP addresses that match the prefix list.		
	any			
	ipaddr /mask-length	IP address and number of mask bits, from left to right, on which to match. If you omit the ge and le options (described below), the <i>mask-length</i> is also the subnet mask on which to match.		
	ge prefix-			
	length	Specifies a range of prefix lengths on which to match. Any prefix length equal to or greater than the one specified will match. For example, ge 25 will match on any of the following mask lengths: /25, /26, /27, /28, /29, /30, /31, or /32.		
	le prefix-			
	length	Specifies a range of prefix lengths on which to match. Any prefix length less than or equal to the one specified will match. The lowest prefix length in the range is the prefix specified with the IP address. For example, 192.168.1.0/24 le 28 will match on any of the following mask lengths: /24, /25, /26, /27, or /28.		
Default	N/A			
Mode	Configuration mode			
Usage	You can use IP prefix li routing commands. (For tocol.)	You can use IP prefix lists to provide input to certain OSPF, BGP, and RIP routing commands. (For information, see the chapters for each routing protocol.)		
	How Matching Occur	'S		
	Matching begins with th until the first match is for to the IP address. For e two rules, rule 5 is used also matches rule 10.	Matching begins with the lowest numbered IP prefix-list rule and continue until the first match is found. The action in the first matching rule is applied to the IP address. For example, if the IP prefix list contains the following two rules, rule 5 is used for IP address 192.168.1.9, even though the address also matches rule 10.		
	ip prefix-list 5 permit a	ip prefix-list 5 permit any		
	ip prefix-list 10 deny 1	ip prefix-list 10 deny 192.168.1.0/24		
	The ge prefix-length and range of mask lengths of the mask-length in the ad following:	d le <i>prefix-length</i> options enable you to specify a on which to match. If you do not use either option, ddress (/24 in the example above) specifies both the		



- Number of bits to match, from left to right
- Mask length on which to match

If you use one or both of the **ge** or **le** options, the *mask-length* specifies only the number of bits to match. The **ge** or **le** option specifies the mask length(s) on which to match.

The following rule matches on any address whose first octet is 10 and whose mask-length is 8:

ip prefix-list match_on_8bit_mask_only permit 10.0.0.0/8

IP address 10.10.10.10/8 would match this rule but 10.10.10/24 would not.

The following rule uses the **le** option to extend the range of mask lengths that match:

ip prefix-list match_on_24bit_mask_or_less permit 10.0.0.0/8 le 24

This rule matches on any address that has 10 in the first octet, and whose mask length is 24 bits or less. IP addresses 10.10.10.10/8 and 10.10.10.10/24 would both match this rule.

The following rule permits any address from any network that has a mask 16-24 bits long.

ip prefix-list match_any_on_16-24bit_mask permit 0.0.0.0/0 ge 16 le 24

Implied Deny any Rule

The IP prefix list has an implied **deny any** rule at the end. This rule is not visible and can not be changed or deleted. If an IP address does not match any of the rules in the IP prefix list, the AX device uses the implied **deny any** rule to deny the address.

Sequence Numbering

As described above, the sequence of rules in the IP prefix list can affect whether a given address matches a permit rule or a deny rule.

When you configure the first IP prefix-list rule, the AX device assigns sequence number 5 to the rule by default. After that, the sequence number for each new rule is incremented by 5. If you explicitly set the sequence number of a rule, subsequent rules are still sequenced in increasing increments of 5. For example, if you set the sequence number of the first rule to 7, the next rule is 12 by default.



You can explicitly set the sequence number of a rule when you configure the rule. You also can change the sequence number of a rule that is already configured.

ip prefix-list list-id description

Syntax [no] ip prefix-list {name sequence-num} description string Parameter Description name sequence-num Name or sequence number of the IP prefix-list rule. description string Description of the IP prefix list. The string can be up to 80 characters, and can contain blanks. Quotation marks are not required. Default None Mode Configuration mode Usage The description is placed above the rule it describes. (See the CLI example.) Example The following commands add descriptions to some IP prefix-list rule and display the results: AX(config)#ip prefix-list aaa description Here is a string to describe the rule.
ParameterDescriptionname sequence-numName or sequence number of the IP prefix-list rule.description stringDescription of the IP prefix list. The string can be up to 80 characters, and can contain blanks. Quo- tation marks are not required.DefaultNoneModeConfiguration modeUsageThe description is placed above the rule it describes. (See the CLI example.)ExampleThe following commands add descriptions to some IP prefix-list rule and display the results:AX(config) #ip prefix-list aad description and here is a string to describe the rule.
name sequence-numName or sequence number of the IP prefix-list rule.description stringDescription of the IP prefix list. The string can be up to 80 characters, and can contain blanks. Quo- tation marks are not required.DefaultNoneModeConfiguration modeUsageThe description is placed above the rule it describes. (See the CLI example.)ExampleThe following commands add descriptions to some IP prefix-list rule and display the results:AX(config)#ip prefix-list ccc descriptionHere is a string to describe the rule.
description stringDescription of the IP prefix list. The string can be up to 80 characters, and can contain blanks. Quo- tation marks are not required.DefaultNoneModeConfiguration modeUsageThe description is placed above the rule it describes. (See the CLI example.)ExampleThe following commands add descriptions to some IP prefix-list rule and display the results:AX(config)#ip prefix-list aaa descriptionHere is a string to describe the rule.
DefaultNoneModeConfiguration modeUsageThe description is placed above the rule it describes. (See the CLI example.)ExampleThe following commands add descriptions to some IP prefix-list rule and display the results:AX(config)#ip prefix-list aaa description Here is a string to describe the rule.
ModeConfiguration modeUsageThe description is placed above the rule it describes. (See the CLI example.)ExampleThe following commands add descriptions to some IP prefix-list rule and display the results:AX(config)#ip prefix-list aaa description Here is a string to describe the rule.AX(config)#ip prefix-list ccc description And here is a string to describe this
Usage The description is placed above the rule it describes. (See the CLI example.) Example The following commands add descriptions to some IP prefix-list rule and display the results: AX(config)#ip prefix-list aaa description Here is a string to describe the rule. AX(config)#ip prefix-list ccc description And here is a string to describe this
Example The following commands add descriptions to some IP prefix-list rule and display the results: AX(config)#ip prefix-list aaa description Here is a string to describe the rule. AX(config)#ip prefix-list ccc description And here is a string to describe this
AX(config)#ip prefix-list aaa description Here is a string to describe the rule.
mate is a build to describe this
rule.
AX(config)#show running-config section ip prefix-list
ip prefix-list aaa description Here is a string to describe the rule.
ip prelix-list aaa seq 5 permit any
ip prefix-list and description And here is a string to describe this rule
ip prefix-list ccc seg 15 denv 10.10.10.0/8 le 24





ip prefix-list sequence-number

Description	Enable or disable display of the sequence numbers of IP prefix-list rules.	
Syntax	[no] ip prefix-list sequence-number	
Default	Enabled	
Mode	Configuration mode	
Usage	When this option is enabled, the sequence numbers are displayed in the run- ning-config. After you save the configuration, the sequence numbers also are displayed in the startup-config.	
Example	The following commands configure some IP prefix-list rules, then display them in the running-config. Display of sequence numbers is enabled.	
AX(config)#ip prefix-list aaa deny 10.10.10.0/8 le 24 AX(config)#ip prefix-list bbb permit 192.168.1.0/24 AX(config)#ip prefix-list ccc permit any AX(config)#show running-config section ip prefix-list ip prefix-list aaa seq 5 permit any ip prefix-list bbb seq 10 permit 192.168.1.0/24 ip prefix-list ccc seq 15 deny 10.10.10.0/8 le 24		
Example	The following commands disable display of sequence numbers, then re-dis- play the IP prefix-list rules:	
AX(config) #no ip prefix-list sequence-number AX(config) #show running-config section ip prefix-list ip prefix-list aaa deny 10.10.10.0/8 le 24 ip prefix-list bbb permit 192.168.1.0/24		

ip route

ip prefix-list ccc permit any

Description	Configure a static IP route.
Syntax	<pre>[no] ip route destination-ipaddr {subnet-mask /mask-length} next-hop-ipaddr [distance] [cpu-process]</pre>



	Parameter	Description
	destination- ipaddr {subnet-mask /mask-length}	Specifies the destination of the route. To configure a default route, specify 0.0.0/0.
	next-hop-ipaddr	Specifies the next-hop router to use to reach the route destination. The address must be in the same subnet as the AX Series device.
	distance	Distance value for the route, 1-255.
	cpu-process	Sends traffic that uses this route to the CPU for processing. This option is applicable only to models AX 2200, AX 3100, AX 3200, AX 5100, and AX 5200. The option does not appear in the CLI on other models.
Default	There are no static routes configured by default.	
Mode	Configuration mode	
Usage	If a destination can be reached by an explicit route (a route that is not a default route), then the explicit route is used. If an explicit route is not available to reach a given destination, the default route is used (if a default route is configured).	
Example	The following command configures a default route using gateway 10.10.1 and the default metric:	
AX(config)#ip route 0.0.0.0/0 10.10.10.1		





ip stateful-firewall

Description Configure the AX device to perform some of the basic functions of a stateful firewall for transparent Layer 3 traffic. Traffic originating from an external device is filtered using an ACL or based on the state information of an existing ALG session. Syntax [no] ip stateful-firewall **alg** {options} {disable / enable / rtp-stun-timeout} | disable / enable / endpoint-independent-filtering / ha-group-id / stun-timeout / tcp / udp } Parameter Description **alg** {options} {disable / enable / rtpstun-timeout } Enable or disable stateful firewall support for specific ALG protocols. Options refers to the following ALG protocols: ftp, tftp, rtsp, pptp, sip The rtp-stun-timeout option configures the STUN timeout for EIF sessions. Disable stateful firewall on a global basis. disable enable Enable stateful firewall on a global basis. [no] endpointindependentfiltering {tcp | udp} {enable | disable } [ephemeral well-known port-num [to port-num]] Configure filtering behavior for stateful firewall. Enable or disable EIF for ephemeral, wellknown, or a range of ports. The ephemeral



	option enables or enables EIF on ports 1024- 65535. The well-known option enables or dis- ables EIF on ports 1-1023. The tcp and udp <i>port-</i> <i>num</i> to <i>port-num</i> options enable or disable EIF on a specific port or on ports 1-65535.
ha-group-id	Configure a High Availability Group ID for stateful firewall.
stun-timeout	Configure the STUN timeout for endpoint-inde- pendent filtering. Configure the Session Tra- versal Utilities for NAT (STUN) timeout. Number is specified in minutes for EIF, and it can range from 0-60 minutes. The default is 2 minutes.
<pre>[no] tcp {idle- timeout stun- timeout syn- timeout} [port portnum [to portnum]]</pre>	
seconds	Configure TCP parameters for stateful firewall. The idle-timeout option allows you to specify the number of seconds a stateful firewall session can remain idle before the AX device terminates the session. You can specify 60-15000 seconds. The default is 300 seconds.
	The stun-timeout option allows you to specify the number of minutes for EIF. You can specify 0-60 minutes. The default is 2 minutes.
	The syn-timeout option allows you to specify the amount of time the session stays alive before the TCP handshake is completed and the session is established. You can specify 2-30 seconds. The default is 4 seconds. (The second session can remain in a half-open state before being deleted.).
<pre>[no] udp {idle- timeout stun- timeout} [port portnum [to portnum]]</pre>	
seconds	Configure UDP parameters for stateful firewall. See idle and stun timeout option descriptions for tcp above.



Default Disabled on a global basis. See parameter descriptions above for specific default values, where applicable. Introduced in Release 2.6.6-P4 Mode Configuration mode Stateful firewall support for transparent sessions enables the AX device to Usage provide basic functions of a stateful firewall. The stateful firewall feature protects internal users with public IPs from external attacks through the use of access control lists, which deny or reject traffic from unrecognized external sources. The AX device maintains state information for Application Layer Gateway protocol traffic, which can originate from either side of the firewall, enabling that traffic to pass through the firewall unimpeded. You can enable stateful firewall support for the following ALG protocols: • File Transfer Protocol (FTP) • Trivial File Transfer Protocol (TFTP) • Real Time Streaming Protocol (RTSP) • Point-to-Point Tunneling Protocol (PPTP)^{*} Generic Routing Encapsulation (GRE) • Session Initiation Protocol (SIP) If you enable stateful firewall support without specifying a particular port, Note: then endpoint-independent filtering (EIF) is enabled on all ports (1-65535).Example The following example globally enables the stateful firewall feature and sets up the access list. An inside stateful firewall is enabled on private VE port 21, and an outside stateful firewall is enabled on public VE port 22, and access list "101" is applied. AX(config) #ip stateful-firewall enable AX(config)#access-list 101 permit tcp any any log AX(config) #access-list 101 permit udp any any log AX(config)#interface ve 21 AX(config-if:ve21)#ip address 10.10.10.33 255.255.255.0 AX(config-if:ve21) **#ip stateful-firewall inside** AX(config)#interface ve 22 AX(config-if:ve22)#ip address 20.20.20.33 255.255.255.0 AX(config-if:ve22)#ip stateful-firewall outside access-list 101

*. PPTP has not been tested in the 2.6.6-P4 release.



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference

AX(config-if:ve22)#**exit**









Config Commands: IPv6

The IPv6 commands configure global IPv6 parameters.

This CLI level also has the following commands, which are available at all configuration levels:

- **backup** See <u>"backup system" on page 50</u> and <u>"backup log" on page 48</u>.
- clear See <u>"clear" on page 59</u>.
- **debug** See <u>"debug" on page 64</u>.
- **do** See <u>"do" on page 117</u>.
- end See <u>"end" on page 123</u>.
- exit See <u>"exit" on page 124</u>.
- **no** See <u>"no" on page 155</u>.
- show See <u>"Show Commands" on page 689</u>.
- write See <u>"write terminal" on page 78</u>.
- **Note:** To configure global IPv4 parameters, see <u>"Config Commands: IP" on</u> page 239.





ipv6 access-list

Description	Configure an extended IPv6 ACL.
Syntax	[no] ipv6 access-list name
	This command changes the CLI to the configuration level for the ACL, where the following ACL-related commands are available.
Syntax	[no] [seq-num] {permit deny} {ipv6 icmp}
	{ any host host-src-ipv6addr net-src-ipv6addr /mask-length}
	{ any host host-dst-ipv6addr net-dst-ipv6addr /mask-length}
	[fragments] [vlan vlan-id] [dscp num]
	[log [transparent-session-only]]
	or
Syntax	[no] {permit deny} {tcp udp}
	<pre>{any host host-src-ipv6addr net-src-ipv6addr /mask-length} [eq src-port gt src-port lt src-port range start-src-port end-src-port]</pre>
	<pre>{any host host-dst-ipv6addr net-dst-ipv6addr /mask-length} [eq dst-port gt dst-port lt dst-port range start-dst-port end-dst-port]</pre>
	[fragments] [vlan vlan-id] [dscp num]
	[established]



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference

Parameter	Description
seq-num	Sequence number of this rule in the ACL. You can use this option to resequence the rules in the ACL.
deny permit	Action to take for traffic that matches the ACL.
	deny – Drops the traffic.
	permit – Allows the traffic.
ipv6 icmp	Filters on IPv6 or ICMP packets.
tcp udp	Filters on TCP or UDP packets. The tcp and udp options enable you to filter on protocol port numbers.
any host host-src- ipv6addr net-src- ipv6addr (mask-	
length	Source IP address(es) to filter.
	any – The ACL matches on all source IP addresses.
	host <i>host-src-ipv6addr</i> – The ACL matches only on the specified host IPv6 address.
	<i>net-src-ipv6addr /mask-length</i> – The ACL matches on any host in the specified subnet. The <i>mask-length</i> specifies the portion of the address to filter.
<pre>eq src-port gt src-port lt src-port range start- src-port</pre>	
end-src-port	For tcp or udp , the source protocol ports to filter.
	eq <i>src-port</i> – The ACL matches on traffic from the specified source port.
	gt <i>src-port</i> – The ACL matches on traffic from any source port with a higher number than the specified port.
	lt <i>src-port</i> – The ACL matches on traffic from any source port with a lower number than the specified port.

AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference



	range start-src-port end-src-port - The ACL matches on traffic from any source port within the specified range.
any host host-dst- ipv6addr net-dst- ipv6addr /mask- length	Destination IP address(es) to filter.
eq dst-port gt dst-port lt dst-port range start- dst-port	
end-dst-port	For tcp or udp , the destination protocol ports to filter.
fragments	Matches on packets in which the More bit in the header is set (1) or has a non-zero offset.
vlan vlan-id	Matches on the specified VLAN. VLAN match- ing occurs for incoming traffic only.
dscp num	Matches on the 6-bit Diffserv value in the IP header, 1-63.
established	Matches on TCP packets in which the ACK or RST bit is not set. This option is useful for pro- tecting against attacks from outside. Since a TCP connection from the outside does not have the ACK bit set (SYN only), the connection is dropped. Similarly, a connection established from the inside always has the ACK bit set. (The first packet to the network from outside is a SYN/ACK.)
log [transparent_	
session-only]	Configures the AX device to generate log mes- sages when traffic matches the ACL.
	The transparent-session-only option limits log- ging for an ACL rule to creation and deletion of transparent sessions for traffic that matches the ACL rule.
[no] remark stri	ng

Syntax



The **remark** command adds a remark to the ACL. The remark appears at the top of the ACL when you display it in the CLI. The *string* can be 1-63 characters. To use blank spaces in the remark, enclose the entire remark string in double quotes.

Default	None
Mode	Configuration mode

ipv6 frag timeout

Description	Configure the timeout for IPv6 packet fragments.		
Syntax	[no] ipv6 frag timeout ms		
	Parameter	Description	
	ms	Specifies the number of milliseconds (ms) the AX device buffers fragments for fragmented IPv6 packets. If any fragments of an IPv6 packet do not arrive within the specified time, the fragments are discarded and the packet is not reassembled. You can specify 4-16000 ms, in 10-ms increments.	
Default	1000 ms (1 second)		
Mode	Configuration mode		

ipv6 icmpv6 disable

Description	Disable ICMPv6 message	25.		
Syntax	<pre>[no] ipv6 icmpv6 disable {redirect unreachable}</pre>			
	Parameter	Description		
	redirect.	Disables sending of ICMPv6 Redirect messages.		
	unreachable.	Disables sending of ICMPv6 Destination Unreachable messages.		
Default	Both types of ICMP messages are enabled.			
Mode	Configuration mode			



Usage The following command disables sending of IPv6 ICMP Destination Unreachable messages:

AX(config)#ipv6 icmpv6 disable unreachable

ipv6 nat icmpv6

Description	Enable ping replies from NAT pool addresses.		
Syntax	[no] ipv6 nat icmpv6 respond-to-ping		
Default	By default, the AX device does not reply to ping requests that are sent to NAT addresses (LSN NAT pool addresses). Instead, by default, the AX device drops ping requests sent to LSN NAT pool addresses.		
Introduced in Release	2.6.6-P6		
Mode	Configuration mode		

ipv6 nat inside

Description	Enable inside NAT on the interface.		
Syntax	[no] ipv6 nat inside		
Default	Disabled		
Mode	Configuration mode		

ipv6 nat pool

Description	Configure a named set	Configure a named set of IPv6 addresses for use by NAT.		
Syntax	<pre>[no] ipv6 nat p start-ipv6-add: netmask mask-le [lsn [max-userse] [gateway ipadd: [ha-group-id gateway]</pre>	<pre>[no] ipv6 nat pool pool-name start-ipv6-addr end-ipv6-addr netmask mask-length [lsn [max-users-per-ip num]] [gateway ipaddr] [ha-group-id group-id]</pre>		
	Parameter	Description		
	pool-name	Name of the address pool.		
	start-ipaddr	Beginning (lowest) IP address in the range.		



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference

	end-ipaddr	Ending (highest) IP address in the range.	
	netmask mask- length	Network mask for the IP addresses in the pool, 64-128.	
	lsn		
	ip num]	Enables the pool to be used for Large Scale NAT (LSN).	
		The max-user-per-ip option specifies the maxi- mum number of internal addresses that can be mapped to a single public address at the same time. You can specify 1-65535. By default, there is no limit.	
	gateway ipv6-addr	Next-hop gateway address.	
	ha-group-id group-id	HA group ID, 1-31.	
Default	None.		
Mode	Configuration mode		
Example	The following command configures an IPv6 address pool named "ipv6pool2":		
AX(config)#ipv6 nat p	ool ipv6pool2 abc	1::1 abc1::10 netmask 96	

ipv6 neighbor

Description	Configure a static IF	Configure a static IPv6 neighbor.		
Syntax	[no] ipv6 net ethernet port	[no] ipv6 neighbor <i>ipv6-addr macaddr</i> ethernet <i>port-num</i> [vlan <i>vlan-id</i>]		
	Parameter	Description		
	ipv6-addr	IPv6 unicast address of the neighbor.		
	macaddr	MAC address of the IPv6 neighbor.		
	port-num	Ethernet interface connected to the neighbor.		
	vlan-id	VLAN for which to add the IPv6 neighbor entry If you do not specify the VLAN, the entry is added for all VLANs.		

Aleworks	AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference
Default	N/A
Mode	Configuration mode
Usage	The neighbor must be directly connected to the AX Series device's Ethernet port you specify, or connected through a Layer 2 switch.
Example	The following command configures IPv6 neighbor 2001:db8::1111:2222 with MAC address abab.cdcd.efef, connected to the AX Series device's Ethernet port 5:
AX(confiq)#ipv6 neighb	or 2001:db8::1111:2222 abab.cdcd.efef ethernet 5

ipv6 ospf display

Description	Change how IPv6 routes are displayed in show ipv6 ospf route output.
Syntax	[no] ipv6 ospf display route single-line
Default	By default, this option is disabled. Routes are displayed on multiple lines.
Mode	Configuration mode



ipv6 pmtu {disable | enable}

Description	Please contact A10 Networks for information.
Syntax	[no] ipv6 pmtu {disable enable}

ipv6 pmtu timeout

Description	Please of	contact A	A10 Net	works for in	formation.
Syntax	[no]	ipv6	pmtu	timeout	seconds

ipv6 prefix-list

Description	Configure an IPv6 prefix list.		
Syntax	<pre>[no] ipv6 prefix-list {name sequence-num} [seq sequence-num] {deny permit} {any ipaddr/mask-length} [ge prefix-length] [le prefix-length]</pre>		
	Parameter	Description	
	name sequence-num	Name or sequence number of the IP prefix-list rule. The name can not contain blanks. The sequence number can be 1-4294967295.	
	seq sequence- num	Changes the sequence number of the IP prefix- list rule. The sequence number can be 1-4294967295.	
	deny permit	Action to take for IP addresses that match the prefix list.	
	any ipv6addr /mask-length	IPv6 address and number of mask bits, from left to right, on which to match. If you omit the ge	

and **le** options (described below), the *mask-length* is also the subnet mask on which to match.



	ge prefix- length	Specifies a range of prefix lengths on which to match. Any prefix length equal to or greater than the one specified will match. For example, ge 25 will match on any of the following mask lengths: /25, /26, /27, /28, /29, /30, /31, or /32.	
	le prefix- length	Specifies a range of prefix lengths on which to match. Any prefix length less than or equal to the one specified will match. The lowest prefix length in the range is the prefix specified with the IP address. For example, 192.168.1.0/24 le 28 will match on any of the following mask lengths: /24, /25, /26, /27, or /28.	
Default	N/A		
Mode	Configuration mode		
Usage	You can use IP prefix lists to provide input to certain OSPF, BGP, and RIP routing commands. (For information, see the chapters for each routing protocol.)		
	How Matching Occurs		
	 Matching begins with the lowest numbered IPv6 prefix-list rule and ues until the first match is found. The action in the first matching applied to the IPv6 address. The ge <i>prefix-length</i> and le <i>prefix-length</i> options enable you to sp range of mask lengths on which to match. If you do not use either the <i>mask-length</i> in the address specifies both the following: Number of bits to match, from left to right 		
• Mask length on which to match		h to match	
	If you use one or both of the ge or le options, the <i>mask-length</i> specifies only the number of bits to match. The ge or le option specifies the mask length(s) on which to match.		
	Implied Deny any Rule		
	The IPv6 prefix list has a visible and can not be cha any of the rules in the IP any rule to deny the adda	In implied deny any rule at the end. This rule is not anged or deleted. If an IPv6 address does not match v6 prefix list, the AX device uses the implied deny ress.	



Sequence Numbering

As described above, the sequence of rules in the IPv6 prefix list can affect whether a given address matches a permit rule or a deny rule.

When you configure the first IPv6 prefix-list rule, the AX device assigns sequence number 5 to the rule by default. After that, the sequence number for each new rule is incremented by 5. If you explicitly set the sequence number of a rule, subsequent rules are still sequenced in increasing increments of 5. For example, if you set the sequence number of the first rule to 7, the next rule is 12 by default.

You can explicitly set the sequence number of a rule when you configure the rule. You also can change the sequence number of a rule that is already configured.

ipv6 prefix-list list-id description

Description	Add a description to an IPv6 prefix list.	
Syntax	<pre>[no] ipv6 prefix-list {name sequence-num} description string</pre>	
	Parameter	Description
	name sequence-num	Name or sequence number of the IPv6 prefix-list rule.
	description string	Description of the IPv6 prefix list. The string can be up to 80 characters, and can contain blanks. Quotation marks are not required.
Default	None	
Mode	Configuration mode	
Usage	The description is placed above the rule it describes.	





ipv6 prefix-list sequence-number

Description	Enable or disable display of the sequence numbers of IPv6 prefix-list rules.		
Syntax	[no] ipv6 prefix-list sequence-number		
Default	Enabled		
Mode	Configuration mode		
Usage	When this option is enabled, the sequence numbers are displayed in the run- ning-config. After you save the configuration, the sequence numbers also are displayed in the startup-config.		
ipv6 route			
Description	Configure a static IPv6 route.		
Syntax	[no] ipv6 route <i>ipv6-addr/prefix-length</i> gateway-addr [distance]		
	Parameter	Description	
	ipv6-addr	IPv6 unicast address of the route destination.	
	prefix-length	Prefix length, 1-128.	
	gateway-addr	IPv6 unicast address of the next-hop gateway to the destination.	
	distance	Distance value for the route, 1-255.	
Default	N/A		
Mode	Configuration mode		
Usage	The ethernet , trunk , and ve options are available only if the <i>gateway-addr</i> is a link-local address. Otherwise, the options are not displayed in the online help and are not supported.		
	• If you use an individual Ethernet port, the port can not be a member of trunk or a VE. If you use a trunk, the trunk can not be a member of a V		
	• After you configure the static route, you can not change the interface's membership in trunks or VEs. For example, if you configure a static route that uses Ethernet port 6's link-local address as the next hop, it is		



	not supported to later add the interface to a trunk or VE. The static route must be removed first.
Example	The following command configures a static IPv6 route to destination 2001:db8::3333:3333/32, though gateway 2001:db8::3333:4444:
AX(config)#ipv6 route	2001:db8::3333:3333/32 2001:db8::3333:4444
Example	The following command configures a default IPv6 route:
AX(config)#ipv6 route	::/0 abc1::1111
	The following command configures an IPv6 static route that uses Ethernet port 6's link-local address as the next hop:
AX(config)# ipv6 route	abaa:3::0/64 fe80::2 ethernet 6

ipv6 stateful firewall

Description	See <u>"ip stateful-firewall" on page 260</u> .
Introduced in Release	2.6.6-P4









Config Commands: Router – RIP

This chapter describes the syntax for the Routing Information Protocol (RIP) commands in AX Release 2.6.6. The commands are described in the following sections:

- <u>"Enabling RIP" on page 279</u>
- <u>"IPv4 RIP Configuration Commands" on page 281</u>
- "IPv6 RIP Configuration Commands" on page 296
- <u>"RIP Show Commands" on page 308</u>
- <u>"RIP Clear Commands" on page 308</u>
- **Note:** This CLI level also has the following commands, which are available at all configuration levels:
 - clear See <u>"clear" on page 59</u>.
 - **debug** See <u>"debug" on page 64</u>.
 - **do** See <u>"do" on page 117</u>.
 - end See <u>"end" on page 123</u>.
 - **exit** See <u>"exit" on page 124</u>.
 - **no** See <u>"no" on page 155</u>.
 - show See <u>"Show Commands" on page 689</u>.
 - write See <u>"write terminal" on page 78</u>.

Enabling RIP

You can enable RIP for IPv4 and RIP for IPv6. Each version runs independently of the other. The AX device supports a single IPv4 RIP process and a single IPv6 RIP process.

Note: Optionally you also can enable RIPv1. RIPv1 and RIPv2 can be enabled separately for inbound and outbound RIP traffic.



Enabling RIP for IPv4

1. To enable the protocol and access the configuration level for global IPv4 RIP parameters, enter the following command at the global configuration level:

router rip

2. To enable IPv4 RIP for specific networks, enter the following command separately for each network:

```
network {ipaddr/mask-length | interface}
```

This is the minimum required configuration. Additional configuration may be required depending on your deployment.

Enabling RIP for IPv6

1. To enable the protocol and access the configuration level for global IPv6 RIP parameters, enter the following command at the global configuration level:

router ipv6 rip

- 2. To enable IPv6 RIP on an individual interface:
 - a. Use the following command to return to the global configuration level of the CLI:

exit

b. Use the following command to access the interface:

```
interface
{ethernet port-num | ve ve-num |
loopback num | management | trunk num}
```

c. Use the following command to enable IPv6 RIP on the interface:

```
ipv6 router rip
```

This is the minimum required configuration. Additional configuration may be required depending on your deployment.



IPv4 RIP Configuration Commands

The configuration commands in the following sections are applicable to IPv4 RIP.

- <u>"Global IPv4 RIP Commands" on page 281</u>
- <u>"Interface-Level IPv4 RIP Commands" on page 293</u>

Global IPv4 RIP Commands

The commands in this section apply globally to the IPv4 RIP process.

To access the configuration level for the IPv4 RIP process, use the **router rip** command at the global configuration level of the CLI.

cisco-metric-behavior

Description	Enable Cisco-compatible metric behavior. This option affects the display of metric values in the RIP routing table.		
Syntax	[no] cisco-metric-behavior {enable disable}		
	Parameter	Description	
	enable	The metric values displayed for routes in the RIP routing table are the values <i>before</i> modification by this RIP router (the AX device).	
	disable	The metric values displayed for routes in the RIP routing table are the values <i>after</i> modification by this RIP router (the AX device).	
Default	disable		
Mode	IPv4 RIP		

default-information originate

Description	Enable generation of a default route into RIP.	
Syntax	[no] default-information originate	
Default	Disabled	



Mode

IPv4 RIP

default-metric

Description		Configure the default metric value for routes that are redistributed into IPv4 RIP.		
Syntax		[no] default-metric num		
		Parameter	Description	
		num	Specifies the default metric, 1-16.	
Default		1		
Mode		IPv4 RIP		
distance				
Description		Set the administrative distance for IPv4 RIP routes.		
Syntax		[no] distance num [ipaddr/mask-length [acl-id]]		
		Parameter	Description	
		num	Administrative distance, 1-255.	
		ipaddr/mask- length	Network prefix and mask length. The specified distance is applied only to routes with a matching source address.	
		acl-id	ACL ID. The specified distance is applied only to routes that match the source IP address in the ACL.	
	Note:	In the ACL, use the permit action, not the deny action.		
Default		The default distance is 120.		
Mode		IPv4 RIP		
Usage		The administrative distance specifies the trustworthiness of routes. In cases where there are multiple routes to the same destination, from different rout- ing protocols, the administrative distance can be used as a tie-breaker.		



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference IPv4 RIP Configuration Commands

A low administrative distance value indicates a high level of trust. Likewise, a high administrative distance value indicates a low level of trust. For example, setting the administrative distance value for external routes to 255 means those routes are very untrustworthy and should not be used.

distribute-list

Description	Configure filtering of route updates.	
Syntax	<pre>[no] distribute-list {acl-id prefix list-name} {in out} [interface]</pre>	
	Parameter	Description
	acl-id prefix list-	
	name	ACL or prefix list that specifies the routes to fil- ter. The action you use in the ACL or prefix list determines whether matching routes are allowed:
		permit – Matching routes are allowed.
		deny – Matching routes are prohibited.
	in / out	Traffic direction for which to filter updates:
		in – Inbound route updates are filtered.
		out – Outbound route updates are filtered.
	interface	Interface on which updates are filtered. You can specify the following types of interfaces:
		ethernet <i>portnum</i> – Ethernet data interface.
		loopback [<i>num</i>] – Loopback interface. If you do not specify an interface number, route updates are filtered out on all loopback interfaces.
		management – Ethernet management interface.
		trunk trunknum – Trunk interface.
		ve <i>ve</i> - <i>num</i> – Virtual Ethernet (VE) interface.
		If you do not specify an interface, the filter applies to all interfaces.

Note: The **internal** option is not applicable.

Default

Route updates are not filtered out.



	IFV4 KIF Configuration Commands
Mode	IPv4 RIP
Usage	Distribute lists can be global or interface-specified:
	• If you do not specify an interface with the distribute list, the list is global.
	• If you do specify an interface with the distribute list, the list applies only to routes received (in) or advertised (out) on that interface.
	The AX device can have one global inbound distribute list and one global outbound distribute list. Likewise, each interface can have one inbound distribute list and one outbound distribute list.
	For inbound updates, if the interface on which the update is received has a distribute list, that distribute list is checked before the global distribute list. Likewise, for outbound updates, the distribute list on the outbound interface is checked before the global distribute list. The action (permit or deny) in the first distribute list that matches is used.
	ACL Implicit Deny Rule
	Every ACL has an implicit "deny any" rule at the end. Traffic that does not match any of the explicitly configured rules in an ACL will match the implicit deny rule.
Example	The following commands allow incoming RIP routes only for network 30.30.30.0/24, and only when received through Ethernet interface 4:
AX(config)# ip prefix-l AX(config)# router rip AX(config-router)# dist	ist rip-subnet-only permit 30.30.30.0/24 ribute-list prefix rip-subnet-only in ethernet 4
Example	The following commands allow advertisement of RIP routes only for net- work 10.0.0/8, and only when advertised through VE interface 45:
AX(config)#access-list AX(config)#router rip	23 permit 10.0.0.0 0.255.255.255
AX(config-router)# dist	ribute-list 23 out ve 45
maximum-prefix	ĸ

Description	Specify the maximum number of routes allowed in the IPv4 RIP route table.
Syntax	[no] maximum-prefix num [threshold]

Aleworks		AX S
	Parameter	
	num	

Series - Command Line Interface Reference

IPv4 RIP Configuration Commands

	Parameter	Description	
	num	Maximum number of RIP routes allowed. You can specify 1-2048.	
	threshold	Percentage of the maximum number of routes at which a warning is generated. You can specify 1-100. The warnings appear in the routing log.	
Default	256. The default thresh	hold is 75 percent.	
Mode	IPv4 RIP		
neighbor			
Description	Specify a neighboring IPv4 RIP router.		
Syntax	[no] neighbor ipaddr		
	Parameter	Description	
	ipaddr	IP address of the neighboring IPv4 RIP router.	
Default	None		
Mode	IPv4 RIP		
Usage	Enter the command se	Enter the command separately for each IPv4 RIP neighbor.	
network			
Description	Enable IPv4 RIP on a	Enable IPv4 RIP on a network.	
Syntax	[no] network { <i>ipaddr/mask-length</i> <i>interface</i> }		
	Parameter	Description	
	ipaddr/mask- length	Prefix and mask length of a IPv4 RIP network.	
	interface	Interface on which to enable RIP. You can spec- ify the following types of interfaces:	
		ethernet <i>portnum</i> – Ethernet data inter- face.	

-1		AX Seri	es - Command Line Interface Reference
Aleworks			IPv4 RIP Configuration Commands
			loopback [<i>num</i>] – Loopback interface. If you do not specify an interface number, RIP is enabled on all loopback interfaces.
			management – Ethernet management interface.
			trunk trunknum – Trunk interface.
			ve <i>ve</i> - <i>num</i> -Virtual Ethernet (VE) interface.
			If you do not specify an interface, RIP is enabled on all the interfaces.
	Note:	The internal option is	not applicable.
Default		None	
Mode		IPv4 RIP	
offset-list			
Description		Increase the metric for sp	pecific routes.
Syntax		[no] offset-lis ([<i>interface</i>]	t acl-id { in out } offset
		Parameter	Description
		acl-id	ACL that matches on the routes for which to increase the metric.
		in / out	Direction to which to apply the metric:
			in – Applies the additional metric value to routes received in updates from RIP neighbors.
			out – Applies the additional metric value to routes advertised to RIP neighbors.
		offset	Additional metric to add to routes. You can spec- ify 0-16.
		interface	Interface on which to increase the metric. You can specify the following types of interfaces:
			ethernet portnum – Ethernet data inter- face.
			loopback [<i>num</i>] – Loopback interface. If you do not specify an interface number, the metric is increased on all loopback interfaces.



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference IPv4 RIP Configuration Commands

management – Etrhernet management interface.

trunk trunknum – Trunk interface.

ve *ve*-*num* – Virtual Ethernet (VE) interface.

If you do not specify an interface, the metric is increased on all interfaces.

Note: The **internal** option is not applicable.

Default	Not set. The metric that is otherwise applied to the route by the RIP process
	is used.

Mode IPv4 RIP

passive-interface

Description	Block RIP updates from being sent on an interface.	
Syntax	[no] passive-interface interface	
	Parameter	Description
	interface	Interface on which to block RIP updates. You can specify the following types of interfaces:
		ethernet <i>portnum</i> – Ethernet data interface.
		loopback [<i>num</i>] – Loopback interface. If you do not specify an interface number, RIP updates are blocked on all loopback interfaces.
		trunk trunknum – Trunk interface.
		ve <i>ve</i> - <i>num</i> – Virtual Ethernet (VE) interface.
Default	None. RIP updates are not blocked on any interfaces.	
Mode	IPv4 RIP	
recv-buffer-size)	
Description	Configure the receive buf	fer size for RIP UDP packets.

Syntax [no] recv-buffer-size bytes



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference

IPv4 RIP Configuration Commands

	Parameter	Description
	bytes	Maximum RIP UDP packet size allowed. You can specify 8192-2147483647 bytes.
Default	8192	
Mode	IPv4 RIP	

redistribute

Description	Redistribute route infor	mation from other sources into RIP.
Syntax	<pre>[no] redistribute { bgp [options] connected [options] floating-ip [options] ip-nat [options] ip-nat-list [options] isis [options] static [options] static [options] vip [only-flagged only-not-flagged [options]] } </pre>	
	Parameter	Description
	bgp [options]	Redistributes route information from Border Gateway Protocol (BGP) into RIP. For <i>options</i> , see the end of this parameter list.
	connected [options]	Redistributes route information for directly con- nected networks into RIP. For <i>options</i> , see the end of this parameter list.
	floating-ip	
	[options]	Redistributes route information for floating IP addresses into RIP. For <i>options</i> , see the end of this parameter list.
	ip-nat [options]	Redistributes routes into RIP for reaching trans- lated NAT addresses allocated from a pool. For <i>options</i> , see the end of this parameter list.



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference IPv4 RIP Configuration Commands

ip-nat-list	
[options]	Redistributes routes into RIP for reaching trans- lated NAT addresses allocated from a range list. For <i>options</i> , see the end of this parameter list.
isis [options]	Redistributes route information from Intermedi- ate System to Intermediate System (IS-IS) into RIP. For <i>options</i> , see the end of this parameter list.
ospf [options]	Redistributes route information from Open Shortest Path First (OSPF) into RIP. For <i>options</i> , see the end of this parameter list.
static	
[options]	Redistributes routes into RIP for reaching net- works through static routes. For <i>options</i> , see the end of this parameter list.
vip [only-flagged only-not- flaggod	
[options]]	Redistributes routes into RIP for reaching virtual server IP addresses.
	By default, all VIPs are redistributed when you use the vip option. To restrict redistribution to a subset of VIPs, use one of the following options:
	only-flagged – Redistributes only the VIPs on which the redistribution-flagged command is used.
	only-not-flagged – Redistributes all VIPs <i>except</i> those on which the redistribu-tion-flagged command is used.
	For more information, see "Usage".
	For <i>options</i> , see below.
options	Optional parameters supported for all the options listed above:
	metric <i>num</i> – Metric for the route, 0-16. There is no default.
	route-map <i>map-name</i> – Name of a route map. (To configure a route map, use the route- map <i>map-name</i> command at the global configu- ration level of the CLI.)

Note: The **kernel** option is not applicable.
1	2
AIDNe	tworks

Default

Mode

Usage

AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference IPv4 RIP Configuration Commands

Disabled. By default, RIP routes are not redistributed. For other defaults, see above.

IPv4 RIP

When you enable redistribution, routes to all addresses of the specified type are redistributed. For example, if you use the **vip** option, routes to all VIPs are redistributed into RIP.

VIP Redistribution

You can exclude redistribution of individual VIPs using one or the other of the following methods. They are mutually exclusive.

- If more VIPs will be excluded than will be allowed to be redistributed:
 - At the configuration level for each of the VIPs to allow to be redistributed, enter the following command: **redistribution-flagged**
 - At the configuration level for the RIP process, enter the following command: redistribute vip only-flagged
- If fewer VIPs will be excluded than will be allowed to be redistributed:
 - At the configuration level for each of the VIPs to exclude from redistribution, enter the following command: **redistribution-flagged**
 - At the configuration level for the RIP process, enter either of the following commands: redistribute vip only-not-flagged or redistribute vip
- **Note:** In the configuration, the **redistribute vip only-not-flagged** command is automatically converted into the **redistribute vip** command. When you display the configuration, it will contain the **redistribute vip** command, not the **redistribute vip only-not-flagged** command. This command conversion makes the behavior in the current release backwards compatible with the behavior in previous releases.

VIP Redistribution Usage Examples:

- If you have 10 VIPs and all of them need to be redistributed by RIP, use the **redistribute vip** command at the configuration level for the RIP process.
- If you have 10 VIPs but only 2 of them need to be redistributed, use the **redistribution-flagged** command at the configuration level for each of the 2 VIPs, then use the **redistribute vip only-flagged** command at the configuration level for the RIP process.
- If you have 10 VIPs and need to redistribute 8 of them, use the **redistri-bution-flagged** command at the configuration level for the 2 VIPs that should *not* be redistributed. Enter the **redistribute vip only-not-flagged**



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference IPv4 RIP Configuration Commands

command at the configuration level for the RIP process. (In this case, alternatively, you could enter **redistribute vip** instead of **redistribute** vip only-not-flagged.)

Example The following commands redistribute floating IP addresses and VIP addresses into RIP:

```
AX(config-router) #redistribute floating-ip
AX(config-router) #redistribute vip
```

Example The following commands flag a VIP, then configure RIP to redistribute only that flagged VIP. The other (unflagged) VIPs will not be redistributed.

```
AX(config)#slb virtual-server vip1
AX(config-slb virtual server)#redistribution-flagged
AX(config-slb virtual server)#exit
AX(config) #router rip
AX(config-router)redistribute vip only-flagged
```

route

Description	Configure static RIP routes.		
Syntax	[no] route ip	[no] route ipaddr/prefix-length	
	Parameter	Description	
	ipaddr/prefix length	Destination of the route.	
Default	None		
Mode	IPv4 RIP		
timers			
Description	Configure RIP timers.		
Syntax	[no] timers k garbage-colle	pasic update timeout ection	
	Parameter	Description	
	update	Amount of time between transmission of RIP route updates to neighbors. You can specify 5-2147483647 seconds.	



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference IPv4 RIP Configuration Commands

Caution: RIPv1 is less secu	re than RIPv2. It is recommended to run RIPv2 if	
The version you spec	city runs on all RIP interfaces on the AX device.	
IPv4 RIP	if y mund on all DID interfaces on the AV derive	
2		
2		
1	RIP version 1.	
Parameter	Description	
[no] version	{1 [2] 2}	
Specify the RIP version to run.		
All RIP routers in th the timers should no can cause unnecessar	e network should use the same timer values. However, ot be synchronized among multiple routers, since this ry collisions.	
IPv4 RIP	IPv4 RIP	
• garbage-collection -120		
• timeout - 180)	
• update -30		
The RIP timers have	the following default values:	
garbage- collection	Amount of time after a route becomes invalid that the route remains in the route table before being removed. You can specify 5-2147483647 seconds.	
	An invalid route remains in the route table and is not actually removed until the garbage-collection timer expires. (See below.)	
timeout	Maximum number of seconds the AX device waits for an update to a RIP route before the route becomes invalid. You can specify 5-2147483647 seconds.	
	timeout garbage- collection The RIP timers have • update - 30 • timeout - 180 • garbage-coll IPv4 RIP All RIP routers in th the timers should no can cause unnecessan Specify the RIP version Parameter 1 2 2 IPv4 RIP The version you spece	



IPv4 RIP Configuration Commands

Interface-Level IPv4 RIP Commands

The commands in this section apply specifically to the IPv4 interface on which you enter them. In cases where the same parameter can be set globally and on individual interfaces, the setting on an individual interface overrides the global setting.

ip rip authentication

Description	Configure IPv4 RIP authentication on the interface.	
Syntax	<pre>[no] ip rip auth { key-chain name mode {md5 text string auth-stri }</pre>	nentication [name] t} ing [auth-string]
	Parameter	Description
	key-chain name [name]	Enables authentication using the specified key chains. (To configure a key-chain file, use the key chain command at the global configuration level of the CLI.)
	mode $\{md5 \mid text\}$	Authentication mode: md5 – Message Digest 5 text – Clear text
	string auth-string [auth-string]	Enables authentication using the specified pass- words.
Default	None	
Mode	Interface	



ip rip receive version

Description	Specify the RIP version allowed in RIP packets received on the interface.		
Syntax	[no] ip rip receive version $\{1 \ [2] \ \ 2\}$		
	Parameter	Description	
	1	RIP version 1.	
	2	RIP version 2.	
Default	2		
Mode	Interface		

ip rip receive-packet

Description	Enable the interface to receive RIP packets.	
Syntax	[no] ip rip receive-packet	
Default	Enabled	
Mode	Interface	

ip rip send version

Description	Specify the RIP version a	llowed to be sent on the interface
Syntax	[no] ip rip send	version $\{1 [2] 2\}$
	Parameter	Description
	1	RIP version 1.
	2	RIP version 2.
Default	2	
Mode	Interface	



ip rip send-packet

Description	Enable the interface to send RIP packets.	
Syntax	[no] ip rip send-packet	
Default	Enabled	
Mode	Interface	

ip rip split-horizon

Description	Configure the split-horizon method. Split horizon prevents the AX device from advertising a route to the neighbor that advertised the same route to the AX device.			
Syntax	[no] ip rip	[no] ip rip split-horizon [poisoned]		
	Parameter	Description		
	poisoned	Enables advertisement of a route to the neighbor that advertised the route to the AX device, but sets the metric value to infinity, thus making the route advertised by the AX device unusable by the neighbor.		
		If you omit the poisoned option, advertisement of a route to the neighbor that advertised the route to the AX device is not allowed.		
Default	Split-horizon with poison is enabled.			
Mode	Interface			





IPv6 RIP Configuration Commands

The configuration commands in the following sections are applicable to IPv6 RIP.

- "Global IPv6 RIP Commands" on page 296
- <u>"Interface-Level IPv6 RIP Command" on page 307</u>

Global IPv6 RIP Commands

The commands in this section apply globally to the IPv6 RIP process.

To access the configuration level for a IPv6 RIP process, use the **router ipv6 rip** command at the global configuration level of the CLI.

aggregate-address

Description	Configure an aggregate of multiple IPv6 RIP routes.	
Syntax	[no] aggregate-address <i>ipv6addr/mask-length</i>	
	Parameter	Description
	ipv6addr/mask- length	IPv6 address and prefix length of the aggregate. The aggregate route will be used instead of the individual routes to destinations that match the aggregate's address and prefix.
Default	None	
Mode	IPv6 RIP	

cisco-metric-behavior

DescriptionEnable Cisco-compatible metric behavior. This option affects the display of
metric values in the RIP routing table.Syntax[no] cisco-metric-behavior {enable | disable}



Default

Mode

AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference

IPv6 RIP Configuration Commands

Parameter	Description
enable	The metric values displayed for routes in the RIP routing table are the values <i>before</i> modification by this RIP router (the AX device).
disable	The metric values displayed for routes in the RIP routing table are the values <i>after</i> modification by this RIP router (the AX device).
disable	
IPv6 RIP	

default-information originate

Description	Enable generation of a default route into RIP.	
Syntax	[no] default-information originate	
Default	Disabled	
Mode	IPv6 RIP	

default-metric

Description	Configure the defar RIP.	ult metric value for routes that are redistributed into IPv6	
Syntax	[no] default-metric num		
	Parameter	Description	
	num	Specifies the default metric, 1-16.	
Default	1		
Mode	IPv6 RIP		

distribute-list

Description	Configure filtering of route updates.
Syntax	<pre>[no] distribute-list {acl-id prefix list-name} {in out} [interface]</pre>



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference IPv6 RIP Configuration Commands

	Parameter	Description	
	acl-id		
	prefix list- name	ACL or prefix list that specifies the routes to fil- ter. The action you use in the ACL or prefix list determines whether matching routes are allowed:	
		permit – Matching routes are allowed.	
		deny – Matching routes are prohibited.	
	in / out	Traffic direction for which to filter updates:	
		in – Inbound route updates are filtered.	
		out – Outbound route updates are filtered.	
	interface	Interface on which updates are filtered. You can specify the following types of interfaces:	
		ethernet <i>portnum</i> – Ethernet data interface.	
		loopback [<i>num</i>] – Loopback interface. If you do not specify an interface number, route updates are filtered out on all loopback interfaces.	
		management – Ethernet management interface.	
		trunk trunknum – Trunk interface.	
		ve <i>ve</i> - <i>num</i> – Virtual Ethernet (VE) interface.	
		If you do not specify an interface, the filter applies to all interfaces.	
Note:	The internal option is	not applicable.	
	Route updates are not filt	ered out.	
	IPv6 RIP		
Distribute lists can be global or interf		bal or interface-specified:	
	• If you do not specify an interface with the distribute list, the list is global.		
	• If you do specify an interface with the distribute list, the list applies only to routes received (in) or advertised (out) on that interface.		
	The AX device can have one global inbound distribute list and one global outbound distribute list. Likewise, each interface can have one inbound distribute list and one outbound distribute list.		

Default

Mode

Usage



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference IPv6 RIP Configuration Commands

For inbound updates, if the interface on which the update is received has a distribute list, that distribute list is checked before the global distribute list. Likewise, for outbound updates, the distribute list on the outbound interface is checked before the global distribute list. The action (permit or deny) in the first distribute list that matches is used.

ACL Implicit Deny Rule

Every ACL has an implicit "deny any" rule at the end. Traffic that does not match any of the explicitly configured rules in an ACL will match the implicit deny rule.

neighbor

Description	Specify a neighboring IP	v6 RIP router.
Syntax	[no] neighbor i	pv6addr interface
	Parameter	Description
	ipv6addr	Link-local IPv6 address of the neighboring IPv6 RIP router.
	interface	Interface on which the neighbor can be reached. You can specify the following types of interfaces:
		ethernet <i>portnum</i> – Ethernet data inter- face.
		loopback [<i>num</i>] – Loopback interface. If you do not specify an interface number, the neighbor is added for all loopback interfaces.
		management – Etrhernet management inter- face.
		trunk trunknum – Trunk interface.
		ve <i>ve</i> - <i>num</i> – Virtual Ethernet (VE) interface.
Note:	The internal option is	not applicable.
Default	None	
Mode	IPv6 RIP	
Usage	Enter the command sepa	rately for each IPv4 RIP neighbor.



Description]	Increase the metric for specific routes.	
Syntax		[no] offset-list [<i>interface</i>]	acl-id {in out} offset
	F	Parameter	Description
		acl-id	ACL that matches on the routes for which to increase the metric.
		in out	Direction to which to apply the metric:
			in – Applies the additional metric value to routes received in updates from RIP neighbors.
			out – Applies the additional metric value to routes advertised to RIP neighbors.
		offset	Additional metric to add to routes. You can spec- ify 0-16.
		interface	Interface on which to increase the metric. You can specify the following types of interfaces:
			ethernet <i>portnum</i> – Ethernet data interface.
			loopback [<i>num</i>] – Loopback interface. If you do not specify an interface number, the metric is increased on all loopback interfaces.
			management – Etrhernet management inter- face.
			trunk trunknum – Trunk interface.
			ve <i>ve</i> - <i>num</i> – Virtual Ethernet (VE) interface.
			If you do not specify an interface, the metric is increased on all interfaces.
N	ote:	The internal option is a	not applicable.
Default	l i	Not set. The metric that is used.	s otherwise applied to the route by the RIP process
Mode]	IPv6 RIP	



passive-interface

Description	Block RIP broadcasts from being sent on an interface.		
Syntax	[no] passive-interface interface		
	Parameter	Description	
	interface	Interface on which to block RIP broadcasts. You can specify the following types of interfaces:	
		ethernet <i>portnum</i> – Ethernet data inter- face.	
		loopback [<i>num</i>] – Loopback interface. If you do not specify an interface number, RIP broadcasts are blocked on all loopback interfaces.	
		trunk trunknum – Trunk interface.	
		ve <i>ve</i> - <i>num</i> – Virtual Ethernet (VE) interface.	
Default	None. RIP broadcast	s are not blocked on any interfaces.	
Mode	IPv6 RIP		

recv-buffer-size

Description	Configure the receive buffer size for RIP UDP packets.	
Syntax	[no] recv-buffer-size bytes	
	Parameter	Description
	bytes	Maximum RIP UDP packet size allowed. You can specify 8192-2147483647 bytes.
Default	8192	
Mode	IPv6 RIP	



redistribute

Description

Syntax

Redistribute route information from other sources into RIP.

```
[no] redistribute
{
  bgp [options] |
  connected [options] |
  floating-ip [options] |
  ip-nat [options] |
  ip-nat-list [options] |
  isis [options] |
  static [options] |
  vip [only-flagged | only-not-flagged [options]]
 }
```

Parameter	Description
bgp [options]	Redistributes route information from Border Gateway Protocol (BGP) into RIP. For <i>options</i> , see the end of this parameter list.
connected	
[options]	Redistributes route information for directly con- nected networks into RIP. For <i>options</i> , see the end of this parameter list.
floating-ip	
[options]	Redistributes route information for floating IP addresses into RIP. For <i>options</i> , see the end of this parameter list.
ip-nat	
[options]	Redistributes routes into RIP for reaching trans- lated NAT addresses allocated from a pool. For <i>options</i> , see the end of this parameter list.
ip-nat-list	
[options]	Redistributes routes into RIP for reaching trans- lated NAT addresses allocated from a range list. For <i>options</i> , see the end of this parameter list.
isis [options]	Redistributes route information from Intermedi- ate System to Intermediate System (IS-IS) into RIP. For <i>options</i> , see the end of this parameter list.
ospf [options]	For options, see the end of this parameter list.



Default

Mode

Usage

AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference IPv6 RIP Configuration Commands

	static [options]	Redistributes routes into RIP for reaching net- works through static routes. For <i>options</i> , see the end of this parameter list.
	vip [only-flagged only-not- flagged	
	[options]]	Redistributes routes into RIP for reaching virtual server IP addresses.
		By default, all VIPs are redistributed when you use the vip option. To restrict redistribution to a subset of VIPs, use one of the following options:
		only-flagged – Redistributes only the VIPs on which the redistribution-flagged command is used.
		only-not-flagged – Redistributes all VIPs <i>except</i> those on which the redistribu-tion-flagged command is used.
		For more information, see "Usage".
		For <i>options</i> , see below.
	options	Optional parameters supported for all the options listed above:
		metric <i>num</i> – Metric for the route, 0-16. There is no default.
		route-map <i>map-name</i> – Name of a route map. (To configure a route map, use the route-map <i>map-name</i> command at the global configuration level of the CLI.)
Note:	The kernel option is no	ot applicable.
	Disabled. By default, Rl see above.	P routes are not redistributed. For other defaults,
	IPv6 RIP	
	When you enable redistri are redistributed. For exa are redistributed into RIF	ibution, routes to all addresses of the specified type ample, if you use the vip option, routes to all VIPs 2.



VIP Redistribution

You can exclude redistribution of individual VIPs using one or the other of the following methods. They are mutually exclusive.

- If more VIPs will be excluded than will be allowed to be redistributed:
 - At the configuration level for each of the VIPs to allow to be redistributed, enter the following command: **redistribution-flagged**
 - At the configuration level for the RIP process, enter the following command: redistribute vip only-flagged
- If fewer VIPs will be excluded than will be allowed to be redistributed:
 - At the configuration level for each of the VIPs to exclude from redistribution, enter the following command: **redistribution-flagged**
 - At the configuration level for the RIP process, enter either of the following commands: redistribute vip only-not-flagged or redistribute vip
- **Note:** In the configuration, the **redistribute vip only-not-flagged** command is automatically converted into the **redistribute vip** command. When you display the configuration, it will contain the **redistribute vip** command, not the **redistribute vip only-not-flagged** command. This command conversion makes the behavior in the current release backwards compatible with the behavior in previous releases.

VIP Redistribution Usage Examples:

- If you have 10 VIPs and all of them need to be redistributed by RIP, use the **redistribute vip** command at the configuration level for the RIP process.
- If you have 10 VIPs but only 2 of them need to be redistributed, use the **redistribution-flagged** command at the configuration level for each of the 2 VIPs, then use the **redistribute vip only-flagged** command at the configuration level for the RIP process.
- If you have 10 VIPs and need to redistribute 8 of them, use the **redistribution-flagged** command at the configuration level for the 2 VIPs that should *not* be redistributed. Enter the **redistribute vip only-not-flagged** command at the configuration level for the RIP process. (In this case, alternatively, you could enter **redistribute vip** instead of **redistribute vip only-not-flagged**.)



route

Description	Configure static RIP routes.		
Syntax	[no] route ipv6addr/prefix-length		
	Parameter	Description	
	ipv6addr/ prefix-length	Destination of the route.	
Default	None		
Mode	IPv6 RIP		
route-map			
Description	Configure a list of interfaces to use as input to other RIP commands.		
Syntax	<pre>[no] route-map map-name {in out} interface</pre>		
	Parameter	Description	
	map-name	Name of the route map.	
	$\texttt{in} \mid \texttt{out}$	Direction to which the map applies:	
		in – Applies to incoming routes received in updates from RIP neighbors.	
		out – Applies to routes advertised to RIP neighbors.	
	interface	Interface to which to apply the route map. You can specify the following types of interfaces:	
		ethernet <i>portnum</i> – Ethernet data interface.	
		loopback [<i>num</i>] – Loopback interface. If you do not specify an interface number, the route map is applied to all loopback interfaces.	
		management – Etrhernet management inter- face.	
		trunk trunknum – Trunk interface.	
		ve <i>ve</i> - <i>num</i> -Virtual Ethernet (VE) interface.	

None



Mode

IPv6 RIP

timers

Description	Configure RIP timers.	
Syntax	[no] timers basic update timeout garbage-collection	
	Parameter	Description
	update	Amount of time between transmission of RIP route updates to neighbors. You can specify 5-2147483647 seconds.
	timeout	Maximum number of seconds the AX device waits for an update to a RIP route before the route becomes invalid. You can specify 5-2147483647 seconds.
		An invalid route remains in the route table and is not actually removed until the garbage-collection timer expires. (See below.)
	garbage- collection	Amount of time after a route becomes invalid that the route remains in the route table before being removed. You can specify 5-2147483647 seconds.
Default	The RIP timers have the f	following default values:
	• update -30	
	• timeout - 180	
	• garbage-collect	zion – 120
Mode	IPv6 RIP	
Usage	All RIP routers in the network should use the same timer values. However, the timers should not be synchronized among multiple routers, since this can cause unnecessary collisions.	



Interface-Level IPv6 RIP Command

The commands in this section apply specifically to the IPv6 interface on which you enter them. In cases where the same parameter can be set globally and on individual interfaces, the setting on an individual interface overrides the global setting.

ipv6 rip split-horizon

Description	Configure the split-horizon method. Split horizon prevents the AX device from advertising a route to the neighbor that advertised the same route to the AX device.	
Syntax	[no] ipv6 rip split-horizon [poisoned]	
	Parameter	Description
	poisoned	Enables advertisement of a route to the neighbor that advertised the route to the AX device, but sets the metric value to infinity, thus making the route advertised by the AX device unusable by the neighbor.
		If you omit the poisoned option, advertisement of a route to the neighbor that advertised the route to the AX device is not allowed.
Default	Split-horizon with poison is enabled.	
Mode	Interface	





RIP Show Commands

This section lists the RIP show commands.

show ip rip database

Description	Display the RIP IPv4 route database.
-------------	--------------------------------------

Syntax show ip rip database

All

Mode

show ipv6 rip database

Description	Display the RIP IPv4 route database.		
Syntax	show ipv6 rip database		
Mode	All		

RIP Clear Commands

This section lists the RIP clear commands.

clear ip rip route

Description	Clears routes from the IPv4 RIP table.	
Syntax	<pre>clear ip rip route {ipaddr/mask-length rip}</pre>	
	Parameter	Description
	ipaddr/mask- length	Clears the route to the specified network.
	rip	Clears <i>all</i> RIP routes from the table.
Mode	Privileged EXEC or any configuration level	



clear ipv6 rip route

Description	Clears routes from the II	Pv6 RIP table.
Syntax	<pre>clear ipv6 rip route { ipv6addr/mask-length all bgp connected floating-ip ip-nat ip-nat-list isis ospf rip static vip [only-flagged only-not-flagged] }</pre>	
	Parameter	Description
	ipv6addr/mask- length	Clears the route to the specified network.
	all	Clears <i>all</i> RIP routes from the table.
	bgp	Clears all RIP routes received from BGP.
	connected	Clears all RIP routes to directly connected net- works.
	floating-ip	Clears all RIP routes to floating IP addresses.
	ip-nat	Clears all RIP routes to translated NAT addresses allocated from a pool.
	ip-nat-list	Clears all RIP routes to translated NAT addresses allocated from a range list.
	isis	Clears all RIP routes received from IS-IS.
	ospf	Clears all RIP routes received from OSPF.
	static	Clears all static RIP routes.
	vip [only-flagged only-not- flagged]	Clears all RIP routes to virtual server IP addresses.





By default, routes to all VIPs are cleared. To clear routes to a subset of VIPs, use one of the following options:

only-flagged – Clears the RIP routes to only the VIPs on which the redistributionflagged command is used.

only-not-flagged - Clears the RIP routes to all VIPs except those on which the redistribution-flagged command is used.

The **kernel** option is not applicable. Note:

Mode

Privileged EXEC or any configuration level



Config Commands: Router – OSPF

This chapter describes the commands for configuring global OSPFv2 and OSPFv3 parameters.

- **Note:** This CLI level also has the following commands, which are available at all configuration levels:
 - clear See <u>"clear" on page 59</u>.
 - **debug** See <u>"debug" on page 64</u>.
 - **do** See <u>"do" on page 117</u>.
 - end See <u>"end" on page 123</u>.
 - exit See <u>"exit" on page 124</u>.
 - **no** See <u>"no" on page 155</u>.
 - show See <u>"Show Commands" on page 689</u>.
 - write See <u>"write terminal" on page 78</u>.

Enabling OSPF

To enable OSPF, use one of the following commands at the global configuration level of the CLI. Each command changes the CLI to the configuration level for the specified OSPFv2 process ID or OSPFv3 process tag.

Enabling OSPFv2

router ospf [process-id]

The *process-id* specifies the IPv4 OSPFv2 process to run on the AX device, and can be 1-65535.

Enabling OSPFv3

router ipv6 ospf [tag]

The *tag* specifies the IPv6 OSPFv3 process to run on the IPv6 link, and can be 1-65535.



Interface-level OSPF Commands

In addition to global parameters, OSPF has parameters on the individual interface level. To configure OSPF on an interface, use the **interface** command to access the configuration level for the interface, then use the **ip ospf** or **ipv6 ospf** command. (See <u>"Config Commands: Interface" on page 203</u>.)

Show Commands

To display OSPF settings, use **show ip ospf** or **show ipv6 ospf** commands. (See <u>"Show Commands" on page 689</u>.)

Global Configuration Commands Applicable to OSPFv2 or OSPFv3

The following configuration commands are applicable to OSPFv2 and OSPFv3.

The commands in this section apply throughout the OSPFv2 process or OSPFv3 process in which the commands are entered.

area area-id default-cost

Description	Specify the cost of a default summary route sent into a stub area.	
Syntax	[no] area area-id default-cost num Parameter Description	
	area-id	Area ID, either an IP address or a number.
	num	Cost of the default summary route, 0-16777214.
Default	The default is 1.	
Mode	OSPFv2 or OSPFv3	
Example	The following command assigns a cost of 4400 to default summary routes injected into stub areas:	

AX(config-router)#area 5.5.5.5 default-cost 4400



area area-id range

Description	Summarize routes at an area boundary.	
Syntax	[no] area area-id range ipaddr/mask-length [advertise not-advertise]	
	Parameter	Description
	area-id	Beginning area ID.
	range area-id	Ending area ID.
	ipaddr	Subnet address for the range.
	/mask-length	Network mask length for the range.
	advertise	Generates Type 3 summary LSAs for the areas in the range.
	not-advertise	Does not generate Type 3 summary LSAs. The networks are hidden from other networks.
Default	There is no default range configuration. When you configure a range, the default advertisement string is advertise.	
Mode	OSPFv2 or OSPFv3	
Example	The following command configures a range and disables advertisement of routes into the areas:	
AX(config-router)# area	8.8.8.8 range 10.10.10.10/16 not-advertise	

area area-id stub

Description	Configure a stub area.	
Syntax	[no] area area-id stub [no-summary]	
	Parameter	Description
	area-id	Area ID.
	no-summary	ABRs do not send summary LSAs into the stub area.
Default	None	
Mode	OSPFv2 or OSPFv3	



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference Global Configuration Commands Applicable to OSPFv2 or OSPFv3

Example

The following command configures a stub area with area ID 10.2.4.5:

AX(config-router)#area 10.2.4.5 stub

area area-id virtual-link

Description	Configure a link between backbone areas.	n two backbone areas that are separated by non-
Syntax	[no] area area- [authentication [authentication [dead-interval [hello-interval [message-digest [retransmit-interval [transmit-delay]	<pre>id virtual-link ipaddr] -key string [string]] seconds] seconds] -key num md5 string [string]] erval seconds] seconds]</pre>
	Parameter	Description
	area-id	Area ID, either an IP address or a number.
	ipaddr	IP address of the OSPF neighbor at the other end of the link.
	authentication	Enables authentication on the link.
	authentication- key string [string]	Specifies a simple text password for authenticat- ing OSPF traffic between this router and the neighbor at the other end of the virtual link. The <i>string</i> is an 8-character authentication password.
	dead-interval	
	seconds	Number of seconds this OSPF router will wait for a reply to a hello message sent to the neighbor on the other end of the virtual link, before declar- ing the neighbor to be offline. You can specify 1-65535 seconds.
	hello-interval	
	seconds	Number of seconds this OSPF router waits between sending hello messages to the neighbor on the other end of the virtual link. You can spec- ify 1-65535 seconds.



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference

Global Configuration Commands Applicable to OSPFv2 or OSPFv3

	message-digest- key num md5	
	string [string]	Specifies an MD5 key, 1-255. The <i>string</i> is a 16-character authentication password.
	retransmit- interval seconds	Number of seconds this OSPF router waits before resending an unacknowledged packet to the neighbor on the other end of the virtual link. You can specify 1-65535 seconds.
	transmit-delay	Number of grounds this OCDE menter muite
	seconas	Number of seconds this OSPF router waits between sending packets to the neighbor on the other end of the virtual link. You can specify 1-65535 seconds.
Default	None. When you configutings:	are a virtual link, it has the following default set-
	• authentication – disa	bled
	• authentication-key –	not set
	• dead-interval – 40	
	• hello-interval – 10	
	• message-digest-key -	- not set
	• retransmit-interval -	- 5
	• transmit-delay – 1	
Mode	OSPFv2 or OSPFv3	
auto-cost refere	nce bandwidt	h
Description	Change the reference ban	dwidth used by OSPF to calculate default metrics.
Syntax	[no] auto-cost r	eference-bandwidth mbps
	Parameter	Description
	mbps	Specifies the reference bandwidth, in Mbps. You can specify 1-4294967.
Default	100 Mbps	



-1	AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference
AlleNetworks	Global Configuration Commands Applicable to OSPFv2 or OSPFv3
Mode	OSPFv2 or OSPFv3
Usage	By default, OSPF calculates the OSPF metric for an interface by dividing the reference bandwidth by the interface bandwidth. This command differ- entiates high-bandwidth links from lower-bandwidth links. If multiple links have high bandwidth, specify a larger reference bandwidth so that the cost of those links is differentiated from the cost of lower-bandwidth links.
bfd	

Description	Enable BFD on all interfaces for which OSPF is running.	
Syntax	[no] bfd all-interfaces	
Default	Disabled	
Mode	OSPFv2 or OSPFv3	

default-metric

Description	Set the numeric cost that is assigned to OSPF routes by default. The metric (cost) is added to routes when they are redistributed.	
Syntax	[no] default-metric num	
	Parameter	Description
	num	Default cost, 0-16777214.
Default	20	
Mode	OSPFv2 or OSPFv3	
Example	The following command configures a default metric of 6666:	
NV(config routor)#dof	ault-motria 6666	

AX(config-router)#default-metric 6666



distribute-internal

Description	Enable redistribution of AX-specific resources as internal routes (type-1 LSAs).	
Syntax	<pre>[no] distribute-internal {floating-ip ip-nat ip-nat-list vip vip-only-flagged} area area-id [cost num]</pre>	
	Parameter	Description
	floating-ip [options]	Redistributes routes into OSPF for reaching HA floating IP addresses.
	ip-nat	Redistributes routes into OSPF for reaching translated NAT addresses allocated from a pool.
	ip-nat-list	Redistributes routes into OSPF for reaching translated NAT addresses allocated from a range list.
	vip	Redistributes routes into OSPF for reaching vir- tual server IP addresses.
	vip-only- flagged	Same as the vip option, but applies only to VIPs on which the redistribution-flagged option is enabled.
	area area-id	Specifies the OSPF area into which to redistrib- ute the internal routes.
	cost num	Specifies the cost for using the internally redis- tributed routes. You can specify 1-65535. The default is 1.
Default	Disabled. By default, OSPF routes are not redistributed. For other defaults, see above.	
Mode	OSPFv2 or OSPFv3	
Usage	Routes that are redistributed into OSPF as <i>external</i> routes are redistributed as type-5 link state advertisement (LSAs). Routes that are redistributed into OSPF as <i>internal</i> routes are redistributed as type-1 LSAs.	
	You can enable <i>either</i> extra cific resource type.	ernal or internal redistribution for a given AX-spe-



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference Global Configuration Commands Applicable to OSPFv2 or OSPFv3

Example	The following command enables internal distribution into OSPF area 0, of routes to all VIPs configured on the AX device, and assigns cost 11 to the routes:	
AX(config-router)# dist	ribute-internal vip area 0 cost 11	
Example	The following command enables internal distribution into OSPF area 1, of routes to VIPs that have the redistribution-flagged option, and assigns cost 21 to the routes:	
AX(config-router)# dist	ribute-internal vip-only-flagged area 1 cost 21	
Example	The following command enables internal distribution into OSPF area 5, of routes to HA floating IP addresses, and assigns cost 555 to the routes:	
AX(config-router)# dist	ribute-internal floating-ip area 5 cost 555	
Example	The following command displays the OSPF IPv4 route table. The routes configured for internal distribution are indicated by "internal".	
AX(config-router)# show ip	ospf route	
OSPF process 11: counter		
N1 - OSPF NSSA ext E1 - OSPF external	ernal type 1, N2 - OSPF NSSA external type 2 type 1, E2 - OSPF external type 2	
C 6.1.1.0/24 [10] is dir C 111.1.1.2/32 [21] is d C 111.1.1.3/32 [11] is d	ectly connected, ve 6, Area 0.0.0.0 irectly connected, internal vip-only-flagged, Area 0.0.0.1 lirectly connected, internal vip, Area 0.0.0.0	

```
C 200.1.1.2/32 [555] is directly connected, internal floating-ip, Area 0.0.0.5
```

ha-standby-extra-cost

Description	Enable OSPF awareness of High Availability (HA).		
Syntax	[no] ha-star	[no] ha-standby-extra-cost num	
	Parameter	Description	
	rıum	Specifies the extra cost to add to the AX device's OSPF interfaces, if the HA status of one or more of the device's HA groups is Standby. You can specify 1-65535. If the resulting cost value is more than 65535, the cost is set to 65535.	
Default	Not set. The OSPF (Active or Standby	Not set. The OSPF protocol on the AX device is not aware of the HA state (Active or Standby) of the AX device.	
318 of 804	_	Customer Driven Innovation	



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference Global Configuration Commands Applicable to OSPFv2 or OSPFv3 OSPFv2 or OSPFv3

Usage

Mode

Enter the command on each of the AX devices in the HA pair.

log-adjacency-changes

Description	Log adjacency changes.	
Syntax	[no] log-adjacency-changes [detail]	
Default	Disabled	
Mode	OSPFv2 or OSPFv3	

max-concurrent-dd

Description	Set the maximum number of OSPF neighbors that can be processed concur- rently during database exchange between this OSPF router and its OSPF neighbors.	
Syntax	[no] max-concurrent-dd num	
	Parameter	Description
	num	Specifies the maximum number of neighbors that can be processed at the same time during data- base exchange. You can specify 1-65535.
Default	Not set (no limit)	
Mode	OSPFv2 or OSPFv3	
Usage	This command is useful in cases where router performance is being adversely affected by processing of neighbor adjacencies.	
maximum-area		

Description	Set the maximum number of OSPF areas supported for this OSPF process.
Syntax	[no] maximum-area num





	Parameter	Description
	num	Specifies the maximum number of areas allowed for this OSPF process. You can specify 1-4294967294.
Default	4294967294	
Mode	OSPFv2 or OSPFv3	
passive-interfac	ce	
Description	Disable Link-State Adver	tisements (LSAs) from being sent on an interface.
Syntax	<pre>[no] passive-int {ethernet portnu ve ve-num}</pre>	erface m loopback num management
Default	LSAs are enabled. (No in	terfaces are passive.)
Mode	OSPFv2 or OSPFv3	
Example	The following command on the following command	configures a passive interface on the Virtual Ether- AN 3:

AX(config-router) **#passive-interface ve 3**



Description

Enable distribution of routes from other sources into OSPF.

```
[no] redistribute
bgp [options]
connected [options] |
floating-ip [options] |
ip-nat [ipaddr/mask-length
  floating-IP-forward-address ipaddr] [options] |
ip-nat-list [options] |
is-is [options]
kernel [options] |
nat64 [options]
ospf [process-id] [options]
rip [options] |
static [options]
vip [ipaddr floating-IP-forward-address ipaddr |
  {only-flagged | only-not-flagged}] [options]
}
```

Parameter	Description
bgp [options]	Redistributes BGP routes into OSPF. For <i>options</i> , see the end of this parameter list.
connected	
[options]	Redistributes routes into OSPF for reaching directly connected networks. For <i>options</i> , see the end of this parameter list.
floating-ip	
[options]	Redistributes routes into OSPF for reaching HA floating IP addresses. For <i>options</i> , see the end of this parameter list.
<pre>ip-nat [ipaddr/mask- length floating-IP- forward-address ipaddr]</pre>	
[options]	Redistributes routes into OSPF for reaching translated NAT addresses allocated from a pool.
	By default, the forward address for all redistrib- uted NAT pool addresses is 0.0.0.0. To set a floating IP address as the forward address, use

the *ipaddr/mask-length*] option to specify the



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference Global Configuration Commands Applicable to OSPFv2 or OSPFv3

	NAT pool address. The floating-IP-forward- address <i>ipaddr</i> option specifies the forward address to use when redistributing the route to the NAT pool address.
	For options, see the end of this parameter list.
ip-nat-list	
[options]	Redistributes routes into OSPF for reaching translated NAT addresses allocated from a range list. For <i>options</i> , see the end of this parameter list.
is-is [options]	Redistributes IS-IS routes into OSPF. For <i>options</i> , see the end of this parameter list.
kernel	
[options]	The kernel options are not applicable to the current release and are not supported.
nat64	
[options]	Redistributes routes into NAT64. For <i>options</i> , see the end of this parameter list. (This command applies to OSPFv3 and does not appear in the OSPFv2 CLI syntax.)
ospf	
[process-id]	
[options]	Redistributes routes into this OSPFv2 process for reaching networks in another OSPFv2 process. For <i>options</i> , see the end of this parameter list.
rip	
[options]	
	Redistributes RIP routes into OSPF.
	For options, see the end of this parameter list.
static	
[options]	Redistributes routes into OSPF for reaching net- works through static routes. For <i>options</i> , see the end of this parameter list.



Global Configuration Commands Applicable to OSPFv2 or OSPFv3

```
vip [ipaddr
floating-IP-
forward-address
ipaddr |
{only-flagged |
only-not-
flagged}]
[options]
```

Redistributes routes into OSPF for reaching virtual server IP addresses.

By default, the forward address for all redistributed VIPs is 0.0.0.0. To set a floating IP address as the forward address, use the *ipaddr* option to specify the VIP address. Use the **floating-IP-forward-address** *ipaddr* option to specify the forward address to use when redistributing the route to the VIP.

By default, all VIPs are redistributed when you use the **vip** option. To restrict redistribution to a subset of VIPs, use one of the following options:

only-flagged – Redistributes only the VIPs on which the **redistribution-flagged** command is used.

only-not-flagged – Redistributes all VIPs *except* those on which the **redistribution-flagged** command is used.

For more information, see "Usage".

For options, see below.

Optional parameters supported for all the options listed above:

metric-type $\{1 \mid 2\}$ – External link type associated with the route advertised into the OSPF routing domain:

- 1 Type 1 external route
- 2 Type 2 external route

metric num – Metric for the route, 0-16777214. The default is 20.

route-map *map-name* – Name of a route map. (To configure a route map, see <u>"route-map" on</u> page 160.)

tag *num* – Includes the specified tag value in external Link-State Advertisements (LSAs).

options



Inter-domain routers running Border Gateway Protocol (BGP) can be configured to make routing decisions based on the tag value. The tag value can be 0-4294967295. The default is 0.

Note: The **kernel** options are not applicable to the current release and are not supported.

Default Disabled. By default, OSPF routes are not redistributed. For other defaults, see above.

Mode OSPFv2 or OSPFv3

Usage When you enable redistribution, routes to all addresses of the specified type are redistributed. For example, if you use the **vip** option, routes to all VIPs are redistributed into OSPF.

By default, the AX device uses 0.0.0.0 as the forward address in routes that are redistributed in OSPF type-5 link state advertisement (LSAs). In this case, other OSPF routers find a route to reach the AX device (which is acting as OSPF ASBR), then use the corresponding next-hop address as the next hop for the destination network. You can specify a floating IP address to use as the forward address, for individual NAT pools or VIPs. (See the syntax above.)

VIP Redistribution

You can exclude redistribution of individual VIPs using one or the other of the following methods. They are mutually exclusive.

- If more VIPs will be excluded than will be allowed to be redistributed:
 - At the configuration level for each of the VIPs to allow to be redistributed, enter the following command: **redistribution-flagged**
 - At the configuration level for the OSPFv2 process or OSPFv3 process, enter the following command: redistribute vip only-flagged
- If fewer VIPs will be excluded than will be allowed to be redistributed:
 - At the configuration level for each of the VIPs to exclude from redistribution, enter the following command: **redistribution-flagged**
 - At the configuration level for the OSPFv2 process or OSPFv3 process, enter either of the following commands: redistribute vip only-not-flagged or redistribute vip
- **Note:** In the configuration, the **redistribute vip only-not-flagged** command is automatically converted into the **redistribute vip** command. When you display the configuration, it will contain the **redistribute vip** command, not the **redistribute vip only-not-flagged** command. This command con-

-2	AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference
All Networks	Blobal Configuration Commands Applicable to OSPFv2 or OSPFv3
	version makes the behavior in the current release backwards compatible with the behavior in previous releases.
	VIP Redistribution Usage Examples:
	• If you have 10 VIPs and all of them need to be redistributed by OSPF, use the redistribute vip command at the configuration level for the OSPF process.
	• If you have 10 VIPs but only 2 of them need to be redistributed, use the redistribution-flagged command at the configuration level for each of the 2 VIPs, then use the redistribute vip only-flagged command at the configuration level for the OSPFv2 process or OSPFv3 process.
	• If you have 10 VIPs and need to redistribute 8 of them, use the redistribution-flagged command at the configuration level for the 2 VIPs that should <i>not</i> be redistributed. Enter the redistribute vip only-not-flagged command at the configuration level for the OSPFv2 process or OSPFv3 process. (In this case, alternatively, you could enter redistribute vip instead of redistribute vip only-not-flagged .)
Example	The following commands redistribute floating IP addresses and VIP addresses into OSPF:
AX(config-router)# red AX(config-router)# red	istribute floating-ip istribute vip
Example	The following commands flag a VIP, then configure OSPF to redistribute only that flagged VIP. The other (unflagged) VIPs will not be redistributed.
AX(config) #slb virtua AX(config-slb virtual AX(config-slb virtual AX(config) #router osp AX(config-router) redi	<pre>l-server vip1 server)#redistribution-flagged server)#exit f stribute vip only-flagged</pre>
Example	The following command enables redistribution of VIPs, and sets tag value 555 to be included in external LSAs that advertise the route to the VIP:
AX(config-router)# red	istribute vip metric-type 1 metric 1 tag 555

router-id

Description	Set the value used by this OSPF router to identify itself when exchanging route information with other OSPF routers.
Syntax	[no] router-id ipaddr


All Networks G		AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference		
		obal Configuration Commands Applicable to OSPFv2 or OSPFv3		
Default		For OSPFv2, the default router ID is the highest-numbered IP address con- figured on any of the AX device's loopback interfaces. If no loopback inter- faces are configured, the highest-numbered IP address configured on any of the AX device's other Ethernet data interfaces is used.		
		For OSPFv3, the router ID must be set.		
:	Note:	Setting the router ID is required for OSPFv3 and is strongly recommended for OSPFv2.		
Mode		OSPFv2 or OSPFv3		
Usage		The AX device has only one router ID. The address does not need to match an address configured on the AX device. However, the address must be an IPv4 address and must be unique within the routing domain.		
		New or changed router IDs require a restart of the OSPF process. To restart the OSPF process, use the clear ip ospf process command.		
Example		The following commands set the router ID to 2.2.2.2 and reload OSPF to place the new router ID into effect:		
AX(config-router AX(config-router	r) #rout e r) #clea :	er-id 2.2.2.2 r ip ospf process		

timers spf exp

Description	Change Shortest Path First (SPF) timers used for route recalculation follow- ing a topology change. This command enables exponential back-off delays for route recalculation.	
Syntax	[no] timers spf exp min-delay max-delay	
	Parameter	Description
	min-delay	Specifies the minimum number of milliseconds (ms) the OSPF process waits after receiving a topology change, before recalculating its OSPF routes. You can specify 0-2147483647.
	max-delay	Specifies the maximum number of milliseconds (ms) the OSPF process waits after receiving a topology change, before recalculating its OSPF routes. You can specify 0-2147483647.
Default	The default <i>min-delay</i> is 500 ms. The default <i>max-delay</i> is 50000 ms.	
Mode	OSPFv2 or OSPFv3	
326 of 804	Customer Driven Innovation Document No.: D-030-01-00-0003 - Ver. 2.6.6-GR1 5/8/2013	



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference Global Configuration Commands Applicable to OSPFv2 Only

Usage

After you enter this command, any pending route recalculations are rescheduled based on the new timer values.

Global Configuration Commands Applicable to OSPFv2 Only

The following configuration commands are applicable to OSPFv2 only.

The commands in this section apply throughout the OSPFv2 process in which the commands are entered.

area area-id authentication

Description	Enable authentication for an OSPF area.		
Syntax	[no] area area-id authentication [message-digest]		
	Parameter	Description	
	message-digest	Enables MD5 authentication. If you omit this option, simple text authentication is used.	
Default	Disabled. No authentication is used.		
Mode	OSPFv2		
Usage	To configure a simple text	password or MD5 key, see <u>"ip ospf" on page 215</u> .	

area area-id filter-list

 Description
 Filter the summary routes advertised by this OSPF router, if it is acting as an Area Border Router (ABR).

 Syntax
 [no] area area-id filter-list
 {
 access acl-id {in | out} |
 prefix list-name {in | out}
 }
 }





AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference Global Configuration Commands Applicable to OSPFv2 Only

	Parameter	Description
	area-id	Area ID, either an IP address or a number.
	access acl-id {in out}	ID of an Access Control List (ACL). The only routes that are advertised are routes to the subnets permitted by the ACL.
	prefix list-name { in out }	ID of an IP prefix list. The only routes that are advertised are routes to the subnets that match the list.
Default	Not set.	
Mode	OSPFv2	
Usage	You can specify an ACL <i>or</i> an IP prefix list. To configure an ACL, see <u>"access-list (standard)" on page 80</u> , <u>"access-list (extended)" on page 82</u> , or <u>"ipv6 access-list" on page 266</u> . To configure a prefix list, see <u>"ip prefix-list"</u> on page 254.	

area area-id multi-area-adjacency

Description	Enables support for multiple OSPF area adjacencies on the specified inter- face.		
Syntax	<pre>[no] area area-id multi-area-adjacency {ethernet portnum loopback num management ve ve-num} neighbor ipaddr</pre>		
Default	Disabled. By default, only one OSPF adjacency is allowed on an interface for a given OSPF process.		
Mode	OSPFv2		
Usage	This command is applicable only if this OSPF router is an ABR.		



area area-id nssa

Description	Configure a not-so-stubb	y area (NSSA).	
Syntax	<pre>[no] area area-id nssa [default-information-originate [metric num] [metric-type {1 2}] no-redistribution no-summary translator-role {always candidate never}]</pre>		
	Parameter	Description	
	area-id	Area ID.	
	<pre>default- information- originate [metric num] [metric-type {1 2}]</pre>	Generates a Type 7 LSA into the NSSA area. (This option takes effect only on Area Border Routers (ABRs)).	
		metric <i>num</i> – Metric for the default route, 0-16777214. The default is 20.	
		metric-type $\{1 \mid 2\}$ – External link type associated with the route advertised into the OSPF routing domain:	
		1 – Type 1 external route	
		2 – Type 2 external route	
	no- redistribution	Disables redistribution of routes into the area.	
	no-summary	Disables sending summary LSAs into the NSSA.	
	translator-role {always candidate never}	Specifies the types of LSA translation performed by this OSPF router for the NSSA: always – If this OSPF router is an NSSA border router, the router will always translate Type 7 LSAs into Type 5 LSAs, regardless of the trans-	



candidate – If this OSPF router is an NSSA border router, the router is eligible to be elected the Type 7 NSSA translator.

never – This OSPF router is ineligible to be elected the Type 7 NSSA translator.

Default	None
Mode	OSPFv2
Example	The following command configures an NSSA with area ID 6.6.6.6:
AX(config-router)# area	6.6.6 nssa

area area-id shortcut

Description	Configure short-cut	Configure short-cutting through an area.	
Syntax	$[no]$ area ar $\{default \mid d$	[no] area <i>area-id</i> shortcut {default disable enable}	
	Parameter	Description	
	area-id	Area ID.	
	default	Enables the default shortcut behavior. (See below.)	
	disable	Disables shortcutting through the area.	
	enable	Forces shortcutting through the area.	
Default	None		
Mode	OSPFv2		
Usage	A shortcut enables metric, regardless area.	A shortcut enables traffic to go through a non-backbone area with a lower metric, regardless of whether the ABR router is attached to the backbone area.	

capability opaque

Description	Disable or re-enable opaque LSA capability.		
Syntax	[no] capability opaque		
Default	Enabled.		
330 of 804	Customer Driven Innovation		
	DUCUMENT NO. D-030-01-00-0003 - VEL 2.0.0-GR 1 5/0/2013		



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference

Global Configuration Commands Applicable to OSPFv2 Only

OSPFv2

Usage

Mode

Opaque-LSAs deliver information used by external applications. Type 9, 10 and 11 LSAs can be opaque LSAs.

compatible rfc1583

Description	Enable calculation of summary route costs per RFC 1583.		
Syntax	[no] compatible rfc1583		
Default	Disabled. Summary route costs are calculated based on RFC 2328.		
Mode	OSPFv2		

default-information originate

Description	Create a default route into the OSPF domain.	
Syntax	<pre>[no] default-information originate [always] [metric num] [metric-type {1 2}] [route-map name]</pre>	
I	Parameter	Description
	always	Configures the AX device to automatically declare itself a default gateway for other OSPF routers, even if the AX device does not have a default route to 0.0.0.0/0.
	metric num	Metric for the default route, 0-16777214.
	<pre>metric-type {1 / 2}</pre>	External link type associated with the default route advertised into the OSPF routing domain:
		1 – Type 1 external route
		2 – Type 2 external route
	route-map map-name	Name of a route map. (To configure a route map, see <u>"route-map" on page 160</u> .)

Default

This option is disabled by default. If you enable it, the default metric is 10. The default metric type is 2.



Mode OSPF

The following command creates a default route into the OSPF domain with a metric of 20:

AX(config-router)#default-information originate metric 20

distance

Example

Description	Set the administrative dist	ance for OSPF routes, based on route type.	
Syntax	<pre>[no] distance { num ospf {external inter-area intra-area} num }</pre>		
	Parameter	Description	
	านฑ	Sets the administrative distance for all route types. You can specify 1-255.	
	ospf {external inter-area intra-area} num	Sets the administrative distance for specific route	
		types:	
		external – Routes that OSPF learns from other routing domains by redistribution.	
		intra-area – Routes within the same OSPF area.	
		inter-area – Routes between OSPF areas.	
		You can use the ospf option with one or more of its suboptions. For each route type, you can specify 1-255.	
Default	For all route types, the default administrative distance is 110.		
Mode	OSPFv2		
Usage	The administrative distance specifies the trustworthiness of routes. A low administrative distance value indicates a high level of trust. Likewise, a administrative distance value indicates a low level of trust. For example, setting the administrative distance value for external routes to 255 means those routes are very untrustworthy and should not be used.		



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference Global Configuration Commands Applicable to OSPFv2 Only

distribute-list

Description

Syntax

Filter the networks received or sent in route updates.

```
[no] distribute-list acl-id
{
in |
out {connected | floating-ip | ip-nat |
    ip-nat-list | ospf | static | vip}
```

Parameter	Description
acl-id	ID of an ACL. Only the networks permitted by the ACL will be allowed.
in	Uses the specified ACL to filter routes received by OSPF from other sources. The filter applies to routes from all sources.
out route-type	Uses the specified ACL to filter routes advertised by OSPF to other routing domains. The <i>route-</i> <i>type</i> can be one of the following:
	connected – Filters advertisement of directly connected networks.
	floating-ip – Filters advertisement of networks for HA floating IP addresses.
	ip-nat – Filters advertisement of networks that are translated NAT addresses allocated from a pool.
	ip-nat-list – Filters advertisement of networks that are translated NAT addresses allocated from a range list.
	ospf [<i>process-id</i>] – Filters advertisement of net- works to another OSPF process.
	static [only-flagged only-not-flagged] – Filters advertisement of networks reached by static routes.
	vip [only-flagged only-not-flagged] – Filters advertisement of networks to reach VIPs.
	By default, the option applies to all VIPs. To restrict the option to a subset of VIPs, use one of the following options:

-2		AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference	
Networks		Global Configuration Commands Applicable to OSPFv2 Only	
			only-flagged – Redistributes only the VIPs on which the redistribution-flagged command is used.
			only-not-flagged – Redistributes all VIPs <i>except</i> those on which the redistribution-flagged command is used.
	Note:	The bgp , isis , and kern and are not supported.	nel options are not applicable to the current release
Default		None	
Mode		OSPFv2	
host ipadd	r area	l	
Description		Configure a stub host ent	ry for an area.
Syntax		[no] host ipaddr	area area-id [cost num]
		Parameter	Description
		ipaddr	IP address of the host.
		area area-id	OSPF area where the host is located.

	T	
	area area-id	OSPF area where the host is located.
	cost num	Cost of the stub host entry, 0-65535.
Default	None	
Mode	OSPFv2	
Usage	Routes to the host are list	ed in router LSAs as stub links.

neighbor

 Description
 Configure an OSPF neighbor that is located on a non-broadcast network.

 Syntax
 [no] neighbor ipaddr

 [cost num |
 poll-interval seconds [priority num] |

 priority num [poll-interval seconds]
]



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference

Global Configuration Commands Applicable to OSPFv2 Only

	Parameter	Description
	ipaddr	IP address of the OSPF neighbor.
	cost num	Specifies the link-state metric to the neighbor, 1-65535.
	poll-interval	
	seconds	Number of seconds this OSPF router will wait for a reply to a hello message sent to the neigh- bor, before declaring the neighbor to be offline. You can specify 1-65535 seconds.
	priority num	Router priority of the neighbor, 1-255.
Default	No neighbors on non-br you configure one, the o	oadcast networks are configured by default. When ther parameters have the following default settings:
	• cost – not set	
	• poll-interval – 120 s	seconds
	• priority – 0	
Mode	OSPFv2	
Usage	This command is requir neighbors on other type OSPF protocol.	ed only for neighbors on networks. Adjacencies to s of networks are automatically established by the
	It is recommended to se hello interval.	t the poll-interval to a much higher value than the
network		
Description	Enable OSPF routing for specified area subnet.	an area, on interfaces that have IP addresses in the
Syntax	[no] network ipaddr {/mask-la area area-id [instance-id num	ength wildcard-mask} m]
	Parameter	Description
	ipaddr	
	{/mask-length wildcard-mask}	Subnet of the area. You can specify the subnet in CIDR format (<i>ipaddr/mask-length</i>) or as <i>ipaddr</i> wildcard-mask. In a wildcard-mask, 0s represent



		the network portion and 1s represent the host portion. For example, for a subnet that has 254 hosts and a 24-bit network mask, the wildcard- mask is 0.0.0.255.
	area area-id	Area ID.
	instance-id num	Range of OSPF instances for which to enable OSPF routing for the area, 0-255. If you omit this option, OSPF routing is enabled for all OSPF instances that are running on interfaces that have IP addresses in the specified area subnet.
Default	None	
Mode	OSPFv2	
Example	The following command	configures an OSPF network:

AX(config-router)#network 10.10.20.20/24 area 10.10.20.30

ospf abr-type

Description	Specify the Area Border I	Router (ABR) type.
Syntax	[no] ospf abr-ty {cisco ibm s	pe hortcut standard}
	Parameter	Description
	cisco	Alternative ABR using Cisco implementation (RFC 3509).
	ibm	Alternative ABR using IBM implementation (RFC 3509).
	shortcut	Shortcut ABR (draft-ietf-ospf-shortcut-abr-02.txt).
	standard	Standard ABR behavior (RFC 2328)
Default	cisco	
Mode	OSPFv2	



overflow database

Description	Specify the maxim number database.	er of LSAs or the maximum size of the external
Syntax	[no] overflow da { max-lsa [hard external max-lsa }	tabase soft] recover-time
	Parameter	Description
	max-lsa [hard soft]	Specifies the maximum number of LSAs per OSPF process, 0-4294967294. The hard soft option specifies the action to take if the LSA limit is exceeded:
		hard – Shut down the OSPF process for the process.
		soft – Issue a warning message without shutting down the OSPF process for the process.
	external max-lsa	
	recover-time	Specifies the maximum number of AS-external- LSAs the OSPF router can receive, 0-2147483647. The <i>recover-time</i> option specifies the number of seconds OSPF waits before attempting to recover after <i>max-lsa</i> is exceeded. You can specify 0-65535 seconds. To disable recovery, specify 0.
Default	The default max-lsa is 21	47483647.
Mode	OSPFv2	
summary-addre	ess	
Description	Summarize or disable adv address range. A summar state database.	vertisement of external routes for a specific IP y-address helps reduce the size of the OSPF link-
Syntax	[no] summary-add {not-advertise	ress ipaddr/mask tag num}





Default

Mode

AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference Global Configuration Commands Applicable to OSPFv3 Only

Parameter	Description
ipaddr/mask	Specifies the address range.
not-advertise	Disables advertisement of routes for the specified range.
tag num	Includes the specified tag value in external LSAs for IP addresses within the specified range. The tag value can be 0-4294967295. The default tag value is 0.
None	
OSPFv2	

Global Configuration Commands Applicable to OSPFv3 Only

All the global OSPF commands that are applicable to OSPFv3 are also applicable to OSPFv2. (See <u>"Global Configuration Commands Applicable to OSPFv2 or OSPFv3" on page 312</u>.)

Interface-level Configuration Commands

The commands in this section apply only to the interface at whose configuration level you enter them.

ip ospf

Description	Configure OSPFv2 para	ameters on a data interface.
Syntax	[no] ip ospf [2	[paddr] parameter
	Parameter	Description
	ipaddr	Configures the parameter only for the specified IP address. Without this option, the parameter is configured for all IP addresses on the interface.
	authentication [message-digest null]	Type of authentication used to validate OSPF route updates sent or received on this interface:
338 of 804		Customer Driven Innovation



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference

Interface-level Configuration Commands

	message-digest – Message Digest 5 (MD5)
	null – No authentication is used.
	If you enter the authentication com- mand without either of the options above, a simple key is used for authentication.
<pre>authentication- key key-string</pre>	Password used by the interface to authenticate link-state messages exchanged with neighbor OSPF routers. Applies to simple authentication only. Can be a string up to 8 characters long, with no blanks.
cost number	Numeric cost for using the interface, 1-65535.
database-filter all out	Blocks flooding of LSAs to the OSPF interface.
dead-interval seconds	Number of seconds that neighbor OSPF routers will wait for a new OSPF Hello packet from the AX Series before declaring this OSPF router (the AX Series) to be down, 1-65535 seconds.
disable all	Disables all OSPF packet processing on the inter- face.
hello-interval seconds	Number of seconds between transmission of OSPF Hello packets on this interface, 1-65535 seconds.
message-digest-	
md5 key-string	Set of MD passwords used by the interface to authenticate link-state messages exchanged with neighbor OSPF routers. You can enter up to four key strings. Applies only to MD authentication. Key strings can be up to 16 characters long, with no blanks.
mtu	Specifies the Maximum Transmission Unit (MTU) for OSPF packets transmitted on the interface. You can specify 576-65535 bytes.
mtu-ignore	Disables MTU size checking during Database Description (DD) exchange. This option is useful when the MTU at the remote end of the link is larger than the maximum MTU supported on the local end of the link.



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference Interface-level Configuration Commands

network	
network-type	OSPF network type from the default for the media. You can specify one of the following:
	broadcast – Broadcast network.
	non-broadcast – Non-broadcast multiaccess (NBMA) network.
	point-to-multipoint – Point-to-multipoint net-work.
	point-to-point – Point-to-point network.
priority number	Eligibility of this OSPF router to be elected as the designated router (DR) or backup designated router (BDRs) for the routing domain, 0-255. 1 is the lowest priority and 255 is the highest priority.
resync-timeout	
seconds	Time to wait before resetting the adjacency with a neighbor, after receiving a restart signal from the neighbor. The resync-timeout is applicable if out-of-band resynchronization does not occur following the restart signal. You can specify 1-65535 seconds.
retransmit-	
interval	
seconds	Number of seconds between retransmissions of link-state advertisements (LSAs) to adjacent routers for this interface, 3-65535 seconds.
transmit-delay	
seconds	Number of seconds it takes to transmit Link State Update packets (route updates) on this interface, 1-65535 seconds. This amount is added to the ages of LSAs sent in the updates.
The OSPF interface optio	ns have the following defaults:
• authentication – Not	set
• authentication-key –	Not set
• cost – By default, an i face's bandwidth. If th default value (100 Mb	nterface's cost is calculated based on the inter- ne auto-cost reference bandwidth is set to its ops), the default interface cost is 10.

- database-filter all out Disabled. LSA flooding is permitted.
- **dead-interval** 40 seconds
- hello-interval 10 seconds

Default

	AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference
Networks	Interface-level Configuration Commands
	• message-digest-key – Not set
	• mtu – The IP MTU set on the interface is used.
	• mtu-ignore – MTU size checking is enabled. If the MTU size in DD packets from a neighbor does not match the interface MTU, adjacency is not established.
	• network – depends on the media type
	• priority – 1
	• resync-timeout – 40 seconds
	• retransmit-interval – 5 seconds
	• transmit-delay – 1 second
Mode	Interface
Usage	The OSPF router with the highest priority is elected as the DR and the router with the second highest priority is elected as the BDR. If more than one router has the highest priority, the router with the highest OSPF router ID is selected. Priority applies only to multi-access networks, not to point-to-point networks. If you set the priority to 0, the AX Series does not participate in DR and BDR election.
	For the message-digest-key <i>key-id</i> md5 <i>key-string</i> option, the CLI lists the encrypted keyword. This keyword encrypts display of the string in the startup-config and running-config. Do not enter this keyword. The AX device automatically applies the keyword. Entering the keyword manually is not valid.
Example	The following command sets the OSPF priority on Ethernet interface 10 to 100:
AX(config-if:etherne	t10)#ip ospf priority 100

ipv6 ospf cost

Description	Explicitly set the link-state metric (cost) for this OSPF interface.	
Syntax	[no] ipv6 ospf cost num	
	Parameter	Description
	num	Specifies the cost, 1-65535.

AleNetworks	AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference Interface-level Configuration Commands
Default	By default, an interface's cost is calculated based on the interface's bandwidth. If the auto-cost reference bandwidth is set to its default value (100 Mbps), the default interface cost is 10.
Mode	Interface

ipv6 ospf dead-interval

Description	Specify the maximum time to wait for a reply to a hello message, before declaring the neighbor to be offline.	
Syntax	[no] ipv6 ospf d	ead-interval seconds
	Parameter	Description
	seconds	Number of seconds this OSPF router will wait for a reply to a hello message sent out this inter- face to an OSPF neighbor, before declaring the neighbor to be offline. You can specify 1-65535 seconds.
Default	40	
Mode	Interface	
ipv6 ospf hello-	interval	
Description	Specify the time to wait between sending hello packets to OSPF neighbors.	
Syntax	[no] ipv6 ospf hello-interval seconds	
	Parameter	Description
	seconds	Number of seconds this OSPF router will wait between transmission of hello packets out this interface to OSPF neighbors. You can specify 1-65535 seconds.
Default	10	
Mode	Interface	



ipv6 ospf mtu-ignore

Description	Disable checking o Database Descripti	Disable checking of the maximum transmission unit (MTU) during OSPFv3 Database Description (DD) exchange.	
Syntax	[no] ipv6 os	[no] ipv6 ospf mtu-ignore [instance-id num]	
	Parameter	Description	
	num	Specifies an OSPFv3 process, 0-255. If you do not use this option, MTU checking on the interface is disabled for all OSPFv3 processes.	
Default	MTU checking is e	MTU checking is enabled by default.	
Mode	Interface	Interface	

ipv6 ospf neighbor

Description	Configure an OSPFv3 neighbor that is located on a non-broadcast network reachable through this interface.		
Syntax	<pre>[no] ipv6 ospf [cost num [inst instance-id nu poll-interval [instance-id priority num [[instance-id]</pre>	<pre>[no] ipv6 ospf neighbor ipv6-addr [cost num [instance-id num] instance-id num poll-interval seconds [priority num] [instance-id num] priority num [poll-interval seconds] [instance-id num]]</pre>	
	Parameter	Description	
	ipv6-addr	IPv6 address of the OSPF neighbor.	
	cost num	Specifies the link-state metric to the neighbor, 1-65535.	
	poll-interval		
	seconds	Number of seconds this OSPFv3 interface will wait for a reply to a hello message sent to the neighbor, before declaring the neighbor to be offline. You can specify 1-65535 seconds.	
	priority num	Router priority of the neighbor, 1-255.	



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference Interface-level Configuration Commands

Default

No neighbors on non-broadcast networks are configured by default. When you configure one, the other parameters have the following default settings:

- **cost** not set
- poll-interval 120 seconds
- **priority** -0

ipv6 ospf network

344 of 804

Description	Specify the network type	
Syntax	<pre>[no] ipv6 ospf r { broadcast non-broadcast point-to-multipo point-to-point } [instance-id num</pre>	network pint n]
	Parameter	Description
	broadcast	Broadcast network.
	non-broadcast	Non-broadcast multiaccess (NBMA) network.
	point-to- multipoint	Point-to-multipoint network.
	point-to-point	Point-to-point network.
	num	Specifies an OSPFv3 process, 0-255. If you do not use this option, MTU checking on the interface is disabled for all OSPFv3 processes.
Default	Depends on the media type.	
Mode	Interface	
ipv6 ospf priori	ity	
Description	Specify the priority of th	is OSPF router (and process) on this interface for

becoming the designated router for the OSPF domain.

Syntax [no] ipv6 ospf priority num



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference

Interface-level Configuration Commands

	Parameter	Description
	rıum	Priority of this OSPF process on this interface, 0-255. The lowest priority is 0 and the highest priority is 255.
Default	1	
Mode	Interface	
Usage	If more than one OSPF rehighest router ID is selected	outer has the highest priority, the router with the ed as the designated router.

ipv6 ospf retransmit-interval

Description	Specify the time to this interface to an	Specify the time to wait before resending an unacknowledged packet out this interface to an OSPF neighbor.	
Syntax	[no] ipv6 os	pv6 ospf retransmit-interval seconds	
	Parameter	Description	
	seconds	Number of seconds this OSPF router waits before resending an unacknowledged packet out this interface to a neighbor. You can specify 1-65535 seconds.	
Default	5		
Mode	Interface		

ipv6 ospf transmit-delay

Description	Specify the time to wait between sending packets out this interface to an OSPF neighbor.	
Syntax	[no] ipv6 ospf transmit-delay seconds	
	Parameter	Description
	seconds	Number of seconds this OSPF router waits between transmission of packets out this inter- face to OSPF neighbors. You can specify 1-65535 seconds.
Default	1	



Mode

Interface

ospf

Description	Configure OSPF on the in	nterface.
Syntax	[no] ospf [ipaddr] parameter	
	Parameter	Description
	authentication [message-digest null]	Type of authentication used to validate OSPF route updates sent or received on this interface:
		message-digest – Message Digest 5 (MD5)
		null – No authentication is used.
		If you enter the authentication com- mand without either of the options above, a simple key is used for authentication.
	authentication-	
	key key-string	Password used by the interface to authenticate link-state messages exchanged with neighbor OSPF routers. Applies to simple authentication only. Can be a string up to 8 characters long, with no blanks.
	cost number	Numeric cost for using the interface, 1-65535.
	dead-interval seconds	Number of seconds that neighbor OSPF routers will wait for a new OSPF Hello packet from the AX Series before declaring this OSPF router (the AX Series) to be down, 1-65535 seconds.
	hello-interval	
	seconds	Number of seconds between transmission of OSPF Hello packets on this interface, 1-65535 seconds.
	priority number	Eligibility of this OSPF router to be elected as the designated router (DR) or backup designated router (BDRs) for the routing domain, 0-255. 1 is the lowest priority and 255 is the highest priority.



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference

Interface-level Configuration Commands

	retransmit- interval seconds	Number of seconds between retransmissions of link-state advertisements (LSAs) to adjacent routers for this interface, 3-65535 seconds.
	transmit-delay seconds	Number of seconds it takes to transmit Link State Update packets (route updates) on this interface,
		1-65535 seconds. This amount is added to the ages of LSAs sent in the updates.
Default	The OSPF interface options have the following defaults:	
	• authentication – Not	set
	• authentication-key –	Not set
	• cost – By default, and face's bandwidth. If the default value (100 Mb	interface's cost is calculated based on the inter- ne auto-cost reference bandwidth is set to its ops), the default interface cost is 10.
	• dead-interval – 40 se	conds
	• hello-interval – 10 se	conds
	• priority – 1	
	• retransmit-interval -	- 5 seconds
	• transmit-delay – 1 se	econd
Mode	Interface	





OSPF Show Commands

This section lists the OSPF show commands.

show {ip | ipv6} ospf

Description	Display configuration information and statistics for OSPFv2 processes or OSPFv3 processes.		
Syntax	show ip ospf [p]	cocess-id]	
	<pre>show ipv6 ospf [tag]</pre>		
	Parameter	Description	
	process-id	Specifies the OSPFv2 process. If you omit this option, settings for all configured OSPFv2 processes are displayed.	
	tag	Specifies the OSPFv3 process. If you omit this option, settings for all configured OSPFv3 processes are displayed.	
Mode	Privileged EXEC and all	configuration levels	
Example	The following command shows information for OSPFv2 process 0:		
ExampleThe following command shows information for OSPFv2 process 0:AX#show ip ospf 0Routing Process "ospf 0" with ID 1.1.1.1Process uptime is 3 hours 12 minutesProcess bound to VRF defaultConforms to RFC2328, and RFC1583 Compatibility flag is disabledSupports only single TOS(TOS0) routesSupports opaque LSASupports Graceful RestartThis router is an ASBR (injecting external routing information)SPF schedule delay min 0.500 secs, SPF schedule delay max 50.0 secsRefresh timer 10 secsNumber of incoming current DD exchange neighbors 0/5Number of outgoing current DD exchange neighbors 0/5Number of opaque AS LSA 0. Checksum 0x000000Number of non-default external LSA 0External LSA database is unlimited.Number of LSA originated 2Number of LSA received 79Number of areas attached to this router: 1Area 1 (NSSA)			



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference

OSPF Show Commands

Number of fully adjacent neighbors in this area is 2 Number of fully adjacent virtual neighbors through this area is 0 Area has no authentication SPF algorithm last executed 02:07:40.860 ago SPF algorithm executed 16 times Number of LSA 10. Checksum 0x06b2fa NSSA Translator State is disabled Shortcutting mode: Default, S-bit consensus: ok

show ip ospf border-routers

Description	Display route information for OSPFv2 ABRs and ASBRs.			
Syntax	show ip ospf border-routers			
Mode	Privileged EXEC and all configuration levels			
Example	The following command shows route information for ABRs and ASBRs:			
AX#show ip ospf border-routers				
OSPF process 0 internal Routing Table				
odes: i - Intra-area route, I - Inter-area route				

i 3.3.3.3 [1] via 10.0.0.1, ve 1, ABR, ASBR, Area 0.0.0.1

show ip ospf database

Description		Displays information about the OSPFv2 databases on the device.		
	Note:	The options are different for OSPFv3. See <u>"show ipv6 ospf database" on page 351</u> .		
Syntax		<pre>show ip ospf database [adv-router ipaddr {asbr-summary external network nssa-external opaque-area opaque-as opaque-link router summary} [[ipaddr [adv-router ipaddr] [self-originate]] [adv-router ipaddr] [self-originate]] max-age self-originate]</pre>		



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference OSPF Show Commands

Parameter	Description
adv-router ipaddr	Displays LSA information for the specified advertising router.
asbr-summary	Displays information about ASBR summary LSAs.
max-age	Displays information for the LSAs that have reached the maximum age allowed, which is 3600 seconds.
self-originate	Displays information for LSAs originated by this OSPF router.
external	Displays information about external LSAs.
network	Displays information about network LSAs.
nssa-external	Displays information about NSSA external LSAs.
opaque-area	Displays information about Type-10 Opaque LSAs. Type-10 Opaque LSAs are LSAs with local-area scope (link state type 10), and are not flooded outside the local area.
opaque-as	Displays information about Type-11 LSAs, which are flooded throughout the Autonomous System (AS).
opaque-link	Displays information about Type-9 LSAs. Type-9 LSAs have link-local scope, and are not flooded beyond the local network.
router	Displays information about router LSAs.
summary	Displays information about summary LSAs.
The following suboptions external, opaque-area, options:	s are available for the external , network , nssa-opaque-as , opaque-link , router , and summary
ipaddr	Displays LSA information for a specific link-

-	state ID (expressed as an IP address).	
adv-router		
ipaddr	Displays LSA information for the specified advertising router.	
self-originate	Displays information for LSAs originated by this OSPF router.	

Privileged EXEC and all configuration levels

Mode



OSPF Show Commands

Example

The following command shows the OSPFv2 database:

AX#**show ip ospf database**

	Router Link S	tates (Area 0.0.0.1 [NSSA])	
Link ID	ADV Router	Age Seq# CkSum Link count	
1.1.1.1	1.1.1.1	1105 0x800000c9 0xcb72 2	
2.2.2.2	2.2.2.2	638 0x80000008 0xdb92 2	
3.3.3.3	3.3.3.3	1998 0x800000cb 0x47c1 2	
4.4.4.4	4.4.4.4	1717 0x800000f6 0xeld2 3	
	Net Link Stat	es (Area 0.0.0.1 [NSSA])	
Link ID	ADV Router	Age Seq# CkSum	
10.0.0.1	3.3.3.3	1998 0x80000006 0xec1b	
11.0.0.1	3.3.3.3	203 0x80000005 0x14ef	
13.0.0.2	4.4.4.4	1717 0x80000006 0xbf3c	
14.0.0.1	4.4.4.4	1962 0x80000004 0xf207	
	Summary Link	States (Area 0.0.0.1 [NSSA])	
Link ID	ADV Router	Age Seq# CkSum Route	
0.0.0.0	3.3.3.3	1998 0x800000a3 0x99ed 0.0.0.0/0	
	NSSA-external	Link States (Area 0.0.0.1 [NSSA])	
Link ID	ADV Router	Age Seq# CkSum Route	Tag
1.0.100.1	1.1.1.1	1105 0x8000008e 0x942a E2 1.0.100.1/3	32 0

show ipv6 ospf database

Description	Displays information about the OSPFv3 databases on the device.		
Syntax	<pre>show ipv6 ospf [tag] database [external grace inter-prefix inter-router intra-prefix link network router}</pre>		



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference OSPF Show Commands

	Parameter		Descrip	otion				
	external		Displays information about external LSAs.					
	grace	grace		inform	ation a estart.	about g	grace LS	As, used
	inter-pr	refix	Displays LSAs.	inform	nation	about	Inter-A	rea-Prefix
	inter-ro	outer	Displays LSAs.	inform	ation	about	Inter-Ar	ea-Router
	intra-pr	refix	Displays LSAs.	inform	nation	about	Intra-A	rea-Prefix
	links		Displays	informa	tion ab	out lin	k LSAs.	
	network		Displays	informa	tion ab	out net	work LS	As.
	router		Displays	informa	tion ab	out rou	iter LSA	S.
	Each option a	above suppor	rts the foll	lowing s	uboptic	on:		
	adv-rout	er						
	ipaddr		Displays advertisi	s LSA ng route	inform r.	ation	for the	specified
Mode	Privileged EX	XEC and all	configura	tion leve	ls			
Example	The following command sho			OSPFv3	3 datab	ase:		
AX#show ipv6 os	pf database							
OSP	Fv3 Router with II) (1.1.1.1) (Proc	cess *n	ull*)			
	Link-LSA (Interfa	ace ve 1)						
Link State ID	ADV Router A	Age Seq#	C	CkSum	Prefi	x		
0.0.0.49	1.1.1.1 1	L121 0x800	00008a C	xc927		1		
0.0.0.0	Link-LSA (Interfa	ace ve 2)		, AS OCA		-		
Link State ID	ADV Router A	Age Seq#	C	CkSum	Prefi	x		
0.0.0.50	1.1.1.1	L121 0x800	00096 0)x08d8		1		
0.0.0.8	4.4.4.4	L893 0x800	00007 0)xe638		1		
	Router-LSA (Area	0.0.0.0)						
Link State ID	ADV Router	Age Seq#	C	CkSum	Lin	k		
0.0.0.0	1.1.1.1	L114 0x800	000b1 0)xcafa		2		
0.0.0.0	2.2.2.2	904 0x800 1953 n√200	1000ab C)x61a6		2		
0.0.0.0	4.4.4.4	L893 0x800	000034 (000000000000000000000000000000000000	x846b		2		

352 of 804



Network-LSA (Area 0.0.0)

Link State	ID	ADV Rout	ter	Age	Seq#	CkSum		
0.0.0.8		3.3.3.3		1953	0x80000006	0xd40b		
0.0.0.9		3.3.3.3		179	0x80000005	0xfedc		
0.0.0.8		4.4.4.4		1893	0x80000006	0xd8fe		
0.0.0.9		4.4.4.4		124	0x80000005	0x03d0		
		Intra-A	rea-Prefi	x-LSA	A (Area 0.0.	0.0)		
Link State	ID	ADV Rout	ter	Age	Seq#	CkSum	Prefix	Reference
0.0.32.0		3.3.3.3		1953	0x80000006	0x9cb3	1	Network-LSA
0.0.36.0		3.3.3.3		179	0x80000005	0x90ba	1	Network-LSA
0.0.32.0		4.4.4.4		1893	0x80000006	0xec58	1	Network-LSA
0.0.36.0		4.4.4.4		124	0x80000005	0xe05f	1	Network-LSA

show {ip | ipv6} ospf interface

Description	Display OSPF information for an interface.
Syntax	<pre>show {ip ipv6} ospf interface {ethernet portnum loopback num management trunk num udld num ve ve-num}</pre>
Mode	Privileged EXEC and all configuration levels
Example	The following command shows OSPFv2 information for interface VE 1:
ve 1 is up, line proto Internet Address 10. Process ID 0, Router Transmit Delay is 1 Designated Router (1 Backup Designated Ro Timer intervals conf Hello due in 00:00 Neighbor Count is 1, Crypt Sequence Numbe Hello received 1218 LS-Req received 0 se	<pre>bool is up 0.0.2/24, Area 0.0.0.1 [NSSA], MTU 1500 c ID 1.1.1.1, Network Type BROADCAST, Cost: 1 sec, State Backup, Priority 1 ID) 3.3.3.3, Interface Address 10.0.0.1 buter (ID) 1.1.1.1, Interface Address 10.0.0.2 Figured, Hello 10, Dead 40, Wait 40, Retransmit 5 0:07 c Adjacent neighbor count is 1 er is 1274173120 sent 1158, DD received 3 sent 4 ent 1, LS-Upd received 52 sent 49 sent 35. Discarded 0</pre>



show ip ospf multi-area-adjacencies

Description	Display OSPFv2 multi-area adjacency information.		
Syntax	show ip ospf multi-area-adjacencies		
Mode	Privileged EXEC and all configuration levels		
Example	The following command shows multi-area adjacency information:		
AX# show ip ospf 1 multi-area-adjacencies Multi-area-adjacency on interface eth1 to neighbor 20.20.20.10 Internet Address 20.20.20.11/24, Area 0.0.0.1, MTU 1500 Process ID 1, Router ID 10.10.10.10, Network Type POINTOPOINT, Cost: 10 Transmit Delay is 1 sec, State Point-To-Point Timer intervals configured, Hello 10, Dead 40, Wait 40, Retransmit 5 Hello due in 00:00:02 Neighbor Count is 0, Adjacent neighbor count is 0 Crypt Sequence Number is 1229928206 Hello received 0 sent 513, DD received 0 sent 0 LS-Req received 0 sent 0, LS-Upd received 0 sent 0			

show {ip | ipv6} ospf neighbor

Description		Display information al	oout OSPF neighbors.
Syntax		<pre>show ip ospf [[ipaddr [detai [all] [detail [all]] [interface ipa</pre>	process-id] neighbor 1]] ddr]
		<pre>show ipv6 ospf [ipaddr [detai [detail [all]] [interface ipa</pre>	[tag] neighbor 1]] ddr]
	Note:	The all option applie	es only to OSPFv2.
		Parameter	Description
		process-id	Specifies the OSPFv2 process. If you omit this option, information for all configured OSPFv2

processes are displayed.



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference

Networks		OSPF Show Commands
	tag	Specifies the OSPFv3 process. If you omit this option, information for all configured OSPFv3 processes are displayed.
	ipaddr [detail]	Displays information for the specified neighbor. For detailed information, use the detail option. For summary information, omit the detail option.
	all	Includes neighbors whose status is Down. With- out this option, down neighbors are not included in the output.
	detail [all]	Displays detailed information for all neighbors. To include down neighbors in the output, use the all option.
	interface	
	ipaddr	Displays information for neighbors reachable through the specified IP interface.
Mode	Privileged EXEC and all	configuration levels
Example	The following command	shows information for OSPFv2 neighbors:
AX# show ip ospf neighbor		
OSPF process 0:	Dead Tim	e Address Interface Instance ID

Neighbor I	D	Pri	State	Dead Time	Address	Interface 1	Instance ID
3.3.3.3		1	Full/DR	00:00:31	10.0.0.1	ve 1	0
4.4.4.4		1	Full/DR	00:00:30	13.0.0.2	ve 2	0

show ip ospf redistributed

Description Display the routes that are being redistributed into OSPFv2. **Syntax** show ip ospf [process-id] redistributed [connected | floating-ip ip-nat | ip-nat-list isis | kernel **ospf** [process-id] selected-vip static | vip]



Note:	The bgp , isis , and kernel options are not applicable to the current release and are not supported.		
	Parameter	Description	
	process-id	Specifies the OSPFv2 process. If you omit this option, information for all configured OSPF processes is displayed.	
	connected	Displays redistributed routes to directly-con- nected networks.	
	floating-ip	Displays redistributed routes to floating IP addresses.	
	ip-nat	Displays redistributed routes to IP addresses assigned from an IP NAT pool.	
	ip-nat-list	Displays redistributed routes to IP addresses assigned from an IP NAT range list.	
	isis	Displays redistributed routes from IS-IS.	
	kernel	Displays redistributed kernel routes.	
	ospf [process-id]	Displays redistributed routes from other OSPFv2 processes.	
	selected-vip	Displays redistributed routes to SLB VIPs that are explicitly flagged for redistribution. This option is applicable if the only-flagged option was used with the redistribute vip command.	
	static	Displays redistributed static routes.	
	vip	Displays redistributed routes to SLB VIPs that are <i>implicitly</i> flagged for redistribution. This option is applicable if the only-not-flagged option was used with the redistribute vip com- mand.	
	Privileged EXEC and all	configuration levels	
	For more information or <u>on page 321</u> .	NVIP redistribution, see "Usage" in <u>"redistribute"</u>	

Mode

Usage



show {ip | ipv6} ospf route

Description	Display information for OSPFv2 routes.			
Syntax	<pre>show ip ospf [process-id] route show ipv6 ospf [tag] route</pre>			
	Parameter	Description		
	process-id	Specifies the OSPFv2 process. If you omit this option, information for all configured OSPFv2 processes are displayed.		
	tag	Specifies the OSPFv3 process. If you omit this option, information for all configured OSPFv3 processes are displayed.		
Mode	Privileged EXEC and all configuration levels			
Example	The following command shows OSPFv2 routes:			
AX# show ip ospf route IA 0.0.0.0/0 [2] via 1 O 1.0.4.0/24 [2] via C 10.0.0.0/24 [1] is	0.0.0.1, ve 1, Area 13.0.0.2, ve 2, Are directly connected,	0.0.0.1 a $0.0.0.1$ ye 1, Area $0.0.0.1$		

```
0 11.0.0.0/24 [2] via 10.0.0.1, ve 1, Area 0.0.0.1
```

show ipv6 ospf topology

Description	Display OSPFv3 topology information.			
Syntax	show ipv6 ospf [tag] topology [area area-id]			
	Parameter	Description		
	tag	Specifies the OSPFv3 process. If you omit this option, information for all configured OSPFv3 processes is displayed.		
	area area-id	Displays OSPFv3 topology information for the specified area.		
Mode	Privileged EXEC and a	all configuration levels		



Example

The following command shows the OSPFv3 topology:

AX#show ipv6 ospf topology

OSPFv3 Process (*null*)		
OSPFv3 paths to	Area (0.0.0)	routers	
Router ID	Bits	Metric	Next-Hop	Interface
1.1.1.1	E			
2.2.2.2		2	3.3.3.3	ve 1
			4.4.4.4	ve 2
3.3.3.3	Е	1	3.3.3.3	ve 1
4.4.4.4	E	1	4.4.4.4	ve 2

show {ip | ipv6} ospf virtual-links

Description Display virtual link information. **Syntax** show ip ospf [process-id] virtual-links show ipv6 ospf [tag] virtual-links **Parameter** Description Specifies the OSPFv2 process. If you omit this process-id option, information for all configured OSPFv2 processes are displayed. Specifies the OSPFv3 process. If you omit this tag option, information for all configured OSPFv3 processes are displayed. Mode Privileged EXEC and all configuration levels Example The following command shows information for OSPFv2 virtual links: AX(config)#show ip ospf virtual-link Virtual Link VLINK1 to router 143.0.0.143 is up Transit area 0.0.0.1 via interface ethernet 1 Local address 13.0.0.2/32 Remote address 13.0.0.1/32 Transmit Delay is 1 sec, State Point-To-Point, Timer intervals configured, Hello 10, Dead 40, Wait 40, Retransmit 5 Hello due in 00:00:10 Adjacency state Full



Config Commands: Router – IS-IS

This chapter describes the commands for configuring global Intermediate System to Intermediate System (IS-IS) parameters.

- **Note:** This CLI level also has the following commands, which are available at all configuration levels:
 - clear See <u>"clear" on page 59</u>.
 - **debug** See <u>"debug" on page 64</u>.
 - **do** See <u>"do" on page 117</u>.
 - end See <u>"end" on page 123</u>.
 - exit See <u>"exit" on page 124</u>.
 - **no** See <u>"no" on page 155</u>.
 - show See <u>"Show Commands" on page 689</u>.
 - write See <u>"write terminal" on page 78</u>.

Enabling IS-IS

Use the following command at the global configuration level to specify the IS-IS instance to configure.

router isis tag

The *tag* specifies the IS-IS instance to configure, and can be 1-65535.

This command changes the CLI to the configuration level for the specified IS-IS instance. At this level, use the following command to configure the Network Entity Title (NET):

[no] net area-address.system-id.00



Global IS-IS Configuration Commands

This section describes the global configuration commands for IS-IS.

address-family

Description	Configure this IS-IS instarouters.	ance to exchange IPv6 addresses with other IS-IS		
Syntax	[no] address-family ipv6 [unicast]			
	Parameter	Description		
	unicast	Enables unicast IPv6 addresses to be exchanged, in addition to multicast addresses. Without this option, only multicast addresses can be exchanged.		
	This command changes where the following com	the CLI to the address-family configuration level, mands are available.		
	(The other commands a <u>"Config Commands: Glo</u>	re common to all CLI configuration levels. See <u>bal" on page 79</u> .)		
	Command	Description		
	adjacency-check	Enables IS-IS router adjacency based on Type- Length-Value (TLV) fields in IS-IS Hello packets between routers.		
	default-			
	information			
	originate	Enables advertisement of the default route in Link State Packets (LSPs) sent by this IS-IS instance.		
	distance	Sets the administrative distance, 1-255, for IS-IS routes.		
	exit-address-			
	family	Exits from the address-family configuration level.		



	[no] multi- topology [level-1 level-1-2 level-2] [transition]	Enables multi-topology mode. The transition option accepts and generates both IS-IS IPv6 and multi-topology IPv6 TLVs.
	redistribute option	Enables distribution of routes from other sources into IS-IS. For available options, see <u>"redistrib-ute" on page 373</u> .
	<pre>summary-prefix ipv6-addr/ prefix [level-1 level-1-2 level-2]</pre>	Configures an IPv6 summary prefix.
Default	Disabled. When you enab default.	le IPv6 exchange, the unicast option is disabled by
Mode	IS-IS	
Example	The following command addresses with other IS-IS	enables exchange of IPv6 multicast and unicast S routers:
AX(config-router)#addr	ess-family ipv6 unio	cast

adjacency-check

Description	Enable IS-IS router adjacency based on Type-Length-Value (TLV) fields in IS-IS Hello packets between routers.
Syntax	[no] adjacency-check
Default	Enabled.
Mode	IS-IS




area-password

Description	Configure the password for authenticating IS-IS traffic between Level-1 routers.	
Syntax	[no] area-password <i>string</i> [authenticate snp {send-only validate}]	
	Parameter	Description
	string	Specifies the password.
	authenticate snp {send-only validate}	Uses the password for authentication of Sequence Number Packets (SNPs).
		send-only – Inserts the password into SNP PDUs before sending them, but does not check for the password in SNP PDUs received from other routers.
		validate – Inserts the password into SNP PDUs before sending them, and also checks for the password in SNP PDUs received from other routers.
Default	None. If you configure a Level-1 password, the snp option is disabled by default.	
Mode	IS-IS	
Usage	This command applies only to Level-1. To configure authentication for Level-2, see <u>"domain-password" on page 365</u> .	
Example	The following command configures IS-IS to use password "isisl1pwd" to authenticate Level-1 IS-IS traffic within the area, including inbound and outbound SNP PDUs:	
AX(config-router)#area	-password isisl1pwd	authenticate snp validate



Description

authentication

AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference Global IS-IS Configuration Commands

Syntax [no] authentication send-only [level-1 | level-2] [no] authentication mode md5 [level-1 | level-2] [no] authentication key-chain name [level-1 | level-2] Parameter Description send-only [level-1 | level-2] Disables checking for keys in IS-IS packets received by this IS-IS instance. level-1 – Disables key checking only for Level-1 (intra-area) IS-IS traffic. level-2 – Disables key checking only for Level-2 (inter-area) IS-IS traffic. mode md5 [level-1 | level-2] Enables MD5 authentication. level-1 – Enables MD5 only for Level-1 (intraarea) IS-IS traffic. level-2 - Enables MD5 only for Level-2 (interarea) IS-IS traffic. key-chain name [level-1 level-2] Specifies the name of the certificate key chain to use for authenticating IS-IS traffic. level-1 – Applies only to Level-1 (intra-area) **IS-IS** traffic. level-2 – Applies only to Level-2 (inter-area) IS-IS traffic. Default Clear-text authentication is enabled by default. MD5 authentication is disabled by default. No key chain is set by default. The send-only option is disabled by default. All options apply to Level-1 and Level-2, unless you

Configure authentication for this IS-IS instance.

Mode

IS-IS

specify one level or the other.

Aleworks	AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference Global IS-IS Configuration Commands
Usage	Use the send-only option to temporarily disable key checking, then use the key-chain option to specify the key chain. To use MD5, use the md5 option to disable clear-text authentication and enable MD5 authentication. After key-chains are installed on the other IS-IS routers, disable the send-only option.
Example	The following commands configure MD5 authentication for this IS-IS instance:
AX(config-router)# auth AX(config-router)# auth AX(config-router)# key- AX(config-router)# no a	entication send-only entication mode md5 chain chain1 wthentication send-only

bfd

Description	Enable BFD on all interfaces for which IS-IS is running.	
Syntax	[no] bfd all-interfaces	
Default	Disabled	
Mode	IS-IS	

default-information originate

Description	Enable advertisement of the default route in Link State Packets (LSPs) sent by this IS-IS instance.
Syntax	[no] default-information originate
Default	Disabled
Mode	IS-IS
Usage	If the IPv4 or IPv6 data route tables contain a default route, the default route is included in Level-2 LSPs sent by this IS-IS instance. This command does not apply to Level-1 LSPs.



Description	Set the administrative distance for IS-IS routes.		
Syntax	[no] distance num [system-id]		
	Parameter Description		
	num	Specifies the distance, 1-255.	
	system-id	Assigns the distance only to routes from the router with the specified IS-IS system ID.	
Default	None		
Mode	IS-IS		
Usage	The administrative distance specifies the trustworthiness of routes. A low administrative distance value indicates a high level of trust. Likewise, a administrative distance value indicates a low level of trust. For example, setting the administrative distance value for external routes to 255 means those routes are very untrustworthy and should not be used.		

domain-password

Description	Configure the passwo routers.	Configure the password for authenticating IS-IS traffic between Level-2 routers.	
Syntax	[no] domain-pa [authenticate	[no] domain-password <i>string</i> [authenticate snp {send-only validate}]	
	Parameter	Description	
	string	Specifies the password.	
	authenticate snp {send-only validate}	Uses the password for authentication of Sequence Number Packets (SNPs).	
		send-only – Inserts the password into SNP PDUs before sending them, but does not check for the password in SNP PDUs received from other routers.	
		validate – Inserts the password into SNP PDUs before sending them, and also checks for the	



password in SNP PDUs received from other routers.

Default	None. If you configure a Level-2 password, the snp option is disabled by default.	
Mode	IS-IS	
Usage	This command applies only to Level-2. To configure authentication for Level-1, see <u>"area-password" on page 362</u> .	
Example	The following command configures IS-IS to use password "isisl2pwd" to authenticate Level-2 IS-IS traffic, including inbound and outbound SNP PDUs:	
AX(config-router)#domain-password isisl2pwd authenticate snp validate		

ha-standby-extra-cost

Description	Enable IS-IS awareness of High Availability (HA).	
Syntax	[no] ha-standby-extra-cost num	
	Parameter	Description
	num	Specifies the extra cost to add to the AX device's IS-IS interfaces, if the HA status of one or more of the device's HA groups is Standby. You can specify 1-65535. If the resulting cost value is more than 65535, the cost is set to 65535.
Default	Not set. The IS-IS protocol on the AX device is not aware of the HA state (Active or Standby) of the AX device.	
Mode	IS-IS	
Usage	Enter the command on ea	ch of the AX devices in the HA pair.

hostname dynamic

Description	Enable support for the Dynamic Hostname Exchange Mechanism (described RFC 2763) and System-ID-to-hostname translation.
Syntax	[no] hostname dynamic
Default	Disabled
366 of 804	Customer Driven Innovation
	Document No.: D-030-01-00-0003 - Ver. 2.6.6-GR1 5/8/2013



Mode

IS-IS

ignore-lsp-errors

Description	Disable checksum verification for inbound LSPs.	
Syntax	[no] ignore-lsp-errors	
Default	Disabled. The checksums of inbound LSPs are verified.	
Mode	IS-IS	
is-type		
Description	Specify the IS-IS routing level for this IS-IS instance.	
Syntax	[no] is-type {level-1 level-1-2 level-2-only}	
	Parameter	Description
	level-1	Level-1 (intra-area) only.
	level-1-2	Level-1 and Level-2.
	level-2-only	Level-2 (inter-area) only.
	Level-1-2, unless another IS-IS instance on the AX device already is running at Level-2. In this case, the default is Level-1.	
Default	Level-1-2, unless another ning at Level-2. In this case	IS-IS instance on the AX device already is runse, the default is Level-1.
Default Mode	Level-1-2, unless another ning at Level-2. In this car IS-IS	IS-IS instance on the AX device already is runse, the default is Level-1.

log-adjacency-changes

Description	Log adjacency changes.	
Syntax	[no] log-adjacency-changes [detail]	
Default	Disabled	
Mode	IS-IS	



Isp-gen-interval

Description	Configure the minimum interval for LSP regeneration.		
Syntax	[no] lsp-gen-	[no] lsp-gen-interval [level-1 level-2] seconds	
	Parameter	Description	
	level-1		
	level-2	Specifies the circuit type to which to apply the interval configuration.	
	seconds	Specifies the minimum number of seconds between each regeneration of the LSP. You can specify 1-120 seconds.	
Default	30 seconds, for both	30 seconds, for both Level-1 and Level2	
Mode	IS-IS		
Isp-refresh-interval			

Description	Configure the LSP refresh interval.		
Syntax	[no] lsp-refresh-interval seconds		
	Parameter	Description	
	seconds	Specifies the minimum number of seconds IS-IS must wait before refreshing an LSP. You can specify 1-65535 seconds.	
Default	900		
Mode	IS-IS		
Usage	The lsp-refresh-interval must be smaller than the max-lsp-lifetime.		

max-lsp-lifetime

Description	Configure the LSP maximum lifetime.
Syntax	[no] max-lsp-lifetime seconds



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference

Networks		Global IS-IS Configuration Commands
	Parameter	Description
	seconds	Specifies the maximum number of seconds an LSP can remain in the database without being refreshed. You can specify 350-65535 seconds.
Default	1200	
Mode	IS-IS	
Usage	The max-lsp-lifetime m	ust be larger than the lsp-refresh-interval.
metric-style		
Description	Configure the metric sty in LSPs.	ele to use for SPF calculation and for TLV encoding
Syntax	<pre>[no] metric-sty { narrow [transition [transition [level-1 le wide [transition [}</pre>	level-1 level-1-2 level-2]] vel-1-2 level-2] level-1 level-1-2 level-2]]
	Parameter	Description
	narrow [transition [level-1 level-1-2 level-2]]	Supports 6-bit metric length for SPF calculation and TLV encoding. The transition option also allows 24-bit metrics for SPF calculation, but not for TLV encoding.

level-1 - Supports 24-bit SPF calculation only for circuit type Level-1.

level-2 - Supports 24-bit SPF calculation only for circuit type Level-2.

level-1-2 – Supports 24-bit SPF calculation for circuit types Level-1 and Level-2. (This is the default, if the transition option is used.)



transition [level-1 level-1-2 level-2]	Supports 6-bit and 24-bit metric lengths for SPF calculation and TLV encoding.
	level-1 – Supports both metric lengths only for circuit type Level-1.
	level-2 – Supports both metric lengths only for circuit type Level-2.
	level-1-2 – Supports both metric lengths for circuit types Level-1 and Level-2. (This is the default, if the transition option is used.)
wide	
[transition [level-1 level-1-2	
level-2]]	Supports 24-bit metric length for SPF calculation and TLV encoding.
	The transition option also allows 6-bit metrics for SPF calculation, but not for TLV encoding.
	level-1 – Supports 6-bit SPF calculation only for circuit type Level-1.
	level-2 – Supports 6-bit SPF calculation only for circuit type Level-2.
	level-1-2 – Supports 6-bit SPF calculation for circuit types Level-1 and Level-2. (This is the default, if the transition option is used.)
Narrow, for Level-1 and 1	Level-2 routing levels (level-1-2)

Default

Mode

IS-IS



net

Description	Configure a Network Entity Title (NET) for the instance.		
Syntax	[no] net area-address.system-id.00		
	Parameter	Description	
	area-address	Specifies the address of the IS-IS area.	
	system-id	Specifies the system ID.	
Default	None		
Mode	IS-IS		
Usage	Each IS-IS instance must have at least 1 NET.		
	The total length of the NET can be 8-20 bytes.		
	• The last (right-most) byte must be 00.		
	• The <i>system-id</i> must be 6 bytes long. For Level-1, the <i>system-id</i> must be unique within the area. For Level-2, the <i>system-id</i> must be unique within the entire domain.		
	• The <i>area-address</i> can be up to 13 bytes long.		
	You can configure more than 1 NET. This is useful in cases where you are reconfiguring the network and need to temporarily merge or split existing areas.		
	If you configure more than 1 NET, the <i>area-address</i> must be unique in each NET but the <i>system-id</i> must be the same.		





passive-interface

Description	Disable	Disable routing IS-IS routing updates on AX interfaces.	
Syntax	[no] [ethe loop mana trun udld ve v]	<pre>[no] passive-interface [ethernet port-num loopback num management trunk num udld num ve ve-num]</pre>	
	Param	eter	Description
	ethe	rnet	
	port	-num	Disables routing updates from being sent on the specified Ethernet data port.
	loop	back num	Disables routing updates from being sent on the specified loopback interface.
	mana	gement	Disables routing updates from being sent on the Ethernet management port.
	trun	k num	Disables routing updates from being sent on the specified trunk interface.
	udld	. ทนฑ	Disables routing updates from being sent on the specified Unidirectional Link Detection (UDLD) link.
	ve v	e-num	Disables routing updates from being sent on the specified Virtual Ethernet (VE) interface.
Nc	te: The c	urrent release do	es not support the loopback , trunk , or udld option.
Default	Disable	Disabled	
Mode	IS-IS	IS-IS	
Usage	This co	This command removes all IS-IS configuration from the specified interface For proper operation of IS-IS, routing updates must be enabled on at lea one interface.	
	For proof		



protocol-topology

Description	Enable IS-IS protocol topology support, which provides IPv4/IPv6/dual-stack support.
Syntax	[no] protocol-topology
Default	Disabled
Mode	IS-IS
Usage	For standard IS-IS support, leave this option disabled.

redistribute

Description	Enable distribution of	of routes from other sources into IS-IS.	
	<pre>[no] redistribute { connected [options] floating-ip [options] ip-nat [options] ip-nat-list [options] isis [options] nat64 [options] kernel [options] kernel [options] static [options] vip [only-flagged only-not-flagged] [options] } </pre>		
	Parameter	Description	
	connected		
	[options]	Redistributes routes into IS-IS for reaching directly connected networks. For <i>options</i> , see the end of this parameter list.	
	floating-ip		
	[options]	Redistributes routes into IS-IS for reaching HA floating IP addresses. For <i>options</i> , see the end of this parameter list.	
	ip-nat		
	[options]	Redistributes routes into IS-IS for reaching trans- lated NAT addresses allocated from a pool. For <i>options</i> , see the end of this parameter list.	



ip-nat-list	
[options]	Redistributes routes into IS-IS for reaching trans- lated NAT addresses allocated from a range list. For <i>options</i> , see the end of this parameter list.
nat64	
[options]	Redistributes OSPF routes into NAT64. For <i>options</i> , see the end of this parameter list.
ospf	
[options]	Redistributes OSPF routes into IS-IS. For <i>options</i> , see the end of this parameter list.
static	
[options]	Redistributes routes into IS-IS for reaching net- works through static routes. For <i>options</i> , see the end of this parameter list.
vip	
[only-flagged only-not-	
flagged	
[options]	tual server IP addresses.
	By default, all VIPs are redistributed when you use the vip option. To restrict redistribution to a subset of VIPs, use one of the following options:
	only-flagged – Redistributes only the VIPs on which the redistribution-flagged command is used.
	only-not-flagged – Redistributes all VIPs <i>except</i> those on which the redistribution-flagged command is used.
	For more information, see "Usage".
	For options, see below.
options	Optional parameters supported for all the options listed above:
	level-1 – Redistributes only at the IS-IS area level.
	level-1-2 – Redistributes at both the IS-IS area and domain levels.
	level-2 – Redistributes only at the IS-IS domain level. (This is the default.)
	metric <i>num</i> – Metric for the default route, 0-4261412864. The default is 0.



metric-type – Specifies the metric information used when comparing the route to other routes:

external – Uses the route's metric for comparison.

internal – Uses the route's metric for comparison and also uses the cost of the router that advertised the route. (This is the default.)

route-map *map-name* – Name of a route map. (To configure a route map, use the **route-map** command. See <u>"route-map" on page 160</u>.)

Disabled. By default, IS-IS routes are not redistributed. For other defaults, see above.

Mode IS-IS

Usage

Default

When you enable redistribution, routes to all addresses of the specified type are redistributed. For example, if you use the **vip** option, routes to all VIPs are redistributed into IS-IS.

VIP Redistribution

VIP redistribution is not supported for VIPs on which destination NAT has been disabled. For example, VIP redistribution is not supported for VIPs that are configured for Direct Server Return (DSR).

You can exclude redistribution of individual VIPs using one or the other of the following methods. They are mutually exclusive.

- If more VIPs will be excluded than will be allowed to be redistributed:
 - At the configuration level for each of the VIPs to allow to be redistributed, enter the following command: **redistribution-flagged**
 - At the configuration level for IS-IS, enter the following command: redistribute vip only-flagged
- If fewer VIPs will be excluded than will be allowed to be redistributed:
 - At the configuration level for each of the VIPs to exclude from redistribution, enter the following command: **redistribution-flagged**
 - At the configuration level for IS-IS, enter either of the following commands: redistribute vip only-not-flagged or redistribute vip



In the configuration, the redistribute vip only-not-flagged command is Note: automatically converted into the redistribute vip command. When you display the configuration, it will contain the **redistribute vip** command, not the redistribute vip only-not-flagged command. This command conversion makes the behavior in the current release backwards compatible with the behavior in previous releases. **VIP Redistribution Usage Examples:** • If you have 10 VIPs and all of them need to be redistributed by IS-IS, use the redistribute vip command at the configuration level for IS-IS. • If you have 10 VIPs but only 2 of them need to be redistributed, use the redistribution-flagged command at the configuration level for each of the 2 VIPs, then use the redistribute vip only-flagged command at the configuration level for IS-IS. • If you have 10 VIPs and need to redistribute 8 of them, use the redistribution-flagged command at the configuration level for the 2 VIPs that should not be redistributed. Enter the redistribute vip only-not-flagged command at the configuration level for IS-IS. (In this case, alternatively, you could enter redistribute vip instead of redistribute vip only-notflagged.) Example The following command enables redistribution of IS-IS routes into OSPF: AX(config-router) #redistribute ospf Example The following commands redistribute floating IP addresses and VIP addresses into IS-IS:

AX(config-router)**#redistribute floating-ip** AX(config-router)**#redistribute vip**

Example

The following commands flag a VIP, then configure IS-IS to redistribute only that flagged VIP. The other (unflagged) VIPs will not be redistributed.

```
AX(config)#slb virtual-server vip1
AX(config-slb virtual server)#redistribution-flagged
AX(config-slb virtual server)#exit
AX(config)#router isis
AX(config-router)redistribute vip only-flagged
```



restart-timer

Description		Configure the graceful-re	start timer.
	Note:	The current release doe	es not support graceful restart.
Syntax		[no] restart-tim [level-1 level	er seconds 1-2 level-2]
		Parameter	Description
		seconds	Specifies the number of seconds IS-IS waits for LSP database synchronization. You can specify 5-65535 seconds.
		level-1 level-1-2 level-2	Specifies the router level.
Default		60 seconds, for both Leve	el-1 and Level-2.
Mode		IS-IS	

set-overload-bit

Description	Disable use of this IS-I	S router as a transit router during SPF calculation.	
Syntax	<pre>[no] set-overload-bit [on-startup {seconds wait-for-bgp}] [suppress {[external] [interlevel]}]</pre>		
	Parameter	Description	
	on-startup { <i>seconds</i> wait-for-bgp }	Sets the overload bit only after startup of the IS-IS instance, and clears the bit based on one of the following options:	
		<i>seconds</i> – Clears the overload bit after the speci- fied number of seconds. You can specify 5-86400 seconds.	





wait-for-bgp – Clears the overload bit after BGP signals that it has finished convergence. - If BGP is not running, the overload bit is immediately cleared. - If BGP is running but does not signal convergence within 10 minutes after the IS-IS instance starts, the overload bit is cleared. The current release does not support BGP. Note: suppress {[external] [interlevel]} Suppresses redistribution of specific types of reachability information during the overload state. external – Suppresses redistribution of IP prefixes learned from other protocols. For example, redistribution of IP prefixes from OSPF is suppressed. interlevel – Suppresses redistribution of IP prefixes learned from other IS-IS levels. For example, redistribution of IP prefixes from Level-2 to Level-1 is suppressed. Default Disabled. The overload bit is not set, and this IS-IS router can be used as a transit (intermediate hop) router during SPF calculation. IS-IS Usage IP prefixes that are directly connected to this IS-IS router continue to be reachable even when the overload bit is set.

spf-interval-exp

Mode

Description	Configure the minimum and maximum delay between receiving a link-state or IS-IS configuration change, and SPF recalculation.	
Syntax	[no] spf-interval-exp [level-1 level-2] min-delay max-delay	
	Parameter	Description
	level-1 level-2	Specifies the IS-IS level to which to apply the interval setting.

-2	AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference	
Aleworks		Global IS-IS Configuration Commands
	min-delay	Specifies the minimum number of milliseconds (ms) to wait before SPF recalculation following a link-state or IS-IS configuration change. You can specify 0-2147483647 ms.
	max-delay	Specifies the maximum number of ms to wait. You can specify 0-2147483647 ms.
Default	The default <i>min-delay</i> is 500 ms and the default <i>max-delay</i> is 50000 ms, for Level-1 and Level-2 routing levels.	
Mode	IS-IS	
summary-addre	ess	
Description	Configure an IPv4 summary address to aggregate multiple IPv4 prefixes for advertisement.	
Syntax	[no] summary-address ipaddr/mask-length [level-1 level-1-2 level-2]	
	Parameter	Description
	ipaddr/mask- length	Specifies the summary IPv4 address to advertise.
	level-1 level-1-2 level-2	Specifies the IS-IS routing level to which to advertise the summary address. If you do not specify a routing level, the summary address is advertised at Level-2 only.
Default	None	
Mode	IS-IS	
Usage	The summary address is advertised instead of the individual IP prefixes contained in the summary address. For example, if the IPv4 route table has routes to 192.168.1.x/24, 192.168.2.x/24, and 192.168.11.x/24, you can configure IS-IS to advertise summary address 192.168.0.0/16 instead of each of the individual prefixes.	



Interface-level IS-IS Configuration Commands

In addition to global parameters, IS-IS has parameters on the individual interface level. To configure IS-IS on an interface, use the **interface** command to access the configuration level for the interface, then use the following commands.

isis authentication

Description	Configure authentication	on for this IS-IS interface.		
Syntax	[no] isis auth [level-1 lev	entication send-only el-2]		
	[no] isis auth [level-1 lev	entication mode md5 el-2]		
	[no] isis auth [level-1 lev	<pre>[no] isis authentication key-chain name [level-1 level-2]</pre>		
	Parameter	Description		
	send-only [level-1 level-2]	Disables checking for keys in IS-IS packets received by this interface.		
		level-1 – Disables key checking only for Level-1 (intra-area) IS-IS traffic.		
		level-2 – Disables key checking only for Level-2 (inter-area) IS-IS traffic.		
	mode md5 [level-1 level-2]	Enables MD5 authentication.		
		level-1 – Enables MD5 only for Level-1 (intra- area) IS-IS traffic.		
		level-2 – Enables MD5 only for Level-2 (inter- area) IS-IS traffic.		
	key-chain name [level-1 level-2]	Specifies the name of the certificate key chain to use for authenticating IS-IS traffic.		



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference Interface-level IS-IS Configuration Commands

level-1 – Applies only to Level-1 (intra-area) IS-IS traffic.

level-2 – Applies only to Level-2 (inter-area) IS-IS traffic.

Default	Clear-text authentication is enabled by default. MD5 authentication is dis- abled by default. No key chain is set by default. The send-only option is disabled by default. All options apply to Level-1 and Level-2, unless you specify one level or the other.
Mode	IS-IS
Usage	This command overrides the globally configured authentication settings for the IS-IS instance.
	Use the send-only option to temporarily disable key checking, then use the key-chain option to specify the key chain. To use MD5, use the md5 option to disable clear-text authentication and enable MD5 authentication. After key-chains are installed on the other IS-IS routers, disable the send-only option.
Example	The following command disables MD5 authentication for IS-IS on interface VE 2. Clear-text authentication will be used instead.
AX(config-if:ve3)# no is	sis authentication mode md5

isis bfd

Description	Disable BFD on an individual interface.	
Syntax	[no] bfd disable	
Default	Takes the value from the global BFD configuration	
Mode	Interface	





isis circuit-type

Description	Specify the IS-IS routing level (circuit type) for this interface.		
Syntax	[no] circuit-type [level-1 level-1-2 le		
	Parameter	Description	
	level-1 level-1-2 level-2	Specifies the IS-IS routing level.	
Default	level-1-2		
Mode	Interface		

isis csnp-interval

Description	Configure the interval between transmission of complete sequence number PDUs (CSNPs).	
Syntax	[no] isis csnp-interval seconds [level-1 level-2]	
	Parameter	Description
	seconds	Specifies the number of seconds to wait between transmission of CSNPs. You can specify 0-65535 seconds.
	level-1 level-2	Specifies the IS-IS routing level to which the interval setting applies.
Default	10 seconds, for both level-1 and level-2	
Mode	Interface	
Usage	This command is valid only on broadcast interfaces (network type broad- cast).	



isis hello padding

Description	Enable padding of IS-IS HEllo packets.
Syntax	[no] isis hello padding
Default	Enabled
Mode	Interface
Usage	When padding is enabled, extra bytes are added to IS-IS Hello packets to make them equal to the MTU size of the interface. This option informs neighbors of the interface's MTU, so that neighbors do not send Hello packets that are longer than the MTU.

isis hello-interval

Description	Configure the interval between transmission of IS-IS Hello packets on this interface.	
Syntax	<pre>[no] isis hello-interval {seconds minimal} [level-1 level-2]</pre>	
	Parameter	Description
	seconds minimal	Specifies the number of seconds between trans- mission of Hello packets to neighbors. You can specify 0-65535 seconds.
		For information about the minimal option, see "Usage" below.
	level-1 level-2	Specifies the IS-IS routing level to which the interval setting applies.
Default	10 seconds, for both level-1 and level-2	
Mode	Interface	
Usage	The minimal option bases the hello interval on the hello multiplier, by set- ting the hold time to 1, and dividing the hold time by the hello multiplier: hello-interval = hold-time % hello-multiplier	
	hello-interval	= 1 % hello-multiplier



(For more information, see <u>"isis hello-multiplier" on page 384.</u>)

isis hello-multiplier

Description		Configure the multiplier used for calculating the neighbor hold time for Hello packets.	
Syntax		[no] isis hello-multiplier num [level-1 level-2]	
		Parameter	Description
		num	Specifies the multiplier. You can specify 3-1000.
		level-1 level-2	Specifies the IS-IS routing level to which the multiplier setting applies.
Default		3	
Mode		Interface	
Usage		The hold time specifies the maximum number of seconds IS-IS neighbors should allow between Hello packets from this IS-IS interface. If the neigh- bor does not receive a Hello packet before the hold time expires, the neigh- bor terminates the adjacency with this IS-IS router on this interface.	
		To calculate the hold time, IS-IS multiplies the IS-IS hello interval by the multiplier:	
		hello-interval	x hello-multiplier = hold-time
		The hold-time value is included in Hello packets sent to IS-IS neighbors.	
	Note:	If the minimal option is used with the isis hello-interval command, the hold time is set to 1. This overrides the hold time calculated based on the hello-multiplier value.	
isis Isp-int	erval		
Description		Configure the minimum LSP transmission interval.	



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference

Interface-level IS-IS Configuration Commands

	Parameter	Description
	ms	Specifies the minimum number of ms IS-IS will wait between transmission of LSPs. You can specify 1-4294967295 ms.
Default	33 ms	
Mode	Interface	
Usage	The LSP transmission interval helps avoid high CPU utilization on IS-IS neighbors during LSP floods, by allowing the neighbors time to send, receive, and process LSPs.	

isis mesh-group

Description	Configure mesh-group membership to control LSP flooding from this inter- face.	
Syntax	[no] isis mesh-group {group-num blocked}	
	Parameter	Description
	group-num	Specifies the mesh group number. You can spec- ify 1-4294967295. LSPs are flooded to all Level- 1 or Level-2 IS-IS neighbors (as applicable), <i>except</i> to the neighbors who are in the same mesh group. LSPs are not flooded to the neighbors who are in the same mesh group as this interface.
	blocked	Blocks flooding of LSPs on this interface.
Default	None	
Mode	Interface	
isis metric		
Description	Configure the default IS-IS metric (cost) for the interface.	
Syntax	[no] isis metric num [level-1 level-2]	
	Parameter	Description
	num	Specifies the cost of using this interface as a link in an IS-IS route. You can specify 1-63.

-2	AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference	
Networks	Int	erface-level IS-IS Configuration Commands
	level-1 level-2	Specifies the IS-IS routing level to which the default metric setting applies.
Default	10, for Level-1 and Leve	el-2 routing levels
Mode	Interface	
Usage	The default metric is use preferred to links with h	d for SPF calculation. Links with lower metrics are igher metrics.
	The default metric is ap <u>"metric-style" on page 3</u>	plicable only when the metric style is narrow. (See 69 .)
isis network		
Description	Configure the network ty	ype.
Syntax	[no] isis netwo	rk {broadcast point-to-point}
	Parameter	Description
	broadcast	The network is a broadcast network.
	point-to-point	The network is a point-to-point network.
Default	broadcast	
Mode	Interface	
isis password		
Description	Configure the plain-text password for authentication of Hello packets sent and received on this interface.	
Syntax	[no] isis password string [level-1 level-2]	
	Parameter	Description
	string	Specifies the password.
	level-1 level-2	Specifies the IS-IS routing level to which the password applies.
Default	None	
386 of 804	Customer Driven Innovation Document No.: D-030-01-00-0003 - Ver. 2.6.6-GR1 5/8/2013	

	AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference			
Aleworks	Interface-level IS-IS Configuration Commands			
Mode	Interface			
Usage	The password is applicable only if the authentication type is plain-text. (See <u>"isis authentication" on page 380</u> .)			
isis priority				
Description	Configure this interface's priority for Designated Integrated System (DIS) election.			
Syntax	[no] isis priority num [level-1 level-2]			
	Parameter	Description		
	num	Specifies the priority, 0-127.		
	level-1 level-2	Specifies the IS-IS routing level to which the pri- ority applies.		
Default	64, for Level-1 and Level-2 routing levels			
Mode	Interface			
Usage	During DIS election, the IS-IS router with the highest priority is elected as the DIS for the LAN. If more than one IS-IS router has the highest priority, the router that has the IS-IS interface with the highest MAC address is elected as the DIS.			
	The priority is applicable only if the network type is broadcast. (See <u>"isis</u> <u>network" on page 386</u> .)			
isis restart-hello	o-interval			
Description	Configure the amount of from neighbors of its noti fication.	time this interface waits for acknowledgement fication to restart IS-IS, before resending the noti-		

Syntax	[no] isis re [level-1 l	estart-hello-interval seconds Level-2]
	Parameter	Description
	seconds	Specifies the number of seconds IS-IS waits to

Specifies the number of seconds IS-IS waits to receive an acknowledgement of its restart notifi-

cation. You can specify 1-65535 seconds.

AlleNetworks	AX	Series - Command Line Interface Reference Interface-level IS-IS Configuration Commands
	level-1 level-2	Specifies the IS-IS routing level to which the interval applies.
Default	3 seconds, for Leve	el-1 and Level-2 routing levels
Mode	Interface	
Usage	To notify its IS-IS r device inserts a Res interface. If the a received on this in resends the notifica	neighbors of an intent to restart the IS-IS process, the AX start TLV in IS-IS Hello packets sent to neighbors on this n acknowledgement of the restart notification si not nterface before the restart hello interval expires, IS-IS ation.
isis retransmit-i	nterval	

Description	Configure the interval between transmission of LSPs on point-to-point links.				
Syntax	[no] isis retransmit-interval seconds				
	Parameter Description				
	seconds	Specifies the number of seconds IS-IS waits before resending an LSP that was dropped. You can specify 0-65535 seconds. Use a value that is greater than the expected round-trip delay between any two routers on the attached net- work.			
Default	5				
Mode	Interface				
Usage	The retransmit interval is point. (See "isis network"	applicable only if the network type is point-to- on page 386.)			

isis wide-metric

Description	Configure the length of a wide metric on the interface.		
Syntax	[no] isis wide-metric num [level-1 level-2]		



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference

Show Commands for IS-IS

	Parameter	Description	
	num	Specifies the metric length. You can specify 1-16777214.	
	level-1 level-2	Specifies the IS-IS routing level to which the metric applies.	
Default	10, for Level-1 and Level-2 routing levels		
Mode	Interface		
Usage	The wide metric is application. (See <u>"metric-style</u> " of	able only if the metric style is set to wide or transion page 369.)	

Show Commands for IS-IS

This section describes the show commands for IS-IS.

show ip isis [tag] route

Desc	ription	Display the I	Display the IPv4 IS-IS route table.			
Synta	ax	show ip	show ip isis [tag] route			
		Parameter	Descrip	Description		
		tag	Specifies ify a tag played.	Specifies the IS-IS tag (area). If you do not specify a tag value, IPv4 routes for all areas are d played.		
Mode	9	All				
Exan	nple	The followin	g command shows the	IPv4 IS-IS route table:		
AX(C	onfig)# show ip i	sis route				
Code	s: C - connected ia - IS-IS in	l, E - externa Iter area, D	al, L1 - IS-IS le - discard, e - ex	vel-1, L2 - IS-IS ternal metric	level-2	
Area	(null):					
	Destination	Metric	Next-Hop	Interface	Tag	
С	1.0.0/24	10		ethernet 11		
L2	2.2.2/32	10	1.0.0.2	ethernet 11	0	



show isis counter

Description	Display IS-IS statistics.
Syntax	show isis counter
Mode	All
Example	The following command shows IS-IS counters:
<pre>Area (null): IS-IS Level-1 isisSyste isisSysStatCorrLSPs: isisSysStatAuthTypeFa isisSysStatAuthFails: isisSysStatLSPDbaseOI isisSysStatAttmptToEx isisSysStatAttmptToEx isisSysStatOwnLSPPurg isisSysStatOwnLSPPurg isisSysStatDFieldLer isisSysStatDFieldLer isisSysStatPartChange isisSysStatSPFRuns: 6 IS-IS Level-2 isisSyste isisSysStatCorrLSPs: isisSysStatCorrLSPs:</pre>	emCounterEntry: 0 ails: 0 : 0 loads: 0 ppFromAreas: 1 xMaxSeqNums: 0 ps: 0 ges: 0 nMismatches: 0 drMismatches: 0 emCounterEntry: 0 o
isisSysStatAuthTypeFa isisSysStatAuthFails isisSysStatLSPDbaseOl isisSysStatManAddrDroc isisSysStatAttmptToEx isisSysStatSeqNumSkip isisSysStatOwnLSPPurg isisSysStatIDFieldLer isisSysStatIDFieldLer isisSysStatPartChange isisSysStatSPFRuns: {	ails: 0 : 0 loads: 0 ppFromAreas: 1 xMaxSeqNums: 0 ps: 0 ges: 0 nMismatches: 0 drMismatches: 0 es: 0 8

show isis [tag] database

Description	Display the IS-IS database entries.		
Syntax	show isis [tag] database		
	[lspid]		
	[detail]		

[11 | 12 | level-1 | level-2]



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference

Show Commands for IS-IS

Parameter	Description
tag	Specifies the IS-IS tag (area). If you do not spec- ify a tag value, database entries for all areas is displayed.
lspid	Specifies the ID of a specific LSP to display.
detail	Displays detailed contents of the LSPs. Without this option, summary information is displayed.
11 12 level-1	Creatifies the IC IC routing level for which to dis
Tevet-2	play database entries.

Mode

All

Example

The following command shows the IS-IS database:

```
AX(config)#show isis database
Area (null):
IS-IS Level-1 Link State Database:
LSPID LSP Seq Num LSP Checksum LSP Holdtime
0000.0000.0001.00-00* 0x00000003 0xB670 1002
```

```
0000.0000.0001.00-00* 0x00000003 0xB670 1002
                                                              0/0/0
0000.0000.0001.01-00* 0x00000001 0x21B9
                                            1002
                                                              0/0/0
0000.0000.0002.00-00 0x00000007 0xD649
                                             1013
                                                              0/0/0
IS-IS Level-2 Link State Database:
LSPID
                    LSP Seq Num LSP Checksum LSP Holdtime
                                                             ATT/P/OL
0000.0000.0001.00-00* 0x00000004
                                0xB471
                                             1012
                                                              0/0/0
0000.0000.0001.01-00* 0x00000001
                                0x21B9
                                             1002
                                                              0/0/0
0000.0000.0002.00-00 0x00000007 0x6401
                                            1166
                                                              0/0/0
```

show isis interface

Description Display IS-IS information for interfaces.

```
Syntax show isis interface
[
counter |
ethernet port-num |
loopback num |
management |
trunk num |
udld num |
ve ve-num
}
```

ATT/P/OL



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference Show Commands for IS-IS

	Parameter	Description		
	counter	Displays IS-IS interface status information and statistics.		
	ethernet			
	port-num	Displays IS-IS information for the specified Ethernet data port.		
	loopback num	Displays IS-IS information for the specified loopback interface.		
	management	Displays IS-IS information for the specified loopback interface.		
	trunk num	Displays IS-IS information for the specified trunk interface.		
	udld num	Displays IS-IS information for the specified UDLD interface.		
	ve ve-num	Displays IS-IS information for the specified VE interface.		
Mode	All			
Example	The following command	shows IS-IS interface information:		
AX(config) #show isis in ethernet 11 is up, line Routing Protocol: IS- Network Type: Broad Circuit Type: level Local circuit ID: (Extended Local circuit Local SNPA: 001f.ad IP interface addres 1.0.0.1/24 IPv6 interface addres 3000::1/64 fe80::21f:a0ff:fe Level-1 Metric: 10, Number of active le Level-2 Metric: 10, Number of active le	hterface e protocol is up -IS ((null)) dcast 1-1-2 0x01 cuit ID: 0x0000000D 002.78ce ss: ress: e02:78ce/64 /10, Priority: 64, - evel-1 adjacencies: /10, Priority: 64, - evel-2 adjacencies: -1 Hello in 1 sec	Circuit ID: 0000.0000.0001.01 1 Circuit ID: 0000.0000.0001.01 1 onds		

Next IS-IS LAN Level-2 Hello in 2 seconds



show isis [tag] topology

Description	Display IPv4 IS-IS topology information.				
Syntax	show isis topology [11 12 level-1 level-2]				
	Parameter		Description		
	l1 l2 level-1 level-2	2 - 2	Specifies the IS-IS routing level for which to d play topology information.		el for which to dis-
Mode	All				
Example	The followi	ng command s	shows IPv4 IS-	IS topology info	ormation:
AX(config)#show isis topology					
Area (null): IS-IS paths to level-1 routers					
0000.0000.0001 0000.0000.0002	10	0000.0000.	0002	ethernet 11	001f.a001.a423
IS-IS paths to level- System Id 0000.0000.0001	-2 routers Metric 	Next-Hop		Interface	SNPA
0000.0000.0002	10	0000.0000.	0002	ethernet 11	001f.a001.a42

show ipv6 isis [tag] route

Description	Display the IPv6 IS-IS route table.		
Syntax	<pre>show ipv6 isis [tag] route</pre>		
	Parameter	Description	
	tag	Specifies the IS-IS tag (area). If you do not spec- ify a tag value, IPv6 routes for all areas are dis- played.	
Mode	All		



Example

The following command shows the IPv6 IS-IS route table:

```
AX(config)#show ipv6 isis route
```

```
Codes: C - connected, E - external, L1 - IS-IS level-1, L2 - IS-IS level-2
ia - IS-IS inter area, D - discard, e - external metric
Area (null):
C     3000::/64 [10]
     via ::, ethernet 11
L2     3222::/64 [10]
     via fe80::21f:a0ff:fe01:a423, ethernet 11
```

show ipv6 isis [tag] topology

Description	Display IPv6 IS-IS topology information.					
Syntax	/ntax show ipv6 isis [tag] topology [11 12 level-1 level-2]					
	Paramete	r	Descriptior	า		
	tag		Specifies the ify a tag valu is displayed.	IS-IS tag (area). e, topology infor	. If you do not spec- rmation for all areas	
	ll l: level-: level-:	2 1 2	Specifies the play topolog	IS-IS routing lev y information.	vel for which to dis-	
Mode	All					
Example	The follow	ing command	shows IPv6 IS	-IS topology inf	ormation:	
AX(config)# show ipv6	isis topol	ogy				
Area (null): IS-IS paths to level System Id 0000.0000.0001 0000.0000.0002	-1 routers Metric 10	Next-Hop 0000.0000.	0002	Interface ethernet 11	SNPA 001f.a001.a423	
IS-IS paths to level System Id 0000.0000.0001 0000.0000.0002	-2 routers Metric 10	Next-Hop 0000.0000.	0002	Interface ethernet 11	SNPA 001f.a001.a423	



Enabling BGP

Config Commands: Router – BGP

This chapter describes the syntax for the Border Gateway Protocol (BGP) commands in AX Release 2.6.6. The commands are described in the following sections:

- <u>"Enabling BGP" on page 395</u>
- <u>"BGP Configuration Commands" on page 396</u>
- "BGP Show Commands" on page 432
- <u>"BGP Clear Commands" on page 449</u>
- **Note:** This CLI level also has the following commands, which are available at all configuration levels:
 - clear See <u>"clear" on page 59</u>.
 - debug See <u>"debug" on page 64</u>.
 - **do** See <u>"do" on page 117</u>.
 - end See <u>"end" on page 123</u>.
 - **exit** See <u>"exit" on page 124</u>.
 - **no** See <u>"no" on page 155</u>.
 - show See <u>"Show Commands" on page 689</u>.
 - write See <u>"write terminal" on page 78</u>.

Enabling BGP

To enable BGP on the AX device:

1. Enable the protocol and specify the Autonomous System (AS) number, using the following command at the global configuration level of the CLI:

router bgp AS-num

The *AS-num* specifies the Autonomous System Number (ASN), which can be 1-4294967295. The AX device supports configuration of one local AS.



2. Specify the AX device's BGP router ID:

bgp router-id ipaddr

3. Specify each of the AX device's neighbor (peer) BGP routers:

neighbor neighbor-id remote-as AS-num

This is the minimum required configuration. Additional configuration may be required depending on your deployment.

Note: If you do not explicitly configure the AX device's BGP router ID, BGP sessions may become reset whenever there is an interface state change.

BGP Configuration Commands

The commands in this section apply globally to the BGP process running on the AX device.

Commands at the Global Configuration Level

The commands in this section are available at the global configuration level of the CLI.

bgp extended-asn-cap

Description	Enable the AX device to send 4-octet BGP Autonomous System Number (ASN) capabilities.
Syntax	[no] bgp extended-asn-cap
Default	Disabled; 2-octet ASN capabilities are enabled instead.
Mode	Configuration mode



bgp nexthop-trigger

Description	Configure BGP nexthop tracking.			
Syntax	[no] bgp nexthop-trigger delay seconds			
	[no] bgp nexthop-trigger enable			
	Parameter	Description		
	delay seconds	Specifies the how long BGP waits before walk- ing the full BGP table to determine which pre- fixes are affected by the nexthop changes, after receiving a trigger about nexthop changes. You can specify 1-100 seconds.		
	enable	Enables nexthop tracking.		
Default	BGP nexthop tracking default delay is 5 second	is disabled by default. When you enable it, the ds.		
Mode	Configuration mode			

Commands at the BGP Router Configuration Level

The commands in this section are available at the configuration level for the BGP routing process for an AS.

To access the BGP router configuration level, use the **router bgp** *AS-num* command at the global configuration level of the CLI.

address-family

Description	Configure address family parameters.	
Syntax	[no] address-family {	
	ipv4 [multicast unicast]	
	ipv6 [unicast]	
	}	




Parameter	Description
ipv4 [multicast unicast]	Enters configuration mode for an IPv4 address family.
ipv6 [unicast]	Enters configuration mode for an IPv6 address family.

This command changes the CLI to the configuration level for the specified address family, where the following commands are available.

Command	Description	
[no] aggregate- address options	See <u>"aggregate-address" on page 400</u> .	
[no] dampening <i>options</i>	See <u>"bgp dampening" on page 401</u> .	
[no] distance	See <u>"distance" on page 405</u> .	
exit-address- family	Exits the address-family configuration level.	
[no] neighbor options	See the following sections:	
	- <u>"neighbor activate" on page 407</u>	
	- "neighbor as-origination-interval" on page 408	
	- <u>"neighbor allowas-in" on page 408</u>	
	- <u>"neighbor capability" on page 409</u>	
	- "neighbor collide-established" on page 410	
	- <u>"neighbor connection-retry-time" on page 411</u>	
	- "neighbor default-originate" on page 412	
	 <u>"neighbor description" on page 412</u> 	
	– <u>"neighbor disallow-infinite-holdtime" on</u> page 413	
	- <u>"neighbor distribute-list" on page 413</u>	
	 <u>"neighbor dont-capability-negotiate" on</u> <u>page 414</u> 	
	- <u>"neighbor ebgp-multihop" on page 414</u>	
	- <u>"neighbor enforce-multihop" on page 415</u>	
	- <u>"neighbor fall-over" on page 415</u>	



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference

BGP Configuration Commands

 "heighbor filter-list" on page 416 "heighbor maximum-prefix" on page 417 "heighbor next-hop-self" on page 417 "heighbor override-capability" on page 418 "heighbor password" on page 418 "heighbor password" on page 419 "heighbor peer-group" on page 419 "heighbor remote-as" on page 420 "heighbor remote-as" on page 421 "heighbor remote-as" on page 421 "heighbor send-community" on page 422 "heighbor soft-reconfiguration" on page 423 "heighbor imers" on page 423 "heighbor unsuppress-map" on page 424 "heighbor unsuppress-map" on page 425 "heighbor version" on page 427 "heighbor weight" on page 427 "heighbor weight" on page 427 [no] network options See "network" on page 428. 		5
 - "neighbor maximum-prefix" on page 417 - "neighbor next-hop-self" on page 417 - "neighbor override-capability" on page 418 - "neighbor passive" on page 418 - "neighbor password" on page 419 - "neighbor peer-group" on page 419 - "neighbor remote-as" on page 420 - "neighbor remote-as" on page 421 - "neighbor remote-as" on page 421 - "neighbor send-community" on page 422 - "neighbor soft-reconfiguration" on page 422 - "neighbor unsuppress-map" on page 423 - "neighbor unsuppress-map" on page 425 - "neighbor version" on page 425 - "neighbor version" on page 427 - "neighbor weight" on page 427 - "neighbor weight" on page 427 - "neighbor weight" on page 428. 		- <u>"neighbor filter-list" on page 416</u>
 "neighbor next-hop-self" on page 417 "neighbor override-capability" on page 418 "neighbor passive" on page 418 "neighbor password" on page 419 "neighbor peer-group" on page 419 "neighbor remote-as" on page 420 "neighbor remote-as" on page 421 "neighbor remote-as" on page 421 "neighbor send-community" on page 422 "neighbor send-community" on page 422 "neighbor send-community" on page 423 "neighbor send-community" on page 424 "neighbor send-community" on page 424 "neighbor send-community" on page 425 "neighbor immers" on page 425 "neighbor timers" on page 425 "neighbor update-source" on page 426 "neighbor version" on page 427 "neighbor weight" on page 427 [no] network options See "network" on page 428. [no]		– <u>"neighbor maximum-prefix" on page 417</u>
 - "neighbor override-capability" on page 418 - "neighbor passive" on page 418 - "neighbor password" on page 419 - "neighbor peer-group" on page 419 - "neighbor prefix-list" on page 420 - "neighbor remote-as" on page 421 - "neighbor route-map" on page 421 - "neighbor send-community" on page 422 - "neighbor soft-reconfiguration" on page 424 - "neighbor timers" on page 425 - "neighbor unsuppress-map" on page 425 - "neighbor version" on page 427 - "neighbor weight" on page 427 - "neighbor weight" on page 427 - "neighbor weight" on page 428. 		- <u>"neighbor next-hop-self" on page 417</u>
 - "neighbor passive" on page 418 - "neighbor password" on page 419 - "neighbor peer-group" on page 419 - "neighbor prefix-list" on page 420 - "neighbor remote-as" on page 421 - "neighbor remove-private-AS" on page 421 - "neighbor route-map" on page 422 - "neighbor send-community" on page 422 - "neighbor soft-reconfiguration" on page 424 - "neighbor timers" on page 425 - "neighbor unsuppress-map" on page 425 - "neighbor version" on page 427 - "neighbor version" on page 427 - "neighbor weight" on page 427 - "neighbor weight" on page 428. 		- "neighbor override-capability" on page 418
 - "neighbor password" on page 419 - "neighbor peer-group" on page 419 - "neighbor prefix-list" on page 420 - "neighbor remote-as" on page 421 - "neighbor remove-private-AS" on page 421 - "neighbor send-community" on page 422 - "neighbor shutdown" on page 423 - "neighbor shutdown" on page 423 - "neighbor shutdown" on page 423 - "neighbor shutdown" on page 424 - "neighbor imers" on page 425 - "neighbor unsuppress-map" on page 425 - "neighbor version" on page 427 - "neighbor weight" on page 427 - "neighbor weight" on page 427 - "neighbor weight" on page 428. 		- <u>"neighbor passive" on page 418</u>
 - "neighbor peer-group" on page 419 - "neighbor prefix-list" on page 420 - "neighbor remote-as" on page 421 - "neighbor remove-private-AS" on page 421 - "neighbor route-map" on page 422 - "neighbor send-community" on page 422 - "neighbor shutdown" on page 423 - "neighbor soft-reconfiguration" on page 424 - "neighbor imers" on page 425 - "neighbor unsuppress-map" on page 425 - "neighbor version" on page 427 - "neighbor weight" on page 427 - "neighbor weight" on page 427 - "neighbor weight" on page 428. 		- "neighbor password" on page 419
 "neighbor prefix-list" on page 420 "neighbor remote-as" on page 421 "neighbor remove-private-AS" on page 421 "neighbor route-map" on page 422 "neighbor send-community" on page 422 "neighbor shutdown" on page 423 "neighbor soft-reconfiguration" on page 424 "neighbor inters" on page 425 "neighbor timers" on page 425 "neighbor unsuppress-map" on page 425 "neighbor version" on page 427 "neighbor weight" on page 427 "neighbor weight" on page 427 [no] network options See "network" on page 428. 		- "neighbor peer-group" on page 419
 - "neighbor remote-as" on page 421 - "neighbor remove-private-AS" on page 421 - "neighbor route-map" on page 422 - "neighbor send-community" on page 422 - "neighbor shutdown" on page 423 - "neighbor soft-reconfiguration" on page 424 - "neighbor strict-capability-match" page 424 - "neighbor timers" on page 425 - "neighbor unsuppress-map" on page 425 - "neighbor version" on page 427 - "neighbor version" on page 427 - "neighbor weight" on page 427 [no] network options See "network" on page 428. 		– <u>"neighbor prefix-list" on page 420</u>
 - "neighbor remove-private-AS" on page 421 - "neighbor route-map" on page 422 - "neighbor send-community" on page 422 - "neighbor shutdown" on page 423 - "neighbor soft-reconfiguration" on page 424 - "neighbor strict-capability-match" page 424 - "neighbor timers" on page 425 - "neighbor unsuppress-map" on page 425 - "neighbor version" on page 426 - "neighbor weight" on page 427 - "neighbor weight" on page 427 		- "neighbor remote-as" on page 421
 - "neighbor route-map" on page 422 - "neighbor send-community" on page 422 - "neighbor shutdown" on page 423 - "neighbor soft-reconfiguration" on page 424 - "neighbor strict-capability-match" page 424 - "neighbor timers" on page 425 - "neighbor unsuppress-map" on page 425 - "neighbor version" on page 426 - "neighbor version" on page 427 - "neighbor weight" on page 427 - "neighbor weight" on page 428. [no] redistribute options See "redistribute" on page 429.		- "neighbor remove-private-AS" on page 421
 - "neighbor send-community" on page 422 - "neighbor shutdown" on page 423 - "neighbor soft-reconfiguration" on page 424 - "neighbor strict-capability-match" page 424 - "neighbor timers" on page 425 - "neighbor unsuppress-map" on page 425 - "neighbor update-source" on page 426 - "neighbor version" on page 427 - "neighbor weight" on page 427 - "neighbor weight" on page 427 [no] network options See "network" on page 428. 		- "neighbor route-map" on page 422
 - "neighbor shutdown" on page 423 - "neighbor soft-reconfiguration" on page 424 - "neighbor strict-capability-match" page 424 - "neighbor timers" on page 425 - "neighbor unsuppress-map" on page 425 - "neighbor update-source" on page 426 - "neighbor version" on page 427 - "neighbor weight" on page 427 - "neighbor weight" on page 427 		- "neighbor send-community" on page 422
 - "neighbor soft-reconfiguration" on page 424 - "neighbor strict-capability-match" page 424 - "neighbor timers" on page 425 - "neighbor unsuppress-map" on page 425 - "neighbor update-source" on page 426 - "neighbor version" on page 427 - "neighbor weight" on page 427 - "neighbor weight" on page 427 See "network" on page 428. [no] redistribute options See "redistribute" on page 429. 		- "neighbor shutdown" on page 423
 <u>"neighbor strict-capability-match"</u> <u>page 424</u> <u>"neighbor timers" on page 425</u> <u>"neighbor unsuppress-map" on page 425</u> <u>"neighbor update-source" on page 426</u> <u>"neighbor version" on page 427</u> <u>"neighbor weight" on page 427</u> <u>"neighbor weight" on page 427</u> [no] network options See <u>"network" on page 428</u>. [no] redistribute options See <u>"redistribute" on page 429</u>. 		- "neighbor soft-reconfiguration" on page 424
 - "neighbor timers" on page 425 - "neighbor unsuppress-map" on page 425 - "neighbor update-source" on page 426 - "neighbor version" on page 427 - "neighbor weight" on page 427 - "neighbor weight" on page 427 		 <u>"neighbor strict-capability-match"</u> <u>page 424</u>
 - "neighbor unsuppress-map" on page 425 - "neighbor update-source" on page 426 - "neighbor version" on page 427 - "neighbor weight" on page 427 [no] network options See "network" on page 428. [no] redistribute options See "redistribute" on page 429. 		- "neighbor timers" on page 425
 - "neighbor update-source" on page 426 - "neighbor version" on page 427 - "neighbor weight" on page 427 [no] network options See "network" on page 428. [no] redistribute options See "redistribute" on page 429. 		- "neighbor unsuppress-map" on page 425
 - "neighbor version" on page 427 - "neighbor weight" on page 427 [no] network options See "network" on page 428. [no] redistribute options See "redistribute" on page 429. 		– <u>"neighbor update-source" on page 426</u>
<pre>- "neighbor weight" on page 427 [no] network options See "network" on page 428. [no] redistribute options See "redistribute" on page 429.</pre>		- "neighbor version" on page 427
[no] networkoptionsSee "network" on page 428.[no]redistributeoptionsSee "redistribute" on page 429.		- "neighbor weight" on page 427
[no] redistribute options See <u>"redistribute" on page 429</u> .	[no] network options	See <u>"network" on page 428</u> .
•	[no] redistribute options	See <u>"redistribute" on page 429</u> .

Default

Mode

BGP





aggregate-address

Description		Configure an aggregate address.	
Syntax		<pre>[no] aggregate-address ipaddr/mask-length [as-set] [summary-only]</pre>	
		Parameter	Description
		ipaddr/mask- length	IPv4 aggregate network address.
1	Note:	: If you are using the command at the address-family configuration the <i>ipv6addr</i> option is also supported.	
		as-set	Generates AS set path information.
		summary-only	Filters more specific routes from updates.
Default		None	
Mode		BGP	

auto-summary

Description	Enable sending of summarized routes to BGP peers.	
Syntax	[no] auto-summary	
Default	Disabled	
Mode	BGP	

bgp bestpath always-compare-med

Description	Enable comparison of Multi-Exit Discriminator (MED) values for paths from BGP neighbors in different autonomous systems (ASs). When this option is enabled, if multiple paths that are otherwise equal have the same MED values, the path with the lowest MED value is preferred.
Syntax	[no] bgp always-compare-med
Default	Disabled
Mode	BGP
400 of 804	Customer Driven Innovation

Document No.: D-030-01-00-0003 - Ver. 2.6.6-GR1 5/8/2013



Usage

If you need to enable comparison of MEDs for multiple paths from BGP neighbors within the same AS, see <u>"bgp deterministic-med" on page 403</u>.

bgp bestpath

Description	Configure options to select the best of multiple paths for a route.	
Syntax	[no] bgp bestpath {as-path [ignore] compare-routerid}	
	Parameter	Description
	as-path [ignore]	Specifies whether to consider the AS path when
	[]	selecting the best path for a route.
		- To consider the AS path, use the as-path option without the ignore option.
		– To ignore the AS path, use the as-path ignore option.
	compare-	
	routerid	Enables comparison of router IDs when compar- ing identical routes received from different neighbors. In this case, the route from the neigh- bor with the lowest route ID is selected.
Default	This command has the following default settings:	
	• as-path – AS-path co	nsideration is enabled by default.
	• compare-routerid – I from eBGP peers and	BGP receives routes with identical eBGP paths selects the first route received as the best path.
Mode	BGP	
bgp dampening	l	
Description	Configure the BGP respo tion.	nse to route flapping, to minimize network disrup-
Syntax	[no] bgp dampeni { <i>dampening-optio</i>	ng ns route-map map-name}





	Parameter	Description
	dampening- options	Configures the dampening options:
		<i>reachability-half-life</i> – Specifies the reachability half-life, which is the time it takes the penalty to decrease to one-half of its current value. You can specify 1-45 minutes.
		<i>reuse-start</i> – Specifies the reuse limit value. When the penalty for a suppressed route decays below the reuse value, the routes become unsuppressed. You can specify 1-20000.
		<i>suppress-start</i> – Specifies the suppress limit value. When the penalty for a route exceeds the suppress value, the route is suppressed. You can specify 1-20000.
		<i>max-suppress-duration</i> – Specifies the maximum time that a dampened route is suppressed. You can specify 1-255 minutes.
	route-map map-name	Applies the dampening settings only to routes that match the specified route map.
Default	This command has the fo	ollowing default values:
	• reachability-half-life	– 15 minutes
	• reuse-start – 750	
	• suppress-start – 2000)
	• max-suppress-durati	on - 60 minutes (4 times the half-life time)
	• route-map – none	
Mode	BGP	
bgp default		
Description	Change BGP default set	tings.
Syntax	[no] bgp defaul	t



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference

BGP Configuration Commands

	Parameter	Description
	ipv4-unicast	Activates IPv4 unicast for communication with peers.
	local- preference num	Specifies the local preference value for routes. You can specify 0-4294967295.
Default	This command has the fol	lowing default values:
	• ipv4-unicast – enable	d
	• local-preference – 10	0
Mode	BGP	

bgp deterministic-med

Description	Enable comparison of Multi-Exit Discriminator (MED) values for multiple paths from BGP neighbors within the same autonomous system (AS).
Syntax	[no] bgp deterministic-med
Default	Disabled
Mode	BGP
Usage	If you need to enable comparison of MEDs for paths from BGP neighbors in different ASs, see <u>"bgp bestpath always-compare-med" on page 400</u> .

bgp enforce-first-as

Description	Deny any updates from BGP neighbors that do not contain the neighbor's AS at the beginning of the AS_PATH list in the update.	
Syntax	[no] bgp enforce-first-as	
Default	Enabled	
Mode	BGP	





bgp fast-external-failover

Description	Enable immediate reset of a BGP session if the interface used for the BGP connection goes down.	
Syntax	[no] bgp fast-external-failover	
Default	Enabled	
Mode	BGP	

bgp log-neighbor-changes

Description	Enable logging of status change messages without enabling BGP debug- ging.
Syntax	[no] bgp log-neighbor-changes
Default	Disabled
Mode	BGP

bgp nexthop-trigger-count

Description	Sets the threshold for the number of route changes allowed before the AX device temporarily disables the BGP next-hop trigger.	
Syntax	[no] bgp nexthop-trigger-count num	
	Parameter	Description
	num	Specifies the maximum number of route changes allowed before the next-hop trigger is temporarily disabled. You can specify 0-127.
		If you specify 0, the nexthop trigger is not disabled regardless of the number of route changes.
Default	60	
Mode	BGP	



bgp router-id

Description	Configure the router ID.		
Syntax	[no] bgp router-id ipaddr		
	Parameter	Description	
	ipaddr	IPv4 address.	
Default	If a loopback interface is configured, the router ID is set to the IP address of the loopback interface. If there are multiple loopback interfaces, the loop- back interface with the highest numbered IP address is used. If there are no loopback interfaces, the interface with the highest numbered IP address is used.		
Mode	BGP		

bgp scan-time

Description	Set the interval for BGP route next-hop scanning.	
Syntax	[no] bgp scan-time seconds	
	Parameter	Description
	seconds	Amount of time between scans. You can specify 0-60 seconds.
Default	60	
Mode	BGP	

distance

Description Configure the administrative distance for BGP. The administrative distance is a rating of trustworthiness of the BGP process relative to other routing processes running on the AX device. The greater the distance, the lower the trust rating.





Syntax

```
{
admin-distance ipaddr/mask-length [acl-id] |
bgp external internal local
}
```

Parameter

Description

	admin-distance ipaddr/mask- length [acl-id]	Overrides the configured administrative distance for specific prefixes.
		The acl-id option specifies an ACL that matches on the routes for which to override the default administrative distance. If you do not use this option, the distance is applied to all IPv4 BGP routes.
	bgp external	A desinistrative distance for different route trace
	Internal local	Administrative distance for different foute types:
		<i>external</i> – Specifies the administrative distance for BGP routes learned from another AS.
		<i>internal</i> – Specifies the administrative dis- tance for BGP routes learned from a neighbor within the same AS.
		<i>local</i> – Specifies the administrative distance for BGP routes redistributed from another route source on this AX device.
		For each route type, you can specify a distance value of 1-255.
,	The following administra	tive distance values are used by default:
	• <i>external</i> – 20	
	• <i>internal</i> – 200	
	• <i>local</i> – 200	
]	BGP	

Default

Mode



neighbor activate

Description	Enable the exchange of address family routes with a neighboring BGP router.		
Syntax	[no] neighbor neighbor-id activate		
	Parameter	Description	
	neighbor-id	ID of the neighbor, which can be one of the fol- lowing types of values:	
		ipv4ipaddr-IPv4 address.	
		ipv6addr – IPv6 address.	
		tag – Name of a peer group.	
Default	N/A		
Mode	BGP		
Usage	After the TCP connection is opened with the neighbor, use this command to enable or disable the exchange of address family information with the neighboring router.		

neighbor advertisement-interval

Description	Configure the minimu updates to a neighbor.	Configure the minimum interval between transmission of BGP route updates to a neighbor. [no] neighbor neighbor-id advertisement-interval seconds	
Syntax	[no] neighbor advertisement-		
	Parameter	Description	
	neighbor-id	ID of the neighbor, which can be one of the fol- lowing types of values:	
		ipv4ipaddr – IPv4 address.	
		ipv6addr – IPv6 address.	
		tag – Name of a peer group.	
	seconds	Minimum interval between route updates. You can specify 0-600 seconds.	

Aleverks	AX Serie	es - Command Line Interface Reference	
Default	The advertisement interval has the following default settings:		
Derduit	The advertisement interval has the following default settings.		
	• eBGP – 30 seconds		
	• iBGP – 5 seconds		
Mode	BGP		
neighbor allowa	is-in		
Description	Allow re-advertisement of all prefixes containing duplicate AS numbers.		
Syntax	[no] neighbor <i>neighbor-id</i> allowas-in [<i>occurrences</i>]		
	Parameter	Description	
	neighbor-id	ID of the neighbor, which can be one of the fol- lowing types of values:	
		ipv4ipaddr – IPv4 address.	
		ipv6addr – IPv6 address.	
		tag – Name of a peer group.	
	occurrences	Maximum number of occurrences of a given AS number. You can specify 1-10.	
Default	Disabled		
Mode	BGP		

Description	Configure the interval between transmission of AS origination route updates.
Syntax	[no] neighbor neighbor-id as-origination-interval seconds



Default

Mode

AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference

BGP Configuration Commands

Parameter	Description
neighbor-id	ID of the neighbor, which can be one of the fol- lowing types of values:
	ipv4ipaddr – IPv4 address.
	ipv6addr – IPv6 address.
	tag – Name of a peer group.
seconds	Time between AS origination route updates. You can specify 1-600 seconds.
15 seconds	
BGP	

neighbor capability

Description	Configure capability settings for the AX device's BGP communication with a neighbor.	
Syntax	<pre>[no] neighbor neighbor-id capability { dynamic orf prefix-list {both receive send} route-refresh }</pre>	
	Parameter	Description
	neighbor-id	ID of the neighbor, which can be one of the fol- lowing types of values:
		ipv4ipaddr-IPv4 address.
		ipv6addr – IPv6 address.
		tag – Name of a peer group.
	dynamic	Enables the AX device to advertise or withdraw an address family capability with the neighbor, without bringing down the BGP session with the peer.



	orf prefix-list {both receive send}	Enables Outbound Router Filtering (ORF) and advertises the AX device's ORF capability to the neighbor.
		both – AX device can send ORF entries to the neighbor, as well as receive ORF entries from the neighbor.
		receive – AX device can receive ORF entries from the neighbor, but can not send ORF entries to the neighbor.
		\mathbf{send} – AX device can send ORF entries to the neighbor, but can not receive ORF entries from the neighbor.
	route-refresh	Enables advertisement of route-refresh capability to the neighbor. When this option is enabled, the AX device can dynamically request the neighbor to re-advertise its Adj-RIB-Out.
Default	None. (This assumes that tions.)	t the neighbor has no special capabilities or func-
Mode	BGP	
Usage	BGP neighbors exchange ORFs reduce the number of updates exchanged between neighbors. By filtering updates, this option minimizes generating and processing of updates.	
	The local router (AX dev and the remote router reco the filter as outbound pol the ORF for each router. configured to be in receiv configured to be in receiv	vice) advertises the ORF capability in send mode, eives the ORF capability in receive mode applying icy. The two routers exchange updates to maintain Only an individual router or a peer group can be we or send mode. A peer-group member cannot be we or send mode.

neighbor collide-established

410 of 804

Description	Include the neighbor, if already in TCP established state, in conflict resolu- tion if a TCP connection collision is detected.
Syntax	[no] neighbor neighbor-id collide-established



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference

bor configuration confinance	В	GP	Confi	guration	Command	S
------------------------------	---	----	-------	----------	---------	---

	Parameter	Description
	neighbor-id	ID of the neighbor, which can be one of the fol- lowing types of values:
		ipv4ipaddr-IPv4 address.
		ipv6addr – IPv6 address.
		tag – Name of a peer group.
Default	Use this command only required.	v if necessary. Generally, the command is not
	Inclusion of a neighbor w of TCP connection collis neighbor is configured for	with an established TCP connection into resolution sion conflicts is automatically enabled when the r BGP graceful-restart.
Mode	BGP	

neighbor connection-retry-time

Description	Configure the connection	retry time for a neighbor.
Syntax	[no] neighbor ne seconds	ighbor-id connection-retry-time
	Parameter	Description
	neighbor-id	ID of the neighbor, which can be one of the fol- lowing types of values:
		ipv4ipaddr – IPv4 address.
		ipv6addr – IPv6 address.
		tag – Name of a peer group.
	seconds	Connection retry time. You can specify 1-65535 seconds.
Default	120 seconds	
Mode	BGP	





neighbor default-originate

Description	Enable transmission of a default route $(0.0.0.0)$ to a neighbor.	
Syntax	<pre>[no] neighbor neighbor-id default-originate [route-map map-name]</pre>	
	Parameter	Description
	neighbor-id	ID of the neighbor, which can be one of the fol- lowing types of values:
		ipv4ipaddr – IPv4 address.
		ipv6addr – IPv6 address.
		tag – Name of a peer group.
	map-name	Route map that specifies the nexthop IP address.
Default	Disabled	
Mode	BGP	
neighbor descri	ption	
Description	Configure a description for a neighbor.	
Syntax	[no] neighbor <i>neighbor-id</i> description <i>string</i> [<i>string</i>]	
	Parameter	Description
	neighbor-id	ID of the neighbor, which can be one of the fol- lowing types of values:

ipv4ipaddr-IPv4 address.

ipv6addr – IPv6 address.

tag – Name of a peer group.

String of up to 80 characters describing the neighbor.

Default

Mode

string

None

BGP



neighbor disallow-infinite-holdtime

Description	Disallow a neighbor to	Disallow a neighbor to set the holdtime to "infinite" (0 seconds).	
Syntax	[no] neighbor disallow-infir	neighbor-id nite-holdtime	
	Parameter	Description	
	neighbor-id	ID of the neighbor, which can be one of the fol- lowing types of values:	
		ipv4ipaddr – IPv4 address.	
		ipv6addr – IPv6 address.	
		tag – Name of a peer group.	
Default	Disabled. Infinite hold	dtime is allowed.	
Mode	BGP		

neighbor distribute-list

Description	Filter route updates to or from a neighbor.	
Syntax	<pre>[no] neighbor neighbor-id distribute-list ip-access-list {in out}</pre>	
	Parameter	Description
	neighbor-id	ID of the neighbor, which can be one of the fol- lowing types of values:
		ipv4ipaddr – IPv4 address.
		ipv6addr – IPv6 address.
		tag – Name of a peer group.
	ip-access-list	ACL that matches on the routes to filter.
	in out	Specifies the update direction to filter:
		in – Updates received from the neighbor are filtered.
		out – Updates sent to the neighbor are filtered before transmission.

Default

None. By default, updates are not filtered.



Mode

BGP

neighbor dont-capability-negotiate

Description	Disable capability neg	Disable capability negotiation with a neighbor.	
Syntax	[no] neighbor dont-capabilit	neighbor-id y-negotiate	
	Parameter	Description	
	neighbor-id	ID of the neighbor, which can be one of the fol- lowing types of values:	
		ipv4ipaddr – IPv4 address.	
		ipv6addr – IPv6 address.	
		tag – Name of a peer group.	
Default	Capability negotiation	is enabled by default.	
Mode	BGP		

neighbor ebgp-multihop

Description	Enable the AX device to allow connections to eBGP peers on indirectly connected networks.
Syntax	[no] neighbor neighbor-id ebgp-multihop
Default	Disabled
Mode	BGP
Usage	To prevent traffic loops, multihop is not established if the only route to the multihop peer is a default route.



neighbor enforce-multihop

Description	Enforce requirement of the AX device over multiple	he neighbor to set up BGP peer sessions with the router hops.
Syntax	[no] neighbor ne	eighbor-id enforce-multihop
Default	Disabled	
Mode	BGP	
neighbor fall-ov	ver	
Description	Enable fallover detection ing Detection (BFD).	for a BGP neighbor using Bidirectional Forward-
Syntax	<pre>[no] neighbor neighbor-id fall-over bfd [authentication key-id {md5 meticulous-md5 meticulous-shal s simple} key-string [] multihop]</pre>	
	Parameter	Description
	neighbor-id	ID of the neighbor, which can be one of the fol- lowing types of values:
		ipv4ipaddr – IPv4 address.
		<i>ipv6addr –</i> IPv6 address.
		tag – Name of a peer group.
	authentication key-id type string	Configures authentication for the BFD session with the BGP peer.
		The <i>key-id</i> can be 0-255.
		The <i>type</i> specifies the authentication type can can be one of the following:
		md5
		meticulous-md5
		meticulous-sha1



		shal
		simple
		The string specifies the key string.
	multihop	Enables support for neighbors that are multiple hops away from the AX device.
Default	Not set	
Mode	BGP	
neighbor filter-l	ist	
Description	Filter route updates to or	from a neighbor based on AS path.
Syntax	[no] neighbor <i>neighbor-id</i> filter-list AS-path-access-list { in out }	
	Parameter	Description
	neighbor-id	ID of the neighbor, which can be one of the fol- lowing types of values:
		ipv4ipaddr – IPv4 address.
		ipv6addr – IPv6 address.
		tag – Name of a peer group.
	AS-path-access-	
	list	AS path list. To configure an AS path list, use the following command at the global configuration level of the CLI: ip as-path access-list
	in out	Specifies the update direction to filter:
		in – Updates received from the neighbor are filtered.
		out – Updates sent to the neighbor are filtered before transmission.
Default	None. By default, updates	s are not filtered.
Mode	BGP	



neighbor maximum-prefix

Description	Configure the maximum number of network prefixes that can be received in route updates from a neighbor.	
Syntax	[no] neighbor <i>neighbor-id</i> maximum-prefix <i>num</i> [<i>threshold</i>]	
	Parameter	Description
	neighbor-id	ID of the neighbor, which can be one of the fol- lowing types of values:
		ipv4ipaddr-IPv4 address.
		ipv6addr – IPv6 address.
		tag – Name of a peer group.
	num	Maximum number of prefixes allowed. You can specify 1-1024.
	threshold	Percentage of the allowed maximum at which a warning message is generated. You can specify 1-100.
Default	The default maximum is 128. The default threshold is 75 percent.	
Mode	BGP	
Usage	If the maximum is reached, the AX device brings down the BGP session with the peer.	

neighbor next-hop-self

Description	Configure the AX dev	Configure the AX device as the BGP next hop for a neighbor.		
Syntax	[no] neighbor	[no] neighbor neighbor-id next-hop-self		
	Parameter	Description		
	neighbor-id	ID of the neighbor, which can be one of the fol- lowing types of values:		
		ipv4ipaddr – IPv4 address.		
		ipv6addr – IPv6 address.		

/	2
AI	Networks

Default

Disabled

Mode

BGP

neighbor override-capability

Description	Override the results of capability negotiation with a neighbor.	
Syntax	[no] neighbor neighbor-id override-capability	
	Parameter	Description
	neighbor-id	ID of the neighbor, which can be one of the fol- lowing types of values:
		ipv4ipaddr-IPv4 address.
		ipv6addr – IPv6 address.
		tag – Name of a peer group.
Default	Disabled	
Mode	BGP	

neighbor passive

Description	Do not initiate a TCP connection with the specified neighbor, but allow the neighbor to initiate a TCP connection with the AX device. Once the connection is up, BGP will work over the connection.	
Syntax	[no] neighbor ne.	ighbor-id passive
	Parameter	Description
	neighbor-id	ID of the neighbor, which can be one of the fol- lowing types of values:
		ipv4ipaddr – IPv4 address.
		ipv6addr – IPv6 address.
		tag – Name of a peer group.
Default	Disabled	
Mode	BGP	



neighbor password

Description	Enable MD5 encryption for BGP sessions with a BGP neighbor.		
Syntax	[no] neighbor neighbor-id password string		
	Parameter	Description	
	neighbor-id	ID of the neighbor, which can be one of the fol- lowing types of values:	
		ipv4ipaddr – IPv4 address.	
		ipv6addr – IPv6 address.	
	string	Password string, up to 80 characters long. The string can include the printable ASCII characters, which are [0-9], [a-z], and [A-Z] and are fully defined by hexadecimal value range $0x20-0x7e$. The string can not begin with a blank space, and can not contain any of the following special characters: ' " < > & \ / ?	
Default	Disabled		
Mode	BGP		
Example	The following command enables MD5 for the connection with eBGP neighbor 10.10.10.22:		
AX(config)#router bgp	123		
X(config-router:device1)#neighbor 10.10.10.22 remote-as 456			

neighbor peer-group

Description	Add the AX device to a BGP peer group.	
Syntax	[no] neighbor neighbor-id peer-group group-name	
	Parameter	Description
	neighbor-id	ID of the neighbor, which can be one of the fol- lowing types of values:
		ipv4ipaddr – IPv4 address.
		ipv6addr – IPv6 address.
	group-name	Name of the peer group.

AX(config-router:device1)#neighbor 10.10.10.22 password 1234567890abcde

		AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference
Networks		BGP Configuration Commands
Default	None	
Mode	BGP	

neighbor prefix-list

Description	Use a prefix list to filter route updates to or from a neighbor.	
Syntax	[no] neighbor <i>ne</i> {in out}	ighbor-id prefix-list list-name
	Parameter	Description
	neighbor-id	ID of the neighbor, which can be one of the fol- lowing types of values:
		ipv4ipaddr-IPv4 address.
		ipv6addr – IPv6 address.
		tag – Name of a peer group.
	list-name	Name of the prefix list.
	in out	Specifies the update direction to filter:
		in – Updates received from the neighbor are filtered.
		out – Updates sent to the neighbor are filtered before transmission.
Default	By default, updates are not filtered.	
Mode	BGP	
Usage	Filtering by prefix list matches the prefixes of routes with those listed in the prefix list. If there is a match, the route is used. An empty prefix list permits all prefixes. If a given prefix does not match any entries of a prefix list, the route is denied access. When multiple entries of a prefix list match a prefix the entry with the smallest sequence number is considered to be a real match.The AX device begins the search at the top of the prefix list, with rule sequence number 1. Once a match or deny occurs, the AX device does no need to go through the rest of the prefix list. For efficiency the most common matches or denies are listed at the top.	



The **neighbor distribute-list** command is an alternative to the **neighbor prefix-list** command. Only one of these commands can be used for filtering to the same neighbor in any direction.

neighbor remote-as

Description		Configure an internal or external BGP (iBGP or eBGP) TCP session with another router.	
Syntax		[no] neighbor neighbor-id remote-as AS-num	
		Parameter	Description
		neighbor-id	ID of the neighbor, which can be one of the fol- lowing types of values:
			ipv4ipaddr – IPv4 address.
			ipv6addr – IPv6 address.
			tag – Name of a peer group.
		AS-num	Neighbor's AS number.
	Note:	AS number 23456 is a reserved 2-octet AS number. An old BGP speak (2-byte implementation) should be configured with 23456 as its remo AS number while peering with a non-mappable new BGP speaker (4-by implementation).	
Default		None	
Mode		BGP	

neighbor remove-private-AS

Description	Remove the private AS number from outbound updates.		
Syntax	[no] neighbor neighbor-id remove-private-AS		
Default	Disabled		
Mode	BGP		



neighbor route-map

Description	Apply a route map to incoming or outgoing routes.	
Syntax	<pre>[no] neighbor neighbor-id route-map map-name {in out}</pre>	
	Parameter	Description
	neighbor-id	ID of the neighbor, which can be one of the fol- lowing types of values:
		ipv4ipaddr – IPv4 address.
		ipv6addr – IPv6 address.
		tag – Name of a peer group.
	map-name	Name of the route map.
	in out	Specifies the traffic direction to which to apply the route map:
		in – The route map is applied to routes received from the neighbor.
		out – The route map is applied to routes sent to the neighbor.
Default	None	
Mode	BGP	

neighbor send-community

Description	Send community attributes to a neighbor.	
Syntax	[no] neighbor <i>neighbor-id</i> send-community [both extended standard]	
	Parameter	Description
	neighbor-id	ID of the neighbor, which can be one of the fol- lowing types of values:
		<i>ipv4ipaddr</i> – IPv4 address.
		ipv6addr – IPv6 address.
		tag – Name of a peer group.

2	AX S	Series - Command Line Interface Reference
Networks		BGP Configuration Commands
	both	Sends both standard and extended community attributes.
	extended	Sends only extended community attributes.
	standard	Sends only standard community attributes.
Default	By default, both standard and extended community attributes are sent to a neighbor. To explicitly send only the standard or extended community attribute, run the bgp config-type command with the standard parameter, before running this command.	
Mode	BGP	
Usage	The community attr applies routing deci community attribute	ibute groups destinations in a certain community and sions according to those communities. Upon receiving s, the AX device re-announces them to the neighbor.
Usage	To prevent commun use the " no " form of	ity attributes from being re-announced to the neighbor, f this command.

neighbor shutdown

Description	Disable a neighbor.	
Syntax	[no] neighbor neighbor-id shutdown	
	Parameter	Description
	neighbor-id	ID of the neighbor, which can be one of the fol- lowing types of values:
		ipv4ipaddr – IPv4 address.
		ipv6addr – IPv6 address.
		tag – Name of a peer group.
Default	None	
Mode	BGP	
Usage	This command shuts dow clears all related routing of	n any active session for the specified neighbor and lata.



neighbor soft-reconfiguration

Description	Configure the AX device to begin storing updates, without any considera- tion of the applied route policy.	
Syntax	[no] neighbor neighbor-id soft-reconfigun inbound	
	Parameter	Description
	neighbor-id	ID of the neighbor, which can be one of the fol- lowing types of values:
		ipv4ipaddr – IPv4 address.
		ipv6addr – IPv6 address.
		tag – Name of a peer group.
Default	Disabled	
Mode	BGP	
Usage	Use this command to store updates for inbound soft reconfiguration. Soft- reconfiguration can be used as an alternative to BGP route refresh capabil- ity. Using this command enables local storage of all the received routes and their attributes. When a soft reset (inbound) is performed on the neighbor, the locally stored routes are reprocessed according to the inbound policy. The BGP neighbor connection is not affected.	

neighbor strict-capability-match

Description	Close the BGP connect pletely match the value	ction to a neighbor if a capability value does not com- te on the AX device.
Syntax	[no] neighbor neighbor-id strict-capability-match	
	Parameter	Description
	neighbor-id	ID of the neighbor, which can be one of the fol- lowing types of values:
		ipv4ipaddr – IPv4 address.
		ipv6addr – IPv6 address.
		tag – Name of a peer group.
Default	Enabled	
424 of 804		Customer Driven Innovation



Mode

BGP

neighbor timers

Description	Configure the timers for a neighbor.	
Syntax	[no] neighbor <i>neighbor-id</i> timers { <i>interval holdtime</i> connect <i>seconds</i> }	
	Parameter	Description
	neighbor-id	ID of the neighbor, which can be one of the fol- lowing types of values:
		ipv4ipaddr-IPv4 address.
		ipv6addr – IPv6 address.
		tag – Name of a peer group.
	interval holdtime	The <i>interval</i> specifies the amount of time between transmission of keepalive messages to the neighbor. You can specify 0-65535 seconds.
		The <i>holdtime</i> specifies the maximum amount of time the AX device will wait for a keepalive message from the neighbor before declaring the neighbor dead. You can specify 0-65535 seconds.
	connect seconds	Connect timer. You can specify 0-65535 seconds. In ACTIVE state, the BGP router (AX device) will accept an incoming connection request from the peer before the connect time expires.
Default	The default <i>interval</i> is 60 default connect time is 0.	seconds. The default <i>holdtime</i> is 180 seconds. The
Mode	BGP	

neighbor unsuppress-map

DescriptionSelectively leak more-specific routes to a neighbor.Syntax[no] neighbor neighbor-id unsuppress-map map-name





Default

Mode

Usage

AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference BGP Configuration Commands

Parameter	Description
neighbor-id	ID of the neighbor, which can be one of the fol- lowing types of values:
	ipv4ipaddr – IPv4 address.
	ipv6addr – IPv6 address.
	tag – Name of a peer group.
map-name	Route map used to select routes to be unsuppressed.
Disabled	
BGP	
When the aggregate - option, the more-speci- bors. Use the unsupp er routes to a particular n	address command is used with the summary-only fic routes of the aggregate are suppressed to all neighress-map command to selectively leak more-specific eighbor.

neighbor update-source

Description	Allow internal BGP session nections with a neighbor.	ons to use any operational interface for TCP con-
Syntax	[no] neighbor ne	ighbor-id update-source interface
	Parameter	Description
	neighbor-id	ID of the neighbor, which can be one of the fol- lowing types of values:
		ipv4ipaddr-IPv4 address.
		ipv6addr – IPv6 address.
		tag – Name of a peer group.
	interface	Interface name or address.
Default	IP address of the outgoing	g interface to the neighbor.
Mode	BGP	



neighbor version

Description	Specify the BGP vers tion with a neighbor.	ion supported by the AX device for BGP communica-	
Syntax	[no] neighbor neighbor-id version 4		
	Parameter	Description	
	neighbor-id	ID of the neighbor, which can be one of the fol- lowing types of values:	
		ipv4ipaddr – IPv4 address.	
		ipv6addr – IPv6 address.	
		tag – Name of a peer group.	
Default	4		
Mode	BGP		

neighbor weight

Description	Assign a weight value to routes learned from a neighbor.	
Syntax	[no] neighbor neighbor-id weight num	
	Parameter	Description
	neighbor-id	ID of the neighbor, which can be one of the fol- lowing types of values:
		ipv4ipaddr-IPv4 address.
		ipv6addr – IPv6 address.
		tag – Name of a peer group.
	num	Weight value assigned to routes learned from the neighbor. You can specify 0-65535.
Default	0 (zero)	
Mode	BGP	
Usage	Use this command to specify a weight value, per address-family, to all routes learned from a neighbor. The route with the highest weight gets preference when the same prefix is learned from more than one peer.	

\sim	AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference	
Networks		BGP Configuration Commands
Unlike the local-preference attribute, the weight attribute is releva to the local router.		nce attribute, the weight attribute is relevant only
	The weights assigned using the set weight command override the weights assigned using this command. When the weight is set for a peer group, all members of the peer group will have the same weight. The command can also be used to assign a different weight to a particular peer-group member. When a separately configured weight of the peer-group member is unconfigured, its weight will be reset to its peer group's weight.	
network		
Description	Specify the networks to be cess.	e advertised by the AX device's BGP routing pro-
Syntax	[no] network { <i>ipaddr/mask-length</i> <i>ipaddr</i> mask <i>network-mask</i> } [route-map <i>map-name</i>]	
	Parameter	Description
	ipaddr/mask- length ipaddr mask network-mask	Network address and mask.
	map-name	Route map used to set or modify a value.
Default	None	
Mode	BGP	
Usage	A unicast network address ural boundary of its class matches its natural class-b	s without a mask is accepted if it falls into the nat- . A class-boundary mask is derived if the address boundary.



```
Redistribute route information from other sources into BGP.
Description
Syntax
                          [no] redistribute
                          connected [route-map map-name]
                          floating-ip [route-map map-name] |
                          ip-nat [route-map map-name] |
                          ip-nat-list [route-map map-name]
                          isis [route-map map-name] |
                          nat64 [route-map map-name]
                          ospf [route-map map-name] |
                          rip [route-map map-name]
                          static [route-map map-name] |
                          vip
                             [only-flagged [route-map map-name]
                              only-not-flagged [route-map map-name] |
                              [route-map map-name]]
                          }
                         Parameter
                                               Description
                          connected
                          [route-map
                                               Redistributes route information for directly con-
                          map-name]
                                               nected networks into BGP. The route-map
                                               option specifies the name of a configured route
                                               map.
                          floating-ip
                          [route-map
                          map-name]
                                               Redistributes route information for floating IP
                                               addresses into BGP. The route-map option spec-
                                               ifies the name of a configured route map.
                          ip-nat
                          [route-map
                          map-name]
                                               Redistributes routes into BGP for reaching trans-
                                               lated NAT addresses allocated from a pool. The
                                               route-map option specifies the name of a config-
                                               ured route map.
                          ip-nat-list
                          [route-map
                          map-name]
                                               Redistributes routes into BGP for reaching trans-
                                               lated NAT addresses allocated from a range list.
                                               The route-map option specifies the name of a
                                               configured route map.
```



isis	
[route-map	
map-name]	Redistributes route information from Intermedi- ate System to Intermediate System (IS-IS) into BGP. The route-map option specifies the name of a configured route map.
nat64	
[route-map	
map-name]	Redistributes route information from NAT64 into BGP. The route-map option specifies the name of a configured route map.
ospf	
[route-map	
map-name]	Redistributes route information from Open Shortest Path First (OSPF) into BGP. The route- map option specifies the name of a configured route map.
static	
[route-map	
map-name]	Redistributes routes into BGP for reaching net- works through static routes. The route-map option specifies the name of a configured route map.
vip	
[only-flagged	
[route-map	
map-name]	
only-not-	
flagged	
[route-map	
[route-map	
map-name]]	Redistributes routes into BGP for reaching vir- tual server IP addresses.
	By default, all VIPs are redistributed when you use the vip option. To restrict redistribution to a subset of VIPs, use one of the following options:

only-flagged – Redistributes only the VIPs on which the **redistribution-flagged** command is used.

only-not-flagged – Redistributes all VIPs *except* those on which the **redistribu-tion-flagged** command is used.



For more information, see "Usage".

The **route-map** option specifies the name of a configured route map.

	Note:	The kernel option is not applicable.
Default		None
Mode		BGP

synchronization

Description	Enable IGP synchronization of routes learned through iBGP.			
Syntax	[no] synchronization			
Default	Disabled			
Mode	BGP			
timers				
Description	Configure the BGP keepalive and holdtime timer values.			
Syntax	[no] timers bgp interval holdtime			
	Parameter	Description		
	interval	Specifies the amount of time between transmis- sion of keepalive messages to neighbors. You can specify 0-65535 seconds.		
	holdtime	Specifies the maximum amount of time the AX device will wait for a keepalive message from a neighbor before declaring the neighbor dead. You can specify 0-65535 seconds.		
Default	The default interval is 30 seconds. The default holdtime is 90 seconds.			
Mode	BGP			





BGP Show Commands

This section lists the BGP show commands.

show [ip] bgp ipv4addr

Description Display BGP network information for IPv4. **Syntax** show bgp ipv4addr | ipv4addr/mask-length [longer-prefixes] } Parameter Description ipv4addr | ipv4addr/masklength [longerprefixes] IPv4 prefix and mask length. The longer-prefixes option includes prefixes that have a longer mask than the one specified.

Mode

All

show [ip] bgp ipv6addr

Description	Display BGP network information for IPv6.			
Syntax	show bgp { ipv6addr ipv6addr/mask-1 }	p r r/mask-length [longer-prefixes]		
	Parameter	Description		
	ipv6addr ipv6addr/mask-			
	length	IPv6 prefix and mask length.		
		The longer-prefixes option includes prefixes that have a longer mask than the one specified.		



Mode

Syntax

All

show bgp ipv4 {multicast | unicast}

Description Display BGP information for IPv4. show bgp ipv4 {multicast | unicast} Γ ipv4addr | ipv4addr/mask-length **community** [community-number] [**exact-match**] [local-AS] [no-advertise] [no-export] **community-list** *list-name* [**exact-match**] dampening {dampened-paths | flap-statistics | parameters } filter-list list-name inconsistent-as **neighbors** [*ipv4addr* | *ipv6addr* [advertised-routes | received prefix-filter | received-routes | routes]] **prefix-list** list-name quote-regexp string **regexp** string [string ...] route-map map-name summary 1 Parameter Description multicast unicast Specifies the IPv4 address family for which to display information.

> ipv4addr | ipv4addr/masklength community [communitynumber]

[options]

Displays routes matching the communities. Enter the community number in AA:NN format.

The following options are supported:

Network and mask information.

exact-match – Displays only communities that exactly match.


AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference BGP Show Commands

	local-AS – Displays only communities that are not sent outside the local AS.
	no-advertise – Displays only communities that are not sent advertised to neighbors.
	no-export – Displays only communities that are not exported to the next AS.
community-list list-name	
[exact-match]	Displays routes matching the specified commu- nity list. The exact-match option displays only the routes that have exactly the same communi- ties.
dampening {options}	Displays route-flap dampening information. You must specify one of the following options:
	dampened-paths – Displays paths suppressed due to dampening.
	flap-statistics – Displays flap statistics for routes.
	parameters – Displays details for configured dampening parameters.
filter-list	
list-name	Displays routes that match the specified filter list.
inconsistent-as	Displays routes that have inconsistent AS Paths.
neighbors [<i>ipv4addr</i> <i>ipv6addr</i>	
[options]]	Displays detailed information about TCP and BGP neighbor connections. The following options are supported:
	advertised-routes – Displays the routes advertised to a BGP neighbor.
	received prefix-filter – Displays all received routes, both accepted and rejected.
	received-routes – Displays the received routes from neighbor. To display all the received routes from the neighbor, configure BGP soft reconfiguration first.
	routes – Displays all accepted routes learned from neighbors.



Mode

prefix-list list-name	Displays routes that match the specified prefix list.
quote-regexp string	Displays routes that match the specified AS-path regular expression. Enclose the regular expression string in double quotation marks (example: "regexp-string-1").
regexp string [string]	Displays routes that match the specified AS-path regular expression(s).
route-map map-name	Displays routes that match the specified route
summary	Displays a summary of BGP neighbor status.
All	

show bgp ipv4 neighbors

Description	Display information about	it IPv4 BGP neighbors.	
Syntax	<pre>show bgp ipv4 ne [ipv4addr ipve [advertised-ro received pref received-rout routes]]</pre>	<pre>show bgp ipv4 neighbors [ipv4addr ipv6addr [advertised-routes received prefix-filter received-routes routes]]</pre>	
	Parameter	Description	
	ipv4addr ipv6addr	Network and mask information.	
	advertised- routes	Displays the routes advertised to a BGP neighbor.	
	received prefix-filter	Displays all received routes, both accepted and rejected.	
	received-routes	Displays the received routes from neighbor. To display all the received routes from the neighbor, configure BGP soft reconfiguration first.	



routes

All

Displays all accepted routes learned from neighbors.

Mode

show bgp ipv4 prefix-list

Description	Display IPv4 routes that match the specified prefix list.	
Syntax	<pre>show bgp ipv4 prefix-list list-name</pre>	
Mode	All	

show bgp ipv4 quote-regexp

Description	Display IPv4 routes that match the specified AS-path regular expression. Enclose the regular expression string in double quotation marks (example: "regexp-string-1").
Syntax	show bgp ipv4 quote-regexp string
Mode	All

show bgp ipv4 summary

Description	Display a summary of BGP IPv4 neighbor status.
Syntax	show bgp ipv4 summary
Mode	All



show bgp ipv6

```
Description
                      Display BGP information for IPv6.
Syntax
                        show bgp ipv6
                        Γ
                        ipv6addr |
                        ipv6addr/mask-length
                       community [community-number] [exact-match]
                          [local-AS] [no-advertise] [no-export]
                       community-list list-name [exact-match]
                       dampening {dampened-paths | flap-statistics |
                          parameters }
                       filter-list list-name
                       inconsistent-as
                       multicast {ipv6addr |
                          ipv6addr/mask-length [longer-prefixes] } |
                       neighbors [ipv4addr | ipv6addr
                          [advertised-routes | received prefix-filter |
                           received-routes | routes]]
                       paths
                       prefix-list list-name |
                       quote-regexp string
                       regexp string [string ...]
                       route-map map-name
                       summary
                       unicast {ipv6addr |
                          ipv6addr/mask-length [longer-prefixes]} |
                       view view-name
                        1
                      Parameter
                                          Description
                        ipv6addr |
                        ipv6addr/mask-
                                         Network and mask information.
                        length
                       community
                        [community-
                       number]
                        [options]
                                          Displays routes for communities. Enter the com-
                                          munity number in AA:NN format.
                                          The following options are supported:
                                          exact-match – Displays only communities
                                          that exactly match.
```



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference BGP Show Commands

	local-AS – Displays only communities that are not sent outside the local AS.
	no-advertise – Displays only communities that are not sent advertised to neighbors.
	no-export – Displays only communities that are not exported to the next AS.
community-list list-name	
[exact-match]	Displays routes matching the specified commu- nity list. The exact-match option displays only the routes that have exactly the same communi- ties.
dampening	
{options}	Displays route-flap dampening information. You must specify one of the following options:
	dampened-paths – Displays paths suppressed due to dampening.
	flap-statistics – Displays flap statistics for routes.
	parameters – Displays details for configured dampening parameters.
filter-list	
list-name	Displays routes that match the specified filter list.
inconsistent-as	Displays routes that have inconsistent AS Paths.
<pre>multicast { ipv6addr ipv6addr/mask- length [longer- prefixes]}</pre>	Displays IPv6 routes for the specified multicast
prelixes]}	address family.
	The longer-prefixes option includes prefixes that have a longer mask than the one specified.
neighbors [<i>ipv4addr</i> <i>ipv6addr</i>	
[options]]	Displays detailed information about TCP and BGP neighbor connections. The following options are supported:



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference BGP Show Commands

advertised-routes - Displays the routes advertised to a BGP neighbor. received prefix-filter – Displays all received routes, both accepted and rejected. **received-routes** – Displays the received routes from neighbor. To display all the received routes from the neighbor, configure BGP soft reconfiguration first. **routes** – Displays all accepted routes learned from neighbors. Displays BGP path information. paths prefix-list list-name Displays routes that match the specified prefix list. quote-regexp Displays routes that match the specified AS-path string regular expression. Enclose the regular expression string in double quotation marks (example: "regexp-string-1"). regexp string [string ...] Displays routes that match the specified AS-path regular expression(s). route-map Displays routes that match the specified route map-name map. Displays a summary of BGP neighbor status. summary unicast {ipv6addr | ipv6addr/masklength [longerprefixes]} Displays IPv6 routes for the specified unicast address family. The longer-prefixes option includes prefixes that have a longer mask than the one specified. Displays neighbors within the specified view. **view** view-name The **labeled** option is not applicable.

Mode

All

Note:



show bgp nexthop-tracking

Description	Display the status of nexthop address tracking	
Syntax	show bgp nexthop-tracking	
Mode	All	

show bgp nexthop-tree-details

Description	Display nexthop tree details.	
Syntax	show bgp nexthop-tree-details	
Mode	All	

show ip bgp attribute-info

Description	Display internal attribute hash information.	
Syntax	show ip bgp attribute-info	
Mode	All	

show ip bgp cidr-only

Description	Display routes with non-natural network masks.	
Syntax	show ip bgp cidr-only	
Mode	All	

show [ip] bgp community

Description	Display routes for communities.
Syntax	<pre>show [ip] bgp community [community-number] [exact-match] [local-AS] [no-advertise] [no-export]</pre>



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference

Parameter	Description
community- number	Community number, in AA:NN format.
exact-match	Displays only communities that exactly match.
local-AS	Displays only communities that are not sent outside the local AS.
no-advertise	Displays only communities that are not sent advertised to neighbors.
no-export	Displays only communities that are not exported to the next AS.

Mode

show ip bgp community-info

All

Description	Display all BGP community information.	
Syntax	show ip bgp community-info	
Mode	All	

show [ip] bgp community-list

Description	Display routes for a sp	pecific community list.
Syntax	show [ip] bgp [exact-match]	community-list list-name
	Parameter	Description
	list-name	Displays routes matching the specified commu- nity list.
	exact-match	Displays only the routes that have exactly the same communities.
Mode	All	



show [ip] bgp dampening

Description	Display route-flap dampe	ening information.	
Syntax	show [ip] bgp da $\{ \texttt{dampened-paths} \}$	show [ip] bgp dampening {dampened-paths flap-statistics parameters}	
	Parameter	Description	
	dampened-paths	Displays paths suppressed due to dampening.	
	flap-statistics	Displays flap statistics for routes.	
	parameters	Displays details for configured dampening parameters.	
Mode	All		

show [ip] bgp filter-list

Description	Display routes that match a specific filter list.
Syntax	<pre>show [ip] bgp filter-list list-name</pre>
Mode	All

show [ip] bgp inconsistent-as

Description	Display routes that have inconsistent AS Paths.	
Syntax	show [ip] bgp inconsistent-as	
Mode	All	



show ip bgp ipv4

Description	Display BGP information	n for IPv4.
Syntax	<pre>show ip bgp ipv4 [ipv4addr ipv4addr/mask-lee cidr-only community [commu [local-AS] [nc community-list l dampening {dampe parameters} filter-list list inconsistent-as neighbors [ipv4a [advertised-rout paths prefix-list list quote-regexp string [s route-map map-na summary]</pre>	<pre># {multicast unicast} ength mity-number] [exact-match] o-advertise] [no-export] list-name [exact-match] ened-paths flap-statistics c-name ddr ipv6addr outes received prefix-filter ces routes]] c-name ring string] ame </pre>
	Parameter	Description
	multicast unicast	Specifies the IPv4 address family for which to display information.
	cidr-only	Displays routes with non-natural network masks.
	community [community- number] [options]	Displays routes matching the communities. Enter
	[0]	the community number in AA:NN format.
		The following options are supported:
		exact-match – Displays only communities that exactly match.
		local-AS – Displays only communities that are not sent outside the local AS.



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference BGP Show Commands

	no-advertise – Displays only communities that are not sent advertised to neighbors.
	no-export – Displays only communities that are not exported to the next AS.
community-list <i>list-name</i>	
[exact-match]	Displays routes matching the specified commu- nity list. The exact-match option displays only the routes that have exactly the same communi- ties.
dampening	
{options}	Displays route-flap dampening information. You must specify one of the following options:
	dampened-paths – Displays paths suppressed due to dampening.
	flap-statistics – Displays flap statistics for routes.
	parameters – Displays details for configured dampening parameters.
filter-list	
list-name	Displays routes that match the specified filter list.
inconsistent-as	Displays routes that have inconsistent AS Paths.
neighbors [<i>ipv4addr</i> <i>ipv6addr</i>	
[options]]	Displays detailed information about TCP and BGP neighbor connections. The following options are supported:
	advertised-routes – Displays the routes advertised to a BGP neighbor.
	received prefix-filter – Displays all received routes, both accepted and rejected.
	received-routes – Displays the received routes from neighbor. To display all the received routes from the neighbor, configure BGP soft reconfiguration first.
	routes – Displays all accepted routes learned from neighbors.
paths	Displays BGP path information.



Mode

prefix-list list-name	Displays routes that match the specified prefix list.
quote-regexp	
string	Displays routes that match the specified AS-path regular expression. Enclose the regular expres- sion string in double quotation marks (example: "regexp-string-1").
regexp string [string]	Displays routes that match the specified AS-path regular expression(s).
route-map	
map-name	Displays routes that match the specified route map.
summary	Displays a summary of BGP neighbor status.
All	

show [ip] bgp neighbors

Description	Display information about BGP neighbors.
Syntax	show [ip] bgp neighbors [
	ipv4addr ipv6addr
	[
	advertised-routes
	connection-retrytime
	hold-time
	keepalive
	keepalive-interval
	notification
	open
	rcvd-msgs
	received prefix-filter
	received-routes
	routes
	sent-msgs
	update
]
]





AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference BGP Show Commands

Parameter	Description
ipv4addr ipv6addr	Network and mask information.
advertised- routes	Displays the routes advertised to a BGP neighbor.
connection- retrytime	Displays the configured connection-retry-time value at the session establishment time with the neighbor.
hold-time	Displays the configured hold-time value of the neighbor at the session establishment time with the neighbor.
keepalive	Displays the number of keepalive messages sent to the neighbor throughout the session.
keepalive- interval	Displays the configured keepalive-interval value at the session establishment time with the neigh- bor.
notification	Displays the number of Notification messages sent to the neighbor throughout the session.
open	Displays the number of Open messages sent to the neighbor throughout the session.
rcvd-msgs	Displays the number of messages received from the neighbor throughout the session.
received prefix-filter	Displays all received routes, both accepted and rejected.
received-routes	Displays the received routes from neighbor. To display all the received routes from the neighbor, configure BGP soft reconfiguration first.
routes	Displays all accepted routes learned from neighbors.
sent-msgs	Displays the number of messages sent to the neighbor throughout the session.
update	Displays the number of Update messages sent to the neighbor throughout the session.

Mode

All



show [ip] bgp paths

Description	Display BGP path information.	
Syntax	show [ip] bgp paths	
Mode	All	

show [ip] bgp prefix-list

Description	Display routes that match a specific prefix list.	
Syntax	<pre>show [ip] bgp prefix-list list-name</pre>	
Mode	All	

show [ip] bgp quote-regexp

Description	Display routes that match the specified AS-path regular expression. Enclose the regular expression string in double quotation marks (example: "regexp-string-1").	
Syntax	<pre>show [ip] bgp quote-regexp string</pre>	
Mode	All	

show [ip] bgp regexp

Description	Display routes that match the specified AS-path regular expression(s)		
Syntax	<pre>show [ip] bgp regexp string [string]</pre>		
Mode	All		

show [ip] bgp route-map

Description	Display routes that match the specified route map.	
Syntax	<pre>show [ip] bgp route-map map-name</pre>	
Mode	All	



show ip bgp scan

Description	Display BGP scan status.
Syntax	show ip bgp scan
Mode	All

show [ip] bgp summary

Description	Display a summary of BGP neighbor status.	
Syntax	show [ip] bgp summary	
Mode	All	

show ip bgp view

448 of 804

Description	Display neighbors of a specific view.		
Syntax	<pre>show ip bgp vie [ipv4addr ipv4addr/mask-1 ipv4 {multicast neighbors [ipv4 summary]</pre>	w view-name ength unicast} summary addr ipv6addr]	
	Parameter	Description	
	view-name	Name of the view.	
	ipv4addr ipv4addr/mask- length	Prefix and mask.	
	ipv4 {multicast unicast} summary	Displays information for the specified IPv4 address family.	
	neighbors [<i>ipv4addr</i> <i>ipv6addr</i>]	Displays information for the specified neighbor.	



BGP Clear Commands

summary

Displays summary neighbor information.

Mode

All

BGP Clear Commands

This section lists the BGP clear commands.

clear [ip] bgp {* | AS-num}

Description	Reset the BGP connection	n to all neighbors or a specific neighbor.
Syntax	<pre>clear [ip] bgp {* AS-num} [in [prefix-filter] ipv4 {multicast unicast} {in [prefix-filter] out soft [in out]} ipv6 unicast [soft] {in out} soft {in out}]</pre>	
	Parameter	Description
	in [prefix-filter]	Clears incoming advertised routes. The prefix-filters option pushes out prefix-list outbound routing filters, and performs inbound soft reconfiguration.
	<pre>ipv4 {multicast unicast} {options}</pre>	Clears routes for the specified IPv4 address fam-
		11y. You must specify one of the following options:
		in [prefix-filter] – Clears incoming advertised routes. The prefix-filters option pushes out prefix-list outbound routing filters, and performs inbound soft reconfiguration.
		out – Clears outgoing advertised routes.
		soft [in out] – Clears the specified routes without resetting the BGP neighbor connection.



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference BGP Clear Commands

			in – Requests route updates from the speci- fied neighbor.
			out – Sends route updates to the specified neighbor.
		ipv6 unicast	
		$\{in \mid out\}$	Clears routes for the IPv6 address family.
		out	Clears outgoing advertised routes.
		soft $\{in \mid out\}$	Activates routing policy changes without reset- ting the BGP neighbor connection.
			in – Requests route updates from the specified neighbor.
			out – Sends route updates to the specified neighbor.
	Note:	The ipv4 and ipv6 opti the clear bgp command	ions apply only to the clear ip bgp command, not d.
Mode		Privileged EXEC and all	configuration levels
clear [ip] b	gp ip	v4addr	
Description		Reset the BGP connection	n for a specific IPv4 neighbor.
Syntax		<pre>clear [ip] bgp ipv4addr [in [prefix-filter] ipv4 {multicast unicast} {in [prefix-filter] out soft [in out]} out soft {in out}]</pre>	
		For option information, s	ee <u>"clear [ip] bgp {* AS-num}" on page 449</u> .
	Note:	The ipv4 option applie bgp command.	s only to the clear ip bgp command, not the clear
Mode		Privileged EXEC and all	configuration levels



clear [ip] bgp ipv6addr

Description		Reset the BGP connection for a specific IPv6 neighbor.	
Syntax		clear [ip] bgp <i>ipv6addr</i> [in [prefix-filter] out soft {in out}	
	Note] For option information, see <u>"clear [ip] bgp {* AS-num}" on page 449</u> . The inv4 option applies only to the clear in bgn command, not the clear .	
	Noce:	bgp command.	
Mode		Privileged EXEC and all configuration levels	

clear ip bgp dampening

Description	Reset all dampened BGP routes.		
Syntax	clear ip bgp da [<i>ip</i> v4addr <i>ip</i> v	clear ip bgp dampening [<i>ip</i> v4addr <i>ip</i> v4addr/mask-length]	
	Parameter	Description	
	ipv4addr ipv4addr/mask- length	Resets dampened routes only for the specified IPv4 prefix.	
Mode	Privileged EXEC and al	Privileged EXEC and all configuration levels	

clear [ip] bgp external

Description Reset the BGP connection to external neighbors.

Syntax clear [ip] bgp external [in [prefix-filter] | out | soft {in | out}]

A 10		AX Ser	ies - Comma	nd Line Interface Reference
Networks				BGP Clear Commands
		For option information,	see <u>"clear [ip] b</u>	gp {* AS-num}" on page 449.
N	ote:	The ipv4 option appli bgp command.	es only to the cl	ear ip bgp command, not the clear
Mode		Privileged EXEC and al	l configuration l	levels
clear ip bgp	flap	o-statistics		
Description		Reset route-flap statistic	s counters and h	history.
Syntax		clear ip bgp fl [<i>ipv4addr</i> <i>ipv</i>	ap-statisti 4addr/mask-	l cs -length]
		Parameter	Description	1

(

Description	Reset route-map statistics	counters and mistory.	
Syntax	clear ip bgp flap-statistics [<i>ipv4addr</i> <i>ipv4addr/mask-length</i>]		
	Parameter	Description	
	ipv4addr ipv4addr/mask-		
	length	Resets route-flap statistics only for the specified IPv4 prefix.	
Mode	Privileged EXEC and all	configuration levels	

clear [ip] bgp ipv4

Description	Reset dampened routes of	r route-flap statistics counters and history for IPv4.	
Syntax	clear [ip] bgp ipv4 { multicast unicast } { dampening flap-statistics } [<i>ipv4addr</i> <i>ipv4addr/mask-length</i>]		
	Parameter	Description	
	dampening	Resets dampened routes.	
	flap-statistics	Resets route-flap statistics and history.	
	ipv4addr ipv4addr/mask- length	Resets dampened routes or route-flap statistics and history only for the specified IPv4 prefix.	
Mode	Privileged EXEC and all	configuration levels	



clear [ip] bgp ipv6

Description	Reset dampened routes of	r route-flap statistics counters and history for IPv6.
Syntax	clear [ip] bgp ipv6 unicast { dampening flap-statistics } [<i>ipv6addr</i> <i>ipv6addr/mask-length</i>]	
	Parameter	Description
	dampening	Resets dampened routes.
	flap-statistics	Resets route-flap statistics and history.
	ipv6addr ipv6addr/mask- length	Resets dampened routes or route-flap statistics and history only for the specified IPv6 prefix.
Mode	Privileged EXEC and all	configuration levels

clear [ip] bgp peer-group

Description		Reset the BGP connection to all members of a peer group.
Syntax		<pre>clear [ip] bgp peer-group group-name [in [prefix-filter] ipv4 {multicast unicast} {in [prefix-filter] out soft [in out]} out soft {in out}]</pre>
		For option information, see <u>"clear [ip] bgp {* AS-num}" on page 449</u> .
N	ote:	The ipv4 option applies only to the clear ip bgp command, not the clear bgp command.
Mode		Privileged EXEC and all configuration levels





clear [ip] bgp view

Description	Reset the BGP connection to a specific view.
Syntax	<pre>clear [ip] bgp view view-name * [in [prefix-filter] ipv4 {multicast unicast} {in [prefix-filter] soft {in out}} soft {in out}]</pre>
	For option information, see <u>"clear [ip] bgp {* AS-num}" on page 449</u> .
No	The in and ipv4 options apply only to the clear ip bgp command, not the clear bgp command.
Mode	Privileged EXEC and all configuration levels



Config Commands: Large Scale NAT

The commands in this chapter configure Large Scale NAT (LSN).

This CLI level also has the following commands, which are available at all configuration levels:

- **backup** See <u>"backup system" on page 50</u> and <u>"backup log" on page 48</u>.
- clear See <u>"clear" on page 59</u>.
- **debug** See <u>"debug" on page 64</u>.
- **do** See <u>"do" on page 117</u>.
- end See <u>"end" on page 123</u>.
- **exit** See <u>"exit" on page 124</u>.
- **no** See <u>"no" on page 155</u>.
- show See <u>"Show Commands" on page 689</u>.
- write See <u>"write terminal" on page 78</u>.

LSN Configuration Commands

This section describes the LSN configuration commands.

class-list (for LSN)

Description		Configure an IP class list	for use with Large Scale NAT (LSN).
Syntax		[no] class-list	{list-name filename file }
		Parameter	Description
		list-name	Adds the list to the running-config.
		filename file	Saves the list to a file.
		This command changes t class list, where the follow	he CLI to the configuration level for the specified wing command is available.
	Note:	The other configuration	commands at this level are not applicable to LSN.



	Command	Description
	[no] priv-addr {subnet-mask /mask-length} { glid num lid num	
	<pre>lsn-lid num}</pre>	Specifies the internal clients. The <i>priv-addr</i> option specifies the internal host or subnet address. Use the <i>subnet-mask</i> or <i>lmask-length</i> option to specify the subnet mask or mask length.
		The glid <i>num</i> option specifies an global LSN LID to apply to matching clients. (See <u>"glid" on page 125</u> .)
		The lid <i>num</i> option specifies a non-LSN LID to apply to matching clients.
		The lsn-lid <i>num</i> option specifies an LSN LID to apply to matching clients. (See <u>"lsn-rule-list" on page 482</u> .)
Default	None	
Mode	Configuration mode	
Usage	Configure the LSN LIDs list entries.	or Fixed-NAT LIDs before configuring the class
	As an alternative to configuring class entries on the AX dev configure the class list using a text editor on another device, the class list onto the AX device. To import a class list, see <u>page 69</u> .	
	For more information abo AX Series IPv4-to-IPv6 T	but LSN, see the "Large Scale NAT" chapter in the <i>ransition Solutions Guide</i> .
Example	The following commands 5.5.5.x/24 to LSN LID 5:	configure a class list to bind internal subnet
AX(config)#class-list	list1	

AX(config-class list)#5.5.5.0 /24 lsn-lid 5



ip nat inside (for LSN)

Description	Bind an IP class list for use with LSN.		
Syntax	[no] ip nat inside source class-list list-name		
	Parameter	Description	
	class-list list-name	Specifies the name of the class list.	
Default	None		
Mode	Configuration mode		
Usage	The class list must already be configured. You can import the class list or configure it on the AX device. For more information, see the "Large Scale NAT" chapter in the AX Series IPv4-to-IPv6 Transition Solutions Guide.		

ip nat Isn alg

Description	Disable or re-enable	e Application Level Gateway (ALG) support for LSN.	
Syntax	$[t no] extrm{ ip nat} \ \{ t esp \mid extrm{ftp} \mid \ \{ t enable \mid extrm{di} \end{cases}$	[no] ip nat lsn alg {esp ftp pptp rtsp sip tftp} {enable disable}	
	Parameter	Description	
	esp	Enables or disables NAT64 ALG support for Encapsulating Security Payload (ESP).	
	ftp	Enables or disables NAT64 ALG support for File Transfer Protocol (FTP).	
	pptp	Enables or disables NAT64 ALG support for Point-to-Point Tunneling Protocol (PPTP).	
	rtsp	Enables or disables NAT64 ALG support for Real Time Streaming Protocol (RTSP).	
	sip	Enables or disables NAT64 ALG support for Session Initiation Protocol (SIP).	
	tftp	Enables or disables NAT64 ALG support for Trivial File Transfer Protocol (TFTP).	

AleNetworks	AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference LSN Configuration Commands
Default	ALG support for FTP is enabled by default. ALG support for the other pro- tocols is disabled by default.
Mode	Configuration mode

ip nat Isn alg sip rtp-stun-timeout

Description	Change the RTP/RTCP Set for full-cone sessions user	ession Traversal Utilities for NAT (STUN) timeout d for SIP NAT mappings.
Syntax	[no] ip nat lsn	alg sip rtp-stun-timeout minutes
	Parameter	Description
	minutes	Specifies the timeout. You can specify 2-10 minutes.
Default	5	
Mode	Configuration mode	
Usage	The command applies to	SIP ALG sessions for LSN, NAT64, and DS-Lite.

ip nat Isn attempt-port-preservation

Description	Enable LSN port preservation. Port preservation attempts to use the same source protocol port for a client's public address (NAT address) that is used in the client's inside address.
Syntax	<pre>[no] ip nat lsn attempt-port-preservation {disable enable}</pre>
Default	Enabled
Mode	Configuration mode
Usage	Even when port preservation is disabled, it is possible in rare cases for the same protocol port to be used.



ip nat Isn endpoint-independent-filtering

Description	Configure endpoint-indep	bendent filtering.
Syntax	<pre>[no] ip nat lsn endpoint-independent-filtering [tcp udp] { default disable {ephemeral well-known port-num [to port-num]} enable {ephemeral well-known port-num [to port-num]} }</pre>	
	Parameter	Description
	tcp udp	Specifies the Layer 4 protocol. If you omit this option, the command applies to both TCP and UDP.
	default	Uses the default behavior. (See "Default" below.)
	disable	Disables endpoint-independent filtering. Use one of the following options to specify the ports:
		ephemeral – Disables endpoint-independent filtering for ports 1024-65535.
		well-known – Disables endpoint-independent filtering for well-known ports (1-1023).
		<i>port-num</i> [to <i>port-num</i>] – Disables endpoint-independent filtering for the specified port or port range.
	enable	Enables endpoint-independent filtering. Use one of the following options to specify the ports:
		ephemeral – Enables endpoint-independent filtering for ports 1024-65535.
		well-known – Enables endpoint-independent filtering for well-known ports (1-1023).
	<i>port-num</i> [to <i>port-num</i>] – Enables endpoint-independent filtering specified port or port range.	
Default	Disabled for ports 1-1023	B. Enabled for ports 1024-65535.
Mode	Configuration mode	



Usage

The following combinations of endpoint-independent mapping (EIM) and endpoint-independent filtering (EIF) are not supported for the same destination port or port range:

• For a given destination port or range, EIF enabled with EIM disabled is not supported. For example, the following configuration for ports 2000-3000 is invalid:

ip nat lsn endpoint-independent-mapping disable 2000 to 3000 ip nat lsn endpoint-independent-filtering enable ephemeral

• For a given destination port or range, EIM enabled with EIF disabled is not supported.

ip nat Isn endpoint-independent-mapping

enable

Description

Configure endpoint-independent mapping.

Syntax

[no] ip nat lsn endpoint-independent-mapping
[tcp | udp]
{
default |
disable {ephemeral | well-known |
 port-num [to port-num]} |
enable {ephemeral | well-known |
 port-num [to port-num]}
}

ParameterDescriptiontcp | udpSpecifies the Layer 4 protocol. If you omit this
option, the command applies to both TCP and
UDP.defaultUses the default behavior. (See "Default" below.)disableDisables endpoint-independent mapping. Use
one of the following options to specify the ports:
ephemeral – Disables endpoint-independent
mapping for ports 1024-65535.well-known– Disables endpoint-indepen-
dent mapping for well-known ports (1-1023).

port-num [**to** *port-num*] – Disables endpoint-independent mapping for the specified port or port range.

Enables endpoint-independent mapping. Use one of the following options to specify the ports:



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference LSN Configuration Commands

		ephemeral – Enables endpoint-independent mapping for ports 1024-65535.
		well-known – Enables endpoint-independent mapping for well-known ports (1-1023).
		<i>port-num</i> [to <i>port-num</i>] – Enables endpoint-independent mapping for the specified port or port range.
Default	Disabled for ports 1-1023	. Enabled for ports 1024-65535.
Mode	Configuration mode	
Usage	The following combination endpoint-independent filter tion port or port range:	ons of endpoint-independent mapping (EIM) and ering (EIF) are not supported for the same destina-
	 For a given destination not supported. For exa 3000 is invalid: 	n port or range, EIF enabled with EIM disabled is ample, the following configuration for ports 2000-
	ip nat lsn endpoint-in ip nat lsn endpoint-in	ndependent-mapping disable 2000 to 3000 ndependent-filtering enable ephemeral

• For a port or range, EIM enabled with EIF disabled is not supported.

ip nat Isn full-cone

Description Configure full-cone support. Note: Enabling or disabling full-cone support is like enabling or disabling both endpoint-independent filtering *and* endpoint-independent mapping. **Syntax** [no] ip nat lsn full-cone disable { default | disable {ephemeral | well-known | port-num [to port-num] } | enable {ephemeral | well-known | port-num [to port-num]} } Parameter Description Uses the default behavior. (See "Default" below.) default disable Disables full-cone support. Use one of the following options to specify the ports:

-2	AX Serie	es - Command Line Interface Reference
Networks		LSN Configuration Commands
		ephemeral – Disables full-cone support for ports 1024-65535.
		well-known – Disables full-cone support for well-known ports (1-1023).
		port-num [to port-num] – Disables full-cone support for the specified port or port range.
	enable	Enables full-cone support. Use one of the follow- ing options to specify the ports:
		ephemeral – Enables full-cone support for ports 1024-65535.
		well-known – Enables full-cone support for well-known ports (1-1023).
		<i>port-num</i> [to <i>port-num</i>] – Enables full-cone support for the specified port or port range.
Default	Disabled for ports 1-1023	B. Enabled for ports 1024-65535.
Mode	Configuration mode	

ip nat Isn hairpinning

Description	Configure filtering for hairpinning.	
Syntax	[no] ip nat lsn {filter-self-ip	hairpinning filter-self-ip-port}
	Parameter	Description
	filter-self-ip	Drops packets that have the same inside client IP address for both the source and destination.
	filter-self-ip- port	Drops packets that have the same inside client IP address <i>and</i> protocol port number for both the source and destination. This option may be needed if double NAT is used.
Default	filter-self-ip-port	
Mode	Configuration mode	



ip nat Isn icmp

Description	Send ICMP Destination Unreachable messages when there are no protocol ports available for NAT mappings, or when a a user quota is exceeded.	
Syntax	<pre>[no] ip nat lsn icmp {send-on-port-unavailable send-on-user-quota-exceeded} { admin-filtered disable enable host-unreachable }</pre>	
	Parameter	Description
	send-on-port- unavailable	Sends ICMP Destination Unreachable message when there are no protocol ports available for NAT mappings.
	send-on-user- quota-exceeded	Sends ICMP Destination Unreachable message when a a user quota is exceeded.
	admin-filtered	Sends code type 3, code 13, administratively fil- tered.
	disable	Disable ICMP Unreachable messages for the specified event.
	enable	Enables ICMP Unreachable messages for the specified event. (This option is not applicable to send-on-user-quota-exceeded .)
	host- unreachable	Sends code type 3, code 1 for IPv4, and type 1 code 3 for IPv6.
Default	The default for send-on-j on-user-quota-exceeded	port-unavailable is disable. The default for send- is admin-filtered.
Mode	Configuration mode	





ip nat Isn ip-selection

Description	Specify the method for L	SN to use to select IP addresses within a pool.
Syntax	[no] ip nat lsn	ip-selection method
	Parameter	Description
	method	Specifies the method, which can be one of the following:
		random – Selects addresses randomly, instead of using any of the other methods.
		round-robin – Selects addresses sequentially.
		least-used-strict – Selects the address with the fewest NAT ports of any type (TCP or UDP) used. This option is not applicable to ICMP.
		least-udp-used-strict – Selects the address with the fewest UDP NAT ports used.
		least-tcp-used-strict – Selects the address with the fewest TCP NAT ports used.
		least-reserved-strict – Selects the address with the fewest TCP or UDP NAT ports reserved.
		least-tcp-reserved-strict – Selects the address with the fewest TCP NAT ports reserved.
		least-udp-reserved-strict – Selects the address with the fewest UDP NAT ports reserved.
		least-users-strict – Selects the address with the fewest users.
Default	random	
Mode	Configuration mode	
Usage	The IP address selection individual pools. The me pool group. LSN random uses the configured IP ad	a method applies only to the IP addresses within thod does not apply to selection of pools within a nly selects a pool from within a pool group, then ddress selection method to select an address from

within the pool.



LSN Configuration Commands

ip nat Isn logging default-template

Description	Set a configured LSN traffic logging template as the default template for all LSN pools.	
Syntax	[no] ip nat lsn template-name	logging default-template
	Parameter	Description
	template-name	Specifies the name of the LSN traffic logging template to use as the default for all LSN pools.
Default	Not set	
Mode	Configuration mode	
Usage	The NAT logging template you plan to use as the default must already be configured. To configure a NAT logging template, see <u>"ip nat template log-ging" on page 479</u> .	
	You also can assign a Na case, the NAT logging te default NAT logging tem	AT logging template to an individual pool. In this emplate assigned to the pool is used instead of the plate. See <u>"ip nat lsn logging pool" on page 466</u> .
Example	The following commands the default logging templ	s configure a NAT logging template, then set it as ate for LSN:
AX5200(config)# slb ser	ver syslog1 192.168	.1.100
AX5200(config-real ser	ver)# port 514 udp	
AX5200(config-real ser	ver)# exit	
AX5200(config)# slb ser	vice-group syslog ud	lp
AX5200(config-slb svc	group)#member syslog	g1:514
AX5200(config-slb svc	group)# exit	
AX5200(config)#ip nat	template logging ls	n_logging
AX5200(config-nat logg	ing)# log port-mappi	ngs
AX5200(config-nat logg	ing)# service-group :	syslog
AX5200(config-nat logg	ing)# exit	
AX5200(config)#ip nat 3	lsn logging default	-template lsn_logging



ip nat Isn logging pool

Description	Assign a NAT logging template to an LSN pool.	
Syntax	[no] ip nat lsn logging pool <i>pool-name</i> template <i>template-name</i>	
	Parameter	Description
	pool-name	Specifies the LSN pool.
	template-name	Specifies the NAT logging template.
Default	Not set. If a NAT logging template, that template is	template has been set as the default NAT logging used.
Mode	Configuration mode	
Usage	The NAT logging template you plan to use must already be configured. To configure a NAT logging template, see <u>"ip nat template logging" on page 479</u> .	

ip nat Isn port-batching

Description	Enable port batching. Po multiple ports to the clies message for the batch of	ort batching reduces logging by allocating a set of nt at the same time, and generating only a single log ports.
Syntax	$[no] ip nat lsn \{1 \mid 8 \mid 16 \mid 3$	port-batching size 2 64 128 256 512 1024}
	Parameter	Description
	1 8 16 32 64 128 256 512 1024	Specifies the number of ports to allocate in each batch.
Default	Disabled	
Mode	Configuration mode	



ip nat Isn port-overloading allow-different-user

Description	Allows an overloaded port to be used by more than one client.		
Syntax	[no] ip nat lsn port-overloading allow-different-user		
Default	By default, a port can be overloaded to create multiple mappings only for the same client.		
Mode	Configuration mode		
ip nat Isn port-o	overloading er	able	
Description	Enable Port Overloading.		
Syntax	<pre>[no] ip nat lsn port-overloading enable [ephemeral well-known {tcp udp} port-num [to port-num]}]</pre>		
	Parameter	Description	
	ephemeral	Enables port overloading for ports 1024-65535.	
	well-known	Enables port overloading for well-known ports, 1-1023.	
	{tcp udp} port-num [to port-num]	Enables port overloading for the specified proto- col and port or port range.	
Default	Port overloading is enabled for all ports, 1-65535.		
Mode	Configuration mode		





ip nat Isn port-overloading unique

Description	Change the granularity for Port Overloading.		
Syntax	[no] ip nat ls {destination-a destination-ad	[no] ip nat lsn port-overloading unique {destination-address destination-address-and-port}	
	Parameter	Description	
	destination- address	The granularity is based on destination IP address.	
	destination- address-and- port	The granularity is based on destination IP address <i>and</i> destination protocol port.	
Default	destination-address-a	ind-port	
Mode	Configuration mode		

ip nat Isn port-reservation

Description	Configure static LSN mappings for a range of protocol ports for an internal address.		
Syntax	[no] ip nat lsn port-reservation inside priv-ipaddr start-priv-portnum end-priv-portnum nat public-ipaddr start-public-portnum end-public-portnum		
	Parameter	Description	
	priv-ipaddr	Specifies the internal IP address.	
	start-priv- portnum	Specifies the beginning (lowest-numbered) pro- tocol port number in the range of internal proto- col port numbers.	
	end-priv- portnum	Specifies the ending (highest-numbered) proto- col port number in the range of internal protocol port numbers.	



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference

LSN Configuration Commands

	public-ipaddr	Specifies the public IP address to map to the internal IP address.	
	start-public- portnum	Specifies the beginning public protocol port number in the range to map to the internal proto- col port numbers.	
	end-public- portnum	Specifies the ending public protocol port number in the range to map to the internal protocol port numbers.	
Default	None. If LSN is configution is configution is configuted by the second s	None. If LSN is configured, LSN mappings are created and deleted dynam- ically.	
Mode	Configuration mode		

ip nat Isn radius server

Description Create a RADIUS server configuration. This option can be useful for logging client attributes, such as mobile numbers, obtained from an external RADIUS server.

Syntax [no] ip nat lsn radius server

This command changes the CLI to the configuration level for the specified RADIUS server, where the following commands are available.

(The other commands are common to all CLI configuration levels. See <u>"Config Commands: Global" on page 79</u>.)

ParameterDescription[no] attribute

```
{inside-ip |
inside-ipv6 |
msisdn | imei |
imsi
[[vendor
vendor-id]
number attr-id]
```

Specifies the RADIUS attributes for the AX device to receive from external RADIUS servers in response to RADIUS Accounting requests. The following attributes can be specified:


	inside-ip – Inside client's IPv4 address.
	inside-ipv6 – Inside client's IPv6 address.
	msisdn – Inside client's mobile number, as Mobile Station International ISDN Number (MSISDN).
	imei – Inside client's mobile number, as International Mobile Equipment Identity (IMEI).
	imsi – Inside client's mobile number, as International Mobile Subscriber Identity (IMSI).
	The <i>vendor-id</i> specifies the RADIUS vendor ID and can be 1-65535. The <i>attr-id</i> specifies the RADIUS attribute ID and can be 1-255. These options, in combination, allow you to specify any attribute to be used as the client's inside IP address, or MSIDSN, or IMEI, and so on. For example, if your RADIUS server normally sends the MSIDSN attribute as attribute 31, you could use the following command to configure the AX device to use the same attribute value for MSIDSN: attribute msisdn number 31
[no] liston-	
port portnum	Specifies the port number on which the external RADIUS server listen for Accounting requests. The default is 1813.
[no] remote	
ip-list	
list-name	Specifies the name of the IP list that contains the IP addresses of the external RADIUS servers from which to obtain mobile numbers for traffic logging.
[no] secret	
shared-secret	Specifies the password string the external RADIUS servers and AX device use to authenticate RADIUS traffic between them.
By default, no RADIUS mand to configure one, the	servers are configured. When you use this com- ne server has the following defaults:
• attribute – not set	
• listen-port – 1813	
r r	

Default

Aleworks	AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference LSN Configuration Commands
	 remote ip-list – not set secret – not set
Introduced in Release	2.6.6-P4
Mode	Configuration mode

ip nat Isn stun-timeout

Description	Configure the LSN STUN long a NAT mapping for a sion ends.	N timeout. The LSN STUN timeout specifies how a full-cone session is maintained after the data ses-
Syntax	<pre>[no] ip nat lsn stun-timeout [tcp udp] {ephemeral well-known port port-num [to port-num]} minutes</pre>	
	Parameter	Description
	tcp udp	Specifies the Layer 4 protocol. If you omit this option, the command applies to both TCP and UDP.
	ephemeral	Applies the command only to ports 1024-65535.
	well-known	Applies the command only to ports 1-1023.
	<pre>port port-num [to port-num]</pre>	Specifies an individual port or a custom port range.
	minutes	Specifies the timeout, 0-60 minutes.
Default	2, for all TCP and UDP ports (1-65535)	
Mode	Configuration mode	
Usage If you do not use the ephemeral , well-known applies to ports 1-65535.		emeral, well-known, or port option, the command
	The AX device supports separate TCP and UDP configuration values for the LSN STUN timeout. Beginning in AX Release 2.6.6-P4, if the LSN STUN timeout has the same value for both TCP and UDP, the configuration appears as a single command in the running-config and configuration file.	



Example in 2.6.6-P4 and Later: ip nat lsn stun-timeout 1 Example of Same Configuration in Previous Releases: ip nat lsn stun-timeout tcp 1 ip nat lsn stun-timeout udp 1

ip nat Isn syn-timeout

Description	Configure the SYN	Configure the SYN timeout for LSN.	
Default	[no] ip nat lsn syn-timeout seconds		
	Parameter	Description	
	seconds	Specifies the timeout, 2-7 seconds.	
Default	4		
Mode	Configuration mode		
Usage	The LSN SYN time you need to configu	eout is separate from the IP NAT translation timeout. If re the IP NAT translation timeout out instead, see <u>"ip nat</u>	

ip nat Isn tcp mss-clamp

Description	Configure TCP may checks the TCP MS changes it before se	kimum segment size (MSS) clamping. MSS clamping S value in packets from IPv4 clients and, if necessary, ending the NATted request to the server.
Syntax	[no] ip nat {none fixe	lsn tcp mss-clamp d $n \mid$ subtract $s \text{[min } n]$
	Parameter	Description
	none	Does not change the MSS value.
	fixed n	Changes the MSS to the length you specify.
	subtract s	
	[min n]	Reduces the MSS if it is longer than the specified number of bytes. This option sets the MSS based on the following calculations:

-2	AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference	е
Networks	LSN Configuration Command	S
	– If MSS minus <i>S</i> is greater than <i>N</i> , subtract from the MSS.	S
	- If MSS minus S is less than or equal to N , s the MSS to N .	et
	The subtract method of MSS clamping is used be default, with the following values:	эу
	S = 40 bytes	
	N = 416 bytes	
	Using these values, the default MSS clampin calculations are as follows:	ıg
	 If MSS minus 40 is greater than 416, subtra 40 from the MSS. 	ct
	- If MSS minus 40 is less than or equal to 41 set the MSS to 416.	6,
Default	The subtract option is used by default. See above.	
Mode	Configuration mode	

ip nat Isn tcp reset-on-error

Description	Send TCP resets to LSN clients in response to invalid TCP packets from the inside network.
Syntax	[no] ip nat lsn tcp reset-on-error outbound {enable disable}
Default	Enabled
Mode	Configuration mode

ip nat pool (for LSN)

Description	Configure a named set of IP addresses for use by Large Scale NAT (LSN).
Syntax	<pre>[no] ip nat pool pool-name start-ipaddr end-ipaddr netmask {subnet-mask /mask-length} lsn [max-users-per-ip num] [gateway ipaddr] [ha-group-id group-id [ha-use-all-ports]]</pre>



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference LSN Configuration Commands

	Parameter	Description
	pool-name	Name of the address pool.
	start-ipaddr	Beginning (lowest) IP address in the range.
	end-ipaddr	Ending (highest) IP address in the range.
	netmask {subnet-mask /mask-length}	Network mask for the IP addresses in the pool.
	lsn [max-users-per- ip num]	Enables the pool to be used for Large Scale NAT (LSN).
		The max-user-per-ip option specifies the maxi- mum number of internal addresses that can be mapped to a single public address at the same time. You can specify 1-65535. By default, there is no limit.
Note:	The lsn option applies option can not be used	s only to the LSN feature. Pools that use the lsn with any type of NAT except LSN.
	gateway ipaddr	Default gateway to use for NATted traffic.
	ha-group-id group-id [ha-use-all- ports]	HA group ID, 1-31.
		The ha-use-all-ports option disables division of the pool's ports between AX devices. Without this option, the AX device automatically allo- cates half of each pool address's ports to one of the AX devices and allocates the other half of the ports to the other AX device. (See "Usage" below.)
Note:	It is recommended to tual ports. Using this of	use the ha-use-all-ports option only for DNS vir- ption with other virtual port types is not valid.
	None.	
	Configuration mode	
	The pool can be used by IPv4 addresses. To configure on page 270.	other ip nat commands. The IP addresses must be gure a pool of IPv6 addresses, see <u>"ipv6 nat pool"</u>

Default

Mode

Usage



To enable inside or outside NAT on interfaces, see <u>"ip nat" on page 214</u>.

When you use the **gateway** option, the gateway you specify is used as follows:

- For forward traffic (traffic from a client to a server), the NAT gateway is used if the source NAT address (the address from the pool) and the server address are not in the same IP subnet.
- On reverse traffic (reply traffic from a server to a client), the NAT gateway is used if all the following conditions are true:
 - The session is using translated addresses (is source NATted).
 - The source protocol port is in the source NAT subnet.
 - The destination is not in the source NAT subnet.

For conditions under which the NAT gateway is needed, if no NAT gateway is configured, the AX device uses the default gateway configured for the AX device's other traffic instead.

Port Allocation Between AX Devices in High Availability Deployments (ha-use-all-ports option)

By default, when you assign an IP NAT pool to an HA group, the AX device automatically allocates half of each pool address's ports to one of the AX devices and allocates the other half of the ports to the other AX device.

This automatic allocation is used to prevent simultaneous use of the same port number by both AX devices. For example, without this protection, it would be possible for the same IP address and protocol port number to be in use on both AX devices in an Active-Active configuration.

However, this protection also requires the pool to be configured with more addresses than will actually be needed.

In some cases, there is no benefit to dividing the pool's ports between the AX devices. In particular, there is no benefit for DNS virtual ports. DNS sessions are very short-lived and are never synchronized between the AX devices. For this reason, there is no risk that the same NAT port will be in use on more than one session at the same time. You can use the **ha-use-all-ports** option to disable division of the ports between AX devices.

- **Note:** It is recommended to use the **ha-use-all-ports** option only for DNS virtual ports. Using this option with other virtual port types is not valid.
- **Example**The following command configures an IP address pool named "pool1" that
contains addresses from 30.30.30.1 to 30.30.30.254:

AX(config)#ip nat pool pool1 30.30.30.1 30.30.30.254 netmask /24



ip nat pool-group

Description	Configure a set of IP pools for use by NAT. Pool groups enable you to use non-contiguous IP address ranges, by combining multiple IP address pools.		
Syntax	<pre>[no] ip nat pool-group pool-group-name [ha-group-id group-id]</pre>		
	Parameter	Description	
	pool-group-name	Name of the pool group.	
	ha-group-id group-id	HA group ID, 1-31.	
	This command changes the CLI to the configuration level for the spec pool group, where the following command is available.		
	(The other commands ar <u>"Config Commands: Glob</u>	re common to all CLI configuration levels. See pal" on page 79.)	
	Parameter	Description	
	member pool-name	Name of a configured IP address pool.	
Default	None.		
Mode	Configuration mode		
Usage	To use a non-contiguous range of addresses, configure a separate pool for each contiguous portion of the range, then configure a pool group that con- tains the pools. The addresses within an individual pool still must be contiguous, but you can have gaps between the ending address in one pool and the starting address in another pool. You also can use pools that are in different subnets.		
	For Large Scale NAT (LS other types of NAT, a po- members must belong to to use the same HA ID. A po-	SN), a pool group can contain up to 25 pools. For ool group can contain up to 5 pools. Pool group the same protocol family (IPv4 or IPv6) and must ool can be a member of multiple pool groups.	
	If a pool group contains pe pool that matches the outb to a given destination, in c one of those subnets, the outbound route.	bools in different subnets, the AX device selects the bound subnet. For example, of there are two routes lifferent subnets, and the pool group has a pool for AX selects the pool that is in the subnet for the	



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference LSN Configuration Commands

The AX device selects the pool whose addresses are in the same subnet as the next-hop interface used by the data route table to reach the server.

Example The following commands create a pool group for LSN and add 25 pools to the group: AX(config)**#ip nat pool-group group1** AX(config-pool-group)**member pool1** AX(config-pool-group)**member pool2** AX(config-pool-group)**member pool3** ... AX(config-pool-group)**member pool25**

ip nat template http-alg

Description	Configure a template for	HTTP Application Level Gateway (ALG).
Syntax	[no] ip nat temp	late http-alg template-name
	Parameter	Description
	template-name	Name of the template, 1-31 characters.
	This command changes the where the following community of the following com	he CLI to the configuration level for the template, mands are available.
	(The other commands an <u>"Config Commands: Glob</u>	re common to all CLI configuration levels. See bal" on page 79.)
	Command	Description
	<pre>[no] request- insert-client- ip [options]</pre>	Enables insertion of the client IP address into the headers of client HTTP requests. You can specify
		the following <i>options</i> :
		insert, instead of the default.
		include-tunnel-ip – Includes the tunnel IP Address in the inserted header. This option applies only to DS-Lite sessions and 6rd-NAT64 sessions.
		<pre>method {append replace} header-name string - Method to use for adding the header:</pre>



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference LSN Configuration Commands

append – Adds a new header field to the end of all the request headers, regardless of how many headers are already in the request. For example, if **append** is configured and header name field displays the default, "X-Forwarded-For," the new "X-Forwarded-For" header will be added to the end of all the headers in the HTTP request. If **append** is configured and header-name is "X-Client-IP," the new "X-Client-IP" will be added to the end of all the headers in the HTTP request.

replace – Substitutes the configured header. For example, if **replace** is configured and header-name is default, "X-Forwarded-For," it will be replaced by the new "X-Forwarded-For" header in the HTTP request. If **replace** is configured and header-name is "X-Client-IP," it will be replaced by the new "X-Client-IP" in the HTTP request.

If the packet has more than one header field of the same name, all of them will be replaced.

[no] requestinsert-msisdn [header-name string] radius-sg group-name secret string

Inserts the client's mobile number in client requests.

header-name *string* – Header name to insert, instead of the default.

radius-sg group-name **secret** string – Specifies the group of external RADIUS accounting servers to use for obtaining client mobile numbers.

group-name – Name of the service group that contains the client RADIUS servers.

string – Authentication string the AX device and the client RADIUS servers use to authenticate RADIUS traffic from one another.

	AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference
Networks	LSN Configuration Commands
Default	Not set. When you configure an HTTP-ALG template, the default header for client IP addresses is X-Forwarded-For. The other parameters do not have default settings.
Mode	Configuration mode
Introduced in Release	2.6.6-P4

ip nat template logging

Description Configure a template for external logging of LSN traffic events. (See "Config Commands: Logging Template" on page 593.)

Isn-lid

Description		Configure a limit ID (LII	D) for LSN.
	Note:	Some LSN LID comma in the chapters for those	ands apply only to other features, and are described e features.
Syntax		[no] lsn-lid num	1
		Parameter	Description
		חחש	LSN LID number, 1-31.
		This command changes t LSN LID, where the follo	he CLI to the configuration level for the specified owing commands are available.
	Note:	The other configuration	n commands at this level are not applicable to LSN.
		Command	Description
		[no] drop-on- nat-pool- mismatch	Drops traffic from users if their current NAT pool does not match that of the LSN LID. Disabled by default.
		[no] ds-lite inside-src- permit-list list-name	
			For Dual-stack Lite (DS-Lite), uses a class list to



	be NATted. Any IPv4 addresses that do not match the class list are not NATted.
<pre>[no] extended- user-quota {tcp udp} service-port portnum sessions num</pre>	
	Configures a per-user extended quota for essen- tial services. The port option specifies the Layer 4 protocol port of the service, and can be 1-65535. The sessions option specifies how many extended sessions are allowed for the pro- tocol port, and can be 1-255.
[no] lsn-rule-	
destination list-name	
	Matches traffic based on destination IP address, traffic type, or protocol port, in addition to matching on the source IP addresses in the class list that uses this LID.
	If traffic matches both a source IP address in the class list and a destination address, traffic type, or protocol port in the rule list, the action specified in the rule list is applied to the traffic.
	(To configure an LSN rule list, see <u>"lsn-rule-list"</u> on page 482.)
[no] name string	
	Assigns a name to the LID.
[no] override {drop pass-through}	
	Overrides NAT for matching traffic, and per- forms the specified action instead:
	drop – Drops the traffic.
	pass-through – Forwards the traffic without per- forming NAT.
[no] respond- to-user-mac	Enables MAC-based nexthop routing. When MAC-based nexthop routing is enabled, the AX device sends the reply to an inside client's request back through the same route hop on which the request was received. The AX device



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference LSN Configuration Commands

identifies the route hop based on its MAC address. The AX device sends the reply to the MAC address, instead of using the route table to select the next hop for the reply.

[no] sourcenat-pool pool-name Binds an LSN NAT pool to the LID. [no] user-quota {tcp | udp | icmp} quota-num [reserve reserve-num] Configures the per-user mapping quota for the specified protocol. The quota-num option specifies the maximum number of sessions allowed per client and can be 1-64000. The reserve option allows you to specify how many ports to reserve on a NAT IP for each user, 0-64000. If unspecified, the reserve value is the same as the user-quota value. Default The LSN LID options have the following default values: • drop-on-nat-pool-mismatch – not set • ds-lite – not set • extended-user-quota – not set • Isn-access-list – not set • name – not set • override – not set • respond-to-user-mac - disabled • source-nat-pool – not set • user-quota {tcp | udp | icmp} – Not set. By default, the reserve value is the same as the user-quota value. • user-quota sessions - not set Mode Configuration mode Example The following commands configure an LSN LID. The LID is bound to pool "LSN_POOL1". Per-user quotas are configured for TCP, UDP, and ICMP.



For UDP, this class of users will reserve only 100 UDP ports instead of 300. An extended quota of sessions per client is allocated for TCP port 25 (SMTP).

AX(config)#lsn-lid 5 AX(config-lsn lid)#source-nat-pool LSN_POOL1 AX(config-lsn lid)#user-quota tcp 100 AX(config-lsn lid)#user-quota udp 300 reserve 100 AX(config-lsn lid)#user-quota icmp 10 AX(config-lsn lid)#extended-user-quota tcp service-port 25 sessions 3

Example The following commands configure an LSN LID in which MAC-based nexthop routing is enabled:

```
AX(config)#lsn-lid 1
AX(config-lsn lid)#respond-to-user-mac
AX(config-lsn lid)#exit
```

Example The following commands configure a class list that maps inside clients to the LSN LID:

```
AX(config)#class-list mac-reply-clients
AX(config-class list)#192.168.0.0 /16 lsn-lid 1
```

Isn-rule-list

Description		Configure an LSN specify the actions	rule list. You can add an LSN rule list to an LSN LID to to perform on matching traffic.
	Note:	You also can use	LSN rule lists for NAT64 and DS-Lite.
Syntax		[no] lsn-ru]	e-list list-name
		Parameter	Description
		list-name	Name of the rule list.
		This command charule list, where the	nges the CLI to the configuration level for the specified following commands are available.
		Command	Description
		This command cha LSN rule set, wher	nges the CLI to the configuration level for the specified e the following commands are available.



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference LSN Configuration Commands

[no] default	Enters the configuration level for the default set of rules. The default set of rules is used for traffic that does not exactly match an IP host or subnet rule. (See below.)
[no] domain-name string	Enters the configuration level for the set of rules to apply to the specified domain name.
[no] [<i>ipv4addr</i> {/mask-length subnet-mask}]	Enters the configuration level for the set of rules to apply to the specified IP host address or sub- net.

Either command changes the CLI to the configuration level for the specified rule list, where the following commands are available.

[no] icmp action action no-action	Performs the specified action on matching ICMP traffic. See the section for <i>action</i> and no-action below.
[no] others action action / no-action	Performs the specified action on matching traffic of types other than ICMP, TCP, or UDP. See <i>action</i> below.
<pre>[no] {tcp udp} port {any portnum [to portnum]} action action no-action</pre>	Performs the specified action on matching traffic with the specified TCP or UDP port(s).
action	Specifies the action to perform on matching traf- fic:
	drop – Drops the traffic.
	<pre>nat pool {pool-name pool-group-name} - Performs NAT using the specified pool or pool group. This option can be used to redirect the</pre>

-2		AX Serie	es - Command Line Interface Reference
AleNetworks			LSN Configuration Commands
			traffic to use a different pool or pool group than the one in the LID definition.
			pass-through – Forwards the traffic without performing NAT.
			template http-alg – Processes traffic based on the specified HTTP-ALG template. (See <u>"ip nat template http-alg" on page 477</u> .)
	Note:	The pass-through opt these features, the optic on source IP address. (1	ion is not applicable to NAT64 or DS-Lite. For on is ignored and the traffic is processed based only No rule list is applied.)
		no-action	Excludes matching traffic from the actions in the rule list, but still performs NAT for the traffic. (For more information, see the <i>AX Series IPv4-to-IPv6 Transition Solutions Guide.</i>)
Default		None	
Mode		Configuration mode	
Usage		After you configure the r rule-list" on page 482.)	ule list, you can add it to an LSN LID. (See <u>"lsn-</u>
		For NAT64, the traffic mafter conversion from IPv	natching and action are applied to IPv4 addresses 76 to IPv4.
		For DS-Lite, the traffic addresses after removing	matching and action are applied to inside IPv4 the IPv6 header.
		If the matching traffic is sion, and the session uses rected to by the rule list dropped and the LSN Rul ip nat lsn statistics output	for a current full-cone session or user-quota ses- s a different pool or pool group than the one redi- t, the rule list is not used. Instead, the traffic is le-List NAT Pool Mismatch Drop counter in show at is incremented.
		Default and IP-specifie	c Rules
		In an LSN rule list, you c	an configure the following types of rules:
		• Rules for specific IP a	addresses or subnets
		• Default rules	
		If traffic matches an IP-sp rules (if configured), are	becific rule, that rule is used. Otherwise, the default used to match.



If traffic does not have a match in IP-specific rules or the default rule list, the traffic is processed based only on source IP address. (No rule list is applied.)

LSN Show Commands

This section describes the show commands for LSN.

show ip nat Isn alg

Description	Show Application Lev DS-Lite.	el Gateway (ALG) information for LSN, NAT64, and
Syntax	${f show}~{f ip}~{f nat}~{f ls}\ \{{f esp}~ ~{f ftp}~ ~{f p}\ \{{f config}~ ~{f stat}\}$	sn alg optp rtsp sip tftp} cistics [debug]}
	Parameter	Description
	esp ftp pptp rtsp	
	sip tftp	Specifies the protocol:
		esp – IPsec Encapsulating Security Payload (ESP)
		ftp – File Transfer Protocol (FTP)
		pptp – Point-to-Point Tunneling Protocol (PPTP) Generic Routing Encapsulation (GRE)
		rtsp – Real Time Streaming Protocol (RTSP)
		sip – Session Initiation Protocol (SIP)
		tftp – Trivial File Transfer Protocol (TFTP)
	$ ext{config} \mid \\ ext{statistics}$	
	[debug]	Specifies the type of information to display:
		config – Indicates whether LSN ALG support for the protocol is enabled.
		statistics [debug] – Displays statistics for the protocol. The debug option displays additional statistics.

Mode



Example The following commands show ALG information for FTP: AX#show ip nat lsn alg ftp config LSN ALG for FTP is enabled on port 21. AX#show ip nat lsn alg ftp statistics LSN FTP ALG Statistics: _____ Port Mode (PORT) Requests From Client 3 Passive Mode (PASV) Replies From Server 1 Example

The following command shows statistics for FTP ALG:

AX#show ip nat lsn alg ftp statistics LSN FTP ALG Statistics: _____ 0 PORT Requests From Client 2 EPRT Requests From Client 0 LPRT Requests From Client PASV Replies From Server 3 EPSV Replies From Server 0 0 LPSV Replies From Server

Table 3 describes the fields in the command's output.

Field	Description
PORT Requests From Client	Number of FTP PORT requests received from clients.
EPRT Requests From Client	Number of FTP EPRT requests received from clients.
LPRT Requests From Client	Number of FTP LPRT requests received from clients.
PASV Replies From Server	Number of passive mode replies received from servers.
EPSV Replies From Server	Number of EPSV replies received from servers.
LPSV Replies From Server	Number of LPSV replies received from servers.

TABLE 3 show ip nat Isn alg ftp statistics fields



LSN Show Commands

Example

The following command shows statistics for RTSP ALG:

. . . .

AX#snow ip nat isn alg rtsp statistics		
LSN RTSP ALG Statistics:		
Streams Created 0		
Streams Freed 0		
Stream Creation Failures 0		
Stream Client Ports Allocated 0		
Stream Client Ports Freed 0		
Stream Client Port Allocation Failures 0		
Server Replies With Unknown Client Ports 0		
Data Session Created 0		
Data Session Freed	0	
Data Session Creation Failures 0		

<u>Table 4</u> describes the fields in the command's output.

Field	Description
Streams Created	Number of RTSP stream sessions created.
Streams Freed	Number of RTSP stream sessions freed.
Stream Creation	Number of times creation of an RTSP stream failed because
Failures	the AX device was out of memory for sessions.
Stream Client	Number of NAT ports allocated to client for creating streams.
Ports Allocated	
Stream Client	Number of NAT ports freed.
Ports Freed	
Stream Client	Number of times port allocation for a stream failed.
Port Allocation	
Failures	
Server Replies	Number of server replies to SETUP that were addressed to an
With Unknown	unknown client port.
Client Ports	
Data Session	Number of UDP data sessions created for streaming video.
Created	
Data Session	Number of UDP data sessions freed.
Freed	
Data Session	Number of times creation of a data session failed because the
Creation Failures	AX device was out of memory for sessions.

TABLE 4show ip nat Isn alg rtsp statistics fields



The following command shows statistics for SIP ALG:

Example

AX#show ip nat lsn alg sip statistics

LSN SIP ALG Statistics:

SIP	Method	REGISTER	544
SIP	Method	INVITE	0
SIP	Method	ACK	544
SIP	Method	CANCEL	0
SIP	Method	BYE	544
SIP	Method	OPTIONS	100
SIP	Method	PRACK	0
SIP	Method	SUBSCRIBE	8
SIP	Method	NOTIFY	10
SIP	Method	PUBLISH	0
SIP	Method	INFO	0
SIP	Method	REFER	0
SIP	Method	MESSAGE	0
SIP	Method	UPDATE	0
SIP	Method	UNKNOWN	0

Table 5 describes the fields in the command's output.

Field	Description
SIP Method	Number of SIP REGISTER messages received by the AX
REGISTER	device.
	Note: This counter and all the following counters in the out-
	put apply to messages both from User Agent Servers (UASs)
	and User Agent Clients (UACs).
SIP Method	Number of SIP INVITE messages received by the AX
INVITE	device.
SIP Method	Number of SIP ACK messages received by the AX device.
ACK	
SIP Method	Number of SIP CANCEL messages received by the AX
CANCEL	device.
SIP Method	Number of SIP BYE messages received by the AX device.
BYE	
SIP Method	Number of SIP OPTIONS messages received by the AX
OPTIONS	device.
SIP Method	Number of SIP PRACK messages received by the AX
PRACK	device.
SIP Method	Number of SIP SUBSCRIBE messages received by the AX
SUBSCRIBE	device

TABLE 5show ip nat Isn alg sip statistics fields



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference LSN Show Commands

TABLE 5 show	ip nat Isn alg sip statistics fields (Continued)
Field	Description
SIP Method NOTIFY	Number of SIP NOTIFY messages received by the AX device.
SIP Method PUBLISH	Number of SIP PUBLISH messages received by the AX device.
SIP Method INFO	Number of SIP INFO messages received by the AX device.
SIP Method REFER	Number of SIP REFER messages received by the AX device.
SIP Method	Number of SIP MESSAGE messages received by the AX

Number of SIP UPDATE messages received by the AX

Number of SIP UNKNOWN messages received by the AX

TABLE 5	show ip nat Isn	alg sip statistics	fields (Continued)

device.

device.

device.

2

Example The following command shows statistics for TFTP ALG: AX#show ip nat lsn alg tftp statistics

MESSAGE

SIP Method

SIP Method

UNKNOWN

UPDATE

LSN TFTP ALG Statistics:

TFTP Client Sessions Created

The counter indicates the number of UDP sessions created by clients to destination port 69.

show ip nat Isn full-cone-sessions

Description	Show currently activ	ve LSN full-cone sessions.				
Syntax	<pre>show ip nat lsn full-cone-sessions [brief] [inside-user ipaddr] [pool pool-name]</pre>					
	Parameter	Description				
	brief	Displays only statistics.				
	inside-user <i>ipaddr</i>	Displays full-cone sessions only for the specified user.				



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference LSN Show Commands

pool *pool-name* Displays only the full-cone sessions that use a public IP address from the specified LSN NAT pool.

Mode

Example

All

The following command shows currently active LSN full-cone sessions:

AX# s	how ip nat lsn full-cone-se	ssions				
LSN 1	Full Cone Sessions:					
Prot	Inside Address	NAT Address	Conns	Pool	CPU	Age
TCP	192.168.1.1:20001	203.0.113.1:20001	T	pooll	T	2
TCP	192.168.2.1:30001	203.0.113.1:30001	1	pooll	4	11
TCP	192.168.255.1:50001	203.0.113.1:50001	1	pooll	13	15
Tota	l Full Cone Sessions: 3					

Table 6 describes the fields in the command's output.

Field Description					
Information for I	ndividual Sessions:				
Prot	Protocol of the session.				
Inside Address	Private IP address of the client.				
NAT Address	Public IP address mapped to the client's private IP address.				
Conns	Number of connections currently using the session.				
Pool	LSN NAT pool from which the public IP address was				
	assigned.				
CPU	AX CPU on which the session resides.				
Age	Number of seconds the session has been in effect.				
Statistics (brief op	tion)				
LSN TCP Full-	Number of TCP full-cone sessions created.				
cone					
Session Created					
LSN TCP Full-	Number of TCP full-cone sessions freed.				
cone					
Session Freed					
LSN UDP Full-	Number of UDP full-cone sessions created.				
cone					
Session Created					
LSN UDP Full-	Number of UDP full-cone sessions freed.				
cone					
Session Freed					
LSN	Number of times an attempt to create an LSN full-cone ses-				
Full-cone	sion failed.				
Session Creation					
Failed					

TABLE 6 show ip nat Isn full-cone-sessions fields



show ip nat Isn inside-user

Des	scription		Show session information for a specific LSN inside client.							
Syr	itax		show i	p nat]	lsn ir	nside	-user	ipaddr		
			Paramete	r	C	Descrip	otion			
			ipaddr		S	pecifie	s the insi	de IP addı	ress of the us	ser.
Mo	de		All							
Exa	Imple		The follow 10.10.1	ving comn 00:	hand sh	ows LS	N sessio	n informa	tion for LSN	user
AX# s LSN Insi	show ip nat lsn in User-Quota Sessio de Address	nside-us ons: NAT Add	ser 10.10.1 0	0.100 ICMP	UDP	TCP	Pool		LID	
 10.1 Tota	.0.10.100 ll User-Quota Sess	172.7.7 sions Sh	7.30 nown: 1	0	3	2	lsn0		1	
LSN	Full Cone Session	ns:								
Prot	Inside Address		NAT Address	5	Con	ns Poc	1	CPU	J Age	
UDP	10.10.10.100:938	 85	172.7.7.30	42025	0	lsr	10	1	120	
UDP	10.10.10.100:479	967	172.7.7.30	23583	1	lsr	10	1	-	
UDP	10.10.10.100:622	210	172.7.7.30	:52226	1	lsr	10	4	-	
TCP	10.10.10.100:284	483	172.7.7.30	:33795	1	lsr	10	1	-	
TCP Tota	10.10.10.100:284 11 Full Cone Sess	482 ions: 5	172.7.7.30	29698	1	lsr	10	2	-	
TON	Data Gazaiana:									
Prot Hash	Forward Source	F	'orward Dest		Rever	se Sour	ce	Reverse	Dest	Age
Udp 1	10.10.10.100:479 NF	967 1	72.7.7.100	5300	172.7	.7.100:	5300	172.7.7	.30:23583	300
Тср 1	10.10.10.100:284 NF	183 1	72.7.7.100	:80	172.7	.7.100:	80	172.7.7	.30:33795	0
Тср 2	10.10.10.100:284 NF	182 1	72.7.7.100	:80	172.7	.7.100:	80	172.7.7	.30:29698	0
Udp 4	10.10.10.100:622	210 1	72.7.7.100	5300	172.7	.7.100:	5300	172.7.7	.30:52226	300



<u>Table 7</u> describes the fields in the command's output.

	7
Field	Description
LSN User-Quota	Lists the following user-quota session information for the
Sessions	user:
	• Inside Address – IPv4 address of the client
	• NAT Address – Client IPv4 NAT address from the LSN
	pool on the AX device
	• ICMP – Number of ICMP sessions from the quota that are in use
	• UDP – Number of UDP sessions from the quota that are in use
	• TCP – Number of TCP sessions from the quota that are in use
	 Pool – LSN NAT pool from which the NAT address for the session was selected
	• LID – Limit ID (LID) in which the user quota is config- ured
LSN Full-Cone	Lists the following information for the user's full-cone ses-
Sessions	sion:
	• Prot – Protocol of the session
	• Inside Address – IPv4 address of the client
	• NAT Address – Client IPv4 NAT address from the LSN pool on the AX device
	• Conns – Number of connections currently using the ses- sion
	• Pool – LSN NAT pool from which the NAT address for the session was selected
	• CPU – AX CPU on which the session resides
	• Age – Number of seconds the session has been in effect
LSN Data	Lists the following data session information for the user:
Sessions	• Prot – Protocol of the session
	• Forward Source – IPv4 address and protocol port of the client
	• Forward Dest – IPv4 address and protocol port of the server
	• Reverse Source – IPv4 address and protocol port of the server
	• Reverse Dest – Client IPv4 NAT address from the LSN pool on the AX device
	• Age – Number of seconds the session has been in effect
	• Hash – Hash value for the session
	• Flags – This value is used by A10 Technical Support.

TABLE 7 show ip nat Isn inside-user fields



show ip nat Isn pool-statistics

Description	Show LSN pool statistic	s.
Syntax	<pre>show ip nat lsn [brief] [misc] [peaks] [pool pool-name [top num {used used-: reserved re users}]</pre>	pool-statistics] icmp used-udp used-tcp eserved-udp reserved-tcp
	Parameter	Description
	brief	Displays fewer details.
	misc	Displays miscellaneous per-IP information.
	peaks	Displays peak statistics.
	pool pool-name	Displays statistics only for the specified pool.
	top num type	Limits the display to the pool IP addresses with the highest counters for the specified statistics type. You can specify 1-100.
		The statistics type can be one of the following:
		used – Displays the pool IP addresses with the highest total resource usage.
		used-icmp – Displays the pool IP addresses with the highest ICMP identifier usage.
		used-udp – Displays the pool IP addresses with the highest UDP port usage.
		used-tcp – Displays the pool IP addresses with the highest TCP port usage.
		reserved – Displays the pool IP addresses with the most total reserved ports.
		reserved-udp – Displays the pool IP addresses with the most reserved UDP ports.
		reserved-tcp – Displays the pool IP addresses with the most reserved TCP ports.
		users – Displays the pool IP addresses with the most users.



Mode

All

Example

The following command shows LSN pool statistics:

AX#show ip nat lsn pool-statistics

LSN Address Pool Statistics:

pooll	Address	Users	ICMP	Freed	Total	UDP	Freed	Total	Rsvd	TCP	Freed	Total	Rsvd
	203.0.113.1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	203.0.113.2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	203.0.113.3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

Table 8 describes the fields in this command's output.

Field	Description
Address	NAT (global) IP address.
Users	Number of inside IP addresses currently using the NAT IP
	address.
ICMP	Number of ICMP identifiers currently in use.
Freed (ICMP)	Total number of ICMP identifiers freed.
Total (ICMP)	Total number of ICMP identifiers allocated.
	ICMP column + Freed column = Total column.
UDP	Number of UDP ports currently in use.
Freed (UDP)	Total number of UDP ports freed.
Total (UDP)	Total number of UDP ports allocated.
	UDP column + Freed column = Total column.
Rsvd (UDP)	Total of all UDP reserve settings for each user that is cur-
	rently using the NAT IP address.
	For example, if an LID has the setting "user-quota udp 100
	reserve 50", and there are 50 users using the LID d on the
	NAT IP address, the Rsvd value is $50*50 = 2500$.
ТСР	Number of TCP ports currently in use.
Freed (TCP)	Total number of TCP ports freed.
Total (TCP)	Total number of TCP ports allocated.
	TCP column + Freed column = Total column.
Rsvd (TCP)	Total of all TCP reserve settings for each user that is cur-
	rently using the NAT IP address.
	For example, if an LID has the setting "user-quota tcp 100
	reserve 60", and there are 10 users using the LID d on the
	NAT IP address, the Rsvd value is $10*60 = 600$.

TABLE 8 show ip nat Isn pool-statistics fields



show ip nat Isn port-overloading config

Description	Display the configured Port Overloading settings that are ready to be deployed.
Syntax	show ip nat lsn port-overloading config
Mode	All

show ip nat Isn port-reservations

Description	Show static LSN port reservations.				
Syntax	show ip	nat lsn	port-reserv	ations	
Mode	All				
Example	The following	g command	l shows static LSN	port reservations	3:
AX# show ip nat lsn port-	reservations				
LSN Port Reservations					
Inside Address	Star	rt End	NAT Addre	ss Start	End
192.168.1.1	80	102	4 203.0.113	.1 80	1024
Total Static Port Reserv	rations: 1				

Table 9 describes the fields in this command's output.

Field	Description
Inside Address	Inside client's IP address.
Start	Beginning protocol port number in the inside address' range.
End	Ending protocol port number in the inside address' range.
NAT Address	Public IP address assigned to the client by LSN.
Start	Beginning protocol port number that is statically mapped to the inside address' port range.
End	Ending protocol port number that is statically mapped to the inside address' port range.

TABLE 9show ip nat Isn port-reservations fields



show ip nat Isn radius server

Description	Show configuration information or statistics for the AX RADIUS server.		
Syntax	<pre>show ip nat lsn radius server {config statistics}</pre>		
	Parameter	Description	
	config	Displays the configuration for the AX RADIUS server.	
	statistics	Displays statistics for the AX RADIUS server.	
Mode	All		
Introduced in Release	2.6.6-P4		

show ip nat Isn radius table

Description	Show the RADIUS accounting information stored on the AX device.		
Syntax	<pre>show ip nat lsn radius table [brief inside-ip ipaddr msisdn num imsi num imei num]</pre>		
	Parameter	Description	
	brief	Shows statistics only.	
	inside-ip ipaddr	Shows entries only for inside IP addresses.	
	msisdn num	Shows entries only for MSIDSN numbers.	
	imsi num	Shows entries only for IMSI numbers.	
	imei num	Shows entries only for IMEI numbers.	
Mode	All		
Introduced in Release	2.6.6-P4		



show ip nat Isn statistics

Description	Show LSN statistic	CS.		
Syntax	show ip nat	lsn statistics [others]		
	Parameter	Description		
	others	Displays a set of error statistics that are not included in the standard display. (See example below.)		
Mode	All			
Example	The following com	nmand shows LSN statistics:		
AX#show ip nat lsn stat	tistics			
Traffic statistics for	LSN:			
Total TCP Ports Allocat		0		
Total TCP Ports Freed		0		
Total UDP Ports Allocat	ted	0		
Total UDP Ports Freed		0		
Total ICMP Ports Alloca	ated	0		
Total ICMP Ports Freed		0		
Data Session Created		0		
Data Session Freed		0		
User-Quota Created		0		
User-Quota Freed		0		
User-Quota Creation Fai	iled	0		
TCP NAT Port Unavailab	le	0		
UDP NAT Port Unavailab	le	0		
ICMP NAT Port Unavaila	ole	0		
New User NAT Resource	Jnavailable	0		
TCP User-Quota Exceeded	£	0		
UDP User-Quota Exceeded	£	0		
ICMP User-Quota Exceede	ed	0		
Extended User-Quota Mat	tched	0		
Extended User-Quota Exc	ceeded	0		
Data Session User-Quota	a Exceeded	0		
TCP Full-cone Session (Created	0		
TCP Full-cone Session 1	Freed	0		
UDP Full-cone Session (Created	0		
UDP Full-cone Session	Freed	0		

AX S	eries - Command Line Interface Reference		
AleNetworks	LSN Show Commands		
Full-cone Session Creation Failed	0		
Hairpin Session Created	0		
Self-Hairpinning Drop	0		
Endpoint-Independent Mapping Matched	0		
Endpoint-Independent Filtering Matched	0		
Endpoint-Dependent Filtering Drop	0		
Endpoint-Independent Filtering Inbound	Limit Exceeded 0		
NAT Pool Mismatch Drop	0		
TCP Port Overloaded	0		
UDP Port Overloaded	0		
TCP Port Overloading Session Created	0		
UDP Port Overloading Session Created	0		
TCP Port Overloading Session Freed	0		
UDP Port Overloading Session Freed	0		
NAT IP TCP Max Ports Allocated	0		
NAT IP UDP Max Ports Allocated	0		
No Class-List Match	0		
LSN LID Drop	0		
LSN LID Pass-through	0		

<u>Table 10</u> describes the fields in this command's output.

Field	Description
Total TCP Ports	Total number of TCP ports allocated for user sessions.
Allocated	
Total TCP Ports	Total number of TCP ports freed for use by other sessions.
Freed	
Total UDP Ports	Total number of UDP ports allocated for user sessions.
Allocated	
Total UDP Ports	Total number of UDP ports freed for use by other sessions.
Freed	
Total ICMP	Total number of ICMP ports allocated for user sessions.
Ports Allocated	
Total ICMP	Total number of ICMP ports freed for use by other sessions.
Ports Freed	
Data Session	Total number of LSN data sessions created.
Created	
Data Session	Total number of LSN data sessions freed.
Freed	
User-Quota	Number of port mappings created for which the user quota
Created	had available mappings.

TABLE 10 show ip nat Isn statistics fields



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference

LSN Show Commands

Field	Description
User-Quota	Number of port mappings that were created for which the
Freed	user quota had available mappings, that were later freed.
User-Quota	Number of times creation of a port mapping was unsuccess-
Creation Failed	ful because the user quota had no free mappings.
TCP NAT Port	Number of times a TCP port for an LSN NAT session was
Unavailable	unavailable.
UDP NAT Port	Number of times a UDP port for an LSN NAT session was
Unavailable	unavailable.
ICMP NAT Port	Number of times an ICMP port for an LSN NAT session was
Unavailable	unavailable.
New User NAT	Number of times LSN resources (ICMP, TCP, or UDP) were
Resource	not available for a new user.
Unavailable	
TCP User-Quota	Number of times the TCP quota for a user was exceeded.
Exceeded	
UDP User-Quota	Number of times the UDP quota for a user was exceeded.
Exceeded	
ICMP	Number of times the ICMP quota for a user was exceeded.
User-Quota	
Exceeded	
Extended	Number of times the extended user quota was used to create
User-Quota	a mapping.
Matched	
Extended	Number of times a NAT port was unavailable to a client
User-Quota	because the client had exceeded the extended user quota.
Exceeded	
Data Session	Number of times a client exceeded their data session quota.
User-Quota	
Exceeded	
TCP Full-cone	Total number of LSN TCP full-cone sessions created.
Session Created	
TCP Full-cone	Total number of LSN TCP full-cone sessions freed.
Session Freed	
UDP Full-cone	Total number of LSN UDP full-cone sessions created.
Session Created	
UDP Full-cone	Total number of LSN UDP full-cone sessions freed.
Session Freed	
Full-cone	Number of times creation of a full-cone session failed.
Session Creation	
Failed	
Hairpin Session	Total number of LSN hairpin sessions created.
Created	
Self-Hairpin-	Number of hairpin sessions dropped because the source and
ning Drop	destination client were the same.

TABLE 10	show ip nat Isn statistic	s fields (Continued)
----------	---------------------------	----------------------



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference LSN Show Commands

Field	Description
Endpoint- Independent Mapping Matched	Number of times LSN reused the LSN mapping assigned to a client for subsequent traffic for that client. (This is the benefit provided by Endpoint independent mapping.)
Endpoint- Independent Filtering Matched	Number of times traffic from any source to a given mapped client was forwarded to the internal client, regardless of the endpoint. (This is the benefit provided by Endpoint indepen- dent filtering.)
Endpoint- Dependent Filtering Drop	Number of times traffic to a mapped client was dropped because endpoint-independent filtering was not enabled, and the traffic was not from the endpoint mapped to the client.
Endpoint- Independent Filtering Inbound Limit Exceeded	Number of times the maximum number of Endpoint-Inde- pendent Filtering (EIF) sessions allowed for a NAT mapping was exceeded.
NAT Pool Mismatch Drop	Number of times traffic was dropped because matching traf- fic for a current full-cone session or user-quota session uses a different pool or pool group than the one redirected to by the rule list.
TCP Port Overloaded	Number of times a TCP port on a NAT address was assigned to a new client while another client was still using the map- ping. Note: This counter and the other Port Overloading counters apply only if port overloading is configured.
UDP Port Overloaded	Number of times a UDP port on a NAT address was assigned to a new client while another client was still using the map- ping.
TCP Port Overloading Session Created	Number of times a session on an overloaded TCP port was created.
UDP Port Overloading Session Created	Number of times a session on an overloaded UDP port was created.
TCP Port Overloading Session Freed	Number of times a session created on an overloaded TCP port was freed.
UDP Port Overloading Session Freed	Number of times a session created on an overloaded UDP port was freed.
NAT IP TCP Max Ports Allocated	Maximum number of NAT IP TCP ports allocated.
NAT IP UDP Max Ports Allocated	Maximum number of NAT IP UDP ports allocated.

TABLE 10	show ip nat l	lsn statistics	fields ((Continued)
	••	on olunonoo		



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference

LSN Show Commands

Field	Description
No Class-List Match	Number of times traffic did not match the LSN class list.
LSN LID Drop	Number of times traffic matched the drop action in the LSN LID, and was dropped.
LSN LID Pass-through	Number of times traffic matched the pass-through action in the LSN LID, and was passed through without being NAT- ted.

TABLE 10 show ip nat Isn statistics fields (Continued)

show ip nat Isn system-status

Description	Show system-level information for LSN.
Syntax	show ip nat lsn system-status
Mode	All
Example	The following command shows system-level information for LSN:
AX# show ip nat lsn sys CPU Usage:	tem-status
Control CPU : 18%	
Data CPU 1 : 0%	
Data CPU 2 : 0%	
Data CPU 3 : 0%	
Data CPU 4 : 0%	
Data CPU 5 : 0%	
Data CPU avg: 0%	
Memory Status:	
Total Memory(KB): 6123	184
Used Memory(KB) : 4462	824
Free Memory(KB) : 1660	360
Memory Usage : 72.8	8
Sessions Status:	
LSN CPS : 0	
Data Sessions Used: 0	
Data Sessions Free: 16	74443





SMP Sessions Used : 0
SMP Sessions Free : 16580608

NAT Pool Usage: -----TCP NAT Pool Used: 0 TCP NAT Pool Free: 0 UDP NAT Pool Used: 0 UDP NAT Pool Free: 0

Table 11 describes the fields in the command's output.

Field	Description
CPU Usage	Shows utilization for each CPU. The average utilization for
Memory Status	Shows memory usage information.
Sessions Status	Shows usage and availability for LSN data sessions.
NAT Pool Usage	Shows usage and availability for LSN NAT pools.

TABLE 11 show ip nat Isn system-status fields

show ip nat Isn user-quota-sessions

Description Show LSN user-quota session information. Syntax show ip nat 1sn user-quota-sessions [brief] [inside-user ipaddr] [**pool** pool-name] [top num {all | icmp | tcp | udp}] Parameter Description brief Displays only session statistics. inside-user ipaddr Displays session information only for the specified user IP address. Displays session information only for the specipool pool-name fied LSN NAT pool. Limits the display to the sessions with the highest top num type counters for the specified resource type. You can specify 1-100.



The resource type can be one of the following:

all – Displays the sessions with the highest counters for all resource types (ICMP, TCP, and UDP).

icmp – Displays the sessions with the highest counters for ICMP.

tcp – Displays the sessions with the highest counters for TCP.

udp – Displays the sessions with the highest counters for UDP.

Mode

All

Table 12 describes the fields in the command's output.

Field	Description	
Information for Individual Sessions:		
Inside Address	Inside client's IP address.	
NAT Address	Public IP address assigned to the client by LSN.	
ICMP	Number of ICMP sessions from the quota that are in use.	
UDP	Number of UDP sessions from the quota that are in use.	
ТСР	Number of TCP sessions from the quota that are in use.	
Pool	Name of the pool from which the public address for the ses-	
	sion was selected.	
LID	Limit ID (LID) in which the user quota is configured.	
Statistics (brief option)		
LSN User-Quota	Number of port mappings created for which the user quota	
Created	had available mappings.	
LSN User-Quota	Number of port mappings that were created for which the	
Freed	user quota had available mappings, that were later freed.	
LSN User-Quota	Number of times creation of a port mapping was unsuccess-	
Creation Failed	ful because the user quota had no free mappings.	
LSN TCP	Number of times the TCP quota for a user was exceeded.	
User-Quota		
Exceeded		
LSN UDP	Number of times the UDP quota for a user was exceeded.	
User-Quota		
Exceeded		
LSN ICMP	Number of times the ICMP quota for a user was exceeded.	
User-Quota		
Exceeded		
LSN Extended	Number of times the extended user quota was used to create	
User-Quota	a mapping.	
Matched		

 TABLE 12
 show ip nat Isn user-quota-sessions fields



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference LSN Show Commands

Field	Description
LSN Extended User-Quota	Number of times a NAT port was unavailable to a client because the client had exceeded the extended user quota.
Exceeded	secure and enternance and enternance user quota.
LSN Data	Number of times a client exceeded their data session quota.
Session	
User-Quota	
Exceeded	

TABLE 12	show in nat Isn user-quota-sessions field	ds (Continued)
		10 (00111111000)

show Isn-lid

Description	Show information for Limit IDs (LIDs) for Large Scale NAT (LSN).
Syntax	<pre>show lsn-lid [num]</pre>
Mode	All

show Isn-rule-list

Description	Show information for LSN rule lists.
Syntax	<pre>show lsn-rule-list list-name [statistics]</pre>
Mode	All



Config Commands: Port Control Protocol

The commands in this chapter configure Port Control Protocol (PCP).

This CLI level also has the following commands, which are available at all configuration levels:

- **backup** See <u>"backup system" on page 50</u> and <u>"backup log" on page 48</u>.
- clear See <u>"clear" on page 59</u>.
- **debug** See <u>"debug" on page 64</u>.
- **do** See <u>"do" on page 117</u>.
- end See <u>"end" on page 123</u>.
- **exit** See <u>"exit" on page 124</u>.
- **no** See <u>"no" on page 155</u>.
- show See <u>"Show Commands" on page 689</u>.
- write See <u>"write terminal" on page 78</u>.

Notes About the Current Release

- PCP is in Beta form and conforms to parts of IETF drafts 12 and 13. PCP in this release is intended for non-production testing purposes only.
- The current release supports PCP only for IPv4-IPv4 mappings for LSN clients. PCP is not supported for IPv6 mappings or for other IPv6 migration features (NAT64, DS-Lite, and so on).
- In this release, the "Reserved" fields are not zeroed out. Clients should ignore these fields and not check the contents of them. In future releases, these fields will be set to zero.


PCP Configuration Commands

This section describes the PCP configuration commands.

ip nat pcp default-template

Description	Specify the Port Control Protocol (PCP) template to use as the set of default PCP settings.		
Syntax	[no] ip nat pcp	default-template template-name	
	Parameter	Description	
	template-name	Name of the PCP template. (To configure a PCP template, see <u>"ip nat template pcp" on page 506</u> .)	
Default	PCP is disabled by default. To enable it, configure a PCP template, then activate it on a global basis using the ip nat pcp default-template command.		
Mode	Configuration mode		
Usage	When PCP is enabled, the AX device acts as a PCP server for Large Scale NAT (LSN) clients (PCP clients). The AX device parses incoming UDP packets arriving on the PCP port, extracts the relevant information, and creates or refreshes the IPv4-IPv4 mapping as requested by the PCP client. The AX device then sends a PCP response message back to the PCP client. The mapping created for the client is an implicit dynamic mapping.		

ip nat template pcp

Configure a template to set Port Control Protocol (PCP) options.

Syntax	[no] ip nat te	[no] ip nat template pcp template-name		
	Parameter	Description		
	template-name	Name of the template, 1-31 characters.		
	This command change where the following co	This command changes the CLI to the configuration level for the templat where the following commands are available.		
	(The other commands	are common to all CLL configuration levels. See		

(The other commands are common to all CLI configuration levels. See <u>"Config Commands: Global" on page 79</u>.)



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference

P	CP	Confi	guration	Comm	nands
	•	001111	garation	001111	ando

	Command	Description	
	[no] allow- third-party	Enables support for the third-party option in MAP requests. This option instructs the AX device to use the address specified in the MAP request, instead of the source address of the request packet, as the internal address for the mapping.	
	[no] draft-		
	$\{12 \mid 13\}$	Specifies the PCP draft version to support.	
		12 – IETF draft-ietf-pcp-base-12	
		13 – IETF draft-ietf-pcp-base-13	
	[no] max-life-		
	time minutes	Specifies the maximum lifetime of PCP mappings. You can specify 1-1440 minutes.	
	[no] pcp-udp- port portnum	Specifies the UDP destination port for PCP.	
Default	PCP disabled by default. To enable it, use this command to configure a PCl template, then use the ip nat pcp default-template command to activate it (<u>"ip nat pcp default-template</u> " on page 506).		
	The template options hav	ve the following default settings:	
	• allow-third-party –	disabled	
	• draft-version – 13		
	• max-life-time – 5		
	• pcp-udp-port – 5351	l	
Mode	Configuration mode		
Usage	The current release supports PCP only for IPv4-IPv4 mappings for LSN clients. PCP is not supported for IPv6 mappings or for other IPv6 migration features (NAT64, DS-Lite, and so on).		
	In the current release, I intended for non-product	PCP conforms to parts of IETF draft 13 and is ion testing purposes only.	



-

PCP Show Commands

This section describes the show commands for PCP.

show ip nat pcp statistics

Description	Shows st	atistic	s foi	Port	Control Protocol (PCP).
Syntax	show	ip n	at	рср	statistics
Mode	All				
Example	The follo	wing	com	mand	shows PCP statistics:
AX#show ip nat pcp stat	tistics				
Traffic statistics for	PCP:				
Received packet is not	 a PCP 1	reque	est		0
Invalid PCP opcode					0
No route for PCP respon	nse				0
PCP request is not IP					0
Egress port for PCP rea	sponse d	lown			0
LSN TCP fullcone sessio	on alloc	c fai	lur	е	0
LSN UDP fullcone sessio	on alloc	c fai	lur	е	0
LSN OTHER fullcone ses	sion all	loc f	ail	ure	0
DSLITE TCP fullcone sea	ssion al	Lloc	fai	lure	0
DSLITE UDP fullcone sea	ssion al	Lloc	fai	lure	0
DSLITE OTHER fullcone :	session	allo	oc f	ailu	re O
NAT64 TCP fullcone ses	sion all	loc f	ail	ure	0
NAT64 UDP fullcone ses	sion all	loc f	ail	ure	0
NAT64 OTHER fullcone se	ession a	alloc	: fa	ilur	e 0
LSN TCP fullcone sessio	on alloc	c suc	ces	s .	1
LSN UDP fullcone sessio	on alloc	c suc	ces	S	0
LSN OTHER fullcone ses	sion all	Loc s	succ	ess	0
DSLITE TCP fullcone sea	ssion al	Lloc	suc	cess	0
DSLITE UDP fullcone sea	ssion al	Lloc	suc	cess	0
DSLITE OTHER fullcone :	session	allc	c s	ucce	ss O
NAT64 TCP fullcone ses	sion all	Loc s	succ	ess	0
NAT64 UDP fullcone ses	sion all	Loc s	succ	ess	0
NAT64 OTHER fullcone se	ession a	alloc	: su	cces	s 0
Malformed request					0
Unsupported version					0

AleNetworks	AX Series - Command Line Interface Refe PCP Show Com	rence mands
Client address mismatch	0	
Malformed options	0	
Third_party_option_disallowed	0	
Unsupported options	0	
User quota exceeded	0	
Cannot provide ext port	0	
Request processing success	1	

Table 13 describes the fields in the command's output.

Field	Description
Received packet	Number of PCP requests in which the request bit was not set
is not a PCP	to 0.
request	
Invalid PCP	Number of PCP requests in which the OpCode was incorrect.
opcode	
No route for PCP	Number of times the AX device did not have a return route.
response	(No full-cone session was created.)
PCP request is	Number of times the AX interface received a PCP request
not IP	with an unexpected Layer 3 protocol.
Egress port for	Number of times the AX interface needed for sending a PCP
PCP response	response to a client was down.
down	
LSN TCP	Number of times allocation of an LSN full-cone session for
fullcone session	TCP failed.
alloc failure	
LSN UDP	Number of times allocation of an LSN full-cone session for
fullcone session	UDP failed.
alloc failure	
LSN OTHER	Number of times allocation of an LSN full-cone session for
fullcone session	other traffic types failed.
alloc failure	
DSLITE TCP	Number of times allocation of a DS-Lite full-cone session
fullcone session	for TCP failed.
alloc failure	
DSLITE UDP	Number of times allocation of a DS-Lite full-cone session
fullcone session	for UDP failed.
alloc failure	
DSLITE	Number of times allocation of a DS-Lite full-cone session
OTHER full-	for other traffic types failed.
cone session	
alloc failure	
NAT64 TCP full-	Number of times allocation of a NAT64 full-cone session for
cone session	TCP failed.
alloc failure	

TABLE 13 show ip nat pcp statistics fields



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference PCP Show Commands

Field	Description
NAT64 UDP	Number of times allocation of a NAT64 full-cone session for
fullcone session	UDP failed.
alloc failure	
NAT64 OTHER	Number of times allocation of a NAT64 full-cone session for
fullcone session	other traffic types failed.
alloc failure	
LSN TCP full-	Number of LSN full-cone sessions successfully allocated for
cone session	TCP.
alloc success	
LSN UDP full-	Number of LSN full-cone sessions successfully allocated for
cone session	UDP.
	Number of J CNL full come and improve fully allocated for
LSN UTHER	Number of LSN full-cone sessions successfully allocated for other traffic types
alloc success	other traine types.
DSI ITE TCP	Number of DS Lite full cone sessions successfully allocated
fullcone session	for TCP
alloc success	
DSLITE UDP	Number of DS-Lite full-cone sessions successfully allocated
fullcone session	for UDP.
alloc success	
DSLITE	Number of DS-Lite full-cone sessions successfully allocated
OTHER full-	for other traffic types.
cone session	
alloc success	
NAT64 TCP full-	Number of NAT64 full-cone sessions successfully allocated
cone session	for TCP.
alloc success	
NAT64 UDP	Number of NAT64 full-cone sessions successfully allocated
fullcone session	for UDP.
alloc success	
NAT64 OTHER	Number of NAT64 full-cone sessions successfully allocated
rullcone session	for other traffic types.
Molformed	Number of times the AV device cent on "Melformed
request	request" response code in response to a PCP request per the
request	PCP specification.
Unsupported	Number of times the AX device sent an "Unsupported ver-
version	sion" response code in response to a PCP request, per the
	PCP specification.
Client address	Number of times a PCP client's IP address and protocol port
mismatch	in the PCP request header did not match the source IP
	address and protocol port of the PCP request packet.
Malformed	Number of times the AX device sent an "Malformed Option"
options	response code in response to a PCP request, per the PCP
	specification.

TABLE 13	show ip nat pcp	statistics i	fields ((Continued)
----------	-----------------	--------------	----------	-------------



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference PCP Show Commands

p statistics fields (Continued)
otion
of times a third-party request was received but was

Field	Description
Third_party_	Number of times a third-party request was received but was
disallowed	PCP template.
Unsupported	Number of times the AX device sent an "Unsupported
options	Option" response code in response to a PCP request, per the
	PCP specification.
User quota	Number of times a full-cone session was not allocated for a
exceeded	client because doing so would result in exceeding the client's
	user quota.
Cannot provide	Number of times the AX device could not allocate an exter-
ext port	nal port to a client
Request	Number of times a valid request was successfully processed.
processing	
success	

TABLE 13	show ip nat	pcp statistics	fields (Continued
----------	-------------	----------------	-------------------







Config Commands: NAT64 / DNS64

The commands in this chapter configure global settings for NAT64 / DNS64.

This CLI level also has the following commands, which are available at all configuration levels:

- **backup** See <u>"backup system" on page 50</u> and <u>"backup log" on page 48</u>.
- clear See <u>"clear" on page 59</u>.
- debug See <u>"debug" on page 64</u>.
- **do** See <u>"do" on page 117</u>.
- end See <u>"end" on page 123</u>.
- exit See <u>"exit" on page 124</u>.
- **no** See <u>"no" on page 155</u>.
- show See <u>"Show Commands" on page 689</u>.
- write See <u>"write terminal" on page 78</u>.

DNS64 Configuration Commands

This section describes the DNS64 configuration commands.

ip nat pool (for DNS64)

Description	Configure an IPv4 pool, for DNS64 to use while acting as a proxy for a local IPv4 DNS server.
Syntax	[no] ip nat pool pool-name start-ipaddr end-ipaddr
	netmask {subnet-mask /mask-length}
	[gateway <i>ipaddr</i>]
	[ha-group-id group-id [ha-use-all-ports]]





AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference DNS64 Configuration Commands

	Parameter	Description	
	pool-name	Name of the address pool.	
	start-ipaddr	Beginning (lowest) IP address in the range.	
	end-ipaddr	Ending (highest) IP address in the range.	
	netmask {subnet-mask /mask-length}	Network mask for the IP addresses in the pool.	
	gateway ipaddr	Default gateway to use for NATted traffic.	
	ha-group-id group-id [ha-use-all- ports]	HA group ID, 1-31.	
		The ha-use-all-ports option disables division of the pool's ports between AX devices. Without this option, the AX device automatically allo- cates half of each pool address's ports to one of the AX devices and allocates the other half of the ports to the other AX device. (See "Usage" below.)	
Default	None		
Mode	Configuration mode		
Usage	When you use the gateway option, the gateway you specify is used lows:		
	• For forward traffic (traffic from a client to a server), the NAT gateway is used if the source NAT address (the address from the pool) and the server address are not in the same IP subnet.		
	• On reverse traffic (reply traffic from a server to a client), the NAT gate- way is used if all the following conditions are true:		
	The session is using translated addresses (is source NATted).The source protocol port is in the source NAT subnet.The destination is not in the source NAT subnet.		
	For conditions under which the NAT gateway is needed, if no NAT gateway is configured, the AX device uses the default gateway configured for the AX device's other traffic instead.		
	The command also has a applicable to NAT64 but i figuration, see <u>"ip nat poo</u>	an lsn option (not shown above). This option is is not applicable to DNS64. (For NAT64 pool con- ol (for NAT64)" on page 528.)	



Port Allocation Between AX Devices in High Availability Deployments (ha-use-all-ports option)

By default, when you assign an IP NAT pool to an HA group, the AX device automatically allocates half of each pool address's ports to one of the AX devices and allocates the other half of the ports to the other AX device.

This automatic allocation is used to prevent simultaneous use of the same port number by both AX devices. For example, without this protection, it would be possible for the same IP address and protocol port number to be in use on both AX devices in an Active-Active configuration.

However, this protection also requires the pool to be configured with more addresses than will actually be needed.

In some cases, there is no benefit to dividing the pool's ports between the AX devices. In particular, there is no benefit for DNS virtual ports. DNS sessions are very short-lived and are never synchronized between the AX devices. For this reason, there is no risk that the same NAT port will be in use on more than one session at the same time. You can use the **ha-use-all-ports** option to disable division of the ports between AX devices.

Note: It is recommended to use the **ha-use-all-ports** option only for DNS virtual ports. Using this option with other virtual port types is not valid.

ip nat pool-group (for DNS64)

Description	Configure a set of IP pools for use by NAT. Pool groups enable you to use non-contiguous IP address ranges, by combining multiple IP address pools.		
Syntax	[no] ip nat pool-group pool-group-name [ha-group-id group-id]		
	Parameter	Description	
	pool-group-name	Name of the pool group.	
	ha-group-id group-id	HA group ID, 1-31.	
	This command changes t pool group, where the fol	he CLI to the configuration level for the specified lowing command is available.	

(The other commands are common to all CLI configuration levels. See <u>"Config Commands: Global" on page 79</u>.)



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference DNS64 Configuration Commands

	Parameter	Description	
	member pool-name	Name of a configured IP address pool.	
Default	None		
Mode	Configuration mode		
Usage	To use a non-contiguous range of addresses, configure a separate pool each contiguous portion of the range, then configure a pool group that c tains the pools.		
	The addresses within an individual pool still must be contiguous, but you can have gaps between the ending address in one pool and the starting address in another pool. You also can use pools that are in different subnets.		
	For Large Scale NAT (LSN), a pool group can contain up to 25 pools. For other types of NAT, a pool group can contain up to 5 pools. Pool group members must belong to the same protocol family (IPv4 or IPv6) and must use the same HA ID. A pool can be a member of multiple pool groups.		
	If a pool group contains pools in different subnets, the AX device selects the pool that matches the outbound subnet. For example, of there are two routes to a given destination, in different subnets, and the pool group has a pool for one of those subnets, the AX selects the pool that is in the subnet for the outbound route.		
	The AX device selects the the next-hop interface use	e pool whose addresses are in the same subnet as d by the data route table to reach the server.	
Example	The following commands	create a pool group containing 3 pools:	
AX(config) #ip nat pool	-group groupl		
AX(config-pool-group)member pool1			
AX(config-pool-group)me	ember pool2 ember pool3		



ipv6 nat pool (for DNS64)

Description	Configure an IPv6 poo local IPv6 DNS server.	Configure an IPv6 pool, for DNS64 to use while acting as a proxy for a local IPv6 DNS server.		
Syntax	<pre>[no] ipv6 nat pool pool-name start-ipv6-addr end-ipv6-addr netmask mask-length [gateway ipaddr] [ha-group-id group-id]</pre>			
	Parameter	Description		
	pool-name	Name of the address pool.		
	start-ipaddr	Beginning (lowest) IP address in the range.		
	end-ipaddr	Ending (highest) IP address in the range.		
	netmask mask- length	Network mask for the IP addresses in the pool, 64-128.		
	gateway ipv6-addr	Next-hop gateway address.		
	ha-group-id group-id	HA group ID, 1-31.		
Default	None	None		
Mode	Configuration mode	Configuration mode		
Usage	For more information about the gateway and ha-group-id options, <u>nat pool (for DNS64)" on page 513</u> .			
	The command also has an lsn option (not shown above). This option is applicable to NAT64 but is not applicable to DNS64. (For NAT64 pool configuration, see <u>"ip nat pool (for NAT64)" on page 528</u> .)			
	If both IPv4 and IPv6 local DNS servers will be proxied, you also need to configure an IPv6 ACL. The ACL directs IPv6 traffic to the IPv6 pool instead of the IPv4 pool. (See <u>"ipv6 access-list" on page 266</u> .)			





nat64 prefix

Description		Configure the NAT64 pre	fix.
Syntax		<pre>[no] nat64 prefix {ipv6-addr/nn well-known} [inside source class-list list-name] [ha-group-id group-id]</pre>	
		Parameter	Description
		ipv6-addr/nn	Specifies the prefix.
		well-known	Sets the prefix to the well-known (standard) value, 64:ff9b::/96.
		inside source class-list <i>list-name</i>	Specifies a class list of inside source parameters for the prefix.
		ha-group-id num	Assigns the prefix to a High Availability (HA) group. You can specify 1-31.
Default		The default is well-know	n . No HA group or class list is assigned by default.
Mode		Configuration mode	
slb server			
Description		Configure the local DNS	server to be proxied.
Syntax		[no] slb server	server-name {ipaddr ipv6-addr}
		This command creates the server and changes the CLI to the configuration level for the server, where the following commands are available.	
	Note:	The other configuratio DNS64 / NAT64.	on commands at this level are not applicable to
		Command	Description
		[no] health- check [monitor-name]	Enables health monitoring of the port. The <i>moni-</i> <i>tor-name</i> specifies the name of a configured

health monitor.



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference DNS64 Configuration Commands

If you omit this command or you enter it without the *monitor-name* option, the default Layer 3 (ICMP) health monitor is used:

[no] port port-num udp

Specifies the UDP port on which the server listens for DNS traffic.

disable | **enable** – Disables or re-enables the port.

[no] health-check [monitor-name] [follow-port port-num] – Enables health monitoring for a server.. The monitorname option specifies the name of a configured health monitor.

The **follow-port** *port-num* option specifies another real port upon which to base this port's health status. Both the real port and the port to use for the real port's health status must be the same type, TCP or UDP. By default, this option is not set.

If you omit the **health-check** command or you enter it without the *monitor-name* option, the default UDP health monitor is used. (See below.)

stats-data-disable | **stats-dataenable** – Disables or enables statistical data collection for the port.

Note: The other configuration commands are not applicable to DNS64 / NAT64.

Default None

Mode Configuration mode

Usage The normal form of the slb server command creates a new or edits an existing real server. The CLI changes to the configuration level for the server. The "**no**" form of this command removes an existing real server. The IP address of the server can be in either IPv4 or IPv6 format. The AX Series supports both address formats.

Default Health Monitoring

The following health monitors are enabled by default.

• ICMP – Server health check. Every 5 seconds, the AX device sends an ICMP echo request (ping) addressed to the server's IP address. The server passes the health check if it sends an echo reply to the AX device.



If the server does not reply after the fourth attempt (the first attempt followed by 3 retries), the AX device sets the server state to DOWN.

• UDP – Protocol port health check. Every 5 seconds, the AX device sends a packet with a valid UDP header and a garbage payload to the UDP port. The port passes the health check if the server either does not reply, or replies with any type of packet *except* an ICMP Error message.

slb service-group

Description		Configure a service group	, which is a pool of one or more servers.
Syntax		[no] slb service	-group group-name udp
		Parameter	Description
		group-name	Name of the group, 1-31 characters.
		This command changes the service-group, where the	he CLI to the configuration level for the specified following command is available:
	Note:	The other configuratio DNS64 / NAT64.	n commands at this level are not applicable to
		Command	Description
		<pre>[no] member server- name:portnum [disable enable] [priority num] [template template-name] [stats-data- disable stats-data- enable]</pre>	Adds the local DNS server and port to the service group. server-name:portnum – Server name and UDP port number on the server. disable enable – Disables or re-ena- bles the server and port, for this service group only. priority num – Sets the preference for this server and port, 1-16.



stats-data-disable – Disables statistical data collection for the service-group member.

Default	There are no service groups configured by default.	
Mode	Configuration mode	
Usage	The normal form of this command creates a new or edits an existing service group. The CLI changes to the configuration level for the service group.	

slb template dns

Description		Configure a DNS templat	e to enable DNS64 and set DNS64 options.
Syntax		[no] slb template dns <i>template-name</i> This command creates the template and changes the CLI to the configura- tion level for the template, where the following DNS64-related command is available.	
	Note:	The other configuratio DNS64 / NAT64.	n commands at this level are not applicable to
		Command	Description
		[no] dns64 [options]	Enables DNS64 and configures DNS64 options.
			answer-only – Synthesizes IPv6 addresses for only the resource records in the ANSWER section of DNS replies. If you disable this option, the IPv4 addresses in all other sections of DNS replies are synthesized to IPv6 too.
			auth-data – When the AX device receives an A-query-response from the DNS server, this option sets the authenticated-data bit in synthesized AAAA responses. The auth-bit will be set only if DNS64 synthesis is performed in the reply. Otherwise, the bit will not be changed.
			cache – Uses a cached A-query response to provide AAAA query responses for the same hostname, without consulting the DNS server.
			For example, assume that an A query has been cached for hostname example.com. If the client sends a AAAA query for example.com, the AX



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference DNS64 Configuration Commands

device does not consult the DNS server. Instead, the AX device uses the cached type A answer to synthesize a AAAA response, and sends the synthesized response to the client.

change-query – When the AX device receives a AAAA request from a client, this option forwards *only* an A request on behalf of the client. This option saves time if the DNS database only contains A records, because the AX device does not need to wait for an error or empty response, or for the response to time out.

compress – Saves network costs by compressing DNS packets.

deep-check-rr drop-cname – Evaluates the resource records in the ANSWER sections of DNS replies individually. Sometimes the DNS server may send only CNAMEs in the ANSWER section in response to a AAAA query. This option drops such responses, considering them to be empty, and initiates an A query towards the hostname. By default, this option is enabled. This option is valid only when the deep-check-RR option is enabled.

ignore-rcode3 – Ignores any DNS response with rcode 3 in response to a AAAA query. The AX device treats the response as empty, and sends an A query to the same hostname. This option is useful for circumventing DNS servers that are configured incorrectly to return rcode=3 when they do not have any AAAA records for the hostname, even though the hostname exists.

max-qr-length *num* – Forwards the response from the DNS server to the client without any modification to the response, if the question-record length is greater than the specified length. The length can be 1-1023 bytes.

parallel-query – Sends both an IPv6 AAAA request and an IPv4 A request in parallel (at the same time) on behalf of the client. When this option is enabled, the AX device performs DNS64 synthesis if necessary, and forwards the first valid response received to the client. (Empty responses and errors are invalid.)



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference DNS64 Configuration Commands

If both responses are invalid, the AX device forwards the last invalid response to the client.

Note: It is recommended to disable the **passive-query** option and enable the **single-response** option when using the **parallel-query** option.

passive-query – Initiates an A query upon receiving an empty response or error for a AAAA query.

retry – Specifies the maximum number of times the AX device will retry an A query if a response is not received from the DNS server. You can specify 0-15. If you specify 0, retries are disabled.

single-response – When the AX device is operating in parallel-query mode, the AX device will send two queries to the DNS server at the same time. Both queries could come back with valid responses.

When the single-response option is enabled, the first valid response is forwarded to the client. If two invalid responses are received, the last one is forwarded to the client.

If you disable this option, the AX device will forward both responses to the server, if both responses are valid.

timeout seconds – Specifies the maximum number of seconds the AX device waits for a AAAA response before sending an A query. You can specify 1-15 seconds.

trans-ptr – Enables you to run PTR queries for synthesized IPv6 addresses with the client. The PTR queries are intercepted by DNS64 and converted into PTR queries for their corresponding IPv4 addresses before sending out. When the response is received by the AX device, the response is synthesized and sent back to the client as if it were a response for the synthesized IPv6 address.

ttl seconds – Specifies the maximum TTL to use in synthesized AAAA replies, in place of the TTL value in the original IPv4 DNS reply.

-2	AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference		
Networks	DNS64 Configuration Commands		
	 If the TTL value in the template is lower than the TTL value in the IPv4 reply, the template's TTL value is used in the synthesized IPv6 reply. 		
	– If the TTL value in the template is equal to or higher than the TTL value in the IPv4 reply, the TTL value in the IPv4 reply is used in the synthe- sized IPv6 reply.		
	You can specify 0-15.		
Default	DNS64 is disabled by default. When you enable it, the DNS64 options have the following defaults:		
	• answer-only – enabled		
	• auth-data – disabled		
	• cache – disabled		
	• change-query – disabled		
	• compress – enabled		
	• deep-check-rr – disabled		
	• ignore-rcode3 – enabled		
	• max-qr-length – 128		
	• parallel-query – disabled		
	• passive-query – enabled		
	• retry – 3		
	• single-response – enabled		
	• timeout – 1		
	• trans-ptr – disabled		
	• ttl – not set		
Mode	Configuration mode		



slb virtual-server

Description		Configure the virtual serv DNS queries.	ver for the DNS proxy, to which clients will send
Syntax		[no] slb virtual	-server name {ipaddr ipv6-addr}
		This command creates th level for the virtual serve	e server and changes the CLI to the configuration r, where the following commands are available.
	Note:	The other configuration DNS64 / NAT64.	on commands at this level are not applicable to
		Command	Description
		<pre>[no] access- list name acl- name source-nat-pool {pool-name pool-group- name}</pre>	Binds the virtual port to an IPv6 ACL and IPv6 source NAT pool.
		[no] port	
		dns-udp	Specifies the UDP port number and the port type, dns-udp .
			This command changes the CLI to the configura- tion level for the port, where the following com- mands are available.
		[no]	
		group-name	Binds the virtual port to the service group.
		<pre>[no] source-nat pool {pool-name pool-group- name}</pre>	Binds the virtual port to an IP address pool or pool group.
		[no] template	
		name	Binds the virtual port to the DNS template con- taining the DNS64 settings. (See <u>"slb template</u> <u>dns" on page 521</u> .)



[no] template policy template-name

Binds the virtual port to a policy template, if applicable. (See <u>"slb template policy" on page 537</u>.)

Default

None

Mode

Configuration mode

NAT64 Configuration Commands

This section describes the NAT64 configuration commands.

class-list (for NAT64)

Description	Configure a class list tha perform an override action applied instead of the con-	Configure a class list that specifies IPv6 addresses or prefixes on which to perform an override action. For matching entries, the override action is applied instead of the configured NAT64 action.	
Syntax	[no] class-list	{list-name filename file }	
	Parameter	Description	
	list-name	Adds the list to the running-config.	
	filename file	Saves the list to a standalone file on the AX device.	
Note	A class list can be exp	orted only if you use the file option.	
	This command changes class list, where the follo	This command changes the CLI to the configuration level for the specified class list, where the following command is available.	
Note	The other configuration DNS64 / NAT64.	on commands at this level are not applicable to	



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference

	NAT04 Configuration Commanus
Command [no] ipv6-addr/ prefix {glid lid	Description
<pre>lsn-lid num</pre>	Adds an entry to the class list.
	<i>ipv6-addr/prefix</i> – Specifies an IPv6 address or prefix on which to perform an override action
	{ glid lid } <i>num</i> – Specifies a Global Limit ID (GLID) or a Limit ID (LID) configured in a policy template. These options apply only to NAT64 override.
	lsn-lid <i>num</i> – Specifies the LID that refers to the NAT pool (or group of pools) containing the IPv4 address(es) to use for NATting traffic from IPv6 clients to IPv4 servers.
None	
Configuration mode	
If you plan to use a GLII you plan to use a polic page 537.	D, see <u>"glid (for NAT64 override)" on page 529</u> . If y template instead, see <u>"slb template policy" on</u>

ip nat outside

Default

Mode

Usage

Description	Enable IPv4 outside NAT on the interface connected to the IPv4 Internet.
Syntax	[no] ip nat outside
Default	Disabled
Mode	Interface configuration level





ipv6 nat inside

Description	Enable IPv6 inside NAT on the interface connected to the IPv6 clients.		
Syntax	[no] ipv6 nat inside		
Default	Disabled		
Mode	Interface configuration level		
ip nat pool (for	NAT64)		
Description	Configure a NAT pool containing the IPv4 address(es) to use for NATting traffic from IPv6 clients to IPv4 servers.		
Syntax	[no] ip nat poo start-ipaddr end netmask {subnet	l pool-name d-ipaddr -mask /mask-length} lsn	
	Parameter	Description	
	pool-name	Name of the address pool.	
	start-ipaddr	Beginning (lowest) IP address in the range.	
	end-ipaddr	Ending (highest) IP address in the range.	
	netmask {subnet-mask /mask-length}	Network mask for the IP addresses in the pool.	
	gateway ipaddr	Default gateway to use for NATted traffic.	
	ha-group-id group-id [ha-use-all- ports]	HA group ID, 1-31.	
		The ha-use-all-ports option disables division of the pool's ports between AX devices. Without this option, the AX device automatically allo- cates half of each pool address's ports to one of the AX devices and allocates the other half of the ports to the other AX device. (See "Usage" in <u>"ip</u> <u>nat pool (for DNS64)" on page 513</u> .)	
	lsn	Indicates that the pool is for NAT64. This option is required.	



Default None Mode Configuration mode ip nat pool-group (for NAT64) Description Configure a set of IP pools for use by NAT. Pool groups enable you to use non-contiguous IP address ranges, by combining multiple IP address pools. Syntax [no] ip nat pool-group pool-group-name [ha-group-id group-id] Parameter Description pool-group-name Name of the pool group. ha-group-id group-id HA group ID, 1-31. This command changes the CLI to the configuration level for the specified pool group, where the following command is available. (The other commands are common to all CLI configuration levels. See "Config Commands: Global" on page 79.) Parameter Description member Name of a configured IP address pool. pool-name Default None Mode Configuration mode Usage For usage information, see "ip nat pool-group (for DNS64)" on page 515. The information in that section also applies here.

glid (for NAT64 override)

Description		Configure a GLID to specify a NAT64 override action.	
	Note:	This command applies only for configuring NAT64 override actions. To configure the LID for regular NAT64, see <u>"lsn-lid" on page 530</u> .	
Syntax		[no] glid num	





530 of 804

AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference NAT64 Configuration Commands

		Parameter	Description
		num	Specifies the GLID number, 1-1023.
		This command changes the CLI to the configuration level for the spec GLID, where the following command is available. The other configuration commands at this level are not applicable DNS64 / NAT64.	
N	lote:		
		Command	Description
		<pre>[no] dns64 { disable prefix ipv6- addr/nn exclusive- answer }</pre>	Specifies the override action: disable – Does not perform DNS64 process- ing on the client's DNS request. The client's request is forwarded to the DNS server, and the reply is sent to client without modification. prefix <i>ipv6-addr/nn</i> – Uses a different NAT64 prefix to synthesize IPv6 addresses in the reply to the client. You can use this option to load balance NAT64 service across multiple AX devices. exclusive-answer – Drops AAAA replies that contain specific IPv6 addresses or prefixes. In this case, the AX device sends an A query on behalf of the client, then uses DNS64 to add syn- thesized IPv6 addresses in the reply before send- ing the reply to the client
Default		None	
Mode		Configuration mode	
Isn-Iid			
Description		Configure a Limit ID (LID) for NAT64. This LID will refer to the NAT pool (or group of pools) containing the IPv4 address(es) to use for NATting traffic from IPv6 clients to IPv4 servers.	

Customer Driven Innovation Document No.: D-030-01-00-0003 - Ver. 2.6.6-GR1 5/8/2013

		AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference	
Networks			NAT64 Configuration Commands
	Note:	This command is not a NAT64 override action ride, see <u>"glid (for NA" icy" on page 537</u> .	applicable to GLIDs or LIDs used for configuring s. To configure a GLID or LID for NAT64 over- T64 override)" on page 529 or <u>"slb template pol-</u>
Syntax		[no] lsn-lid num	
		Parameter	Description
		num	Specifies the LID number, 1-31.
		This command changes the LID, where the following	he CLI to the configuration level for the specified command is available.
	Note:	The other configuration commands at this level are not applicable DNS64 / NAT64.	
		Command	Description
		[no] source-nat-pool pool-name	Binds an IPv4 NAT pool to the LID.
		[no] user- quota-prefix- length mask- length	Assign a user quota to all users of a specific IPv6 prefix.
Default		None	
Mode		Configuration mode	
nat64 alg			
Description		Enable or disable Application Level Gateway (ALG) support.	
Syntax		<pre>[no] nat64 alg {ftp [options] rtsp sip tftp} {disable enable}</pre>	
		Parameter	Description
		<pre>ftp [options]</pre>	Enables or disables NAT64 ALG support for File Transfer Protocol (FTP). The options enable or disable command translation for compatibility with old FTP servers. NAT64 FTP ALG supports the following command translations:

-1	AXS	Series - Command Line Interface Reference
Networks		NAT64 Configuration Commands
		trans-eprt-to-port - EPRT (RFC 2428) to PORT
		trans-epsv-to-pasv – EPSV (RFC 2428) to PASV
		trans-lprt-to-port - LPRT (RFC 1639) to PORT
		trans-lpsv-to-pasv – LPSV (RFC 1639) to PASV
	rtsp	Enables or disables NAT64 ALG support for Real Time Streaming Protocol (RTSP).
	sip	Enables or disables NAT64 ALG support for Session Initiation Protocol (SIP).
	tftp	Enables or disables NAT64 ALG support for Trivial File Transfer Protocol (TFTP).
	disable enable	Specifies whether to disable or enable ALG support.
Default	ALG support for FT options are enabled disabled by default.	P is enabled by default, and all the command translation by default. ALG support for RTSP, SIP, and TFTP is
Mode	Configuration mode	

nat64 fragmentation df-bit-transparency

Description	Enable or disable insertion of headers that have the more-fragments bit set to zero, and that have the fragmentation-offset set to zero.
Syntax	nat64 fragmentation df-bit-transparency {disable enable}
Default	Insertion of headers that have the more-fragments bit set to zero and the fragmentation-offset set to zero is disabled by default.
Mode	Configuration mode
Usage	This option applies to the IPv4-to-IPv6 traffic direction. When this option is enabled, headers are inserted when the IPv4 Don't Fragment bit is <i>not</i> set.



nat64 fragmentation inbound

Description	Configure fragmentation support for inbound packets.	
Syntax	<pre>[no] nat64 fragmentation inbound { df-set send-icmp [df-set] drop [df-set] ipv6 } Parameter Description</pre>	
	df-set send-icmp	Enables sending of ICMP unreachable messages for inbound fragmented packets, and disallows overriding the Don't Fragment bit.
	[df-set] drop	Drops inbound fragmented packets.
		The df-set option disallows override of the Don't Fragment bit.
	[df-set] ipv6	Enables fragmentation support for inbound IPv6 packets.
		The df-set option disallows override of the Don't Fragment bit.
Default	The following options are enabled by default:	
• ipv6		
	• df-set send-icmp	
Mode	Configuration mode	
nat64 fragmenta	ation outboun	d
Description	Configure fragmentation support for outbound packets.	
Syntax	[no] nat64 fragmentation outbound	

{ drop | ipv4 | send-icmpv6 }





AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference NAT64 Configuration Commands

	Parameter	Description
	drop	Drops outbound fragmented packets.
	ipv4	Allows fragmentation of outbound IPv4 packets.
	send-icmpv6	Enables sending of ICMPv6 unreachable mes- sages for outbound IPv6 fragmented packets, and disallows overriding the Don't Fragment bit.
Default	ipv4	
Mode	Configuration mode	
nat64 icmp		
Description	Send ICMP Destination Uports available for NAT r	Unreachable messages when there are no protocol nappings, or when a a user quota is exceeded.
Syntax	<pre>[no] nat64 icmp {send-on-port-un send-on-user-quo { admin-filtered disable enable host-unreachable }</pre>	available ota-exceeded}
	Parameter	Description
	send-on-port- unavailable	Sends ICMP Destination Unreachable message when there are no protocol ports available for NAT mappings.
	send-on-user- quota-exceeded	Sends ICMP Destination Unreachable message when a a user quota is exceeded.
	admin-filtered	Sends code type 3, code 13, administratively fil- tered.
	disable	Disable ICMP Unreachable messages for the specified event.
	enable	Enables ICMP Unreachable messages for the specified event.

All Networks	5

	host- unreachable	Sends code type 3, code 1 for IPv4, and type 1 code 3 for IPv6.
Default	The default for send-on-j on-user-quota-exceeded	port-unavailable is disable . The default for send - is admin-filtered .
Mode	Configuration mode	

nat64 inside

Description	Bind a class list to the NAT64 feature.
Syntax	[no] nat64 inside source class-list list-name
Default	None
Mode	Configuration mode
Usage	To configure the class list, see <u>"class-list (for NAT64)" on page 526</u> .

nat64 prefix

nat64 tcp mss-clamp

Description	Configure TCP max checks the TCP MS changes it before se	Configure TCP maximum segment size (MSS) clamping. MSS clamping checks the TCP MSS value in IPv4 packets clients and, if necessary, changes it before sending the NATted request to the server.		
Syntax	[no] nat64 to $\{none \mid fixed\}$	[no] nat64 tcp mss-clamp {none fixed n subtract s [min n]}		
	Parameter	Description		
	none	Does not change the MSS value.		
	fixed n	Changes the MSS to the length you specify.		
	subtract s			
	[min <i>n</i>]	Reduces the MSS if it is longer than the specified number of bytes. This option sets the MSS based on the following calculations:		

-1	AX Series - Command Line Interface Refere	
Aleworks		NAT64 Configuration Commands
		- If MSS minus S is greater than N , subtract S from the MSS.
		- If MSS minus S is less than or equal to N , set the MSS to N .
		The subtract method of MSS clamping is used by default, with the following values:
		S = 20 bytes
		N = 476 bytes
		Using these values, the default MSS clamping calculations are as follows:
		 If MSS minus 20 is greater than 476, subtract 20 from the MSS.
		– If MSS minus 20 is less than or equal to 476, set the MSS to 476.
Default	The subtract option is	used by default. See above.
Mode	Configuration mode	
nat64 tcp res	et-on-error	
Description	Send TCP resets to clie inside network.	nts in response to invalid TCP packets from the

Syntax [no] nat64 tcp reset-on-error outbound {enable | disable}

Default Enabled

Mode Configuration mode

nat64 user-quota-prefix-length

Description	Assign a user quota to all users of a specific NAT64 prefix.			
Syntax	[no] nat64 use	[no] nat64 user-quota-prefix-length mask-length		
	Parameter	Description		
	mask-length	Prefix length, 1-128.		
Default	128			
536 of 804	Document N	Customer Driven Innovation lo.: D-030-01-00-0003 - Ver. 2.6.6-GR1 5/8/2013		

/	2
AID	Networks

Mode	Configuration mode
Introduced in Release	2.6.6-P4
Usage	You can apply a user quota prefix length on a global level or per LSN LID basis. The user quota prefix length set for an LSN LID overrides the global configuration value.
	If the user quota prefix length is broader than the subnet to which the LSN LID is bound, the user quota may not be enforced
	For the command show nat64 user-quota-sessions , if a user quota prefix length is configured, only the prefix quota is displayed. If the prefix quota is

not set, only the user quota session is displayed.

slb template policy

Description		Configure a policy template, to override the configured NAT64 behavior for specific IPv6 addresses or prefixes.		
Syntax		[no] slb templat	e policy template-name	
		This command changes the class list, where the follow	he CLI to the configuration level for the specified wing commands are available.	
	Note:	The other configuratio DNS64 / NAT64.	n commands at this level are not applicable to	
		Command	Description	
		<pre>[no] class-list client-ip {13-dest 17-header [L7-header- name]}</pre>	Extract the client's IP address from the Layer 7 header.	
			13-dest – Use the destination IP as the client's IP address.	
			17-header [<i>L</i> 7- <i>header</i> - <i>name</i>] – Name of the Layer 7 header.	
		[no] class-list name list-name	Specifies the class list.	



[no] class-list lid num	Configure a LID within the class list. This com- mand changes the CLI to the configuration level for the LID, where the following command is available.
	<pre>[no] dns64 { disable prefix ipv6-addr/nn exclusive-answer }</pre>
	This command specifies the override action for IPv6 addresses that match the class list.
	disable – Does not perform DNS64 process- ing on the client's DNS request. The client's request is forwarded to the DNS server, and the reply is sent to client without modification.
	prefix <i>ipv6-addr/nn</i> – Uses a different NAT64 prefix to synthesize IPv6 addresses in the reply to the client. You can use this option to load balance NAT64 service across multiple AX devices.
	exclusive-answer – Drops AAAA replies that contain specific IPv6 addresses or prefixes. In this case, the AX device sends an A query on behalf of the client, then uses DNS64 to add synthesized IPv6 addresses in the reply before sending the reply to the client.
lone	

Default

None

Mode

Configuration mode



DNS64 / NAT64 Show Commands

DNS64 / NAT64 Show Commands

This section describes the show commands for NAT64 / DNS64.

show dns64 statistics

Description		Show statistics or DNS64.				
Syntax		show dns64 statistics				
Mode		Privileged EXEC and all configuration levels				
Usage		The following command shows DNS64 statistics:				
AX#show dns	s64 statisti	.cs				
DNS Service	e Type: dns6	54				
Query	Q-Parallel	Q-Passive	Q-Changed	Q-Bad		
Response	Translated	Cache	Dropped	R-Bad	R-Error	R-Empty
0	0	0	0	0		
0	0	0	0	0	0	0

Table 14 describes the fields in the command's output.

Field	Description
Query	Number of queries received from clients.
Response	Number of responses received from the DNS server.
	Note: The AX can send multiple queries to the server for a single query from a client. In this case, the Query counter will increment by only 1 for the client's request, while the Response counter will increment by 1 for each response to each individual query sent by the AX device to the DNS server. For example, a single client query can result in an increment of 1 for Query and an increment of 2 for Response.
Q-Parallel	Number of parallel queries sent out by the AX device.
Translated	Number of A responses translated by DNS64 into AAAA responses.
Q-Passive	Number of times DNS64 sent an A query to the DNS server, because the server sent an empty response or error in response to a AAAA query.
Cache	Number of times a AAAA reply was sent from the DNS64 cache.

TABLE 14show dns64 statistics fields



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference DNS64 / NAT64 Show Commands

Field	Description
Q-Changed	When the change-query option is enabled in the DNS tem- plate, this counter indicates the number of AAAA queries
	converted into A queries by DNS64.
Dropped	When the passive-query option is disabled in the DNS tem- plate, this counter indicates the number of empty responses or errors received from the DNS server.
Q-Bad	Number of bad (malformed) query packets received on the DNS virtual port.
R-Bad	Number of bad (malformed) response packets sent to the DNS server.
R-Error	Number of DNS server responses with errors.
R-Empty	Number of empty responses from the DNS server.

TABLE 14	show dns64 statistics fields	(Continued)
		(Continuada)

show nat64 alg

Description	Show Application Level Gateway (ALG) information for NAT64.		
Syntax	show nat64 alg {ftp $ $ rtsp $ $ sip $ $ tftp} config		
	Parameter	Description	
	ftp	Shows whether NAT64 ALG support for File Transfer Protocol (TFTP) is enabled.	
	rtsp	Shows whether NAT64 ALG support for Real Time Streaming Protocol (RTSP) is enabled.	
	sip	Shows whether NAT64 ALG support for Session Initiation Protocol (RTSP) is enabled.	
	tftp	Shows whether NAT64 ALG support for Trivial File Transfer Protocol (TFTP) is enabled.	
Mode	All		
Usage	The following command shows the NAT64 ALG state for RTSP:		
AX#show nat64 alg rtsp	config		
NAT64 RTSP ALG is disabled on TCP port 554			



show nat64 conversion

Description	Show the IPv4 version of an IPv6 address or the IPv6 version of an IPv4 address.	
Syntax	<pre>show nat64 conversion {ipv4-addr ipv6-addr} prefix NAT64-prefix</pre>	
	Parameter	Description
	ipv4-addr ipv6-addr	Specifies the IP address to convert.
		ipv4-addr – To display the IPv6 version of an IPv4 address, enter the IPv4 address.
		ipv6-addr – To display the IPv4 version of an IPv6 address, enter the IPv4 address.
	prefix NAT64-prefix	Specifies the NAT64 prefix to use for the conversion.
Mode	All	
Example	The following command shows the IPv4 version of IPv6 address 64:ff9b::c0a8:10a, using the well-known NAT64 prefix (64:ff9b::/96):	
AX# show nat64 conversion Prefix: 64:ff9b::/96 IPv6: 64:ff9b::c0a8:10a IPv4: 192.168.1.10	64:ff9b::c0a8:10a pref	Eix 64:ff9b::/96

show nat64 full-cone-sessions

Description	Show currently active NAT64 full-cone sessions.		
Syntax	<pre>show nat64 full-cone-sessions [brief] [pool pool-name]</pre>		
	Parameter	Description	
	brief	Displays only session statistics.	
	pool pool-name	Displays only the full-cone sessions that use public IP address from the specified NAT pool.	

а


Mode

All

Table 15 describes the fields in this command's output.

TABLE 15 show nat64 full-cone-sessions file

Field	Description
Information for I	ndividual Sessions:
NAT Address	Public IPv4 or IPv6 address mapped to the client's private
	IPv6 address.
Conns	Number of connections currently using the session.
Pool	NAT pool from which the public IP address was assigned.
CPU	AX CPU on which the session resides.
Age	Number of seconds the session has been in effect.
Statistics (brief op	otion)
NAT64 TCP	Number of TCP full-cone sessions created.
Full-cone	
Session Created	
NAT64 TCP	Number of TCP full-cone sessions freed.
Full-cone	
Session Freed	
NAT64 UDP	Number of UDP full-cone sessions created.
Full-cone	
Session Created	
NAT64 UDP	Number of UDP full-cone sessions freed.
Full-cone	
Session Freed	
NAT64	Number of times an attempt to create a NAT64 full-cone ses-
Full-cone	sion failed.
Session Creation	
Failed	

show nat64 inside-user

Description	Show session information for a specific NAT64 inside client.		
Syntax	show nat64 in	n side-user ipv6addr	
	Parameter	Description	
	ipv6addr	Specifies the inside IPv6 address of the user.	
Mode	All		



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference

DNS64 / NAT64 Show Commands

Exar	nple		The follor 2001:10::	wing command sho 100:	ows sessior	n inform	nation f	or NA	T64 u	Iser	
AX# sh	now nat64	inside-user 2	001:10::10	0							
NAT64	User-Qu	ota Sessions:									
Insid	le IPv6			NAT Address	ICMP	UDP	TCP	Pool			LID
2001:	10::100			172.7.7.30	0	2	2	ls	n0		1
Total	. User-Qu	ota Sessions S	hown: 1								
NAT64	Full Co	one Sessions:				עעע	1 Addwo			Com	
Prot	Inside I	CPU Age				INAI	Addre	55		COIII	.15
UDP	[2001:10	::100]:26635				172	2.7.7.3	0:419	95	1	
lsn0		1 -									
UDP	[2001:10	::100]:64284				172	2.7.7.3	0:481	56	1	
lsn0	[0 0 0 1 . 1 0	4 -				1		0. 500		1	
TCP	[2001:10	1::100]:32063				172	2.7.7.3	0:502	39	Ţ	
TSHU	[2001.10	⊥ - 1001.32062				173		0.256	62	1	
lsn0	[2001.10	2 -				1/2		0.200	02	Ŧ	
Total	. Full Co	one Sessions: 4	:								
NATE/	Data Sc	agiong:									
Prot	IP Type	IP Address an	d Port					Age	Hash	Flags	
Тср	Fwd Src	[2001:10::100]:32063					0	1	NS	
	Fwd Dst	[64:ff9b::ac0	7:764]:80								
	Rev Src	172.7.7.100:8	0								
	Rev Dst	172.7.7.30:50	239								
Udp	Fwd Src	[2001:10::100]:26635					300	1	NS	
	Fwd Dst	[64:ff9b::ac0	7:764]:530	0							
	Rev Src	172.7.7.100:5	300								
	Rev Dst	172.7.7.30:41	.995								
Тср	Fwd Src	[2001:10::100]:32062					0	2	NS	
-	Fwd Dst	[64:ff9b::ac0	7:764]:80								
	Rev Src	172.7.7.100:8	0								
	Rev Dst	172.7.7.30:25	662								
Udp	Fwd Src	[2001:10::100]:64284					300	4	NS	
-	Fwd Dst	[64:ff9b::ac0	7:764]:530	0							
	Rev Src	172.7.7.100:5	300								
	Rev Dst	172.7.7.30:48	156								





<u>Table 16</u> describes the fields in the command's output.

Field	Description
NAT64 User-Quota	Lists the following user-quota session information for the user:
Sessions	• Inside IPv6 – IPv6 address of the client
	• NAT Address – Client IPv4 NAT address from the LSN pool on the AX device
	• ICMP – Number of ICMP sessions from the quota that are in use
	• UDP – Number of UDP sessions from the quota that are in use
	• TCP – Number of TCP sessions from the quota that are in use
	• Pool – LSN NAT pool from which the NAT address for the session was selected
	• LID – Limit ID (LID) in which the user quota is config- ured
NAT64 Full-Cone	Lists the following information for the user's full-cone session:
Sessions	• Prot – Protocol of the session
	• Inside IPv6 – IPv6 address and protocol port of the client
	• NAT Address – Client IPv4 NAT address from the LSN pool on the AX device
	• Conns – Number of connections currently using the session
	• Pool – LSN NAT pool from which the NAT address for the session was selected
	• CPU – AX CPU on which the session resides
	• Age – Number of seconds the session has been in effect

TABLE 16 show nat64 inside-user fields



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference DNS64 / NAT64 Show Commands

Field	Description
NAT64 Data	Lists the following data session information for the user:
Sessions	• Prot – Protocol of the session
	• IP Type – Role of the IP address in the session:
	• Fwd Src – IPv6 address and protocol port of the client
	 Fwd Dst – Synthetic IPv6 address and protocol port of the server
	• Rev Src – IPv4 address and protocol port of the server
	• Rev Dst – Client IPv4 NAT address from the LSN pool on the AX device
	• IP Address and Port – IP addresses and protocol ports of the session
	• Age – Number of seconds the session has been in effect
	• Hash – Hash value for the session
	• Flags – This value is used by A10 Technical Support.

TABLE 16	show nat64 inside-user fields ((Continued)
----------	---------------------------------	-------------

show nat64 prefixes

Description	Show the IPv6 prefixes configured for NAT64.
Syntax	show nat64 prefixes
Mode	All
Introduced in Release	2.6.6-P4

show nat64 statistics

Description S	Show statistics for NAT64.
---------------	----------------------------

Syntax	show	nat64	statistics

Mode All





<u>Table 17</u> describes the fields in this command's output.

Field	Description
Field	Description
Total TCP Ports	Total number of TCP ports allocated for user sessions.
Allocated	
Total TCP Ports	Total number of TCP ports freed for use by other sessions.
Freed	
Total UDP Ports	Total number of UDP ports allocated for user sessions.
Allocated	
Total UDP Ports	Total number of UDP ports freed for use by other sessions.
Freed	
Total ICMP	Total number of ICMP ports allocated for user sessions.
Ports Allocated	
Total ICMP	Total number of ICMP ports freed for use by other sessions.
Ports Freed	
Data Session	Total number of data sessions created.
Created	
Data Session	Total number of data sessions freed.
Freed	
User-Quota	Number of port mappings created for which the user quota
Created	had available mappings.
User-Quota	Number of port mappings that were created for which the
Freed	user quota had available mappings, that were later freed.
User-Quota	Number of times creation of a port mapping was unsuccess-
Creation Failed	ful because the user quota had no free mappings.
TCP NAT Port	Number of times a TCP port for an LSN NAT session was
Unavailable	unavailable.
UDP NAT Port	Number of times a UDP port for an LSN NAT session was
Unavailable	unavailable.
ICMP NAT Port	Number of times an ICMP port for an LSN NAT session was
Unavailable	unavailable.
New User NAT	Number of times LSN resources (ICMP, TCP, or UDP) were
Resource	not available for a new user.
Unavailable	
TCP User-Quota	Number of times the TCP quota for a user was exceeded.
Exceeded	
UDP User-Quota	Number of times the UDP quota for a user was exceeded.
Exceeded	
ICMP	Number of times the ICMP quota for a user was exceeded.
User-Quota	
Exceeded	
Extended	Number of times the extended user quota was used to create
User-Quota	a mapping.
Matched	

TABLE 17	show nat64 statistics fields
----------	------------------------------



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference DNS64 / NAT64 Show Commands

Field	Description		
Extended User-Quota Exceeded	Number of times a NAT port was unavailable to a client because the client had exceeded the extended user quota.		
Data Session User-Quota Exceeded	Number of times a client exceeded their data session quota.		
TCP Full-cone Session Created	Total number of LSN TCP full-cone sessions created.		
TCP Full-cone Session Freed	Total number of LSN TCP full-cone sessions freed.		
UDP Full-cone Session Created	Total number of LSN UDP full-cone sessions created.		
UDP Full-cone Session Freed	Total number of LSN UDP full-cone sessions freed.		
Full-cone Session Creation Failed	Number of times creation of a full-cone session failed.		
Hairpin Session Created	Total number of LSN hairpin sessions created.		
Self-Hairpin- ning Drop	Number of hairpin sessions dropped because the source and destination client were the same.		
Endpoint- Independent Mapping Matched	Number of times LSN reused the LSN mapping assigned to a client for subsequent traffic for that client. (This is the bene- fit provided by Endpoint independent mapping.)		
Endpoint- Independent Filtering Matched	Number of times traffic from any source to a given mapped client was forwarded to the internal client, regardless of the endpoint. (This is the benefit provided by Endpoint indepen- dent filtering.)		
Endpoint- Dependent Filtering Drop	Number of times traffic to a mapped client was dropped because endpoint-independent filtering was not enabled, and the traffic was not from the endpoint mapped to the client.		
Endpoint- Independent Filtering Inbound Limit Exceeded	Number of times the maximum number of Endpoint-Inde- pendent Filtering (EIF) sessions allowed for a NAT mapping was exceeded.		
NAT Pool Mismatch Drop	Number of times traffic was dropped because matching traf- fic for a current full-cone session or user-quota session uses a different pool or pool group than the one redirected to by the rule list.		
TCP Port Overloaded	Number of times a TCP port on a NAT address was assigned to a new client while another client was still using the map- ping.		
	apply only if port overloading is configured.		

TABLE 17	show nat64 statistics	fields (Continued)
----------	-----------------------	--------------------





AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference DNS64 / NAT64 Show Commands

Field	Description
UDP Port	Number of times a UDP port on a NAT address was assigned
Overloaded	to a new client while another client was still using the map- ping.
TCP Port	Number of times a session on an overloaded TCP port was
Overloading	created.
Session Created	
UDP Port	Number of times a session on an overloaded UDP port was
Overloading	created.
Session Created	
TCP Port	Number of times a session created on an overloaded TCP
Overloading	port was freed.
Session Freed	
UDP Port	Number of times a session created on an overloaded UDP
Overloading	port was freed.
Session Freed	
Layer 3	Number of packets forwarded at Layer 3 because the IPv6
Forwarded	destination address did not match the NAT64 prefix.
Packets	
Source Address	Number of times incoming traffic matched the NAT64 pre-
Prefix Match	fix, but was dropped because it matched the drop action in
Drop	the LSN-LID.
LSN LID Drop	Number of times traffic matched the drop action in the LSN
	LID, and was dropped.
LSN LID	Number of times traffic matched the pass-through action in
Pass-through	the LSN LID, and was passed through without being NAT-
	ted.
No Class-List	Number of times traffic did not match the LSN class list.
Match	

TABLE 17 show nat64 statistics fields (Continued)

show nat64 user-quota-sessions

Description

Show NAT64 user-quota session information.

Syntax

show nat64 user-quota-sessions
[brief]
[pool pool-name]
[prefix ipv6addr/prefix-length]
[top num {all | icmp | tcp | udp}]

Parameter

Description

brief



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference

DNS64 / NAT64 Show Commands

pool pool-name	Displays session information only for the speci- fied NAT pool.	
prefix ipv6addr/		
prefix-length	Displays session information only for the speci- fied IPv6 address(es).	
top num type	Limits the display to the sessions with the highest counters for the specified resource type. You can specify 1-100.	
	The resource type can be one of the following:	
	all – Displays the sessions with the highest counters for all resource types (ICMP, TCP, and UDP).	
	icmp – Displays the sessions with the highest counters for ICMP.	
	tcp – Displays the sessions with the highest counters for TCP.	
	udp – Displays the sessions with the highest counters for UDP.	

Mode

All

Table 18 describes the fields in the command's output.

Field	Description		
Information for Individual Sessions:			
Inside IPv6	Inside IP address of the client.		
Prefix NAT	Public IP address assigned to the client.		
Address			
ICMP	Number of ICMP sessions from the quota that are in use.		
UDP	Number of UDP sessions from the quota that are in use.		
ТСР	Number of TCP sessions from the quota that are in use.		
Session Pool	Name of the pool from which the public address for the ses-		
	sion was selected.		
LID	Limit ID (LID) in which the user quota is configured.		
Statistics (brief option)			
NAT64 User-	Number of port mappings created for which the user quota		
Quota Created	had available mappings.		
NAT64 User-	Number of port mappings that were created for which the		
Quota Freed	user quota had available mappings, that were later freed.		

TABLE 18 show nat64 user-quota-sessions fields



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference DNS64 / NAT64 Show Commands

Field	Description
NAT64 User-	Number of times creation of a port mapping was unsuccess-
Quota Creation	ful because the user quota had no free mappings.
Failed	
NAT64 TCP	Number of times the TCP quota for a user was exceeded.
User-Quota	
Exceeded	
NAT64 UDP	Number of times the UDP quota for a user was exceeded.
User-Quota	
Exceeded	
NAT64 ICMP	Number of times the ICMP quota for a user was exceeded.
User-Quota	
Exceeded	
NAT64 Extended	Number of times the extended user quota was used to create
User-Quota	a mapping.
Matched	
NAT64 Extended	Number of times a NAT port was unavailable to a client
User-Quota	because the client had exceeded the extended user quota.
Exceeded	
NAT64 Data	Number of times a client exceeded their data session quota.
Session	
User-Quota	
Exceeded	

TABLE 18 show nat64 user-quota-sessions fields (Continued)



DS-Lite Configuration Commands

Config Commands: DS-Lite

The commands in this chapter configure global settings for Dual-Stack Lite (DS-Lite). DS-Lite enables the AX device to act as an end-point for IPv4 traffic tunneled through an IPv6 link.

This CLI level also has the following commands, which are available at all configuration levels:

- **backup** See <u>"backup system" on page 50</u> and <u>"backup log" on page 48</u>.
- clear See <u>"clear" on page 59</u>.
- debug See <u>"debug" on page 64</u>.
- **do** See <u>"do" on page 117</u>.
- end See <u>"end" on page 123</u>.
- exit See <u>"exit" on page 124</u>.
- **no** See <u>"no" on page 155</u>.
- show See <u>"Show Commands" on page 689</u>.
- write See <u>"write terminal" on page 78</u>.

DS-Lite Configuration Commands

This section describes the DS-Lite configuration commands.

class-list (for DS-Lite)

Description	Configure an IP class list for use with Dual-Stack Lite (DS-Lite).	
Syntax	[no] class-list	{list-name filename file }
	Parameter	Description
	list-name	Adds the list to the running-config.
	filename file	Saves the list to a file.

This command changes the CLI to the configuration level for the specified class list, where the following commands are available.



	Note:	The other configuration commands at this level are not applicable to DS-Lite.	
		Command	Description
		[no] <i>ip</i> v6-addr/ prefix-length	
		lsn-lid num	Adds an entry to the class list.
			<i>ipv6-addr/prefix-length</i> – Specifies the range of client IPv6 addresses on which to match. These are the IPv6 addresses of the cus- tomer DS-Lite routers.
			lsn-lid <i>num</i> – Specifies the LID number.
Default		None	
Mode		Configuration mode	
Usage		Configure the DS-Lite LIDs before configuring the class-list entries. To configure an LID for DS-Lite, see <u>"lsn-lid" on page 147</u> .	
		As an alternative to configure the class list usic class list onto the AX of page 69.	figuring class entries on the AX device, you can ing a text editor on another device, then import the device. To import a class list, see <u>"import" on</u>
		For more information abo the AX Series IPv4-to-IPv	but DS-Lite, see the "Dual-Stack Lite" chapter in the <i>Transition Solutions Guide</i> .
ds-lite alg			
Description		Configure Application Level Gateway (ALG) support for DS-Lite.	
Syntax		[no] ds-lite alg {ftp pptp rtsp sip tftp} {enable disable}	
		Parameter	Description
		ftp pptp rtsp sip tftp	Specifies the protocol for which to disable or enable ALG support:
			ftp – File Transfer Protocol
			pptp – Point-to-Point Tunnelling Protocol

-2	AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference
AlgNetworks	DS-Lite Configuration Commands
	rtsp – Real Time Streaming Protocol
	sip – Session Initiation Protocol
	tftp – Trivial File Transfer Protocol
Default	ALG support for FTP is enabled by default. ALG support for the other pro- tocols is disabled by default.
Mode	Configuration mode

ds-lite fragmentation inbound

Description	Configure fragmentation support for inbound packets.	
Syntax	<pre>[no] ds-lite fragmentation inbound { df-set send-icmp [df-set] drop [df-set] ipv4 [df-set] ipv6 }</pre>	
	Parameter	Description
	df-set send-icmp	Enables sending of ICMP unreachable messages for inbound fragmented packets, and disallows overriding the Don't Fragment bit.
	[df-set] drop	Drops inbound fragmented packets.
		The df-set option disallows override of the Don't Fragment bit.
	[df-set] ipv4	Enables fragmentation support for inbound IPv4 packets.
		The df-set option disallows override of the Don't Fragment bit.
	[df-set] ipv6	Enables fragmentation support for inbound IPv6 packets.
		The df-set option disallows override of the Don't Fragment bit.
Default	By default, fragmentation for IPv6 tunnel packets is enabled but fragmenta-	

By default, fragmentation for IPv6 tunnel packets is enabled but fragmentation of IPv4 packets within the tunnel is disabled. Override of the Don't Fragment bit is enabled.



Mode

Configuration mode

ds-lite fragmentation outbound

Description	Configure fragmentation support for outbound packets.	
Syntax	<pre>[no] ds-lite fragmentation outbound { df-set send-icmp [df-set] drop [df-set] ipv4 [df-set] send-icmpv6 }</pre>	
	Parameter	Description
	df-set send-icmp	Enables sending of ICMP unreachable messages for outbound IPv4 fragmented packets, and disal- lows overriding the Don't Fragment bit.
	[df-set] drop	Drops outbound fragmented packets.
		The df-set option disallows override of the Don't Fragment bit.
	[df-set] ipv4	Enables fragmentation support for outbound IPv4 packets.
		The df-set option disallows override of the Don't Fragment bit.
	[df-set] send-icmpv6	Enables sending of ICMPv6 unreachable mes- sages for outbound IPv6 fragmented packets, and disallows overriding the Don't Fragment bit.
		The df-set option disallows override of the Don't Fragment bit.
Default	By default, fragmentation for IPv6 tunnel packets is enabled but fragmenta- tion of IPv4 packets within the tunnel is disabled. Override of the Don't Fragment bit is enabled.	
Mode	Configuration mode	



Description	Send ICMP Destination U ports available for NAT n	Unreachable messages when there are no protocol nappings, or when a a user quota is exceeded.
Syntax	<pre>[no] ds-lite icmp {send-on-port-unavailable send-on-user-quota-exceeded} { admin-filtered disable enable host-unreachable }</pre>	
	Parameter	Description
	send-on-port- unavailable	Sends ICMP Destination Unreachable message when there are no protocol ports available for NAT mappings.
	send-on-user-	
	quota-exceeded	Sends ICMP Destination Unreachable message when a a user quota is exceeded.
	admin-filtered	Sends code type 3, code 13, administratively fil- tered.
	disable	Disable ICMP Unreachable messages for the specified event.
	enable	Enables ICMP Unreachable messages for the specified event.
	host-	
	unreachable	Sends code type 3, code 1 for IPv4, and type 1 code 3 for IPv6.
Default	The default for send-on-j on-user-quota-exceeded	port-unavailable is disable. The default for send- is admin-filtered.
Mode	Configuration mode	





ds-lite inside source

Description	Bind a class list for use with DS-Lite.			
Syntax	[no] ds-lite i	.nside source class-list list-name		
	Parameter	Description		
	list-name	Specifies the class list.		
Default	None			
Mode	Configuration mode			
ip-checksum-e	rror			
Description	Configure handling of	IP checksum errors in DS-Lite tunneled IP traffic.		
Syntax	[no] ds-lite ip-checksum-error {fix drop}			
	Parameter	Description		
	fix	Fixes the checksum and forwards the traffic.		
	drop	Drops the traffic.		
Default	drop			
Mode	Configuration mode			
Usage	IP checksum handlin DS-Lite tunnel.	ng applies to IPv4 packets encapsulated within a		
	This command applied DS-Lite tunnel. The A invalid checksum.	es only to IP traffic that is encapsulated inside a AX device always drops other IPv4 traffic that has an		
Introduced in Release	2.6.6-P4			



I4-checksum-error

Configure handling of Layer 4 checksum errors in DS-Lite tunneled IP traf- fic.
[no] ds-lite 14-checksum-error {fix drop propagate}
propagate
Configuration mode
2.6.6-P4
Layer 4 checksum handling applies to TCP, UDP, and ICMP packets encap- sulated within a DS-Lite tunnel.
This command applies only to IP traffic that is encapsulated inside a DS-Lite tunnel. The AX device always drops other IPv4 traffic that has an invalid checksum.

ds-lite port-reservation

Description	Configure static mappings for a range of protocol ports for an IPv4 address				
Syntax	[no] ds-lite por <i>ipv6-tunnel-sour</i> <i>ipv4-inside-addr</i> <i>inside-end-port</i> nat <i>nat-ipaddr r</i>	<pre>[no] ds-lite port-reservation inside ipv6-tunnel-source ipv6-tunnel-destination ipv4-inside-addr inside-start-port inside-end-port nat nat-ipaddr nat-start-portnum nat-end-portnum</pre>			
	Parameter	Description			
	ipv6-tunnel- source	Inside client's tunnel source IPv6 address.			
	ipv6-tunnel- destination	Inside client's tunnel destination IPv6 address.			
	ipv4-inside- addr	Client IPv4 address.			
	inside-start- portnum	Beginning Layer 4 protocol port number in the port range to be mapped.			
	inside-end-port	Ending Layer 4 protocol port number in the port range to to be mapped.			



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference DS-Lite Configuration Commands

	nat nat-ipaddr	Public IPv4 address to map to the client IPv4 address.
	nat-start- portnum	Beginning Layer 4 protocol port number to map to the inside port range.
	nat-end-portnum	Ending Layer 4 protocol port number to map to the inside port range.
Default	None	
Mode	Configuration mode	

ds-lite tcp mss-clamp

Description	Configure TCP maximum segment size (MSS) clamping. MSS clamping checks the TCP MSS value in packets from IPv4 clients and, if necessary, changes it before sending the NATted request to the server.			
Syntax	<pre>[no] ds-lite tcp mss-clamp {none fixed n subtract s [min n]}</pre>			
	Parameter	Description		
	none	Does not change the MSS value.		
	fixed n	Changes the MSS to the length you specify.		
	subtract s			
	[min <i>n</i>]	Reduces the MSS if it is longer than the specified number of bytes. This option sets the MSS based on the following calculations:		
		– If MSS minus S is greater than N , subtract S from the MSS.		
		– If MSS minus <i>S</i> is less than or equal to <i>N</i> , set the MSS to <i>N</i> .		
		The subtract method of MSS clamping is used by default, with the following values:		
		S = 40 bytes		
		N = 416 bytes		

	AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference
Networks	DS-Lite Show Commands
	Using these values, the default MSS clamping calculations are as follows:
	 If MSS minus 40 is greater than 416, subtract 40 from the MSS.
	- If MSS minus 40 is less than or equal to 416, set the MSS to 416.
Default	The subtract option is used by default. See above.
Mode	Configuration mode
ds-lite tcp reset	-on-error
Description	Send TCP resets to DS-Lite clients in response to invalid TCP packets from the inside network.
Syntax	[no] ds-lite tcp reset-on-error outbound {enable disable}
Default	Enabled

Mode Configuration mode

DS-Lite Show Commands

This section describes the show commands for DS-Lite.

show ds-lite alg

Description	Show the current Application Level Gateway (ALG) configuration for DS-Lite.
Syntax	show ds-lite alg {ftp pptp rtsp sip tftp} config
Mode	All



show ds-lite full-cone-sessions

Description	Shows currently active full-cone sessions.			
Syntax	show ds-lite ful	l-cone-sessions [pool pool-name]		
	Parameter	Description		
	pool pool-name	Shows sessions only for the specified pool. If you omit this option, sessions for all pools are shown.		
Mode	All			
	Table 19 describes the fie	elds in this command's output.		

Field	Description
Information for I	ndividual Sessions:
Prot	Layer 4 protocol of the session.
Inside IPv6	Client DS-Lite router's IPv6 address.
Inside Address	Client's IPv4 address.
NAT Address	Global IPv4 address assigned to the client by the AX device for communicating with the IPv4 server.
Conns	Number of connections.
Pool	IP address pool from which the NAT address was assigned.
CPU	AX CPU on which the session resides.
Age	Number of seconds the session has been in effect.
Statistics (brief op	tion)
DS-Lite TCP	Number of TCP full-cone sessions created.
Full-cone	
Session Created	
DS-Lite TCP	Number of TCP full-cone sessions freed.
Full-cone	
Session Freed	
DS-Lite UDP	Number of UDP full-cone sessions created.
Full-cone	
Session Created	
DS-Lite UDP	Number of UDP full-cone sessions freed.
Full-cone	
Session Freed	
DS-Lite	Number of times an attempt to create a DS-Lite full-cone
Full-cone	session failed.
Session Creation	
Failed	

 TABLE 19
 show ds-lite full-cone-sessions fields



show ds-lite inside-user

Description	Show session information for a specific DS-Lite inside client.									
Syntax	show o	ds-lite	inside	e-user	ipve	addr				
	Paramet	er	De	escriptio	n					
	ipv6a	ddr	Sp	ecifies the	e insic	le IPv6 a	address	of the	e user.	
Mode	All									
Example	The follo 2001:10::	wing comm 100:	and show	ws session	info	rmation	for DS	-Lite	user	
AX# show ds-lite inside-user DS-Lite User-Quota Sessions	2001:10::: :	100		TOND	IIDD	20	Deel			
Inside IPv6		NAT Addre	:SS 	1CMP	UDP		P001			LID
2001:10::100 Total User-Quota Sessions Sh	nown: 1	172.7.7.	.30	0	2	2	lsı	n0		1
DS-Lite Full Cone Sessions: Prot Inside IPv6 Conns Pool CPU	Age		Ins	ide Addre	255	N	AT Addı	ress		
тср 2001:10::100			10.10.10	100:2650)4	172.7.1	7.30:27	656	0	
lsn0 2 120			10.10.11					000	Ū	
UDP 2001:10::100			10.10.10	0.100:4896	58	172.7.7	7.30:52	232	1	
UDP 2001:10::100			10.10.10	.100:5177	75	172.7.7	7.30:29	759	1	
TCP 2001:10::100			10.10.10	.100:2650)5	172.7.7	7.30:35	849	1	
Total Full Cone Sessions: 4										
DO Tito Data Gamianat										
Prot IP Type IP Address and	d Port						Age	Hash	Flags	
Tcp Fwd Src [2001:10::100] Fwd Dst [2001:10::1]1 Rev Src 172.7.7.100:80 Bou Dat 172.7.7.20:255]10.10.10.3 72.7.7.100	100:26505 :80					0	1	NS	
Udp Fwd Src [2001:10::100] Fwd Dst [2001:10::1]17 Rev Src 172.7.7.100:53]10.10.10. 72.7.7.100 300	100:51775 :5300					300	4	NS	
Rev Dst 172.7.7.30:29 Udp Fwd Src [2001:10::100] Fwd Dst [2001:10::1]1 Rev Src 172.7.7.100:53 Rev Dst 172.7.7.30:522	759]10.10.10. 72.7.7.100 300 232	100:48968 :5300					300	4	NS	



Table 20 describes the fields in the command's output.

Field	Description
DS-Lite User-Quota	Lists the following user-quota session information for the user:
Sessions	• Inside IPv6 – IPv6 address of the remote end of the tunnel
	• NAT Address – Client IPv4 NAT address from the LSN pool on the AX device
	• ICMP – Number of ICMP sessions from the quota that are in use
	• UDP – Number of UDP sessions from the quota that are in use
	• TCP – Number of TCP sessions from the quota that are in use
	• Pool – LSN NAT pool from which the NAT address for the session was selected
	• LID – Limit ID (LID) in which the user quota is config- ured
DS-Lite Full-Cone	Lists the following information for the user's full-cone session:
Sessions	• Prot – Protocol of the session
	• Inside IPv6 – IPv6 address of the remote end of the tunnel
	• Inside Address – IPv4 address and protocol port of the client
	 NAT Address – Client IPv4 NAT address from the LSN pool on the AX device
	• Conns – Number of connections currently using the session
	• Pool – LSN NAT pool from which the NAT address for the session was selected
	• CPU – AX CPU on which the session resides
	• Age – Number of seconds the session has been in effect

TABLE 20 show ds-lite inside-user fields



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference

DS-Lite Show Commands

Field	Description
DS-Lite Data	Lists the following data session information for the user:
Sessions	• Prot – Protocol of the session
	• IP Type – Role of the IP address in the session:
	• Fwd Src – IPv6 address of the remote end of the tunnel, and IPv4 address and protocol port of the client
	 Fwd Dst – IPv6 address of the tunnel interface on the AX device, and IPv4 address and protocol port of the server
	• Rev Src – IPv4 address and protocol port of the server
	• Rev Dst – Client IPv4 NAT address from the LSN pool on the AX device
	• IP Address and Port – IP addresses and protocol ports of the session
	• Age – Number of seconds the session has been in effect
	• Hash – Hash value for the session
	• Flags – This value is used by A10 Technical Support.

TABLE 20	show ds-lite inside-user fields	(Continued)
----------	---------------------------------	-------------

show ds-lite port-reservations

Description Show Layer 4 port reservations.

Syntax

show ds-lite port-reservations

Mode

Table 21 describes the fields in this command's output.

Field	Description
Tunnel Src IPv6	Source IPv6 address of the tunnel on which the AX device
Address	receives the client traffic.
Tunnel Dst IPv6	Destination IPv6 address of the tunnel on which the AX
Address	device receives the client traffic.
Inside Address	Client IPv4 address.
Start	Beginning Layer 4 protocol port number in the port range to
	be mapped.
End	Ending Layer 4 protocol port number in the port range to to
	be mapped.
NAT Address	Public IPv4 address to map to the client IPv4 address.

TABLE 21 show ds-lite port-reservations fields



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference DS-Lite Show Commands

Field	Description
Start	Beginning Layer 4 protocol port number to map to the inside port range.
End	Ending Layer 4 protocol port number to map to the inside port range.

TABLE 21 show ds-lite port-reservations fields (Continued)

show ds-lite statistics

Description	Show global statistics related to DS-Lite.		
Syntax	show ds-lite statistics		
Mode	All		

Table 22 describes the fields in this command's output.

Field	Description
Total TCP Ports	Total number of TCP ports allocated for user sessions.
Allocated	
Total TCP Ports	Total number of TCP ports freed for use by other sessions.
Freed	
Total UDP Ports	Total number of UDP ports allocated for user sessions.
Allocated	
Total UDP Ports	Total number of UDP ports freed for use by other sessions.
Freed	
Total ICMP	Total number of ICMP ports allocated for user sessions.
Ports Allocated	
Total ICMP	Total number of ICMP ports freed for use by other sessions.
Ports Freed	
Data Session	Total number of data sessions created.
Created	
Data Session	Total number of data sessions freed.
Freed	
User-Quota	Number of port mappings created for which the user quota
Created	had available mappings.
User-Quota	Number of port mappings that were created for which the
Freed	user quota had available mappings, that were later freed.
User-Quota	Number of times creation of a port mapping was unsuccess-
Creation Failed	ful because the user quota had no free mappings.

TABLE 22 show ds-lite statistics fields



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference

DS-Lite Show Commands

Field	Description
TCP NAT Port	Number of times a TCP port for an LSN NAT session was
Unavailable	unavailable.
UDP NAT Port	Number of times a UDP port for an LSN NAT session was
Unavailable	unavailable.
ICMP NAT Port	Number of times an ICMP port for an LSN NAT session was
Unavailable	unavailable.
New User NAT	Number of times LSN resources (ICMP, TCP, or UDP) were
Resource	not available for a new user.
Unavailable	
TCP User-Quota	Number of times the TCP quota for a user was exceeded.
Exceeded	
UDP User-Quota	Number of times the UDP quota for a user was exceeded.
Exceeded	
ICMP	Number of times the ICMP quota for a user was exceeded.
User-Quota	
Exceeded	
Extended	Number of times the extended user quota was used to create
User-Quota	a mapping.
Matched	
Extended	Number of times a NAT port was unavailable to a client
User-Quota	because the client had exceeded the extended user quota.
Exceeded	
Data Session	Number of times a client exceeded their data session quota.
User-Quota	
Exceeded	
TCP Full-cone	Total number of LSN TCP full-cone sessions created.
ICP Full-cone	Total number of LSN TCP full-cone sessions freed.
	Tetal much on of LCN LIDD full some coordinate spectral
UDP Full-cone Sassion Created	Total number of LSN UDP full-cone sessions created.
	Tetal number of LCN LIDD full come accessing freed
UDP Full-cone	Iotal number of LSN UDP full-cone sessions freed.
Session Freed	Number of times spectice of a full same species fulled
Full-cone Session Creation	Number of times creation of a full-cone session failed.
Failed	
Haimin Sassion	Total number of LSN bairpin sessions greated
Created	Total number of Lory nanpin sessions created.
Salf Haimin	Number of hairpin sessions dropped because the source and
ning Drop	destination client were the same
Endpoint	Number of times I SN reused the I SN menning assigned to a
Independent	client for subsequent traffic for that client. (This is the benefit
Mapping	provided by Endpoint independent mapping)
Matched	reaction and the second s

 TABLE 22
 show ds-lite statistics fields (Continued)



Field	Description
Endpoint- Independent Filtering Matched	Number of times traffic from any source to a given mapped client was forwarded to the internal client, regardless of the endpoint. (This is the benefit provided by Endpoint indepen- dent filtering.)
Endpoint- Dependent Filtering Drop	Number of times traffic to a mapped client was dropped because endpoint-independent filtering was not enabled, and the traffic was not from the endpoint mapped to the client.
Endpoint- Independent Filtering Inbound Limit Exceeded	Number of times the maximum number of Endpoint-Inde- pendent Filtering (EIF) sessions allowed for a NAT mapping was exceeded.
NAT Pool Mismatch Drop	Number of times traffic was dropped because matching traf- fic for a current full-cone session or user-quota session uses a different pool or pool group than the one redirected to by the rule list.
TCP Port Overloaded	Number of times a TCP port on a NAT address was assigned to a new client while another client was still using the mapping.Note: This counter and the other Port Overloading counters apply only if port overloading is configured.
UDP Port Overloaded	Number of times a UDP port on a NAT address was assigned to a new client while another client was still using the map- ping.
TCP Port Overloading Session Created	Number of times a session on an overloaded TCP port was created.
UDP Port Overloading Session Created	Number of times a session on an overloaded UDP port was created.
TCP Port Overloading Session Freed	Number of times a session created on an overloaded TCP port was freed.
UDP Port Overloading Session Freed	Number of times a session created on an overloaded UDP port was freed.
Truncated Packet	Number of tunneled packets that were truncated because they were longer than the Maximum Transmission Unit (MTU) on the AX interface where the packet was received.
LSN LID Drop	Number of times traffic matched the drop action in the LSN LID, and was dropped.
LSN LID Pass-through	Number of times traffic matched the pass-through action in the LSN LID, and was passed through without being NAT- ted.
No Class-List Match	Number of times traffic did not match the LSN class list.

TABLE 22	show ds-lite statistics fields	(Continued)
----------	--------------------------------	-------------



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference

DS-Lite Show Commands

TABLE 22 sh	how ds-lite statistics	fields (Continued)
-------------	------------------------	--------------------

Field	Description
Permit Class-List	Number of packets dropped because they did not match the
Drop	class list's permit list.

show ds-lite user-quota-sessions

Description	Show currently active user quota sessions.	
Syntax	<pre>show ds-lite us [brief] [pool pool-name [top num {all </pre>	er-quota-sessions] icmp tcp udp}]
	Parameter	Description
	brief	Displays only session statistics.
	pool pool-name	Shows currently active full-cone sessions only for the specified pool. If you omit this option, sessions for all pools are shown.
	top num type	Limits the display to the sessions with the highest counters for the specified resource type. You can specify 1-100.
		The resource type can be one of the following:
		all – Displays the sessions with the highest counters for all resource types (ICMP, TCP, and UDP).
		icmp – Displays the sessions with the highest counters for ICMP.
		tcp – Displays the sessions with the highest counters for TCP.
		udp – Displays the sessions with the highest counters for UDP.
Mode	All	





Table 22 describes the fields in this command's output.

Field	Description	
DS-Lite User-	Number of port mappings created for which the user quota	
Quota Created	had available mappings.	
DS-Lite User-	Number of port mappings that were created for which the	
Quota Freed	user quota had available mappings, that were later freed.	
DS-Lite User-	Number of times creation of a port mapping was unsuccess-	
Quota Creation	ful because the user quota had no free mappings.	
Failed		
DS-Lite TCP	Number of times the TCP quota for a user was exceeded.	
User-Quota		
Exceeded		
DS-Lite UDP	Number of times the UDP quota for a user was exceeded.	
User-Quota		
Exceeded		
DS-Lite ICMP	Number of times the ICMP quota for a user was exceeded.	
User-Quota		
Exceeded		
DS-Lite	Number of times the extended user quota was used to create	
Extended User-	a mapping.	
Quota Matched		
DS-Lite	Number of times a NAT port was unavailable to a client	
Extended User-	because the client had exceeded the extended user quota.	
Quota Exceeded		
DS-Lite Data	Number of times a client exceeded their data session quota.	
Session		
User-Quota		
Exceeded		
Information for Individual Sessions:		
Inside IPv6	Client DS-Lite router's IPv6 address.	
NAT Address	Public IP address assigned to the client by DS-Lite.	
ICMP	Number of ICMP sessions from the quota that are in use.	
UDP	Number of UDP sessions from the quota that are in use.	
ТСР	Number of TCP sessions from the quota that are in use.	
Pool	Name of the pool from which the public address for the ses-	
	sion was selected.	
LID	Limit ID (LID) in which the user quota is configured.	

TABLE 23 show ds-lite user-quota-sessions fields



Config Commands: Lightweight 4over6

The commands in this chapter configure global settings for the Lightweight 40ver6 version of Dual-Stack Lite (DS-Lite).

Lightweight 40ver6 enables the AX device to route traffic between an IPv4 client's IPv6 Customer Premises Equipment (CPE) and IPv4 servers. The IPv4 client's CPU performs NAT to assign a public IPv6 address to the client, then encapsulates the client's NATted IPv4 traffic in an IPv6 tunnel that is terminated on the AX device.

This CLI level also has the following commands, which are available at all configuration levels:

- **backup** See <u>"backup log" on page 48</u> and <u>"backup system" on page 50</u>.
- clear See <u>"clear" on page 59</u>.
- **debug** See <u>"debug" on page 64</u>.
- **do** See <u>"do" on page 117</u>.
- end See <u>"end" on page 123</u>.
- exit See <u>"exit" on page 124</u>.
- **no** See <u>"no" on page 155</u>.
- show See <u>"Show Commands" on page 689</u>.
- write See <u>"write terminal" on page 78</u>.



Lightweight 4over6 Configuration Commands

This section describes the global configuration commands for Lightweight 40ver6. Also see <u>"Iw-406" on page 229</u>.

lw-406 binding-table

Description		Configure a binding table for Lightweight 4over6.	
Syntax		[no] lw-406 binding-table name	
		Parameter	Description
		name	Name of the binding table.
		This command changes the class list, where the follow	he CLI to the configuration level for the specified wing command is available.
1	Note:	The other configuratio Lightweight 4over6.	on commands at this level are not applicable to
		Command	Description
		<pre>[no] ipv6- tunnel-addr [ipv4-nat-addr port portnum [to portnum]]</pre>	Creates a binding table for Lightweight 40ver6. You can enter all the parameters below on the same command line. Alternatively, you can enter just the IPv6 tunnel address. In this case, the CLI changes to the configuration level for the individ- ual binding entry, where you can specify the other parameters.
			<i>ipv6-tunnel-addr</i> – IPv6 address of the client CPE. This is the address of the remote end of the IPv6 tunnel between the AX device and the client CPE.
			ipv4-nat-addr – NAT address of the client. This is the IPv6 public address assigned to the client by the client's CPE. This must be a host address, not a subnet address.
			port <i>portnum</i> [to <i>portnum</i>]– Protocol port number or range the CPE may use the as the



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference Lightweight 4over6 Configuration Commands

source port in the IPv4 NAT address assigned to the client by the CPE.

Default	None
Introduced in Release	2.6.6-P6
Mode	Configuration mode
Usage	The binding table does not take effect until you activate it. To activate a binding table, see <u>"lw-406 use-binding-table" on page 574</u> .

lw-406 ha-group-id

Description	Assign the active Lightweight 40ver6 bindings to an HA group. When you configure this option, active sessions that use bindings in the active Lightweight 40ver6 binding table are synchronized to the standby AX device.	
Syntax	[no] lw-406 ha-group-id group-id	
	Parameter	Description
	group-id	HA group ID, 1-31.
Default	None	
Introduced in Release	2.6.6-P6	
Mode	Configuration mode	

lw-406 hairpinning

Description	Configure hairpinning for Lightweight 40ver6 clients.
Syntax	<pre>[no] lw-406 hairpinning { filter-all filter-none filter-self-ip filter-self-ip-port }</pre>





Default

Mode

Introduced

AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference Lightweight 4over6 Configuration Commands

	Parameter	Description
	filter-all	Drops all hairpinning traffic.
	filter-none	Allows hairpinning without any restrictions.
	filter-self-ip	Drops packets that have the same inside client IP address for both the source and destination.
	filter-self-ip- port	Drops packets that have the same inside client IP address <i>and</i> protocol port number for both the source and destination. This option may be needed if double NAT is used.
	filter-none	
in Release	2.6.6-P6	
	Configuration mode	

lw-406 icmp-inbound

Description	Configure handling of inbound IPv4 ICMP traffic for Lightweight 40ver6 traffic. This applies to IPv4 traffic from the Internet fro sessions using Lightweight 40ver6 bindings.	
Syntax	[no] lw-406 icmp-inbound {drop handle}	
	Parameter	Description
	drop	Drops inbound ICMP traffic.
	handle	Handles inbound ICMP traffic.
Default	handle	
Introduced in Release	2.6.6-P6	
Mode	Configuration mode	
Usage	The feature applies only to inbound IPv4 traffic that is received on the Lightweight 40ver6 inside NAT interface. (See <u>"1w-406" on page 229</u> .)	



Lightweight 4over6 Configuration Commands

lw-406 no-forward-match

Description	Enable ICMPv6 Destination Unreachable messages (type 1, code 5) from the AX device to the client CPE.	
Syntax	[no] lw-406 no-forward-match send-icmpv6	
Default	Disabled	
Introduced in Release	2.6.6-P6	
Mode	Configuration mode	
Usage	The feature applies only to outbound traffic on the Lightweight 40ver6 outside NAT interface. (See <u>"$lw-406$" on page 229</u> .)	
	When this feature is enabled, the behavior is as follows:	
	• IPv6 tunnel address does not match any binding table entries	
	• Source IPv4 address matches a binding table entry, but the protocol port number does not match that entry	
	• Source IPv4 address and protocol port number match a binding table entry, but do not match the IPv6 tunnel address of that entry	

lw-406 no-reverse-match

Description	Enable ICMP Destination Unreachable messages (type 3, code 1) from the AX device to IPv4 servers.	
Syntax	[no] lw-406 no-reverse-match send-icmp	
Default	Disabled	
Introduced in Release	2.6.6-P6	
Mode	Configuration mode	
Usage	The feature applies only to inbound IPv4 traffic that is received on the Lightweight 40ver6 inside NAT interface. (See <u>"$1w-406$" on page 229</u> .)	
	When this feature is enabled, the behavior is as follows:	
	• If an inbound IPv4 packet's destination IPv4 address matches a binding- table entry but not the entry's protocol port(s), the AX device sends an ICMP message to the IPv4 packet's sender.	



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference Lightweight 4over6 Show Commands

• If there is no binding-table match and the packet is not otherwise filtered out (for example, by an ACL on the inbound interface), the packet is forwarded at Layer 3.

lw-406 use-binding-table

Description	Activate a Lightweight 40ver6 binding table.	
Syntax	[no] lw-406 binding-table name	
	Parameter	Description
	name	Name of the binding table.
Default	Disabled	
Introduced in Release	2.6.6-P6	
Mode	Configuration mode	2

Lightweight 4over6 Show Commands

This section describes the show commands for Lightweight 40ver6.

show lw-406 binding-table

Description	Show binding-table information for Lightweight 4over6.		
Syntax	<pre>show lw-4o6 binding-table [files statistics tunnel-address ipv6addr [statistics]]</pre>		
	Parameter	Description	
	files	Lists the Lightweight 40ver6 binding tables on the AX device, and their status.	
	statistics	Displays binding-table statistics.	

AleNetworks	AX Serie	es - Command Line Interface Reference Lightweight 4over6 Show Commands
	tunnel-address <i>ipv6addr</i> [statistics]	Displays information for the specified Light- weight 40ver6 tunnel address. If you use the sta- tistics option, statistics are listed.
Introduced in Release	2.6.6-P6	
Mode	All	

show lw-406 statistics

Description	Show statistics for Lightweight 4over6.		
Syntax	show lw-406 statistics		
Introduced in Release	2.6.6-P6		
Mode	All		

Table 24 describes the fields in this command's output.

Field	Description		
Total Entries	Total number of entries in the currently active binding table.		
Configured			
Self-Hairpin-	Number of packets dropped because both the source and des-		
ning Drops	nation address information matched.		
	• Both the source and destination IP addresses are the same, and match the IPv4 NAT address of any binding-table entry. For example: source IP address 10.10.10.100: <i>x</i> to destination IP address 10.10.10.100: <i>y</i> .		
	• Both the source and destination IP addresses are the same and match a binding-table entry, <i>and</i> the packet's source and destination protocol ports also match the protocol port(s) of the same bridging-table entry. For example: source IP address 10.10.10.100: <i>x</i> to destination IP address 10.10.10.100: <i>x</i> .		
	Note: Packets dropped for these reasons also are counted in the All Hairpinning Drops field (below).		

TABLE 24 show lw-406 statistics fields



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference Lightweight 4over6 Show Commands

Field	Description	
All Hairpinning Drops	Number of packets dropped because both the source and des- tination IPv4 addresses matched entries in the binding table.	
	This counter is incremented in any of the following cases:	
	• The source IP address matches the IPv4 NAT address of any binding-table entry.	
	• The destination IP address matches the IPv4 NAT address of any binding-table entry.	
	• Any self-hairpinning drops occur. (See above.)	
No-Forward- Match ICMPv6 Sent	Number of times an ICMPv6 Destination Unreachable mes- sage was sent to a client CPE, because traffic from the client partially matched a binding-table entry but did not com- pletely match any of the entries.	
	For example, this counter is incremented if the AX device receives a packet whose IPv6 tunnel address does not match any binding-table entries.	
	Note: This counter is incremented only if the feature is enabled. See <u>"lw-406 no-forward-match" on page 573</u> .	
No-Reverse- Match ICMP Sent	Number of times an IPv4 ICMP Destination Unreachable message was sent to an IPv4 server, because traffic from the server partially matched a binding-table entry but did not completely match any of the entries.	
	Note: This counter is incremented only if the feature is enabled. See <u>"lw-406 no-reverse-match" on page 573</u> .	
Inbound ICMP Drops	Number of inbound IPv4 ICMP packets that were dropped.	
	Note: This counter is incremented only if the feature is enabled. See <u>"lw-406 icmp-inbound" on page 572</u> .	
Forward Route Lookup Failed	Number of times client-to-server traffic was dropped because no route was available for forwarding it to the destination server.	
Reverse Route Lookup Failed	Number of times server-to-client traffic was dropped because no route was available for forwarding it to the destination Lightweight 4over6 client.	

TABLE 24	show lw-406 statistics fields	(Continued)
IIIDEE 24	311011 111 100 3101131103 110103	(Commuca)



Config Commands: Stateless NAT46

The commands in this chapter configure stateless NAT46. Stateless NAT46 enables IPv4 clients to reach IPv6 servers, without the need to maintain perconnection information on the AX device.

This CLI level also has the following commands, which are available at all configuration levels:

- **backup** See <u>"backup system" on page 50</u> and <u>"backup log" on page 48</u>.
- clear See <u>"clear" on page 59</u>.
- debug See <u>"debug" on page 64</u>.
- **do** See <u>"do" on page 117</u>.
- end See <u>"end" on page 123</u>.
- **exit** See <u>"exit" on page 124</u>.
- **no** See <u>"no" on page 155</u>.
- show See <u>"Show Commands" on page 689</u>.
- write See <u>"write terminal" on page 78</u>.




Stateless NAT46 Configuration Commands

This section describes the configuration commands for stateless NAT46.

nat46-stateless fragmentation inbound

Description	Change fragmentation support for inbound IPv6-to-IPv4 traffic.		
Syntax	$[no]$ nat46-sta $\{ipv4 \mid drop \mid$	teless fragmentation inbound send-icmpv6}	
	Parameter	Description	
	ipv4	IPv4 fragmentation is allowed.	
	drop	IPv4 fragmentation is not allowed. Oversize packets are dropped. No ICMPv6 error message is sent.	
	send-icmpv6	IPv4 fragmentation is not allowed. Oversize packets are dropped, and an ICMPv6 error message is sent.	
Default	send-icmpv6		
Mode	Configuration mode		

nat46-stateless fragmentation outbound

Description	Change fragmentation	Change fragmentation support for outbound IPv4-to-IPv6 traffic.		
Syntax	<pre>[no] nat46-stateless fragmentation outbound {ipv6 drop send-icmp}</pre>			
	Parameter	Description		
	ipv6	IPv6 fragmentation is allowed.		
	drop	IPv6 fragmentation is not allowed. Oversize packets are dropped. No ICMP error message is sent.		
	send-icmp	IPv6 fragmentation is not allowed. Oversize packets are dropped, and an ICMP error message is sent.		
Default	ipv6			
578 of 804	Customer Driven Innovation			

Document No.: D-030-01-00-0003 - Ver. 2.6.6-GR1 5/8/2013



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference Stateless NAT46 Configuration Commands

Mode

Configuration mode

nat46-stateless fragmentation outbound df-set

Description	Change fragmentation support for IPv4 packets that have the Don't Frag- ment bit set.		
Syntax	[no] nat46-stateless fragmentation outbound df-set {ipv6 drop send-icmp}		
	Parameter	Description	
	ipv6	IPv6 fragmentation is allowed.	
	drop	IPv6 fragmentation is not allowed. Oversize packets are dropped. No ICMP error message is sent.	
	send-icmp	IPv6 fragmentation is not allowed. Oversize packets are dropped, and an ICMP error message is sent.	
Default	send-icmp		
Mode	Configuration mode		

nat46-stateless prefix

Description	Configure a IPv6 prefix for stateless NAT46.	
Syntax	[no] nat46-stateless prefix <i>ipv6-prefix</i>	
	Parameter	Description
	ipv6-prefix	The 96-bit prefix used as the higher-order bits of the client's IPv6 address.
Default	None	
Mode	Configuration mode	
Usage	Stateless NAT46 translates an IPv4 client's address into an IPv6 address by combining the stateless NAT46 prefix configured on the AX device with the client's IPv4 address:	
	stateless NAT46 prefix:client IPv4 address	



The stateless NAT46 prefix must be 96 bits long. This leaves 32 bits for the client's IPv4 address.

nat46-stateless static-dest-mapping

Description	Configure static IPv4-IPv6 mappings for the IPv6 servers.		
Syntax	<pre>[no] nat46-stateless static-dest-mapping ipv4addr ipv6addr [count num] [ha-group-id num]</pre>		
	Parameter	Description	
	ipv4addr	IPv4 server address to which IPv4 clients will send requests.	
	ipv6addr	Server's IPv6 address. Specify the lowest address in the range.	
	count num	Specifies how many mappings to create. The IPv4 and IPv6 addresses of each mapping are incremented by 1 over the previous mapping.	
	ha-group-id num	Assigns the mappings to a High Availability (HA) group. You can specify 1-31.	
Default	None		
Mode	Configuration mode		
Usage	You can configure a range of up to 1024 static mappings. You need to specify only the first mapping in the range, and how many mappings to creat The AX device then automatically creates additional mappings, up to the quantity you specify. The IPv4 and IPv6 addresses for each additional mapping are increment by 1 over the previous mapping. For example, suppose you specify the following mapping, and a quantity of 10:		
	• 20.0.0.1 -> 200)1::1	
	The AX device creates the	e following mappings:	
	• 20.0.0.1 -> 200)1:: 1	
	• 20.0.0. 2 -> 200)1:: 2	
	• 20.0.0. 3 -> 200)1:: 3	



Stateless NAT46 Show Commands

- 20.0.0.4 -> 2001::4
- 20.0.0.5 -> 2001::5
- 20.0.0.6 -> 2001::6
- 20.0.0.7 -> 2001::7
- 20.0.0.8 -> 2001::8
- 20.0.0.9 -> 2001::9
- 20.0.0.10 -> 2001::a

Stateless NAT46 Show Commands

This section describes the show commands for stateless NAT46.

show nat46-stateless statistics

Description	Show stateless NAT46	statistics.
Syntax	show nat46-stat	celess statistics
Mode	All	
Example	The following comman	d displays statistics for stateless NAT46:
AX(config)# show nat46-	stateless statisti	cs
Stateless NAT46 Statis	stics:	
Outbound IPv4 packets	received	10
Outbound IPv4 packets	dropped	0
Outbound IPv4 fragment	packets received	0
Outbound IPv6 destinat	ion unreachable	0
Outbound IPv6 packets	fragmented	0
Inbound IPv6 packets r	received	101
Inbound IPv6 packets d	lropped	0
Inbound IPv6 fragment	packets received	0
Inbound IPv4 destinati	on unreachable	0
Inbound IPv4 packets f	ragmented	0
Packet too big		0
Fragment process error		0
ICMPv6 to ICMP		1
ICMPv6 to ICMP error		0



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference Stateless NAT46 Show Commands

ICMP to ICMPv6	0
ICMP to ICMPv6 error	0
HA is standby	0
Other errors	0

<u>Table 25</u> describes the fields in the command output.

Field	Description
Outbound IPv4	Number of client IPv4 packets received by the AX device.
packets received	
Outbound IPv4	Number of client IPv4 packets dropped by the AX device.
packets dropped	
Outbound IPv4	Number of IPv4 packet fragments received from clients by
fragment	the AX device.
packets received	
Outbound IPv6	Number of times the IPv6 destination was unreachable.
destination	
unreachable	
Outbound IPv6	Number of outbound IPv6 packets fragmented.
packets	
fragmented	
Inbound IPv6	Number of inbound IPv6 packets received.
packets received	
Inbound IPv6	Number of inbound IPv6 packets dropped.
packets dropped	
Inbound IPv6	Number of inbound fragmented IPv6 packets received.
fragment	
packets received	
Inbound IPv4	Number of times the destination for inbound IPv4 traffic was
destination	unreachable.
unreachable	
Inbound IPv4	Number of inbound IPv4 packets fragmented.
packets	
fragmented	
Packet too big	Number of oversize packets received.
Fragment	Number of fragment processing errors.
processing errors	
ICMPv6 to	Number of ICMPv6-to-ICMP translations.
ICMP	
ICMPv6 to	Number of ICMPv6-to-ICMP errors.
ICMP errors	
ICMP to	Number of ICMP-to-ICMPv6 translations.
ICMPv6	
ICMP to	Number of ICMP-to-ICMPv6 errors.
ICMPv6 errors	

TABLE 25	show nat46-stateless	statistics	fields
----------	----------------------	------------	--------



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference

Stateless NAT46 Show Commands

Field	Description	
HA is standby	Number of times the HA group the stateless NAT46 map- pings are in was in the Standby state on this AX device.	
Other errors	Number of errors other than those counted above.	

TABLE 25	show nat46-stateless	statistics	fields	(Continued))
----------	----------------------	------------	--------	-------------	---





The commands in this chapter configure IPv6 rapid deployment (6rd). 6rd enables IPv6 clients to communicate with IPv6 servers over a service provider's IPv4 network.

This CLI level also has the following commands, which are available at all configuration levels:

- **backup** See <u>"backup system" on page 50</u> and <u>"backup log" on page 48</u>.
- clear See <u>"clear" on page 59</u>.
- debug See <u>"debug" on page 64</u>.
- **do** See <u>"do" on page 117</u>.
- end See <u>"end" on page 123</u>.
- exit See <u>"exit" on page 124</u>.
- **no** See <u>"no" on page 155</u>.
- show See <u>"Show Commands" on page 689</u>.
- write See <u>"write terminal" on page 78</u>.

6rd Configuration Commands

This section describes the 6rd configuration commands.

6rd domain

Description	Configure 6rd domain settings.		
Syntax	[no] 6rd domain domain-name		
	Parameter	Description	
	domain-name	String to describe the 6rd domain.	
	This command change 6rd domain, where the	es the CLI to the configuration level for the specified following commands are available.	

Note: The other configuration commands at this level are not applicable to 6rd.



Default

Mode

AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference 6rd Configuration Commands

		Command	Description
		<pre>[no] br-ipv4- address ipv4addr ipv6-prefix ipv6addr/ prefix-length</pre>	Specifies the 6rd IPv4 address of the AX device, and the IPv6 prefix for the 6rd domain.
			The IPv4 address must be one of the following:
			 An IP interface that is already configured on the AX device, on a data interface or as a floating IP address. The interface must be connected to the 6rd domain's clients.
			 A floating-IP interface that is already configured on the AX device. In this case, the High Availability (HA) state is applicable. Packets are forwarded only on the active AX device in the HA pair.
	Note:	The current release do	es not support use of an anycast address for 6rd.
		<pre>[no] ce-ipv4- network ipv4addr {subnet-mask /mask-length}</pre>	Specifies the client IPv4 network, and the portion of the client's 6rd customer edge (CE) router IPv4 address that is common to all of the 6rd domain's clients. For example, if your deploy- ment uses 10.0.0.0/8 for all CE router IPv4 addresses in the 6rd domain, specify the follow- ing: ce-ipv4-network 10.0.0.0/8
		[no] mtu bytes	Specifies the maximum transmission unit (MTU) for the IPv6 tunnel. You can specify 1280-1480 bytes.
fault		There are no 6rd domai has the following default	ns configured by default. When you create one, it settings:
		• br-ipv4-address and	ipv6-prefix – Not set
		• ce-ipv4-network – N	Not set
		• mtu – 1480	
de		Configuration mode	
586 of 804			Customer Driven Innovation



Example

AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference 6rd Configuration Commands

For the AX BR address, you can use either an IP address configured on an AX interface or a High Availability (HA) floating-IP address. If you use an IP address configured on an AX interface, the 6rd domain is not synchronized to the standby AX device as part of HA configuration synchronization.

The **br-ipv4-address** command does not also configure the IPv4 interface or floating-IP address itself. The command simply indicates the configured IPv4 address that is connected to 6rd clients. To configure an IPv4 address on an AX data interface, see <u>"ip address" on page 210</u>. To configure an HA floating-IP address, see <u>"floating-ip" on page 125</u>.

6rd fragmentation inbound

Description	Configure fragmentation support for oversize inbound IPv6 packets. These are packets from IPv6 servers to 6rd clients.		
Syntax	<pre>[no] 6rd fragmen { drop ipv4 ipv6 send-icmpv6 }</pre>	tation inbound	
	Parameter	Description	
	drop	Drops oversize packets without sending an ICMPv6 error message back to the server. Fragmentation is not performed.	
	ipv4	The IPv6 packet is treated as an IPv4 payload, and the IPv4 packet is then fragmented. The cli- ent's 6rd CE router defragments the IPv4 packet, extracts the IPv6 payload, and sends it to the IPv6 client.	
	ipv6	The IPv6 packet is fragmented first, and the frag- ments are then placed into separate IPv4 packets. The IPv4 packets are not fragmented. The frag- mented IPv6 packet is defragmented by the IPv6 client.	
	send-icmpv6	Drops oversize packets and sends an ICMPv6 error message back to the server. Fragmentation is not performed.	
Default	send-icmpv6		



Mode

Configuration mode

Usage

For packets larger than 1500 bytes, the **ipv4** option does not work. In this case, the **ipv6** option is recommended instead.

6rd fragmentation outbound

Description Configure fragmentation support for oversize outbound IPv6 packets. These are packets from the AX device, forwarded on behalf of 6rd clients to IPv6 servers.

Syntax	<pre>[no] 6rd fragme { drop ipv6 send-icmp send-icmpv6 } : For information about <u>df-set" on page 589</u>.</pre>	entation outbound t the df-set option, see <u>"6rd fragmentation outbound</u>
	Parameter	Description
	drop	Drops oversize packets without sending an ICMPv6 error message to the client. Fragmentation is not performed.
	ipv6	Fragments oversize IPv6 packets.
	send-icmp	Drops oversize packets and sends an IPv4 ICMP error message to the client's 6rd CE router. Frag- mentation is not performed.
	send-icmpv6	Drops oversize packets and sends a tunneled ICMPv6 error message to the client. Fragmentation is not performed.
Default	ipv6	
Mode	Configuration mode	



6rd fragmentation outbound df-set

Description	Configure the AX response to oversize outbound IPv6 packets that have the Don't Fragment bit set.		
Syntax	<pre>[no] 6rd fragmentation outbound df-set { drop ipv6 send-icmp send-icmpv6 }</pre>		
	Parameter	Description	
	drop	Drops oversize packets without sending a tun- neled ICMPv6 error message to the client.	
	ipv6	Fragments oversize IPv6 packets anyway and forwards the fragments.	
	send-icmp	Drops oversize packets and sends an IPv4 ICMP error message to the client's 6rd CE router.	
	send-icmpv6	Drops oversize packets and sends a tunneled ICMPv6 error message to the client.	
Default	send-icmp		
Mode	Configuration mode		

6rd Show Commands

This section describes the show commands for 6rd.

show 6rd statistics

Description	Show 6rd statistics.	
Syntax	show 6rd statistics	[domain-name]
Mode	All	



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference 6rd Show Commands

Example The following command displays statistics for the 6rd domain "6rd1": AX(config-6rd)#show 6rd statistics 6rd1 6rd Statistics for domain 6rd1: _____ Outbound TCP packets received Outbound UDP packets received Outbound ICMP packets received Outbound other packets received Outbound packets dropped Outbound IPv6 destination unreachable Outbound Fragmented IPv6 Inbound TCP packets received Inbound UDP packets received Inbound ICMP packets received Inbound other packets received Inbound packets dropped Inbound IPv4 destination unreachable Inbound Fragmented IPv4 Inbound Fragmented IPv6 in tunnel Unknown 6rd delegated prefix Packet too big Not local IP Fragment processing errors

Table 26 describes the fields in this command's output.

65

13

10

0

0

1

Ω

66

12

10

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Field	Description
Outbound TCP	Number of client-to-server TCP packets received from cli-
Outbound UDP	Number of client-to-server UDP packets received from cli-
packets received	ents.
packets received	number of client-to-server ICMP packets received from cli- ents.
Outbound other packets received	Number of fragmented client-to-server packets received from clients.
Outbound packets dropped	Number of client-to-server packets dropped by the AX device because they were larger than the MTU of the outgo-ing interface.

TABLE 26 show 6rd statistics fields

Other errors



6rd Show Commands

Field	Description	
Outbound IPv6 destination unreachable	Number of client-to-server packets that could not be deliv- ered because the IPv6 server was unreachable.	
Outbound Fragmented IPv6	Number of client-to-server IPv6 packets that were frag- mented by the AX device because they were larger than the MTU on the outgoing interface.	
Inbound TCP packets received	Number of server-to-client TCP packets received from cli- ents.	
Inbound UDP packets received	Number of server-to-client UDP packets received from cli- ents.	
Inbound ICMP packets received	Number of server-to-client ICMP packets received from cli- ents.	
Inbound other packets received	Number of fragmented server-to-client packets received from clients.	
Inbound packets dropped	Number of server-to-client packets dropped by the AX device because they were larger than the MTU of the outgo-ing interface.	
Inbound IPv4 destination unreachable	Number of server-to-client packets that could not reach the destination of the IPv4 tunnel.	
Inbound Fragmented IPv4	Number server-to-client packets fragmented into multiple IPv4 packets.	
Inbound Fragmented IPv6 in tunnel	Number server-to-client packets fragmented into multiple IPv6 packets before being sent in the IPv4 tunnel.	
Unknown 6rd delegated prefix	Number of packets received that had an unknown 6rd dele- gated prefix.	
Packet too big	Number of packets received by the AX device from clients or servers that were larger than the MTU of the AX interface. This includes the following types of packets:	
	• Inbound IPv6 packets from servers	
Not local ID	Outbound IPv6 packets from 6rd clients	
Not local IP	domain configuration, but the BR IPv4 address was a float- ing-IP address and its HA group on this AX device was in the standby state, so the IP address could not be used.	
Fragment processing errors	Number of times the AX device could not process frag- mented IPv4/IPv6 packets. For example, this counter is incremented if the fragment offset is not correct, or insuffi- cient data is received, and so on.	
Other errors	Number of other types of errors not covered by any of the counters above.	

statistics fields (Continued)
statistics fields (Continued)





Config Commands: Logging Template

This chapter describes the commands for configuring logging templates. Logging templates are applicable to IPv6 migration features.

This CLI level also has the following commands, which are available at all configuration levels:

- clear See <u>"clear" on page 59</u>.
- **debug** See <u>"debug" on page 64</u>.
- **do** See <u>"do" on page 117</u>.
- end See <u>"end" on page 123</u>.
- exit See <u>"exit" on page 124</u>.
- **no** See <u>"no" on page 155</u>.
- show See <u>"Show Commands" on page 689</u>.
- write See <u>"write terminal" on page 78</u>.

ip nat template logging

Description Configure a template for external logging of LSN / DS-Lite traffic events.

Syntax

[no] ip nat template logging template-name

This command changes the CLI to the configuration level for the specified NAT logging template, where the following command is available.

(The other commands are common to all CLI configuration levels. See <u>"Config Commands: Global" on page 79</u>.)

Parameter Description [no] batched Disables batching of multiple log messages in the same external logging packet. When this option is enabled, only a single log message is placed in each packet.



[no] facility facility-name	Specifies the logging facility to use. For a list of available facilities, enter the following command: facility ?
[no] format option	Reduces the size of external traffic logs. You can enable one of the following data reduction options:
	binary – Uses a unique A10 Binary Logging format to represent the log messages.
	compact – Uses ASCII text format. It reduces the log size by using operational codes ("opcodes") for event and protocol names, and by using hexadecimal representation for IPv4 addresses and port numbers.
	default – Uses ASCII text format for exter- nal log messages, with IP addresses and port numbers represented in decimal format. Like- wise, the event and protocol names are spelled out.
	rfc5424 – Uses the format defined in RFC 5424, The Syslog Protocol.
	For more information about these logging for- mats, see the "NAT Logging" chapter of the <i>AX Series IPv4-to-IPv6 Transition Solutions</i> <i>Guide</i> .
[no] include- destination	Includes the destination IP addresses and proto- col ports in NAT port mapping logs.
[no] include- http [14-session-	
method]	Includes additional information into the log mes- sages.
	14-session-info – Includes TCP session information.
	method – Includes the HTTP method; for example: GET or POST.

```
[no] include-
radius-
attribute
{imei | imsi |
msisdn}
{http-requests
  port-mappings
  sessions}
                     Includes the client mobile number in Carrier
                     Grade NAT (CGN) traffic logs. The AX device
                     obtains the client mobile number by sending a
                     RADIUS Accounting request to an external
                     RADIUS server for the specified attribute. The
                     attribute can be one of the following:
                     imei – International Mobile Equipment Iden-
                     tity
                     imsi – International Mobile Subscriber Iden-
                     tity
                     msisdn – Mobile Station International ISDN
                     Number*
                     The http-requests option includes the
                     mobile number in HTTP request logs.
                     The port-mappings option inserts the mobile
                     number into port-mapping logs, Fixed-NAT user
                     port logs (if enabled), and Port Batching logs (if
                     enabled).
                     The sessions option includes the mobile
                     number in session logs.
                     Enables logging for specific options:
[no] log option
                     fixed-nat
                     {http-requests {host | url} |
                     port-mappings
                        {both | creation} |
                     sessions} – Enables logging for Fixed-NAT.
                         http-requests
                                            – Enables logging of
                         [host |
                                     url]
                         information from HTTP requests.
                         port-mappings - Logs Fixed-NAT port
                         mappings. The both option logs Fixed-NAT
```

[•] More than one explanation of the acronym "MSISDN" can be found online. For simplicity, this document uses only one of them to define the acronym, then uses the acronym thereafter.



session creation and deletion. The **creation** option logs Fixed-NAT session creation only.

sessions – Logs Fixed-NAT session creation and deletion.

fixed-nat-user-ports – Enables logging of all Fixed-NAT ports assigned to clients.

http-requests

{**host** | **url**} – Enables logging of information from HTTP requests.

host – Logs the hostname requested by the client.

url – Logs the URL requested by the client.

port-mappings

{**both** | **creation**} – Enables logging of LSN port mapping events.

both – Logs mapping creation and mapping deletion.

creation – Logs mapping creation only.

port-overloading – Logs all port overloading sessions.

sessions – Enables logging of data session events.

[no] logreceiver radius secret secretstring

Enables use of RADIUS for external logging. The *secret-string* is the password required by the RADIUS server for authentication requests.

- **Note:** The "**no**" form of the command returns the logging method to its default, Syslog.
 - [no] resolution Specifies the precision of the timestamps in log messages.

seconds – Log message timestamps are precise to within one whole second.

10-milliseconds – Log message timestamps are precise to within 1/100 second (10 milliseconds).



[no] rfc-custom header use- alternate-		
timestamp	Use the following timestamp format:	
	YYYY MMM DD HH:MM:SS	
	Enabling this option disables use of timestamps formatted in compliance with RFC 5424, The Syslog Protocol.	
[no] rfc-custom		
message feature	Customizes les masses strings for external les	
type string	ging.	
	The <i>feature</i> can be one of the following:	
	6rd-nat64 – Message strings for 6rd-NAT64 traffic.	
	ds-lite – Message strings for DS-Lite traffic.	
	http-request-got – Message strings for HTTP request logs. The <i>message-string</i> must be in the following format: "MSG-ID [STRUCTURED-DATA] MSG"	
	lsn – Message strings for CGN traffic.	
	nat64 – Message strings for NAT64 traffic.	
	session-created – Message strings for session creation.	
	session-deleted – Message strings for session deletion.	
	The <i>type</i> can be one of the following:	
	port-allocated	
	port-freed	
	port-batch-allocated	
	port-batch-freed	
	fixed-nat-allocated	
	fixed-nat-freed	



Note:	The fixed-nat-allocated and fixed-nat-freed message <i>types</i> apply only <i>feature</i> types lsn and nat64 .		
		The <i>string</i> specifies the fields and text to use in the message strings. (For <i>string</i> syntax information, see the "RFC 5424 Header Support For External Logging" section in the <i>AX Series IPv4-to-IPv6 Transition Solutions Guide</i> .)	
	[no] rule		
	http-requests		
	option	Configures rules for HTTP request logging. You can set the following options:	
		dest-port <i>portnum</i> – Destination TCP port for which to log client requests. For exam- ple, to log client requests to port 80, enter the fol- lowing command: rule http-requests dest-port 80	
		log-every-http-request – Logs every HTTP request in a client session. Without this option, only the first request in the session is logged.	
		max-url-len <i>max-number-of-characters</i> – Maxi- mum number of characters logged for each URL string. You can specify 100-1000 characters.	
Note:	Some limitations may a	apply. See "Usage" below.	
	[no] service- group		
	group-name	Specifies the service group for the external log servers.	
	[no] severity		
	severity-level	Specifies the severity level to assign to LSN traf- fic logs generated using this template. You can enter the name or the number of a severity level.	
		0 emergency	
		1 alert	
		2 critical	
		3 error	
		4 warning	
		5 notification	



			6 information
			7 debugging
		[no]	
		source-port {portnum any }	Specifies the source protocol port the AX device uses to send out log messages to the external log servers. Note: This does not conflict with the real server port, which is the destination port of the logging packet.
			If the any option is configured, the AX device randomly selects a source-port for each logging packet.
	Note:	The source-port comr does not apply to TCP port is determined by th	nand is only applicable to syslog over UDP, and traffic. With syslog over TCP traffic, the source he AX device through Smart NAT.
Default		There is no NAT logging template options have the	template by default. When you configure one, the following default values:
		• batched-logging-disa external logging pack	able – disabled. Log messages are batched. Each et can contain more than one log message.
		• facility – local0	
		• format – default	
		• include-destination -	- disabled
		• include-http – not se	t
		• include-radius-attril	bute – not set
		• log fixed-nat – all op	tions disabled
		• log fixed-nat-user-po	orts – disabled
		• log http-requests – d	isabled
		 log port-mappings – logged. 	Both creation and deletion of mappings are
		• log port-overloading	g – disabled
		• log sessions – disable	d
		• log-receiver – not set	
		• resolution – seconds	



	• rfc-custom – The default message formats are used, if RFC 5424 format is enabled. (See the <i>AX Series IPv4-to-IPv6 Transition Solutions Guide</i> .)
	• rule – Rules for HTTP request logging have the following defaults:
	• dest-port – not set
	• log-every-http-request – disabled; only the first request of the session is logged
	• max-url-len – 100
	• service-group – not set
	• severity – 7 (debugging)
	• source-port – 514 (for UDP only)
Mode	Configuration mode
Usage	The template does not take effect until you set it as the default LSN / DS-Lite logging template or assign it to individual LSN / DS-Lite pools.
	• To set the template as the default LSN / DS-Lite logging template, see <u>"ip nat lsn logging default-template" on page 465</u> .
	• To assign the template to an LSN / DS-Lite pool, see <u>"ip nat lsn logging pool" on page 466</u> .

Maximum URL Length for HTTP Request Logging

The maximum number of URL characters that can be logged depends on the log format settings, as listed in <u>Table 27</u>:

Logging Option	Maximum URL Characters Logged		
Default data format			
(ASCII)	1000		
Compact data format	1000		
RFC 5424 format			
Binary data format	253		
Logging to RADIUS	247		

TABLE 27 Maximum URL Characters Logged

Additional characters are truncated from the right side of the URL string.

Example

The following commands configure external logging for LSN / DS-Lite traffic events, using the same template for all LSN / DS-Lite pools:

AX5200(config)**#slb server syslog1 192.168.1.100** AX5200(config-real server)**#port 514 udp** AX5200(config-real server)**#exit**

600 of 804



AX5200(config)#slb service-group syslog udp AX5200(config-slb svc group)#member syslog1:514 AX5200(config-slb svc group)#exit AX5200(config)#ip nat template logging lsn_logging AX5200(config-nat logging)#log port-mappings AX5200(config-nat logging)#service-group syslog AX5200(config-nat logging)#exit AX5200(config-nat logging)#exit

slb server

Description	Configure a server for	Configure a server for external logging.			
Syntax	[no] slb serve	[no] slb server server-name ipaddr			
	Parameter	Description			
	server-name	Server name, 1-31 characters.			
	ipaddr	IP address of the server in either IPv4 or IPv6 format. The address is required only if you are creating a new server.			

This command changes the CLI to the configuration level for the specified service-group, where the following command is available:

Command	Description		
[no] health- check			
[monitor-name]	Enables health monitoring of the server. The <i>monitor-name</i> specifies the name of a configured health monitor.		
	If you omit this command or you enter it without the <i>monitor-name</i> option, the default Layer 3 (ICMP) health monitor is used.		
[no] port port-num			
$\{\texttt{tcp} \mid \texttt{udp}\}$	Specifies the TCP or UDP port on which the server listens for log traffic.		
	disable enable – Disables or re-enables the port.		
	[no] health-check [monitor-name] [follow-port port-num]- Enables health monitoring for a server The monitor-		

name option specifies the name of a configured health monitor.

The **follow-port** *port-num* option specifies another real port upon which to base this port's health status. Both the real port and the port to use for the real port's health status must be the same type, TCP or UDP. By default, this option is not set.

If you omit the **health-check** command or you enter it without the *monitor-name* option, the default UDP health monitor is used. (See below.)

stats-data-disable | **stats-dataenable** – Disables or enables statistical data collection for the port.

Default There is no default logging server configuration. For health monitoring defaults, see below.

Mode Configuration mode

Usage The normal form of the **slb server** command creates a new or edits an existing real server. The CLI changes to the configuration level for the server.

The "no" form of this command removes an existing real server.

The IP address of the server can be in either IPv4 or IPv6 format. The AX Series supports both address formats.

Default Health Monitoring

The following health monitors are enabled by default.

- ICMP Server health check. Every 5 seconds, the AX device sends an ICMP echo request (ping) addressed to the server's IP address. The server passes the health check if it sends an echo reply to the AX device. If the server does not reply after the fourth attempt (the first attempt followed by 3 retries), the AX device sets the server state to DOWN.
- TCP Every 5 seconds, the AX device sends a connection request (TCP SYN) to the specified TCP port on the server. The port passes the health check if it replies to the AX device by sending a TCP SYN ACK. If the port does not reply after the fourth attempt, the AX device sets the port state to DOWN.
- UDP Protocol port health check. Every 5 seconds, the AX device sends a packet with a valid UDP header and a garbage payload to the



UDP port. The port passes the health check if the server either does not reply, or replies with any type of packet *except* an ICMP Error message.

slb service-group

Description		Configure a service group, which is a pool of one or more servers.			
Syntax		[no] slb service	e-group group-name udp		
		Parameter	Description		
		group-name	Name of the group, 1-31 characters.		
		This command changes the CLI to the configuration level for the specified service-group, where the following command is available:			
	Note:	The other configuration ging.	n commands at this level are not applicable to log-		
		Command	Description		
		<pre>[no] member server- name:portnum [disable enable] [priority num] [stats-data- disable stats-data- enable]</pre>	Adds the external log server and UDP port to the service group. <i>server-name:portnum –</i> Server name, and protocol port number on the server.		
			disable enable – Disables or re-enables the server and port, for this service group only.		
			priority <i>num</i> – Sets the preference for this server and port, 1-16.		
			stats-data-disable – Disables statistical data collection for the service-group member.		
Default		There are no service grou	ips configured by default.		
Mode		Configuration mode			



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference

Usage

The normal form of this command creates a new or edits an existing service group. The CLI changes to the configuration level for the service group.



Show Commands

This section lists the show commands related to logging template configuration.

show ip nat logging keywords

Description	Show valid keywords for RFC 5424 custom messages.			
Syntax	show ip nat logg	ing keywords feature event		
	Option	Description		
	feature	Specifies the feature, which can be one of the fol- lowing: 6rd-nat64 – Message strings for 6rd-NAT64 traffic.		
		ds-lite – Message strings for DS-Lite traffic.		
		http-request-got – Message strings for HTTP request logs.		
		1sn – Message strings for CGN traffic.		
		nat64 – Message strings for NAT64 traffic.		
		session-created – Message strings for session creation.		
		session-deleted – Message strings for session deletion.		
	event	Specifies the <i>event</i> type, which can be one of th following (depending on the <i>feature</i>): port-allocated		
		port-freed		
		port-batch-allocated		
		port-batch-freed		
		fixed-nat-allocated		
		fixed-nat-freed		
Mode	All			
Introduced in Release	2.6.6-P4			



show ip nat logging statistics

Description	Show statistics for external logging.			
Syntax	show ip nat logging statistics			
Mode	All			

show ip nat logging tcp-svr-status

Description Displays status information for the TCP connections to logging servers					
Syntax	show ip nat logging tcp-svr-status template template-name				
	Option	Description			
	template-name Specifies the name of the active logging to plate. (This is the template set as the det CGN logging template.)				
Mode	All				
Introduced in Release	2.6.6-P4				
Example	The following command displays the status of the AX device's TCP con- nections to syslog servers:				
AX# show ip nat logging	tcp-svr-status temp	late cgn-log-tmplt			
Server	No. of TCP connect	ions Status			
LogSrvl	15/15	 ОК			
LogSrv2	13/15	Retrying			
LogSrv3	15/15	OK			
LogSrv4	15/15	OK			

Table 28 describes the fields in the command output.

TABLE 28	show ip nat logging tcp-svr-status template
----------	---

Field	Description
Server	Name of the syslog server.



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference

Show Commands

Field	Description
No. of TCP	Status of the TCP connections to the server. The status is
connections	snown as follows:
	Established-Connections / Data-CPUs
	To optimize performance, the AX device establishes a sepa- rate TCP session from each data CPU to each syslog server.
	The <i>Established-Connections</i> value is the number of connections that currently are established. The <i>Data-CPUs</i> value is the number of data CPUs on the AX device. This number varies depending on the AX model.
Status	Connection status:
	• OK – All AX TCP connections to the syslog server are functioning normally.
	• Retrying – Some connections are not up, and the AX device is sending SYNs to try to establish the missing connections.

 TABLE 28 show ip nat logging tcp-svr-status template (Continued)

show ip nat template logging

Description	Displays the configuration of a logging template.					
Syntax	show	ip	nat	template	logging	template-name
Mode	All					

show slb server

Description	Show information a	Show information about real servers.	
Syntax	<pre>show slb server [[server-name [port-num] detail] config]</pre>		
	Option	Description	
	server-name [[port-num] detail]	Shows information only for the specified server or port. If you omit this option, information is shown for all real servers and ports.	
		The detail option shows statistics for the speci- fied server or port. This option also displays the	

Aleworks	AX Se	eries - Command Line Interface Reference Show Commands
		name of the server or port template bound to the server or port.
	config	Shows the SLB configuration of the real servers.
Mode	All	
show slb serv	ice-group	
Description	Show SLB service-group information.	
Syntax	<pre>show slb service-group [group-name] [config]</pre>	
	Option	Description
	group-name	Shows information only for the specified service group. If you omit this option, information is shown for all service groups configured on the AX Series device.
	config	Shows the SLB configuration of the service

groups.

Mode

All



Fixed-NAT Configuration Command

Config Commands: Fixed-NAT

This chapter describes the commands for Fixed-NAT.

This CLI level also has the following commands, which are available at all configuration levels:

- clear See <u>"clear" on page 59</u>.
- **debug** See <u>"debug" on page 64</u>.
- **do** See <u>"do" on page 117</u>.
- end See <u>"end" on page 123</u>.
- exit See <u>"exit" on page 124</u>.
- **no** See <u>"no" on page 155</u>.
- show See <u>"Show Commands" on page 689</u>.
- write See <u>"write terminal" on page 78</u>.
- **Note:** For Fixed-NAT, use of a NAT64 prefix with mapping to a class list is not supported.

Fixed-NAT Configuration Command

This section describes the configuration command for Fixed-NAT.

fixed-nat

Description	Configure Fixed-NAT.
Syntax	[no] fixed-nat
	inside
	<pre>{start-ipaddr [netmask {/nn ipaddr}]</pre>
	end-addr netmask {/nn ipaddr}
	<pre>ip-list list-name}</pre>
	nat
	<pre>{start-ipaddr [netmask {/nn ipaddr}]</pre>
	end-addr netmask {/nn ipaddr}
	<pre>ip-list list-name}</pre>
	[dynamic-pool-size num]
	[ha-group-id group- <i>num</i>]



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference Fixed-NAT Configuration Command

[ports-per-user num]
[session-quota quota-num]
[usable-nat-ports starting-port ending-port]

Parameter	Description		
inside options	IP address range(s) of inside clients.		
	To specify a single range:		
	<i>starting-inside-address</i> – Begin- ning (lowest-numbered) inside client address.		
	<i>ending-inside-address</i> – Ending (highest-numbered) inside client address.		
	netmask <i>mask</i> – Network mask, in the applicable format:		
	IPv4-/mask-length		
	IPv6-mask-length		
	To specify multiple ranges:		
	ip-list <i>list-name</i> – Name of a configured IP list. (See <u>"ip-list" on page 132</u> .)		
nat options	Range(s) of NAT addresses.		
	To specify a single range:		
	starting-nat-address – Beginning (lowest-numbered) NAT address. (For syn- tax information, see <i>starting-inside-address</i> above.)		
	<i>ending-nat-address</i> – Ending (high- est-numbered) NAT address. (For syntax information, see <i>starting-inside-address</i> above.)		
	To specify multiple ranges:		
	ip-list <i>list-name</i> – Name of a configured IP list. (See <u>"ip-list" on page 132</u> .)		
dynamic-pool-			
size num	Number of protocol ports on each NAT address to set aside for use by clients who run out of their reserved ports.		
ha-group-id			
group-num	HA group ID.		



	ports-per-user num	Number of protocol ports to allocate to each new client. You can specify 1-64512.
	session-quota quota-num	Maximum number of sessions that can be created for a given client. You can specify 1-2147483647.
	usable-nat- ports starting-port ending-port	Range of protocol ports that can be allocated to clients. You can specify 1024-65535.
Default	Not set	
Mode	Configuration mode	
Usage	See the AX Series IPv4-to	p-IPv6 Transition Solutions Guide.

Fixed-NAT Show Commands

This section describes the show commands for Fixed-NAT.

show fixed-nat alg

Description Show Application Level Gateway (ALG) statistics for Fixed-NAT. Syntax show fixed-nat alg {ftp | pptp | rtsp | sip | tftp} statistics Parameter Description ftp | pptp rtsp | sip | tftp Specifies the protocol: ftp – File Transfer Protocol (FTP) pptp – Point-to-Point Tunneling Protocol (PPTP) Generic Routing Encapsulation (GRE) rtsp – Real Time Streaming Protocol (RTSP) sip – Session Initiation Protocol (SIP) tftp – Trivial File Transfer Protocol (TFTP)

	AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference	
Networks		Fixed-NAT Show Commands
Mode	All	
Example	For examples, see <u>"show</u>	ip nat lsn alg" on page 485.
show fixed-nat	full-cone-sess	sions
Description	Show Fixed-NAT full-cone sessions.	
Syntax	<pre>show fixed-nat full-cone-sessions [ds-lite [nat-address ipaddr] nat-address ipaddr nat44 [nat-address ipaddr] nat64 [nat-address ipaddr]]</pre>	
	Parameter	Description
	ds-lite [nat-address <i>ipaddr</i>]	Displays DS-Lite full-cone sessions.
	nat-address	
	ipaddr	Displays full-cone sessions for the specified NAT address.
	nat44	
	[nat-address inaddr]	Displays NAT44 full-cone sessions
	nat64	Displays mil ++ full cone sessions.
	[nat-address	
	ipaddr]	Displays NAT64 full-cone sessions.
Mode	All	
show fixed-nat	inside-user	
Description	Show Fixed-NAT information for a specific inside client.	

Syntax

show fixed-nat inside-user {ipv4addr | ipv6addr}

Description

{port-mapping | quota-used}

Parameter

port-mapping

Displays Fixed-NAT port mappings for a specific NAT address.

Customer Driven Innovation Document No.: D-030-01-00-0003 - Ver. 2.6.6-GR1 5/8/2013



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference

Fixed-NAT Show Commands

quota-used

Lists the number of sessions the client currently has active, and the number of TCP, UDP, and ICMP ports in use by the client,

Mode

show fixed-nat nat-address

All

Description	Display Fixed-NAT address information.	
Syntax	<pre>show fixed-nat nat-address ipv4addr [portnum [tcp udp icmp] port-mapping]</pre>	
	Parameter	Description
	portnum [tcp udp icmp]	Specifies the protocol port. The tcp udp icmp option specifies the protocol. If you omit this option, the output applies to TCP ports. In the case of Fixed NAT, if you use the simplified syntax in this section, the same port ranges are used for each protocol. The TCP port range assigned to a Fixed NAT client is always the same as the UDP and ICMP port ranges assigned to that client.
	port-mapping	Displays Fixed-NAT port mappings for a specific NAT address.
Mode	All	

show fixed-nat statistics

Description Show statistics for Fixed-NAT.

Syntax show fixed-nat statistics

Mode All




Table 29 describes the fields in this command's output.

Field	Description
Field	Description
Total NAT	Total number of NAT pool addresses in use.
Addresses in-use	
Total TCP Ports	Total number of TCP ports allocated for user sessions.
Allocated	
Total TCP Ports	Total number of TCP ports freed for use by other sessions.
Freed	
Total UDP Ports	Total number of UDP ports allocated for user sessions.
Allocated	
Total UDP Ports	Total number of UDP ports freed for use by other sessions.
Freed	1 5
Total ICMP	Total number of ICMP ports allocated for user sessions
Ports Allocated	
Total ICMP	Total number of ICMP ports freed for use by other sessions
Ports Freed	Total humber of Territ ports freed for use by other sessions.
NAT/4 Data	Total number of NAT/4 Fixed NAT data sessions created
Sessions Created	Total humber of tVA144 Fixed-tVA1 data sessions created.
NAT44 Data	Total number of NAT44 Eined NAT data cassions froad
NAI44 Data	Total number of INAT44 Fixed-INAT data sessions freed.
NATCA Data	T. (1
NAI 04 Data	Total number of NAT64 Fixed-NAT data sessions created.
Sessions Created	
NAI 64 Data	Iotal number of NAI64 Fixed-NAI data sessions freed.
Sessions Freed	
TCP NAT Port	Number of times a TCP port for an LSN NAT session was
Unavailable	unavailable.
UDP NAT Port	Number of times a UDP port for an LSN NAT session was
Unavailable	unavailable.
ICMP NAT Port	Number of times an ICMP port for an LSN NAT session was
Unavailable	unavailable.
New User NAT	Number of times LSN resources (ICMP, TCP, or UDP) were
Resource	not available for a new user.
Unavailable	
TCP User Quota	Number of times the TCP quota for a user was exceeded.
Exceeded	
UDP User Quota	Number of times the UDP quota for a user was exceeded.
Exceeded	
ICMP	Number of times the ICMP quota for a user was exceeded.
User Quota	
Exceeded	
Sessions User	Number of times a client exceeded their data session quota.
Quota Exceeded	

TABLE 29	show fixed-nat statistics	fields
----------	---------------------------	--------



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference

Fixed-NAT Show Commands

Field	Description
NAT44 TCP	Total number of NAT44 TCP full-cone sessions created.
Full-Cone	
Created	
NAT44 TCP	Total number of NAT44 TCP full-cone sessions freed.
Full-Cone Freed	
NAT44 UDP	Total number of NAT44 UDP full-cone sessions created.
Full-Cone	
Created	
NAT44 UDP	Total number of NAT44 UDP full-cone sessions freed.
Full-Cone Freed	
NAT44 UDP	Total number of NAT44 UDP full-cone sessions created that
ALG Full-Cone	used ALG support.
Created	
NAT44 UDP	Total number of NAT44 UDP full-cone sessions freed that
ALG Full-Cone	used ALG support.
Freed	
NAT64 TCP	Total number of NAT64 TCP full-cone sessions created.
Full-Cone	
Created	
NAT64 TCP	Total number of NAT64 TCP full-cone sessions freed.
Full-Cone Freed	
NAT64 UDP	Total number of NAT64 UDP full-cone sessions created.
Full-Cone	
Created	
NAT64 UDP	Total number of NAT64 UDP full-cone sessions freed.
Full-Cone Freed	
NAT64 UDP	Total number of NAT64 UDP full-cone sessions created that
ALG Full-Cone	used ALG support.
Created	
NAT64 UDP	Total number of NAT64 UDP full-cone sessions freed that
ALG Full-Cone	used ALG support.
Fieed	
Full-Cone Session Creation	Number of times creation of a full-cone session failed.
Session Creation	
	Number of times the NAT44 meaning agains data a slight
NAI44 Endpoint	Number of times the NAT44 mapping assigned to a client
Independent	benefit provided by Endpoint independent mapping)
Mapping	concin provided by Endpoint independent independent.
Matched	
NAT64	Number of times the NAT64 mapping assigned to a client
Endpoint-	was reused for subsequent traffic for that client.
Independent	1
Mapping	
Matched	

TABLE 29	show fixed-nat statistics fields	(Continued)





AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference Fixed-NAT Show Commands

Field	Description
NAT44 Endpoint- Independent Filtering Matched	Number of times traffic from any source to a given NAT44 mapped client was forwarded to the internal client, regardless of the endpoint. (This is the benefit provided by Endpoint independent filtering.)
NAT64 Endpoint- Independent Filtering Matched	Number of times traffic from any source to a given NAT64 mapped client was forwarded to the internal client, regardless of the endpoint.
NAT44 Endpoint- Dependent Filtering Drop	Number of times traffic to a NAT44 mapped client was dropped because endpoint-independent filtering was not enabled, and the traffic was not from the endpoint mapped to the client.
NAT64 Endpoint- Dependent Filtering Drop	Number of times traffic to a NAT64 mapped client was dropped because endpoint-independent filtering was not enabled, and the traffic was not from the endpoint mapped to the client.
NAT44 Endpoint- Independent Filtering Inbound Limit Exceeded	Number of times the limit for EIF sessions on a NAT44 map- ping was exceeded.
NAT64 Endpoint- Independent Filtering Inbound Limit Exceeded	Number of times the limit for EIF sessions on a NAT64 map- ping was exceeded.
NAT44 Hairpin Session Created	Total number of NAT44 hairpin sessions created.
NAT64 Hairpin Session Created	Total number of NAT64 hairpin sessions created.
Fixed NAT LID not Enabled	Number of times Fixed-NAT could not be performed because the Fixed-NAT LID was disabled.
Fixed NAT LID Standby Drop	Number of packets dropped because the Fixed-NAT LID is in an HA group, and this AX device was the Standby for that HA group.
Self-Hairpin- ning Drop	Number of times traffic was dropped because the inside source and destination addresses were the same.

TARI F 29	show fixed-nat statistics fields	(Continued)
		(Commucu)



Config Commands: Server Resource Commands

Configure server resources for external logging for IPv6 migration features.

This CLI level also has the following commands, which are available at all configuration levels:

- clear See <u>"clear" on page 59</u>.
- **debug** See <u>"debug" on page 64</u>.
- **do** See <u>"do" on page 117</u>.
- end See <u>"end" on page 123</u>.
- exit See <u>"exit" on page 124</u>.
- **no** See <u>"no" on page 155</u>.
- show See <u>"Show Commands" on page 689</u>.
- write See <u>"write terminal" on page 78</u>.

slb buff-thresh

Description	Fine-tune thresholds for server buffer queues.	
	Caution: Do not use this comm	nand except under advisement by A10 Networks.
Syntax	[no] slb buff-t relieve-thresh sys-buff-high n	hresh hw-buff num num sys-buff-low num num
	Parameter	Description
	hw-buff num	IO buffer threshold. For each CPU, if the number of queued entries in the IO buffer reaches this threshold, fast aging is enabled and no more IO buffer entries are allowed to be queued on the CPU's IO buffer.
	relieve-thresh	
	num	Threshold at which fast aging is disabled, to allow IO buffer entries to be queued again.



	sys-buff-low num	Threshold of queued system buffer entries at which the AX begins refusing new incoming connections.
	sys-buff-high num	Threshold of queued system buffer entries at which the AX device drops a connection when- ever a packet is received for that connection.
Mode	Configuration mode	

slb fast-path-disable

Description	Disable fast-path packet inspection.
Syntax	[no]slb fast-path-disable
Default	Fast processing of packets is enabled by default.
Mode	Configuration mode
Usage	Fast processing of packets maximizes performance by using all the underly- ing hardware assist facilities. Typically, the feature should remain enabled. The option to disable it is provided only for troubleshooting, in case it is suspected that the fast processing logic is causing an issue. If you disable fast-path processing, ACOS does not perform a deep inspection of every field within a packet.

slb gateway-health-check

Description	Enable gateway health monitoring.	
Syntax	<pre>slb gateway-health-check [interval seconds [timeout seconds]]</pre>	
	Parameter	Description
	interval	
	seconds	Specifies the amount of time between health check attempts, 1-180 seconds.
	timeout seconds	Specifies how long the AX device waits for a reply to any of the ARP requests, 1-60 seconds.
Default	The default interval is 5 s	seconds. The default timeout is 15 seconds.
618 of 804		Customer Driven Innovation

Document No.: D-030-01-00-0003 - Ver. 2.6.6-GR1 5/8/2013



Mode	Configuration mode
Usage	Gateway health monitoring uses ARP to test the availability of nexthop gateways. When the AX device needs to send a packet through a gateway, the AX device begins sending ARP requests to the gateway.
	• If the gateway replies to any ARP request within a configurable timeout, the AX device forwards the packet to the gateway.
	• The ARP requests are sent at a configurable interval. The AX device waits for a configurable timeout for a reply to any request. If the gateway does not respond to any request before the timeout expires, the AX device selects another gateway and begins the health monitoring process again.

slb l2l3-trunk-lb-disable

Description	Disable or re-enable trunk load balancing.
Syntax	[no] slb 1213-trunk-lb-disable
Default	Enabled
Mode	Configuration mode
Usage	When trunk load balancing is enabled, the AX device load balances out- bound Layer 2/3 traffic among all the ports in a trunk. The round-robin method is used to load balance the traffic. For example, in a trunk contain- ing ports 1-4, the first Layer 2/3 packet is sent on port 1. The second packet is sent on port 2. The third packet is sent on port 3, and so on.
	If you disable trunk load balancing, the lead port was always used for out- bound traffic. The other ports were standby ports in case the lead port went down.
	Trunk load balancing applies only to Layer 2/3 traffic, and is enabled by default. However, the CLI provides a command to disable trunk load balancing, in case there is a need to do so. Disabling trunk load balancing causes the AX device to use only the lead port for outbound traffic.



Description		Configure the maximum session life for client-server sessions. The maxi- mum session life controls how long the AX device maintains a session table entry for a client-server session after the session ends.		
Syntax		[no] slb msl-time seconds		
		Parameter	Description	
		seconds	Number of seconds a client session can remain in the session table following completion of the ses- sion. You can specify 1-40 seconds.	
Default		2 seconds		
Mode		Configuration mode		
Usage		The maximum session life allows time for retransmissions from clients or servers, which can occur if there is an error in a transmission. If a retrans- mission occurs while the AX device still has a session entry for the session, the AX device is able to forward the retransmission. However, if the session table entry has already aged out, the AX device drops the retransmission instead.		
		The maximum session life begins aging out a session table entry when the session ends:		
		• TCP – The session ends when the AX device receives a TCP FIN from the client or server.		
		• UDP – The session ends after the AX device receives a server response to the client's request. If the reply is fragmented, the maximum session life begins only after the last fragment is received.		
No	ote:	For UDP sessions, the maximum session life is used only if UDP aging is set to short , instead of immediate . UDP aging is set in the UDP template bound to the UDP virtual port. The default setting is short .		
slb server				
Description		Configure a server for DNS64 / NAT64 (<u>"slb server" on page 518</u>) or for external session logging (<u>"slb server" on page 601</u>).		



slb service-group

Description	Configure a service group for DNS64 / NAT64 ("slb service-group" on		
	page 520) or for external session logging ("slb service-group" on page 603).		

slb ssl-module

Description	Disable the SSL acceleration module.	
Syntax	[no] slb ssl-module software	
Default	SSL acceleration modules are enabled.	
Mode	Configuration mode	
Usage	This command applies only to add-on SSL acceleration modules, not to the on-board SSL processors.	

slb template dns

Description	Configure DNS settings.			
Syntax	[no] slb template dns template-name			
	Parameter	Description		
	template-name	Name of the template, 1-31 characters.		
	This command changes DNS template, where the	This command changes the CLI to the configuration level for the specified DNS template, where the following commands are available.		
	(The other commands a <u>"Config Commands: Glo</u>	tre common to all CLI configuration levels. See <u>abal" on page 83</u> .)		
	Command	Description		
	[no] class-list			
	lid num	Configures a DNS caching rule. The settings in the rule apply to queries for the domain names mapped to this rule in the class list.		
		[no] conn-rate-limit <i>rate</i> per <i>interval</i> – Specifies the maximum rate allowed for queries. If queries exceed the specified rate, the over-limit action is applied. You can specify 1-4294967295		

DNS connections per 1-65535 100-millisecond (ms) intervals.

dns {**cache-enable** | **cache-disable**} – Specifies whether to cache replies to queries for the domain name.

[**no**] **dns ttl** *num* – Number of seconds the AX device caches DNS replies. You can specify 1-65535 seconds.

[no] dns weight *num* – Specifies the numeric value used when cache entries need to be removed to make room for new entries. You can assign a weight of 1-7. Lower-weighted objects are removed before higher weighted objects.

Cache more than 60% full, entries with weight 1 are eligible to be removed.

Cache more than 70% full, entries with weight 1 or 2 are eligible to be removed.

Cache more than 80% full, entries with weights 1-4 are eligible to be removed.

Cache more than 90% full, entries with weights 1-6 are eligible to be removed.

Note: A DNS reply begins aging as soon as it is cached and continues aging even if the cached reply is used after aging starts. Use of a cached reply does not reset the age of that reply.

[**no**] **over-limit-action** *action* – Specifies the action to take if the query rate exceeds the configured limit:

dns-cache-disable – Disables caching.

dns-cache-enable – Enables caching.

forward – Forwards the request to the DNS server.

lockout *minutes* – Stops accepting new requests for the specified number of minutes, 1-1023.

log – Generates a log message when the query rate is exceeded.

reset – Resets the connection with the client.



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference

	[no] class-list name name	Applies a class list to the template.	
	[no] default- policy [cache nocache]	Specifies the default action to take when a query does not match any class-list entries.	
	[no] disable- cache	Disables DNS caching on all virtual DNS ports that use the template.	
	[no] dns-log- enable period minutes	Enables logging for DNS caching. The period option specifies how often log messages are generated. You can specify 1-10000 minutes.	
	<pre>[no] malformed- query {drop forward service-group- name}</pre>	Specifies the action to take for malformed DNS queries:	
		drop – Drops malformed queries.	
		forward – Sends the queries to the specified service group. With either option, the malformed queries are not sent to the DNS virtual port.	
	[no] max-cache- size num	Specifies the maximum number of entries that can be cached per VIP. The maximum configu- rable amount depends on the amount of RAM installed on the AX device. For details, contact A10 Networks.	
Default The configuration does not h one, the template has the following the followi		not have a default DNS template. If you configure following default values:	
	• class-list name – not set		
	 class-list lid – Not set default values: conn-rate-limit - dns {cache-enab dns ttl – Global I default. (See <u>"slb</u> dns weight – 1 	t. When you configure an LID, it has the following - not set le cache-disable} – cache-disable DNS caching TTL value, which is 300 seconds by dns-cache-age" on page 492.)	

Aleworks	AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference		
	• default-policy – noc	ache	
	• disable-cache – cach	ing is enabled	
	• dns-log-enable – disabled		
	drop		
	• max-cache-size – ma	ximum allowed on the entire system	
Mode	Configure		
Usage	The normal form of this command creates a DNS template. The " no " for of this command removes the template.		
	You can bind only one I bind the same DNS temp	DNS template to a virtual port. However, you can late to multiple ports.	
	For DNS64, bind the te type dns applies to DNS	mplate to virtual port type dns-udp . Virtual port security (malformed-query option).	
	DNS templates are not su	pported with stateless load-balancing methods.	
slb template p	oolicy		
Description	Configure a template of I	Policy-Based SLB (PBSLB) settings.	
Syntax	 [no] slb template policy template-name This command changes the CLI to the configuration level for the specifie PBSLB template, where the following commands are available. (The other commands are common to all CLI configuration levels. Se <u>"Config Commands: Global" on page 83</u>.) 		
	Command	Description	
	[no] class-list client-ip {13-dest 17-header		
	[header-name]}	Specifies the IP address to use for matching entries in an IP class list.	
		13-dest – Matches based on the destination IP address in packets from clients.	
		17-header [<i>header-name</i>] – Matches based on the IP address in the specified header in packets	



from clients. The *header-name* specifies the name of the header to use. If you do not specify a header name, the X-Forwarded-For header is used.

[no] class-list

lid num

Configures an IP limiting rule for the IP limiting feature. This command changes the CLI to the configuration level for the rule, where the following commands are available:

[no] conn-limit *num* – Specifies the maximum number of concurrent connections allowed for a client. You can specify 0-1048575. Connection limit 0 immediately locks down matching clients.

[no] conn-rate-limit *num* **per** *num-of-100ms* – Specifies the maximum number of new connections allowed for a client within the specified limit period. You can specify 1-4294967295 connections. The limit period can be 100-6553500 milliseconds (ms), specified in increments of 100 ms.

[no] request-limit *num* – Specifies the maximum number of concurrent Layer 7 requests allowed for a client. You can specify 1-1048575.

[**no**] **request-rate-limit** *num* **per** *num-of-100ms* – Specifies the maximum number of Layer 7 requests allowed for the client within the specified limit period. You can specify 1-4294967295 connections. The limit period can be 100-6553500 milliseconds (ms), specified in increments of 100 ms.

Note: The class-list **request-limit** and **request-rate-limit** options apply only to HTTP, fast-HTTP, and HTTPS virtual ports.

These options, when configured in a policy template, are applicable only in policy templates that are bound to virtual ports. These options are not applicable in policy templates bound to virtual servers (rather than individual ports), or in policy templates used for system-wide PBSLB.

The over-limit-action log option, when used with the **request-limit** or **request-rate-limit** option, always lists Ethernet port 1 as the interface.



[no] over-limit-action [forward | reset]

[**lockout** *minutes*] [**log** *minutes*] – Specifies the action to take when a client exceeds one or more of the limits. The command also configures lock-out and enables logging. The action can be one of the following:

- drop – The AX device drops that traffic. If logging is enabled, the AX device also generates a log message. (There is no **drop** keyword. This is the default action.)

- **forward** – The AX device forwards the traffic. If logging is enabled, the AX device also generates a log message.

- **reset** – For TCP, the AX device sends a TCP RST to the client. If logging is enabled, the AX device also generates a log message.

The **lockout** option specifies the number of minutes during which to apply the over-limit action after the client exceeds a limit. The lockout period is activated when a client exceeds any limit. The lockout period can be 1-1023 minutes.

The **logging** option generates log messages when clients exceed a limit. When you enable logging, a separate message is generated for each overlimit occurrence, by default. You can specify a logging period, in which case the AX device holds onto the repeated messages for the specified period, then sends one message at the end of the period for all instances that occurred within the period. The logging period can be 0-255 minutes. The default is 0 (no wait period).

[no] class-list name name Applies an IP class list to the template.

Default

The AX device does not have a default policy template. When you configure one, the template has the following default settings:

- class-list client-ip Client's IP address is used.
- class-list name not set
- **class-list lid** Not set. When you create one, the limiting rule has the following default values:
 - conn-limit Not set
 - conn-rate-limit Not set

Aleworks	AX Serie	s - Command Line Interface Reference
	 request-limit – N request-rate-limit over-limit-action ging is disabled b period). 	lot set it – Not set – Drop. There is no default lockout period. Log- y default. The default logging period is 0 (no wait
Mode	Configuration mode	
Usage	The normal form of this c of this command removes	command creates a policy template. The " no " form s the template.
	You can bind only one po bind the same policy temp	plicy template to a virtual port. However, you can plate to multiple ports.
slb template po	rt	
Description	Configure a template of S	LB settings for service ports on real servers.
Syntax	[no] slb templat	e port template-name
	Parameter	Description
	template-name	Name of the template, 1-31 characters.
	This command changes the real port template, where	he CLI to the configuration level for the specified the following commands are available.
	(The other commands are common to all CLI configuration levels. S <u>"Config Commands: Global" on page 79</u> .)	
	Command	Description
	[no] conn-limit max-connections [resume connections]	
	[no-logging]	allowed on ports that use this template.
		The <i>max-connections</i> option specifies the maximum number of concurrent connections, 0-8000000.
		The resume connections option specifies the maximum number of connections the port can have before the AX device resumes use of the port. You can specify 1-1048575 connections.



	The no-logging option disables logging for the feature.
<pre>[no] conn-rate- limit connections [per {100ms lagg]]</pre>	
[no-logging]	Limits the rate of new connections the AX device is allowed to send to ports that use this template. When a real port reaches its connection limit, the AX device stop selecting the port to serve client requests.
	<i>connections</i> – Maximum of new connections allowed on the port. You can specify 1-1048575 connections.
	per { 100ms 1sec } – Specifies whether the connection rate limit applies to one-second intervals or 100-ms intervals. The default is one- second intervals (1sec).
	The no-logging option disables logging for the feature.
[no] dest-nat	Enables destination Network Address Transla- tion (NAT) on ports that use this template.
	Destination NAT is enabled by default, but is automatically disabled in Direct Server Return (DSR) configurations. You can re-enable destina- tion NAT on individual ports for deployment of mixed DSR configurations, which use backup servers across Layer 3 (in different subnets).
[no] dscp	
number	Sets the differentiated services code point (DSCP) value in the IP header of a client request before sending the request to ports that use this template. The <i>number</i> specifies the DSCP value and can be 1-63. By default, DSCP is not set by the AX device.
[no] dynamic- member-priority	
num decrement delta	Configure service-group priority settings for ports on dynamically created servers. The <i>num</i> option sets the initial TTL for dynamically created service-group members, and can be 1-16.



	The <i>delta</i> option specifies how much to decre- ment the TTL if the IP address is not included in the DNS reply, and can be 0-7. When configuring the service group, add the port template to the member.
[no] health-	
[monitor-name]	Enables health monitoring of ports that use this template. The <i>monitor-name</i> specifies the name of a configured health monitor.
<pre>[no] inband- health-check [retry maximum- retries] [reassign maximum-</pre>	
reassigns]	Supplements the standard Layer 4 health checks by using client-server traffic to check the health of service ports.
	retry <i>maximum-retries</i> – Each client-server session has its own retry counter. The AX device increments a session's retry counter each time a SYN ACK is late. If the retry counter exceeds the configured maximum number of retries allowed, the AX device sends the next SYN for the session to a different server. The AX device also resets the retry counter to 0. You can set the retry counter to 0-7 retries.
	reassign maximum-reassigns – Each real port has its own reassign counter. Each time the retry counter for any session is exceeded, the AX device increments the reassign counter for the server port. If the reassign counter exceeds the configured maximum number of reassignments allowed, the AX device marks the port down.
	In this case, the port remains down until the next time the port successfully passes a standard health check. Once the port passes a standard health check, the AX device starts using the port again and resets the reassign counter to 0. You can set the reassign counter to 0-255 reassign- ments. The default is 25 reassignments.

Note: A10 Networks recommends that you continue to use standard Layer 4 health monitoring even if you enable in-band health monitoring. Without



standard health monitoring, a server port marked down by an in-band health check remains down.

[no] slow-start
[from startingconn-limit]
[times scalefactor | add
conn-incr]
[every
interval]
[till endingconn-limit]

Provides time for real ports that use the template to ramp-up after TCP/UDP service is enabled, by temporarily limiting the number of new connections on the ports.

from *starting-conn-limit* – Maximum number of concurrent connections to allow on the service port after it first comes up. You can specify from 1-4095 concurrent connections. The default is 128.

times *scale-factor* | **add** *conn-incr* – Amount by which to increase the maximum number of concurrent connections allowed. You can use one of the following methods to specify the increment:

times *scale-factor* – The scale factor is the number by which to multiply the starting connection limit. For example, if the scale factor is 2 and the starting connection limit is 128, the AX device increases the connection limit to 256 after the first ramp-up interval. The scale factor can be 2-10. The default is 2.

add *conn-incr* – As an alternative to specifying a scale factor, you can instead specify how many more concurrent connections to allow. You can specify 1-4095 new connections.

every *interval* – Number of seconds between each increase of the number of concurrent connections allowed. For example, if the ramp-up interval is 10 seconds, the number of concurrent connections to allow is increased every 10 seconds. The ramp-up interval can be 1-60 seconds. The default is 10 seconds.



till *ending-conn-limit* – Maximum number of concurrent connections to allow during the final ramp-up interval. After the final ramp-up interval, the slow start is over and does not limit further connections to the server. You can specify from 1-65535 connections. The default is 4096.

Note: If a normal runtime connection limit is also configured (for example, by the **conn-limit** command), and the normal connection limit is smaller than the slow-start ending connection limit, the AX device limits slow-start connections to the maximum allowed by the normal connection limit.

source-nat	
pool-name	Specifies the IP NAT pool to use for assigning source IP addresses to client traffic sent to ports that use this template. When the AX device per- forms NAT for a port that is bound to the tem- plate, the device selects an IP address from the pool.
[no] weight	
number	Specifies the load-balancing preference for ports that use this template. You can specify 1-100. A higher weight gives more favor to the server and port relative to the other servers and ports. Default is 1.
	This option applies only to the weighted-least-connection , service-weighted-least-connection , and weighted-rr (weighted round robin) load-balancing methods.
	fould used usert to use later as 11 ad "defeurlt". The defeurlt

Default The AX device has a default real port template, called "default". The default port template has the same default settings as the individual parameters you can configure in the template. Here are the defaults:

- **conn-limit** 8000000 (8 million)
- conn-rate-limit Not set; when enabled, the default sampling rate is per 1-sec.
- **dest-nat** Not set
- dscp Not set
- dynamic-member-priority priority 16 and delta 0



	• health-check – If you omit this command or you enter it without the <i>monitor-name</i> option, the default TCP or UDP health monitor is used:
	• TCP – Every 30 seconds, the AX device sends a connection request (TCP SYN) to the specified TCP port on the server. The port passes the health check if the server replies to the AX device by sending a TCP SYN ACK.
	• UDP – Every 30 seconds, the AX device sends a packet with a valid UDP header and a garbage payload to the UDP port. The port passes the health check if the server either does not reply, or replies with any type of packet <i>except</i> an ICMP Error message.
	• inband-health-check – Disabled. When enabled, the feature has the following defaults: <i>maximum-retries</i> – 2; <i>maximum-reassigns</i> – 25.
	• slow-start – Not set
	• source-nat – Not set
	• weight – 1
Mode	Configuration mode
Usage	The normal form of this command creates a real port template. The " no " form of this command removes the template.
	You can bind only one real port template to a real port. However, you can bind the real port template to multiple real ports.
	Some of the parameters that can be set using a template can also be set or changed on the individual port.
	• If a parameter is set (or changed from its default) in both a template and on the individual port, the setting on the individual port takes precedence.
	• If a parameter is set (or changed from its default) in a template but is not set or changed from its default on the individual port, the setting in the template takes precedence.
	If you change the connection limiting configuration on a virtual port or vir- tual server that has active sessions, or in a virtual-port or virtual-server tem- plate bound to the virtual server or virtual port, the current connection counter for the virtual port or server in show command output and in the GUI may become incorrect. To avoid this, do not change the connection limiting configuration until the virtual server or port does not have any active connections.



slb template server

Description	Configure server settings		
Syntax	[no] slb templat	e server template-name	
	Parameter	Description	
	template-name	Name of the template, 1-31 characters.	
	This command changes t real server template, whe	he CLI to the configuration level for the specified re the following commands are available.	
	(The other commands are common to all CLI configuration levels. See <u>"Config Commands: Global" on page 79</u> .)		
	Command	Description	
	<pre>[no] conn-limit max-connections [resume connections] [no-logging]</pre>	Specifies the maximum number of connections allowed on real servers that use this template.	
		The <i>max-connections</i> option specifies the maximum number of concurrent connections, 0-8000000.	
		The resume connections option specifies the maximum number of connections the server can have before the AX device resumes use of the server. You can specify 1-1048575 connec- tions.	
		The no-logging option disables logging for the feature.	
	<pre>[no] conn-rate- limit connections [per {100ms lsec}] [no-logging]</pre>	Limits the rate of new connections the AX device is allowed to send to servers that use this tem- plate. When a real server reaches its connection	
		limit, the AX device stops selecting the server for client requests.	



	<i>connections</i> – Maximum of new connections allowed on a server. You can specify 1-1048575 connections.
	per { 100ms 1sec } – Specifies whether the connection rate limit applies to one-second intervals or 100-ms intervals.
	The no-logging option disables logging for the feature.
[no] dns-query- interval	
minutes	Specifies how often the AX device sends DNS queries for the IP addresses of dynamic real servers. You can specify 1-1440 minutes (one day).
[no] dynamic-	
string	Specifies the prefix added to the front of dynami- cally created servers. You can specify a string of 1-3 characters.
[no] health- check	
[monitor-name]	Enables health monitoring of ports that use this template. The <i>monitor-name</i> specifies the name of a configured health monitor.
	If you omit this command or you enter it without the <i>monitor-name</i> option, the default ICMP health monitor is used: an ICMP ping (echo request) is sent every 30 seconds. If the ping fails 2 times consecutively, the AX device sets the server state to DOWN.
[no] max- dvnamic-server	
num	Specifies the maximum number of dynamic real servers that can be created for a given hostname. You can specify 1-1023.
[no] min-ttl- ratio num	Specifies the minimum initial value for the TTL of dynamic real servers. The AX device multiplies this value by the DNS query interval to calculate the minimum TTL value to assign to the dynamically created server. The min-ttl-ratio can be 1-15.



[no] slow-start
[from startingconn-limit]
[times scalefactor | add
conn-incr]
[every
interval]
[till endingconn-limit]

Provides time for real ports that use the template to ramp-up after TCP/UDP service is enabled, by temporarily limiting the number of new connections on the ports.

from *starting-conn-limit* – Maximum number of concurrent connections to allow on the server after it first comes up. You can specify from 1-4095 concurrent connections. The default is 128.

times *scale-factor* | **add** *conn-incr* – Amount by which to increase the maximum number of concurrent connections allowed. You can use one of the following methods to specify the increment:

times *scale-factor* – The scale factor is the number by which to multiply the starting connection limit. For example, if the scale factor is 2 and the starting connection limit is 128, the AX device increases the connection limit to 256 after the first ramp-up interval. The scale factor can be 2-10. The default is 2.

add *conn-incr* – As an alternative to specifying a scale factor, you can instead specify how many more concurrent connections to allow. You can specify 1-4095 new connections.

every *interval* – Number of seconds between each increase of the number of concurrent connections allowed. For example, if the ramp-up interval is 10 seconds, the number of concurrent connections to allow is increased every 10 seconds. The ramp-up interval can be 1-60 seconds. The default is 10 seconds.

till *ending-conn-limit* – Maximum number of concurrent connections to allow during the final ramp-up interval. After the final ramp-up inter-



val, the slow start is over and does not limit further connections to the server. You can specify from 1-65535 connections. The default is 4096.

Note: If a normal runtime connection limit is also configured on the server (for example, by the **conn-limit** command), and the normal connection limit is smaller than the slow-start ending connection limit, the AX device limits slow-start connections to the maximum allowed by the normal connection limit.

Default The AX device has a default real server template, called "default". The default server template has the same default settings as the individual parameters you can configure in the template. Here are the defaults:

- conn-limit 8000000 (8 million)
- conn-rate-limit Not set; when enabled, the default sampling rate is per 1-sec.
- dns-query-interval 10 minutes
- dynamic-server-prefix DRS (for "Dynamic Real Servers")
- health-check If you omit this command or you enter it without the *monitor-name* option, the default ICMP health monitor is used. An ICMP ping (echo request), sent every 30 seconds. If the ping fails 2 times consecutively, the AX device sets the server state to DOWN.
- max-dynamic-server 255
- min-ttl-ratio -2
- slow-start Not set

Mode Configuration mode

Usage The normal form of this command creates a real server template. The "no" form of this command removes the template.

You can bind only one real server template to a real server. However, you can bind the real server template to multiple real servers.

Some of the parameters that can be set using a template can also be set or changed on the individual server.



- If a parameter is set (or changed from its default) in both a template and on the individual server, the setting on the individual server takes precedence.
- If a parameter is set (or changed from its default) in a template but is not set or changed from its default on the individual server, the setting in the template takes precedence.

If you change the connection limiting configuration on a virtual port or virtual server that has active sessions, or in a virtual-port or virtual-server template bound to the virtual server or virtual port, the current connection counter for the virtual port or server in show command output and in the GUI may become incorrect. To avoid this, do not change the connection limiting configuration until the virtual server or port does not have any active connections.

slb template virtual-port

Description	Configure a template of SLB settings for virtual service ports.		
Syntax	[no] slb template virtual-port template-name		
	Parameter	Description	
	template-name	Name of the template, 1-31 characters.	
	This command changes the CLI to the configuration level for the specified virtual port template, where the following commands are available. (The other commands are common to all CLI configuration levels. See <u>"Config Commands: Global" on page 79</u> .)		
	Command	Description	
	[no] aflow	Enables aFlow control. aFlow helps avoid packet drops and retransmissions when a real server port reaches its configured connection limit.	
		When aFlow is enabled, the AX device queues HTTP/HTTPS packets from clients when a server port reaches a configured connection limit, instead of dropping them. The AX device then monitors the port, and begins forwarding the queued packets when connections become avail- able again. To prevent flooding of the port, the AX device forwards the queued packets at a steady rate.	



aFlow applies only to HTTP and HTTPS virtual



	ports.
[no] conn-limit max-connections [reset]	
[no-logging]	Specifies the maximum number of connections allowed on virtual ports that use this template.
	The <i>max-connections</i> option specifies the maximum number of concurrent connections, 0-8000000.
	The reset option specifies the action to take for connections after the connection limit is reached on the virtual server port. By default, excess con- nections are dropped. If you change the action to reset, the connections are reset instead. Excess connections are dropped by default. The no-log- ging option disables logging for the feature.
[no] conn-rate- limit	
connections [per {100ms 1sec}] [reset]	
[no-logging]	Limits the rate of new connections the AX device is allowed to send to virtual service ports that use this template. When a virtual service port reaches its connection limit, the AX device stop selecting the port to serve client requests.
	<i>connections</i> – Maximum of new connections allowed on the virtual service port. You can specify 1-1048575 connections.
	per { 100ms 1sec } – Specifies whether the connection rate limit applies to one-second intervals or 100-ms intervals. The default is one- second intervals (1sec).
	reset – Send a reset (RST) to a client after the connection rate has been exceeded. By default (without this option), the AX device silently drops the request.
	If you configure a limit for a virtual server and also for an individual virtual service port, the AX device uses the lower limit.



		The no-logging option disables logging for the feature.	
	[no] ignore-		
	tcp-msl	Immediately reuse TCP sockets after session ter- mination, without waiting for the SLB Maximum Session Life (MSL) time to expire. This option is disabled by default.	
	[no] reset-		
	unknown-conn	Enables sending of a TCP Reset (RST) in response to a session mismatch. A session mis- match occurs when the AX device receives a TCP packet for a TCP session that is not in the active session table on the AX device. (For more information, see the "TCP Reset Option for Ses- sion Mismatch" section in the "Server and Port Templates" chapter of the AX Series Application Delivery and Server Load Balancing Guide.)	
Default	The AX device has a default virtual port tem parameters you can cor	default virtual port template, called "default". The aplate has the same default settings as the individual afigure in the template. Here are the defaults:	
	• aflow – disabled		
	• conn-limit – 80000	000 (8 million)	
	 conn-rate-limit – N per 1-sec. 	Not set; when enabled, the default sampling rate is	
	• ignore-tcp-msl – d	isabled	
	• reset-unknown-co	nn – disabled	
Mode	Configuration mode	Configuration mode	
Usage	The normal form of the " no " form of this c	The normal form of this command creates a virtual service port template. The " no " form of this command removes the template.	
	You can bind only one However, you can bind service ports.	virtual service port template to a virtual service port. I the virtual service port template to multiple virtual	
	Some of the parameter changed on the individual	rs that can be set using a template can also be set or ual virtual port.	



- If a parameter is set (or changed from its default) in both a template and on the individual virtual port, the setting on the individual virtual port takes precedence.
- If a parameter is set (or changed from its default) in a template but is not set or changed from its default on the individual virtual port, the setting in the template takes precedence.

If you change the connection limiting configuration on a virtual port or virtual server that has active sessions, or in a virtual-port or virtual-server template bound to the virtual server or virtual port, the current connection counter for the virtual port or server in show command output and in the GUI may become incorrect. To avoid this, do not change the connection limiting configuration until the virtual server or port does not have any active connections.

aFlow Operation

aFlow control is triggered when either of the following occurs:

- If connection limit is configured on the real server or real port The backend real server or real port reaches its configured connection limit.
- If connection limit is not configured on the real server or real port The response time of the backend real server or real port increases dramatically. The response time is the time between when the AX device forwards a request to the server, when the AX device receives the first reply packet from the server.

When aFlow control is triggered, the AX device queues request packets instead of forwarding them to the server. After the response time returns to normal, the AX device sends the queued packets to the server.

Note: In the current release, it is recommended to use the first method for triggering aFlow, by configuring connection limits on the real servers or real ports. The second method of triggering aFlow is still being refined and is considered to be in Beta status.

slb template virtual-server

Description	Configure a template of SLB settings for virtual servers.		
Syntax	[no] slb templa	[no] slb template virtual-server template-name	
	Parameter	Description	
	template-name	Name of the template, 1-31 characters.	



This command changes the CLI to the configuration level for the specified virtual server template, where the following commands are available.

(The other commands are common to all CLI configuration levels. See <u>"Config Commands: Global" on page 79</u>.)

Command

Description

	•	
[no] conn-limit max-connections [reset]		
[no-logging]	Specifies the maximum number of connections allowed on virtual servers that use this template.	
	The <i>max-connections</i> option specifies the maximum number of concurrent connections, 0-8000000.	
	The reset option specifies the action to take for connections after the connection limit is reached on the virtual server. By default, excess connec- tions are dropped. If you change the action to reset, the connections are reset instead. Excess connections are dropped by default.	
	The no-logging option disables logging for the feature.	
<pre>[no] conn-rate- limit connections [per {100ms lsec}] [reset]</pre>		
[no-logging]	Limits the rate of new connections the AX device is allowed to send to servers that use this tem- plate. When a real server reaches its connection limit, the AX device stop selecting the server for client requests.	
	<i>connections</i> – Maximum of new connections allowed on a server. You can specify 1-1048575 connections.	
	per { 100ms 1sec } – Specifies whether the connection rate limit applies to one-second intervals or 100-ms intervals. The default is one- second intervals (1sec).	
	reset – Send a reset (RST) to a client after the	

connection rate has been exceeded. By default



(without this option), the AX device silently drops the request.

If you configure a limit for a server and also for an individual port, the AX device uses the lower limit.

The **no-logging** option disables logging for the feature.

		[no] icmp-rate- limit normal- rate lockup	
		lockup-time	Configures ICMP rate limiting for the virtual server, to protect against denial-of-service (DoS) attacks.
			<i>normal-rate</i> – Maximum number of ICMP packets allowed per second. If the virtual server receives more than the normal rate of ICMP packets, the excess packets are dropped until the next one-second interval begins. The normal rate can be 1-65535 packets per second.
			lockup <i>max-rate</i> – Maximum number of ICMP packets allowed per second before the AX device locks up ICMP traffic to the virtual server. When ICMP traffic is locked up, all ICMP packets are dropped until the lockup expires. The maximum rate can be 1-65535 packets per second. The maximum rate must be larger than the normal rate.
			<i>lockup-time</i> – Number of seconds for which the AX device drops all ICMP traffic to the virtual server, after the maximum rate is exceeded. The lockup time can be 1-16383 seconds.
		[no] subnet- gratuitous-arp	Enable gratuitous ARPs for all VIPs in subnet VIPs. A subnet VIP is a range of VIPs created from a range of IP addresses within a subnet.
	Note:	This option applies onl IP addresses. The optic address.	ly to VIPs that are created using a range of subnet on has no effect on VIPs created with a single IP
Default		The AX device has a default virtual server template, called "default". The default virtual server template has the same default settings as the individual parameters you can configure in the template. Here are the defaults:	
642 of 804			Customer Driven Innovation

Document No.: D-030-01-00-0003 - Ver. 2.6.6-GR1 5/8/2013

Aleworks	AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference		
	• conn-limit – 8000000 (8 million)		
	 conn-rate-limit – Not set; when enabled, the default sampling rate is per 1-sec. 		
	• icmp-rate-limit – Not set. If you enable it, specifying a maximum rate (lockup rate) and lockup time is optional. If you do not specify them, lockup does not occur.		
	• subnet-gratuitous-arp – Disabled. The AX device sends gratuitous ARPs for only the first IP address in a subnet VIP.		
Mode	Configuration mode		
Usage	The normal form of this command creates a virtual server template. T " no " form of this command removes the template.		
	You can bind only one virtual server template to a virtual server. However, you can bind the virtual server template to multiple virtual servers.		
	Some of the parameters that can be set using a template can also be set or changed on the individual virtual server.		
	• If a parameter is set (or changed from its default) in both a template and on the individual virtual server, the setting on the individual virtual server takes precedence.		
	• If a parameter is set (or changed from its default) in a template but is not set or changed from its default on the individual virtual server, the setting in the template takes precedence.		
	If you change the connection limiting configuration on a virtual port or vir- tual server that has active sessions, or in a virtual-port or virtual-server tem- plate bound to the virtual server or virtual port, the current connection counter for the virtual port or server in show command output and in the GUI may become incorrect. To avoid this, do not change the connection limiting configuration until the virtual server or port does not have any active connections.		
slb virtual-ser	ver		
Description	Configure settings for a virtual server. (Virtual servers are also called "virtual IP addresses" or "VIPs").		
Syntax	<pre>[no] slb virtual-server name {ipaddr ipv6-addr}</pre>		



This command creates the virtual server and changes the CLI to the configuration level for the virtual server. For information about the commands at this level, see <u>"Config Commands: Virtual Servers" on page 645</u>.





Config Commands: Virtual Servers

This chapter describes the commands for configuring virtual servers.

To access this configuration level, enter the **slb virtual-server** *vipaddr vip-name* command at the global Config level.

To display configured virtual servers, use the **show slb virtual-server** command.

Note: The commands in this chapter apply to virtual servers (also called "VIPs"), not to real servers. To configure real servers, see <u>"slb server" on page 620</u>.

This CLI level also has the following commands, which are available at all configuration levels:

- clear See <u>"clear" on page 59</u>.
- **debug** See <u>"debug" on page 64</u>.
- **do** See <u>"do" on page 117</u>.
- end See <u>"end" on page 123</u>.
- **exit** See <u>"exit" on page 124</u>.
- **no** See <u>"no" on page 155</u>.
- show See <u>"Show Commands" on page 689</u>.
- write See <u>"write terminal" on page 78</u>.

arp-disable

Description	Disable ARP replies from a virtual server.		
Syntax	[no] arp-disable		
Default	ARP replies are enabled by default.		
Mode	Virtual server		
Usage	Use this command if you do not want the AX Series device to reply to ARP requests to the virtual server's IP address. For example, you can use this		



	command to put a VIP out of service on one AX device and use that de as a switch or router for another AX device providing SLB for the VIP.	
	When you disable ARP replies for a VIP, redistribution of routes to the VIP is automatically disabled.	
Example	The following command disables ARP replies:	
AX(config-slb virtual	server)# arp-disable	

disable

Description	Disable a virtual server.	
Syntax	[no] disable [when-all-ports-down]	
	Parameter	Description
	when-all-ports-	
	down	Automatically disables the virtual server if all its service ports are down. If OSPF redistribution of the VIP is enabled, the AX device also with- draws the route to the VIP in addition to dis- abling the virtual server.
Default	Virtual servers are enabled by default. The when-all-ports-down option is disabled by default.	
Mode	Virtual server	
Example	The following commands	disable virtual server "vs1":
AX(config)# slb virtual AX(config-slb virtual s	-server vsl server)#disable	

enable

Description	Enable a virtual server
Syntax	[no] enable
Default	Enabled
Mode	Virtual server



Example

The following commands re-enable virtual server "vs1":

AX(config)**#slb virtual-server vs1** AX(config-slb virtual server)**#enable**

extended-stats

Description	Enable collection of peak connection statistics for a virtual server.
Syntax	[no] extended-stats
Default	Disabled
Mode	Virtual server

ha-dynamic

Description	Enable VIP-based failover	r.
Syntax	[no] ha-dynamic server-weight	
	Parameter	Description
	server-weight	Amount to subtract from the HA group's priority value for each real server that becomes unavailable. The weight can be 1-255.
Default	Not set	
Mode	Virtual server	
Example	The following commands enable VIP-based failover	assign virtual server VIP2 to HA group 6 and for the virtual server.
AX(config)# slb virtual AX(config-slb virtual s AX(config-slb virtual s	VIP2 192.168.10.22 server)#ha group 6 server)#ha-dynamic 1	0

ha-group

Description	Add a virtual server to a High-Availability (HA) group.
Syntax	[no] ha-group group-id
Default	None.



Virtual server

ExampleThe following commands assign virtual server "vs1" to HA group 1:AX(config)#slb virtual-server vs1AX(config-slb virtual server)#ha-group 1

port

Mode

Description	Configure a virtual port on a virtual server, for the DNS proxy used for DNS64.
Syntax	[no] port port-number dns-udp
Default	N/A
Mode	Virtual server
Usage	The normal form of this command creates a new or edits an existing virtual port. The CLI changes to the configuration level for the virtual port. (See <u>"Config Commands: Virtual Server Ports" on page 651</u> .)

The "**no**" form of this command removes the specified virtual port from current virtual server.

redistribution-flagged

Description	Flag this VIP to selectively enable or disable redistribution of it by OSPF.
Syntax	[no] redistribution-flagged
Default	Not set. The VIP is automatically redistributed if VIP redistribution is enabled in OSPF.
Mode	Virtual server
Usage	Use this option if you want to redistribute only some of the VIPs rather than all of them.
	Selective VIP redistribution also requires configuration in OSPF. See the description of the vip option in <u>"redistribute" on page 321</u> .



stats-data-disable

Description	Disable collection of statistical data for the virtual server.
Syntax	stats-data-disable
Default	Statistical data collection for load-balancing resources is enabled by default.
Mode	Virtual server

stats-data-enable

Description	Enable collection of statistical data for the virtual server.
Syntax	stats-data-enable
Default	Statistical data collection for load-balancing resources is enabled by default.
Mode	Virtual server
Usage	To collect statistical data for a load-balancing resource, statistical data collection also must be enabled globally. (See <u>"stats-data-enable" on page 184</u> .)

template logging

Description	Bind a logging template to the virtual server.
Syntax	[no] template logging template-name
Default	None
Mode	Virtual server

template policy

Description	Bind a policy template to the virtual server.
Syntax	[no] template policy template-name
Default	None
Mode	Virtual server


template virtual-server

Bind a virtual server template to the virtual server.		
[no] template virtual-server template-name		
The virtual server template named "default" is bound to virtual servers by default. The parameter settings in the default virtual server template are automatically applied to the new virtual server, unless you bind a different virtual server template to the virtual server.		
Virtual server		
If a parameter is set individually on this virtual server and also is set in a vir- tual server template bound to this virtual server, the individual setting on this virtual server is used instead of the setting in the template.		
To configure a virtual server template, see <u>"slb template virtual-server" on page 640</u> .		
The following commands configure a virtual server template called "vs-tmplt1" that sets ICMP rate limiting, and bind the template to a virtual server:		
e server vs-tmplt1		
p-rate-limit 25000 lock 30000 60		
-server vip1 10.10.10.2		
server)#template virtual-server vs-tmplt1		





Config Commands: Virtual Server Ports

This chapter describes the commands for configuring virtual ports.

To access this configuration level, enter the **port** *port-num port-type* command at the configuration level for a virtual server.

This CLI level also has the following commands, which are available at all configuration levels:

the name of a configured IPv6 ACL

(name acl-name).

- clear See <u>"clear" on page 59</u>.
- **debug** See <u>"debug" on page 64</u>.
- **do** See <u>"do" on page 117</u>.
- end See <u>"end" on page 123</u>.
- exit See <u>"exit" on page 124</u>.
- **no** See <u>"no" on page 155</u>.
- show See <u>"Show Commands" on page 689</u>.
- write See <u>"write terminal" on page 78</u>.

access-list

 Description
 Apply an Access Control List (ACL) to a virtual server port.

 Syntax
 [no] access-list {acl-num | name acl-name} [source-nat-pool {pool-name | pool-group-name} [sequence-number num]]

 Parameter
 Description acl-num | name acl-name
 Description



	source-nat-pool pool-name pool-group-name		
	[sequence- number num]	Name of a configured IP source NAT pool or pool group. Use this option if you are configur- ing policy-based source NAT. Source NAT is required if the real servers are in a different sub- net than the VIP.	
		The sequence-number <i>num</i> option specifies the position of this ACL in the sequence of ACLs that are associated with IP source NAT pools and which are assigned to this virtual port. The sequence number is important because the AX device will use the IP addresses in the pool associated with the first ACL that matches the traffic.	
		By default, the ACL sequence is based on the order in which you apply them to the virtual port. The first ACL has sequence number 1, the second ACL has sequence number 2, and so on. You can specify 1-32 as the sequence number. To view the sequence, use the show running-config command to view the configuration for this virtual port.	
Default	N/A		
Mode	Virtual port		
Usage	The ACL must be config configure an ACL, see <u>"</u> (extended)" on page 82.	The ACL must be configured before you can apply it to a virtual port. To configure an ACL, see <u>"access-list (standard)" on page 80</u> and <u>"access-list (extended)" on page 82</u> .	
	To permit or deny traffic specify a NAT pool.	To permit or deny traffic on the virtual port, specify an ACL but do not specify a NAT pool.	
	To configure policy-base Use an extended ACL. address. The destination The action must be per- matches the ACL. This c ple pools, and to select a	To configure policy-based source NAT, specify an ACL <i>and</i> a NAT pool. Use an extended ACL. The source IP address must match on the client address. The destination IP address must match on the real server address. The action must be permit. The NAT pool is used only for traffic that matches the ACL. This configuration allows the virtual port to have multi- ple pools, and to select a pool based on the traffic.	
Example	The following commands subnet 10.10.10.x, and ap virtual port 8080 on virtu	s configure a standard ACL to deny traffic from oply the ACL to the inbound traffic direction on al server "slb1":	
652 of 804		Customer Driven Innovation	





```
AX(config)#access-list 99 deny 10.10.10.0 0.0.0.255
AX(config)#slb server slb1
AX(config-slb virtual server)#port 8080 http
AX(config-slb virtual server-slb virtua...)#access-list 99
```

Example

The following commands configure policy-based source NAT, by binding ACLs to NAT pools on the virtual port.

AX(config)#slb virtual-server vsl 10.10.10.100
AX(config-slb virtual server)#port 80 tcp
AX(config-slb virtual server-slb virtua...)#access-list 30 source-nat-pool
pool1
AX(config-slb virtual server-slb virtua...)#access-list 50 source-nat-pool
pool2

conn-limit

Description	Set the connection limit for a virtual port.	
Syntax	[no] conn-limit number [reset] [no-logging]	
	Parameter	Description
	number	Connection limit, 0-8000000 (8 million); 0 means no limit.
	reset	Sends a connection reset to the client, if the con- nection limit has been reached. If you omit this option, the connection is silently dropped and no reset is sent to the client.
	no-logging	Disables logging for this feature.
Default	Not set. If you set a limit, the default action for any new connection request after the limit has been reached is to silently drop the connection, without sending a reset to the client. Logging is enabled by default.	
Mode	Virtual port	
Usage	 The normal form of this command changes the current port's connection limit. The "no" form of this command resets the port's connection limit to its default value. The connection limit puts a hard limit on the number of concurrent connections supported by the port. No more connections will be put on the port if its number of current connections is already equal to or bigger than the limit. 	



If you change the connection limiting configuration on a virtual port or virtual server that has active sessions, or in a virtual-port or virtual-server template bound to the virtual server or virtual port, the current connection counter for the virtual port or server in show command output and in the GUI may become incorrect. To avoid this, do not change the connection limiting configuration until the virtual server or port does not have any active connections.

Example The following command changes a virtual port's connection limit to 10000: AX(config-slb virtual server-slb virtua...)#conn-limit 10000

def-selection-if-pref-failed

Description	Configure SLB to continue checking for an available server in other service groups if all of the servers are down in the first service group selected by SLB.		
Syntax	[no] def-selection-if-pref-failed		
Default	Enabled		
Mode	Virtual port		
Usage	During SLB selection of the preferred server to use for a client request, SLB checks the following configuration areas, in the order listed:		
	1. Layer 3-4 configuration items:		
	a. aFleX policies triggered by Layer 4 events. (Not applicable to IPv6 migration releases.)		
	 b. Policy-based SLB (black/white lists). PBSLB is a Layer 3 configuration item because it matches on IP addresses in black/white lists. (Not applicable to IPv6 migration releases.) 		
	2. Layer 7 configuration items:		
	a. Cookie switching		
	 aFleX policies triggered by Layer 7 events (Not applicable to IPv6 migration releases.) 		
	c. URL switching		
	d. Host switching		

Aleworks	AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference	
	 3. Default service group. If none of the items above results in selection of a server, the default service group is used. If the configuration uses only one service group, this is the default service group. If the configuration uses multiple service groups, the default service group is the one that is used if none of the templates used by the configuration selects another service group instead. 	
	The first configuration area that matches the client or VIP (as applicable) is used, and the client request is sent to a server in the service group that is applicable to that configuration area.	
	When the def-selection-if-pref-failed option is enabled, SLB continues to check for an available server in other service groups if all servers are down in the first service group selected by SLB.	
Example	The following command enables this option:	
AX(config-slb virtual	<pre>server-slb virtua)#def-selection-if-pref-failed</pre>	

disable

Description	Disable a virtual port.
Syntax	[no] disable
Default	Enabled
Mode	Virtual port
Example	The following command disables a virtual port:
AX(config-slb virtual	server-slb virtua)# disable

enable

Description	Enable a virtual port.
Syntax	[no] enable
Default	Enabled
Mode	Virtual port





Example The following command re-enables a virtual port: AX(config-slb virtual server-slb virtua...)#enable

extended-stats

Syntax[no] extended-statsDefaultDisabledModeVirtual portmameVirtual portnameChange the name assigned to the virtual port.Syntaxname stringParameterDescription stringDefaultThe AX device assigner virtual port.DefaultVirtual port.Introduced in Release2.6.6-P4SyntaxInter odde destination NAT: sector to the virtual port.DescriptionDisable destination NAT is enables by default.ModeQirtual portIntroduced in ReleaseDisable destination NAT is enables by default.Syntax[no] no-dest-nat:DefaultDestination NAT is enables by default.ModeVirtual portSyntax[no] no-dest-nat:Syntax[no] no-dest-nat:DefaultDisable destination NAT is enables Direct Server Return (DSR).	Description	Enable collection of peak connection statistics for a virtual port.		
DefaultDisabledModeVirtual portnameVirtual portDescriptionChange the name assigned to the virtual port.Syntaxname stringParameterDescription stringDefaultThe AX device assigner that uses the following format: _vip-addr_servictype_portnumModeVirtual portModeVirtual portIntroduced in Release2.6.6-P4SyntaxIntroduced in ReleaseDescriptionDisable destination NAT is evaluationSyntaxImageDescriptionDisable destination NAT is evaluationSyntaxImageDefaultDestination NAT is evaluationModeVirtual portDefaultDestination NAT is evaluationModeVirtual portDefaultDestination NAT is evaluationModeVirtual port	Syntax	[no] extended-stats		
ModeVirtual portnameChange the name assignedDescriptionChange the name assignedSyntaxname stringParameterDescriptionstringName for the virtual port.DefaultThe AX device assigned virtual set the following format: urip-addr_servi-verp_portnumModeVirtual portIntroduced in Release2.6.6-P4DescriptionDisable destination NAT: 	Default	Disabled		
name Description Change the name assigned to the virtual port. Syntax name string Parameter Parameter String Parameter String Parameter String Parameter String Parameter Parameter String Parameter	Mode	Virtual port		
DescriptionChange the name assigned to the virtual port.Syntaxname stringDescription stringParameterDescription stringName for the virtual port.DefaultThe AX device assigns a name that uses the following format: _vip-addr_servie_portnumModeVirtual portIntroduced in Release2.6.6-P4DescriptionDisable destination NAT is enabled by default.Syntax[no] no-dest-nat:DefaultDescriptionDefaultDisable destination NAT is enables by default.ModeVirtual portSyntax[no] no-dest-senat:DefaultDestination NAT is enables by default.ModeVirtual port	name			
Syntaxname stringParameterDescription Name for the virtual port.DefaultThe AX device assigns - ame that uses the following format: 	Description	Change the name assigned to the virtual port.		
ParameterDescriptionstringName for the virtual port.DefaultThe AX device assigner uses the following format: 	Syntax	name string		
stringName for the virtual port.DefaultThe AX device assigns a name that uses the following format: _vip-addr_service-type_portnumModeVirtual portIntroduced in Release2.6.6-P4DescriptionDisable destination NAT.DescriptionDisable destination NAT.Syntax[no] no-dest-natDefaultDestination NAT is enabled by default.ModeVirtual portSyntax[no] no-dest-natDefaultDestination NAT is enabled by default.ModeVirtual portModeVirtual portM		Parameter	Description	
DefaultThe AX device assigns a name that uses the following format: _vip-addr_service-type_portnumModeVirtual portModeVirtual portIntroduced in Release2.6.6-P4DescriptionDisable destination NAT.Syntax[no] no-dest-natDefaultDestination NAT is enabled by default.ModeVirtual portSyntax[no] no-dest-natDefaultDestination NAT is enabled by default.ModeVirtual portModeVirtual portUsageDisabling destination NAT enables Direct Server Return (DSR).		string	Name for the virtual port.	
vip-addr_service-type_portnumModevirual portIntroduced in Release2.6.6-P4DescriptionDisable destination NAT.Syntaxnol no-dest-natDefaultDestination NAT is enabled by default.ModeVirtual portUsageDisabling destination NAT enables Direct Server Return (DSR).	Default	The AX device assigns a	name that uses the following format:	
ModeVirtual portIntroduced in Release2.6.6-P4no-dest-natDisable destination NAT.DescriptionDisable destination NAT.Syntax[no] no-dest-natDefaultDestination NAT is enabled by default.ModeVirtual portUsageDisabling destination NAT enables Direct Server Return (DSR).		_vip-addr_service-type_portnum		
Introduced in Release2.6.6-P4no-dest-natDisable destination NAT.DescriptionDisable destination NAT.Syntax[no] no-dest-natDefaultDestination NAT is enabled by default.ModeVirtual portUsageDisabling destination NAT enables Direct Server Return (DSR).	Mode	Virtual port		
no-dest-natDescriptionDisable destination NAT.Syntax[no] no-dest-natDefaultDestination NAT is enabled by default.ModeVirtual portUsageDisabling destination NAT enables Direct Server Return (DSR).	Introduced in Release	2.6.6-P4		
DescriptionDisable destination NAT.Syntax[no] no-dest-natDefaultDestination NAT is enabled by default.ModeVirtual portUsageDisabling destination NAT enables Direct Server Return (DSR).	no-dest-nat			
Syntax[no] no-dest-natDefaultDestination NAT is enabled by default.ModeVirtual portUsageDisabling destination NAT enables Direct Server Return (DSR).	Description	Disable destination NAT.		
DefaultDestination NAT is enabled by default.ModeVirtual portUsageDisabling destination NAT enables Direct Server Return (DSR).	Syntax	[no] no-dest-nat		
ModeVirtual portUsageDisabling destination NAT enables Direct Server Return (DSR).	Default	Destination NAT is enabled by default.		
Usage Disabling destination NAT enables Direct Server Return (DSR).	Mode	Virtual port		
	Usage	Disabling destination NAT enables Direct Server Return (DSR).		



	In the current release, for IPv4 VIPs, DSR is supported on virtual port types (service types) TCP, UDP, FTP, and RTSP. For IPv6 VIPs, DSR is supported on virtual port types TCP, UDP, and RTSP.
	VIP redistribution is not supported for VIPs on which destination NAT has been disabled. For example, VIP redistribution is not supported for VIPs that are configured for Direct Server Return (DSR).
Example	The following command enables DSR:
AX(config-slb virtual	server-slb virtua)# no-dest-nat

service-group

Description	Bind a virtual port to a service group.	
Syntax	[no] service-group group-name	
	Parameter	Description
	group-name	Service-group name.
Default	N/A	
Mode	Virtual port	
Usage	 The normal form of this command binds the virtual port to the specified service group. The "no" form of this command removes the binding. One virtual port can be associated with one service group only, while one service group can be associated with multiple virtual ports. The type of service group and type of virtual port should match. For example, a UDP service group can not be bound to an HTTP virtual port. 	
Example	The following examples be the binding, respectively.	bind a service group to a virtual port, then remove
AX(config-slb virtual AX(config-slb virtual	<pre>server-slb virtua)#service-group tcp-grp server-slb virtua)#no service-group tcp-grp</pre>	



snat-on-vip

Description		Enable IP NAT support for the virtual port.		
Syntax		[no] snat-on-vip		
Default		Disabled		
Mode		Virtual port		
Usage		Source IP NAT can be configured on a virtual port in the following ways: 1. ACL-based source NAT (access-list command at virtual port level)		
		2. VIP source NAT (slb snat-on-vip command at global configuration level)		
		3. aFleX policy (aflex command at virtual port level). (Not applicable to IPv6 migration releases.)		
		4. Non-ACL source NAT (source-nat command at virtual port level)		
		These methods are used in the order shown above. For example, if IP source NAT is configured using an ACL on the virtual port, and the slb snat-on-vip command is also used, then a pool assigned by the ACL is used for traffic that is permitted by the ACL. For traffic that is not permitted by the ACL, VIP source NAT can be used instead.		
	Note:	The current release does not support source IP NAT on FTP or RTSP virtual ports.		
source-na	t			
Description		Enable source NAT. Source NAT is required if the real servers are in a dif- ferent subnet than the VIP.		
	Note:	This command is not applicable to the mms or rtsp service types.		
Syntax		<pre>[no] source-nat pool {pool-name pool-group-name}</pre>		



	Sub-Command	Description
	pool-name	Specifies the name of an IP pool of addresses to use as source addresses.
	pool-group-name	Specifies the name of a group of IP address pools to use as source addresses.
Default	Disabled.	
Mode	Virtual port	
Usage	 By default, source NAT is disabled. This command enables source NAT. This command enables source NAT using a single NAT pool or pool group, for all source addresses. If you want the AX device to select from among multiple pools based on source IP address, configure policy-based source NAT instead. See <u>"access-list" on page 651</u>. 	
Example	The following example en	nables source NAT for the virtual port:
AX(config-slb virtual	server-slb virtua)#source-nat pool pool2

stats-data-disable

Description	Disable collection of statistical data for the virtual port.
Syntax	stats-data-disable
Default	Statistical data collection for load-balancing resources is enabled by default.
Mode	Virtual port

stats-data-enable

Description	Enable collection of statistical data for the virtual port.
Syntax	stats-data-enable
Default	Statistical data collection for load-balancing resources is enabled by default.
Mode	Virtual port



To collect statistical data for a load-balancing resource, statistical data collection also must be enabled globally. (See <u>"stats-data-enable" on page 184</u>.)

template

Usage

Description	Applies an SLB configura	ation template to a virtual port.
Syntax	[no] template template-type template-name	
	Parameter	Description
	template-type	Type of template. The template types that are available depend on the service type of the vir- tual port. To list the available template types, enter the following command: template ?
		For information about the virtual-port template type, see <u>"template virtual-port" on page 661</u> .
	template-name	Name of the template.
Default	If the AX device has a def the default template is au virtual-port template, which	Fault template that is applicable to the service type, tomatically applied. The AX device has a default ch is applied to a virtual port when you create it.
Mode	Virtual port	
Usage	The normal form of this c tual port. The " no " form virtual port but does not d	command applies the specified template to the vir- of this command removes the template from the elete the template itself.
	A virtual port can be ass However, the same templ port.	sociated with only one template of a given type. late can be associated with more than one virtual
	To bind a virtual-port terpage 661.	nplate to the port, see <u>"template virtual-port" on</u>
Example	The following example ap to a virtual port:	pplies connection reuse template "reuse-template"
AX(config-slb virtual reuse-template	server-slb virtua)#template connection-reuse



template virtual-port

Bind a a virtual service port template to the virtual port.
[no] template virtual-port template-name
The virtual port template named "default" is bound to virtual ports by default. The parameter settings in the default virtual port template are automatically applied to the new virtual port, unless you bind a different virtual port template to the virtual port.
Virtual port
If a parameter is set individually on this virtual port and also is set in a vir- tual port template bound to this virtual port, the individual setting on this port is used instead of the setting in the template.
To configure a virtual port template, see <u>"slb template virtual-port" on page 637</u> .
The following commands configure a virtual service port template named "common-vpsettings", set the connection limit, and bind the template to a virtual port:
<pre>e virtual-port common-vpsettings template)#conn-limit 500000 template)#exit -server vip1 10.10.10.99 #port 80 http vport)#template virtual-port common-vpsettings</pre>

use-default-if-no-server

Description	Forward client traffic at Layer 3, if SLB server selection fails.
Syntax	[no] use-default-if-no-server
Default	Disabled. If SLB server selection fails, the traffic is dropped.
Mode	Virtual port
Usage	This command applies only to wildcard VIPs (VIP address 0.0.0.0).



use-rcv-hop-for-resp

Description	Force the AX Series device to send replies to clients back through the last hop on which the request for the virtual port's service was received.
Syntax	[no] use-rcv-hop-for-resp
Default	Disabled.
Mode	Virtual port
Usage	Last hop information is not included in the information sent to the Standby AX device during HA session synchronization. If an HA failover occurs, the last hop might not be used for the reply.
Example	The following command enables this option:
AX(config-slb virtual	server-slb virtua)#use-rcv-hop-for-resp



Config Commands: Health Monitors

The commands in this chapter configure server resource health monitors.

To access this configuration level, enter the **health monitor** *monitor-name* command at the global config level.

This CLI level also has the following commands, which are available at all configuration levels:

- clear See <u>"clear" on page 59</u>.
- **debug** See <u>"debug" on page 64</u>.
- **do** See <u>"do" on page 117</u>.
- end See <u>"end" on page 123</u>.
- exit See <u>"exit" on page 124</u>.
- **no** See <u>"no" on page 155</u>.
- show See <u>"Show Commands" on page 689</u>.
- write See <u>"write terminal" on page 78</u>.

disable-after-down

Description	Disable the target of a health check if the target fails the health check.
Syntax	[no] disable-after-down
Default	Disabled
Mode	Health monitor configuration
Usage	This command applies to all servers, ports, or service groups that use the health monitor. When a server, port, or service group is disabled based on this command, the server, port, or service group's state is changed to disable in the running-config. If you save the configuration while the server, port, or service group is disabled, the state change is written to the startup-config. The server, port, or service group remains disabled until you explicitly enable it.



Description

method

Configure a health method.

Syntax

[no] method method-options

method-options

Description

dns
{ipaddr |
domain domainname}
[options]

Sends a lookup request to the specified port number for the specified domain name. By default, expects reply with code 0. You can specify a domain name or a server IP address as the target of the health check.

You also can configure the following options:

expect response-code *code-list* – Specifies a list of response codes, in the range 0-15, that are valid responses to a health check. The DNS server can respond with any of the expected response codes. By default, the expect list is empty, in which case the AX device expects status code 0 (No error condition).

port *port-num* – Specifies the protocol port number on which the DNS server listens for DNS queries. Use this option if the server is not using the default DNS port, 53.

recurse {**enabled** | **disabled**} – Specifies whether the tested DNS server is allowed to send the health check's request to another DNS server if the tested server can not fulfill the request using its own database. Recursion is enabled by default.

type {A | CNAME | SOA | PTR | MX | TXT | AAAA} – For health checks sent to a domain name, specifies the record type the responding server is expected to send in reply to health checks.

You can specify one of the following record types:

A - IPv4 address record



SOA – Start of authority record

alias

CNAME - Canonical name record for a DNS

PTR – Pointer record for a domain name MX - Mail Exchanger record TXT - Text string AAAA - IPv6 address record By default, the AX device expects the DNS server to respond to the health check with an A record. external [**port** port-num] program program-name [arguments argument-Runs an external program (for example, a Tcl string] script) and bases the health status on the outcome of the program. See "Usage" below for more information on health check using an external program. icmp [transparent ipaddr] Sends an ICMP echo request to the server. Expects ICMP echo reply message. The transparent *ipaddr* option applies only to specific configurations, where the health check must check the path through a device: In DSR, the *ipaddr* specifies the virtual IP address. In FWLB, the *ipaddr* specifies the IP address of the AX device on the other side of the firewall, or the floating IP address of the HA group on the other side of the firewall. udp Sends a packet with a valid UDP header and a port port-num garbage payload to the specified UDP port on the server. Expects either of the following: - server reply from the specified UDP port, with any type of packet. - server does not reply at all.



The server fails the health check only if the server replies with an ICMP Error message.

Default		The configuration has a default "ping" health monitor that uses the icmp method. The AX device applies the ping monitor by default. The AX device also applies the TCP or UDP health monitor by default, depending on the port type. These default monitors are used even if you also apply configured monitors to a service port.
		To use differently configured ping or TCP/UDP monitors, configure new monitors with the ICMP, TCP, or UDP method and apply those monitors instead.
		When specifying a protocol port number, specify the port number on the real server, not the port number of the virtual port. By default, the well-known port number for the service type of the health monitor is used. For example, for LDAP, the default port is 389 (or 636 if the overssl option is used).
		If you specify the protocol port number in the health monitor, the protocol port number configured in the health monitor is used if you send an on- demand health check to a server without specifying the protocol port. (See <u>"health-test" on page 52</u> .) After you bind the health monitor to a real server port, health checks using the monitor are addressed to the real server port number instead of the port number specified in the health monitor's config- uration. In this case, you can override the IP address or port using the over- ride commands described later in this chapter.
Mode		Health monitor configuration
Usage		To use a health method, you must do the following:
		 Configure a health monitor, by assigning a name to it and by assigning one of the health methods listed above to it. Use the health monitor command at the global Config level to create and name the monitor. (See <u>"health monitor" on page 128</u>.) Use the method command at the monitor configuration level to assign a health method to the monitor.
Ν	ote:	To configure a health monitor that uses a script, use the health external command to create it, instead of using the health monitor command. (See <u>"health external" on page 126</u> and the external health check example below.)
		2. Apply the health monitor to a real server or real server port, using the health-check command at the configuration level for the server or the server port. Apply monitors that use the ICMP method to real servers. Apply UDP monitors to individual server ports.



Description	Send the health check to a specific IPv4 address, instead of sending the health check to the IP address of the real server to which the health monitor is bound. This command and the other override commands are particularly useful for testing the health of remote links.
Syntax	[no] override-ipv4 ipaddr
Default	By default, a health check is addressed to the real server IP address of the server to which the health monitor is bound.
Mode	Health monitor configuration
Example	The following commands configure a health monitor to check 192.168.1.1:
AX(config)#health monit	tor sitel-hm
AX(config-health:monito	pr)#method icmp

override-ipv6

Description	Send the health check to a specific IPv6 address, instead of sending the health check to the IP address of the real server to which the health monitor is bound.
Syntax	[no] override-ipv6 <i>ipv6addr</i>
Default	By default, a health check is addressed to the real server IP address of the server to which the health monitor is bound.
Mode	Health monitor configuration
Example	The following commands configure a health monitor to check 2001:db8::1521:31ab:
AX(config)#health mon:	itor site2-hm
AX(config-health:monit	tor)#method icmp
AX(config-health:monit	tor)# override-ipv6 2001:db8::1521:31ab

override-port

Description

Send the health check to a specific protocol port, instead of sending the health check to the server port to which the health monitor is bound.

AX(config-health:monitor)#override-ipv4 192.168.1.1

AleNetworks	AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference
Syntax	[no] override-port portnum
Default	By default, a health check is addressed to the protocol port number to which the health monitor is bound.
Mode	Health monitor configuration
Example	The following commands configure a health monitor to check port 8081 on 192.168.1.1:
AX(config)# health m	onitor site3-hm
AX(config-health:mo:	nitor)#method http
AX(config-health:mo:	nitor)# override-ipv4 192.168.1.1
AX(config-health:mo:	nitor)# override-prt 8081

strictly-retry-on-server-error-response

Description	Force the AX device to wait until all retries are unsuccessful before marking a server or port Down.
Syntax	[no] strictly-retry-on-server-error-response
Default	Disabled. For some health method types, the AX device marks the server or port Down after the first failed health check attempt, even if the retries option for the health monitor is set to higher than 0.
Mode	Health monitor configuration
Usage	This command is applicable only to some types of health monitors, such as HTTP health monitors. For example, this command applies to HTTP health monitors that expect a string in the server reply. By default, if the server's HTTP port does not reply to the first health check attempt with the expected string, the AX device immediately marks the port Down.
Example	The following commands configure an HTTP health monitor that checks for the presence of "testpage.html", and enable strict retries for the monitor.
AX(config)#health moni	tor http-exhaust
AX(config-health:monit	or)#method http url GET /testpage.html
AX(config-health:monit	or)#strictly-retry-on-server-error-response





Config Commands: High Availability

The commands in this chapter configure global High Availability (HA) parameters. (Also see "floating-ip" on page 125.)

Note: This chapter provides reference information for individual commands. For information about how HA works and how to configure it, see the AX Series System Configuration and Administration Guide.

> This CLI level also has the following commands, which are available at all configuration levels:

- **backup** See "backup system" on page 50 and "backup log" on page 48.
- clear See "clear" on page 59.
- debug See "debug" on page 64.
- **do** See <u>"do" on page 117</u>.
- end See <u>"end" on page 123</u>.
- exit See <u>"exit" on page 124</u>.
- **no** See <u>"no" on page 155</u>.
- show See "Show Commands" on page 689.
- write See <u>"write terminal" on page 78</u>.

ha arp-retry

Description

Change the number of additional gratuitous ARPs, in addition to the first one, an AX sends after transitioning from Standby to Active in an HA configuration. These ARPs are sent at intervals of 500 milliseconds.

Description

Syntax

[no] ha arp-retry num

ทบท

Parameter

Specifies the number of additional gratuitous ARPs to send, after sending the first one. You can specify 1-255.

Default

The AX device sends 4 additional gratuitous ARPs by default, for a total of 5.



670 of 804

ModeConfiguration modeExampleThe following command increases the number of additional gratuitous
ARPs to 9, for a total of 10 ARPs:AX(config)#ha arp-retry 9

ha check gateway

Description	Configure an AX device to detect the status of its gateway routers, and change HA status based on gateway status changes.		
Syntax	[no] ha check gateway <i>ipaddr</i>		
	Parameter	Description	
	ipaddr	IP address of the gateway.	
Default	Not set		
Mode	Configuration mode		
Usage	This feature uses health monitors to check the availability of the gateways. If any of the active AX device's gateways fails a health check, the AX device changes its HA status to Down. If the HA status of the other AX device is higher than Down, a failover occurs.		
	Likewise, if the gateway becomes available again and all gateways pass their health checks, the AX device recalculates its HA status according to the HA interface counts. If the new HA status of the AX device is higher than the other AX device's HA status, a failover occurs.		
	 Configuration of gateway-based failover requires the following steps: Configure a health monitor that uses the ICMP method. (See <u>"health monitor" on page 128</u>.) Configure the gateway as an SLB real server and apply the ICMP health monitor to the server. (See <u>"method" on page 664</u>.) 		
	3. Enable HA checking this section.	for the gateway, using the command described in	
Example	The following commands 10.10.10.1:	configure gateway-based failover for gateway	
AX(config) #health moni AX(config-health:monit AX(config-health:monit AX(config) #slb server	tor gatewayhm1 or)#method icmp or)#exit gateway1 10.10.10.1		



AX(config-real server)#health-check gatewayhm1 AX(config-real server)#exit AX(config)#ha check gateway 10.10.10.1

ha check route

Description	Reduces the HA priority route is missing from the	of all HA groups on the AX device, if the specified e IPv4 or IPv6 route table.		
Syntax	For IPv4 routes:			
	[no] ha check re length priority-cost we [gateway ipaddr [protocol {stat. [distance num]	oute destination-ipaddr /mask- eight] ic dynamic}]		
	For IPv6 routes:	For IPv6 routes:		
	[no] ha check re destination-ipve priority-cost we [gateway ipv6ade [protocol {stat. [distance num]	oute 6addr/mask-length eight dr] ic dynamic}]		
	Parameter	Description		
	destination- ipaddr /mask-length	Specifies the destination IPv4 subnet of the route.		
	destination- ipv6addr/mask- length	Specifies the destination IPv6 address of the route.		
	priority-cost weight	Specifies the value to subtract from the HA prior- ity of each HA group, if the IP route table does not have a route to the destination subnet.		
	gateway ipaddr	Specifies the next-hop gateway for the route.		



	protocol	
	dynamic}	Specifies the source of the route:
		static – The route was added by an administrator.
		dynamic – The route was added by a routing protocol. (This includes redistributed routes.)
	distance num	Specifies the metric value (cost) of the route.
Default	None	
Mode	Configuration mode	
Usage	This feature applies only to routes in the data route table. The feature does not apply to routes in the management route table.	
	For failover to occur du option must be enabled.	e to HA priority changes, the HA pre-emption
	You can configure this op routes. This option is valid (static and OSPF and IS-I	otion for up to 100 IPv4 routes and up to 100 IPv6 d for all types of IP routes supported in this release (S).
	If the priority of an HA gut the other AX device in an	roup falls below the priority for the same group on HA pair, a failover can be triggered.
	Omitting an optional para do not specify the next-h parameters can have any	ameter matches on all routes. For example, if you op gateway, routes that match based on the other next-hop gateway.
Example	The following command route. If this route is not in priority of all HA groups.	configures HA route awareness for a default IPv4 n the IP route table, 255 is subtracted from the HA
AX(config)#ha check ro	ute 0.0.0.0 /0 prior	rity-cost 255
Note:	The lowest possible HA ority value to 1, regardl	A priority value is 1. Deleting 255 sets the HA pri- less of the original priority value.
Example	The following command route to subnet 10.10.10.x have a dynamic route to the tracted from the HA prior	configures HA route awareness for a dynamic x with route cost 10. If the IP route table does not his destination with the specified cost, 10 is sub- rity value for each HA group.
AX(config)#ha check rot tance 10	ute 10.10.10.0 /24 p	riority-cost 10 protocol dynamic dis-

Aleworks	AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference
Example	The following commands configure HA route awareness for an IPv6 route to 3000::/64. Based on the combination of these commands, if the IPv6 route table does not contain any routes to the destination, 105 is subtracted from the HA priority of each HA group.If the IPv6 route table does contain a static route to the destination, but the next-hop gateway is not 2001::1, the AX device subtracts only 5 from the HA priority of each HA group.
AX(config)# ha ch AX(config)# ha ch	eck route 3000::/64 priority-cost 100 eck route 3000::/64 priority-cost 5 protocol static gateway
2001::1	

ha check vlan

Description	Configure an AX device to detect the status of its VLANs, and change HA status based on VLAN status changes.	
Syntax	[no] ha check vlan vlan-id timeout seconds	
	Parameter	Description
	vlan-id	VLAN ID.
	seconds	Number of seconds a VLAN can be inactive before a failover is triggered. The timeout can be 2-600 seconds. You must specify the timeout. Although there is no default, A10 recommends trying 30 seconds.
Default	Not set	
Mode	Configuration mode	
Usage	When HA checking is enabled for a VLAN, the active AX device in the HA pair monitors traffic activity on the VLAN. If there is no traffic on the VLAN for half the duration of a configurable timeout, the AX device attempts to generate traffic by issuing ping requests to servers if configured, or broadcast ARP requests through the VLAN.	
	If the AX device does not receive any traffic on the VLAN before the time- out expires, a failover occurs.	
	This HA checking method provides a passive means to detect network health, whereas heartbeat messages are an active mechanism. You can use either or both methods to check VLAN health. If you use both methods on a	



VLAN, A10 recommends that you specify an HA checking interval (timeout) that is much longer than the heartbeat interval.

Example	The following command enables VLAN-based failover for VLAN 10 and
	sets the timeout to 30 seconds:

AX(config) #ha check vlan 10 timeout 30

ha conn-mirror

Description	Set the peer IP addr nection mirroring")	Set the peer IP address to use for session synchronization (also called "con- nection mirroring") and config sync.		
Syntax	[no] ha conn	[no] ha conn-mirror ip <i>ipaddr</i>		
	Parameter	Description		
	ipaddr	Specifies the IP address of a data interface on the other AX device in the HA configuration.		
Default	None	None		
Mode	Configuration mode	Configuration mode		
Usage	This command sets you also must use the to enable connection	This command sets the IP address to which to mirror sessions. However, you also must use the ha-conn-mirror command on individual virtual ports to enable connection mirroring on the virtual ports.		
	Connection mirroring li	Connection mirroring is required for config sync. Config sync uses the con- nection mirroring link.		
	HA session synchronization are typically very a Likewise, session of Synchronization of device will create a	onization applies primarily to Layer 4 sessions. HA ses- n does not apply to DNS sessions. Since these sessions short lived, there is no benefit to synchronizing them. synchronization does not apply to static NAT sessions. these sessions is not needed since the newly Active AX new flow for the session following failover.		
Not	In HA deployment always 0.	tts, the full-cone session age on the standby AX device is		
Example	The following com 10.10.10.66, the IP	mand sets the session synchronization address to address of the other AX in this HA pair:		
AX(config)#ha conn	-mirror ip 10.10.10	.66		



ha force-self-standby

Description	Force HA groups to change from Active to Standby status.		
Syntax	[no] ha force-self-standby [group-id]		
	Parameter Description		
	group-id	Specifies the group ID. Only the specified group is forced to change from Active to Standby. If you do not specify a group ID, all Active groups are forced to change to Standby status.	
Default	N/A		
Mode	Configuration mode		
Usage	This command provides a simple method to force a failover, without the need to change HA group priorities and enable pre-emption. The command is not added to the configuration and does not persist across reboots.		
Example	The following command forces HA group 1 to change from Active to Standby status:		
AX(config)#ha force-se	-self-standby 1		

ha forward-I4-packet-on-standby

Description	Enable Layer 2/3 forwarding of Layer 4 traffic on the Standby AX device.
Syntax	[no] ha forward-14-packet-on-standby
Default	Disabled. Layer 4 traffic is dropped by the Standby AX device.
Mode	Configuration mode
ha group	

Description	Configure an HA group and set its priority.		
Syntax	[no] ha group group-id priority num		



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference

	Parameter	Description
	group-id	HA group ID, 1-31.
	num	Number from 1 (low priority) to 255 (high priority).
Default	The configuration does not have a default HA group. HA groups do not have a default priority. You must set the priority.	
Mode	Configuration mode	
Usage	In Active-Standby configurations, configure only one HA group. Use the same group ID on each AX device.	
	In Layer 3 Active-Active configurations, to make one AX active for some virtual servers and make the other AX active for the other virtual servers, configure multiple HA groups and give them different priorities. Use the same group IDs for the same virtual servers on each AX.	
Example	The following command	configures HA group 1 and sets its priority to 100:
AX(config)# ha group 1]	priority 100	

ha id

676 of 804

Description	Enable HA.	
Syntax	$[no]$ ha id $\{1 \mid 2\}$ [set-id num]	
	Parameter	Description
	1 2	HA ID for the AX device.
	set-id num	HA set ID, 1-7.
Default	Neither parameter is set.	
Mode	Configuration mode	
Usage	Use HA ID 1 on one of the AX Series devices in the HA pair. Use HA ID 2 on the other AX Series device in the HA pair.	
	The set-id option allows you to use multiple HA pairs. The set ID must be unique for each AX pair.	
Example	The following command enables HA with ID 1:	
AX(config)# ha id 1		



ha interface

Description	Configure an HA interface.	
Syntax	[no] ha interface ethernet <i>port-num</i> [redundant] [router-interface server-interface both] [no-heartbeat vlan vlan-id]	
	Parameter	Description
	port-num	Specifies the HA interface.
	redundant	Identifies the link as secondary link, in terms of sending heartbeat messages. Normally, redun- dant links do not send heartbeat messages. (For more information, see the AX Series System Con- figuration and Administration Guide.)
	router- interface server- interface both	Identifies the type of device connected to the HA interface:
		router-interface – The HA interface is connected to an upstream router.
		server-interface – The HA interface is connected to a real server.
		both – The HA interface is connected to an upstream router <i>and</i> a real server.
	no-heartbeat vlan vlan-id	Disables HA heartbeat messages on the HA interface, or enables them only on the specified VLAN.
		If the port is tagged and heartbeat messages are enabled, you must specify the VLAN.
Default	No HA interfaces are se device type is not set by interface by default.	t by default. When you set an HA interface, the default. Heartbeat messages are enabled on the
Mode	Configuration mode	



Networks		
Usage	Note:	At least one HA interface must be specified and at least one HA interface must have heartbeat messages enabled. If the interface is tagged, a VLAN ID must be specified if heartbeat messages are enabled on the interface. The maximum number of HA interfaces you can configure is the same as
		the number of Ethernet data ports on the AX device.
		If the heartbeat messages from one AX device to the other will pass though a Layer 2 switch, the switch must be able to pass UDP IP multicast packets.
		Set each interface connected to the real servers or clients (for example, con- nected through upstream routers) as an HA interface. Also set the interface that connects an AX Series device to its HA peer (the other AX device in the HA pair) as an HA interface.
		Device Type Options
		Setting the device type increases the granularity of the HA state.
		• If the device type is not set, the HA state of the AX device can be one of the following:
		• Up – All configured interfaces are up.
		• Down – At least one of the HA interfaces is down.
		• If you set the device type, the HA status of the AX device is based on the status of the AX link with the real server or upstream router:
		• Up – All configured HA router and server interfaces are up.
		• Partially Up – Some HA router or server interfaces are down but at least one server link and one router link are up.
		 Down – All router interfaces, or all server interfaces, or both are down. The status also is Down if neither router interfaces nor server interfaces are configured and an HA interface goes down.
		If both types of interfaces (router interfaces and server interfaces) are configured, the HA interfaces for which a type has not been configured are not included in the HA interface status determination.
Example		The following command configures Ethernet port 2 as an HA interface, indicates that it is connected to a router, and disables heartbeat messages on the interface:
AX(config)# ha i	nterfac	e ethernet 2 router-interface no-heartbeat

ha I3-inline-mode

Description

Enable blocking of traffic loops in a gateway (Layer 3) hot-standby HA configuration.

AleNetworks	AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference
Syntax	[no] ha 13-inline-mode
Default	Disabled.
Mode	Configuration mode
Usage	Layer 3 inline support applies specifically to network topologies where inserting a pair of AX Series devices would cause a traffic loop. In this type of topology, Layer 3 inline mode enables you to deploy the AX Series devices in an HA pair without the need to change the network topology or enable Spanning Tree Protocol (STP) on any of the devices in the network. Inline mode is designed for one HA group in Hot-Standby mode. Do not
	configure more than one HA group on an AX running in inline mode.
Example	The following command enables Layer 3 inline mode:
AX(config)#ha 13-inline	e-mode

ha link-event-delay

Description	Change the delay waited by the AX device before changing the HA state (Up, Partially Up, or Down) in response to link-state changes on HA interfaces.		
Syntax	[no] ha link-event-delay 100-ms-unit		
	Parameter	Description	
	100-ms-unit	Specifies how many 100-ms units (one tenth of a second units) to use for the delay. You can set the delay to a value from 100 milliseconds (ms) to 10000 ms, in increments of 100 ms.	
Default	3000 ms (3 seconds)		
Mode	Configuration mode		
Usage	This command applies only to inline mode. The delay is applicable in the following situations:		
	• The AX device is Active and a link goes down.		
	• The AX device is Standby and a link comes up. (There is an additional 10-20 second delay in this case.)		

The delay helps prevent HA flapping.



Example The following command changes the HA state change delay to 5 seconds: AX(config)**#ha link-event-delay 50**

ha ospf-inline vlan

Description	In HA Layer 3 inline mode, leave OSPF enabled on the Standby AX device, on the specified VLAN.
Syntax	[no] ha ospf-inline vlan vlan-id
Default	Enabled for all VLANs.
Mode	Configuration mode
Usage	When this option is enabled, OSPF on the Standby AX device will always participate in OSPF routing. There is no additional time gap when failover happens.
	To limit OSPF adjacency formation to a specific VLAN only, explicitly configure adjacency formation for that VLAN. In this case, OSPF adjacency formation does not occur for any other VLANs.

ha preemption-enable

Description		Allow the high-priority HA group to take over from the currently active one. This command enables you to force HA failovers based on HA config- uration changes.
Syntax		[no] ha preemption-enable
Default		Pre-emption is disabled by default. By default, a failover occurs only in the following cases:
		• The Standby AX device stops receiving HA heartbeat messages from the other AX device in the HA pair.
		• The HA interface state changes give the Standby AX device a better HA state than the Active AX device.
		By default, failover <i>does not</i> occur due to HA configuration changes to the HA priority.
I	Note:	To force failover without changing HA group priorities or enable pre- emption, see <u>"ha force-self-standby" on page 675</u> .



Mode	Configuration mode
Example	The following command enables HA pre-emption mode:
AX(config)# ha	preemption-enable

ha restart-port-list

Description		Configure HA interfaces on the previously Active AX device to toggle (shut down and restart) following HA failover.	
Syntax		[no] ha restart-port-list ethernet port-list	
		Parameter	Description
		port-list	Specifies the HA interfaces to restart.
	Note:	You must omit at least one port connecting the AX devices from the restart port-list, and heartbeat messages must be enabled on the port. This is so that heartbeat messages between the AX devices are maintained otherwise, flapping might occur.	
	Note:	On model AX 2000 or AX 2100, A10 recommends that you do not include Fiber ports in the restart port list.	
Default		Disabled. HA interfaces a	re not restarted after a failover.
Mode		Configuration mode	
Usage		Use this command in inline mode configurations to cause the router con- nected to the AX Series device to relearn MACs, including MACs for the real servers. Without this command, the router might continue to try to reach the real servers through the AX Series device that becomes the Standby AX device after a failover.	
		HA port restart toggles a by disabling the ports, wa re-enabling the ports. Tog in turn causes the devices MAC entries on the links. with the newly Active AX	specified set of ports on the formerly Active AX iting for a specified number of milliseconds, then gling the ports causes the links to go down, which on the other ends of the links to flush their learned The devices then can relearn MACs through links X.
Example		The following command of the AX Series device tran	enables restart of HA interfaces 1 and 2, to occur if sitions to Standby:

AX(config) #ha restart-port-list ethernet 1 to 2



ha restart-time

Description	Configure the amount of time HA interfaces remain disabled following a failover.	
Syntax	[no] ha restart-time 100-msec-units	
	Parameter	Description
	100-msec-units	Amount of time to keep the HA interfaces disabled. You can specify 1-100 units of 100 ms (from 0.1 seconds to 10 seconds).
Default	The default is 20 units of 100 milliseconds (ms) each, for a total of 2 seconds.	
Mode	Configuration mode	
Usage	This command applies only to HA interfaces in a restart port list configured by the ha restart-port-list command. (See <u>"ha restart-port-list" on page 681</u> .)	
Example	The following command changes the restart interval to 4 seconds:	
AX(config)#ha restart-time 40		

ha start-redundant-msg-count

Description	Configure the trigger to begin sending HA heartbeat messages on backup (redundant) HA interfaces.	
Syntax	[no] ha start-redundant-msg-count num	
	Parameter	Description
	num	Specifies the maximum number of consecutive HA heartbeat messages that can be missing on any primary (non-redundant) HA interface before the AX device starts sending heartbeat messages on the redundant (backup) HA interfaces. You can specify 2-255 missing heartbeat messages.
Default	2	
Mode	Configuration mode	
682 of 804	Customer Driven Innovation Document No.: D-030-01-00-0003 - Ver. 2.6.6-GR1 5/8/2013	



(redundant) HA interfaces. **Syntax** [no] ha stop-redundant-msg-count num Parameter Description Specifies the minimum number of consecutive ทเมฑ HA heartbeat messages that must be received from the other AX device on each of the primary HA interfaces, before the AX device stops sending heartbeat messages on the redundant (backup) HA interfaces. You can specify 2-255 missing heartbeat messages. Default 5 Mode Configuration mode



Syntax

See <u>"ha start-redundant-msg-count" on page 682</u>.

ha sync

Description		Synchronize the Layer 4-7 configuration information of the standby AX Series device with the active AX device in an HA pair.		
Syntax		<pre>ha sync all {to-startup-config [with-reload] to-running-config} ipaddr</pre>		
Syntax		<pre>ha sync startup-config {to-startup-config [with-reload] to-running-config} ipaddr</pre>		
Syntax		<pre>ha sync running-config {to-startup-config [with-reload] to-running-config} ipaddr</pre>		
Syntax		ha sync data-files ipaddr		
		Parameter	Description	
		all	Synchronizes data files and the running-config. (See "Usage" for a list of the types of data files that are synchronized.) You can synchronize the running-config to one of the following on the other AX Series device:	
			startup-config – Replaces the startup-con- fig on the other AX device with the running-con- fig on this device. For information about the with-reload option, see "Usage" below.	
1	Note:	If the HA status is Standby for all the HA groups on the other AX devi the AX device is reloaded anyway, even if the with-reload option is used.		
			running-config – Replaces the running- config on the other AX device with the running- config on this device.	
		data-files	Synchronizes data files but not the running-con- fig or startup-config. (See "Usage" for a list of the types of data files that are synchronized.)	



	running-config	Synchronizes the running-config. You can syn- chronize it to one of the following on the other AX Series device:	
		startup-config – Replaces the startup-config on the other AX device with the running-config on this device. For information about the with-reload option, see "Usage" below.	
		running-config – Replaces the running- config on the other AX device with the running- config on this device.	
	startup-config	Synchronizes the startup-config. See above for descriptions of the options. You can synchronize it to one of the following on the other AX Series device:	
		startup-config – Replaces the startup-config on the other AX device with the startup-config on this device. For information about the with-reload option, see "Usage" below.	
		running-config – Replaces the running- config on the other AX device with the startup- config on this device.	
	ipaddr	Specifies the IP address of the target AX device.	
Default	N/A		
Mode	Configuration mode		
Usage	Connection mirroring is required for config sync. Config sync uses the con- nection mirroring link. (See <u>"ha conn-mirror" on page 674</u> .)		
	SSH management access must be enabled on both ends of the link. (See <u>"enable-management" on page 121</u> .)		
	The following configuration	ion items are backed up during HA config sync:	
	• Admin accounts and s	settings	
	• Floating IP addresses		
	• IP NAT configuration		
	• Access control lists (A	ACLs)	
	• Health monitors		
	• Server resources (real plates)	servers, service groups, virtual servers, and tem-	


- Data Files:
 - External health check files
 - SSL certificate and private-key files

The following configuration items are *not* backed up during HA config sync:

- Management access settings (the ones described in <u>"enable-management" on page 121</u>)
- AX Hostname
- MAC addresses
- Management IP addresses
- Trunks or VLANs
- Interface settings
- RIP, OSPF, IS-IS, and BGP settings
- ARP entries or settings

This command does not have a "no" form.

Reload of the target AX device following synchronization

In certain cases, the target AX device is automatically reloaded, but in other cases, reload is either optional or is not allowed.

<u>Table 30</u> lists the cases in which reload is automatic, optional, or not allowed.

Admin Role	Status of Target AX	Target Config	Reload?
Root or Super User	Standby	startup-config	Automatic
(Read-Write)		running-config	Automatic
	Active	startup-config	Optional ¹
			Not reloaded by default
		running-config	Automatic

TABLE 30 Reload of Target AX Device After Config-Sync

1. If the target AX device is not reloaded, the GUI Save button on the Standby AX device does not blink to indicate unsaved changes. It is recommended to save the configuration if required to keep the running-config before the next reboot.

Aleworks	AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference
	Data that is synchronized from a Standby AX device to an Active AX device is not available on the Active AX device until that device is rebooted or the software is reloaded.
Example	The following command synchronizes the running-config and data files by copying them from this AX Series device to the other one in the HA pair. The running-config is copied to the other AX device's startup-config, and the other AX device is then reloaded:
AX(config)# ha sync al User name []? admin Password []?***	ll startup-config 10.10.10.77

ha time-interval

Description	Configure the interval between HA heartbeat messages.	
Syntax	[no] ha time-interval 100-msec-units	
	Parameter	Description
	100-msec-units	Amount of time between sending each heartbeat message. You can specify 1-255 units of 100 ms each.
Default	200 milliseconds	
Mode	Configuration mode	
Example AX(config)#ha time-inte	The following command of erval 4	changes the HA time interval to 400 ms:

ha timeout-retry-count

Description	Configure the num device will wait for failing over.	Configure the number of HA heartbeat intervals the Standby AX Series device will wait for a heartbeat message from the Active AX device before failing over.		
Syntax	[no] ha time	eout-retry-count num		
	Parameter	Description		
	num	Number of times the HA time interval can expire before the Standby AX device fails over to become the Active AX device. You can specify 2-255.		

AleNetworks	AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference
Default	5
Mode	Configuration mode
Example	The following command changes the HA timeout retry count to 10:
AX(config)# ha timeout	-retry-count 10



The show commands display configuration and system information.

In addition to the command options provided with some **show** commands, you can use output modifiers to search and filter the output. See <u>"Searching</u> and Filtering CLI Output" on page 42.

To automatically re-enter a **show** command at regular intervals, see <u>"repeat"</u> on page 74.

Also see the following:

- <u>"LSN Show Commands" on page 485</u>
- "DS-Lite Show Commands" on page 559
- "DNS64 / NAT64 Show Commands" on page 539

High Control CPU Utilization After Entering show CommandS

After entering a show command that results in a very large amount of output, control CPU utilization can reach 100%. To avoid this potential inconvenience, use the following command at the global configuration level of the CLI: **system module-ctrl-cpu low**

(See <u>"system module-ctrl-cpu" on page 186</u>.)

show 6rd

DescriptionDisplay information for IPv6 Rapid Deployment (6rd). See <u>"6rd Show</u>
Commands" on page 589.

show access-list

Description	Display the configured Acconfiguration commands	ccess Control Lists (ACLs). The output lists the for the ACLs in the running-config.
Syntax	show access-list	[ipv4 ipv6] [acl-id]
	Parameter	Description
	ipv4 ipv6	IP address type.
	acl-id	ACL name or number.

Networks

Mode All

Example	The following command displays the configuration commands for ACL 1:
AX# show	access-list ipv4 1
access-li	st 1 permit 198.162.11.0 0.0.0.255 Hits: 3
access-li	st 1 deny 198.162.12.0 0.0.0.255 Hits: 1

Note: The ACL Hits counter is not applicable to ACLs applied to the management port.

show admin

Description	Display the administra	tor accounts.	
Syntax	<pre>show admin [admin-name] [detail session]</pre>		
	Parameter	Description	
	admin-name	Administrator name.	
	detail	Shows detailed information about the admin account.	
	session	Shows the current management sessions.	
Mode	Privileged EXEC mod	e and configuration mode	
Example	The following command lists the admins configured on an AX device:		
AX(config)# show admin			
UserName	Status	Privilege	
admin	Enabled	R/W	
admin2	Enabled	R	

<u>Table 31</u> describes the fields in the command output.

|--|

Field	Description
UserName	Name of the AX admin.
Status	Administrative status of the account.



Field	Description
Privilege	Access privilege level for the account:
	• R/W – Read-write. Allows access to all levels of the system.
	• R – Read-only. Allows monitoring access to the system but not configuration access. In the CLI, this account can only access the User EXEC and Privileged EXEC levels, not the configuration levels. In the GUI, this account can- not modify configuration information.

TABLE 31 show admin fields (Continued)

Example

The following command lists details for the "admin" account:

AX#**show admin admin detail**

User Name	 admin
Status	 Enabled
Privilege	 R/W
Access type	 .cli web axapi
GUI role	
Trusted Host(Netmask)	 Any
Lock Status	 No
Lock Time	
Unlock Time	
Password Type	 Encrypted
Password	 \$1\$6334ba07\$CKbWL/LuSNdY12kcE.KdS0

Table 32 describes the fields in the command output.

Field	Description
User Name	Name of the AX admin.
Status	Administrative status of the account.
Privilege	Access privilege level for the account:
	• R/W – Read-write. Allows access to all levels of the system.
	• R – Read-only. Allows monitoring access to the system but not configuration access. In the CLI, this account can only access the User EXEC and Privileged EXEC levels, not the configuration levels. In the GUI, this account can- not modify configuration information.
Access type	Management interfaces the admin is allowed to access, which can be one or more of the following:
	• cli
	• web
	• axapi (not applicable to IPv6 migration)

TABLE 32show admin detail fields



Field	Description
GUI role	Role assigned to the admin for GUI access.
	Note: If the admin is configured using the GUI, assignment of a role is required. However, if the admin is configured using the CLI, a GUI access role can not be assigned. In this case, the GUI role is equivalent to ReadWriteAdmin.
Trusted	IP host or subnet address from which the admin must log in.
Host(Netmask)	
Lock Status	Indicates whether the admin account is currently locked.
Lock Time	If the account is locked, indicates how long the account has been locked.
Unlock Time	If the account is locked, indicates how long the account will continue to be locked.
Password Type	Indicates whether the password is encrypted when displayed in the CLI or GUI and in the startup-config and running-con- fig.
Password	The admin's password.

TABLE 32 show admin detail fields (Continued)

Table 33 describes the fields in the command output.

Field	Description
Id	Admin session ID assigned by the AX device. The ID applies
	only to the current session.
User Name	Admin name.
Start Time	System time when the admin logged onto the AX device to
	start the current management session.
Source IP	IP address from which the admin logged on.
Туре	Management interface through which the admin logged on.
Authen	Indicates the database used to authenticate the admin:
	• Local – Admin database on the AX device
	• RADIUS – Admin database on a RADIUS server
	• TACACS – Admin database on a TACACS+ server

TABLE 33 show admin session fields



Field	Description
Role	Indicates the role assigned to the admin for GUI access.
	Note: If the admin is configured using the GUI, assignment of a role is required. However, if the admin is configured using the CLI, a GUI access role can not be assigned. In this case, the GUI role is equivalent to ReadWriteAdmin.
Cfg	Indicates whether the admin is at the configuration level.

TABLE 33 show admin session fields (Continued)

show arp

Description	Display ARP table	e entries.			
Syntax	show arp [a	ll ipaddr]			
Mode	All				
Example	The following con	mmand lists the ARP	entry fo	or host 192.168.1.	144:
AX# show arp 192.168	.1.144				
Total arp entries: 1	1 Age	time: 300 secs			
IP Address I	MAC Address	Туре	Age	Interface	Vlan
192.168.1.144	0011.2F7C.1A75	Dynamic	293	Management	1

Table 34 describes the fields in the command output.

Field	Description
Total arp entries	Total number of entries in the ARP table. This total includes
	static and learned (dynamic) entries.
Age time	Number of seconds a dynamic ARP entry can remain in the
	table before being removed.
IP Address	IP address of the device.
MAC Address	MAC address of the device.
Туре	Indicates whether the entry is static or dynamic.
Age	For dynamic entries, the number of seconds since the entry
	was last used.
Interface	AX interface through which the device that has the displayed
	MAC address and IP address can be reached.
Vlan	VLAN through which the device that has the MAC address
	can be reached.

TABLE 34show arp fields



show audit

Description	Show the command audit log.		
Syntax	show audit		
Mode	All		
Usage	The audit log is maintained in a separate file, apart from the system log.		

show axdebug file

Description	Display AX debug capture files or their contents.		
Syntax	<pre>show axdebug file [filename]</pre>		
Mode	All		
Example	The following command displays the list of AX debug capture files on the device:		
AX(axdebug)# show axdebug	file		
Filename		Size(Byte)	Date
filel file123		58801 192	Tue Sep 23 22:49:07 2008 Fri Sep 26 17:06:51 2008
Total: 2 Maximum file number is: 1	LOO		

Example The following command displays the packet capture data in file "file123":

AX(axdebug)#show axdebug file file123

Parse file for cpu #1:

Parse file for cpu #2:

15:16:05.788530 IP 10.10.11.30.http > 30.30.31.30.13649: S 2111796945:2111796945(0) ack 3775149588 win 5792 <mss 1460,sackOK,timestamp 1368738447 524090233,nop,wscale 7> 15:16:05.788530 IP 10.10.11.30.http > 30.30.31.30.13649: S 2111796945:2111796945(0) ack 3775149588 win 5792 <mss 1460,sackOK,timestamp 1368738447 524090233,nop,wscale 7> 15:16:05.788530 IP 10.10.11.30.http > 30.30.31.30.13649: . ack 150 win 54 <nop,nop,timestamp 1368738447 524090233> 15:16:05.788530 IP 10.10.11.30.http > 30.30.31.30.13649: . ack 150 win 54 <nop,nop,timestamp 1368738447 524090233> 15:16:05.788530 IP 10.10.11.30.http > 30.30.31.30.13649: P 1:192(191) ack 150 win 54 <nop,nop,timestamp 1368738447 524090233>



15:16:05.788530 IP 10.10.11.30.http > 30.30.31.30.13649: P 1:192(191) ack 150 win 54
<nop,nop,timestamp 1368738447 524090233>
15:16:05.788530 IP 10.10.11.30.http > 30.30.31.30.13649: F 192:192(0) ack 151 win 54
<nop,nop,timestamp 1368738448 524090234>

show axdebug filter

Description	Display the configured AXdebug output filters.		
Syntax	show axdebug filter [filter-num]		
Mode	All		

show axdebug status

Description	Display per-CPU packet capture counts for AXdebug.		
Syntax	show axdebug status [cpu-num []]		
Mode	All		

show backup

Description	Display information about scheduled backups.		
Syntax	show backup		
Mode	All		

show bfd

Description	Show information for	r		
Syntax	<pre>show bfd {neighbors statistics}</pre>			
	Option	Description		
	neighbors	Displays BFD neighbor information.		
	statistics	Displays BFD statistics.		
Mode	All			



Example

The following command shows BFD neighbor information:

AX(config)# s	now bid neighbors				
Our Address	Neighbor Address	State	Holddown	txint	mult diag
219.0.0.1	219.0.0.2	Up	150	50	3 3/0
219.0.1.1	219.0.1.2	Up	150	50	3 3/0
219.0.2.1	219.0.2.2	Up	150	50	3 0/0
219.0.3.1	219.0.3.2	Up	150	50	3 0/0
219.0.4.1	219.0.4.2	Up	150	50	3 3/0
219.0.5.1	219.0.5.2	Up	150	50	3 3/0
219.0.6.1	219.0.6.2	Up	150	50	3 0/0
219.0.7.1	219.0.7.2	Up	150	50	3 3/0

Table 35 describes the fields in the command output.

Field	Description		
Our Address	AX interface associated with the BFD session.		
Neighbor Address	Neighbor interface associated with the BFD session.		
State	Shows the state for each side of the session:		
	Local-state/Remote-state		
	For each side of the session, the state can be one of the fol- lowing:		
	• Init		
	• Up		
	• AdminDown		
	• Down		
Holdtime	Maximum amount of time the AX device waits for a BFD control packet from the neighbor.		
txint	Configured interval at which the AX device sends BFD con- trol packets to the neighbor.		
mult	Maximum number of consecutive times the AX device will wait for a BFD control packet from the neighbor.		
diag	Diagnostic codes for the local and remote ends of the BFD session. For information, contact A10 Networks.		

TABLE 35 show bfd neighbors fields

Example

The following command shows BFD statistics:

AX(config)# show bfd statistics	
IP Checksum error	0
UDP Checksum error	0



No s	session	found with your_discriminator	0
Mult	ihop co	onfig mismatch	0
BFD	Versior	n mismatch	0
BFD	Packet	length field is too small	0
BFD	Packet	data is short	0
BFD	Packet	DetectMult is invalid	0
BFD	Packet	Multipoint is invalid	0
BFD	Packet	my_discriminator is invalid	0
BFD	Packet	TTL/Hop Limit is invalid	0
BFD	Packet	auth length is invalid	0
BFD	Packet	auth mismatch	0
BFD	Packet	auth type mismatch	0
BFD	Packet	auth key ID mismatch	0
BFD	Packet	auth key mismatch	0
BFD	Packet	auth seq# invalid	0
BFD	Packet	auth failed	0
BFD	local s	state is AdminDown	0
BFD	Destina	ation unreachable	0
BFD	Other e	error	0

<u>Table 36</u> describes the fields in the command output.

Et al al	Description
Field	Description
IP Checksum	Number of BFD packets that had an invalid IP checksum.
error	
UDP Checksum	Number of BFD packets that had an invalid UDP checksum.
error	
No session found	Number of BFD packets whose Your Discriminator value
with your_	did not match a My Discriminator value on the AX device.
discriminator	
Multihop config	Number of BFD packets whose multihop config did not
mismatch	match the BFD multihop config on the AX device.
BFD Version	Number of BFD packets with a different BFD version than
mismatch	the one in use by the AX device.
BFD Packet	Number of BFD packets whose Length field value was
length field is too	shorter than the minimum BFD packet length (24 bytes with-
small	out authentication or 26 bytes with authentication).
BFD Packet data	Number of BFD packets whose Length field value in the
is short	UDP header was shorter than the UDP header size plus the
	BFD Length value.

TABLE 36show bfd statistics fields



Field	Description
BFD Packet DetectMult is invalid	Number of BFD packets with an invalid detection time mul- tiplier value.
BFD Packet Multipoint is invalid	Number of BFD packets with an invalid Multipoint setting.
BFD Packet my_ discriminator is invalid	Number of BFD packets whose My Discriminator value was invalid.
BFD Packet TTL/Hop Limit is invalid	Number of BFD packets whose Time to Live or Hop Limit was invalid.
BFD Packet authentication length is invalid	Number of BFD packets whose authentication length was invalid.
BFD Packet authentication mismatch	Number of BFD packets whose authentication type did not match the BFD authentication type on the AX device.
BFD Packet authentication type mismatch	Number of BFD packets whose authentication type did not match the BFD authentication type on the AX device.
BFD Packet authentication key ID mismatch	Number of BFD packets whose authentication key ID did not match the BFD authentication key ID on the AX device.
BFD Packet authentication sequence number invalid	Number of BFD packets whose authentication sequence number was invalid.
BFD Packet authentication failed	Number of BFD packets with an incorrect authentication value.
BFD local state is AdminDown	Number of BFD packets received while the BFD session was administratively down.
BFD Destination unreachable	Number of times the destination IP address for a BFD neigh- bor was unreachable while the AX device was attempting to transmit a BFD packet to the neighbor.
BFD Other error	Number of BFD errors not counted in any of the fields above.

TABLE 36 show bfd statistics fields (Continued)

show bgp

Description

Display information for Border Gateway Protocol (BGP). See <u>"BGP Show</u> Commands" on page 432.

698 of 804

Customer Driven Innovation Document No.: D-030-01-00-0003 - Ver. 2.6.6-GR1 5/8/2013



show bootimage

Description	Display the software images stored on the AX Series device.	
Syntax	show bootimage	
Mode	All	
Example	The following command shows the software images on an AX Series device:	
AX# show bootimage	(* = Default) Version	
Hard disk primary Hard disk secondary Compact flash primary Compact flash secondary	1.2.0.153 (*) 1.2.1.24 1.1.1.68 (*) Y 1.1.1.51	

The asterisk (*) indicates the default image for each boot device (hard disk and compact flash). The default image is the one that the AX Series device will try to use first, if trying to boot from that boot device. (The order in which the AX tries to use the image areas is controlled by the **bootimage** command. See <u>"bootimage" on page 105</u>.)

show bpdu-fwd-group

Description		Display the configured BPDU forwarding groups.		
Syntax		<pre>show bpdu-fwd-group [number]</pre>		
		Option		Description
		number	r	Displays the configuration of the specified BPDU forwarding group. If you omit this option, all configured BPDU forwarding groups are shown.
Mode		All		
Example		The follow	wing command	shows all configured BPDU forwarding groups:
AX#show bpdu-	fwd-gro	oup		
BPDU forward	Group 1	members:	ethernet 1	to 3
BPDU forward	Group 2	members:	ethernet 9	to 12



show bridge-vlan-group

Description Display information for a bridge VLAN gro		
Syntax	<pre>show bridge-vlan-group [group-id]</pre>	
Mode	All	

show class-list

Description	Display inform	nation for I	P class lists	
Syntax	<pre>show class-list [name [ipaddr]]</pre>			
	Parameter		Descript	ion
	name [ipa	addr]	Specifies the class 1 configured	the class list name or an IP address in ist. If you omit both options, the list of d class lists is displayed instead.
Mode	All			
Example	The following	command	displays the	e class-list files on the AX device:
AX# show class-list				
Name	:	IP	Subnet	Location
test		4	3	file
user-limit	:	14	4	config
Total: 2				

Table 33 describes the fields in the command output.

TABLE 37	show class-list fields
	0

Field	Description
Name	Name of the class list.
IP	Number of host IP addresses in the class list.
Subnet	Number of subnets in the class list.
Location	Indicates whether the class list is in the startup-config or in a standalone file:
	 config – Class list is located in the startup-config.
	• file – Class list is located in a standalone file.
Total	Total number of class lists on the AX device.



Description	Show Connectionless Network Service (CLNS) information.		
Syntax	<pre>show clns [tag] [is-neighbors options neighbors options]</pre>		
	Parameter	Description	
	is-neighbors	Displays IS neighbor adjacencies.	
	neighbors	Displays CLNS neighbor adjacencies.	
	options	Optional display filters:	
		detail	
		ethernet portnum [detail]	
		loopback [portnum] [detail]	
		management [detail]	
		trunk num [detail]	
		udld num [detail]	
		ve ve-num [detail]	
Mode	All		
show clock			
Description	Display the time, timezon	e, and date.	
Syntax	show clock [deta	i1]	
	Parameter	Description	
	detail	Shows the clock source, which can be one of the following:	
		– Time source is NTP	
		- Time source is user configuration	
Mode	All		
Example	The following command s	shows clock information for an AX Series device:	
AX# show clock detail 20:27:16 Europe/Dublin Time source is NTP	Sat Apr 28 2007		



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference

Networks					
Example	If a dot appears in f use NTP but NTP is lost contact with all	If a dot appears in front of the time, the AX Series has been configured to use NTP but NTP is not synchronized. The clock was in sync, but has since lost contact with all configured NTP servers.			
AX# show clock .20:27:16 Europe/D	ublin Sat Apr 28 20	07			
Example	If an asterisk appea never been set.	If an asterisk appears in front of the time, the clock is not in sync or has never been set.			
AX# show clock *20:27:16 Europe/D	ublin Sat Apr 28 20	07			
show core					
Description	Display core dump	statistics.			
Syntax	show core [p	rocess]			
	Parameter	Description			
	process	Shows core dump statistics for AX processes. Without this option, system core dump statistics are shown instead.			
Mode	Privileged EXEC le	evel and configuration levels			
Example	The following com	mand shows system core dump statistics:			
AX# show core It has been reboot It has been crashe The process is up	ed 1 time. d 0 time. 71048 sec.				
show cpu					
Description	Display CPU statist	tics.			
Syntax	show cpu [in	terval seconds]			
	Parameter	Description			
	interval seconds	Automatically refreshes the output at the speci- fied interval. If you omit this option, the output is shown one time. If you use this option, the output is repeatedly refreshed at the specified interval until you press ctrl+c.			



Mode	Privileged EXEC level and configuration levels
Example	The following command shows CPU statistics on an AX 2000, in 10-second intervals:
AX#show cpu interval	10

Cpu Usage:	(press '	`C to qui	Lt)				
	1Sec	5Sec	10:	Sec	30Sec	60Sec	
Time: 16:28	:57 PST	Wed Jan	16	2008			
Control	28	2%		28	2%	2%	
Data0	0%	0%		0%	0%	0%	
Datal	08	0%		0%	0%	0%	
Time: 16:29	:07 PST	Wed Jan	16	2008			
Control	28	2%		28	28	2%	
Data0	0%	0%		0 %	0%	0%	
Datal	0%	0%		08	0%	0%	

1Sec-60sec

```
<ctrl+c>
```

AX#

Table 38 describes the fields in the command output.

TABLE 38 SNOW CPUTIEIDS		
Field	Description	
Time	System time when the statistics were gathered.	
Control	Control CPU.	
Data0-7	Data CPU. The number of data CPUs depends on the AX model.	

- 6 C. I.I.

show debug

Description

This command applies to debug output. It is recommended to use the AXdebug subsystem commands instead of the debug commands. See the following:

Time intervals at which statistics are collected.

- "AX Debug Commands" on page 789
- "show axdebug file" on page 694
- <u>"show axdebug filter" on page 695</u>
- <u>"show axdebug status" on page 695</u>



show disk

. .

Description			Display status information for the AX hard disks.			
Syntax			show d	isk		
Mode			Privileged	EXEC	C level a	and configuration levels
Example			The following command shows hard disk information for an AX Series device:			
AX# show di Total(MB)	sk Used		Free		Usage	
154104	5895		148209		4.0%	
Device	Primary	Disk		Seco	ndary	Disk
md0 md1	Active Active			Acti Acti	ve ve	

<u>Table 39</u> describes the fields in the command output.

Field	Description
Total(MB)	Total amount of data the hard disk can hold.
	Note: The hard disk statistics apply to a single disk. This is true even if your AX device contains two disks. In systems with two disks, the second disk is a hot standby for the primary disk and is not counted separately in the statistics.
Used	Number of MB used.
Free	Number of MB free.
Usage	Percentage of the disk that is in use.
Device	Virtual partition on the disk:
	• md0 – The boot partition
	• md1 – The A10 data partition
Primary Disk	Status of the left hard disk in the redundant pair:
	• Active – The disk is operating normally.
	• Inactive – The disk has failed and must be replaced. Con- tact your A10 Networks representative.
	• Synchronizing – The disk has just been installed and is synchronizing itself with the other disk.
Secondary Disk	Status of the right hard disk in the redundant pair.

TABLE 39	show disk fields
	Show also holds





show dns

Description	Show DNS sta	itistics.	
Syntax	show dns	statistics	
Mode	Privileged EX	EC level and configuration levels	
Example	The following	command displays DNS statistics:	
AX#show dns statistics			
DNS statistics for SLB	:		
	-		
No. of requests: 510			
No. of responses: 508			
No. of request retrans	mits: O		
o. of requests with no response: 2			
o. of responses with no matching session: 0			
No. of resource failur	o. of resource failures: 0		
DNS statistics for IP NAT:			
No. of requests: 0			
No. of responses: 0			
No. of request retrans	mits: O		
No. of requests with n	o response:	0	
No. of responses with	no matching	session: 0	
No. of resource failur	es: O		

Note: In the current release, the "Response with multiple answers" and "Response with Short TTL" fields are not applicable and always contain 0.





show dns cache

Description	Display DNS caching info	ormation.
Syntax	show dns cache $\{$	client entry statistics}
	Parameter	Description
	client	DNS client statistics.
	entry	DNS cache entries.
	statistics	DNS caching statistics.
Mode	All	

Example

The following command shows DNS caching statistics:

AX#**show dns cache statistics**

Total allocated: 0 Total freed: 0 Total query: 100 Total server response: 55 Total cache hit: 49 Query not passed: 0 Response not passed: 0 Response answer not passed: 0 Query encoded: 0 Response encoded: 0 Query with multiple questions: 0 Response with multiple questions: 0 Response with multiple answers: 0 Response with short TTL: 0 Total aged out: 0 Total aged for lower weight: 0 Total stats log sent: 0 Current allocate: 0 Current data allocate: 0

Table 40 describes the fields in the command output.

Field	Description
Total Allocated	Total memory allocated for cached entries.
Total Freed	Total memory freed.
Total Query	Total number of DNS queries received by the AX device.

TABLE 40 show dns cache statistics fields



Field	Description
Total Server Response	Total number of responses form DNS servers received by the AX device.
Total Cache Hit	Total number of times the AX device was able to use a cached reply in response to a query.
Query Not Passed	Number of queries that did not pass a packet sanity check.
Response Not Passed	Number of responses that did not pass a packet sanity check. The AX device checks the DNS header and question in the packet, but does not parse the entire packet.
Query Encoded	Number of queries that were not cached because the domain name in the question was encoded in the DNS query packet.
Response Encoded	Number of queries that were not cached because the domain name in the question was encoded in the DNS response packet.
Query With Multiple Questions	Number of queries that were not cached because they con- tained multiple questions.
Response With Multiple Questions	Number of responses that were not cached because they con- tained answers for multiple questions.
Response With Multiple Answers	Number of responses that were not cached because they con- tained more than one answer.
Response with Short TTL	Number of responses that had a short time to live (TTL).
Total Aged Out	Total number of DNS cache entries that have aged out of the cache.
Total Aged for Lower Weight	Number of cache entries aged out due to their weight value.
Total Stats Log Sent	Total number of logs sent.
Current Allocate	Current memory allocation.
Current Data Allocate	Current data allocation.

TABLE 40 show dns cache statistics fields (Continued)

show dns64

Description

Show information for DNS64. See <u>"DNS64 / NAT64 Show Commands" on page 539</u>.



show ds-lite

Description	Show information for Dual-stack Lite (DS-Lite). See <u>"DS-Lite Show Com-</u>
	mands" on page 559.

show dumpthread

Description	Show status information about the SLB process.			
Syntax	show dumpthread			
Mode	Privileged EXEC level and configuration levels			
Example	The following command shows status information for the SLB process:			
AX# show dumpthread	timo			

It has been rebooted 1 time. It has been crashed 0 time. The process is up 101102 sec.

show environment

Upper Power Unit State: On Lower Power Unit State: On

Description	Display temperature, fan, and power supply status.
Syntax	show environment
Mode	All
Example	The following command shows environment information for an AX Series device:
AX# show environment Physical System temper	ature: 56C / 132F
Fanl speed: 2576 RPM	
Fan2 speed: 2576 RPM	
Fan3 speed: 2576 RPM	



show errors

Description

Show error information for the system. This command provides a simple way to quickly view system status and error statistics.

Syntax

```
show errors
Γ
application [sub-options] |
critical [detail]
detail |
informational [detail]
system [sub-options]
]
```

Option

Description

```
application
```

```
[sub-options]
                  Displays error information for AX applications.
                  The following sub-options are available.
                  critical [detail]
                  detail
                  ha
                     [critical [detail]]
                     [detail]
                     [informational [detail]]
                  hw-compression
                     [critical [detail]]
                     [detail]
                     [informational [detail]]
                  informational [detail]
                  ipnat
                     [critical [detail]]
                     [detail]
                     [informational [detail]]
                  12-13-forward
                     [critical [detail]]
                     [detail]
                     [informational [detail]]
```



```
ram-cache
   [critical [detail]]
   [detail]
   [informational [detail]]
slb
   [critical [detail]]
   [detail]
   [health-monitor
     [critical [detail]]
     [detail]
     [informational [detail]]
   [informational [detail]]
   [layer4
     [critical [detail]]
     [detail]
     [informational [detail]]
     [tcp
       [critical [detail]]
       [detail]
       [informational [detail]]
     [udp
       [critical [detail]]
       [detail]
       [informational [detail]]
   [layer7
     [critical [detail]]
     [detail]
     [fast-http
       [critical [detail]]
       [detail]
       [informational [detail]]
     [http
       [critical [detail]]
       [detail]
       [informational [detail]]
     [informational [detail]]
     [sip
       [critical [detail]]
       [detail]
       [informational [detail]]
     [smtp
       [critical [detail]]
       [detail]
       [informational [detail]]
```

Customer Driven Innovation Document No.: D-030-01-00-0003 - Ver. 2.6.6-GR1 5/8/2013



```
[ssl-slb
                           [critical [detail]]
                           [detail]
                           [informational [detail]]
                      [persist
                        [cookie
                           [critical [detail]]
                           [detail]
                           [informational [detail]]
                        [critical [detail]]
                        [dest-ip
                           [critical [detail]]
                           [detail]
                           [informational [detail]]
                        [detail]
                        [informational [detail]
                        [source-ip
                           [critical [detail]]
                           [detail]
                           [informational [detail]]
                        [ssl-sid
                           [critical [detail]]
                           [detail]
                           [informational [detail]]
                        [url-hash
                           [critical [detail]]
                           [detail]
                           [informational [detail]]
                      ssl
                      [critical [detail]]
                      [detail]
                      [informational [detail]]
critical
                  Displays information about critical errors only.
[detail]
detail
                   Displays detailed error information only.
informational
[detail]
                  Displays informational output only.
system
[sub-options]
                   Displays system-level errors. The following sub-
                   options are available.
                  critical [detail]
                  detail
```



hardware [critical [detail]] [detail] [informational [detail]] informational [detail] software [critical [detail]] [detail] [informational [detail]] Mode All Example The following shows high-level error information for the system: AX#**show** errors Hardware components status _____ Physical System temperature: 36C / 96F CPU Fan1 speed: 5818 RPM CPU Fan2 speed: 5720 RPM Upper Power Unit State: On Lower Power Unit State: Off Total(MB) Used Free Usage -----157065 5777 151287 3.6% Device Primary Disk _____ md0 Active md1 Active System Memory Usage: Total(KB) Free Shared Buffers Cached Usage _____ 2074308 316048 0 37324 256232 72.4%



_

Time:	21:22:	:12	IST	Mon	May	17	2010					
		1Se	ec	5S¢	ec	10)Sec	30)Sec	60)Sec	
Contro	ol	31	L۶	3	0%	2	25%	2	25%		26%	
Datal		()	(0%		0%		0%		0%	
Data2		()응		0%		0%		0%		0%	
Data3		()응		0%		0%		0%		0%	
Data4		()응	(0%		0%		0%		0%	
Data5		()	(0%		08		0%		0%	

System software	Error	Counte	ers		
=======================================			===		
Error packets dr	ops:		:	16	
Hardware compres	sion d	levice	is	not	installed.

L2-L3	8 Fwd	(Switch)	Error	Counte	er	S	
=====	=====				=	=======	==
Link	Down	Drop		:		57	
VLAN	Flood	1		:		175313	

Health Monitor Error Counters

Send packet failed:	•	1/41315
Retries:	:	28982
Timeouts:	:	9

Example The following command shows detailed system-software error statistics:

AX#show errors system software deta

System software Error Counters	3	
	===	
buff alloc failed:	:	0
buff alloc from sys failed:	:	0
Error packets drops:	:	16
Packet drops:	:	0

Example

The following command shows detailed error statistics for SLB health monitoring:

AX#show errors application slb health-monitor detail



Health Monitor Error Counters

Open socket failed:	:	0
Send packet failed:	:	1742518
Receive packet failed:	:	0
Unexpected error:	:	0
Retries:	:	29002
Timeouts:	:	9

The Error packets drops counter indicates the number of packets that were dropped before ACOS applied any load balancing logic, because the contents of the packet were invalid. Some examples:

=

- Attack packets
- Packets whose IP total length does not correspond with the size of the Ethernet frame

The Packets received error counter is the same as the Error packets drops counter, but does not count packets from the AX Linux IP Stack.

The Packet drops counter indicates the number of packets that were dropped because due to a load balancing logic error. As an example, this counter includes packets dropped because the session has been deleted.

show fixed-nat

Description	Display information for Fixed-NAT. (See <u>"Config Commands: Fixed-NAT"</u> on page 609.)
show glid	
Description	Show information for global IP limiting rules.

Syntax	show	glid	[<i>num</i>]
--------	------	------	----------------

All

Mode



Description Show the status of each HA group. The output shows information AX device on which you enter the command, and the device's HA	Show the status of each HA group. The output shows information for the AX device on which you enter the command, and the device's HA peer.				
Syntax show ha [config detail]					
Parameter Description					
config Shows the HA configuration commany running-config.	ds in the				
detail Shows HA statistics.					
Mode All					
Example The following command shows basic HA information:					
AX#show ha					
Local Unit: UP Peer Unit: UP					
HA Group Unit State Priority					
1 Local Active 200					
Peer Standby 100					
2 Local Active 255					
Peer Standby 100					
Example The following command shows basic HA information along with HA stat	istics:				
AX#show ha detail					
Local Unit: DOWN Peer Unit:					
HA Group Unit State Priority					
1 Local Active 255					
Peer					
HA Group Active Standby					
1 Transitions 1 1					
Connectivity: Server Ports 0 Router Ports 0					
HA packets: Sent 0 Received 0					
Conn Sync: Sent 0 Received 0					
Conn Query: Sent 0 Received 0					
Conn Sync Create Session: Sent 0 Received 0					
Conn Sync Update Age: Sent 0 Received 0					
Conn Sync Del Session: Sent O Received O					
Conn Sync Create Persist Sess: Sent 0 Received 0					
CONNISYNC UDDALE PERSISE AGE: Sent U. Received ()					



<u>Table 41</u> describes the fields in the command output.

Field	Description
Local Unit	Shows the HA operational status of this AX device:
	• Up – All configured HA router and server interfaces are up.
	• Partially Up – Some HA router or server interfaces are down but at least one server link and one router link are up.
	 Down – All router interfaces, or all server interfaces, or both are down. The status also is Down if both router interfaces and server interfaces are not configured and an HA interface goes down
Peer Unit	Shows the HA operational status of the other AX device.
	Note: If the status is Incompatible Version, the AX devices are running different software versions and the HA feature is not compatible between the two versions. This message is normal during upgrade, after one of the AX devices has been upgraded and before the other device is upgraded. If the devices are not being upgraded, it is recommended to upgrade one of the devices so that they both are running the same software version.
HA Group	Shows HA group information:
	• Unit – Indicates whether the information below is for this AX device (Local) or the other AX device (Peer).
	• State – Indicates whether the AX device is active or is a standby.
	• Priority – HA priorities configured for this group on this AX device and on its peer AX device.
Transitions	Number of times this AX device has transitioned to the active or standby state.
Connectivity	Shows the number of HA interfaces designated as server or router interfaces that are currently up.
HA packets	Shows the number of HA hello (heartbeat) packets sent or received by this AX device.
Conn Sync	Shows the number of HA connection synchronization (session mirroring) packets sent or received by this AX device.

TABLE 41 show ha detail fields



Field	Description
Conn Query	Shows the number of HA connection query packets sent or received by this AX device.
Conn Sync Create Session	Shows the number of create session packets sent or received by this AX device.
Conn Sync Update Age	Shows the number of age update packets that were sent or received by this AX device.
Conn Sync Del Session	Shows the number of session delete packets that were sent or received by this AX device.
Conn Sync Create Persist Sess	Shows the number of create persistent session packets sent or received by this AX device.
Conn Sync Update Persist Age	Shows the number of persistent session age update packets that were sent or received by this AX device.
Conn Sync Del Persist Session	Shows the number of persistent session delete packets that were sent or received by this AX device.
HA errors	Shows HA error statistics:
	• Dup HA ID – Number of incoming HA hello (heartbeat) packets that had the same HA ID as the HA ID of this AX device (the local AX device).
	 Invalid Group – Number of incoming HA hello packets that had an invalid group ID.
	• Version Mismatch – Number of incoming HA hello pack- ets that had a packet version mismatch.
	• SetId Mismatch – Number of incoming HA hello packets that had an HA set ID mismatch.
	 Missed Heartbeat – Total number of heartbeat (hello) packets expected from the peer HA device that were not received.
	• Timer Msgs – Number of times HA internal timers detected a variance.
HA Port	Shows statistics for each HA interface:
	• Sent – Number of hello (heartbeat) messages sent on the interface.
	• Recvd – Number of hello messages received on the inter- face.
	 Missed Heartbeat – Number of hello messages that were expected to be received on the interface but that did to arrive.
	Backup Triggered –
	• Backup Stopped –

TABLE 41 show ha detail fields (Continued)





The following command shows the HA commands in the running-config:

Example

AX#**show ha config** ha id 1 ha group 1 priority 255 ha group 2 priority 255 ha time-interval 3 ha preemption-enable ha conn-mirror ip 172.22.66.2

show ha mac

Descriptio	n	Show the virtual MAC addresses associated with HA groups.			
Syntax		show ha mac			
Mode		All			
Usage		Each HA group has a shared MAC address, $021f.a0000.00xx$. The 02 portion of the address indicates this is an HA virtual MAC address, instead of a system MAC address (00). The xx portion of the address is unique to the HA group. The shared MAC address is used for all IP addresses for which HA is provided (SLB VIPs, source NAT addresses, floating IP addresses, and so on).			
Example		The following command shows the virtual MAC addresses for configured HA groups 1 and 2:			
AX# show h	a mac				
HA Group	MACs				
1	021f.a000.00	01			
2	021f.a000.00	21f			

show hardware

Description	Show status information for system hardware.				
Syntax	show hardware				
Mode	All				



The following command shows hardware information for an AX 2500.

```
Example The fol
AX2500(config)#show hardware
```

```
AX Series Advanced Traffic Manager AX2500
     Serial No : AX25061111010069
     CPU
              : Intel(R) Xeon(R) CPU
                8 cores
                5 stepping
     Storage : Single 74G drive
     Memory : Total System Memory 6122 Mbyte, Free Memory 1718 Mbyte
     SMBIOS
              : Build Version: 080015
                Release Date: 02/01/2010
     SSL Cards : 1 device(s) present
                 1 Nitrox PX
              : 0 compression device(s) present
     GZIP
             : 0 instance(s) present
     FPGA
     L2/3 ASIC : 0 device(s) present
```

show health

Description	Show status information f	for health monitors.
Syntax	<pre>show health { external [name] gateway monitor [name] postfile [name] stat }</pre>	
	Parameter	Description
	<pre>external [name]</pre>	Shows configuration settings for the specified external health monitoring program.
	gateway	Shows configuration settings and statistics for gateway health monitoring.
	monitor [name]	Shows configuration settings and status for the specified health monitor.
	<pre>postfile [name]</pre>	Shows the files used for POST requests in HTTP/ HTTPS health checks.
	stat	Shows health monitoring statistics. The statistics apply to all health monitoring activity on the AX Series device.
Mode	All	



Example

The following command shows configuration settings and status for health monitor "ping":

AX#**show health monitor ping**

Monitor Name:	ping
Interval:	30
Max Retry:	3
Timeout:	5
Status:	In use
Method:	ICMP

The output shows the method used for the monitor, and the settings for each of the parameters that are configurable for that method.

Example The following command shows the configuration settings of external health monitoring program "http.tcl":

```
AX#show health external http.tcl
External Program
                                Description
                                check http method
http.tcl
!!! Content Begin !!!
set ax_env(Result) 1
# Open a socket
if {[catch {socket $ax_env(ServerHost) $ax_env(ServerPort)} sock]} {
  puts stderr "$ax_env(ServerHost): $sock"
} else {
   fconfigure $sock -buffering none -eofchar {}
   # Send the request
  puts $sock "GET / HTTP/1.0\n"
   # Wait for the response from http server
   set line [read $sock]
   if { [ regexp "HTTP/1.. ((0-9)]+) " $line match status] } {
      puts "server $ax_env(ServerHost) response : $status"
   }
close $sock
   # Check exit code
   if { $status == 200 } {
      set ax_env(Result) 0
   }
}
```

```
!!! Content End !!!
```

Example

The following command shows health monitoring statistics:

AX#**show health stat** Health monitor statistics Total run time:

: 2 hours 1345 seconds





Number of burst:			:	0								
max scan jiffie:			:	326	6							
min scan jiffie:			:	1								
average scan jiffie:			:	1								
Opened socket:			:	114	40							
Open socket failed:			:	0								
Close socket:			:	113	36							
Send packet:			:	0								
Send packet failed:			:	259	9379							
Receive packet:			:	0								
Receive packet failed	1		:	0								
Retry times:			:	42'	70							
Timeout:			:	0								
Unexpected error:			:	0								
Conn Immediate Success:		:	0									
Socket closed before 17:		:	0									
Socket closed without	fd n	otify:	:	0								
Get retry send:			:	0								
Get retry recv:			:	0								
Configured health-che	eck ra	te (/500ms)	:	Aut	to confi	igu	red					
Current health-check	rate	(/500ms):	:	160	00							
Total number:			:	800	09							
Status UP:			:	800	09							
Status DOWN:			:	0								
Status UNKN:			:	0								
Status OTHER:			:	0								
IP address	Port	Health mon	it	or	Status	Cai	ıse(Up/Down)	Retry	PI	1	
10.0.0.11	80	http			UP	11	/0	@0	0	0	/0	0
10.0.12	80	http			UP	10	/0	@0	0	0	/0	0

<u>Table 42</u> describes the fields in the command output.

Field	Description
Total run time	Time elapsed since the health monitoring process started.
Number of burst	Number of times the system detected that a health check would leave the AX device as a traffic burst, and remedied the situation.
max scan jiffie	Used by A10 Networks Technical Support.
min scan jiffie	
average scan jiffie	
Opened socket	Number of sockets opened.
Open socket failed	Number of failed attempts to open a socket.
Close socket	Number of sockets closed.
Send packet	Number of health check packets sent to the target of the health monitor.

TABLE 42show health stat fields


Field	Description
Send packet failed	Number of sent health check packets that failed. (This is the number of times a target server or service failed its health check.)
Receive packet	Number of packets received from the target in reply to health checks.
Receive packet failed	Number of failed receive attempts.
Retry times	Number of times a health check was resent because the target did not reply.
Timeout	Number of times a response was not received before the health check timed out.
Unexpected error	Number of unexpected errors that occurred.
Conn Immediate Success	Used by A10 Networks Technical Support.
Socket closed before 17	
Socket closed without fd notify	
Get retry send	
Get retry recv	
Configured	If auto-adjust is enabled, shows "Auto configured".
health-check rate	If auto-adjust is disabled, shows the manually configured threshold.
Current health- check rate	If auto-adjust is enabled, shows the total number of health monitors divided by the global health-check timeout:
	total-monitors / global-timeout
	If auto-adjust is disabled, shows the manually configured threshold.
Total number	Total number of health checks performed.
Status UP	Number of health checks that resulted in status UP.
Status DOWN	Number of health checks that resulted in status DOWN.
Status UNKN	Number of health checks that resulted in status UNKN.
Status OTHER	Number of health checks that resulted in status OTHER.
IP address	IP address of the real server.
Port	Protocol port on the server.

TABLE 42	show health stat fields	(Continued)
----------	-------------------------	-------------



Field	Description
Health monitor	Name of the health monitor.
	If the name is "default", the default health monitor settings for the protocol port type are being used:
	• ICMP – Server health check. Every 5 seconds, the AX device sends an ICMP echo request (ping) addressed to the server's IP address. The server passes the health check if it sends an echo reply to the AX device. If the server does not reply after the fourth attempt (the first attempt followed by 3 retries), the AX device sets the server state to DOWN.
	• UDP – Protocol port health check. Every 5 seconds, the AX device sends a packet with a valid UDP header and a garbage payload to the UDP port. The port passes the health check if the server either does not reply, or replies with any type of packet <i>except</i> an ICMP Error message.
Status	Indicates whether the service passed the most recent health check.
Cause (Up/Down)	Up and Down show internal codes for the reasons the health check reported the server or service to be up or down. (See <u>"show health stat Up / Down Causes" on page 799</u> .)
Retry	Number of retries.
PIN	Indicates the following:
	• Current number of retries – Displayed to the left of the slash (/). The number of times the most recent health check was retried before a response was received or the maximum number of retries was used.
	 Current successful up-retries – Displayed to the right of the slash (/). Number of successful health check replies received for the current health check. This field is applica- ble if the up-retry option is configured for the health check. (See <u>"health monitor" on page 128</u>.)

TABLE 42	show health stat fields	(Continued)
----------	-------------------------	-------------

show history

Description	Show the CLI command history for the current session.
Syntax	show history
Mode	Privileged EXEC level and configuration levels
Usage	Commands are listed starting with the oldest command, which appears at the top of the list.



Example

The following example shows commands entered by the tech writer while drafting this chapter:

AX#show history

```
enable
 show version
 show access-list
 show admin
 show admin admin
 show admin detail
 show admin session
 show admin admin detail
 show arp
 show arp 192.168.1.144
 show bootimage
 show bw-list
 show clock
 show clock detail
 show core
 show cpu interval 1
 show cpu interval 10
 show debug
 show disk
 show dumpthread
--MORE--
```

show icmp

Description	Show ICMP rate limiting	ng configuration settings and statistics.
Syntax	show icmp	
Mode	All	
Example	The following comman of ICMP packets dropp	d shows ICMP rate limiting settings, and the number ed because the threshold has been exceeded:
AX(config)#show ic	cmp	
Global rate limit:		5
Global lockup rate limit:		10
Lockup period:		20
Current global rate:		0
Global rate limit drops:		0
Interfaces rate limit drops:		0
Virtual server rate limit drops:		0

Total rate limit drops:

0



show interfaces

Description			Display interface configuration and status information.					
Synta	ax			show [bri [eth [1	o inte ef] ernet oopba	erfaces c [port-num]] ack num] [man	[ve [vlan-id]] agement]	l
		1	lote:	For in tics"	nforma <u>on pag</u>	tion about the statist <u>e 726</u> .	ics options, see <u>"show ir</u>	nterfaces statis-
Mode	;			Privileg	ged EX	EC level and configur	ration levels	
Exan	nple			The fol	lowing	example shows brief	interface information:	
AX# s]	how in	nterfa	ces br	rief				
Port	Link	Dupl	Speed	Trunk	Vlan	MAC	IP Address	Total IPs
mgmt	Up	Full	100	N/A	N/A	0090.0b0a.a594	192.168.20.241/24	1
1	Up	Full	1000	None	1	0090.0b0a.a596	10.10.10.241/24	5
2	Up	Full	1000	None	1	0090.0b0a.a597	20.20.20.241/24	1
3	Down	None	None	None	1	0090.0b0a.a598	0.0.0/0	0
4	Down	None	None	None	1	0090.0b0a.a599	0.0.0/0	0
5	Disb	None	None	None	1	0090.0b0a.a59a	0.0.0/0	0
6	Disb	None	None	None	1	0090.0b0a.a59b	0.0.0/0	0
7	Up	Full	1000	None	1	0090.0b0a.a59c	70.70.70.241/24	4
8	Disb	None	None	None	1	0090.0b0a.a59d	0.0.0/0	0
ve4	Down	N/A	N/A	N/A	4	0090.0b0a.a597	60.60.60.241/24	2
vеб	Up	N/A	N/A	N/A	5	0090.0b0a.a597	99.99.99.241/24	1
102	υp	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	68.67.65.64/23	3

```
Example
                       The following example shows information for Ethernet port 1:
AX#show interfaces ethernet 1
Ethernet 1 is up, line protocol is up
 Hardware is GigabitEthernet, Address is 0090.0b0a.a596
  Internet address is 10.10.10.241, Subnet mask is 255.255.255.0
  Internet address is 10.10.10.242, Subnet mask is 255.255.255.0
  Internet address is 10.10.10.243, Subnet mask is 255.255.255.0
  Internet address is 10.10.10.244, Subnet mask is 255.255.255.0
  Internet address is 10.10.11.244, Subnet mask is 255.255.255.0
 Configured Speed auto, Actual 1Gbit, Configured Duplex auto, Actual fdx
 Member of L2 Vlan 1, Port is Untagged
 Flow Control is enabled, IP MTU is 1500 bytes
 Port as Mirror disabled, Monitoring this Port disabled
  0 packets input, 0 bytes
 Received 0 broadcasts, Received 0 multicasts, Received 0 unicasts
  0 input errors, 0 CRC 0 frame
Customer Driven Innovation
```



0 runts 0 giants 0 packets output 0 bytes Transmitted 0 broadcasts 0 multicasts 0 unicasts 0 output errors 0 collisions 300 second input rate: 158073232 bits/sec, 154368 packets/sec, 15% utilization 300 second output rate: 35704 bits/sec, 5 packets/sec, 0% utilization

Example The following example shows information for loopback interface 8:

```
AX#show interfaces loopback 8
Loopback 8 is up, line protocol is up
Hardware is Loopback
Internet address is 10.10.10.55, Subnet mask is 255.255.255.0
```

show interfaces statistics

Description	Display interface sta	atistics.
Syntax	<pre>show interfaces statistics [ethernet portnum [ethernet portnum]] [{in-pps in-bps out-pps out-bps}] [interval seconds]</pre>	
	Parameter	Description
	ethernet portnum	Ethernet data interface numbers for which to dis- play statistics. If you omit this option, statistics are displayed for all Ethernet data interfaces.
	in-pps	Inbound traffic, in packets per second (PPS).
	in-bps	Inbound traffic, in bytes per second (BPS).
	out-pps	Outbound traffic, in packets per second (PPS).
	out-bps	Incoming traffic, in bytes per second (BPS).
	interval seconds	Refreshes the statistics at the specified interval, 1-32 seconds. If you do not use this option, the statistics are displayed only once.

Mode

Privileged EXEC level and configuration levels



show ip

Description	Show the IP mode in which the AX device is running, gateway or transparent mode.
Syntax	show ip
Mode	All
Example	The following command shows that the AX device is running in gateway mode:
AX# show ip System is running in (Gateway Mode

show ip bgp

Description	Display information for Border Gateway Protocol (BGP). See <u>"BGP Show</u>
	Commands" on page 432.

show ip dns

Description	Display the DNS configuration		
Syntax	show ip dns		

show {ip | ipv6} fib

Description		Display Forwarding Information Base (FIB) entries.
	Note:	This command is applicable only on AX Series devices that are config- ured in route mode. The command returns an error if you enter it on a device configured for transparent mode.
Syntax		<pre>show {ip ipv6} fib</pre>
Mode		All
Example		The following command shows the IPv4 FIB entries on an AX Series device configured in route mode:





AX#show ip fib

Prefix	Next Hop	Interface	Distance
0.0.0.0 /0	192.168.20.1	ve10	0
192.168.20.0 /24	0.0.0.0	vel0	0
Total routes = 2			

Example	The following command shows IPv6 FIB entries:				
AX(config)# show ipv6 fi Prefix	b Next Hop	Interface	Metric	Index	
b101::/64 Total routes = 1	::	Ethernet 6	256	0	

show {ip | ipv6} fragmentation statistics

Description	Show statistics for IP fragmentation.			
Syntax	show $\{ip$	ipv6}	fragmentation	statistics
Mode	All			
Example	The following	command s	shows IPv4 fragmenta	ation statistics:
AX(config)# show ip fragme IP Fragmentation Statist:	entation stati	stics		
Session Inserted		0		
Session Expired		0		
ICMP Received		0		
ICMPv6 Received		0		
UDP Received		0		
TCP Received		0		
IP-in-IP Received		0		
Other Received		0		
ICMP Dropped		0		
ICMPv6 Dropped		0		
UDP Dropped		0		
TCP Dropped		0		
IP-in-IP Dropped		0		
Other Dropped		0		
Overlapping Fragment Drop	þ	0		
Bad IP Length		0		
Fragment Too Small Drop		0		
First TCP Fragment Too Sr	nall Drop	0		
First L4 Fragment Too Sma	all Drop	0		
Total Sessions Exceeded I	Drop	0		



Out of Session Memory	0
Fragmentation Fast Aging Set	0
Fragmentation Fast Aging Unset	0
Fragment Queue Success	0
Payload Length Unaligned	0
Payload Length Out of Bounds	0
Duplicate First Fragment	0
Duplicate Last Fragment	0
Total Queued Fragments Exceeded	0
Fragment Queue Failure	0
Fragment Reassembly Success	0
Fragment Max Data Length Exceeded	0
Fragment Reassembly Failure	0

Table 43 describes the fields in the command output.

Field	Description
Session Inserted	Number of times the AX device received a new fragment that
	did not match any existing session (based on source IP, desti-
	nation ID, and fragment ID).
	A fragment session represents multiple fragments that should
	be reassembled together into a single logical packet.
Session Expired	Number of times a fragment session timed out before all the
	fragments for the packet were received.
ICMP Received	Number of ICMP fragments received.
ICMPv6	Number of ICMPv6 fragments received.
Received	
UDP Received	Number of UDP fragments received.
TCP Received	Number of TCP fragments received.
IP-in-IP	Number of IP-in-IP fragments received.
Received	
Other Received	Number of other types of fragments received.
ICMP Dropped	Number of ICMP fragments that were dropped. This counter
	and the other "Dropped" counters below are incremented
	when a fragment is dropped for any of the following reasons:
	• Invalid length
	• Overlap with other fragments
	• Exceeded fragmentation session threshold
ICMPv6	Number of ICMPv6 fragments that were dropped.
Dropped	
UDP Dropped	Number of UDP fragments that were dropped.
TCP Dropped	Number of TCP fragments that were dropped.
IP-in-IP Dropped	Number of IP-in-IP fragments that were dropped.
Other Dropped	Number of other types of fragments that were dropped.

 TABLE 43
 show {ip | ipv6} fragmentation statistics fields



Field	Description
Overlapping Fragment Drop	Number of fragments dropped because the data in the frag- ment overlapped with data in another fragment already received by the AX device.
Bad IP Length	This counter includes both of the following:
	 Number of IPv4 packets for which the total length was invalid.
	• Number of IPv6 packets for which the payload length was invalid.
Fragment Too Small Drop	Number of fragments in which the length of the data was too short. IP fragmentation requires at least 8 bytes of data in all except the last fragment.
First TCP Fragment Too Small Drop	Number of fragmented TCP packets that did not contain the entire Layer 4 header in the first fragment.
First L4 Fragment Too Small Drop	Number of fragmented packets other than TCP packets that did not contain the entire Layer 4 header in the first fragment.
Total Sessions Exceeded Drop	Number of times a fragment was dropped because the maxi- mum number of concurrent fragment sessions were already in use.
Out of Session Memory	Number of times the AX device ran out of memory for frag- ment sessions.
Fragmentation Fast Aging Set	Number of times the AX device sped up aging of existing fragment sessions in order to accommodate new sessions.
Fragmentation Fast Aging Unset	Number of times the AX device returned to normal aging for fragment sessions.
Fragment Queue Success	Number of times a new fragment session was created, or a new fragment was added to an existing session.
Payload Length Unaligned	Number of fragments whose length did not consist of a mul- tiple of 8 bytes.
	Note: This counter does not apply to the final fragments of fragmented packets. The final fragment of a packet is not required to have a length that is a multiple of 8.
Payload Length Out of Bounds	Number of times a fragmented packet's data length exceeded what should have been the end of the reassembled packet.
Duplicate First Fragment	Number of times a duplicate first fragment was received for the same packet.
Duplicate Last Fragment	Number of times a duplicate last fragment was received for the same packet.
Total Queued Fragments Exceeded	Number of times the maximum number of concurrent frag- mented packets supported by the AX device was exceeded.

TABLE 43	show {ip	ipv6} fragmentation	statistics fields	(Continued)
		ip to) naginentation	oranonoo norao	



Field	Description
Fragment Queue Failure	Total number of times a fragmented packet could not be queued to a session, due to any of the errors listed separately by the following counters:Duplicate First Fragment
	Duplicate Last Fragment
	Payload Length Unaligned
Fragment Reassembly Success	Number of times all fragments for a packet were reassembled successfully.
Fragment Max Data Length Exceeded	Number of times the total length of all reassembled frag- ments for a packet exceeded 65535. This type of error can indicate an attack such as a ping-of-death attack.
Fragment Reassembly Failure	Total number of fragment reassembly errors, including errors due to unlikely causes such as memory corruption.
IPv4-in-IPv6 Fragmentation Statistics (Not shown in	These are the same as the counters described above, but they apply to packets fragmented into IPv4 fragments before being sent in the IPv6 tunnel. For example, these counters can apply to fragmented DS-Lite traffic.
the example above.)	These counters are displayed if you use the ipv6 option instead of the ip option.

TABLE 43	show {ip ip	v6} fragmentation	statistics fields	s (Continued)
----------	---------------	-------------------	-------------------	---------------

show ip helper-address

 Description
 Display DHCP relay information.

 Syntax
 show ip helper-address [detail]

All

|--|

Example

The following command shows summary DHCP relay information:

AX(config)	AX(config)# show ip helper-address					
Interface	Helper-Address	RX	TX	No-Relay	Drops	
eth1	100.100.100.1	0	0	0	0	
ve5	100.100.100.1	1669	1668	0	1	
ve7		1668	1668	0	0	
ve8	100.100.100.1	0	0	0	0	
ve9	20.20.20.102	0	0	0	0	



Table 44 describes the fields in the command output.

Field	Description
Interface	AX interface. Interfaces appear in the output in either of the
	following cases:
	• A helper address is configured on the interface.
	• DHCP packets are sent or received on the interface.
Helper-Address	Helper address configured on the interface.
RX	Number of DHCP packets received on the interface.
TX	Number of DHCP packets sent on the interface.
No-Relay	Number of packets that were examined for DHCP relay but
	were not relayed, and instead received regular Layer 2/3 pro-
	cessing.
	Generally, this counter increments in the following cases:
	• DHCP packets are received on an interface that does not
	have a helper address and the packets are not destined to
	the relay.
	• DHCP packets are received on an interface that does have
	a helper address, but the packets are unicast directly from
	the client to the server and do not need relay intervention.
Drops	Number of packets that were ineligible for relay and were
	dropped.

TADLE 44 STIUW IN THEINET-AUULESS THEIUS	TABLE 44	show in	o helper	-address	fields
--	----------	---------	----------	----------	--------

Example

The following command shows detailed DHCP relay information:

```
AX#show ip helper-address detail
IP Interface: eth1
_____
 Helper-Address: 100.100.100.1
 Packets:
           RX: 0
              BootRequest Packets : 0
              BootReply Packets : 0
           TX: 0
              BootRequest Packets : 0
              BootReply Packets : 0
 No-Relay: 0
 Drops:
           Invalid BOOTP Port : 0
           Invalid IP/UDP Len : 0
           Invalid DHCP Oper : 0
           Exceeded DHCP Hops : 0
```



```
Invalid Dest IP
                             : 0
           Exceeded TTL
                             : 0
           No Route to Dest
                             : 0
           Dest Processing Err : 0
IP Interface: ve5
_____
 Helper-Address: 100.100.100.1
 Packets:
           RX: 16
              BootRequest Packets : 16
              BootReply Packets : 0
           TX: 14
              BootRequest Packets : 0
              BootReply Packets : 14
 No-Relay: 0
 Drops:
           Invalid BOOTP Port : 0
           Invalid IP/UDP Len : 0
           Invalid DHCP Oper : 0
           Exceeded DHCP Hops : 0
           Invalid Dest IP
                             : 0
           Exceeded TTL
                             : 0
           No Route to Dest
                             : 2
           Dest Processing Err : 0
IP Interface: ve7
_____
 Helper-Address: None
 Packets:
           RX: 14
              BootRequest Packets : 0
              BootReply Packets : 14
           TX: 14
              BootRequest Packets : 14
              BootReply Packets : 0
 No-Relay: 0
 Drops:
           Invalid BOOTP Port : 0
           Invalid IP/UDP Len : 0
           Invalid DHCP Oper : 0
```





Exceeded DHCP Hops	:	0
Invalid Dest IP	:	0
Exceeded TTL	:	0
No Route to Dest	:	0
Dest Processing Err	:	0

<u>Table 45</u> describes the fields in the command output.

Field	Description					
IP Interface	AX interface.					
Helper-Address	IP address configured on the AX interface as the DHCP helper address.					
Packets	DHCP packet statistics:					
	• RX – Total number of DHCP packets received on the interface.					
	• BootRequest Packets – Number of DHCP boot request packets (Op = BOOTREQUEST) received on the interface.					
	• BootReply Packets – Number of DHCP boot reply packets (Op = BOOTREPLY) received on the interface					
	• TX – Total number of DHCP packets sent on the interface.					
	• BootRequest Packets – Number of DHCP boot request packets (Op = BOOTREQUEST) sent on the interface.					
	• BootReply Packets – Number of DHCP boot reply packets (Op = BOOTREPLY) sent on the interface.					
No-Relay	Number of packets that were examined for DHCP relay but were not relayed, and instead received regular Layer 2/3 processing.					
	Generally, this counter increments in the following cases:					
	• DHCP packets are received on an interface that does not have a helper address and the packets are not destined to the relay.					
	• DHCP packets are received on an interface that does have a helper address, but the packets are unicast directly from the client to the server and do not need relay intervention.					

 TABLE 45
 show ip helper-address detail fields



Field	Description
Drops	Lists the following counters for packets dropped on the inter- face:
	• Invalid BOOTP Port – Number of packets dropped because they had UDP destination port 68 (BOOTPC).
	• Invalid IP/UDP Len – Number of packets dropped because the IP or UDP length of the packet was shorter than the minimum required length for DHCP headers.
	• Invalid DHCP Oper – Number of packets dropped because the Op field in the packet header did not contain BOOTREQUEST or BOOTREPLY.
	• Exceeded DHCP Hops – Number of packets dropped because the number in the Hops field was higher than 16.
	• Invalid Dest IP – Number of packets dropped because the destination was invalid for relay.
	• Exceeded TTL – Number of packets dropped because the TTL value was too low (less than or equal to 1).
	• No Route to Dest – Number of packets dropped because the relay agent (AX device) did not have a valid forward- ing entry towards the destination.
	• Dest Processing Err – Number of packets dropped because the relay agent experienced an error in sending the packet towards the destination.

TABLE 45	show ip help	er-address detail	fields (Continued)
	ee		

show {ip | ipv6} interfaces

Description	<pre>Display IP interfaces. show {ip ipv6} interfaces [ethernet port-num] [ve ve-num] [loopback lb-num] [management]</pre>
Mode	All
Example	The following command shows the IPv4 interfaces configured on Ethernet interface 1:
AX# show ip interfaces IP addresses on ethern ip 10.10.10.241 netm ip 10.10.10.242 netm ip 10.10.10.243 netm	ethernet 1 et 1: ask 255.255.255.0 (Primary) ask 255.255.255.0 ask 255.255.255.0





ip 10.10.10.244 netmask 255.255.255.0 ip 10.10.11.244 netmask 255.255.255.0

Example

The following command shows the IPv4 interfaces configured on VEs:

AX# sl	how ip interface	s ve	PrimaryIP
Port	IP	Netmask	
ve4	60.60.60.241	255.255.255.0	Yes
	50.60.60.241	255.255.252.0	No
 vеб	99.99.99.241	255.255.255.0	Yes

The PrimaryIP column indicates whether the address is the primary IP address for the interface. (For more information, see <u>"ip address" on page 210</u>.)

show {ip | ipv6} isis

Description	Display information for Intermediate System to Intermediate Syste	m
	(IS-IS) routing. See <u>"Show Commands for IS-IS" on page 389</u> .	

show ip nat

Description	Display NAT informat	Display NAT information.			
Syntax	show ip nat op	show ip nat option			
	Option	Description			
	alg {http pptp} {statistics status}	Shows information for NAT Application Level Gateway (ALG) traffic for Hypertext Transfer Protocol (HTTP) or Point-to-Point Tunneling Protocol (PPTP).			
		statistics – Shows statistics.			
		status – Shows whether the feature is enabled.			
	interfaces	Shows the NAT direction enabled on each inter- face.			
	14	Shows Layer 4 statistics.			



logging statistics	Shows statistics for NAT logging.
lsn	Shows Large Scale NAT (LSN) information. See <u>"LSN Show Commands" on page 485</u> .
pcp statistics	Shows statistics for Port Control Protocol (PCP).
<pre>pool [pool-name] [statistics]</pre>	Shows pool information.
pool-group [pool-group- name]	Shows pool group information.
range-list range-name	Shows configured static NAT ranges.
<pre>static-binding [ipaddr] [statistics [ipaddr]]</pre>	Shows configuration information or statistics for static NAT bindings.
statistics	Shows NAT statistics.
template	Shows information for NAT templates, if config- ured.
timeouts	Shows the timer settings.

Mode

All

Example

The following command shows the NAT interface settings:

```
AX#show ip nat interfaces
```

Example

The following command shows the configured NAT pools:

AX#show ip nat pool

Pool Name	Start Address	End Address	Mask	Gateway	HA Group
172.pool1	192.168.66.201	192.168.66.201	/24	0.0.0.0	1
172.pool3	192.168.66.215	192.168.66.217	/24	0.0.0.0	1



Example

The following command shows NAT pool statistics:

AX# show ip nat pool	statistics Address	Port Usage	Total Used	Total Freed
172.pool1	192.168.66.201	0	0	0
Pool	Address	Port Usage	Total Used	Total Freed
172.pool3	192.168.66.215	0	0	0
	192.168.66.216	0	0	0
	192.168.66.217	0	0	0

In the **show ip nat pool statistics** output, the Address column lists the source addresses that are bound to NAT addresses. The Port Usage column indicates how many sessions are currently being NATted for each address. Each session counted here uses a unique TCP or UDP protocol port. ICMP traffic does not cause this counter to increment.

The Total Used column indicates the total number of sessions that have been NATted for the source address. The Total Freed column indicates how many NATted sessions have been terminated, thus freeing up a port for another session.

Example

The following command displays statistics for static source NAT bindings:

Source Address	Port Usage	Total Used	Total Freed
30.30.31.35	1727	329756	328029
30.30.31.36	1799	343950	342151
30.30.31.37	1793	346257	344464
30.30.31.38	1829	232605	230776
30.30.31.39	1738	241147	240937
30.30.31.40	1774	286022	284248

Example

The following command shows NAT statistics:

AX#**show ip nat statistics**

```
Outside interfaces: ethernet1
Inside interfaces: ethernet3
Hits: 1 Misses: 0
Outbound TCP sessions created: 6
Outbound UDP sessions created: 7
Outbound ICMP sessions created: 8
Inbound TCP sessions created: 8
Inbound UDP sessions created: 2
Dynamic mappings:
```

AX#show ip nat static-binding statistics



-- Inside Source access-list 1 pool p2 start 192.168.217.200 end 192.168.217.200 total addresses 1, allocated 0, misses 0

Example

The following command shows NAT timeout settings:

AX#**show ip nat timeouts**

NAT Timeout values in seconds: SYN TCP UDP ICMP -------60 300 300 fast Service 53/udp has fast-aging configured

In this example, the output indicates that fast aging is used for IP NATted ICMP sessions, and for IP NATted DNS sessions on port 53.

The message at the bottom of the display indicates that the fast aging setting (SLB MSL timeout) will be used for IP NATted UDP sessions on port 53. If the message is not shown in the output, then the timeout shown under "UDP" will be used instead.

The following command displays PPTP NAT ALG statistics.

AX(config-if:ethernet2)# show Statistics for PPTP NAT ALG:	ip nat alg pptp	statistics
Calls In Progress:	10	
Call Creation Failure:	0	
Truncated PNS Message:	0	
Truncated PAC Message:	0	
Mismatched PNS Call ID:	1	
Mismatched PAC Call ID:	0	
Retransmitted PAC Message:	3	
Truncated GRE Packets:	0	
Unknown GRE Packets:	0	
No Matching Session Drops:	4	





<u>Table 46</u> describes the fields in the command output.

Field	Description
Calls In Progress	Current call attempts, counted by inspecting the TCP control session. This counter will decrease once the first GRE packet arrives.
Call Creation Failure	Number of times a call could not be set up because the AX device ran out of memory or other system resources.
Truncated PNS Message	Number of runt TCP PPTP messages received from clients.
Truncated PAC Message	Number of runt TCP PPTP messages received from servers.
Mismatched PNS Call ID	Number of calls that were disconnected because the GRE session had the wrong Call ID.
Mismatched PAC Call ID	Number of calls that were disconnected because they had the wrong Call ID.
Retransmitted PAC Message	Number of TCP packets retransmitted from PAC servers.
Truncated GRE Packets	Number of runt GRE packets received by the AX device.
Unknown GRE Packets	Number of GRE packets that were not used for PPTP and were dropped.
No Matching Session Drops	Number of GRE PPTP packets sent with no current call.

 TABLE 46
 show ip nat alg pptp statistics fields

show ipv6 nat interfaces

Description	Display a list of the IPv6 interfaces on which inside NAT or outside NAT is
	enabled.

Syntax show ipv6 nat interfaces

show ipv6 ndisc

740 of 804

Description	Display information for IPv6 router discovery.		
Syntax	<pre>show ipv6 ndisc router-advertisement {ethernet portnum ve ve-num statistics}</pre>		
Mode	All		





The following command displays configuration information for IPv6 router discovery on an Ethernet interface. In this example, the interface is VE 10.

Interface VE 10		
Send Advertisements:		Enabled
Max Advertisement Int	cerval:	200
Min Advertisement Int	cerval:	150
Advertise Link MTU:		Disabled
Reachable Time:		0
Retransmit Timer:		0
Current Hop Limit:		255
Default Lifetime:		200
Max Router Solicitati	lons Per Second:	100000
HA Group ID:		None
Number of Advertised	Prefixes:	2
Prefix 1:		
Prefix:	2001:a::/96	
On-Link:	True	
Valid Lifetime:	4400	
Prefix 2:		
Prefix:	2001:32::/64	
On-Link:	True	
Valid Lifetime:	2592000	

The following command displays router discovery statistics:

AX(config) #show ipv6 ndisc router-advertisement statistics IPv6 Router Advertisement/Solicitation Statistics: _____ Good Router Solicitations (R.S.) Received: 1320 Periodic Router Advertisements (R.A.) Sent: 880 R.S. Rate Limited: 2 R.S. Bad Hop Limit: 1 R.S. Truncated: 0 R.S. Bad ICMPv6 Checksum: 0 R.S. Unknown ICMPv6 Code: 0 R.S. Bad ICMPv6 Option: 0 R.S. Src Link-Layer Option and Unspecified Address: 0 No Free Buffers to send R.A.: 0

The error counters apply to router solicitations (R.S.) that are dropped by the AX device.



The Src Link-Layer Option and Unspecified Address counter indicates the number of times the AX device received a router solicitation with source address "::" (unspecified IPv6 address) and with the source link-layer (MAC address) option set.

Note: In the current release, the AX device does not drop IPCMv6 packets that have bad (invalid) checksums.

show ipv6 neighbor

Description	Display information about neighboring IPv6 devices.					
Syntax	show ipv6	neighbor	[ipv6-add	dr]		
Mode	All					
Example	The following co	mmand sho	ws IPv6 neigł	nbors:		
AX(config)# show ipv Total IPv6 neighbor	6 neighbor entries: 2					
lPv6 Address	MAC Address	'l'ype	Age Sta	te	Intertace	Vlan

		1 L -	5-			
b101::1112	0007.E90A.4402	Dynamic	30	Reachable	ethernet 6	1
fe80::207:e9ff:fe0a:4402	0007.E90A.4402	Dynamic	20	Reachable	ethernet 6	1

show {ip | ipv6} ospf

DescriptionDisplay information for Open Shortest Path First (OSPF) routing. See<u>"OSPF Show Commands" on page 348</u>.

show {ip | ipv6} protocols

Description	Show information for dynamic routing protocols.				
Syntax	<pre>show {ip ip</pre>	<pre>show {ip ipv6} protocols protocol</pre>			
	Parameter	Description			
	protocol	Specifies the routing protocol:			
		bgp – Border Gateway Protocol (BGP).			
		isis – Intermediate System to Intermediate System (IS-IS).			
		ospf – Open Shortest Path First (OSPF).			
		rip – Routing Information Protocol (RIP).			
742 of 804		Customer Driven Innovation			



All

show {ip | ipv6} rip

Description	Show information for Routing Information Protocol (RIP). See <u>"RIP Show</u>
	Commands" on page 308.

show ip route

Description	Display the IPv4 routing table.		
Syntax	<pre>show ip route [ipaddr[/mask-length] all connected database floating-ip ip-nat ip-nat-list isis kernel mgmt ospf selected-vip static summary vip]</pre>		
Mode	All		
Usage	The show ip route summary command displays summary information for all IP routes, including the total number of routes. The command output applies to both the data route table and the management route table, which are separate route tables.		
	The following commands display routes for only one of the route tables:		
	• show ip route – Shows information for the data route table only.		
	• show ip route mgmt – Shows information for the management route table only.		
	The total number of routes listed by the output differs depending on the command you use. For example, the total number of routes listed by the		



show ip route command includes only data routes, whereas the total number of routes listed by the **show ip route summary** command includes data routes *and* management routes.

The following example shows the IP route table:

Example

AX#**show ip route** Codes: C - connected, S - static, O - OSPF

```
S* 0.0.0.0/0 [1/0] via 192.168.20.1, ve 10
S* 192.168.1.0/24 [1/0] is directly connected, Management
C* 192.168.1.0/24 is directly connected, Management
C* 192.168.19.0/24 is directly connected, ve 10
Total number of routes : 4
```

show ip-list

Description

show ipmi

Description

show ipv6 route

Description	Display the IPv6 routing table.				
Syntax	show ipv6 route				
	1pv6-addr[/mask-length]				
	connected				
	database				
	isis				
	kernel				
	mgmt				
	ospf				
	static				
	summary				
]				
Mode	All				



show ipv6 traffic

Description	Display IPv	6 traffic statistics.
Syntax	show in	ov6 traffic
Mode	All	
Example	The followi	ng command shows IPv6 traffic statistics:
AX #show ipv6 tra	affic Received	Sent
Neigh Solicit	2	0
Neigh Adverts	2	2
Echo Request	0	0
Echo Replies	5	0
Errors	0	0

show isis

Description	Show information for Intermediate System to Intermediate System (IS-IS).
	(See "Show Commands for IS-IS" on page 389.)

show key-chain

Description	Show configuration	Show configuration information for an authentication key chain.				
Syntax	show key-cha	show key-chain key name [key num]				
	Option	Description				
	name	Name of the key chain.				
	key num	Key number (1-255).				
Mode	Privileged EXEC as	Privileged EXEC and all Config levels				





Descriptio	on		Show Proto	v configu col (LA	ration info CP).	rmation and statistics for Link Aggregation Control			
Syntax			she	ow lac	p sys-id	d			
Syntax			she	ow lac	p count	er [lacp	o-trunk-	id]	
Syntax			sho [adu dei ve suu lao]	<pre>show lacp trunk [admin-key-list-details detail ve ve-num} summary lacp-trunk-id]</pre>					
		Opti	Option			Description			
		sys	sys-id			Shows the LACP system ID of the AX device.			
		la	lacp-trunk-id			Shows information only for the specified LACP trunk.			
summary Sho			Shows su	Shows summary information.					
Mode			All						
Example			The f	following	g command	shows LA	CP statistic	s:	
AX-1# shov Traffic	v la sta	acp cour	ters						
Port		LACPDU	Is	Marker		Pckt	Pckt err		
	S	Sent	Recv	Sent	Recv	Sent	Recv		
Aggregat	or	po5 100	0000						
ethernet	1	81	81	0	0	0	0		
ethernet	2	81	81	0	0	0	0		
Aggregat	or	po10 10	00001						
ethernet	б	233767	233765	0	0	0	0		

In this example, LACP has dynamically created two trunks, 5 and 10. Trunk 5 contains ports 1 and 2. Trunk 10 contains port 6.



Example

The following command shows summary trunk information:

AX-1#**show lacp trunk summary** Aggregator po5 1000000 Admin Key: 0005 - Oper Key 0005 Link: ethernet 1 (3) sync: 1 Link: ethernet 2 (4) sync: 1 Aggregator po10 1000001

Admin Key: 0010 - Oper Key 0010 Link: ethernet 6 (8) sync: 1

show locale

Description	Display the configured CLI locale.
Syntax	show locale
Mode	All
Example	The following command shows the locale configured on an AX Series device:
AX# show locale en_US.UTF-8	English locale for the USA, encoding with UTF-8 (default)

show log

Description	Display entries in the syslog buffer or display current log settings (policy). Log entries are listed starting with the most recent entry on top.				
Syntax	<pre>show log [length num] [policy]</pre>				
	Option	Description			
	length num	Shows the most recent log entries, up to the num- ber of entries you specify. You can specify 1-1000000 entries.			
	policy	Shows the log settings. To display log entries, omit this option.			
Mode	All				
Example	The following command shows the log settings:				
AX# show log policy Syslog facility: local(0				



Flow-control: disable

Name	Level
Console	error
Buffer	debugging
Email	disable
Тгар	disable
Syslog	debugging
Monitor	debugging

Example

The following command shows log entries.

```
AX#show log
Log Buffer: 30000
Jan 17 11:32:02 War
```

```
Warning A10LB HTTP request has p-conn
Jan 17 11:31:01
                 Notice The session [1] is closed
Jan 17 11:31:00
                        Load libraries in 0.044 secs
                 Info
Jan 17 11:26:19
                 Warning A10LB HTTP request has p-conn
Jan 17 11:26:19
                 Warning A10LB HTTP response not beginning of header: m coun-
terType="1" hourlyCount="2396" dailyCount="16295" weeklyCount="16295" monthly
Jan 17 11:16:18
                Warning A10LB HTTP request has p-conn
Jan 17 11:16:01
                 Notice The session [1] is closed
                        Load libraries in 0.055 secs
Jan 17 11:16:00
                 Info
Jan 17 11:15:22
                 Warning A10LB HTTP request has p-conn
Jan 17 11:15:03
                 Notice The session [1] is closed
Jan 17 11:14:33
                 Warning A10LB HTTP request has p-conn
Jan 17 11:14:07
                 Warning A10LB HTTP request has p-conn
Jan 17 11:13:23
                 Warning A10LB HTTP request has p-conn
Jan 17 11:12:47
                 Info
                        Load libraries in 0.047 secs
Jan 17 11:12:47
                 Notice The session for user admin from 192.168.1.166 is
opened. Session ID is [4]
Jan 17 11:09:28
                 Warning A10LB HTTP request has p-conn
Jan 17 11:09:18
                 Warning A10LB HTTP response not beginning of header: 5a8^M
p;        ^M Korn shell programming
la
--MORE--
```

```
show Isn-lid
```

Description

Show information for Limit IDs (LIDs) for Large Scale NAT (LSN). See <u>"show lsn-lid" on page 504</u>.

show Isn-rule-list

Description

Show information for LSN rule lists. See <u>"show lsn-rule-list" on page 504</u>.



show lw-406

Description	Display information for Lightweight 4over6. show lw-406 binding-table [files statistics tunnel-address <i>ipv6addr</i> [statistics]]				
Syntax					
	Option	Description			
	files	Lists the configured Lightweight 40ver6 binding tables. This includes any imported binding tables and any tables configured on the AX device.			
	statistics	Displays statistics.			
	tunnel-address <i>ipv6addr</i> [statistics]	Displays information for the specified tunnel address. If you use the statistics option, statistics for the tunnel address are shown.			
Mode	All				
Example AX(config-lw-4o6)# show LW-4over6 Statistics:	The following command lw-406 statistics	l displays general Lightweight 40ver6 statistics:			
Total Entries Configure		7			
Self-Hairpinning Drops	cu	0			
All Hairpinning Drops		0			
No-Forward-Match ICMPv	6 Sent	0			
No-Reverse-Match ICMP	Sent	0			
Inbound ICMP Drops		0			
Forward Route Lookup Fa	ailed	0			
Reverse Route Lookup Fa	ailed	0			

<u>Table 47</u> describes the fields in this command's output.

Field	Description
Total Entries Configured	Total number of entries in the currently active binding table.
Self-Hairpin- ning Drops	Number of packets dropped because both the source and des- tination address information matched.
	• Both the source and destination IP addresses are the same, and match the IPv4 NAT address of any binding-table entry. For example: source IP address 10.10.10.100: <i>x</i> to destination IP address 10.10.10.100: <i>y</i> .
	• Both the source and destination IP addresses are the same and match a binding-table entry, <i>and</i> the packet's source and destination protocol ports also match the protocol port(s) of the same bridging-table entry. For example: source IP address 10.10.10.100: <i>x</i> to destination IP address 10.10.10.100: <i>x</i> .
All Hairpinning Drops	Number of packets dropped because both the source and des- tination IPv4 addresses matched entries in the binding table.
	This counter is incremented in any of the following cases:
	• The source IP address matches the IPv4 NAT address of any binding-table entry.
	• The destination IP address matches the IPv4 NAT address of any binding-table entry.
No-Forward- Match ICMPv6 Sent	Number of times an ICMPv6 Destination Unreachable mes- sage was sent to a client CPE, because traffic from the client partially matched a binding-table entry but did not com- pletely match any of the entries.
	For example, this counter is incremented if the AX device receives a packet whose IPv6 tunnel address does not match any binding-table entries.
No-Reverse- Match ICMP Sent	Number of times an IPv4 ICMP Destination Unreachable message was sent to an IPv4 server, because traffic from the server partially matched a binding-table entry but did not completely match any of the entries.
Inbound ICMP Drops	Number of inbound IPv4 ICMP packets that were dropped.
Forward Route Lookup Failed	Number of times client-to-server traffic was dropped because no route was available for forwarding it to the destination server.
Reverse Route Lookup Failed	Number of times server-to-client traffic was dropped because no route was available for forwarding it to the destination Lightweight 40ver6 client.

TABLE 47 show lw-406 statistics fields



show mac-address-table

Description	Dis	Display MAC table entries.							
Syntax	s] [1	show mac-address-table [macaddr port port-num vlan vlan-id]							
	Ор	Option			Description				
	m	macaddr		Shows the MAC table entry for the specified MAC address. Enter the MAC address in the following format: aaaa.bbbb.cccc				ïed fol-	
	p	port port-num			Shows the MAC table entries for the specified Ethernet port.				ied
	v	lan vlan-1	id	Sho VL	ws the I AN.	MAC table	entries t	for the specif	ied
Mode	All								
Example	The 001	e following co 3.72E3.C773	mmand o	displa	ays the N	AC table of	entry for	MAC address	
AX#show mac-address	s-table	0013.72E3	.C773						
Total active entrie MAC-Address Po	es: 1 ort	Аде Туре	time: Index	300	secs Vlan	Age			
0013.72E3.C773 1		Dynamic	16		10	90			

<u>Table 48</u> describes the fields in the command output.

Field	Description	
Total active	Total number of active MAC entries in the table. An active	
entries	entry is one that has not aged out.	
Age time	Number of seconds a dynamic (learned) MAC entry can	
	remain unused before it is removed from the table.	
MAC-Address	MAC address of the entry.	
Port	Ethernet port through which the MAC address is reached.	
Туре	Indicates whether the entry is dynamic or static.	
Index	The MAC entry's position in the MAC table.	
Vlan	VLAN the MAC address is on.	
Age	Number of seconds since the entry was last used.	

 TABLE 48
 show mac-address-table fields



show management

Description	Show the types of management access allowed on each of the AX Series device's Ethernet interfaces.
Syntax	show management
Mode	All
Usage	To configure the management access settings, see <u>"enable-management" on page 121</u> and <u>"disable-management" on page 115</u> .
Example	The following command shows the management access settings on an AX Series device.

AX#show management

	PING	SSH	Telnet	HTTP	HTTPS	SNMP	ACL
mgmt	on	on	off	on	on	on	_
1	on	off	off	off	off	off	-
2	on	off	on	off	off	off	-
3	on	off	on	off	off	off	-
4	on	off	on	off	off	off	-
5	on	off	on	off	off	off	-
б	on	off	on	off	off	off	-
7	on	off	on	off	off	off	-
9	on	off	on	off	off	off	-
10	on	off	on	off	off	off	3
vel	on	off	on	on	off	off	-
ve2	on	off	on	off	off	off	-

show memory

Description	Display memory usage information.			
Syntax	show memory	show memory [cache system]		
	Option	Description		
	cache	Shows cache statistics.		
	system	Shows summary statistics for memory usage.		
Mode	Privileged EXEC level and configuration levels			



Example

The following command shows summary statistics for memory usage:

AX#show men	nory system	
System Memo	ory Usage:	
Total(KB)	Free	Share
2070368	751580	0

KB)	Free	Shared	Buffers	Cached	Usage
8	751580	0	269560	96756	59.0%

show mirror

Description	Display port mirroring information.
Syntax	show mirror
Mode	All
Example	The following example shows the port mirroring configuration on an AX Series device:
AX# show mirror Mirror Port : 4	

Port monitored at ingress : 2 Port monitored at egress : 2

Table 49 describes the fields in the command output.

Field	Description
Mirror Port	Port to which the traffic is copied. This is the port to which
	the protocol analyzer should be attached.
Port monitored at	Port(s) whose inbound traffic is copied to the monitor port.
ingress	
Port monitored at	Port(s) whose outbound traffic is copied to the monitor port.
egress	

show monitor

Description Display the event thresholds for system resources.

Syntax show monitor

Mode

All

AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference



Example

The following commands set the event threshold for data CPU utilization to 80% and verify the result:

AX(config) #monitor data-cpu 80 AX(config)#**show monitor** Current system monitoring threshold: Hard disk usage: 85 Memory usage: 95 Control CPU usage: 90 Data CPU usage: 80 IO Buffer usage: 60000 Buffer Drop: 100 Warning Temperature: 68

show nat46-stateless

Description	Show information for stateless NAT46. See	"show nat46-stateless statistics"
	<u>on page 581</u> .	

show nat64

Description	Show information for NAT64. See	"DNS64 / NAT64 Show Commands" on	
	<u>page 539</u> .		

show netflow

Description	Display NetFlow information.		
Syntax	<pre>show netflow monitor [monitor-name]</pre>		
	Option	Description	
	monitor-name	Name of a configured NetFlow monitor.	
Introduced in Release	2.6.6-P4		
Mode	All		



Description	Show the Network Time Protocol (NTP) configuration and status.		
Syntax	<pre>show ntp {servers status}</pre>		
	Option	Description	
	servers	Shows the NTP configuration and shows whether the AX Series device is synchronized with the NTP server.	
	status	Shows whether the AX Series device is synchro- nized with the NTP server.	
Mode	Privileged EXEC level and configuration levels		
Example	The following command shows the NTP configuration and the synchroniza- tion status:		
AX# show ntp servers			
Ntp Server	Mode		
*10.1.4.20	enabled		

<u>Table 50</u> describes the fields in the command output.

TABLE 50 show ntp fields

Field	Description	
NTP server	IP address of the NTP server.	
Mode	Indicates whether NTP is enabled.	

Example

The following command shows the NTP synchronization status:

AX#**show ntp status** NTP sync status: success

Customer Driven Innovation Document No.: D-030-01-00-0003 - Ver. 2.6.6-GR1 5/8/2013





alort is running alorip is running aloospf is running alosnmpd is running alogmpd is running alowa is running alolb is running

show process

Display the status of system processes.		
show process system		
Privileged EXEC level and configuration levels		
For descriptions of the system processes, see the "AX Software Processes" section in the "System Overview" chapter of the AX Series System Configuration and Administration Guide.		
The following command shows the status of system processes on an AX Series device:		

show radius-server

Description	Display RADIUS statistics.
Syntax	show radius-server
Mode	All



show reboot

Description	Display scheduled system reboots.	
Syntax	show reboot	
Mode	All	
Example	The following command shows a scheduled reboot on an AX Series device:	
AX# show reboot Reboot scheduled for 04:20:00 PST Sun Apr 20 2008 (in 63 hours and 16 minutes) by admin on 192.168.1.144 Reboot reason: Outlook_upgrade		

show router log file

Description	Show router logs.		
Syntax	<pre>show router log file [file-num isisd [file-num] nsm [file-num] ospf6d [file-num]]</pre>		
	Parameter	Description	
	file-num	Log file number.	
	nsm [file-num]	Displays the specified Network Services Module (NSM) log file, or all NSM log files.	
	ospf6d		
	[file-num]	Displays the specified IPv6 OSPFv3 log file, or all OSPFv3 log files.	
	ospfd		
	[file-num]	Displays the specified IPv4 OSPFv2 log file, or all OSPFv2 log files.	
Mada	A		

Mode

Any


show running-config

Description	Display the running-confi	g.
Syntax	<pre>show running-config [ha health-monitor [name] interfaces [ethernet [portnum] ve [num] loopback [num] management slb [server [name] service-group [name] virtual-server [name]] vlan [vlan-id]]</pre>	
	Option	Description
	ha	Shows High Availability configuration com- mands in the running-config.
	health-monitor [name]	Shows health-monitor configuration commands in the running-config.
	<pre>slb [server [name] service-group [name] virtual-server [name]]</pre>	Shows SLB server, service-group, and virtual- server configuration commands in the running- config.
	vlan [vlan-id]	Shows VLAN configuration commands in the running-config.
Mode	All	
Example	The following command s	shows the running-config on an AX Series device:
AX #show running-config !Current configuration !Configuration last upd !Configuration last saw !version 2.6.1, build 1 ! hostname AX2K-B !	: 10577 bytes lated at 18:01:01 PS red at 15:09:41 PST 69 (Jan-24-2011,12:	T Mon Jan 21 2008 Mon Jan 21 2008 30)

clock timezone America/Tijuana

!

758 of 804



```
!
!
vlan 10
untagged ethernet 1
router-interface ve 10
!
vlan 11
untagged ethernet 2
router-interface ve 11
!
vlan 20
tagged ethernet 4
router-interface ve 20
--MORE--
```





Description

show session

Display session information.		
show session		
<pre>6rd-nat64 [sub-op brief ds-lite [sub-opti filter {filter-na full-width ipv4 [sub-options ipv6 [sub-options nat44 [sub-option nat64 [sub-option]</pre>	ons] ons] me config}]] as] as]	
Parameter	Description	
6rd-nat64 [sub-options]	Displays IPv6-in-IPv4 6rd-NAT64 sessions. The following <i>sub-options</i> are supported:	
	<pre>source-v4-addr ipv4addr[/mask-length] - Source IPv4 address of the session.</pre>	
	<pre>source-v6-addr ipv6addr[/prefix] - Source IPv6 address of the session.</pre>	
	source-port <i>portnum</i> – Source protocol port of the session.	
	dest-v4-addr <i>ipv4addr</i> [/mask-length] - Destination IPv4 address of the session.	
	dest-v6-addr <i>ipv6addr[/prefix]</i> – Destination IPv6 address of the session.	
	dest-port <i>portnum</i> – Destination protocol port of the session.	
brief	Displays summary statistics for all session types.	
ds-lite [sub-options]	Displays IPv4-in-IPv6 DS-Lite sessions. The <i>sub-options</i> are the same as those for 6rd-nat64 .	



filter filter-name	
config	Displays information about configured session filters.
	filter-name – Displays the specified session filter.
	config – Displays all configured session filters.
full-width	Displays complete IPv6 addresses instead of truncating them. (See "Usage" below.)
ipv4 [sub-options]	Displays IPv4 LSN sessions, IPv4 Fixed-NAT sessions, and IPv4 static mapping sessions. The following <i>sub-options</i> are supported:
	source-v4-addr <i>ipv4addr</i> [/mask-length] - Source IPv4 address of the session.
	source-port <i>portnum</i> – Source protocol port of the session.
	dest-v4-addr <i>ipv4addr[/mask-length]</i> – Destination IPv4 address of the session.
	dest-port <i>portnum</i> – Destination protocol port of the session.
ipv6	
[sub-options]	Displays NAT64 sessions and NAT64 Fixed- NAT sessions. The following <i>sub-options</i> are supported:
	source-v6-addr <i>ipv6addr</i> [/ <i>prefix</i>] – Source IPv6 address of the session.
	source-port <i>portnum</i> – Source protocol port of the session.
	dest-v6-addr <i>ipv6addr[/prefix]</i> – Destination IPv6 address of the session.
	dest-port <i>portnum</i> – Destination protocol port of the session.
nat44	
[sub-options]	Displays IPv4 LSN sessions and IPv4 Fixed- NAT sessions. The <i>sub-options</i> are the same as those for ipv4 .



Networks			
	nat64 [sub-options]	Displays NAT64 sessions and NAT64 Fixed-NAT sessions. The <i>sub-options</i> are the same as those for ipv6 .	
Mode	All		
Usage	For convenience, you c (See <u>"session-filter" on</u>	an save session display options as a session filter. page 168.)	
	Abbreviated IPv6 Ad	dress Display	
	In show session output, mum of 22 characters. 7 output.	IPv6 addresses are truncated by default, to a maxi- The truncation aligns the IPv6 output with the IPv4	
	If you want to display the show session full-width	ne full IPv6 addresses, use the following command:	
	Notes on full-width C	Option	
	• DS-Lite addresses, v addresses, are nearly addresses are shown Example: [14::6	which have IPv4 addresses within IPv6 tunnel v always truncated. Truncated DS-Lite IPv6 without their IPv4 suffixes. : 52485	
	 If the entire IPv6 add the space provided, the bracket only. General [3001::2 :3719 	dress plus its protocol port <i>can not</i> be displayed in the truncated IPv6 address is shown within a left ally, this applies to DS-Lite addresses. For example:	
	• For IPv6 addresses of address plus its proto IPv6 address is show spaces are allowed for for the protocol port and the colon in from Example: [3001::	other than DS-Lite addresses, if the entire IPv6 bool port can be displayed within 22 spaces, the vn within a pair of left and right brackets. Up to 14 or the IPv6 address. Five additional spaces are used number. The final 3 spaces are used for the brackets at of the port number. 2]:16967	
	Note on Clearing Sessions		
	After entering the clear session-clear mode for t tions are sent to the dele	r session command, the AX device may remain in up to 10 seconds. During this time, any new connec- te queue for clearing.	
Example	Here is an example of sl addresses. In this examp DS-Lite.	how session output containing truncated IPv6 ole and the next one, the first address row is for	



AX# show session Traffic Type	Total			
TCP Established TCP Half Open 	0 0			
Prot Forward Source Hash Flags	Forward Dest	Reverse Source	Reverse Dest	Age
Icmp [3001::2 :37191 1 NS	[3001::1 :0	30.30.30.3:0	5.5.5.71:37191	0
Icmp [3001::2]:16967 1 NS Total Sessions:	[64:ff9b::1e1e :0	30.30.30.3:0	5.5.5.72:32768	0

Example

The following command displays the IPv6 addresses without truncating them:

AX# sł	now session full-w	idth			
Trafí	fic Type	Total			
TCP H	Established	0			
TCP H	Half Open	0			
 Prot Hash	Forward Source Flags	Forward Dest	Reverse Source	Reverse Dest	Age
ICmp	[3001::2]10.10.10	.2:37191 [3001::1]30.3	0.30.3:0 30.30.30.3:0	5.5.5.71:37191	
ICmp 1	[3001::2]:16967 NS	[64:ff9b::lele:le	03] :0 30.30.30.3:0	5.5.5.72:32768	0
Total	l Sessions:	2			

Table 51 describes the fields in the command output.

Field	Description
TCP Established	Number of established TCP sessions.
TCP Half Open	Number of half-open TCP sessions. A half-open session is one for which the AX Series device has not yet received a SYN ACK from the backend server.
UDP	Number of UDP sessions.
Non TCP/UDP IP sessions	Number of IP sessions other than TCP or UDP sessions. This counter applies specifically to IP protocol load balanc- ing. (See the "IP Protocol Load Balancing" chapter in the AX Series Application Delivery and Server Load Balancing Guide.)
Other	Number of internally used sessions. As an example, internal sessions are used to hold fragmentation information.

TABLE 51show session fields



Field	Description
Reverse NAT TCP	Number of reverse-NAT TCP sessions.
Reverse NAT UDP	Number of reverse-NAT UDP sessions.
Curr Free Conn	Number of Layer 4 sessions currently available.
Conn Count	Number of connections.
Conn Freed	Number of connections freed after use.
TCP SYN Half	Number of half-open TCP sessions. These are sessions that
Open	are half-open from the client's perspective.
Conn SMP Alloc	Statistics used by A10 Technical Support.
Conn SMP Free	
Conn SMP Aged	
Conn Type 0	
Available	
Conn Type 1 Available	
Conn Type 2	
Available	
Conn Type 3	
Available	
Conn SMP	
Type 0 Available	
Conn SMP	
Type 1 Available	
Conn SMP	
Type 2 Available	
Conn SMP	
Type 5 Available	list information for individual assistant
The following con	Transmost anotocol
Flot	Client ID address when connecting to a VID
Forward Source	Neters
	Notes:
	• For DNS sessions, the client's DNS transaction ID is shown instead of a protocol port number.
	• The output for connection-reuse sessions shows 0.0.0.0 for the forward source and forward destination addresses.
	• For source-IP persistent sessions, the value shown in the Forward Source column is a combination of the IP address and the port number. The first two bytes of the displayed value are the third and fourth octets of the client IP address. The last two bytes of the displayed value represent the client source port.
Forward Dest	VIP to which the client is connected.

TABLE 51 show session fields (Continued)



Field	Description
Reverse Source	Real server's IP address.
	Note: If the AX device is functioning as a cache server (RAM caching), asterisks (*) in this field and the Reverse Dest field indicate that the AX device directly served the requested content to the client from the AX RAM cache. In this case, the session is actually between the client and the AX device rather than the real server.
Reverse Dest	IP address to which the real server responds.
	• If source NAT is used for the virtual port, this address is the source NAT address used by AX device when connecting to the real server.
	• If source IP NAT <i>is not</i> used for the virtual port, this address is the client IP address.
Age	Number of seconds since the session started.
Hash	CPU ID.
Flags	Processing path for the traffic:
	• NF – Fast-path processing.
	• NS – Slow-path processing.

TABLE 51	show session fields	(Continued)
			,

show sflow

Description	<pre>Show sFlow configuration or statistics information. show sflow {configuration statistics} [ethernet port-num]</pre>			
Syntax				
Introduced in Release	2.6.6-P4			
Mode	Privileged EXEC level and configuration levels			
Example The following command shows sFlow statistics on an AX Serie				
AX(config)# show sflow Interface Packet	statistics Sample Records Counter Sample Records			
sFlow total statistics Packet sample recor Counter sample reco sFlow packets sent	s cds: 9 ords: 10 1			







Example

The following command shows sFlow configuration, including status of the cpu-usage and lsn-pool-usage, on an AX Series device:

```
AX(config)#show sflow configuration

sFlow collector not set,sFlow is disabled

sFlow agent

address: not set, use management ip address

sFlow default parameter

counter polling interval: 20

packet sampling rate: 1000

sflow polling cpu-usage

sflow polling lsn-pool-usage
```

show shutdown

Description	Display scheduled system shutdowns.	
Syntax	show shutdown	
Mode	Privileged EXEC level and configuration levels	
Example	The following command shows a scheduled shutdown on an AX Series device:	
AX# show shutdown		

```
Shutdown scheduled for 12:00:00 PST Sat Jan 19 2008 (in 358 hours and 23 min-
utes) by admin on 192.168.1.144
Shutdown reason: Scheduled shutdown
```

show slb I4

Description	Show Layer-4 SLB statistics.			
Syntax	show slb 14 [detail]			
	Option	Description		
	detail	Lists separate counters for each CPU.		
Mode	All			
Example The following command shows sur		hows summary statistics for Layer 4 SLB:		
AX# show slb 14	Total			
IP out noroute TCP out RST	0 0			

766 of 804





TCP out RST no SYN 0 TCP out RST L4 proxy 0 TCP out RST ACK attack 0 TCP out RST aFleX 0 TCP out RST stale sess 2 TCP out RST TCP proxy 1906748 TCP SYN received 17556 TCP SYN cookie snt 3276 TCP SYN cookie snt fail 0 2014764 TCP received UDP received 0 Server sel failure 0 Source NAT failure 0 Source NAT no fwd route 0 Source NAT no rev route 0 Source NAT ICMP Process 0 Source NAT ICMP No Match 0 TCP SYN cookie failed 18 NAT no session drops 0 No SYN pkt drops 0 No SYN pkt drops - FIN Ο No SYN pkt drops - RST 0 No SYN pkt drops - ACK 0 Conn Limit drops 0 Conn Limit resets 0 Conn rate limit drops 0 Conn rate limit resets 0 Proxy no sock drops 0 aFleX drops 0 Session aged out 0 TCP Session aged out 0 UDP Session aged out 0 Other Session aged out 0 TCP no SLB Ω UDP no SLB 0 SYN Throttle 0 Inband HM retry 0 Inband HM reassign 0 Fast aging set 0 Fast aging reset 0 TCP invalid drop 0 SYN stale sess drop 0 Anomaly out of sequence 0 Anomaly zero window 0 Anomaly bad content 0 Anomaly pbslb drop 0 No resource drop 0 Reset unknown conn 0 ignore msl Ο

Table 52 describes the fields in the command output.



Field	Description
IP out noroute	Number of IP packets that could not be routed.
TCP out RST	Number of TCP Resets sent.
TCP out RST no SYN	Number of Resets sent for which there was no SYN.
TCP out RST L4	Number of TCP Reset packets the AX device has sent as a
proxy	Layer 4 proxy.
TCP out RST	Number of TCP Resets sent in response to a TCP ACK
ACK attack	attack.
TCP out RST	Number of TCP Reset packets the AX device has sent due to
aFleX	an aFleX policy.
	(Not applicable to IPv6 migration releases.)
TCP out RST	Number of TCP Reset packets the AX device has sent due to
stale sess	stale TCP sessions.
TCP out RST	Number of TCP Reset packets the AX device has sent as a
TCP proxy	TCP proxy.
TCP SYN	Number of TCP SYN packets received.
received	
TCP SYN cookie	Number of TCP SYN cookies sent.
snt	
TCP SYN cookie	Number of TCP SYN cookie send attempts that failed.
snt fail	
TCP received	Number of TCP packets received.
UDP received	Number of UDP packets received.
Server sel failure	Number of times selection of a real server failed.
Source NAT	Number of times a source NAT failure occurred.
failure	
Source NAT no	Number of times there was no route to the destination for
fwd route	Layer 3 NAT traffic.
Source NAT no	Number of times there was no route to the source for Layer 3
rev route	NAT traffic.
Source NAT	Number of times an ICMP error related to source NAT
ICMP Process	occurred.
Source NAT	Number of times an ICMP error related to source NAT
ICMP No Match	occurred, and there was no matching session for the traffic.
TCP SYN cookie	Number of times a TCP SYN cookie failure occurred.
tailed	
NAT no session	Number of times non-ICMP traffic to a NAT IP address was
drops	dropped because there was no matching session.
No SYN pkt	Number of SYN packets dropped.
drops	
No SYN pkt	Number of SYN packets dropped due to a TCP FIN.
arops - FIN	

TABLE 52	show slb l4 fields
----------	--------------------



Field	Description
No SYN pkt	Number of SYN packets dropped due to a TCP Reset.
drops - RST	
No SYN pkt	Number of SYN packets dropped due to an ACK.
drops - ACK	
Conn Limit	Number of connections dropped because the server connec-
drops	tion limit had been reached.
Conn Limit	Number of connections reset because the server connection
resets	limit had been reached.
Conn rate limit	Number of connections dropped by connection rate limiting.
drops	
Conn rate limit	Number of connections reset by connection rate limiting.
resets	
Proxy no sock	Number of packets dropped because the proxy did not have
drops	an available socket.
aFleX drops	Number of packets dropped due to an aFleX policy.
	(Not applicable to IPv6 migration releases.)
Session aged out	Total number of sessions that have aged out.
TCP Session	Number of TCP sessions that have aged out.
aged out	
UDP Session	Number of UDP sessions that have aged out.
aged out	
Other Session	Number of sessions of other types (not TCP or UDP) that
aged out	have aged out.
TCP no SLB	Number of non-SLB TCP packets received by the AX
	device.
UDP no SLB	Number of non-SLB UDP packets received by the AX
	device.
SYN Throttle	Number of SYN packets that have been throttled.
Inband HM retry	Number of times the AX device retried an inband health
	check, because a SYN-ACK was not received for the previ-
	ous SYN.
Inband HM	Number of times the AX device reassigned a client's traffic
reassign	to another server, because the initial server exceeded the
	maximum number of retries allowed by the inband health
East a start	Discourse of A10 N days in Constanting
Fast aging set	Please contact A10 Networks for information.
Fast aging reset	Please contact A10 Networks for information.
TCP invalid drop	Please contact A10 Networks for information.
SYN stale sess	Please contact A10 Networks for information.
drop	
Anomaly out of	Number of packets that matched an IP anomaly out-of-
sequence	sequence filter.
	Note: To configure IP anomaly filters, see <u>"ip anomaly-</u>
	drop" on page 239.

TABLE 52show slb I4 fields (Continued)



Field	Description
Anomaly zero	Number of packets that matched an IP anomaly zero-win- dow filter
Anomaly bad content	Number of packets that matched an IP anomaly bad-content filter.
Anomaly pbslb drop	Number of packets that matched an IP anomaly filter used for system-wide Policy-Based SLB (PBSLB).
No resource drop	Please contact A10 Networks for information.
Reset unknown	Please contact A10 Networks for information.
conn	
ignore msl	Number of packets dropped by the ignore-tcp-msl option. (See <u>"slb template virtual-port" on page 637</u> .)

TABLE 52 show slb I4 fields (Continued)

show slb performance

Description	Show SLB performance statistics.		
Syntax	show slb performance [interval number [detail]] [{14cpi 17cpi 17tpi natcpi sslcpi} [detail]]		
	Option	Description	
	interval number	Automatically refreshes the output at the speci- fied interval. The interval can be 1-32 seconds.	
		If you omit this option, the output is shown one time. If you use this option, the output is repeatedly refreshed at the specified interval until you press ctrl+c.	
	detail	Lists separate counters for each CPU.	
	14cpi	Shows only Layer 4 connections per interval.	
	17cpi	Shows only Layer 7 connections per interval.	
	17tpi	Shows only Layer 7 transactions per interval.	
	natcpi	Shows only Network Address Translation (NAT) connections per interval.	
	sslcpi	Shows only SSL connections per interval.	
	detail	This option is not used in the current release.	



All

Mode

The following command shows SLB performance statistics:

AX#**show slb performance**

Refreshing SLB performance every 1 seconds. (press ^C to quit) Note: cpi conn/interval, tpi transactions/interval

CPU Usage	L4cpi	L7cpi	L7tpi	SSLcpi	Natcpi	Time
8/9	0	0	0	0	0	11:46:10
4/4	4222	0	0	0	0	11:46:11
4/4	3	0	0	0	0	11:46:12

Table 53 describes the fields in the command output.

Field	Description
Refreshing SLB	Interval at which the statistics are refreshed.
every # seconds	
CPU Usage	Utilization on each data CPU.
	Each number is the utilization on one data CPU. In the exam-
	ple shown above, the AX model has three data CPUs, and
	the utilization on each one is 1%.
L4cpi	Layer 4 connections per interval.
L7cpi	Layer 7 connections per interval.
L7tpi	Layer 7 transactions per interval.
SSLcpi	SSL connections per interval.
Natcpi	NAT connections per interval.
Time	System time when the statistics were collected.

TABLE 53 show slb performance fields

show slb server

Description

Show server information.

Syntax

show slb server
[[server-name [port-num] detail] config]





	Option	Description
	server-name [[port-num] detail]	Shows information only for the specified server or port. If you omit this option, information is shown for all real servers and ports.
		The detail option shows statistics for the speci- fied server or port. This option also displays the name of the server or port template bound to the server or port.
	config	Shows the SLB configuration of the real servers.
Mode	All	

show slb service-group

Description	Show service-group (server pool) information.		
Syntax	<pre>show slb service-group [group-name] [config]</pre>		
	Option	Description	
	group-name	Shows information only for the specified service group. If you omit this option, information is shown for all service groups configured on the AX Series device.	
	config	Shows the SLB configuration of the service groups.	
Mode	All		

show slb switch

Description	Show SLB switching statistics.		
Syntax	show slb switch		
	[detail ethernet port-num [detail]]		



AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference

(Option	Description
	detail	Shows detailed statistics.
	ethernet port- num	Shows statistics only for the specified Ethernet port.
Mode	A11	
Example	The following command	shows summary SLB switching statistics:
AX#show slb switch	Total	
L2 Forward	0	
L3 IP Forward	0	
19V4 NO ROULE Drop	0	
LS IPVO FOIWAIG	0	
I.4 Process	0	
Incorrect Len Drop	0	
Prot Down Drop	0	
Unknown Prot. Drop	0	
TTL Exceeded Drop	0	
Link Down Drop	0	
SRC Port Suppression	0	
L2 Default Vlan FWD Dro	р ()	
MAX ARP Drop	0	
VLAN Flood	0	
IP Fragment Rcvd	0	
ARP REQ Rcvd	0	
ARP RESP Rcvd	0	
Forward Kernel	0	
IP(TCP) Fragment Rcvd	0	
IP Fragment Overlap	0	
IP Frag Overload Drops	0	
IP Fragment Reasm OKs	0	
IP Fragment Reasm Fails	0	
IP Fragment Timeout	0	
IP Invalid Length Frag	0	
Anomaly Land Attack Dro	p 0	
Anomaly IP OPT Drops	0	
Anomaly PingDeath Drop	0	
Anomaly All Frag Drop	0	
Anomaly TCP noFlag Drop	0	
Anomaly SIN Frag Drop	0	
Anomaly ICP SINFIN Drop	0	
RDDIIg Recoived	0	
BDDIIg Sent	0	
ACL Denys	Ũ	





```
SYN rate exceeded Drop
                        0
Packet Error Drops
                        0
IPv6 Frag Reasm OKs
                       0
IPv6 Frag Reasm Fails 0
IPv6 Frag Invalid Pkts
                       0
Bad Pkt Drop
                        0
IP Frag Exceed Drop
                       0
IPv4 No L3 VLAN FWD Drop 0
IPv6 No L3 VLAN FWD Drop 0
L2 Default Vlan FWD Drop 0
BW Limit Drop
                        0
License Expire Drop
                        0
IPV6 DAD on Solicits
                       0
IPV6 DAD on Adverts
                       0
IPV6 DAD MAC conflicts 0
IPV6 DAD Out-of-memory
                       0
```

Table 54 describes the fields in the command output.

Field	Description
L2 Forward	Number of packets that have been Layer 2 switched.
L3 IP Forward	Number of packets that have been Layer 3 routed.
IPv4 No Route	Number of IPv4 packets that were dropped due to routing
Drop	failures.
L3 IPv6 Forward	Number of IPv6 packets that have been Layer 3 routed.
IPv6 No Route	Number of IPv6 packets that were dropped due to routing
Drop	failures.
L4 Process	Number of packets that went to a VIP or NAT for processing.
Incorrect Len	Number of packets dropped due to incorrect protocol length.
Drop	Note: A high value for this counter can indicate a packet
	length attack.
Prot Down Drop	Number of packets dropped because the corresponding pro-
	tocol was disabled.
Unknown Prot	Number of packets dropped because the protocol was
Drop	unknown.
TTL Exceeded	Number of packets dropped due to TTL expiration.
Drop	
Link Down Drop	Number of packets dropped because the outgoing link was
	down.
SRC Port	Packet drops because of source port suppression.
Suppression	
L2 Default	Please contact A10 Networks for information.
VLAN FWD	
MAX AKP Drop	Please contact A10 Networks for information.
VLAN Flood	Number of packets that have been broadcast to a VLAN.

TABLE 54 show slb switch fields



Field	Description
IP Fragment	Number of IPv4 fragments that have been received.
Rcvd	
ARP REQ Rcvd	Number of ARP requests that have been received.
ARP RESP Rcvd	Number of ARP responses that have been received.
Forward Kernel	Number of packets received by the kernel from data inter-
	faces.
IP(TCP)	Number of IP TCP fragments received.
Fragment Rcvd	
IP Fragment	Number of overlapping fragments received.
Overlap	
IP Frag Overload	Number of fragments dropped due to overload.
Drops	
IP Fragment	Number of successfully reassembled IP fragments.
Reasm OKs	
IP Fragment	Number of IP fragment reassembly failures.
Reasm Fails	
IP Invalid	Please contact A10 Networks for information.
Length Frag	
IP Fragment	Please contact A10 Networks for information.
Timeout	
Anomaly Land	Number of SYN packets dropped because they were spoofed
Attack Drop	(used the destination IP address as the source IP address).
Anomaly IP OPT	Number of packets dropped because they had IP options set.
Drops	
Anomaly Ping-	Number of oversized (longer than 32 K) ICMP packets
Death Drop	dropped.
	An oversized ICMP packet can trigger Denial of Service
	(DoS), crashing, freezing, or rebooting.
Anomaly All	Number of IP fragments dropped.
Frag Drop	
Anomaly TCP	Number of TCP packets dropped because they had no flags
noFlag Drop	set.
	TCP packets are normally sent with at least one bit in the
	flags field set.
Anomaly SYN	Number TCP SYN fragments dropped that had the fragmen-
Frag Drop	tation bit set.
	A SYN fragment attack floods the target host with SYN packet fragments. An unprotected host will store the frag-
	ments, in order to reassemble them. By not completing the
	connection, and flooding the server or host with such frag-
	ory buffer to fill up eventually.

TABLE 54show slb switch fields (Continued)



Field	Description
Anomaly TCP SYNFIN Drop	Number of TCP packets dropped that had TCP SYN <i>and</i> FIN bits set.
	An attacker can send a packet with both bits set to determine what kind of system reply is returned, and then use the sys- tem information for further attacks using known system vul- nerabilities. Also, some older devices will let such packets through even though there is an established ACL defined and the state of the TCP connection is not considered to be estab- lished.
Anomaly Any Drops	Total number of packets dropped by IP anomaly filtering.
BPDUs Received	Number of Bridge Protocol Data Units (BPDUs) received.
BPDUs Sent	Number of Bridge Protocol Data Units (BPDUs) sent.
ACL Denys	Number of times traffic was not forwarded due to a deny rule in an Access Control List (ACL).
	This counter also includes traffic dropped due to the 13-vlan- fwd-disable action in ACL rules.
SYN rate	Number of packets dropped because the TCP SYN threshold
exceeded Drop	had been exceeded.
Packet Error	Number of packets dropped due to a packet error.
Drops	
IPv6 Frag Reasm OKs	Number of successfully reassembled IPv6 fragments.
IPv6 Frag Reasm Fails	Number of IPv6 fragment reassembly failures.
IPv6 Frag Invalid Pkts	Number of IPv6 fragments that were invalid.
Bad Pkt Drop	Number of bad packets dropped.
IP Frag Exceed Drop	Number of fragmented IP packets that were dropped because they exceeded the allowed maximum.
IPv4 No L3 VLAN FWD Drop	Number of IP packets that were dropped by the 13-vlan-fwd- disable action in an IPv4 ACL.
IPv6 No L3 VLAN FWD Drop	Number of IP packets that were dropped by the 13-vlan-fwd- disable action in an IPv6 ACL.
L2 Default VLAN FWD Drop	Please contact A10 Networks for information.
BW Limit Drop	Number of packets dropped because they exceeded the band- width limit.
	Note: This field applies only to the SoftAX.
License Expire	Number of packets dropped due to an invalid license.
Drop	Note: This field applies only to the SoftAX.

TABLE 54	show slb switch	fields	(Continued)
	511011 516 5111011	noido	Continuada	,



Field	Description
IPv6 DAD on	Number of duplicate address detections due to a neighbor
Solicits	tried to configure or use an IPv6 address that was already in
	use on the AX device.
IPv6 DAD on	Number of duplicate address detections that occurred
Adverts	because an AX admin attempted to configure an IPv6
	address that was already in use by a neighbor.
IPv6 DAD MAC	Number of neighbors that triggered DAD with the AX
Conflicts	device, or with which the AX device triggered DAD.
IPv6 DAD	Number of times there were more than 512 DAD events dur-
Out-of-memory	ing a 10-second interval. The AX device logs each DAD
	event in the log, and can log up to 512 events per 10-second
	interval.

TABLE 54	show slb switch f	fields (Continued)
----------	-------------------	--------------------

show slb template

Description	Show template configuration information.		
Syntax	show slb template [{ dns policy } <i>template-name</i>]		
Mode	All		

show slb virtual-server

Description	Show virtual-serv	er information.
Default	<pre>show slb vir [virtual-serv [[virtual [servi detail] [bind] [config]</pre>	r tual-server rer-name -port-num service-type ce-group-name]]
	Option	Description
	virtual-ser name	Shows information only for the specified virtual server. The <i>virtual-port-num service-type</i> option shows information only for the specified virtual port on
		the virtual server.

Aleworks	AX Serie	es - Command Line Interface Reference
		The <i>service-group-name</i> option further restricts the output, to show information only for the specified service group.
		The detail option displays connection and packet statistics.
	bind	Includes the service groups and real servers and ports bound to the virtual ports.
	config	Displays virtual-server configuration informa- tion.
Mode	All	
show smtp		
Description	Display SMTP information	on.
Syntax	show smtp	
Mode	All	
Example	The following command show the SMTP server address:	
AX# show smtp SMTP server address:	192.168.1	.99
show startup-co	onfig	
Description	Display a configuration p figuration profiles.	rofile or display a list of all the locally saved con-

Syntax	<pre>show startup [all [cf] profile prof]</pre>	-config ile-name [cf]
Mode	All	
	Option	Description
	all [cf]	Displays a list of the locally stored configuration profiles.
		The cf option displays all the configuration pro- files stored on the compact flash.



	profile profile-name	
	[options]	Displays the commands that are in the specified configuration profile.
		The cf option displays the configuration profile on the compact flash rather than the hard disk. If you omit this option, the configuration profile on the hard disk is displayed.
		The all-partitions option shows all resources in all partitions.
		The partitions option shows only the resources in the specified partition.
Mode	All	
Usage	When entered without to plays the contents of the "startup-config". Unless tion profile that is display which the AX device more	the all or <i>profile-name</i> option, this command dis- ble configuration profile that is currently linked to you have relinked "startup-config", the configura- ble is the one that is stored in the image area from ost recently rebooted.
Example	The following command startup-config on an AX	shows the configuration profile currently linked to Series device:
AX# show startup-config Building configuration	J	
<pre>!Current configuration !Configuration last up !Configuration last sa !version 2.6.1, build !</pre>	n: 10580 bytes odated at 15:01:01 F aved at 15:09:41 PST 169 (Jan-24-2011,12	PST Mon Jan 21 2008 7 Mon Jan 21 2008 2:30)
hostname AX2K-B		
: clock timezone America	a/Tijuana	
!	-	
!		
! vlan 10		
untagged ethernet 1		
router-interface ve 1	.0	
!		
vlan 11		
untagged ethernet 2	1	
!		
vlan 20		
MORE		

/	7
AID	Networks

Example	The following command show saved on the AX device. The f file that is currently linked to " "default", then "startup-config in the image area from which t	s a list of the configuration profiles locally irst line of output lists the configuration pro- startup-config". If the profile name is " is linked to the configuration profile stored he AX device most recently rebooted.
AX# show startup-config Current Startup-config Profile-Name	all Profile: default Size	Time
1210test 1b-v6	1957 13414	Jan 28 18:39 Jan 23 19:19

lb-v6

show statistics

Description Display packet statistics for Ethernet interfaces.												
Synta	x		show	show statistics [interface ethernet port-num]								
Mode			All									
Exam	ple		The following command shows brief statistics for all Ethernet interface an AX Series device:									
AX#s h Port	ow sta Good	tistics Rcv	Good Se	nt	Bcast	Rcv	Bcast S	ent Er	rors			
1 2 3 	30267 0 0	87	3013699 0 0		91573 0 0		154220 0 0	0 0 0				
XAUI	31710	70 Note	3118342 The 2	XAUI por	275613 t is an in	s ternal port, 1	216063 not a user-o	0 configured int	erface.			
Exam	ple		The fol	llowing co	mmand	shows detail	led statistic	s for Etherne	t interface 1:			
AX# sh Port	ow sta Link	tistics in Dupl Spe	nterface ed I	ethern sTagged	et 1 MAC A	Address						
1	Up	Full 100	 0 U	ntagged	0090.	0B0A.D86	-)					
Port In In	l Cou I Broadc Multic In	nters: InPkts nOctets astPkts astPkts BadPkts		6926 477802 5573 0 0	OutBro OutMu]	OutPk OutOcte badcastPk ticastPk OutBadPk		427659 323788182 62389 359729 0				

AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference



OutDiscards	0	Collisions	0
InLongOctet	477802	InAlignErr	0
InLengthErr	0	InOverErr	0
InFrameErr	0	InCrcErr	0
InNoBufErr	0	InMissErr	48
InLongLenErr	0	InShortLenErr	0
OutAbortErr	0	OutCarrierErr	0
OutFifoErr	0	OutLateCollisions	0
InFlowCtrlXon	0	OutFlowCtrlXon	0
InFlowCtrlXoff	0	OutFlowCtrlXoff	0
InBufAllocFailed	0		
InUtilization	15	OutUtilization	0

show system platform

D	escriptior	1			Display platform-related information and statistics.						
S	yntax				<pre>show system platform { statistics interface-stats buffer-stats busy-counter drop-counter register-info } </pre>						
					Option Description						
					statistics Shows counters for internal statistics.						
					interface-stats Shows counters for interface statistics.						
					buffer-stats Shows counters for buffer statistics.						
					busy-counter Shows counters for system busy statistics.						
					drop-counter Shows counters for drop statistics.						
					register-info Shows register information.						
Μ	ode				All						
E	xample	ple The following command shows platform buffer statistics:									
A۵	(# show sy	rste	em p	platform	n buffer-stats						
#	buffers	in	Q0	cache:	2049 App: 0 TCPQ: 0 misc: 0						
#	buffers	in	Ql	cache:	4096 App: 0 TCPQ: 0 misc: 0						
#	buffers	in	Q2	cache:	4096 App: 0 TCPQ: 0 misc: 0						
#	buffers	in	Q3	cache:	4096 App: 0 TCPQ: 0 misc: 0						



buffers in Q4 cache: 4096 App: 0 TCPQ: 0 misc: 0
buffers in Q5 cache: 4096 App: 0 TCPQ: 0 misc: 0
buffers in Q6 cache: 4096 App: 0 TCPQ: 0 misc: 0
buffers in Q7 cache: 4096 App: 0 TCPQ: 0 misc: 0
Approximate # buffers in App 0
Approximate # buffers in App_cp 0
Approximate # buffers in Cache_cp 1023
Approximate # buffers in Queue 0
Approximate # buffers in misc 0
Approximate # buffers free 100351
Approximate # buffers avail from HW 99309

show system resource-usage

Description	Display the minimum and maximum numbers of each type of system resource that can be configured or used, the default maximum number allowed by the configuration, and the number currently in use.							
For example, the "l4-session-count" row of the output shows the numb Layer 4 sessions that are currently in use, as well as the maximum num currently supported by the configuration (the default maximum), and range of values that can be assigned to the default maximum.								
Syntax	show sy	show system resource-usage						
Mode	All							
Usage	To change system resource usage settings, see <u>"system resource-usa</u> page 186 command.							
Example	The followin	ng command s	hows system re	esource usage:				
AX# show system resourc Resource	e-usage	Current	Default	Minimum	Maximum			
14-session-count nat-pool-addr-count real-server-count real-port-count service-group-count virtual-port-count virtual-server-count http-template-count proxy-template-count		8388608 500 1024 2048 512 512 512 256 128	8388608 500 1024 2048 512 512 512 256 128	524288 500 512 512 512 256 512 32 32	33554432 4000 2048 4096 1024 1024 1024 1024 1024 128			
conn-reuse-template-cc	unt	256	256	32	1024			

Customer Driven Innovation Document No.: D-030-01-00-0003 - Ver. 2.6.6-GR1 5/8/2013



show tacacs-server

Description	Display	TACACS statisti	ics.			
Syntax	show	tacacs-serv	ver [hostname	ipadd	r]
Mode	All					
Example	The foll	owing command	shows	information f	for TACAC	CS server 5.5.5.5:
AX#show tacacs-server	5.5.5	5.5				
TACACS+ server	:	5.5.5.5:49				
Socket d	opens:		0			
Socket cl	loses:		0			
Socket al	oorts:		0			
Socket ei	rors:		0			
Socket time	eouts:		0			
Failed connect atte	empts:		0			
Total packets	recv:		0			
Total packets	send:		0			

show techsupport

 Description
 Display or export system information for use when troubleshooting.

 Syntax
 show techsupport [export [use-mgmt-port] ur1] [page]

 Option
 Description

 export [use-mgmt-port]

url

Exports the output to a remote server. The url

specifies the file transfer protocol, username (if

required), and directory path.

AleNetworks	AX Serie	es - Command Line Interface Reference			
		You can enter the entire URL on the command line or press Enter to display a prompt for each part of the URL. If you enter the entire URL and a password is required, you will still be prompted for the password. To enter the entire URL:			
		tftp://host/file			
		<pre>ftp://[user@]host[:port]/file</pre>			
		<pre>scp://[user@]host/file</pre>			
		<pre>rcp://[user@]host/file</pre>			
	page	Shows the information page by page. Without this option, all the command's output is sent to the terminal at once.			
Mode	Privileged EXEC level an	d configuration levels			
show terminal					
Description	Show the terminal setting	s.			
Syntax	show terminal				
Mode	All				
Example	The following command shows the terminal settings.				
AX# show terminal Idle-timeout is 00:10:00 Length: 24 lines, Width: 80 columns Editing is enabled History is enabled, history size is 256 Auto size is enabled Terminal monitor is off					
show tftp					
Description	Display the currently con	figured TFTP block size.			

Syntax	show tftp

All

Mode



Example

The following command shows the TFTP block size.

AX(config)#**show tftp** TFTP client block size is set to 512

show trunk

Description			Shov	v info	rmati	on ab	out a	trunk	group.			
Syntax	show trunk num											
			Opti	on				Desc	ription	1		
			nu	m				Trunk	k numbe	r		
Mode			All									
Example			The	follov	ving c	comm	and sl	hows	informa	tion for	trunk g	group 1:
AX#show trunk 1												
Trunk ID	:	1		Memb	per (Count	: 8					
Trunk Status	:	Up										
Members	:	1	2	3	4	5	б	7	8			
Cfg Status	:	Enb	Enb	Enb	Enb	Enb	Enb	Enb	Enb			
Oper Status	:	Up	Up	Up	Up	Up	Up	Up	Up			
Ports-Threshold Working Lead	::	6 1		Time	er: 1	10 se	ec(s)) Rur	nning:	No		

Table 55 describes the fields in the command output.

Field	Description
Trunk ID	ID assigned to the trunk by the admin who configured it.
Member Count	Number of ports in the trunk.
Trunk Status	Indicates whether the trunk is up.
Members	Port numbers in the trunk.
Cfg Status	Configuration status of the port.
Oper Status	Operational status of the port.
Ports-Threshold	Indicates the minimum number of ports that must be up in order for the trunk to remain up.
	If the number of up ports falls below the configured thresh- old, the AX automatically disables the trunk's member ports. The ports are disabled in the running-config. The AX device also generates a log message and an SNMP trap, if these ser- vices are enabled.

TABLE 55show trunk fields



Field	Description
Timer	Indicates how many seconds the AX device waits after a port goes down before marking the trunk down, if the ports threshold is exceeded.
Running	Indicates whether the ports-threshold timer is currently run- ning. When the timer is running, a port has gone down but the state change has not yet been applied to the trunk's state.
Working Lead	Port number used for responding to ARP requests and for Layer 2 processing.
	Note: If the lead port is shown as 0 or "None", the trunk interface is down.

TABLE 55 show trunk fields (Continued)

show version

DescriptionDisplay software, hardware, and firmware version information.Syntaxshow versionModeAllExampleThe following command shows version information for an AX 2200:

AX#show version

AX Series Advanced Traffic Manager AX2500 Copyright 2007-2011 by A10 Networks, Inc. All A10 Networks products are protected by one or more of the following US patents and patents pending: 7716378, 7675854, 7647635, 7552126, 20090049537, 20080229418, 20080040789, 20070283429, 20070271598, 20070180101

64-bit Advanced Core OS (ACOS) version 2.6.6, build 74 (Oct-05-2011,05:59) Booted from Hard Disk secondary image Serial Number: AX25011109040041 aFleX version: 2.0.0 Hard Disk primary image version 2.6.1-P2, build 114 Hard Disk secondary image (default) version 2.6.6, build 74 Compact Flash primary image (default) version 2.4.1, build 139 Compact Flash secondary image version 2.4.1, build 139 Last configuration saved at Oct-5-2011, 18:24 Hardware: 8 CPUs(Stepping 5), Single 74G Hard disk Memory 6123 Mbyte, Free Memory 1592 Mbyte Current time is Oct-5-2011, 20:03 The system has been up 0 day, 1 hour, 38 minutes



show vlans

Description	Display the configured VLANs.
Syntax	<pre>show vlans [vlan-id]</pre>
Mode	All
Example	The following command lists all the VLANs configured on an AX Series device:
AX# show vlans Total VLANs: 2 VLAN 1:	
Untagged Ports:	2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 17 18 19 20
VLAN 199: Untagged Ports: Tagged Ports:	1 16 None

show web-service

Description	Show settings for Web-management access.	
Syntax	show web-service	
Mode	All	
Example	The following command shows the settings for access to the management GUI on an AX Series device:	
AX#show web-service		
AX Web server:		
Idle time:	10 minutes	
Http port:	80	
Https port:	443	
Auto redire	ct: Enabled	
Https:	Enabled	
aXAPI Idle	time: 5 minutes	



<u>Table 56</u> describes the fields in the command output.

Field	Description
Idle time	Number of minutes a web management session can remain
	idle before the AX device terminates the session.
HTTP port	HTTP port number on which the AX device listens for con- nections to the management GUI.
HTTPS port	HTTPS port number on which the AX device listens for con- nections to the management GUI.
Auto redirect	Indicates whether requests for the HTTP port are automati- cally redirected to the HTTPS port.
HTTPS	State of the HTTPS port on the AX device.
aXAPI Idle time	Number of minutes an aXAPI session can remain idle before bering terminated. Once the aXAPI session is terminated, the session ID generated by the AX device for the session is no longer valid.
	(Not applicable to IPv6 migration)

TABLE 56 show web-service fields



The AX debug subsystem enables you to trace packets on the AX device. To access the AX debug subsystem, enter the following command at the Privileged EXEC level of the CLI:

axdebug

The CLI prompt changes as follows:

AX(axdebug)#

This chapter describes the debug-related commands in the AX debug subsystem.

To perform AX debugging using this subsystem:

- 1. Use the **filter** command to configure packet filters to match on the types of packets to capture.
- 2. (Optional) Use the **count** command to change the maximum number of packets to capture.
- 3. (Optional) Use the **timeout** command to change the maximum number of minutes during which to capture packets.
- 4. (Optional) Use the **incoming** or **outgoing** command to limit the interfaces on which to capture traffic.
- 5. Use the **capture** command to start capturing packets. The AX device begins capturing packets that match the filter, and saves the packets to a file or displays them, depending on the capture options you specify.
- 6. To display capture files, use the **show axdebug file** command. (See <u>"show axdebug file" on page 694</u>.)
- 7. To export capture files, use the **export axdebug** command at the Privileged EXEC or global configuration level of the CLI. (See <u>"export" on page 67</u>.)

The AXdebug utility creates a debug file in packet capture (PCAP) format. The PCAP format can be read by third-party diagnostic applications such as Wireshark, Ethereal (the older name for Wireshark) and tcpdump. To simplify export of the PCAP file, the AX device compresses it into a zip file in tar format. To use a PCAP file, you must untar it first.



capture

Description	Start capturing packets.	
Syntax	[no] capture parameter	
	Parameter	Description
	brief	
	[save]	Captures basic information about packets. (For save options, see save <i>filename</i> below.)
	detail	
	[save]	Captures packet content in addition to basic information. (For save options, see save <i>filename</i> below.)
	non-display	
	[save]	Does not display the captured packets on the ter- minal screen. Use the save options to configure a file in which to save the captured packets.
	<pre>save filename [max-packets] [incoming [portnum]] [outgoing</pre>	
	[portnum]]	Saves captured packets in a file.
		<i>filename</i> – Specifies the name of the packet capture file.
		<i>max-packets</i> – Specifies the maximum number of packets to capture in the file, 0-65535. To save an unlimited number of packets in the file, specify 0.
		incoming [<i>portnum</i>] – Captures inbound packets. You can specify one or more physical Ethernet interface numbers. Separate the interface numbers with spaces. If you do not specify interface numbers, inbound traffic on all physical Ethernet interfaces is captured.
		outgoing [<i>portnum</i>] – Captures outbound packets on the specified physical Ethernet interfaces or on all physical Ethernet interfaces. If you do not specify interface numbers, outbound traffic on all physical Ethernet interfaces is captured.

AleNetworks	AX Series - Command Line Interface Reference
Default	By default, packets in both directions on all Ethernet data interfaces are cap- tured.
Note:	The traffic also must match the AX debug filters.
Mode	AX debug
Usage	To minimize the impact of packet capture on system performance, A10 Net- works recommends that you configure an AX debug filter before beginning the packet capture.
	To display a list of AX debug capture files or to display the contents of a capture file, see <u>"show axdebug file" on page 694</u> .
Example	The following command captures brief packet information for display on the terminal screen. The output is not saved to a file.
AX(axdebug) #capture brie Wait for debug output, e: (0,1738448) i(1, 0, c 78f07ab8:dbffc02d(0) (0,1738448) o(3, 0, c 78f07ab8:dbffc02d(0) (0,1738448) i(1, 0, c 78f07ab9:dbffc0c2(0) (0,1738448) o(3, 0, c 78f07ab9:dbffc0c2(0) (1,1738450) i(1, 0, c 78f07ab9:dbffc0c2(191) (1,1738450) o(3, 0, c 78f07ab9:dbffc0c2(191) (1,1738450) i(1, 0, c 78f07b78:dbffc0c3(0) (1,1738450) o(3, 0, c	<pre>f nter <ctrl c=""> to exit ca8)> ip 10.10.11.30 > 30.30.31.30 tcp 80 > 13632 SA ca8)> ip 10.10.11.30 > 30.30.31.30 tcp 80 > 13632 SA ca9)> ip 10.10.11.30 > 30.30.31.30 tcp 80 > 13632 A ca9)> ip 10.10.11.30 > 30.30.31.30 tcp 80 > 13632 A caa)> ip 10.10.11.30 > 30.30.31.30 tcp 80 > 13632 PA caa)> ip 10.10.11.30 > 30.30.31.30 tcp 80 > 13632 PA cab)> ip 10.10.11.30 > 30.30.31.30 tcp 80 > 13632 FA cab)> ip 10.10.11.30 > 30.30.31.30 tcp 80 > 13632 FA</ctrl></pre>
	These lines of debug output show the following:

These lines of debug output show the following:

- 0 CPU ID. Indicates the CPU that processed the packet. CPU 0 is the control CPU.
- 1738448 Time delay between packets. This is a jiffies value that increments in 4-millisecond (4-ms) intervals.
- i Traffic direction: 1 (input) or o (output).
- (1, 0, cca8) Ethernet interface, VLAN tag, and packet buffer index. If the VLAN tag is 0, then the port is untagged. In this example, the first packet is received on Ethernet port 1, and the VLAN is not yet known. The packet is assigned to buffer index cca8.



Note: Generally, the VLAN tag for ingress packets is 0. It is normal for the ingress VLAN tag to be 0 even when the egress VLAN tag is not 0.

The source and destination IP addresses are listed next, followed by the source and destination protocol port numbers.

The TCP flag is shown next:

- S Syn
- SA Syn Ack
- A Ack
- F Fin
- PA Push Ack

The TCP sequence number and ACK sequence number are then shown.

Finally, the packet payload is shown. The header size is excluded.

Example The following command captures packet information and packet contents for display on the terminal screen. The output is not saved to a file.

AX(axdebug)#capture detail

```
Wait for debug output, enter <ctrl c> to exit
i( 1, 0, ccae)> ip 10.10.11.30 > 30.30.31.30 tcp 80 > 13638 SA 7ab6ae46:ddb87996(0)
Dump buffer(0xa6657048), len(80 bytes)...
0xa6657048: 00900b0b 3e83001d 09f0dec2 08004500 : ....>....E.
0xa6657058: 003c0000 40004006 e8580a0a 0blelele : .<..@.@..X.....
0xa6657068: 1f1e0050 35467ab6 ae46ddb8 7996a012 : ...P5Fz..F..y...
0xa6657078: 16a02ea5 00000204 05b40402 080a5194 : .....Q.
0xa6657088: 6c551f3c 1d3f0103 03072d59 f97f0000 : lU.<.?...-Y....
0xa6657098: 0000000 0000000 0000000 00000000 : .....
o( 3, 0, ccae)> ip 10.10.11.30 > 30.30.31.30 tcp 80 > 13638 SA 7ab6ae46:ddb87996(0)
Dump buffer(0xa6657048), len(80 bytes)...
0xa6657048: 001d09f0 e01e0090 0b0b3e83 08004500 : .....>...E.
0xa6657058: 003c0000 40003f06 e9580a0a 0blelele : .<..@.?..X.....
0xa6657068: 1f1e0050 35467ab6 ae46ddb8 7996a012 : ...P5Fz..F..y...
0xa6657088: 6c551f3c 1d3f0103 03072d59 f97f0000 : lu.<.?...-Y....
0xa6657098: 0000000 0000000 0000000 0000000 : .....
i( 1, 0, ccaf)> ip 10.10.11.30 > 30.30.31.30 tcp 80 > 13638 A 7ab6ae47:ddb87a2b(0)
Dump buffer(0xa6657848), len(80 bytes)...
0xa6657848: 00900b0b 3e83001d 09f0dec2 08004500 : ....>....E.
0xa6657858: 0034c211 40004006 264f0a0a Oblelele : .4..@.@.&O.....
0xa6657868: 1f1e0050 35467ab6 ae47ddb8 7a2b8010 : ...P5Fz..G..z+..
0xa6657878: 00367344 00000101 080a5194 6c561f3c : .6sD.....Q.lV.<
0xa6657888: 1d4041de e3380000 00000000 00000000 : .@A..8.....
0xa6657898: 0000000 0000000 0000000 0000000 : .....
```

```
• • •
```



Example The following command saves captured packet information in file "file123". The captured traffic is not displayed on the terminal screen.

count

Description	Specify the maxim	Specify the maximum number of packets to capture.	
Syntax	[no] count	[no] count num	
	Parameter	Description	
	num.	Maximum number of packets to capture, 0-65535. To capture an unlimited number of packets, specify 0.	
Default	3000		
Mode	AX debug	AX debug	
Example	The following com 2048:	The following command sets the maximum number of packets to capture to 2048:	
AX(axdebug)#count 2	048		

delete

Description	Delete an axdebug capture file.	
Syntax	delete filename	
Default	N/A	
Mode	AX debug	
Example	The following command deletes capture file "file123":	
AX(axdebug)#delete fi	le123	


filter

Syntax

Description

Configure an AX debug filter, to specify the types of packets to capture.

[no] filter filter-id

Parameter	Description
filter-id	ID of the filter, 1-255.

This command changes the CLI to the configuration level for the specified AX debug filter, where the following AX debug filter-related commands are available:

Command Description dst {**ip** ipaddr | **mac** macaddr **port** portnum} Matches on the specified destination IP address, MAC address, or protocol port number. 13-proto {arp | ip | ipv6} Matches on the specified Layer 3 protocol. **ip** *ipaddr* {subnet-mask | /mask-length} Matches on the specified IPv4 address. **mac** macaddr Matches on the specified MAC address. offset position **length** bytes Matches on the specified length of bytes and operator value value of those bytes within the packet. position – Starting position within the packet, 1-65535 bytes. bytes - Number of consecutive bytes to filter on, from 1-65535, beginning at the offset position. operator – One of the following: > (greater than) >= (greater than or equal to) <= (smaller than or equal to) < (smaller than) = (equal to)



		<pre>range min-value range)</pre>	max-value (select a
		value – String to filte	r on.
	port min- portnum max- portnum	Matches on the specific numbers.	ed range of protocol port
	<pre>proto {icmp icmpv6 tcp udp portnum}</pre>	Matches on the specific port number.	ied protocol or protocol
	<pre>src {ip ipaddr mac macaddr port port-num}</pre>	Matches on the speci MAC address, or protoc	fied source IP address, ol port number.
Default	No filters are configured the filter by default.	by default. When you crea	ate one, all packets match
Mode	AX debug		
Usage	If a packet capture is runn ond delay while the AX occur if a packet capture is	ing and you change the fi device clears the older f is not already running.	lter, there will be a 5-sec- ilter. The delay does not
	The packet filter for the d AXdebug, you can create filter ID. If you create f debug packet filter. Like configure the debug pac AXdebug filter 0.	lebug command is intern e multiple filters, which a ilter 0 in AXdebug, this wise, if you configure fi eket filter, the debug pac	ally numbered filter 0. In re uniquely identified by filter will overwrite the lter 0 in AXdebug, then eket filter will overwrite
Example	The following commands IP address 10.10.10.30, d MAC address aabb.ccdd. the filter.	configure an AX debug estination protocol port n eeff. The show axdebug	filter to match on source umber 80, and source filter command displays
AX(axdebug)# filter 1 AX(axdebug-filter:1)# s AX(axdebug-filter:1)# d AX(axdebug-filter:1)# s AX(axdebug-filter:1)# s	rc ip 10.10.10.30 st port 80 rc mac aabb.ccdd.eef xit	f	



```
AX(axdebug)#show axdebug filter
axdebug filter 1
src ip 10.10.10.30
dst port 80
src mac aabb.ccdd.eeff
```

incoming | outgoing

Description	Specify the Ethern packets.	Specify the Ethernet interfaces and traffic direction for which to capture packets.	
Syntax	[no] incomin [outgoing []	<pre>[no] incoming [portnum] [outgoing [portnum]]</pre>	
	outgoing [po	ortnum]	
Default	Disabled		
Note:	The traffic also r	nust match the AX debug filters.	
Mode	AX debug		
Example	The following com Ethernet interface	The following command limits the packet capture to inbound packets on Ethernet interface 3 and outbound packets on Ethernet interface 4:	
AX(axdebug)#incoming	3 outgoing 4		
Example	The following command limits the packet capture to outbound packets on Ethernet interface 7. Inbound packets on all Ethernet interfaces are cap- tured, unless specified otherwise in AX debug filters.		
AX(axdebug)#outgoing '	7		
length			
Description	Specify the maximum length of packets to capture. Packets that are longer are not captured.		
Syntax	[no] length bytes		
	Parameter	Description	
	bytes	Maximum packet length, 64-1518 bytes.	
Default	1518		
Mode	AX debug		
796 of 804	Documen	Customer Driven Innovation t No : D-030-01-00-0003 - Ver. 2 6 6-GR1 5/8/2013	



Example

The following command changes the maximum packet length to capture to 128:

AX(axdebug)#length 128

maxfile

Description	Specify the maximum number of axdebug packet capture files to keep.		
Syntax	[no] maxfile num		
	Parameter	Description	
	num	Maximum number of files to keep, 1-65535.	
Default	100		
Mode	AX debug		
Usage	Once the maximum is reached, new axdebug files can not be created until existing files are removed.		
Example	The following command of ture files to keep to 125:	changes the maximum number of AX debug cap-	

AX(axdebug)#maxfile 125

outgoing

Description	See	"incoming	outgoing"	on	page	<u>796</u> .

timeout

Description	Specify the maxim	Specify the maximum number of minutes to capture packets.		
Syntax	[no] timeout	[no] timeout minutes		
	Parameter	Description		
	minutes	Maximum number of minutes to capture packets, 0-65535.		
Default	5			
Mode	AX debug			



Example

The following command changes the capture timeout to 10 minutes:

AX(axdebug)#timeout 10



show health stat Up / Down Causes

This chapter lists the cause strings for the numeric cause codes that appear in the Up and Down fields of **show health stat** output. The Up / Down cause codes are shown in the output under "Cause(Up/Down/Retry)".

Up Causes

Table 57 lists the Up causes.

Cause Code	Cause String
0	HM_INVALID_UP_REASON
1	HM_DNS_PARSE_RESPONSE_OK
2	HM_EXT_REPORT_UP
3	HM_EXT_TCL_REPORT_UP
4	HM_FTP_ACK_USER_LOGIN
5	HM_FTP_ACK_PASS_LOGIN
6	HM_HTTP_RECV_URL_FIRST
7	HM_HTTP_RECV_URL_NEARBY_FIRST
8	HM_HTTP_RECV_URL_FOLLOWING
9	HM_HTTP_RECV_URL_NEARBY_FOLLOWING
10	HM_HTTP_STATUS_CODE
11	HM_ICMP_RECV_OK
12	HM_ICMP_RECV6_OK
13	HM_LDAP_RECV_ACK
14	HM_POP3_RECV_ACK_PASS_OK
15	HM_RADIUS_RECV_OK
16	HM_RTSP_RECV_STATUS_OK
17	HM_SIP_RECV_OK
18	HM_SMTP_RECV_OK
19	HM_SNMP_RECV_OK
20	HM_TCP_VERIFY_CONN_OK
21	HM_TCP_CONN_OK
22	HM_TCP_HALF_CONN_OK
23	HM_UDP_RECV_OK
24	HM_UDP_NO_RESPOND
25	HM_COMPOUND_UP

TABLE 57 show health stat Up Causes



Table 58 lists the Down causes.

Cause Code	Cause String
0	HM_INVALID_DOWN_REASON
1	HM_DNS_TIMEOUT
2	HM_EXT_TIMEOUT
3	HM_EXT_TCL_TIMEOUT
4	HM_FTP_TIMEOUT
5	HM_HTTP_TIMEOUT
6	HM_HTTPS_TIMEOUT
7	HM_ICMP_TIMEOUT
8	HM_LDAP_TIMEOUT
9	HM_POP3_TIMEOUT
10	HM_RADIUS_TIMEOUT
11	HM_RTSP_TIMEOUT
12	HM_SIP_TIMEOUT
13	HM_SMTP_TIMEOUT
14	HM_SNMP_TIMEOUT
15	HM_TCP_TIMEOUT
16	HM_TCP_HALF_TIMEOUT
17	HM_DNS_RECV_ERROR
18	HM_DNS_PARSE_RESPONSE_ERROR
19	HM_DNS_RECV_LEN_ZERO
20	HM_EXT_WAITPID_FAIL
21	HM_EXT_TERM_BY_SIG
22	HM_EXT_REPORT_DOWN
23	HM_EXT_TCL_REPORT_DOWN
24	HM_FTP_RECV_TIMEOUT
25	HM_FTP_SEND_TIMEOUT
26	HM_FTP_NO_SERVICE
27	HM_FTP_ACK_USER_WRONG_CODE
28	HM_FTP_ACK_PASS_WRONG_CODE
29	HM_COM_CONN_CLOSED_IN_WRITE
30	HM_COM_OTHER_ERR_IN_WRITE
31	HM_COM_CONN_CLOSED_IN_READ
32	HM_COM_OTHER_ERR_IN_READ
33	HM_COM_SEND_TIMEOUT
34	HM_COM_CONN_TIMEOUT
35	HM_COM_SSL_CONN_ERR

 TABLE 58
 show health stat Down Causes



Down Causes

Cause Code	Cause String
36	HM_HTTP_SEND_URL_ERR
37	HM_HTTP_RECV_URL_ERR
38	HM_HTTP_RECV_MSG_ERR
39	HM_HTTP_NO_LOCATION
40	HM_HTTP_WRONG_STATUS_CODE
41	HM_HTTP_WRONG_CHUNK
42	HM_HTTP_AUTH_ERR
43	HM_HTTPS_SSL_WRITE_ERR
44	HM_HTTPS_SSL_WRITE_OTHERS
45	HM_HTTPS_SSL_READ_ERR
46	HM_HTTPS_SSL_READ_OTHERS
47	HM_ICMP_RECV_ERR
48	HM_ICMP_SEND_ERR
49	HM_ICMP_RECV6_ERR
50	HM_LDAP_RECV_ACK_ERR
51	HM_LDAP_SSL_READ_ERR
52	HM_LDAP_SSL_READ_OTHERS
53	HM_LDAP_RECV_ACK_WRONG_PACKET
54	HM_LDAP_SSL_WRITE_ERR
55	HM_LDAP_SSL_WRITE_OTHERS
56	HM_LDAP_SEND_ERR
57	HM_POP3_RECV_TIMEOUT
58	HM_POP3_SEND_TIMEOUT
59	HM_POP3_NO_SERVICE
60	HM_POP3_RECV_ACK_USER_ERR
61	HM_POP3_RECV_ACK_PASS_ERR
62	HM_RADIUS_RECV_ERR
63	HM_RADIUS_RECV_ERR_PACKET
64	HM_RADIUS_RECV_NONE
65	HM_RTSP_RECV_STATUS_ERR
66	HM_RTSP_RECV_ERR
67	HM_RTSP_SEND_ERR
68	HM_SIP_RECV_ERR
69	HM_SIP_RECV_ERR_PACKET
70	HM_SIP_CONN_CLOSED
71	HM_SIP_NO_MEM
72	HM_SIP_STARTUP_ERR
73	HM_SMTP_RECV_ERR
74	HM_SMTP_NO_SERVICE
75	HM_SMTP_SEND_HELO_TIMEOUT
76	HM SMTP SEND QUIT TIMEOUT

TABLE 58	show health stat Down Causes	(Continued))



Cause Code	Cause String
77	HM_SMTP_WRONG_CODE
78	HM_SNMP_RECV_ERR
79	HM_SNMP_RECV_ERR_PACKET
80	HM_SNMP_RECV_ERR_OTHER
81	HM_TCP_PORT_CLOSED
82	HM_TCP_ERROR
83	HM_TCP_INVALID_TCP_FLAG
84	HM_TCP_HALF_NO_ROUTE
85	HM_TCP_HALF_NO_MEM
86	HM_TCP_HALF_SEND_ERR
87	HM_UDP_RECV_ERR
88	HM_UDP_RECV_ERR_OTHERS
89	HM_UDP_NO_SERVICE
90	HM_UDP_ERR
91	HM_COMPOUND_INVAL_RPN
92	HM_COMPOUND_DOWN
93	HM_COMPOUND_TIMEOUT

 TABLE 58 show health stat Down Causes (Continued)







Corporate Headquarters

A10 Networks, Inc. 3 West Plumeria Dr. San Jose, CA 95134 USA

Tel: +1-408-325-8668 (main) Tel: +1-408-325-8676 (support - worldwide) Tel: +1-888-822-7210 (support - toll-free in USA) Fax: +1-408-325-8666

www.a10networks.com

© 2013 A10 Networks Corporation. All rights reserved.